Maciej Błaszak

Quantum versus Classical Mechanics and Integrability Problems

towards a unification of approaches and tools



Quantum versus Classical Mechanics and Integrability Problems

Maciej Błaszak

Quantum versus Classical Mechanics and Integrability Problems

towards a unification of approaches and tools



Maciej Błaszak Division of Mathematical Physics Faculty of Physics UAM Poznań, Poland

ISBN 978-3-030-18378-3 ISBN 978-3-030-18379-0 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-18379-0

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

To Magdalen and Lucas

Preface

It is well known for physicists that in order to describe dynamical systems of finite number of degrees of freedom in the macro- and micro-scale, classical and quantum mechanics, respectively, were developed. They are among the best recognized physical theories whose correctness has been confirmed experimentally with high accuracy. The classical Hamiltonian mechanics has been developed since the first half of the nineteenth century, while quantum Hamiltonian mechanics has been developed since the first half of the twentieth century. Reviewing textbooks presenting both theories, the reader finds two fundamental inconsistencies concerning quantum theory versus the classical one. Both inconsistencies are related to mathematical language used in the quantum model. In classical mechanics, every measurable quantity (observable) is represented by a smooth real-valued function on a phase space, while in quantum mechanics every observable is represented by a self-adjoint operator in a Hilbert space over configuration space. It means that mathematical languages of both theories are drastically different. On the other hand, as both theories describe similar systems in the macro- and microscale, we expect that related formalisms should transform one into the other when we change the scale in both directions. So how to achieve it when the languages are not compatible? The second inconsistency is even worse. On the one hand, the modern classical Hamiltonian mechanics is formulated in a coordinate independent way, in the language of appropriate tensor fields. On the other hand, even contemporary textbooks of quantum mechanics formulate the theory mostly in Cartesian coordinates, like in the case of classical mechanics and classical electrodynamics in the nineteenth century. It is obvious that quantum mechanics requires a modern coordinate free formulation. One could say that the so-called geometric quantization fulfills that requirement at least to some extent. Although it is true, due to its mathematical complexity it was never adopted to the level of standard textbooks of quantum mechanics. We believe that the presented theory is an interesting alternative to the geometric quantization approach, strongly unifying formalisms from classical and quantum level.

Thus, the first aim of this book is a common, coordinate free formulation of classical and quantum Hamiltonian mechanics, in the frame of common mathematical language. In the presented formulation, quantum mechanics appears as an appropriate deformation of classical mechanics. It means that quantum formalism reduces to classical formalism when the deformation parameter tends to zero. What is more, the model presented in the book solves two inconsistencies mentioned above. To be more precise, presented formalism covers only the bosonic sector of classical and quantum Hamiltonian mechanics. The fermionic sector, involving Grassmann variables, although worthy of separate presentation, is beyond the scope of the book.

Obviously, the idea of deformation quantization is not new and was developed in many papers during the last few decades, but mainly by mathematicians for their own purposes. It was less appreciated by physicists. In this book, we formulate a coordinate free model of quantum bosonic Hamiltonian systems in Riemannian spaces, based on the mathematical idea of deformation quantization, as a complete physical theory with an appropriate mathematical accuracy.

The second aim of the book is related to the particular class of dynamical systems considered on both the classical and quantum level. It is well known that the number of classical and quantum problems which can be solved analytically, i.e., by quadratures, is very limited. So, it is very important to develop the theory which will allow for a deeper understanding of classical and quantum integrability. Thus, the second aim of the book is the presentation of the modern separability theory on both the classical and quantum level.

On the classical level, the Hamilton-Jacobi theory is one of the most powerful methods of integration by quadratures a wide class of systems described by nonlinear ordinary differential equations. The theory in question is closely related to the Liouville integrable Hamiltonian systems. The main difficulty in that approach is that it demands distinguished coordinates, so-called separation coordinates, to work effectively. In this book, we present a modern geometric separability theory, based on bi-Poissonian and bi-presymplectic representations of finite dimensional Liouville integrable systems. This approach leads to the construction of separation coordinates in a systematic way. For the sake of the physical interest, we mainly concentrate on the class of Hamiltonians quadratic in momenta.

We also develop the modern quantum separability theory. Actually, we present the formalism which allows us to find a separable quantization of quadratic in momenta classical separable systems. After such quantization, quantum stationary Schrödinger equations also separate and respective quantized constants of motion commute.

In order to make the text consistent and self-contained, we start from the compact overview of mathematical tools necessary for understanding the remaining part of the book. Moreover, because the book is dedicated mainly to physicists, despite its mathematical nature, we resigned from highlighting definitions, theorems, or lemmas. Nevertheless, all the claims presented are either proved or the reader is referred to the literature where the proof is available. There are two highlighted pieces of text. The first are examples, which illustrate the presented theory. The Preface

second are observations, which contain the most important messages for the reader, resulting from the presented theory. We also boxed the most important formulas from each chapter.

Poznań, Poland

Maciej Błaszak

Contents

1	Introduction					
2	Basic Mathematical Tools					
	2.1 Linear Tensor Algebra					
	2.2	2.2 Tensor Fields				
	2.3 Differential Forms and Multi-Vectors					
	2.4 Mappings of Tensor Fields Between Manifolds					
	2.5 Lie Derivative of Tensor Fields					
	2.6	Linear	Connection and Covariant Derivative	38		
	2.7	Sympl	lectic Manifolds and Symplectic Connections	49		
3	Classical Hamiltonian Mechanics			55		
	3.1	Lagra	nge Formalism and Canonical Hamiltonian Formalism	55		
		3.1.1	Equations of Motion in Riemann Space	55		
		3.1.2	Hamiltonian Representation of Variational Problems	58		
		3.1.3	Newton Representation of Variational Problems	64		
	3.2	Coord	inate Free Formulation of Hamiltonian Mechanics	72		
		3.2.1	Poisson and Presymplectic Manifolds	73		
		3.2.2	Tensor Invariants of Hamiltonian Systems	79		
		3.2.3	Dual Poisson-Presymplectic Pairs	80		
		3.2.4	Classical Hamiltonian Flows on Symplectic Manifold	85		
	3.3	Statist	ical Hamiltonian Mechanics	87		
		3.3.1	Classical Poisson Algebra and Classical States	88		
		3.3.2	Time Evolution of Classical Systems	92		
	3.4 Reduction of Poisson Structures and Hamiltonian Systems Onto Submanifolds					
			Submanifolds	96		
		3.4.1	Geometric Reduction of Poisson Bi-Vectors	97		
		3.4.2	Reduction of Hamiltonian Dynamics	103		
4	Clas	ssical Ir	ntegrable and Separable Hamiltonian Systems	113		
	4.1	able Hamiltonian Systems	113			
		4.1.1	Liouville Integrability	114		
		4.1.2	Superintegrability	121		

		4.1.3	Stäckel Transform	125
		4.1.4	Canonical Transformations	135
	4.2	The M	Iodern Formulation of Hamilton-Jacobi Theory	137
		4.2.1	Linearization of Hamiltonian Dynamics	137
		4.2.2	Stäckel Systems	140
		4.2.3	Inverse Jacobi Problem	144
	4.3	Stäcke	el Systems in Riemannian Geometry	149
		4.3.1	Killing Tensors and Separable Potentials	149
		4.3.2	Benenti Class of Separable Systems	154
		4.3.3	Superintegrability in Benenti Class	157
	4.4	Stäcke	el Transform for Separable Systems	163
		4.4.1	Reciprocal Equivalence with Benenti Class	163
		4.4.2	Elementary Stäckel Transforms in Benenti Class	168
		4.4.3	The Structure of Stäckel Hamiltonians from γ -Classes	170
		4.4.4	Stäckel Transform of Superintegrable Systems	178
5	Clas	sical S	enarability Theory	183
•	5 1	Bi-Ha	miltonian Separability Theory	184
	5.1	511	Bi-Hamiltonian Liouville Integrable Systems	184
		512	Reduction of Poisson Pencils onto Symplectic Leaves	192
		513	Ri-Simplectic Manifolds	195
		5.1.4	Stäckel Separability on Bi-Symplectic Manifolds	199
	5.2	Applie	cation of Bi-Hamiltonian Separability Theory	208
		5.2.1	Elliptic Separable Potentials	209
		5.2.2	Bi-Cofactor Systems	213
		5.2.3	Non-Periodic Toda Lattice	219
		5.2.4	Dressing Chain	222
	5.3	Bi-Pre	esymplectic Separability Theory	224
		5.3.1	D-Compatibility of Closed Two-Forms and Poisson	
			Bi-Vectors	225
		5.3.2	Bi-Presymplectic Chains	230
		5.3.3	Bi-Inverse-Hamiltonian Representation of Stäckel	
			Systems	233
	5.4	Bi-Ha	miltonian and Bi-Presymplectic Theory in \mathbb{R}^3	243
		5.4.1	Poisson and Presymplectic Structures in \mathbb{R}^3	244
		5.4.2	Bi-Hamiltonian and Bi-Presymplectic Chains in \mathbb{R}^3	247
	5.5	Direct	Transformation from Separation to Flat Coordinates	257
		5.5.1	Flat Coordinates for Real Non Degenerate Case	260
		5.5.2	Flat Coordinates for Particular Degeneration	268
		5.5.3	Stäckel Transform in Flat Coordinates	272
6	Dof	rmotic	on Theory of Classical Paisson Algebras	270
U	6 1	Stor A	In Theory of Classical Foisson Algebras	219
	0.1	5 ar- A	Droliminarias	200
		0.1.1	Fourier Transforms	200
		0.1.2	Star Droducts on \mathbb{D}^{2n}	200
		0.1.5		_∠90

		6.1.4	Canonical Transformations of Star-Products	302
		6.1.5	Star Products on Symplectic Manifolds	320
	6.2	Opera	tor Representation of Star-Algebras and Related Orderings	331
		6.2.1	Weyl Ordering for Moyal Product	331
		6.2.2	General Theory of Orderings	336
7	Qua	intum I	Hamiltonian Mechanics on Symplectic Manifolds	345
	7.1	Gener	al Theory of Quantization	345
		7.1.1	Quantum States	345
		7.1.2	Time Evolution of Quantum Systems	347
	7.2	Quant	um Trajectories in Phase Space	351
		7.2.1	Quantum Flow	351
		7.2.2	Quantum Dynamics with Classical Trajectories	356
		7.2.3	Pure Quantum Trajectories	370
8	Posi	tion R	epresentation of Ouantum Mechanics over	
	Rie	nannia	n Configuration Space	377
	8.1	Opera	tor Representation over Riemannian Space	377
		8.1.1	Moyal Quantization	378
		8.1.2	Other Admissible Quantizations	391
		8.1.3	Coordinate Transformation on Configuration Space	397
		8.1.4	Coordinate Free Formulation	400
		8.1.5	Quantization of Hydrogen Atom in Curvilinear	
			Coordinates	403
		8.1.6	Operators Linear, Quadratic and Cubic in Momenta	405
	8.2	Quant	tum Integrability and Stationary Quantum Separability	409
		8.2.1	Separability for Minimal Quantization with Natural	
			Metric	411
		8.2.2	Separability for Minimal Quantization with Adopted	
			Metric	420
		8.2.3	Minimal Quantization in Different Hilbert Spaces	425
		8.2.4	Quantum Integrability of Stäckel Systems in Various	130
		825	Quantization of Superintegrable Stöckel Systems	430
		826	<i>R</i> -Separability of Stäckel Metrics	430
		0.2.0	A separating of sucker metrics	737
Re	eferer	nces		447
In	dex			457
			······································	

Chapter 1 Introduction



Classical and quantum Hamiltonian mechanics belong to the most important physical theories which are able to model with an incredible precision various physical processes which take place in the real world, from astronomical macro scale to atomic and molecular micro scale. Historically, classical Hamiltonian mechanics grew out from Newtonian (later on Lagrangian) mechanics, describing particle dynamics under influence of potential forces, in the form of second order ordinary differential equations (ODE's) in base Euclidian (Riemannian) space. Simple, *n* second order ODE's on a base space was replaced by 2n first order ODE's on a phase space, parametrized by n position coordinates and n momentum coordinates. In such formulation, the flow, governed by conserved total energy (classical Hamiltonian) of the system, represented particle dynamics on the phase space. Such Hamiltonians consisted of the kinetic part, quadratic in momenta, and the potential part, position dependent. Since then, the Hamiltonian mechanics has developed into an independent general theory allowing to describe a much wider class of dynamical systems than only particle dynamics on some configuration space (base space). Actually, it is a theory of Hamiltonian flows on Poisson manifolds M, governed by arbitrary smooth real valued functions (Hamiltonians) on M. In consequence, considered dynamical systems are subject to Poisson geometry. Obviously, for particular Poisson manifolds and particular Hamiltonians, one can adopt the Riemannian geometry to Hamiltonian formalism, regarding a Poisson manifold as a cotangent bundle to some Riemannian space and momentum part of Hamiltonian as defined by a respective metric tensor. Nevertheless, on the general level of the Hamiltonian formalism, there is no related Riemannian geometry and hence there is no configuration space where the dynamics could be transferred.

As a consequence, the most fundamental quantization procedure of classical Hamiltonian mechanics should take place on a Poisson manifold in the form of smooth deformation of a classical formalism. As a result, one should obtain a theory of quantum Hamiltonian flows on quantum Poisson manifolds, governed by quantum Hamiltonian functions. All these objects should be deformations of their

M. Błaszak, *Quantum versus Classical Mechanics and Integrability Problems*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-18379-0_1

classical counterparts. To be more precise, one should deform a Poisson algebra of classical observables with a Poisson bracket as a Lie bracket to a new Lie algebra with a Lie bracket being deformation of the Poisson bracket. As a consequence we present the reader the theory of quantum flows on a phase space being an appropriate deformation of the classical theory of flows on the same space.

On the other hand, in order to unify the languages of both theories, it is reasonable to begin on the classical level from a bit more extended formalism than the classical Hamiltonian mechanics, i.e. from the so called statistical Hamiltonian mechanics. There are a few advantages of such an extension. First of all, it is a more realistic theory as in any physical experiment the physical measurement is made with finite accuracy. Secondly, such an extension allows for introducing the concept of classical states in the form of probability distributions on the phase space. Obviously, after quantization we get quantum states in the form of pseudoprobability distributions on the phase space as well, being appropriate deformations of classical states. As a consequence, on the classical level one can introduce notions familiar from the quantum level, i.e. pure, mixed and coherent classical states, classical uncertainty relations, classical Schrödinger picture for time evolution of classical states and classical Heisenberg picture for time evolution of classical observables. As the deformation formalism presented in the book is coordinate independent, the obtained quantum Hamiltonian theory is also formulated in a coordinate free form.

For the distinguished class of systems, when we can adopt a Riemannian geometry on the classical level, we construct a Riemannian representation (generalized position representation) of general quantum formalism, where quantum observables are represented by self-adjoint operators acting in a Hilbert space over Riemannian space, with the measure induced by an appropriate metric tensor. In the particular case of Euclidian space and Cartesian coordinates, our representation is reduced to the standard formulation of quantum mechanics from textbooks. Obviously, as in Riemannian representation we also have a coordinate free formulation of quantization procedure, so we demonstrate how to properly quantize a given Hamiltonian system in arbitrary curvilinear coordinates.

The quantization procedures performed in the general setting have more advantages than the ones presented till now. Actually, it allows to control the types of admissible quantizations. Any admissible deformation of classical Poisson algebra is related to the particular quantization. Hence, from the mathematical point of view, we have infinitely many admissible quantizations of classical Hamiltonian systems. Each deformation has its own representation in a Hilbert space over phase space, where quantum observables are represented by an appropriate self-adjoint operators. Various quantizations differ from each other by different orderings of position and momentum operators. So, each deformation is in one to one correspondence with an appropriate ordering of operators of position and momenta. This is why the ordering formalism is treated with a particular attention. The same ordering structure is induced to Riemannian representation, if such exists. Now, which quantization properly describes quantum behavior of real physical systems can only be decided by physical experiments. On the other hand, our experimental experience is mainly related to the flat configuration space, which is not enough to chose a unique quantization in the general case. In the book, for a given metric tensor, we construct a two-parameter family of admissible quantizations, containing in particular a majority of quantizations considered in literature and derived with the help of various approaches. All these quantizations are reduced to a standard Weyl quantization in the case of the flat configuration space and 'natural' Hamiltonian function being the sum of kinetic and potential parts.

A large part of the book is dedicated to the problem of integrability and in particular separability in Hamiltonian mechanics, which allows for integration of particular nonlinear ODE's on a classical level and particular linear PDE's on a quantum level. On the classical level we first define a class of so called Liouville integrable systems and then develop a theory of Stäckel transforms, which allows for systematic construction of new Liouville integrable systems from the old ones. What is interesting, the flows of Stäckel related systems are transformed into each other by an appropriate transformation between evolution parameters, depending on points from a phase space.

Besides, we present a modern version of Hamilton-Jacobi (HJ) separability theory of Liouville integrable systems, based on the so called separation relations. Such formulation allows to classify separable systems of Stäckel type. In order to apply the HJ method, one has to find a complete integral of the so called HJ equation for generating function of canonical transformation, necessary for further linearization of the considered system. This equation is in general nonlinear PDE, and the only effective method of solving this equation turns out to be the method of separation of variables, carried out in a distinguished coordinate system. In these particular coordinates HJ equation admits a complete integral in the form of a sum of functions depending on one variable only, determined by a set of first order ODE's, called separation equations. In the presented approach we show that for general separability, in order to find separation equations, one HJ equation is not sufficient and it is necessary to consider simultaneously all HJ equations generated by functionally independent constants of motion which are in involution. Only such a set of nonlinear PDE's, written in separation coordinates, can be transformed through purely algebraic operations into a set of separation equations, i.e. a set of nonlinear first order ODE's, each one of one variable. The class of systems for which, in order to find the separation equations a single HJ equation is sufficient, is very restrictive. Nevertheless, in standard textbooks on classical mechanics that particular case (which is a historical one) is the only case considered.

The main problem of the classical HJ theory is the construction of transformation to separation coordinates in which the method works effectively. For many decades there was no general theory allowing to identify the separation coordinates for a given Liouville integrable system. Only recently, at the turn of the twentieth and twenty-first century, a few constructive theories of separation coordinates have appeared. In this book we present two of them, related to particular geometric properties of Liouville integrable systems.

The first one is the so called bi-Hamiltonian separability theory. It enables to construct a transformation from original coordinates to separation coordinates and to derive appropriate separation relations, directly linked to the searched separation equations. It was clear from the very beginning that in order to find a transformation to separation coordinates for Liouville integrable systems, some extra information is required. In this case it is a bi-Hamiltonian representation of the considered system. It means that a given vector field has two different Hamiltonian representations in the same coordinate system. Actually, there exist two different Hamiltonians (constants of motion) and two different Poisson bi-vectors which define the same vector field. In general, both Poisson bi-vectors are degenerate. When the considered vector field is defined on symplectic manifold it means that there exists its extension to Poisson manifold where bi-Hamiltonian formulation is available. The construction of separation coordinates is related with the projection of the second Poisson structure onto symplectic leaves of the first Poisson structure. Thus, the reduction theory for Poisson tensor fields is required and so is presented in the book with particular care. Once we have reduced both Poisson tensors into a symplectic leaf of the first one, we construct the so called recursion operator being the product of symplectic form related to the first reduced Poisson bi-vector with the second reduced bi-vector. It is a second order tensor field of (1, 1) type. Its eigenvalues define the first half of separation coordinates, while conjugate momenta represent the second half of separation coordinates.

The second separability theory presented in the book is a bi-presymplectic (biinverse-Hamiltonian in particular) theory. It is an alternative geometric approach, based on the fact that the majority (possible all) of Liouville integrable systems on symplectic manifold admit the extension to higher dimensional presymplectic manifold, where there exists an additional presymplectic two-form such that the differential of Hamiltonian has two different inverse-Hamiltonian representations in the same coordinate frame. Now, the construction of separation coordinates relies on the restriction of both presymplectic two-forms to the original manifold where we have now two symplectic two-forms and a related recursion operator. The further procedure leading to separation coordinates is analogous as in the bi-Hamiltonian model.

The universality of both, mentioned above, separability theories relies on the fact that any separable system (Stäckel system), defined by a separation curve, has bi-Hamiltonian and bi-inverse-Hamiltonian extensions.

On the quantum level, by quantum separability we understand the integration by quadratures of a stationary Schröedinger equation (Helmholtz equation in the case of arbitrary metric tensor). Actually, in separation coordinates each eigenfunction of quantum Hamiltonian multiplicatively separates into a product of one-dimensional functions and in consequence, a multi-dimensional eigenvalue problem splits into an appropriate number of one-dimensional problems. In this book we present a modern quantum separability theory being a generalization of Roberson and Eisenhart approach. As the result we prove that for any classical Stäckel system with all constants of motion quadratic in momenta and for which Stäckel matrix consists of monomials in position coordinates, there exist infinitely many quantizations, parametrized by n arbitrary functions, each of one variable, that turn this system into a quantum separable Stäckel system. Moreover, separable quantizations are constructed in explicit form.

The book is composed of eight chapters and each chapter is divided into sections and then subsections.

Chapter 2 presents a brief survey of differential calculus, necessary for further considerations. We review the concept of tensor fields over finite dimensional manifolds. Exterior algebras of forms and multi-vectors, important in Hamiltonian theory are presented with a special care. Then the transformation properties of tensor fields via push-forward and pull-back given by an arbitrary local diffeomorphisms are derived. Next, the theory of Lie transport and Lie derivatives of various tensor fields is presented. A subsequent section is devoted to a linear connection and covariant derivatives of tensor fields. Some important formulas, necessary for the theory developed, are collected there. Finally, in the last section, the concept of symplectic manifolds and symplectic connections is briey sketched.

In Chap. 3 a particle dynamics on Riemannian space, its variational construction and the standard Hamiltonian representation is briefly reminded to the reader. The particle representation of higher order variational problems is also presented. In the next section, a coordinate free formulation of Hamiltonian mechanics on Poisson manifold and inverse-Hamiltonian mechanics on presymplectic manifold is systematically derived and then related to each other. The notion of Hamiltonian flows on symplectic manifold is discussed. Then the extension of classical Hamiltonian mechanics to statistical Hamiltonian mechanics is presented, allowing to introduce on a classical level the notions of states, Schröedinger and Heisenberg representations of classical dynamics, ucertainity relations and other notions familiar to the reader from quantum level. Finally, in the last section, a geometric reduction theory of Poisson bi-vectors onto submanifolds is discussed with a great care.

Chapter 4 is dedicated to Liouville integrable systems with particular attention to the ones that are separable. First, the notion of Liouville integrability (superintegrability in particular) is introduced and recently formulated theory of multi-parameter Stäckel transforms is discussed, allowing for the construction of new integrable (superintegrable) systems from the old ones in any coordinate frame. Then the modern formulation of Hamilton-Jacobi theory is presented, built on the notion of separation relations as the fundamental objects. A particular attention is paid to separable systems (Stäckel systems) with all constants of motion being quadratic in momenta. Such systems are classified, adopted to Riemannian (pseudo-Riemannian in general) geometry and then integrated by quadratures. Finally, the explicit form of Stäckel transforms relating systems from different classes as well as systems from the same class of presented classification is constructed.

In Chap. 5 are described two geometric separability theories allowing for explicit construction of separable coordinates for considered Liouville integrable system. First, bi-Hamiltonian theory is presented. Bi-Hamiltonian chains of vector fields are defined on bi-Poisson manifold and the formalism of their reduction to quasi-bi-Hamiltonian chains on bi-symplectic submanifold is discussed. Then the construction of separation coordinates and separation relations is presented in

details. Second, a dual to bi-Hamiltonian, i.e. bi-presymplectic separability theory is described. Bi-inverse-Hamiltonian chains of closed one-forms are defined on bi-presymplectic manifold and the formalism of their reduction, again to quasibi-Hamiltonian chains on bi-symplectic submanifold, is demonstrated. A separate section is dedicated to bi-Hamiltonian and bi-presymplectic systems on \mathbb{R}^3 . In the last section is considered a subclass of Stäckel systems whose geodesic parts are defined by Killing tensors of some flat metrices. In that case, particularly important from the physical point of view, a transformation from separation coordinates to flat coordinates is derived in explicit form for all admissible flat metrices.

In Chap. 6 formalism of quantum deformations of classical Poisson algebra of smooth complex-valued functions on Poisson manifold is discussed. The main attention is paid to symplectic case when the phase space is a cotangent bundle of some pseudo-Riemannian manifold. A class of isomorphic star-algebras is constructed in the form of appropriate deformations of commutative algebra of functions on a phase space. For every star-algebra a Lie bracket in the form of star-commutator represents a quantum Poisson bracket being an appropriate deformation of classical Poisson bracket. Moreover, it is explained why equivalent quantum Poisson algebras lead to non-equivalent quantizations of classical Hamiltonian systems. Finally, in the last section, operator representations in a Hilbert space over phase space is constructed for every quantum Poisson algebra considered in the previous section. As constructed representations are related to different ordering rules, so the general theory of orderings is also presented.

Chapter 7 contains the formulation of quantum Hamiltonian mechanics on a phase space. Quantum states over phase space are defined. Their time evolution is presented in the frame of Schröedinger picture and the time evolution of quantum observables is presented in the frame of Heisenberg picture. Quantum Hamiltonian equations of motion are represented by nonlinear (in general) ODE's from the space of star-functions. The set of solutions of quantum Hamiltonian equations defines a quantum flow on the phase space. Like in the classical case, each quantum trajectory from the quantum flow represents a one-parameter group of quantum symplectomorphisms (quantum canonical transformations), but contrary to classical case, the group multiplication differs from a simple composition of maps. Various cases of quantum trajectories are consider with particular care.

Finally, in Chap. 8, the situation when a particular Riemannian geometry is adopted to Hamiltonian dynamics is analyzed. In such a case, the class of quantizations on a phase space has a Riemannian (position) representation in a form of self-adjoint operators acting in a Hilbert space over respective configuration space (Riemannian space). A two-parameter family of admissible quantizations in curved configuration space is constructed in a coordinate free way. It allows to quantize any classical system in arbitrary coordinate frame according to various quantization procedures. A simple but instructive example of quantization of hydrogen atom directly in spherical coordinates is presented. The last section of that chapter is dedicated to modern quantum separability theory. First, quantum integrability and quantum stationary separability are defined. Then, it is proved that for all considered classically separable systems with constants of motion quadratic in momenta, there always exists a distinguished family of metric tensors and related quantizations which preserve separability on a quantum stationary level, i.e. eigenfunctions of respective Hamiltonian operator separate multiplicatively onto functions of one variable and multi-dimensional eigenvalue problem splits into one-dimensional problems. The problem of quantum superintegrability and quantum R-separability is also discussed.

Chapter 2 Basic Mathematical Tools



In this chapter we briefly discuss some elements of differential calculus which are important for understanding the content of this book. The reader who is familiar with the theory of tensor fields, Riemannian geometry and symplectic (Poisson) geometry can skip that part, keeping in mind that all important formulas of these formalisms are collected in this chapter. The reader who is less familiar with these mathematical tools will find here necessary knowledge presented in a compact form. For a more comprehensive treatment of the subject we refer the reader to the literature [1, 71, 116, 178, 255, 258].

2.1 Linear Tensor Algebra

Let *V* has an algebraic structure of a *linear space* of dimension dim V = n, with *vectors* as elements. Denote by V^* a set of linear forms (linear maps) $\alpha : V \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$, where \mathbb{R} are real numbers, which form a linear space in its own right, called *dual space*, also of dimension dim $V^* = n$. Its elements are called *covectors* (1-*forms*):

$$\alpha: v \longrightarrow \alpha(v) \in \mathbb{R}, v \in V, \alpha \in V^*.$$

There is no distinguished canonical isomorphism between V and V^* , but there is such an isomorphism between V and $(V^*)^*$:

$$f: V \longrightarrow (V^*)^*$$
 such that $f(v)(\alpha) := \alpha(v)$.

So, both vectors and 1-forms can be treated equally as linear maps:

$$V \ni v \longrightarrow v(\alpha) = \langle \alpha, v \rangle \in \mathbb{R} : V^* \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$$
$$V^* \ni \alpha \longrightarrow \alpha(v) = \langle \alpha, v \rangle \in \mathbb{R} : V \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$$

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

M. Błaszak, *Quantum versus Classical Mechanics and Integrability Problems*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-18379-0_2

where the bilinear map

$$\langle ., . \rangle : V^* \times V \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$$
 (2.1.1)

is known as a *duality map*, pairing V and V^* .

A tensor of type (r, s) on V is called a multilinear map

$$\mathcal{T}: \underbrace{V^* \times \ldots \times V^*}_r \times \underbrace{V \times \ldots \times V}_s \longrightarrow \mathbb{R},$$
$$(v_1, \ldots, v_r, \alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_s) \longrightarrow T(v_1, \ldots, v_r, \alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_s) \in \mathbb{R},$$
$$T(\ldots, v + \lambda w, \ldots) = T(\ldots, v, \ldots) + \lambda T(\ldots, w, \ldots).$$

The set of (r, s) tensors will be denoted by $\mathcal{T}^{(r,s)}(V)$ and its elements are called *tensors* which are *r*-times covariant and *s*-times contravariant, wherein $\mathcal{T}^{(0,0)}(V) := \mathbb{R}$. The set $\mathcal{T}^{(r,s)}(V)$ is also a linear space in its own right. How to calculate values of various tensors using the duality map? In order to do it we have to introduce the notion of tensor product.

The *tensor product* \otimes of linear spaces $\mathcal{T}^{(r,s)}(V)$ and $\mathcal{T}^{(p,q)}(V)$ we call a map

$$\otimes: \mathcal{T}^{(r,s)}(V) \times \mathcal{T}^{(p,q)}(V) \longrightarrow \mathcal{T}^{(r+p,s+q)}(V),$$

such that

$$(A \otimes B)(v_1, \dots, v_s, w_1, \dots, w_q, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_r, \beta_1, \dots, \beta_q)$$

= $A(v_1, \dots, v_s, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_r)B(w_1, \dots, w_q, \beta_1, \dots, \beta_q),$

where $A \in \mathcal{T}^{(r,s)}(V)$ and $B \in \mathcal{T}^{(p,q)}(V)$. As a consequence, the linear spaces $\mathcal{T}^{(r,s)}(V)$ can be represented by an appropriate tensor product

$$\mathcal{T}^{(r,s)}(V) = \underbrace{V^* \otimes \ldots \otimes V^*}_r \otimes \underbrace{V \otimes \ldots \otimes V}_s$$
(2.1.2)

and hence any tensor $T^{(r,s)}(V)$ is of the respective form

$$T^{(r,s)} = \gamma_1 \otimes \ldots \otimes \gamma_r \otimes z_1 \otimes \ldots \otimes z_s, \quad \gamma_i \in V^*, \ z_i \in V,$$

so

$$\Gamma^{(r,s)}(v_1,\ldots,v_r,\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_s) = \langle \gamma_1,v_1 \rangle \ldots \langle \gamma_r,v_r \rangle \langle \alpha_1,z_1 \rangle \ldots \langle \alpha_s,z_s \rangle.$$

Let $\{e_i\}$ be a basis in V and $\{e^j\}$ so called dual basis in V* defined by

$$\langle e^k, e_j \rangle = \delta_j^k, \quad k, j = 1, \dots, n.$$

For arbitrary vector $v \in V$ and covector $\alpha \in V^*$

$$v = v^k e_k, \quad \alpha = \alpha_k e^k,$$

where Einstein summation convention is used. From (2.1) follows that

$$\langle \alpha, v \rangle = v^i \alpha_i, \ v^k = \langle e^k, v \rangle, \ \alpha_i = \langle \alpha, e_i \rangle.$$

So, components of the tensor $T^{(r,s)} \in \mathcal{T}^{(r,s)}(V)$, in a given basis, are of the form

$$T^{(r,s)}(e_{k_1},\ldots,e_{k_r},e^{j_1},\ldots,e^{j_s}) = (\gamma_1 \otimes \ldots \otimes \gamma_r \otimes v_1 \otimes \ldots \otimes v_s)(e_{k_1},\ldots,e^{j_s})$$
$$= \langle \gamma_1,e_{k_1} \rangle \ldots \langle e^{j_s},v_s \rangle = T^{j_1\ldots j_s}_{k_1\ldots k_r},$$

while the tensor itself is as follows

$$T^{(r,s)} = T^{j_1 \dots j_s}_{k_1 \dots k_r} e^{k_1} \otimes \dots \otimes e^{k_r} \otimes e_{j_1} \otimes \dots \otimes e_{j_s}.$$

A direct sum of all linear spaces $\mathcal{T}^{(r,s)}(V)$

$$\mathcal{T}(V) := \bigoplus_{r,s=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{T}^{(r,s)}(V)$$

constitutes noncommutative, associative algebra with respect to tensor multiplication.

Example 2.1 Let us consider second order tensors

 $T^{(0,2)} = z_1 \otimes z_2, \ T^{(2,0)} = \gamma_1 \otimes \gamma_2, \ T^{(1,1)} = \gamma \otimes z, \quad z_1, z_2, z \in V, \quad \gamma_1, \gamma_2, \gamma \in V^*,$

then

$$T^{(0,2)}(\alpha_1, \alpha_2) = \langle \alpha_1, z_1 \rangle \langle \alpha_2, z_2 \rangle, \quad T^{(2,0)}(v_1, v_2) = \langle \gamma_1, v_1 \rangle \langle \gamma_2, v_2 \rangle,$$
$$T^{(1,1)}(\alpha, v) = \langle \alpha, z \rangle \langle \gamma, v \rangle,$$

where $v_1, v_2, v \in V$, $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha \in V^*$. In our basis we have

$$T^{(0,2)} = z_1 \otimes z_2 = z_1^i z_2^j e_i \otimes e_j = T^{ij} e_i \otimes e_j,$$

$$T^{(2,0)} = \gamma_1 \otimes \gamma_2 = \gamma_{1i} \gamma_{2j} e^i \otimes e^j = T_{ij} e^i \otimes e^j,$$

$$T^{(1,1)} = \gamma \otimes z = \gamma_j z^i e^j \otimes e_i = T_j^i e^j \otimes e_i.$$

The operation producing tensors from tensors is said to be a tensor operation. So far we have at our disposal a linear combination of tensors and a tensor product of tensors. Another important tensor operation is *contraction* defined as follows

$$C: T^{(r,s)}(V) \longrightarrow T^{(r-1,s-1)}(V), \quad T \longrightarrow C(T) := T(\ldots, e_k, \ldots, e^k, \ldots),$$

where the pairing (2.1.1) is applied to the *i*th V^* factor and the *j*th V factor in (2.1.2).

Some tensors will play an important role in our further considerations. One of them is so called *metric tensor*. It is a second order covariant tensor $g \in \mathcal{T}^{(2,0)}(V)$, which is symmetric and non-degenerate, i.e.

$$g(v, w) = g(w, v)$$
 symmetric,
 $\bigwedge_{w \in V} g(v, w) = 0 \Longrightarrow v = 0$, non-degenerate: $\det(g_{ij}) \neq 0$.

Sometimes one demands stronger requirement, namely to be positive definite

$$\bigwedge_{v \in V} g(v, v) \ge 0.$$

Metric tensors which are not positive definite are said to be *pseudo-metric tensors*. As it is well known from the linear algebra, any nondegenerate symmetric matrix takes in a suitable basis a canonical form

$$g = diag(\underbrace{1, \dots, 1}_{n_{+}}, \underbrace{-1, \dots, -1}_{n_{-}}).$$
 (2.1.3)

Then, one says that the metric tensor g has signature (n_+, n_-) .

Metric tensor defines a scalar product in V

$$v \cdot w := g(v, w) = g_{ij}v^i w^j.$$
 (2.1.4)

A linear space over complex numbers with scalar product (2.1.4) is called a *unitary space*. A basis in which the metric tensor *g* takes the canonical form (2.1.3) is called an orthonormal basis.

In a given basis denote the matrix (G^{ij}) as the inverse matrix to (g_{ii}) , i.e.

$$g_{ik}G^{kj} = \delta_i^j.$$

 G^{ij} constitute the components of contravariant metric tensor $G \in \mathcal{T}^{(0,2)}(V)$.

Consider the maps

$$V^* \to V: \quad \alpha \to G\alpha := G(\alpha, \cdot)$$

$$V \to V^*: \quad v \to gv := g(v, \cdot)$$
(2.1.5)

They are inverses to each other and define isomorphism between linear spaces V and V^* , which in arbitrary basis takes the form

$$\alpha_i = g_{ij} v^j, \quad v^i = G^{ij} \alpha_j, \quad v \in V, \; \alpha \in V^*.$$

2.2 Tensor Fields

Let Q be a smooth manifold. In many applications we will consider a very simple case when $Q = \mathbb{R}^n$. Then, let $\mathcal{F}(Q) := \{f : Q \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}\}$ be a set of smooth functions on Q. $\mathcal{F}(Q)$ constitutes a commutative and associative algebra with respect to point (local) multiplication. For an open set $U \subset Q$, homeomorphism

$$\varphi: U \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^n(x^1, \dots, x^n)$$

is called a chart of local coordinates. In local coordinates

$$f_{\varphi} \equiv f \circ \varphi^{-1} : \mathbb{R}^n \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$$

will be identified with f.

Let $T_x Q$ denote the tangent space to Q in a point $x \in Q$. $T_x Q$ has a structure of a linear space. Moreover, let T_x^*Q denote the dual space. Define the sets TQ and T^*Q over Q as

$$TQ := \bigcup_{x \in M} T_x Q, \quad \bigwedge_{x \in M} T_x Q = V,$$
$$T^*Q := \bigcup_{x \in M} T_x^*Q, \quad \bigwedge_{x \in M} T_x^*Q = V^*,$$

i.e. all vectors at all points $x \in Q$ are regarded as points of a new set TQ, while all covectors at all points $x \in Q$ are regarded as points of a new set T^*Q , with natural

surjective maps

$$\pi: TQ \to Q, \quad T_xQ \ni v \to x,$$

$$\tau: T^*Q \to Q, \quad T^*_xQ \ni p \to x.$$

TQ and T^*Q have a natural structure of smooth manifolds induced by differential structure (maximal atlas) on Q. Besides, if $\varphi : Q \supset U \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^n(x^1, \ldots, x^n)$ is a local chart on U, where x^i are local coordinates, then on the domain $\tilde{U} := \pi^{-1}(U) \subset TQ$ one can introduce *canonical coordinates* as follows. If $v \in \tilde{U} \Longrightarrow v(x) \in T_x Q$ for $x \in U$ then

$$v = v^{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{i}} |_{x} = v^{i}(x) \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{i}}, \qquad (2.2.1)$$

so

 $\tilde{\varphi}: TQ \supset \tilde{U} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^{2n}(x^1, \dots, x^n, v^1(x), \dots, v^n(x))$

is a local chart with canonical coordinates $(x^1, \ldots, x^n, v^1(x), \ldots, v^n(x))$. In a similar way, for the domain $\tilde{U} := \tau^{-1}(U) \subset T^*Q$

$$\tilde{\varphi}: T^*Q \supset \tilde{U} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^{2n}(x^1, \dots, x^n, p_1(x), \dots, p_n(x))$$

is also a local chart with canonical coordinates $(x^1, ..., x^n, p_1(x), ..., p_n(x))$, where $p(x) \in T_x^*Q$. Its decomposition with respect to the coordinate basis reads

$$p = p_i dx^i |_{x} = p_i(x) dx^i.$$
(2.2.2)

For special cases, when $Q = \mathbb{R}^n$, or Q is a Lie group or Q is a set contractible to a point, then TQ (T^*Q) is diffeomorphic to $Q \times \mathbb{R}^n$ and represents trivial tangent (cotangent) *bundle*, while $T_x Q$ and T_x^*Q are respective *fibers* over a point x. Locally, we always deal with trivial bundles.

The simplest tensor fields are:

- 1. scalar field: $f: Q \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}; \quad f(x) \in \mathbb{R},$
- 2. vector field: $v: Q \longrightarrow TQ; v(x) \in T_xQ$,
- 3. covector field: $\alpha : Q \longrightarrow T^*Q; \ \alpha(x) \in T^*_xQ.$

The dual map on a smooth manifold is defined by:

$$\langle \alpha, v \rangle : T^*Q \times TQ \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}(Q); \ \langle \alpha, v \rangle (x) \in \mathbb{R}.$$
 (2.2.3)

Notice, that $\langle \alpha, v \rangle$ is $\mathcal{F}(Q)$ -bilinear mapping:

$$\begin{split} &\bigwedge_{f\in\mathcal{F}(M)} \langle \alpha, v+fw\rangle = \langle \alpha, v\rangle + f \langle \alpha, w\rangle \,, \\ &\bigwedge_{f\in\mathcal{F}(M)} \langle \alpha+f\beta, v\rangle = \langle \alpha, v\rangle + f \langle \beta, v\rangle \,. \end{split}$$

Thus, vectors and covectors constitute a linear space over \mathbb{R} , while vector fields and covector fields constitute a module over algebra $\mathcal{F}(Q)$.

Tensor fields of (r, s)-type can be treated as maps

$$\mathcal{T}^{(r,s)}(Q):\underbrace{T^*Q \times \ldots \times T^*Q}_r \times \underbrace{TQ \times \ldots \times TQ}_s \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}(Q), \qquad (2.2.4)$$

which are $\mathcal{F}(Q)$ -linear in each argument. A direct sum

$$\mathcal{T}(\mathcal{Q}) := \bigoplus_{r,s=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{T}^{(r,s)}(\mathcal{Q})$$

with tensor product \otimes acting point-wise, constitutes the algebra of tensor fields on Q. The algebra is associative and noncommutative.

A vector field v over $U \subset Q$ ($v \in \tilde{U} \subset TQ$) in local coordinate chart $\varphi : U \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^n(x^1, \ldots, x^n)$, according to (2.2.1), is of the form

$$v(x) = v^i(x)\partial_i \equiv v^i(x)\frac{\partial}{\partial x^i}, \quad \left\{\frac{\partial}{\partial x^i}\right\}_{i=1,\dots,n}$$
 the base (frame) in $\mathcal{T}^{(1,0)}(U)$,

where functions $v^i(x)$ represent vector field components. Alternatively, vector fields can be considered to be mappings in the algebra $\mathcal{F}(Q)$

$$v : \mathcal{F}(Q) \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}(Q),$$

 $\mathcal{F}(Q) \ni f \longrightarrow v(f) = v^{i}(x) \frac{\partial f}{\partial x^{i}} \in \mathcal{F}(Q)$

of derivative type, i.e. such that are linear and fulfill the Leibniz rule

$$v(f + \lambda h) = v(f) + \lambda v(h), \quad f, h \in \mathcal{F}(Q), \ \lambda \in \mathbb{R}$$
$$v(fh) = v(f)h + fv(h).$$

A particular case of covector field over $U \subset Q$ is a differential df of function $f: Q \to \mathbb{R}$, which acts on a vector field v in the following way

$$\langle df, v \rangle = v(f).$$

Coordinate differentials $dx^i \in T^{(0,1)}(U)$ constitute a dual basis (coframe) of covector fields

$$\left\langle dx^{i}, \partial_{j} \right\rangle = \partial_{j}(x^{i}) = \delta^{i}_{j},$$

so

$$\alpha(x) = \alpha_i(x)dx^i, \quad \alpha_i(x) = \langle \alpha, \partial_i \rangle$$

is consistent with (2.2.2), and in particular

$$\alpha = df = \frac{\partial f}{\partial x^i} dx^i.$$

The dual map in a chosen basis is of the form

$$\langle \alpha, v \rangle (x) = \alpha_i(x) v^i(x).$$

If $T(Q) \in \mathcal{T}^{(r,s)}(Q)$, then in a local basis on $U \in Q$

$$T^{(r,s)}(U) = T^{j_1\dots j_s}_{k_1\dots k_r} dx^{k_1} \otimes \dots \otimes dx^{k_r} \otimes \partial_{j_1} \otimes \dots \otimes \partial_{j_s}.$$
 (2.2.5)

Notice, that second order tensor fields $\mathcal{T}^{(2,0)}(Q)$, $\mathcal{T}^{(0,2)}(Q)$, $\mathcal{T}^{(1,1)}(Q)$ can be treated as appropriate maps:

1.
$$\mathcal{T}^{(0,2)}(Q) : T^*Q \longrightarrow TQ$$
,
2. $\mathcal{T}^{(2,0)}(Q) : TQ \longrightarrow T^*Q$,
3. $\mathcal{T}^{(1,1)}(Q) : TQ \longrightarrow TQ$, $\mathcal{T}^{(1,1)}(Q) : T^*Q \longrightarrow T^*Q$

Let

$$A^{(0,2)} = A^{ij}\partial_i \otimes \partial_j, \ A^{(2,0)} = A_{ij}dx^i \otimes dx^j, \ A^{(1,1)} = A^j_i dx^i \otimes \partial_j,$$

then, we will use the following notation

$$A^{(0,2)}\alpha = C(A^{(0,2)} \otimes \alpha) = v, \quad A^{(0,2)}(\beta, \alpha) = \left<\beta, A^{(0,2)}\alpha\right> = \left<\beta, v\right>,$$
$$A^{(2,0)}v = C(A^{(2,0)} \otimes v) = \alpha, \quad A^{(2,0)}(w,v) = \left = \left<\alpha, w\right>,$$
(2.2.6)

$$A^{(1,1)}v = C(A^{(1,1)} \otimes v) = w, \quad A^{(1,1)}(v,\alpha) = \left\langle \alpha, A^{(1,1)}v \right\rangle = \left\langle \alpha, w \right\rangle,$$
$$A^{(1,1)}\alpha = C(A^{(1,1)} \otimes \alpha) = \beta, \quad A^{(1,1)}(v,\alpha) = \left\langle A^{(1,1)}\alpha, v \right\rangle = \left\langle \beta, v \right\rangle,$$

where for the tensor $A^{(1,1)}$ the first contraction is made over the contravariant index (the upper one) while the second contraction is made over covariant index (the lower one). Thus, later in the book, the symbols of second order tensors, like $A^{(0,2)}$ one, will denote the bilinear map in the notation $A^{(0,2)}(\alpha(x), \beta(x)) \in \mathbb{R}$ and simultaneously will denote the map between one-forms and vectors in the notation $A^{(0,2)}\alpha(x) = v(x)$, where $\alpha(x), \beta(x) \in T_x^*Q$, $v(x) \in T_xQ$.

Tensor fields on smooth manifolds are important objects, as they are our tools in many further considerations. What particular manifold we choose and what tensor fields it is endowed with depends on the physical context in which the tools will be used. In our case we mainly concentrate on pseudo-Riemannian manifolds, Poisson manifolds and symplectic manifolds. Although tensor fields themselves are coordinate free objects, in order to make any particular calculations we have to fix a coordinate chart. We also have to know the transformation rule for tensor field components when we pass from one coordinate frame to another one. Here we only recall the basic formulas. Consider a local coordinate transformation on $U \subset Q$

$$x^i \longrightarrow \bar{x}^i(x), \quad J^i_j(x) = \frac{\partial \bar{x}^i}{\partial x^j}$$
 Jacobian of the transformation.

Then, one can show that

$$\begin{split} d\bar{x}^{i} &= J_{j}^{i}(x)dx^{j}, \quad \bar{\alpha}_{i}(\bar{x}) = (J^{-1})_{i}^{j}(x)\alpha_{j}(x), \\ \bar{\partial}_{i} &= (J^{-1})_{i}^{j}\partial_{j}, \quad \bar{v}^{i}(\bar{x}) = J_{j}^{i}(x)v^{j}(x), \\ \bar{T}_{j_{1}...j_{r}}^{i_{1}...i_{s}}(\bar{x}) &= J_{k_{1}}^{i_{1}}(x)\ldots J_{k_{s}}^{i_{s}}(x)(J^{-1})_{j_{1}}^{l_{1}}(x)\ldots (J^{-1})_{j_{r}}^{l_{r}}(x)T_{l_{1}...l_{s}}^{k_{1}...k_{s}}(x). \end{split}$$

In particular, in matrix notation

$$d\bar{x} = Jdx, \quad \partial = J^T \bar{\partial},$$

$$\bar{v} = Jv, \quad \bar{\alpha} = (J^{-1})^T \alpha,$$

$$\bar{A}^{ij} = J^i_r J^j_s A^{rs} \iff \bar{A} = JAJ^T,$$

$$\bar{A}_{ij} = (J^{-1})^r_i (J^{-1})^s_j A_{rs} \iff \bar{A} = (J^{-1})^T AJ^{-1}$$

$$\bar{A}^i_j = J^i_r (J^{-1})^s_j A^r_s \iff \bar{A} = JAJ^{-1}.$$

Tensor field $g \in \mathcal{T}^{(2,0)}(Q)$ such that in arbitrary point P the tensor g is the metric tensor in T_PQ , is called the metric tensor field, and the pair (Q, g) is

called Riemann or *pseudo-Riemann space*. In the simplest case, when $Q = \mathbb{R}^n$, in orthonormal basis we have

$$g_{ij}(x) = \eta_{ij} = diag(\underbrace{1, \dots, 1}_{n_+}, \underbrace{-1, \dots, -1}_{n_-}).$$

In particular

$$(\mathbb{R}^{n}, \eta_{ij}) \equiv \mathbb{E}^{n_{+}, n_{-}} - pseudo-Euclidean space,$$
$$(\mathbb{R}^{4}, \eta_{ij}) \equiv \mathbb{E}^{1,3} - Minkowski space,$$
$$(\mathbb{R}^{n}, \delta_{ij}) \equiv \mathbb{E}^{n} - Euclidean space.$$

A metric tensor field identify elements of tangent bundle with elements of cotangent bundle

$$g(v^{i}\partial_{i}) = v_{i}dx^{i}, \quad v_{i} = g_{ij}v^{j},$$
$$G(\alpha_{i}dx^{i}) = \alpha^{i}\partial_{i}, \quad \alpha^{i} = G^{ij}\alpha_{j}, \quad G = g^{-1}.$$

2.3 Differential Forms and Multi-Vectors

There are two subclasses of tensor fields particularly important from the point of view of various physical theories (models). One is the class of totally antisymmetric and fully covariant tensor fields and the other is the class of totally antisymmetric and fully contravariant tensor fields. They are main tools in the construction of mathematical models of important physical processes. One of such models is Hamiltonian mechanics, the subject of a few chapters of our book. Here we only briefly review some basic facts about these objects, important for our further applications, referring the reader to standard textbooks for more details.

Differential k-form in a point $x \in Q$ is called *k*-linear antisymmetric map

$$\omega(x): T_x Q \times \ldots \times T_x Q \longrightarrow \mathbb{R},$$
$$\omega(x)(\ldots v \ldots w \ldots) = -\omega(x)(\ldots w \ldots v \ldots).$$

It means, that *k*-forms can be identified with totally antisymmetric covariant tensor fields $T^{(k,0)}(Q)$. Let us denote the space of *k*-forms by $\Omega^k(Q)$. From definition 0-forms are scalar fields on Q, i.e. $\Omega^0(Q) \equiv \mathcal{F}(Q)$ and 1-forms are covectors, that is $\Omega^1(Q) = \mathcal{T}^{(1,0)}(Q)$. As from the antisymmetry of a given form follows that

$$\omega(x)(\ldots v\ldots v\ldots)=0,$$

so, on *n* dimensional manifold *Q*, nontrivial *k*-forms are these for which k = 0, ..., n. So, a direct sum

$$\Omega(Q) := \bigoplus_{k=0}^{n} \Omega^{k}(Q)$$
(2.3.1)

constitutes a space of differential forms.

Any covariant tensor field $T^{(k,0)} \in \mathcal{T}^{(k,0)}(Q)$ can be antisymmetrized by means of antisymmetrization (alternating) operator $\mathcal{A}: \mathcal{A}T^{(k,0)}(Q) \in \Omega^k(Q)$

$$(\mathcal{A}T)(v_1,\ldots,v_k) := \frac{1}{k!} \sum_{\sigma} (sgn\,\sigma)T(v_{\sigma(1)},\ldots,v_{\sigma(k)}), \qquad (2.3.2)$$

where σ are permutations (elements of symmetric group S_k) of indices $(1, \ldots, k)$ and $sgn \sigma$ means a number of transpositions building a given permutation σ . In local coordinates, components of the tensor AT are expressible by components of the output tensor T in the following way

$$(\mathcal{A}T)_{j_1\dots j_k} \equiv T_{[j_1\dots j_k]} = \frac{1}{k!} \sum_{\sigma} (sgn\,\sigma) T_{\sigma(j_1)\dots\sigma(j_k)}.$$
(2.3.3)

For example, for k = 2, 3 we have

$$T_{[ab]} = \frac{1}{2!}(T_{ab} - T_{ba}),$$

$$T_{[abc]} = \frac{1}{3!}(T_{abc} + T_{cab} + T_{bca} - T_{bac} - T_{cba} - T_{acb})$$

Notice that analogously to the above construction, any tensor $T^{(k,0)} \in \mathcal{T}^{(k,0)}(Q)$ can be symmetrized by means of symmetrization operator S

$$(\mathcal{S}T)(v_1,\ldots,v_k):=\frac{1}{k!}\sum_{\sigma}T(v_{\sigma(1)},\ldots,v_{\sigma(k)}).$$

In local coordinates, components of the tensor ST are expressible by components of the output tensor T in the following way

$$(ST)_{j_1...j_k} \equiv T_{(j_1...j_k)} = \frac{1}{k!} \sum_{\sigma} T_{\sigma(j_1)...\sigma(j_k)}.$$
 (2.3.4)

For example, for k = 2, 3 we have

$$T_{(ab)} = \frac{1}{2!}(T_{ab} + T_{ba}),$$

$$T_{(abc)} = \frac{1}{3!}(T_{abc} + T_{cab} + T_{bca} + T_{bac} + T_{cba} + T_{acb}).$$

The operation which lowers the degree of a differential form is the *interior* product (or the Cartan product) w.r. to a vector field v. The interior product $i_v\omega$ of a k-form ω with a vector field v is a (k - 1)-form defined by the relation

$$i_v \omega(x)(v_1, \dots, v_{k-1}) = \omega(x)(v, v_1, \dots, v_{k-1}),$$
 (2.3.5)

1

with components

$$(i_v\omega)_{a\ldots b}=v^c\omega_{ca\ldots b}.$$

In particular, by definition, interior products of 0-form f, 1-form α and two-form ω are

$$i_{v} f = 0, \quad i_{v} \alpha = \alpha(v) = \langle \alpha, v \rangle, \quad \alpha \in \Omega^{1}(Q),$$
$$(i_{v} \omega)(v_{1}) = \omega(v, v_{1}) = -\omega(v_{1}, v)$$
$$\stackrel{(2.2.6)}{=} \langle -\omega v, v_{1} \rangle = \langle \alpha, v_{1} \rangle, \quad \omega \in \Omega^{2}(Q),$$

and thus

$$i_v\omega = -\omega v = v^T\omega = \alpha.$$

The following properties of the interior product hold:

1. $i_v i_w = -i_w i_v \Longrightarrow (i_v)^2 = 0$, 2. $i_{v+\lambda w} = i_v + \lambda i_w$.

The operation which increases the degree of a differential form is an exterior differentiation. The *exterior derivative* of a *k*-form ω is a (k + 1)-form $d\omega$ such that

$$d\omega(x)(v_1,\ldots,v_{k+1}) = \sum_{i=1}^{k+1} (-1)^{i+1} \omega'(x) [v_i](v_1,\ldots,v_{i-1},v_{i+1},\ldots,v_k),$$
(2.3.6)

where $\omega'(x)[v_i]$ denotes the derivative of a k-form ω into the direction of vector field v_i , given by

$$(\omega'(x)[v_i])_{j_1\dots j_k} = \frac{\partial \omega_{j_1\dots j_k}(x)}{\partial x^r} (v_i)^r$$

(see (2.5.7) and (2.5.8) for the case of arbitrary tensor fields). Thus d provides a map

$$d: \Omega^k(Q) \longrightarrow \Omega^{k+1}(Q).$$

Exterior derivative of 0-form f(x), one-form $\alpha(x)$ and two-form $\omega(x)$ are given by

$$df(x)(v) = f'(x)[v] = \langle df, v \rangle \langle x \rangle,$$

$$d\alpha(x)(v_1, v_2) = \alpha'(x)[v_1](v_2) - \alpha'(x)[v_2](v_1)$$

$$= \langle \alpha'[v_1], v_2 \rangle \langle x \rangle - \langle \alpha'[v_2], v_1 \rangle \langle x \rangle,$$

$$d\omega(x)(v_1, v_2, v_3) = \omega'(x)[v_1](v_2, v_3) - \omega'(x)[v_2](v_1, v_3) + \omega'(x)[v_3](v_1, v_2)$$

= $\omega'(x)[v_1](v_2, v_3) + \omega'(x)[v_2](v_3, v_1) + \omega'(x)[v_3](v_1, v_2)$
= $\langle \omega'[v_1]v_2, v_3 \rangle(x) + \langle \omega'[v_2]v_3, v_1 \rangle(x) + \langle \omega'[v_3]v_1, v_2 \rangle(x)$

and respectively in the coordinate basis

$$(df)_i = \partial_i f, \tag{2.3.7a}$$

$$(d\alpha)_{ij} = \partial_i \alpha_j - \partial_j \alpha_i, \qquad (2.3.7b)$$

$$(d\omega)_{ijk} = \partial_i \omega_{jk} + \partial_k \omega_{ij} + \partial_j \omega_{ki}, \quad \omega_{ij} = -\omega_{ji}.$$
(2.3.7c)

Generally, the component rule with respect to the coordinate basis is as follows

$$(d\omega)_{i\dots jr} = (-1)^k (k+1)\omega_{[i\dots j,r]}, \qquad \omega \in \Omega^k(Q),$$

where we used the notation $\omega_{i...j,r} \equiv \partial_r \omega_{i...j}$, and which agrees with formulas (2.3.7). The exterior derivative *d* is a linear map which is nilpotent

$$dd = 0 \Longrightarrow d(d\omega) = 0$$

and so, k-form ω with $d\omega = 0$ is called a *closed form* and k-form ω is called an *exact form* if there exists (k - 1)-form η such that $\omega = d\eta$.

The space of differential forms $\Omega(Q)$ on a manifold endowed with the exterior derivative constitutes a complex

$$0 \to \Omega^0(Q) \xrightarrow{d^0} \Omega^1(Q) \xrightarrow{d^1} \dots \xrightarrow{d^{n-1}} \Omega^n(Q) \xrightarrow{d^n} 0$$

This complex is called *de Rham complex* of a manifold Q. As the composition of two adjacent maps dd gives zero, hence

$$\operatorname{Im} d^{k-1} \subset \ker d^k,$$

and moreover elements of ker d^k are closed k-forms while elements of Im d^{k-1} are exact k-forms. The quotient

$$H^k(Q) := \ker d^k / \operatorname{Im} d^{k-1}$$

is a linear space in its own right, called *k*-th *de Rhama cohomology group*. In a special case, when ker $d^k = \text{Im } d^{k-1}$, all closed forms are exact. Actually, according to Poincare Lemma, if Q is of the star shape $(\bigwedge_{x \in Q} \{\lambda x : 0 \le \lambda \le 1\} \subset Q)$, or

more generally Q is contractible to the point, then each closed k-form is exact. For example, it is the case for any manifold diffeomorphic to \mathbb{R}^n , or in particular for an open neighborhood of an arbitrary point x on an arbitrary, possibly non-contractible, manifold.

For any $r \ge 0$ and $s \ge 0$ such that $s + r \le n$ there exists an exterior product of forms

$$\wedge: \Omega^{s}(Q) \times \Omega^{r}(Q) \longrightarrow \Omega^{s+r}(Q), \quad (\omega, \eta) \longrightarrow \omega \wedge \eta,$$
(2.3.8)

such that

$$(\omega \wedge \eta)(x)(v_1, \ldots, v_r, v_{r+1}, \ldots, v_{r+s}) = \frac{(r+s)!}{r!s!} \mathcal{A}(\omega \otimes \eta)(x)(v_1, \ldots, v_r, v_{r+1}, \ldots, v_{r+s}),$$

where A is an alternating operator (2.3.2), of the following properties

1. $\omega \wedge \eta = (-1)^{rs} \eta \wedge \omega$, 2. $(\omega \wedge \eta) \wedge \zeta = \omega \wedge (\eta \wedge \zeta)$, 3. $\omega \wedge (\eta + \zeta) = \omega \wedge \eta + \omega \wedge \zeta$, 4. $d(\omega \wedge \eta) = d\omega \wedge \eta + (-1)^s \omega \wedge d\eta$, 5. $i_{\nu}(\omega \wedge \eta) = i_{\nu}\omega \wedge \eta + (-1)^s \omega \wedge i_{\nu}\eta$.

The space of differential forms $\Omega(Q)$ (2.3.1) together with the exterior product constitutes the so called *exterior algebra of forms*. We know from (2.2.5) that the tensors $dx^{s_1} \otimes \ldots \otimes dx^{s_k}$ constitute the basis of $\mathcal{T}^{(k,0)}(Q)$ which is of dimension n^k . Since the dimension of the subspace of k-forms is $\binom{n}{k}$, the induced basis

 $dx^{s_1} \wedge \ldots \wedge dx^{s_k} := k! \mathcal{A}(dx^{s_1} \otimes \ldots \otimes dx^{s_k})$ is an admissible basis in $\Omega^k(Q)$. For example, basic 2-forms and 3-forms are as follows:

$$dx^{i} \wedge dx^{j} = dx^{i} \otimes dx^{j} - dx^{j} \otimes dx^{i},$$
$$dx^{i} \wedge dx^{j} \wedge dx^{k} = dx^{i} \otimes dx^{j} \otimes dx^{k} + dx^{k} \otimes dx^{i} \otimes dx^{j} + dx^{j} \otimes dx^{k} \otimes dx^{i}$$
$$- dx^{j} \otimes dx^{i} \otimes dx^{k} - dx^{k} \otimes dx^{j} \otimes dx^{i} - dx^{i} \otimes dx^{k} \otimes dx^{j}.$$

Hence, in such a defined basis, arbitrary two-form is represented by

$$\omega = \sum_{i>j} \omega_{ij} dx^i \wedge dx^j = \frac{1}{2!} \omega_{ij} dx^i \wedge dx^j,$$

and arbitrary 3-form by

$$\omega = \sum_{i>j>k} \omega_{ijk} dx^i \wedge dx^j \wedge dx^k = \frac{1}{3!} \omega_{ijk} dx^i \wedge dx^j \wedge dx^k.$$

Finally, the exterior derivative of *k*-form

$$\omega = \omega_{i_1...i_k} dx^{i_1} \wedge \ldots \wedge dx^{i_k},$$

is the following (k + 1)-form

$$d\omega = d\omega_{i_1\dots i_k} \wedge dx^{i_1} \wedge \dots \wedge dx^{i_k}.$$

Example 2.2 Let $Q = \mathbb{R}^3$ with basis $\{\partial_x, \partial_y, \partial_z\}$ and its dual $\{dx, dy, dz\}$. Exterior derivative of 0-form f(x) (differential of f):

$$df = \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}dx + \frac{\partial f}{\partial y}dy + \frac{\partial f}{\partial z}dz.$$

Exterior derivative of 1-form $\alpha = f dx + g dy + h dz$:

$$d\alpha = (g_x - f_y)dx \wedge dy + (h_x - f_z)dx \wedge dz + (h_y - g_z)dy \wedge dz.$$

Exterior derivative of 2-form $\omega = f dx \wedge dy + g dy \wedge dz + h dx \wedge dz$:

$$d\omega = (g_x - h_y + f_z)dx \wedge dy \wedge dz.$$

For two 1-forms $\alpha = \alpha_1 dx + \alpha_2 dy + \alpha_3 dz$ and $\beta = \beta_1 dx + \beta_2 dy + \beta_3 dz$, the external product is

$$\alpha \wedge \beta = (\alpha_1 \beta_2 - \alpha_2 \beta_1) dx \wedge dy + (\alpha_1 \beta_3 - \alpha_3 \beta_1) dx \wedge dz + (\alpha_2 \beta_3 - \alpha_3 \beta_2) dy \wedge dz.$$

For 2-form $\omega = f dx \wedge dy + g dy \wedge dz + h dx \wedge dz$ and vector field $V = u \partial_x + v \partial_y + w \partial_z$ the interior product is

$$i_V\omega = -(fv + hw)dx + (fu - gw)dy + (hu + gv)dz.$$

In matrix representation the last formula takes the form

$$\omega = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & f & h \\ -f & 0 & g \\ -h & -g & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad V = \begin{pmatrix} u \\ v \\ w \end{pmatrix},$$
$$i_V \omega = -\omega V = \begin{pmatrix} -fv - hw \\ fu - gw \\ hu + gv \end{pmatrix}.$$

Objects dual to differential forms on manifold Q are *multi-vectors*. By definition, multi-vectors are totally antisymmetric and fully contravariant tensor fields:

$$\pi(x): T_x^* Q \times \ldots \times T_x^* Q \longrightarrow \mathbb{R},$$
$$\pi(x)(\ldots \alpha \ldots \beta \ldots) = -\pi(x)(\ldots \beta \ldots \alpha \ldots)$$

Let us denote the space of k-vectors by $\Lambda^k(Q)$. In particular 1-vectors are ordinary vector fields, that is $\Lambda^1(Q) = \mathcal{T}^{(0,1)}(Q)$. As from the antisymmetry of a given multi-vector follows that

$$\pi(x)(\ldots\alpha\ldots\alpha\ldots)=0,$$

so, on *n* dimensional manifold *Q*, nontrivial *k*-vectors are these for which k = 0, ..., n. Thus, a direct sum

$$\Lambda(Q) := \bigoplus_{k=0}^n \Lambda^k(Q)$$

constitutes a space of multi-vectors.

In a complete analogy to the covariant exterior algebra of forms one can define contravariant exterior algebra of multi-vectors with the respective basis

$$\partial_{i_1} \wedge \ldots \wedge \partial_{i_k}, \quad 1 \leq i_1 \leq \ldots \leq i_k \leq n.$$

For example 2-vector (*bi-vector*) in the above basis is of the form

$$\pi(x) = \sum_{i>j} \pi^{ij}(x)\partial_i \wedge \partial_j.$$

Like any *k*-form can be represented by the exterior product of 1-forms (covectors)

$$\omega(x) = \alpha_1(x) \wedge \ldots \wedge \alpha_k(x),$$

so every k-vector can be represented by the exterior product of 1-vectors (vectors)

$$\pi(x) = v_1(x) \wedge \ldots \wedge v_k(x).$$

It is a well known product (bracket)

$$[.,.]: \Lambda^{1}(Q) \times \Lambda^{1}(Q) \to \Lambda^{1}(Q)$$
(2.3.9)

between vector fields, called commutator (Lie bracket) (2.5.12), (2.5.13). There exists a natural generalization of (2.3.9) onto multi-vectors

$$[.,.]_{\mathcal{S}} : \Lambda^{k}(\mathcal{Q}) \times \Lambda^{l}(\mathcal{Q}) \to \Lambda^{k+l-1}(\mathcal{Q})$$
(2.3.10)

called *Schouten-Nijenhuis bracket* [230, 271]. It is a bilinear skew-symmetric map identical to the ordinary Lie bracket in the case of vector fields. Let $v_1, \ldots, v_k, w_1, \ldots, w_l$ be vector fields over $Q, \pi_k = v_1(x) \land \ldots \land v_k(x)$ and $\pi_l = w_1(x) \land \ldots \land w_l(x)$. Then the bracket is defined by

$$[\pi_k, \pi_l]_S = [v_1(x) \wedge \ldots \wedge v_k(x), w_1(x) \wedge \ldots \wedge w_l(x)]_S$$
$$= \sum_{i,j} (-1)^{i+j} v_1 \wedge \ldots \hat{v}_i \ldots \wedge v_k \wedge [v_i, w_j] \wedge w_1 \wedge \ldots \hat{w}_j \ldots \wedge w_l$$
(2.3.11)

where \hat{v}_i , \hat{w}_j denote the absence of v_i and w_j . From definition (2.3.11) it follows that:

1. $[\pi_k, \pi_l]_S = (-1)^{kl} [\pi_l, \pi_k]_S$, 2. $[\pi_k, \pi_r \wedge \pi_l]_S = [\pi_k, \pi_r]_S \wedge \pi_l + (-1)^{(k-1)r} \pi_r \wedge [\pi_k, \pi_l]_S$, 3. $(-1)^{k(l-1)} [\pi_k, [\pi_r, \pi_l]_S]_S + (-1)^{l(r-1)} [\pi_l, [\pi_k, \pi_r]_S]_S + (-1)^{r(k-1)} [\pi_r, \pi_l]_S]_S = 0$.

For example, using the above properties of the Schouten-Nijenhuis bracket one can easily show that if v, w are some vector fields and π is a bi-vector, then

$$[v \wedge w, \pi]_S = w \wedge [v, \pi]_S - v \wedge [w, \pi]_S.$$

$$(2.3.12)$$

Let $(x^1, ..., x^n)$ be local coordinates on $Q, K \in \Lambda^k(Q)$ and $R \in \Lambda^r(Q)$ be of the form

$$K = \frac{1}{k!} K^{i_1 \dots i_k} \partial_{i_1} \wedge \dots \wedge \partial_{i_k}, \quad R = \frac{1}{r!} R^{i_1 \dots i_r} \partial_{i_1} \wedge \dots \wedge \partial_{i_r}$$

and

$$[K, R]_{S} = \frac{1}{(k+r-1)!} [K, R]_{S}^{l_{1}...l_{k+r-1}} \partial_{l_{1}} \wedge ... \wedge \partial_{l_{k+r-1}}$$

then

$$\underbrace{[K, R]_{S}^{l_{1}\dots l_{k+r-1}} = \frac{1}{k!r!} \left(kK^{n[l_{1}\dots}\partial_{n}R^{l_{k}\dots l_{k+r-1}]} + (-1)^{k}rR^{n[l_{1}\dots}\partial_{n}K^{l_{r}\dots l_{k+r-1}]} \right)}_{(2.3.13)}$$

where [...] is the antisymmetrization operator over the indices.

For more details on Shouten-Nijenhuis bracket we refer the reader to the literature [230, 251, 271].

2.4 Mappings of Tensor Fields Between Manifolds

Let f be a smooth map

$$M \xrightarrow{f} N$$
 (2.4.1)

from manifold M to manifold N for which the inverse map f^{-1} may not exist. The *push-forward* (direct image) under f of a tensor field will be denoted by f_* , while the *pull-back* (inverse image) under f of a tensor field will be denoted by f^* . For the function $\psi : N \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$

$$M \xrightarrow{f} N \xrightarrow{\psi} \mathbb{R}$$

the admissible composition of maps $\psi \circ f : M \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$, i.e.

$$f^*\psi = \psi \circ f$$

represents a pull-back of function ψ on N to function $\psi \circ f$ on M. Let $\{x^i\}$ be a local coordinate on M and $\{y^a\}$ be a local coordinate on N. In local coordinates $f: x \longrightarrow y$ and

$$f^*\psi(x) = \psi(y(x)).$$

For the composition of maps $M \xrightarrow{f} N \xrightarrow{h} S$ there holds $(h \circ f)^* = f^* \circ h^*$. Moreover,

$$f^*: \mathcal{F}(N) \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}(M)$$
represents a morphism between algebras of functions, as

$$f^*(\psi_1 + \lambda \psi_2) = f^*\psi_1 + \lambda f^*\psi_2, \quad f^*(\psi_1\psi_2) = (f^*\psi_1)(f^*\psi_2).$$

Vector fields are transported from M to N. For vectors the natural push-forward is defined by

$$f_*: T_x M \longrightarrow T_{f(x)} N,$$

such that for arbitrary function $\psi: N \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$

$$(f_*v)(\psi) := v(f^*\psi).$$

In local coordinates we have

$$v(f^*\psi) = v^i \partial_i(\psi(y(x))) = v^i \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial y^a} \frac{\partial y^a}{\partial x^i} = J^a_i v^i \partial_a \psi$$
$$\implies f_*v = (J^a_i v^i) \partial_a,$$

where $f' \equiv J_i^a := \frac{\partial y^a(x)}{\partial x^i}$ means the derivative of the map (Jacobian of the map). For dim $M \leq \dim N$ the mapped basis vectors $f_*\partial_i = J_i^a\partial_a$ are linearly independent if $J_i^a(x)$ has maximum rank, i.e. f_* is injective.

In contrast, for 1-forms (covectors) natural is the pull-back defined as

$$f^*: T^*_{f(x)}N \longrightarrow T^*_xM,$$

such that

$$\langle f^* \alpha, v \rangle := \langle \alpha, f_* v \rangle, \quad v \in TM, \ \alpha \in T^*N$$

In coordinates we have

$$f^*dy^a = J_i^a dx^i, \quad f^*\alpha = f^*(\alpha_a dy^a) = (\alpha_a J_i^a) dx^i.$$

The pull-back of arbitrary covariant tensor field

$$f^*: \mathcal{T}^{(r,0)}(N) \longrightarrow \mathcal{T}^{(r,0)}(M)$$

is defined as follows

$$(f^*T^{(r,0)})(v,\ldots,w) := T^{(r,0)}(f_*v_1,\ldots,f_*v_r), \quad v_1(x),\ldots,v_r(x) \in T_xM$$

2 Basic Mathematical Tools

and in coordinates takes the form

$$T^{(r,0)} = T_{a_1...a_r}(y)dy^{a_1} \otimes \ldots \otimes dy^{a_r}$$

$$\downarrow$$

$$f^*T^{(r,0)} = T_{a_1...a_r}(y(x))J^{a_1}_{i_1}(x)\ldots J^{a_r}_{i_r}(x)dx^{i_1} \otimes \ldots \otimes dx^{i_r}.$$

In a similar way, the push-forward of arbitrary contravariant tensor field

$$f_*: \mathcal{T}^{(0,s)}(M) \longrightarrow \mathcal{T}^{(0,s)}(N) \tag{2.4.2}$$

is defined as follows

$$(f_*T^{(0,s)})(\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_s) := T(f^*\alpha_1,\ldots,f^*\alpha_s), \quad \alpha_1(y),\alpha_s(y) \in T_yN$$

and in coordinates takes the form

$$T^{(0,s)} = T^{i_1 \dots i_s}(x)\partial_{i_1} \otimes \dots \otimes \partial_{i_s}$$

$$\downarrow$$

$$f_*T^{(0,s)} = T^{i_1 \dots i_s}(x)J^{a_1}_{i_1}(x)\dots J^{a_s}_{i_s}(x)\partial_{a_1} \otimes \dots \otimes \partial_{a_s}.$$
(2.4.3)

In order to push-forward any covariant tensor field or pull-back a contravariant tensor field, f has to be a diffeomorphism, i.e. we assume that f is a differentiable bijection, whose inverse is also differentiable. In general, we rarely have to do with global diffeomorphism of manifolds. For our further considerations the existence of local diffeomorphism will be a sufficient assumption.

If f is a diffeomorphism, the push-forward with respect to f is the same as pullback with respect to f^{-1} , so

$$\alpha \in T^*M : f_*\alpha = (f^{-1})^*\alpha = ((J^{-1})^i_a \alpha_i)dy^a,$$

and

$$v \in TN$$
: $f^*v = (f^{-1})_*v = ((J^{-1})_a^i v^a)\partial_i$.

Then, the pull-back of a tensor field of arbitrary type (r, s)

$$f^*: \mathcal{T}^{(r,s)}(N) \longrightarrow \mathcal{T}^{(r,s)}(M)$$

is defined by the relation

$$(f^*T^{(r,s)})(v_1,\ldots,v_r,\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_s) := T^{(r,s)}(f_*v_1,\ldots,f_*v_r,(f^{-1})^*\alpha_1,\ldots,(f^{-1})^*\alpha_s),$$

where $v_1, \ldots, v_r \in TM$, $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_s \in T^*M$. In a local basis it takes the form

$$T^{(r,s)} = T^{a_1...a_s}_{b_1...b_r}(y)dy^{b_1} \otimes \ldots \otimes \partial_{a_s}$$

$$f^*T^{(r,s)} = T^{a_1...a_s}_{b_1...b_r}(y(x))J^{b_1}_{j_1}(x)\ldots(J^{-1})^{i_s}_{a_s}(x)dx^{j_1}\otimes\ldots\otimes\partial_{i_s}.$$

∜

In a similar fashion, the push-forward of a tensor field of arbitrary type (r, s)

$$f_*: \mathcal{T}^{(r,s)}(M) \longrightarrow \mathcal{T}^{(r,s)}(N)$$

is defined by the relation

$$(f_*T^{(r,s)})(v_1,\ldots,v_r,\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_s) := T^{(r,s)}((f^{-1})_*v_1,\ldots,(f^{-1})_*v_r,f^*\alpha_1,\ldots,f^*\alpha_s),$$

where $v_1, \ldots, v_r \in TN$, $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_s \in T^*N$ and hence, in local coordinates,

$$T(r,s) = T_{j_1\dots j_r}^{i_1\dots i_s}(x)dx^{j_1}\otimes \ldots \otimes \partial_{i_s}$$

$$\downarrow$$

$$f_*T(r,s) = T_{j_1...j_r}^{i_1...i_s}(x)J_{b_1}^{j_1}(x)\ldots(J^{-1})_{i_s}^{a_s}(x)dy^{b_1}\otimes\ldots\otimes\partial_{a_s}.$$

Example 2.3 Induced metric tensor on a sphere $M = (S^2, g_{ij})$ from its embedding into $N = (E^3, \delta_{ij})$:

 $f: x = R \cos \varphi \sin \theta, y = R \sin \varphi \sin \theta, z = R \cos \theta, R = const.$

The differential of the map is

$$J = \begin{pmatrix} -R\sin\varphi\sin\theta \ R\cos\varphi\cos\theta\\ R\cos\varphi\sin\theta \ R\sin\varphi\cos\theta\\ 0 \ -R\sin\theta \end{pmatrix},$$

hence

$$g = f^* \delta = J^T \delta J = \begin{pmatrix} R^2 \sin^2 \theta & 0 \\ 0 & R^2 \end{pmatrix} \iff g = R^2 (\sin^2 \theta \, d\varphi \otimes d\varphi + d\theta \otimes d\theta).$$

2.5 Lie Derivative of Tensor Fields

A *curve* on a manifold Q is a smooth map

$$\gamma: \mathbb{R}[t] \ni I \longrightarrow Q.$$

If $\varphi : \Theta \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^n[x^1, \dots, x^n]$ is a chart, i.e. (x^1, \dots, x^n) are local coordinates on $\Theta \subset Q$, one obtains a local representation of a curve γ

$$\gamma_{\varphi} \equiv \varphi \circ \gamma : \mathbb{R}[t] \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^{n}[x^{1}, \dots, x^{n}],$$

i.e. a curve on \mathbb{R}^n

$$t \longrightarrow (x^1(t), \ldots, x^n(t)),$$

which will be identified with γ . Vector v(t) tangent to the curve $\gamma(t)$

$$\dot{\gamma} := \frac{d\gamma}{dt} = v(t), \quad \dot{\gamma}(P) = v_P,$$

can be interpreted as a *velocity vector* of a dynamical system, whose *trajectory* is represented by a curve $\gamma(t)$. Vector v_P is a velocity vector at the point *P* on a curve. The metric tensor is the essential element for the concept of the *length of a curve* on (Q, g) between the points $\gamma(t_1)$ and $\gamma(t_2)$

$$L[\gamma] = \int_{t_1}^{t_2} dt \sqrt{g(\dot{\gamma}, \dot{\gamma})}.$$

Let us consider a one-parameter set of maps

$$I \times Q \longrightarrow Q,$$

which in a local basis (x^1, \ldots, x^n) takes the form

$$(t, x) \longrightarrow \Phi(t, x), \quad \Phi(0, x) = x$$
 (2.5.1)

and defines a *transport* on the manifold Q. For fixed x_0 , $\Phi(t, x_0)$ represents a curve on Q which passes through x_0 . In general, $\Phi(t, x)$ can be represented by particular solutions of a set of partial differential equations of evolutionary type

$$\frac{\partial \Phi^i}{\partial t} = K^i(\Phi, \Phi_x, \Phi_{xx}, \ldots), \quad i = 1, \ldots, n$$

with initial condition $\Phi^i(0, x) = x^i$.

2.5 Lie Derivative of Tensor Fields

Now the important question appears: when, using the notion of transport, can one define a vector field on Q, or at least locally on $U \subset Q$? It is possible when with arbitrary point $x \in U$ it can be related one and only one vector. Geometrically it means that curves which fill U do not intersect. Then we say that the transport is represented by a *flow*. So the next question is: when is the transport (2.5.1) represented by a flow? The answer is as follows: the one-parameter set of maps (2.5.1) represents a flow if it is *one-parameter Lie group*

$$\bigwedge_{x \in Q} \bigwedge_{t_1, t_2 \in I} \Phi(0, x) = x, \quad \Phi(t_2, x) \cdot \Phi(t_1, x) = \Phi(t_1 + t_2, x),$$
(2.5.2)

where dot means a group multiplication. In particular, when the group multiplication is point-wise (local), i.e. its value depends on x only, a vector field generated by a flow is represented by a contravariant tensor field of type $(0, 1) : v = T^{(0,1)}$ and will be discussed in detail in Sect. 3.2.4. In particular, such flows represent classical Hamiltonian dynamics in a phase space. When the group multiplication is nonlocal, the flow cannot be described by local tensor algebra presented in this section. In particular, such flows are related with quantum Hamiltonian dynamics in a phase space and will be described in Sect. 7.2.3.

Let us consider a flow on Q

$$\mathbb{R} \times Q \longrightarrow Q : (t, x) \longrightarrow \psi(t, x)$$

such that

$$\bigwedge_{x \in Q} \bigwedge_{t_1, t_2 \in \mathbb{R}} \psi(0, x) = x, \quad \psi(t_1, x) \cdot \psi(t_2, x) = \psi(t_1, \psi(t_2, x)) = \psi(t_1 + t_2, x),$$
(2.5.3)

i.e. the group multiplication is point-wise in the form of the composition of maps. It assigns diffeomorphism ϕ_t to every $t \in \mathbb{R}$

$$\phi_t: Q \longrightarrow Q, \tag{2.5.4}$$

$$\bar{x} = \phi_t \cdot x = \phi_t(x) = \psi(t, x), \quad \phi_{t_2} \cdot \phi_{t_1} = \phi_{t_1 + t_2}.$$
 (2.5.5)

It is a special case of the map (2.4.1) when N = Q, $f = \phi_t$ and $\phi_t^{-1} = \phi_{-t}$.

The flow is completely determined by its infinitesimal generator

$$v(x) = \frac{d}{dt}\psi(t,x)|_{t=0} = \frac{d}{dt}\phi_t(x)|_{t=0},$$

i.e. a vector field on Q. At arbitrary t

$$\frac{d}{dt}\phi_t = v \circ \phi_t, \tag{2.5.6}$$

which means that for any initial condition x(0)

$$x(t) = \phi_t \cdot x(0) = \psi(t, x(0))$$

is an integral curve of the dynamical system

$$x \equiv x_t = v(x), \quad t - evolution \ parameter.$$

Example 2.4 Consider the one-parameter group of rotations in the plane:

$$\begin{pmatrix} x(t) \\ y(t) \end{pmatrix} = \phi_t \cdot \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} x \cos t - y \sin t \\ x \sin t - y \cos t \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \psi_1(t, x, y) \\ \psi_2(t, x, y) \end{pmatrix},$$

where the infinitesimal generator of this flow has two components

$$v^{1}(x) = \frac{d}{dt}\psi_{1}(t,x)|_{t=0} = -y, \quad v^{2}(x) = \frac{d}{dt}\psi_{2}(t,x)|_{t=0} = x$$

It is not difficult to verify that indeed $\psi(t, x, y)$ is a flow (a set of integral curves) of the dynamical system

$$x_t = -y, \ y_t = x.$$

Let $T \in \mathcal{T}^{(r,s)}(Q)$ and $v \in \mathcal{T}^{(1,0)}(Q)$ be a vector field, then a *directional derivative* of the tensor field T in the direction of v is defined as follows

$$T'(x)[v] := \frac{d}{dt} T(\phi_t x)|_{t=0} = \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{T(\phi_t x) - T(x)}{t} = \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{T(\bar{x}) - T(x)}{t},$$
(2.5.7)

where ϕ_t is the flow generated by v.

For $|t| \ll 1$ from definition

$$T(\phi_t x) = T(x) + T'(x)[v] \cdot t + O(t^2).$$

On the other hand

$$\bar{x} = \phi_t(x) = x + \frac{d}{dt}\phi_t(x)_{|t=0} \cdot t + O(t^2) = x + v(x) \cdot t + O(t^2),$$

2.5 Lie Derivative of Tensor Fields

so

$$T(\bar{x}) = T(x + v(x) \cdot t + O(t^2)) = T(x) + \left(\frac{\partial T}{\partial x^i}v^i\right)t + O(t^2)$$

and in consequence

$$(T'(x)[v])_{j_1\dots j_r}^{i_1\dots i_s} = \frac{\partial T_{j_1\dots j_r}^{i_1\dots i_s}(x)}{\partial x^i} v^i(x).$$
(2.5.8)

The Lie transport is a process of displacing a given geometric object along a flow. More precisely, for a given flow (2.5.4) and an arbitrary tensor field $T^{(r,s)}$, the *Lie* transport of $T^{(r,s)}$ along ϕ_t is a push-forward

$$\phi_{t*}: T^{(r,s)}(Q) \longrightarrow T^{(r,s)}(Q)$$

and a pull-back

$$\phi_t^*: T^{(r,s)}(Q) \longrightarrow T^{(r,s)}(Q),$$

where from (2.5.5) follows that

$$\phi_t^* = \left(\phi_t^{-1}\right)_* = \phi_{-t*}.$$
(2.5.9)

For a given flow ϕ_t it may happen that for particular tensor fields T

$$\phi_t^*T = T \Longrightarrow \phi_{t*}T = T.$$

Then, we say that such tensor fields are tensor invariants of the flow ϕ_t . As the next step, the natural question appears: how to measure the rate of change of arbitrary tensor field *T* along a flow ϕ_t ? The concept of the Lie derivative gives the solution to that problem.

Let ϕ_t be a flow, v(x) its infinitesimal generator, and $T^{(r,s)}(x)$ an arbitrary tensor field. The *Lie derivative* of a tensor field T(x) along the flow ϕ_t is defined as follows

$$L_v T(x) := \frac{d}{dt} (\phi_t^* T)(x)_{|t=0} = \frac{d}{dt} (\phi_{-t*} T)(x)_{|t=0}.$$
 (2.5.10)

Hence,

$$L_{v}T(x) = \frac{d}{dt}(\phi_{-t*}T)(x)_{|t=0} = -\frac{d}{dt}(\phi_{t*}T)(x)_{|t=0}$$
$$= \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{T(x) - (\phi_{t*}T)(x)}{t} = \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{T(x) - \bar{T}(x)}{t}, \qquad (2.5.11)$$

and the recipe how to calculate it is as follows: push forward a tensor to the point \bar{x} according to the transformation low

$$T(x) \xrightarrow{\phi_{t*}} \bar{T}(\bar{x}),$$

pull back its argument from \bar{x} to x

$$\bar{x} \xrightarrow{\phi_{-t}} x$$

and compare T with \overline{T} in the point x. Hence, indeed the Lie derivative measures the change of tensor field along a given curve.

From the definition it follows, that for |t| << 1

$$(\phi_t^* T)(x) = T(x) + t \cdot L_v T(x) + O(t^2),$$

$$(\phi_{t*} T)(x) = T(x) - t \cdot L_v T(x) + O(t^2).$$

The Lie derivative has the following properties:

1. $L_v : \mathcal{T}^{(r,s)}(Q) \longrightarrow \mathcal{T}^{(r,s)}(Q),$ 2. $L_v(A + \lambda B) = L_vA + \lambda L_vB, \quad \lambda = const.$, linearity, 3. $L_v(A \otimes B) = (L_vA) \otimes B + A \otimes L_vB$, Leibniz rule.

So L_v considered to be the map

$$L_v: \mathcal{T}(Q) \longrightarrow \mathcal{T}(Q)$$

is of a derivative type on the algebra $\mathcal{T}(Q)$ and maps (r, s) type tensors into (r, s) type tensors.

How to derive the explicit form of the Lie derivative for various tensor fields $T^{(r,s)}(x)$? We will use the definition and the following known relations

$$\phi_t(x) = x + t \cdot v(x) + O(t^2), \quad \phi'_t(x) = 1 + t \cdot v'(x) + O(t^2),$$

(where the prime means the derivation) and

$$\bar{T}(\bar{x}) = \bar{T}(x) + T'(x)[v] + O(t^2),$$
$$\lim_{t \to 0} \bar{T}(\bar{x}) = \lim_{t \to 0} \bar{T}(x) = T(x).$$

For a scalar field $T(x) = T^{(0,0)}(x) = f(x)$ push-forward is of the form

$$\bar{f} = \phi_{t*}f = f \circ \phi_{-t} \Longrightarrow \bar{f}(\bar{x}) = f(x)$$

and moreover

$$f(x) = \bar{f}(\bar{x}) = \bar{f}(x + tv + O(t^2)) = \bar{f}(x) + t \cdot \bar{f}'(x)[v] + O(t^2).$$

As the result

$$f(x) - \bar{f}(x) = t \cdot \bar{f}'(x)[v] + O(t^2)$$
$$\downarrow$$
$$L_v f = f'(x)[v] = v(f).$$

For a vector field $T(x) = T^{(1,0)}(x) = w(x)$ push-forward takes the form

$$\bar{w}(\bar{x}) = \phi_{t*}w(x) = \phi'_t[w(x)] = w(x) + t \cdot v'(x)[w(x)] + O(t^2),$$

so

$$\bar{w}(\bar{x}) = \bar{w}(x) + t \cdot w'(x)[v(x)] + O(t^2),$$

$$\downarrow$$

$$L_v w = w'[v] - v'[w] := [v, w].$$
(2.5.12)

Thus, if v and w are vector fields, then u = [v, w] is also a vector field called the *commutator* of v and w, such that

$$[v, w](f) = v(w(f)) - w(v(f)) = u(f), \quad u^{i} = (\partial_{k}w^{i})v^{k} - (\partial_{k}v^{i})w^{k}. \quad (2.5.13)$$

For 1-forms: $T(x) = T^{(0,1)}(x) = \alpha(x)$ we have

$$\alpha(x) = \phi_t^* \bar{\alpha}(\bar{x}) = \phi_t'^T \bar{\alpha}(\bar{x}) = \bar{\alpha}(\bar{x}) + t \cdot v'^T(x)[\bar{\alpha}(\bar{x})] + O(t^2)$$

and in consequence

$$\bar{\alpha}(\bar{x}) = \bar{\alpha}(x) + t \cdot \bar{\alpha}'(x)[v(x)] + O(t^2),$$

₩

$$L_v \alpha = \alpha'[v] + v'^T[\alpha].$$

In local coordinates, considered Lie derivatives take the form

$$L_v f(x) = \frac{\partial f}{\partial x^k} v^k(x), \qquad (2.5.14)$$

$$(L_v w(x))^i = \frac{\partial w^i}{\partial x^j} v^j - \frac{\partial v^i}{\partial x^j} w^j, \quad L_v \partial_i = -\frac{\partial v^j}{\partial x^i} \partial_j, \quad (2.5.15)$$

$$(L_{\nu}\alpha(x))_{i} = \frac{\partial w_{i}}{\partial x^{j}}v^{j} + \frac{\partial v^{j}}{\partial x^{i}}\alpha_{j}, \quad L_{\nu}dx^{i} = \frac{\partial v^{i}}{\partial x^{j}}dx^{j}.$$
 (2.5.16)

The general formula for Lie derivative of an arbitrary tensor field follows from the Leibniz rule and the formulas (2.5.14)–(2.5.16)

$$L_v\left(T_{j_1\dots j_r}^{i_1\dots i_s}\partial_{i_1}\otimes\ldots\otimes dx^{j_r}\right) = L_v\left(T_{j_1\dots j_r}^{i_1\dots i_s}\right)\partial_{i_1}\otimes\ldots\otimes dx^{j_r} + T_{j_1\dots j_r}^{i_1\dots i_s}L_v(\partial_{i_1})\otimes\ldots\otimes dx^{j_r} + \dots + T_{j_1\dots j_r}^{i_1\dots i_s}\partial_{i_1}\otimes\ldots\otimes L_v(dx^{j_r}),$$

and hence

$$\left(L_{v}T^{(r,s)}(x)\right)_{j_{1}\dots j_{r}}^{i_{1}\dots i_{s}} = \frac{\partial T_{j_{1}\dots j_{r}}^{i_{1}\dots i_{s}}}{\partial x^{m}}v^{m} + \frac{\partial v^{m}}{\partial x^{j_{1}}}T_{m\dots j_{r}}^{i_{1}\dots i_{s}} + \dots + \frac{\partial v^{m}}{\partial x^{j_{r}}}T_{j_{1}\dots m}^{i_{1}\dots i_{s}} - \frac{\partial v^{i_{1}}}{\partial x^{m}}T_{j_{1}\dots j_{r}}^{m\dots i_{s}} - \dots - \frac{\partial v^{i_{s}}}{\partial x^{m}}T_{j_{1}\dots j_{r}}^{i_{1}\dots m}.$$

$$(2.5.17)$$

In particular, for second order tensors, we have

$$L_{v}T_{j}^{i} = \frac{\partial T_{j}^{i}}{\partial x^{m}}v^{m} + \frac{\partial v^{m}}{\partial x^{j}}T_{m}^{i} - \frac{\partial v^{i}}{\partial x^{m}}T_{j}^{m},$$

$$L_{v}T^{ij} = \frac{\partial T^{ij}}{\partial x^{m}}v^{m} - \frac{\partial v^{i}}{\partial x^{m}}T^{mj} - \frac{\partial v^{j}}{\partial x^{m}}T^{im},$$

$$L_{v}T_{ij} = \frac{\partial T_{ij}}{\partial x^{m}}v^{m} + \frac{\partial v^{m}}{\partial x^{i}}T_{mj} + \frac{\partial v^{m}}{\partial x^{j}}T_{im}.$$

Notice that the Lie derivative is not an \mathcal{F} -linear map, as for any $f \in \mathcal{F}(Q)$

$$L_{fv} \neq fL_v, \tag{2.5.18}$$

which follows immediately from the formula (2.5.17). For example, if $f \in \mathcal{F}(Q)$, $v, w \in \mathcal{T}^{(0,1)}(Q)$ and $\pi \in \Lambda^2(Q)$, then

$$L_{fv}w = fL_vw - w(f)v, \quad L_{fv}\pi = fL_v\pi - \pi df \wedge v.$$
(2.5.19)

For the Lie derivative L_v , the exterior derivative d, the interior product i_v and for arbitrary k-form ω , the following relations hold

1.

$$L_v\omega = (i_v d + d i_v)\omega, \qquad (2.5.20)$$

2.

$$d L_v \omega = L_v d\omega, \qquad (2.5.21)$$

3.

$$i_v L_v \omega = L_v i_v \omega. \tag{2.5.22}$$

To show the first relation we proceed by induction on k. For k = 0 we have $\omega = f$, $i_v f = 0$ and $L_v f = \langle df, v \rangle = i_v f$. Now assume that (2.5.20) holds for k. Then a (k + 1)-form may be written as $\alpha \wedge \omega$, where ω is a k-form and α is a 1-form. Hence

$$(i_v d + d i_v)(\alpha \wedge \omega) = i_v (d\alpha \wedge \omega) - i_v (\alpha \wedge d\omega) + d(i_v \alpha \wedge \omega) - d(\alpha \wedge i_v \omega)$$
$$= i_v d\alpha \wedge \omega + d\alpha \wedge i_v \omega - i_v \alpha \wedge d\omega - \alpha \wedge i_v d\omega$$
$$+ di_v \alpha \wedge \omega + i_v \alpha \wedge d\omega - d\alpha \wedge i_v \omega - \alpha \wedge di_v \omega$$
$$= \alpha \wedge L_v \omega + L_v \alpha \wedge \omega = L_v (\alpha \wedge \omega)$$

by our inductive assumption and the properties of the external product. To show the second relation we apply the formula (2.5.20) and the fact that $d^2 = 0$

$$L_{v}d = d i_{v}d + i_{v}d^{2} = d i_{v}d = d(L_{v} - di_{v}) = dL_{v} - d^{2}i_{v} = dL_{v}.$$

Finally, to show the third relation we apply the formula (2.5.20) and the fact that $i_v i_v = 0$

$$L_{v}i_{v} = (d \ i_{v} + i_{v}d)i_{v} = i_{v}d \ i_{v} = i_{v}(L_{v} - i_{v} \ d) = i_{v}L_{v}.$$

A linear space V with a bilinear product $[.,.]: V \times V \longrightarrow V$ which is antisymmetric

$$[a, b] = -[b, a], \quad a, b \in V \tag{2.5.23}$$

and satisfies the so called Jacobi identity

$$[a, [b, c]] + [c, [a, b]] + [b, [c, a]] = 0,$$
(2.5.24)

is called the Lie algebra.

The linear space of vector fields on Q is an example of the Lie algebra with a Lie product being the commutator. Antisymmetry follows from definition (2.5.12) and the Jacobi identity is a consequence of the fact that the second directional derivative is a symmetric bilinear form.

Another example is related to Lie derivatives themselves. First notice that Lie derivatives constitute a linear space. The commutator

$$[L_{v_1}, L_{v_2}] = L_{v_1}L_{v_2} - L_{v_2}L_{v_1}$$

endows this vector space in a natural way with a Lie algebra structure. The map $v \rightarrow L_v$ is a Lie algebra isomorphism from the Lie algebra of vector fields onto the Lie algebra of Lie derivatives

$$[L_{v_1}, L_{v_2}] = L_{[v_1, v_2]}.$$

At the end of this section let us mention that the flow ϕ_t itself, as well as its pullback ϕ_t^* may in turn be often expressed in a useful form of the exponent. Indeed, for any flow ϕ_t and arbitrary t (2.5.6)

$$\frac{d}{dt}\phi_t = v \circ \phi_t. \tag{2.5.25}$$

The formal solution of this equation takes the form

$$\phi_t(x) = e^{tv} \Longrightarrow x(t) = e^{tv} x(0).$$

In a similar way, from relations (2.5.10) and (2.5.11) it follows that

$$\frac{d}{dt}\phi_t^* = L_v \circ \phi_t^*, \qquad (2.5.26)$$

with formal solution

$$\phi_t^* = e^{tL_v} \Longrightarrow T(x(t)) = e^{tL_v}T(x(0)).$$

2.6 Linear Connection and Covariant Derivative

A linear combination of two vectors from different spaces does not make sense. However, if $A: W \longrightarrow V$ is an isomorphism of the mentioned linear spaces, then the operation

$$v + \lambda A(w), \quad v \in V, \ w \in W$$

is admissible. A simple example of such problems is given by the *acceleration* of a point mass which measures the change of velocity vector in time. Let us consider an acceleration vector in \mathbb{R}^2 . In order to measure a change of the velocity v(t) in a moment t at the point r(t) we make a parallel shift of the vector $v(t + \varepsilon)$ in a moment $t + \varepsilon$ from the point $r(t + \varepsilon)$ back to the point r(t) and then compare both velocity vectors, as now they belong to the same linear space.

The procedure which seems "obvious" for \mathbb{R}^2 becomes completely unclear if we pass to the sphere S^2 for example. How can one define the parallel shift in such a case? A similar problem appears with the generalization of the notion of a straightline from \mathbb{R}^2 to S^2 . The solution to such problems is given by the theory of *linear* connection, which allows us to extend the notion of a *parallel transport* onto smooth manifold Q. In what follows, the manifold Q equipped with a linear connection will be denoted by (Q, ∇) . We say that a rule of parallel transport is given on a manifold Q if, for an arbitrary curve γ on Q and two points x, y on the curve, there is a prescription which assigns uniquely to vectors in x vectors in y, i.e.

$$\tau_{y,x}^{\gamma}: T_x Q \longrightarrow T_y Q, \quad v \longrightarrow \tau_{y,x}^{\gamma} v.$$

As it has to be a generalization of the parallel shift from \mathbb{R}^n , we demand some natural restrictive conditions on τ like linearity

$$\tau_{\gamma,x}^{\gamma}(v+\lambda w) = \tau_{\gamma,x}^{\gamma}(v) + \lambda \tau_{\gamma,x}^{\gamma}(w),$$

composition property

$$\tau_{z,y}^{\gamma} \circ \tau_{y,x}^{\gamma} = \tau_{z,x}^{\gamma}$$

and in particular

$$\tau_{x,x}^{\gamma} = id., \quad \left(\tau_{y,x}^{\gamma}\right)^{-1} = \tau_{x,y}^{\gamma}.$$

Note that the rule of parallel transport needs as an input not only the edge points x, y but also a path connecting them. In general, the resulting transported vector may be different for different passes between x and y. We will see that the path dependence of the parallel transport is an important and typical phenomenon and it enables one to speak about the *curvature* of the manifold (Q, ∇) .

In the case of the Lie transport along the curve γ we have introduced the notion of the Lie derivative along the vector field $v = \dot{\gamma}$. In a similar way, for the parallel transport along the curve γ , we can introduce the so called *absolute derivative* called also a *covariant derivative* along the vector field $v = \dot{\gamma}$:

$$\frac{DT(t)}{Dt} := \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{T_{\varepsilon}^{\parallel}(t) - T(t)}{\varepsilon} \equiv \nabla_{\dot{\gamma}} T = \nabla_{v} T, \qquad (2.6.1)$$

where $T_{\varepsilon}^{\parallel}(t)$ denotes the tensor field transported parallel backwards from the point $\gamma(t + \varepsilon)$ to the point $\gamma(t)$. If $T = w(\gamma(t))$ is a vector field on γ , such that its absolute derivative along γ vanishes

$$\nabla_v w = 0, \tag{2.6.2}$$

we call it *autoparallel*. It means that $w(\gamma(t)) = w_{\varepsilon}^{\parallel}(\gamma(t))$. In practice, the situation is reverse. First, we define the connection, i.e. the covariant derivative, and then the parallel transport is defined by the demand of the condition (2.6.2). The vanishing of the covariant derivative on a curve means that the field w(t) may be regarded in such a way that its values everywhere on γ arose by a parallel transport of its value at a single fixed point into all the points of the curve.

Let us be more specific with the definition of a linear connection on the manifold Q. With each vector field v on Q one may associate an operator ∇_v , the covariant derivative along the field v, having the following properties:

1. it is a linear operator on the tensor algebra, which preserves the tensor degree

$$\nabla_{v}: T^{(r,s)}(Q) \longrightarrow T^{(r,s)}(Q),$$
$$\nabla_{v}(A + \lambda B) = \nabla_{v}A + \lambda \nabla_{v}B, \quad A, B \in T^{(r,s)}(Q).$$

2. on a tensor product it fulfills the Leibniz rule

$$\nabla_{v}(A \otimes B) = (\nabla_{v}A) \otimes B + A \otimes \nabla_{v}B, \quad A \in T^{(r,s)}(Q), \ B \in T^{(r',s')}(Q),$$

3. for a scalar field $T^{(0,0)} = f$ we demand the following property

$$\nabla_v f = v(f) \equiv L_v f,$$

4. it commutes with contractions

$$\nabla_v \circ C = C \circ \nabla_v,$$

5. it is \mathcal{F} -linear

$$\nabla_{v+fw} = \nabla_v + f \cdot \nabla_w,$$

which is the only property that differs the covariant derivative from the Lie derivative (see (2.5.18)).

The covariant derivative is uniquely specified by the coefficients of linear connection $\Gamma_{ii}^k(x)$ with respect to the frame field $\{\partial_i\}$

$$\nabla_j \partial_i =: \Gamma_{ij}^k \partial_k, \tag{2.6.3}$$

where $\Gamma_{ij}^k(x)$ are called the *Christoffel symbols of the second kind*. Hence

$$\nabla_w \partial_i = \nabla_{(w^k \partial_k)} \partial_i = w^k \nabla_k \partial_i = (\Gamma^j_{ik} w^k) \partial_j.$$

Then, one can show that

$$\nabla_j dx^i = -\Gamma^i_{kj} dx^k, \quad \nabla_w dx^i = -(\Gamma^i_{jk} w^k) dx^j. \tag{2.6.4}$$

Indeed, since

$$0 = \nabla_w \delta^i_j = \nabla_w \left\langle dx^i, \partial_j \right\rangle \stackrel{2,4}{=} \left\langle \nabla_w dx^i, \partial_j \right\rangle + \left\langle dx^i, \nabla_w \partial_j \right\rangle$$
$$= \left\langle \nabla_w dx^i, \partial_j \right\rangle + \left\langle dx^i, \Gamma^l_{jk} w^k \partial_l \right\rangle = (\nabla_w dx^i)_j + \Gamma^i_{jk} w^k$$

we obtain (2.6.4).

The *coefficients of the linear connection* Γ_{ij}^k have one upper index and two lower indices. Nevertheless, they are not components of any (2, 1)-tensor. Indeed, for a given coordinate transformation $x^i \longrightarrow \bar{x}^i(x)$, i = 1, ..., n we have

$$\begin{split} \Gamma_{ij}^{\prime k} \partial_{k}^{\prime} &= \nabla_{i}^{\prime} \partial_{j}^{\prime} = (J^{-1})_{i}^{k} \nabla_{k} (J^{-1})_{j}^{l} \partial_{l} \\ &= (J^{-1})_{i}^{k} \left[\left(\partial_{k} (J^{-1})_{j}^{l} \right) \partial_{l} + (J^{-1})_{j}^{l} \nabla_{k} \partial_{l} \right] \\ &= (J^{-1})_{i}^{k} \left[J_{k}^{s} \left(\partial_{s}^{\prime} (J^{-1})_{j}^{l} \right) \partial_{l} + (J^{-1})_{j}^{l} \Gamma_{lk}^{s} \partial_{l} \right] \\ &= \left[\left(\partial_{i}^{\prime} (J^{-1})_{j}^{l} \right) J_{l}^{k} + (J^{-1})_{i}^{k} (J^{-1})_{j}^{l} \Gamma_{lk}^{s} J_{s}^{k} \right] \partial_{k}^{\prime} \\ & \downarrow \downarrow \end{split}$$

$$\bar{\Gamma}_{ij}^{k} = \left(\partial_{i}'(J^{-1})_{j}^{l}\right)J_{l}^{k} + (J^{-1})_{i}^{k}(J^{-1})_{j}^{l}\Gamma_{lk}^{s}J_{s}^{k}$$

$$= \frac{\partial \bar{x}^{k}}{\partial x^{l}}\frac{\partial^{2}x^{l}}{\partial \bar{x}^{j}\partial \bar{x}^{i}} + \frac{\partial \bar{x}^{k}}{\partial x^{r}}\frac{\partial x^{s}}{\partial \bar{x}^{i}}\frac{\partial x^{m}}{\partial \bar{x}^{j}}\Gamma_{sm}^{r},$$

$$(2.6.5)$$

where $J_k^i = \frac{\partial \bar{x}^i}{\partial x^k}$ and the first term in (2.6.5) is "non-tensorial". Applying properties **1–3** we get

$$\nabla_w \left(T^{i_1 \dots i_s}_{j_1 \dots j_r} \partial_{i_1} \otimes \dots \otimes dx^{j_r} \right) = w \left(T^{i_1 \dots i_s}_{j_1 \dots j_r} \right) \partial_{i_1} \otimes \dots \otimes dx^{j_r} + T^{i_1 \dots i_s}_{j_1 \dots j_r} \left(\nabla_w \partial_{i_1} \right) \otimes \dots \otimes dx^{j_r} + \dots + T^{i_1 \dots i_s}_{j_1 \dots j_r} \partial_{i_1} \otimes \dots \otimes (\nabla_w dx^{j_r}).$$

2 Basic Mathematical Tools

and thus, applying formulas (2.6.3)–(2.6.4), the component formula for the covariant derivative of a general tensor field *T* into the direction of a vector field *w* has the form

$$(\nabla_w T)^{i_1...i_s}_{j_1...j_r} = w^m \frac{\partial T^{i_1...i_s}_{j_1...j_r}}{\partial x^m} + \Gamma^{i_1}_{nm} w^m T^{n...i_s}_{j_1...j_r} + \dots - \Gamma^n_{j_rm} w^m T^{i_1...i_s}_{j_1...n}.$$
(2.6.6)

For vector fields and 1-forms we have

$$\nabla_{w}v = \left(\frac{\partial v^{k}}{\partial x^{i}}w^{i} + w^{i}v^{j}\Gamma_{ij}^{k}\right)\partial_{k}, \qquad (2.6.7)$$
$$\nabla_{w}\alpha = \left(\frac{\partial \alpha_{k}}{\partial x^{i}}w^{i} - w^{i}\alpha_{j}\Gamma_{ki}^{j}\right)dx^{k}.$$

The \mathcal{F} -linearity of the operator ∇_w with respect to w enables one to introduce the operation of the covariant gradient

$$\nabla : T^{(s,r)}(Q) \longrightarrow T^{(s+1,r)}(Q),$$
$$(\nabla T) (v, \dots, w, \alpha, \dots) = (\nabla_w T) (v, \dots, \alpha, \dots),$$
(2.6.8)

$$(\nabla T)_{j_1\dots j_r m}^{i_1\dots i_s} = (\nabla_m T)_{j_1\dots j_r}^{i_1\dots i_s} =: T_{j_1\dots j_r;m}^{i_1\dots i_s}.$$
(2.6.9)

From (2.6.6) it follows that

$$T_{j_{1}...j_{r};m}^{i_{1}...i_{s}} = \frac{\partial T_{j_{1}...j_{r}}^{i_{1}...i_{s}}}{\partial x^{m}} + \Gamma_{nm}^{i_{1}} T_{j_{1}...j_{r}}^{m...i_{s}} + \ldots + \Gamma_{nm}^{i_{s}} T_{j_{1}...j_{r}}^{i_{1}...n} - \Gamma_{j_{1}m}^{n} T_{n...j_{r}}^{i_{1}...i_{s}} - \Gamma_{j_{r}m}^{n} T_{j_{1}...j_{r}}^{i_{1}...i_{s}}$$

and in particular

$$\nabla_{k}f = \frac{\partial f}{\partial x^{k}} := f_{,k},$$

$$\nabla_{k}v^{a} = \partial_{k}v^{a} + \Gamma^{a}_{bk}v^{b} := v^{a}_{;k},$$

$$\nabla_{k}\alpha_{a} = \partial_{k}\alpha_{a} - \Gamma^{b}_{ak}\alpha_{b} := \alpha_{a;k},$$

$$\nabla_{k}T^{ab} = \partial_{k}T^{ab} + \Gamma^{a}_{ck}T^{cb} + \Gamma^{b}_{ck}T^{ac} := T^{ab}_{;k},$$

$$\nabla_{k}T_{ab} = \partial_{k}T_{ab} - \Gamma^{c}_{ak}T_{cb} - \Gamma^{c}_{bk}T_{ac} := T_{ab;k},$$

$$\nabla_{k}T^{b}_{a} = \partial_{k}T^{a}_{b} + \Gamma^{a}_{ck}T^{b}_{c} - \Gamma^{c}_{bk}T^{c}_{c} := T^{b}_{b;k}.$$
(2.6.10)

Notice, that for a scalar field f, the *covariant gradient* (2.6.10) coincides with an "ordinary" gradient, i.e. grad $f := \nabla f = df$. The covariant derivative along w

may be written in terms of the covariant gradient as

$$(\nabla_m T)^{i_1\ldots i_s}_{j_1\ldots j_r} = w^m T^{i_1\ldots i_s}_{j_1\ldots j_r;m}.$$

Using relations (2.6.8) and (2.6.9) one can calculate higher order covariant derivatives of an arbitrary tensor field. In particular, for the scalar field f we get

$$(\nabla f)_{j_1} = f_{j_1}$$

$$(\nabla \nabla f)_{j_1 j_2} = (\nabla f)_{j_1, j_2} - \Gamma_{j_1 j_2}^k (\nabla f)_k = f_{j_1 j_2} - \Gamma_{j_1 j_2}^k f_{,k}$$

$$(\nabla \nabla \nabla f)_{j_1 j_2 j_3} = (\nabla \nabla f)_{j_1 j_2, j_3} - \Gamma_{j_1 j_3}^k (\nabla \nabla f)_{kj_2} - \Gamma_{j_2 j_3}^k (\nabla \nabla f)_{j_1 k}$$

$$= f_{j_1 j_2 j_3} - \Gamma_{j_1 j_2, j_3}^k f_{,k} - \Gamma_{j_2 j_3}^k f_{,j_1 k} - \Gamma_{j_1 j_3}^k f_{,j_2 k} - \Gamma_{j_1 j_2}^k f_{,j_3 k}$$

$$+ \Gamma_{j_1 j_3}^k \Gamma_{kj_2}^s f_{,s} + \Gamma_{j_2 j_3}^k \Gamma_{j_1 k}^s f_{,s}$$

Consider the manifold Q endowed with a pair of structures, the metric tensor g, which enables us to measure the length of the vectors and the linear connection ∇ , which enables us to transport the vectors along paths. We are interested in a particular class of connections which preserve the length of vectors under parallel transport, like in the case of the parallel shift in \mathbb{E}^n . Let γ be an arbitrary curve in (Q, g, ∇) and v an autoparallel field

$$\nabla_{\dot{\nu}} v = 0.$$

The requirement of preservation of the length of v by parallel transport may be stated as

$$\nabla_{\dot{\nu}}(g(v,v)) = 0 \quad \text{if} \ \nabla_{\dot{\nu}}v = 0.$$

If this is to be true for an arbitrary curve γ and an arbitrary initial vector v, then for any two vector fields w, v one should demand

$$\nabla_w(g(v,v)) = 0$$
 if $\nabla_w v = 0$,

which is a particular example of the more general assumption that for any three vector fields w, v, u the covariant derivative should obey

$$\nabla_w(g(v, u)) = 0$$
 if $\nabla_w v = 0 = \nabla_w u$

$$\nabla g = 0, \qquad g_{ij;k} = 0.$$
 (2.6.11)

A connection ∇ which satisfies equations (2.6.11) is called the *metric connection*. The requirement (2.6.11) imposes $\frac{1}{2}n^2(n+1)$ constraints on n^3 Christoffel symbols Γ^i_{ik} , following from symmetry of metric tensor g. From (2.6.11) we have

$$\nabla_k g_{ij} \equiv g_{ij;k} = \partial_k g_{ij} - \Gamma^l_{ik} g_{lj} - \Gamma^l_{jk} g_{il} = 0.$$

Let (Q, ∇) be a manifold with a linear connection. The map

$$T: T^{(1,0)}(Q) \times T^{(1,0)}(Q) \longrightarrow T^{(1,0)}(Q),$$
$$T(v,w) := \nabla_w v - \nabla_v w - [w,v]$$

defines the so called *torsion tensor* of the connection ∇ : $T^{(2,1)}(Q)$. The tensor is antisymmetric in the lower indices

$$T(w, v) = -T(v, w)$$
, i.e. $T_{jk}^{i} = -T_{kj}^{i}$

and so it has $\frac{1}{2}n^2(n-1)$ independent components

$$\left\langle dx^{i}, T(\partial_{j}, \partial_{k}) \right\rangle \equiv T^{i}_{jk} = \Gamma^{i}_{kj} - \Gamma^{i}_{jk}.$$
 (2.6.12)

If the torsion of the connection vanishes, i.e.

$$\nabla_w v - \nabla_v w = [w, v]$$

then the Christoffel symbols are symmetric in the lower indices

$$\Gamma^i_{kj} = \Gamma^i_{jk}$$

and the connection is called symmetric or *torsionless*. If the connection is required to be at the same time metric and symmetric, it imposes n^3 constraints on n^3 symbols $\Gamma^i_{jk}(x)$, hence determines the connection uniquely. In order to construct this connection explicitly, let us introduce the Christoffel symbols of the first kind as

$$\Gamma_{ijk} := g_{il} \Gamma^l_{ik}. \tag{2.6.13}$$

Then, the connection which is metric and symmetric satisfies

$$\Gamma_{ijk} + \Gamma_{jik} = \partial_k g_{ij} \equiv g_{ij,k}, \qquad (2.6.14)$$
$$\Gamma_{ijk} - \Gamma_{ikj} = 0$$

and the two relations result in

$$g_{ij,k} + g_{ik,j} - g_{jk,i} = 2\Gamma_{ijk}, \qquad (2.6.15)$$

and eventually

$$\Gamma^{i}_{jk} = \frac{1}{2} G^{il} (g_{lj,k} + g_{lk,j} - g_{jk,l})$$
(2.6.16)

where $(G^{ij}) := (g_{ij})^{-1}$. It means that the connection coefficients are determined uniquely by the metric tensor. This distinguished linear connection on Riemannian manifolds is called the *Levi-Civita connection*. In particular, if we chose $Q = \mathbb{E}^n$ in the Cartesian coordinates $\Gamma_{ik}^i = 0$ and

$$\nabla_i \to \partial_i, \ \nabla T \to T', \ \nabla_w T \to T'[w].$$

Example 2.5 For $Q = \mathbb{E}^2$ in polar coordinates (r, ϕ) , the metric tensor and non-vanishing Levi-Civita connection coefficients are as follows

$$g = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & r^2 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \Gamma^r_{\phi\phi} = -r, \ \Gamma^{\phi}_{r\phi} = \frac{1}{r}.$$

For $Q = \mathbb{E}^3$ in spherical coordinates (r, θ, ϕ) we have respectively

$$g = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & r^2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & r^2 \sin^2 \theta \end{pmatrix},$$
$$\Gamma^r_{\theta\theta} = -r, \ \Gamma^r_{\phi\phi} = -r \sin^2 \theta,$$
$$\Gamma^{\phi}_{r\phi} = \frac{1}{r}, \ \Gamma^{\phi}_{\phi\theta} = \cot \theta,$$
$$\Gamma^{\theta}_{r\theta} = \frac{1}{r}, \ \Gamma^{\theta}_{\phi\phi} = -\sin \theta \cos \theta.$$

Killing vectors represent these flows along which the metric tensor is invariant, i.e.

$$L_{\xi}g = 0 \Longrightarrow \xi$$
-Killing vector (2.6.17)

or in component expressions (2.5.17)

$$g_{ij,k}\xi^{k} + g_{jk}\xi^{k}_{,i} + g_{ik}\xi^{k}_{,j} = 0.$$
(2.6.18)

Using relations $\nabla_k g_{ij} = 0$, Killing equations (2.6.18) can be written in terms of covariant derivatives

$$\nabla_i \xi_j + \nabla_j \xi_i := \nabla_{(i} \xi_{j)} = 0, \quad \xi_i = g_{ij} \xi^j.$$
(2.6.19)

Indeed

$$\begin{split} 0 &= \nabla_{i}\xi_{j} + \nabla_{j}\xi_{i} = (g_{jk}\xi^{k})_{;i} + (g_{ik}\xi^{k})_{;j} \\ &= g_{jk;i}\xi^{k} + g_{jk}\xi^{k}_{;i} + g_{ik;j}\xi^{k} + g_{ik}\xi^{k}_{;j} \\ &= (g_{jk,i} - \Gamma_{ji}^{l}g_{lk} - \Gamma_{ki}^{l}g_{jl})\xi^{k} + g_{jk}(\xi^{k}_{,i} + \Gamma_{li}^{k}\xi^{l}) \\ &+ (g_{ik,j} - \Gamma_{ij}^{l}g_{lk} - \Gamma_{kj}^{l}g_{il})\xi^{k} + g_{ik}(\xi^{k}_{,j} + \Gamma_{lj}^{k}\xi^{l}) \\ &= (g_{jk,i} - \Gamma_{kji} - \Gamma_{jki})\xi^{k} + (g_{ik,j} - \Gamma_{kij} - \Gamma_{ikj})\xi^{k} \\ &(\Gamma_{ikj} + \Gamma_{jki})\xi^{k} + g_{jk}\xi^{k}_{,i} + g_{ik}\xi^{k}_{,j} \\ &= g_{ij,k}\xi^{k} + g_{jk}\xi^{k}_{,i} + g_{ik}\xi^{k}_{,j}, \end{split}$$

where we used formulas (2.6.10), (2.6.13), (2.6.14) and the relation

$$\Gamma_{ikj} + \Gamma_{jki} = g_{ij,k}$$

which follows from (2.6.15).

In a complete analogy to equations (2.6.19), the *Killing tensor* of order *m* is called a symmetric tensor *K*, whose components are solutions of the following Killing equations

$$\nabla_{(i_1} K_{i_2 \dots i_{m+1})} = 0. \tag{2.6.20}$$

Killing tensors of order 2 will be analyzed in Sect. 4.3.

Let us consider one more geometric object, important for the construction of classical and quantum Hamiltonian systems. The parallel transport of a vector, as well as an arbitrary tensor, depends in general on the path along which it is performed. An alternative formulation of the same property is that if the tensor is transported along a closed path (a loop), the resulting tensor may differ from the initial one. Then we say that the considered manifold Q has nonzero curvature with respect to the chosen connection ∇ . A useful object "measuring" the curvature (see literature [71, 116, 258] for a deeper insight into the problem) is the *curvature operator* R(w, v) expressed by

$$R(w, v) := \nabla_w \nabla_v - \nabla_v \nabla_w - \nabla_{[w, v]} \equiv [\nabla_w, \nabla_v] - \nabla_{[w, v]}.$$

It is a derivation of the tensor algebra $\mathcal{T}(Q)$, which commutes with the contraction, vanishes on scalar fields: R(w, v) f = 0, $f \in \mathcal{F}(Q)$ and depends $\mathcal{F}(Q)$ -linearly on both w and v. With the operator R(w, v) one can relate a $R^{(3,1)}(Q)$ tensor, called the *Riemann tensor (curvature tensor)*

$$R(u, w, v, \alpha) := \langle \alpha, R(w, v)u \rangle \equiv \langle \alpha, \left([\nabla_w, \nabla_v] - \nabla_{[w,v]} \right) u \rangle$$

Its components are expressed by connection coefficients in the following way

$$\frac{R_{jkl}^{i} = \left\langle dx^{i}, (\nabla_{k}\nabla_{l} - \nabla_{l}\nabla_{k})\partial_{j} \right\rangle = \Gamma_{jl,k}^{i} - \Gamma_{jk,l}^{i} + \Gamma_{jl}^{m}\Gamma_{mk}^{i} - \Gamma_{jk}^{m}\Gamma_{ml}^{i}}{(2.6.21)}$$

Moreover, in particular we have

$$R(w, v)u = (R^i_{jkl}w^k v^l u^j)\partial_i$$
(2.6.22)

and antisymmetry in the last pair of indices

$$R^a_{bcd} = -R^a_{bdc}$$

For $u = \partial_i$ and $v = \partial_j$ the curvature operator reduces to the commutator of the covariant derivatives

$$R(\partial_i, \partial_j) = \nabla_i \nabla_j - \nabla_j \nabla_i = [\nabla_i, \nabla_j].$$

As the result, one can show that the commutator of the coordinate covariant derivatives acts on the coordinate basis as

$$[\nabla_i, \nabla_j]\partial_k = R^l_{kij}\partial_l, \quad [\nabla_i, \nabla_j]dx^k = -R^k_{lij}dx^l.$$

The first relation follows from (2.6.22) while the second one is a consequence of the identity

$$0 = R(w, v) \langle \alpha, u \rangle = \langle R(w, v) \alpha, u \rangle + \langle \alpha, R(w, v) u \rangle.$$

Thus, for an arbitrary tensor field $T^{(r,s)}$ there holds

$$T_{j_{1}...j_{r};kl}^{i_{1}...i_{s}} - T_{j_{1}...j_{r};lk}^{i_{1}...i_{s}} = ([\nabla_{k}, \nabla_{l}]T)_{j_{1}...j_{r}}^{i_{1}...i_{s}}$$

= $T_{j_{1}...j_{r}}^{m...i_{s}} R_{mlk}^{i_{1}} + \ldots + T_{j_{1}...j_{r}}^{i_{1}...m} R_{mlk}^{i_{s}} - T_{m...j_{r}}^{i_{1}...i_{s}} R_{j_{1}lk}^{m} - \ldots - T_{j_{1}...m}^{i_{1}...i_{s}} R_{j_{r}lk}^{m},$
(2.6.23)

$$[\nabla_k, \nabla_l]T = T^{i_1...i_s}_{j_1...j_r} [\nabla_k, \nabla_l] dx^{j_1} \otimes \ldots \otimes [\nabla_k, \nabla_l] \partial_{i_s}.$$

The curvature tensor, as a tensor of (3, 1)-type, admits three contractions R_{ikl}^i , R_{jil}^i , R_{jkl}^i all the resulting tensors being of (2, 0)-type. It follows from the antisymmetry of the last pair of indices that the second contraction differs from the third one only in a sign and it turns out that the first one vanishes for the Levi-Civite connection

$$R_{ikl}^{i} = 0, \ R_{ill}^{i} = -R_{ikl}^{i} = R_{jl}$$
 Ricci curvature tensor.

In the case of a Riemannian manifold a further contraction is possible and one can define a scalar field

$$R := R_a^a \equiv g^{ab} R_{ba}$$
 scalar curvature.

Obviously, in E^{n_+,n_-} Riemann tensor, Ricci tensor and scalar curvature vanishes.

At the end of this section let us briefly remind the notion of *normal coordinates*. The basic idea behind Riemann normal coordinates is to use the geodesics through a given point to define the coordinates for nearby points. Let the given point be Pand consider some nearby point P_1 . If P_1 is close enough to P then there exists a unique geodesic joining P_1 to P. The construction is as follows. On a manifold with connection (Q, ∇) define the *exponential map* (centered at point $P \in Q$)

$$\exp: T_P Q \to Q$$
 $v \mapsto \exp v := \gamma_v(1) \equiv P_1$

where $\gamma_v(t)$ is the geodesic. So one assigns to a vector v the point P_1 from Q which we arrive at t = 1, if at time t = 0 we start from the point P with the initial velocity v and all the time the motion is uniform and straight-line (i.e. along a geodesic). The coordinate representation of the exponential map is

$$\exp: v^i \to x^i(v^1, \dots, v^n) \equiv x^i(P) + v^i - \frac{1}{2}\Gamma^i_{jk}(P)v^jv^k + \dots$$

The exp maps bijectively (diffeomorphically) some neighborhood of zero in $T_P Q$ to some neighborhood of the point P. Moreover, the uniform straight-line motion in the tangent space is mapped to the uniform straight-line motion on a Riemann space

$$\exp(vt) = \gamma_v(t).$$

The fact that a neighborhood of a point P may be diffeomorphically mapped on a neighborhood of the zero in a linear space $T_P Q$ means in practice that we have local coordinates in the neighborhood of the point P. The most important property of the coordinates constructed in such a way is the vanishing of all Christoffel symbols in

as

the point *P*. So, let exp be exponential map centered at $P \in Q$. If in $T_P Q$ a basis e_i is fixed, we may introduce Riemann normal coordinates in the neighborhood of the point *P* according to the prescription

$$P_1 = (x^1, \dots, x^n) \iff P_1 = \exp(v) \equiv \exp(x^i e_i)$$

So a geodesic is constructed starting in P(t = 0) and passing through the point $P_1(t = 1)$ which is to be assigned coordinates. The geodesic has the unique initial velocity v with components v^i with respect to e_i . These components are identified by definition as the coordinates x^i . In these coordinates the geodesic $\gamma_v(t)$ reads $x^i(t) = v^i t$. Moreover, for any symmetric connection (the Levi-Civite in particular) $\Gamma_{ik}^i(P) = 0$ and $g_{ij,k}(P) = 0$, so that in the neighborhood of P

$$g_{ij}(x) = g_{ij}(P) + \frac{1}{2}g_{ij,kl}(P)x^k x^l + \dots$$

i.e. the linear term is missing in the expansion.

2.7 Symplectic Manifolds and Symplectic Connections

An arbitrary closed and non-degenerate two-form ω on the manifold M is called a symplectic form and the pair (M, ω) is a symplectic manifold. The detailed consideration of such objects, both in non-degenerate and degenerate cases, is presented in Sect. 3.2. Here we consider a particular family of simplectic manifolds, i.e. cotangent bundles T^*Q of arbitrary manifolds Q. As was presented in Sect. 2.2, the manifold $M = T^*Q$ itself carries local coordinates (x^i, p_i) where the xare coordinates on the base Q and the p are the coordinates in the fibre. The most important canonical object on T^*Q is the canonical 1-form θ . Its pointwise definition is as follows. Let $p \in T^*Q$ and $w \in T_pT^*Q$, then

$$\langle \theta, w \rangle := \langle p, \tau_* w \rangle. \tag{2.7.1}$$

We thus first project the vector w to $x = \tau(p) \in Q$ and then insert it into the 1-form $p \in T_x^*Q \equiv \tau^{-1}(x)$, which corresponds to the point $p \in T^*Q$. The θ form in canonical coordinates (x^i, p_i) on T^*Q is given by

$$\theta = p_i dx^i$$
.

Moreover, on T^*Q there exists a natural exact symplectic form ω given by $\omega = d\theta$ or in canonical coordinates

$$\omega = dp_i \wedge dx^i.$$

Thus, T^*Q is a symplectic manifold. In this book, on both classical and quantum level, the manifold Q is taken as a pseudo-Riemannian manifold. The manifold Q represents a configuration space of a given dynamical system. If dim Q = n then dim $T^*Q = 2n$ and further on we will use the following notation: by Latin letters i, j, k, \ldots we will denote indices ranging from 1 to n, by letters $\overline{i}, \overline{j}, \overline{k}, \ldots$ indices ranging from n to 2n and by Greek letters $\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \ldots$ indices ranging from 1 to 2n. Thus we have $\alpha = (i, \overline{i})$ and $\overline{i} = n + i$, respectively.

Let (Q, g, ∇) be a Riemannian space and T^*Q its cotangent bundle. Let V be a union of *n*-dimensional linear spaces tangent to the fibres of T^*Q . It is an integrable distribution on T^*Q which we called the *vertical distribution*. Let us remind that for a manifold Q, a k-dimensional distribution is called a subset $D \subset TQ$ of the tangent bundle such that for every $x \in Q$ a D_x is k-dimensional subspace of T_xQ . A distribution is differentiable if it is spanned by k vector fields $X_1(x), \ldots, X_k(x)$. A distribution is integrable if it can be spanned by commuting vector fields.

A torsionless linear connection ∇ on Q determines uniquely on T^*Q an *n*-dimensional distribution complementary to V. This distribution is called the *horizontal distribution* associated with ∇ and is denoted by H. Obviously

$$V \oplus H = TT^*Q$$

and the pair (H, V) defines the so called almost product structure on T^*Q [267].

Let $\{\tau^{-1}(U), (x^i, p_i)\}$ be an induced coordinate system on T^*Q . The horizontal distribution *H* restricted to $\tau^{-1}(U)$ is spanned by the *n* independent vector fields

$$D_j \equiv \frac{\delta}{\delta x^j} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x^j} + \Gamma_{ji} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_i}, \quad \Gamma_{ji} = p_k \Gamma_{ji}^k.$$

The vertical distribution V restricted to $\tau^{-1}(U)$ is spanned by the *n* independent vector fields

$$D_{\bar{j}} \equiv D^j = \frac{\partial}{\partial p_j},$$

It follows that $\{D_{\alpha}\} = \{D_j, D^j\} = \{\frac{\delta}{\delta x^j}, \frac{\partial}{\partial p_j}\}$ constitute a frame on $\tau^{-1}(U)$. As the frame is adopted to the almost product structure (H, V) it is called *adopted frame* on $\tau^{-1}(U)$. The coframe $\{D^{\alpha}\} = \{dx^j, \delta p_j\}$, dual to the adopted frame, is given by

$$\delta p_j = -\Gamma_{ji} dx^i + dp_j.$$

Another natural frame on $\tau^{-1}(U)$ is the one related to canonical coordinates $(\xi^{\alpha}) = (x^i, p_i)$, called *Darboux frame* $\{\partial_{\alpha}\} = \{\partial_j, \partial_{\bar{j}}\} \equiv \{\partial_j, \partial^j\} = \{\frac{\partial}{\partial x^j}, \frac{\partial}{\partial p_j}\}$ with related dual coframe $\{dx^j, dp_j\}$. Both frames and coframes are related in the

following way

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{\delta}{\delta x} \\ \frac{\partial}{\partial p} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} I_n & \Gamma \\ 0 & I_n \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \\ \frac{\partial}{\partial p} \end{pmatrix},$$
$$\begin{pmatrix} dx \\ \delta p \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} I_n & 0 \\ -\Gamma & I_n \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} dx \\ dp \end{pmatrix},$$

where $(\Gamma)_{ij} = \Gamma_{ij}$ and $\Gamma^T = \Gamma$.

Starting from a torsionless linear connection ∇ on Q, such that the components in U of ∇ are Γ_{ji}^k , the symmetric tensor of (2, 0)-type on $\tau^{-1}(U)$ with component matrix

$$\tilde{g} = \begin{pmatrix} -2\Gamma \ I_n \\ I_n \ 0 \end{pmatrix} \tag{2.7.2}$$

in Darboux frame is called the Riemann extension of ∇ . It follows that the corresponding component matrix in the adopted frame is

$$\tilde{g} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I_n \\ I_n & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Let $\tilde{\nabla}$ be the Riemannian connection on T^*Q associated with the Riemann extension \tilde{g} . It is called a complete lift of ∇ to T^*Q [268]. The non-zero connection coefficients $\tilde{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\beta\gamma}$ in Darboux frame, calculated according to (2.6.16), where

$$\tilde{G} = \tilde{g}^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I_n \\ I_n & 2\Gamma \end{pmatrix},$$

are

$$\tilde{\Gamma}^k_{ij} = \Gamma^k_{ij}, \quad \tilde{\Gamma}^{\bar{k}}_{i\bar{j}} = -\Gamma^j_{ik}, \tag{2.7.3}$$

$$\tilde{\Gamma}_{ij}^{\bar{k}} = p_l(2\Gamma_{ij}^r\Gamma_{rk}^l + \Gamma_{ij,k}^l - \Gamma_{ki,j}^l - \Gamma_{jk,i}^l) = p_l(\Gamma_{ij}^r\Gamma_{rk}^l + \Gamma_{ik}^r\Gamma_{rj}^l - \Gamma_{jk,i}^l - R_{ijk}^l).$$

The connection coefficients in the adopted frame cannot be calculated according to formula (2.6.16) as D_{α} operators do not commute. The right formulas are more complicated and we refer the reader to the literature [202, 267]. The non-zero components $\tilde{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\beta\nu}$ of the complete lift $\tilde{\nabla}$ in the adopted frame are

$$\tilde{\Gamma}_{ij}^k = \Gamma_{ij}^k, \quad \tilde{\Gamma}_{i\bar{j}}^{\bar{k}} = -\Gamma_{ik}^j, \quad \tilde{\Gamma}_{ij}^{\bar{k}} = -p_l R_{kij}^l.$$

If, for example, \tilde{X} is a vector field on T^*Q whose frame components are \tilde{X}^{α} , then

$$\tilde{\nabla}_{\beta}\tilde{X}^{\alpha} = D_{\beta}(\tilde{X}^{\alpha}) + \tilde{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\beta\gamma}\tilde{X}^{\gamma}$$

are exactly the frame components of the covariant derivative $\tilde{\nabla}\tilde{X}$ of \tilde{X} .

A symplectic connection on T^*Q is a symmetric linear connection $\nabla^{(S)}$ on T^*Q such that $\nabla^{(S)}\omega = 0$. So, the symplectic connection is defined locally by

$$\nabla^{(S)}_{\delta}\omega_{\alpha\beta} = \partial_{\delta}\omega_{\alpha\beta} - \omega_{\kappa\beta}\,\bar{\Gamma}^{\kappa}_{\alpha\delta} - \omega_{\alpha\kappa}\,\bar{\Gamma}^{\kappa}_{\beta\delta} = 0, \quad \bar{\Gamma}^{\delta}_{\alpha\beta} = \bar{\Gamma}^{\delta}_{\beta\alpha}, \quad \alpha, \beta, \delta = 1, \dots, 2n,$$

where $\bar{\Gamma}^{\delta}_{\alpha\beta}$ are the local components of $\nabla^{(S)}$. In Darboux coordinates, as

$$(\omega_{\alpha\beta}) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -I_n \\ I_n & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

we have

$$\bar{\Gamma}_{\beta\alpha\delta} - \bar{\Gamma}_{\alpha\beta\delta} = 0, \quad \bar{\Gamma}_{\alpha\beta\delta} - \bar{\Gamma}_{\alpha\delta\beta} = 0, \quad (2.7.4)$$

where

$$\bar{\Gamma}_{\alpha\beta\delta} := \omega_{\alpha\kappa} \bar{\Gamma}^{\kappa}_{\beta\delta}.$$

From (2.7.4) one infers that if (M, ω) is a symplectic manifold and ∇ a linear connection on M, then ∇ is a symplectic connection if and only if for every Darboux coordinate system in M the components $\Gamma_{\alpha\beta\delta}$ of ∇ are totally symmetric with respect to the indices (α, β, δ) .

Let $\tilde{\nabla}$ be any symmetric linear connection on M and $\tilde{\Gamma}^{\delta}_{\alpha\beta} = \tilde{\Gamma}^{\delta}_{\beta\alpha}$ its local components. Then one can verify that

$$\bar{\Gamma}^{\delta}_{\alpha\beta} := \tilde{\Gamma}^{\delta}_{\alpha\beta} - \frac{1}{3}\omega^{\delta\kappa} (\tilde{\nabla}_{\alpha}\omega_{\beta\kappa} + \tilde{\nabla}_{\beta}\omega_{\alpha\kappa}), \quad \omega^{\alpha\kappa}\omega_{\kappa\beta} = \delta^{\alpha}_{\beta},$$

are the components of a symplectic connection [119]. Then,

$$\begin{split} \bar{\Gamma}_{\delta\alpha\beta} &= \tilde{\Gamma}_{\delta\alpha\beta} - \frac{1}{3} (\tilde{\nabla}_{\alpha}\omega_{\beta\delta} + \tilde{\nabla}_{\beta}\omega_{\alpha\delta}) \\ &= \frac{1}{3} (\tilde{\Gamma}_{\delta\alpha\beta} + \tilde{\Gamma}_{\beta\delta\alpha} + \tilde{\Gamma}_{\alpha\beta\delta}) - \frac{1}{3} (\partial_{\alpha}\omega_{\beta\delta} + \partial_{\beta}\omega_{\alpha\delta}) \end{split}$$

where $\Gamma_{\alpha\beta\delta} := \omega_{\alpha\kappa}\Gamma_{\beta\delta}^{\kappa}$. Hence, in any Darboux coordinates

$$\bar{\Gamma}_{\delta\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{3}(\tilde{\Gamma}_{\delta\alpha\beta} + \tilde{\Gamma}_{\beta\delta\alpha} + \tilde{\Gamma}_{\alpha\beta\delta})$$
(2.7.5)

we call this symplectic connection the symplectic connection on M induced by the symmetric linear connection $\tilde{\nabla}$ on M.

Assume that *M* is the cotangent bundle T^*Q over *Q*, where *Q* is *n*-dimensional differentiable manifold endowed with a Riemannian metric *g*. From the previous considerations we know that (T^*Q, ω) with ω defined by (2.7.1) is a symplectic manifold, but also (T^*Q, \tilde{g}) with \tilde{g} defined by (2.7.2) is a Riemannian manifold and the Levi-Civita connection of the metric \tilde{g} on T^*Q is given by (2.7.3). This connection induces the symplectic connection on T^*Q according to (2.7.5). Thus, we conclude that in the presented case the symplectic connection on T^*Q is induced by the Levi-Civita connection on Q [54, 55, 219].

From (2.7.3) and (2.7.5) one finds the components $\bar{\Gamma}^{\delta}_{\alpha\beta}$ of the symplectic connection $\nabla^{(S)}$ on T^*Q in Darboux frame in terms of the Christoffel symbols Γ^k_{ij} of the metric g on Q

$$\bar{\Gamma}^{i}_{jk} = \Gamma^{i}_{jk}, \quad \bar{\Gamma}^{\bar{i}}_{\bar{j}k} = -\Gamma^{j}_{ik}, \quad \bar{\Gamma}^{\bar{i}}_{j\bar{k}} = -\Gamma^{k}_{ji},
\bar{\Gamma}^{\bar{i}}_{jk} = p_{l}(\Gamma^{r}_{jk}\Gamma^{l}_{ri} + \Gamma^{r}_{ik}\Gamma^{l}_{rj} - \Gamma^{l}_{ij,k} - \frac{1}{3}R^{l}_{ijk} - \frac{1}{3}R^{l}_{jik}),$$
(2.7.6)

with the remaining components equal zero. In the adopted frame $\{D_i, D^j\}$ the connection $\bar{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\beta\gamma}$ takes the form

$$\bar{\Gamma}^{i}_{jk} = \Gamma^{i}_{jk}, \quad \bar{\Gamma}^{\bar{i}}_{\bar{j}k} = -\Gamma^{j}_{ik}, \quad \bar{\Gamma}^{\bar{i}}_{jk} = -\frac{1}{3}p_l(R^l_{ijk} + R^l_{jik}), \quad (2.7.7)$$

with the remaining components equal zero. Straightforward but tedious calculations lead to the following components $\bar{R}^{\alpha}_{\beta\gamma\delta}$ for the curvature tensor of the symplectic torsionless connection $\nabla^{(S)}$ given by (2.7.6)

$$\bar{R}^{i}_{jkl} = R^{i}_{jkl}, \quad \bar{R}^{\bar{i}}_{jk\bar{l}} = \frac{2}{3}R^{l}_{(ij)k},$$

$$\bar{R}^{\bar{i}}_{jkl} = -\frac{1}{3}p_{r}\left(R^{r}_{jkl;i} + R^{r}_{ikl;j} - 6\Gamma^{r}_{s(i}R^{s}_{j)kl} + 4R^{s}_{(ij)[k}\Gamma^{r}_{l]s}\right), \quad (2.7.8)$$

with all remaining independent components equal zero, where (\cdot, \cdot) and $[\cdot, \cdot]$ stand for the symmetrization and anti-symmetrization, respectively. From (2.7.8) it is possible to calculate the components of the Ricci curvature tensor, $\bar{R}_{\alpha\beta} = \bar{R}^{\gamma}_{\alpha\gamma\beta}$, receiving

$$\bar{R}_{ij} = \frac{2}{3}R_{ij}, \quad \bar{R}_{i\bar{j}} = K_{\bar{i}j} = \bar{R}_{\bar{i}\bar{j}} = 0.$$
 (2.7.9)

In an analogical way as it was done in the previous section, Riemann normal coordinates can be introduced on T^*Q with respect to the symplectic connection $\nabla^{(S)}$.

Chapter 3 Classical Hamiltonian Mechanics



In this chapter we present the basic facts about the underlying structure of classical Hamiltonian mechanics and in particular statistical Hamiltonian mechanics. The theory is formulated in the frame of Poisson geometry and presymplectic geometry. On the level of statistical Hamiltonian mechanics we introduce the language and notions familiar from the quantum level in order to further unify both theories. In particular we consider such issues as Hamiltonian representation of variational problems of arbitrary order as well as the reduction of Poisson bi-vectors on submanifolds, important for further separability theory.

3.1 Lagrange Formalism and Canonical Hamiltonian Formalism

In this section we briefly remind the reader equations of motion of a particle in Riemannian space Q and their relation with extremals of an appropriate functional of first order. We also remind the reader a canonical Hamiltonian representation of considered dynamics in cotangent bundle T^*Q . What is important, the Hamiltonian formalism is not necessarily related directly to some dynamics on configuration space. We illustrate that fact presenting Ostrogradsky Hamiltonian representation in a phase space for extremals of functionals of arbitrary order. We also present how to adopt a flat Riemannian geometry to Ostrogradsky representation in the case of functionals of a single variable.

3.1.1 Equations of Motion in Riemann Space

Having been equipped with the theory of the linear connection, we may return to the concept of acceleration. Let (Q, g) be a Riemannian space and $\gamma(t)$ be a curve

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

M. Błaszak, *Quantum versus Classical Mechanics and Integrability Problems*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-18379-0_3

in Q, parametrized by t. If we realize what is actually performed with the velocity field v(t) on a curve in order to compute the acceleration a(t), we immediately conclude that the acceleration at a given point on the curve is the absolute derivative of the velocity field along the curve, or in other words the covariant derivative of the velocity along the velocity itself

$$a = \nabla_{\dot{\gamma}} \dot{\gamma} = \nabla_v v, \quad v := \dot{\gamma}$$
-the velocity vector.

A particularly interesting case arises when acceleration vanishes a = 0. Such curves represent trajectories of a *uniform motion* (a free particle motion), i.e. are a reasonable generalization of the notion of *straight lines* from \mathbb{R}^n . The respective curves, characterized by the equation

$$\nabla_{\dot{\gamma}}\dot{\gamma}=0,$$

are called *affinely parametrized geodesics*. The geodesic equation in local coordinates takes the form

$$\ddot{x}^{i} + \Gamma^{i}_{jk} \dot{x}^{j} \dot{x}^{j} \equiv x^{i}_{tt} + \Gamma^{i}_{jk} x^{j}_{t} x^{k}_{t} = 0, \quad i = 1, \dots, n$$
(3.1.1)

so we get a system of *n* ordinary second-order differential equations for the unknown functions $x^i(t)$, which parametrize γ in these coordinates. Equations (3.1.1) follow immediately from (2.6.7). The geodesics in \mathbb{R}^n , when expressed in Cartesian coordinates, are "ordinary" straight lines

$$\ddot{x}^i \equiv x_{tt}^i = 0 \Longrightarrow x^i(t) = x_0^i + v_0^i t, \quad x_0^i = x^i(0), \ v_0^i = x_t^i(0).$$

In the general case, the first two terms of the expansion in t of the coordinate representation of a geodesic are

$$x^{i}(t) = x^{i}(0) + \dot{x}^{i}(0)t + \frac{1}{2}\ddot{x}^{i}(0)t^{2} + \ldots = x_{0}^{i} + v_{0}^{i}t - \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{jk}^{i}v_{0}^{j}v_{0}^{k}t^{2} + \ldots$$

Now, let us come back to the issue of the parametrization of geodesics. One may also traverse the geodesic path, which corresponds to the uniform straight line motion, non-uniformly. Although the acceleration does not vanish in this case, it remains tangent to the path

$$\nabla_{\dot{\gamma}}\dot{\gamma}\sim\dot{\gamma}\Longrightarrow\nabla_{\dot{\gamma}}\dot{\gamma}=f(t)\dot{\gamma}.$$

Let γ_a be an affinely parametrized geodesic and let $\gamma := \gamma_a \circ \sigma$ be a reparametrized curve $\gamma(t) = \gamma_a(\sigma(t)), \sigma'(t) > 0$, then

$$\nabla_{\dot{\gamma}}\dot{\gamma} = \sigma''(t)\dot{\gamma}.$$

Indeed, as $\dot{\gamma} = \sigma'(t) \dot{\gamma}_a$ so

$$\nabla_{\dot{\gamma}}\dot{\gamma} = \sigma'\nabla_{\dot{\gamma}_a}(\sigma'\dot{\gamma}_a) = \sigma'(\sigma''\dot{\gamma}_a + \sigma'\nabla_{\dot{\gamma}_a}\dot{\gamma}_a) = \sigma''\sigma'\dot{\gamma}_a$$
$$= \sigma''(t)\dot{\gamma}.$$

Affine reparametrization $\sigma(t) = \alpha t + \beta$ does not spoil the affine parametrization of a geodesic. Thus, the affinely parametrized geodesic curve represents the motion of a free particle of unit mass and is the solution of equations of motion

$$a = 0 \Leftrightarrow a^i = 0, i = 1, \dots n,$$

where a is the acceleration vector.

If $F(x) = F^i(x)\partial_i$ is a force (vector) field acting on a particle, then the parametric trajectory of a particle is a solution of the generalized Newton equation in a Riemannian space (Q, g): a = F, which in local coordinates takes the form

$$x_{tt}^i + \Gamma_{jk}^i x_t^j x_t^k = F^i(x).$$

For the *potential force field*, when F(x) is a gradient vector field of a (by definition negative) scalar potential (*potential energy*) V(x)

$$F(x) = -G \, dV(x) \Longrightarrow F^i(x) = -G^{ij} \partial_j V(x), \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$

equations of motion take the form

$$x_{tt}^{i} + \Gamma_{jk}^{i} x_{t}^{j} x_{t}^{k} = -G^{ij} \partial_{j} V(x), \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$
(3.1.2)

In the case of a *flat Riemannian space* (pseudo-Euclidean space) there exist flat coordinate systems for which $\Gamma_{jk}^i = 0$. A flat coordinate system which is orthonormal, i.e. $g(\partial_i, \partial_j) = \pm 1$, is called *pseudo-Euclidean coordinate system*. In the particular case of Euclidean space \mathbb{E}^n and Euclidean (Cartesian) coordinates, equations of motion (3.1.2) turn into the well known Newton equations

$$x_{tt}^i = -\partial_i V(x) = F^i(x), \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$

Now we show how to derive equations of motion (3.1.2) from a variational problem. In a Riemann space (Q, g) let us consider a functional (*action integral*) for the unit mass particle motion $\gamma(t)$

$$S[\gamma] := \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \left[\frac{1}{2} g(\dot{\gamma}, \dot{\gamma}) - V(x) \right] dt \equiv \int_{t_1}^{t_2} L(x, x_t) dt, \qquad (3.1.3)$$

where

$$L(x, x_t) = \frac{1}{2}g_{ij}x_t^i x_t^j - V(x) = T(x, v) - V(x).$$
(3.1.4)

The functional density *L* is called *Lagrangian*, $T(x, v = x_t)$ is the *kinetic energy* of the particle and V(x) the respective potential energy. Trajectories which are extremals of the functional (3.1.3) are solutions of the so called Euler-Lagrange equations

$$\delta S[\gamma] = 0 \iff \frac{\delta S}{\delta x^i} = 0 \iff \frac{\partial L}{\partial x^i} - \frac{d}{dt} \frac{\partial L}{\partial x^i_t} = 0, \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$
(3.1.5)

where $\delta S[\gamma]$ is a covector being a variational derivative of the functional (3.1.3) (see next subsection for details of the derivation).

The most important is that Euler-Lagrange equations (3.1.5) are equivalent to equations of motion (3.1.2) as they share the same set of solutions. Indeed, applying the relation (2.6.16) to the Levi-Civita connection, we have

$$0 = \frac{\partial L}{\partial x^k} - \frac{d}{dt} \frac{\partial L}{\partial x_t^k}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} g_{ij,k} x_t^i x_t^j - \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} (g_{kj} x_t^j + g_{ik} x_t^i) - \partial_k V$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} (g_{ij,k} x_t^i x_t^j - g_{kj,r} x_t^r x_t^j - g_{kj} x_{tt}^j - g_{ik,r} x_t^i x_t^r - g_{ik} x_{tt}^i) - \partial_k V$$

$$= -g_{kr} x_{tt}^r - \frac{1}{2} (g_{ik,j} + g_{kj,i} - g_{ij,k}) x_t^i x_t^j - \partial_k V$$

$$= -g_{kr} \left(x_{tt}^r + \Gamma_{ij}^r x_t^i x_t^j \right) - \partial_k V(x)$$

$$= -g_{kr} \left(x_{tt}^r + \Gamma_{ij}^r x_t^i x_t^j + G^{rk} \partial_k V(x) \right).$$

The equivalence follows from the assumption that det $g \neq 0$.

3.1.2 Hamiltonian Representation of Variational Problems

Let us remind the reader of the classical problem from analytical mechanics: how to transform a Lagrangian representation of equations of motion (3.1.5), being a system of n ordinary differential equations (ODE's) of the second order on Q (nonlinear in general), into a system of 2n ordinary differential equations of the first order on T^*Q ? First, let us notice that equations (3.1.5) can be immediately

transformed into a system of 2n ordinary differential equations of the first order on TQ

$$x_t^i = v^i, \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$
 (3.1.6a)

$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial x^i} - \frac{d}{dt} \frac{\partial L}{\partial v^i} = 0, \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$
 (3.1.6b)

Next, we transform equations (3.1.6) from TQ to the equivalent equations of motion on T^*Q . Notice that the metric tensor g maps any vector $v \in T_xQ$ onto the dual covector $p \in T^*Q$ called generalized momentum

$$p_k = g_{ki}v^i = \frac{\partial L}{\partial v^k}.$$
(3.1.7)

Let us define the following function on T^*Q

$$H(x, p) = p_k v^k(x, p) - L,$$
(3.1.8)

where

$$v^i = G^{ik} p_k$$

and follows from (3.1.7) and the invertibility of the metric g. For the Lagrangian L of the form (3.1.4), i.e.

$$L(x, v) = \frac{1}{2}g_{ij}v^i v^j - V(x),$$

we get immediately

$$H(x, p) = \frac{1}{2}G^{ij}(x)p_ip_j + V(x) = T + V.$$
(3.1.9)

Hamiltonian (3.1.9), or more precisely *classical Hamiltonian*, will be further called a *natural Hamiltonian*, as it is the sum of kinetic energy T and potential energy V of a particle of unit mass.

On T^*Q equations of motion (3.1.6a), (3.1.6b) take the form

$$x_t^i = \frac{\partial H}{\partial p_i}, \ (p_i)_t = -\frac{\partial H}{\partial x^i}.$$
 (3.1.10)

Equations of motion (3.1.6) and (3.1.10) are equivalent, and relations (3.1.7), (3.1.8) are called the *Legendre transformation*, invertible as far as *g* is non-degenerate. In fact, as

$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial x^i} = -\frac{\partial H}{\partial x^i}, \quad v^i = \frac{\partial H}{\partial p_i}, \quad p_i = \frac{\partial L}{\partial v^i},$$

3 Classical Hamiltonian Mechanics

$$0 = x_t^i - v^i = x_t^i - \frac{\partial H}{\partial p_i},$$

and

$$0 = \frac{\partial L}{\partial x^i} - \frac{d}{dt} \frac{\partial L}{\partial v^i} = -\frac{\partial H}{\partial x^i} - (p_i)_t.$$

More information about Legendre transformation as well as their coordinate free formulation the reader finds in the literature [116, 178, 258].

Equations of motion (3.1.10) are called *canonical Hamiltonian equations* of motion on a space $M = T^*Q$, called further the *phase space*. Coordinates (x, p) are called *canonical coordinates* (*Darboux coordinates*). A coordinate p_i , constructed with the help of transformation (3.1.7), and called generalized momentum coordinate (fiber coordinate), canonically conjugates with a position coordinate x^i .

Now, we briefly demonstrate that the Hamiltonian formalism is not necessarily directly related with particles dynamics, so in fact it is much more universal. Let us consider the class of functionals

$$S = \int_{t_1}^{t_2} L(x, x_t, x_{tt}, \ldots) dt$$
 (3.1.11)

where functional densities $L[x] = L(x, x_t, x_{tt}, ...)$ are differential functions of arbitrary order. Consider the following problem: for which x(t) the functional (3.1.11) attains a local extremum, minimum in particular. A necessary condition of the extremum takes the form

$$\frac{d}{d\epsilon}S(x+\epsilon\eta)_{|\epsilon=0} = 0,$$

where $\eta(t)$ is an arbitrary function that has at least as many *t*-derivatives as x(t) does and vanishes at the endpoints t_1 and t_2 . Then we have

$$\frac{d}{d\epsilon}S(x+\epsilon\eta)_{|\epsilon=0} = \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \frac{d}{d\epsilon}L(x+\epsilon\eta)_{|\epsilon=0} dt$$

$$= \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \sum_{i=1}^n \left(\frac{\partial L}{\partial x^i}\eta^i + \frac{\partial L}{\partial x^i_t}\frac{d\eta^i}{dt} + \frac{\partial L}{\partial x^i_{tt}}\frac{d^2\eta^i}{dt^2} + \dots\right)dt$$

$$\stackrel{\text{by parts}}{=} \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \sum_{i=1}^n \left(\frac{\partial L}{\partial x^i} - \frac{d}{dt}\frac{\partial L}{\partial x^i_t} + \frac{d^2}{dt^2}\frac{\partial L}{\partial x^i_{tt}} - \dots\right)\eta^i dt$$

$$= \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{\delta S}{\delta x^i}\eta^i dt = \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \langle \delta S, \eta \rangle dt$$

60

so

where
$$\delta = \left(\frac{\delta}{\delta x^{1}}, \dots, \frac{\delta}{\delta x^{n}}\right)$$
 and
 $\frac{\delta S}{\delta x^{i}} = \sum_{k \ge 0} \left(-\frac{d}{dt}\right)^{k} \frac{\partial L}{\partial x^{i}_{kt}}, \quad x^{i}_{kt} = \frac{d^{k}}{dt^{k}} x^{i}$
(3.1.12)

is the variational derivative of functional (3.1.11) with respect to $x^i(t)$ [212]. From arbitrariness of η it follows that functional (3.1.11) attains a local extremum for $x^i(t)$ being solution of the following system of ODE's

$$\frac{\delta S}{\delta x^i} = \sum_{k \ge 0} \left(-\frac{d}{dt} \right)^k \frac{\partial L}{\partial x^i_{kt}} = 0, \quad i = 1, \dots, n$$
(3.1.13)

known as Euler-Lagrange equations. In particular, for $L = L(x, x_t)$, equations (3.1.13) reduce to the form (3.1.5) considered in the previous subsection. Notice that

$$\ker \delta = \operatorname{Im} \frac{d}{dt}.$$
(3.1.14)

Example 3.1 Consider a two dimensional case with the notation $x^1 = x$, $x^2 = y$. For density

$$L[x(t), y(t)] = -\frac{1}{2}x_t^2 + 2y_{tt}^2 + \frac{1}{3}y^2x_t + \frac{1}{6}x^3$$

we have

$$\frac{\delta L}{\delta x} = \frac{1}{2}x^2 - \frac{d}{dt}\left(\frac{1}{3}y^2 - x_t\right) = \frac{1}{2}x^2 - \frac{2}{3}yy_t + x_{tt},$$
$$\frac{\delta L}{\delta y} = \frac{2}{3}yx_t + \frac{d^2}{dt^2}(4y_{tt}) = \frac{2}{3}yx_t + 4y_{4t}.$$

If on the other hand

$$L[x(t), y(t)] = \frac{d}{dt}(xy + x_ty_t) = x_ty + xy_t + x_{tt}y_t + x_ty_{tt}$$

then

$$\frac{\delta L}{\delta x} = y_t - \frac{d}{dt}(y + y_{tt}) + \frac{d^2}{dt^2}y_t = 0,$$

$$\frac{\delta L}{\delta y} = x_t - \frac{d}{dt}(x + x_{tt}) + \frac{d^2}{dt^2}x_t = 0$$

what illustrates the relation (3.1.14).

To be more specific, let us consider an action functional S, whose density is represented by a Lagrangian of m-th order

$$L = L(x, x_t, \ldots, x_{mt})$$

and which fulfills the non degeneracy condition

$$\det\left(\frac{\partial^2 L}{\partial x_{mt}^i \partial x_{mt}^j}\right) \neq 0.$$

The condition $\delta S = 0$ is equivalent with *n* ODE's

$$\frac{\delta L}{\delta x^i} = 0, \quad i = 1, \dots, n \tag{3.1.15}$$

of order 2m (nonlinear in general), which are not related directly to any particle dynamics. Nevertheless, there exists a generalized Legendre transformation to 2mn dimensional phase space, where equations (3.1.15) are represented by a canonical Hamiltonian equations

$$(q^{j,k})_t = \frac{\partial H}{\partial p_{j,k}}, \ (p_{j,k})_t = -\frac{\partial H}{\partial q^{j,k}}$$
 (3.1.16)

in terms of the so called canonical Ostrogradsky variables (q, p) [262]

$$q^{j,k} := x_{(k-1)t}^j, \quad k = 1, \dots, m, \quad j = 1, \dots, n,$$
 (3.1.17)

$$p_{j,k} = \frac{\delta L}{\delta x_{kt}^j} := \sum_{i=0}^{m-k} \left(-\frac{d}{dt} \right)^i \frac{\partial L}{\partial x_{(k+i)t}^j}$$
(3.1.18)

with the Hamiltonian function in the form

$$H(q, p) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left[p_{j,m} q_t^{j,m} + \sum_{k=1}^{m-1} p_{j,k} q^{j,k+1} \right] - L.$$
(3.1.19)

Example 3.2 Consider the action

$$S[x(t)] = \int \left(\frac{1}{2}x_{tt}^2 - 5xx_t^2 + \frac{5}{2}x^4\right) dt,$$

generated by the second order Lagrangian on the one-dimensional manifold and the related 4-th order ODE

$$\frac{\delta L}{\delta x} = x_{4t} + 10xx_{2t} + 5x_t^2 + 10x^3 = 0.$$

Then, Ostrogradsky coordinates are of the form

$$q^{1} = x, q^{2} = x_{t}, p_{1} = \frac{\delta L}{\delta x_{t}} = -10xx_{t} - x_{3t}, p_{2} = \frac{\delta L}{\delta x_{tt}} = x_{tt}$$

and the respective Hamiltonian

$$H(q, p) = p_2 q_t^2 + p_1 q^2 - L = \frac{1}{2} p_2^2 + q^2 p_1 + 5q^1 (q^2)^2 - \frac{5}{2} (q^1)^4.$$

Thus, four Hamiltonian equations (3.1.16) of the first order

$$(q^{1})_{t} = \frac{\partial H}{\partial p_{1}} = q^{2},$$

$$(q^{2})_{t} = \frac{\partial H}{\partial p_{2}} = p_{2},$$

$$(p_{1})_{t} = -\frac{\partial H}{\partial q_{1}} = 10(q^{1})^{3} - 5(q^{2})^{2},$$

$$(p_{2})_{t} = -\frac{\partial H}{\partial q_{2}} = -p_{1} - 10q^{1}q^{2}$$

are equivalent to one equation of the fourth order.

Example 3.3 Consider the action

$$S[x(t)] = \int \left(\frac{1}{2}x_{3t}^2 - 7xx_{tt}^2 + 35x^2x_t^2 - 7x^5\right)dt,$$

generated by the third order Lagrangian on the one-dimensional manifold and the related 6-th order ODE

$$x_{6t} + 14xx_{4t} + 28x_tx_{3t} + 21x_{tt}^2 + 70x^2x_{tt} + 70xx_t^2 + 35x^4 = 0.$$

Then, Ostrogradsky coordinates are of the form

$$q^{1} = x, \ q^{2} = x_{t}, \ q^{3} = x_{tt}, \ p_{1} = \frac{\delta L}{\delta x_{t}} = x_{5t} + 14xx_{3t} + 14x_{t}x_{tt} + 70x^{2}x_{t},$$
$$p_{2} = \frac{\delta L}{\delta x_{tt}} = -x_{4t} - 14xx_{tt}, \ p_{3} = \frac{\delta L}{\delta x_{3t}} = x_{3t}$$

and the Hamiltonian (3.1.19)

$$H(q, p) = p_3 q_t^3 + p_1 q^2 + p_2 q^3 - L = \frac{1}{2} p_3^2 + q^2 p_1 + q^3 p_2 + 7q^1 (q^3)^2 - 35(q^1)^2 (q^2)^2 + 7(q^1)^5 + (q^2)^2 + 7(q^2)^2 + 7(q$$
Again, six Hamiltonian equations of the first order

$$(q^{1})_{t} = \frac{\partial H}{\partial p_{1}} = q^{2},$$

$$(q^{2})_{t} = \frac{\partial H}{\partial p_{2}} = q^{3},$$

$$(q^{3})_{t} = \frac{\partial H}{\partial p_{3}} = p_{3},$$

$$(p_{1})_{t} = -\frac{\partial H}{\partial q_{1}} = -7(q^{3})^{2} + 70q^{1}(q^{2})^{2} - 35(q^{1})^{4},$$

$$(p_{2})_{t} = -\frac{\partial H}{\partial q_{2}} = -p_{1} + 70(q^{1})^{2}q^{2},$$

$$(p_{3})_{t} = -\frac{\partial H}{\partial q_{3}} = -p_{3} - 14q^{1}q^{3},$$

are equivalent to one equation of the 6-th order.

The presented examples demonstrate that the Ostrogradsky parametrization (3.1.17), (3.1.18) of the phase space $M = T^*Q$, where (q^i) are local coordinates in some Q, is "non physical" in the sense that it does not describe any particle dynamics (3.1.2) on Q, as Hamiltonians (3.1.19) are not natural Hamiltonians (3.1.9).

3.1.3 Newton Representation of Variational Problems

In this subsection we present a particular parametrization for higher order ODE's of a single variable, which turns them into a set of Newton equations in pseudo-Euclidean space and then, as a consequence, into a Hamiltonian representation with natural Hamiltonian function (3.1.9) [41]. In other words, we show the equivalence between a single variable variational problem of arbitrary order with particle dynamics in pseudo-Euclidean space. Later on we will call such constructions the process of adaptation of Euclidean (Riemannian in general) geometry to Poisson geometry (see Sect. 4.3) and will be important for the construction of position representation (Riemannian representation) of quantum mechanics.

Let us consider some 2n-th order ordinary differential equations of a single variable x in the form

$$x_{2nt} + \gamma_{n+1}[x] = 0, \qquad (3.1.20)$$

where $\gamma_{n+1}[x] = \gamma_{n+1}(x, x_t, \dots, x_{2(n-1)t})$ is a differential polynomial. We assume that (3.1.20) is homogeneous with respect to the scaling transformation

$$x \to \varepsilon x, \ t \to \varepsilon^{-1/2} t.$$
 (3.1.21)

For these equations we introduce a new parametrization which turns them into a set of Newton equations of the form

$$(r^k)_{tt} = r^{k+1} + f_k(r^1, \dots, r^k), \quad k = 1, \dots, n-1,$$
 (3.1.22)
 $(r^n)_{tt} = f_n(r^1, \dots, r^n),$

where each variable r^k scales as $r^k \to \varepsilon^k r^k$ and functions f_k are homogeneous polynomials of order k + 1 with respect to this scaling transformation. If equations (3.1.22) are Lagrangian then its Lagrangian function has an indefinite kinetic energy term and scales as $L \to \varepsilon^{n+2}L$.

Let us start from the 4-th order equations. A general 4-th order equation which is homogeneous of order ε^3 with respect to the scaling (3.1.21), has the form

$$x_{4t} + a_1 x_{tt} + a_2 x_t^2 + a_3 x^3 = 0, \quad a_1, a_2, a_3 = const.$$
 (3.1.23)

We are looking for a Newton representation

$$(r^{1})_{tt} = r^{2} + b_{1}(r^{1})^{2}, \quad (r^{2})_{tt} = b_{2}r^{1}r^{2} + b_{3}(r^{1})^{3}, \quad b_{1}, b_{2}, b_{3} = const.$$

(3.1.24)

If $r^1 = x$ then $r^2 = x_{tt} - b_1 x^2$ and equations (3.1.24) are equivalent to (3.1.23) if

$$a_1 = -2b_1 - b_2, \ a_2 = -2b_1, \ a_3 = b_1b_2 - b_3.$$

Thus every Eq. (3.1.23) admits the Newton representation (3.1.24), where

$$b_1 = -\frac{1}{2}a_2$$
, $b_2 = a_2 - a_1$, $b_3 = \frac{1}{2}a_1a_2 - \frac{1}{2}a_2^2 - a_3$.

If we assume that Eq. (3.1.23) is Lagrangian, with

$$L[x] = \frac{1}{2}x_{tt}^2 + axx_t^2 + bx^4, \quad a, b = const.,$$
(3.1.25)

(homogeneous of order ε^4) then its Euler-Lagrange equation

$$\frac{\delta L}{\delta x} = x_{4t} - 2axx_{tt} - ax_t^2 + 4bx^3 = 0$$
(3.1.26)

is equivalent to

$$(r^{1})_{tt} = r^{2} + \frac{1}{2}a(r^{1})^{2}, \quad (r^{2})_{tt} = ar^{1}r^{2} + (\frac{1}{2}a^{2} - 4b)(r^{1})^{3},$$
 (3.1.27)

which also follows from the natural Lagrangian

$$L[r] = r_t^T gr_t - V(r) = r_t^1 r_t^2 + \frac{1}{2}a(r^1)^2 r^2 + (\frac{1}{8}a^2 - b)(r^1)^4 + \frac{1}{2}(r^2)^2, \quad (3.1.28)$$

where

$$g = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

so (r^1, r^2) are flat, non-orthogonal coordinates. Notice that L[r(x)] = -L[x] modulo total derivative. System (3.1.27) is also Hamiltonian with the Hamiltonian function

$$H = y_1 y_2 - \frac{1}{2}a(r^1)^2 r^2 + (b - \frac{1}{8}a^2)(r^1)^4 - \frac{1}{2}(r^2)^2, \qquad (3.1.29)$$

where $y_1 = (r^2)_t$, $y_2 = (r^1)_t$ are conjugate momentum. So, the natural Hamiltonian representation of the variational problem (3.1.25), (3.1.26) is as follows

$$(r^{1})_{t} = y_{2},$$

$$(r^{2})_{t} = y_{1},$$

$$(y_{1})_{t} = r^{1}r^{2} + (\frac{1}{2}a^{2} - 4b)(r^{1})^{3},$$

$$(y_{2})_{t} = \frac{1}{2}a(r^{1})^{2} + r^{2},$$

as

$$r^{1} = x, r^{2} = x_{tt} - \frac{1}{2}ax^{2},$$

 $y_{1} = (r^{2})_{t} = x_{3t} - axx_{t}, y_{2} = (r^{1})_{t} = x_{t}$

On the other hand, the Hamiltonian representation of Lagrangian dynamics (3.1.25) in Ostrogradsky representation (3.1.17), (3.1.18) takes the form

$$q^{1} = x, \quad q^{2} = x_{t}, \quad p_{2} = \frac{\delta L}{\delta x_{tt}} = x_{tt},$$
$$p_{1} = \frac{\delta L}{\delta x_{t}} = 2axx_{t} - x_{3t},$$
$$H = p_{2}q_{t}^{2} + p_{1}q^{2} - L = \frac{1}{2}p_{2}^{2} + q^{2}p_{1} - aq^{1}(q^{2})^{2} - b(q^{1})^{4}$$

and hence

$$(q^{1})_{t} = q^{2},$$

$$(q^{2})_{t} = p_{2},$$

$$(p_{1})_{t} = a(q^{2})^{2} + 4b(q^{1})^{3},$$

$$(p_{2})_{t} = -p_{1} + 2aq^{1}q^{2}.$$

Both representations are related by the following canonical transformation (see Sect. 4.1.4 for details) of the phase space coordinates

$$r^{1} = q^{1}, r^{2} = p_{2} - \frac{1}{2}a(q^{1})^{2},$$

 $y_{1} = -p_{1} + aq^{1}q^{2}, y_{2} = q^{2}.$

Example 3.4 The Newton representation of the variational problem from Example 3.2 is as follows. As a = -5 and $b = \frac{5}{2}$ then

$$r^{1} = x, \ r^{2} = x_{tt} + \frac{5}{2}x^{2},$$

$$y_{1} = r_{t}^{2} = x_{3t} + 5xx_{t}, \ y_{2} = r_{t}^{1} = x_{t},$$

$$H = y_{1}y_{2} + \frac{5}{2}(r^{1})^{2}r^{2} - \frac{5}{8}(r^{1})^{4} - \frac{1}{2}(r^{2})^{2},$$

and hence

$$(r^{1})_{t} = y_{2},$$

$$(r^{2})_{t} = y_{1},$$

$$(y_{1})_{t} = r^{1}r^{2} + \frac{5}{2}(r^{1})^{3},$$

$$(y_{2})_{t} = -\frac{5}{2}(r^{1})^{2} + r^{2}.$$

Both Ostrogradsky and Newton representations are related by the following transformation

$$r^{1} = q^{1}, r^{2} = p_{2} + \frac{5}{2}(q^{1})^{2},$$

 $y_{1} = -p_{1} - 5q^{1}q^{2}, y_{2} = q^{2}.$

The 4-th order case suggests that there is a unique Newton representation (3.1.22) for the ODE in the form (3.1.20). In fact this is an exceptional case. For higher

order ODE's we have a lot of freedom in the construction of admissible Newton representations. To see this let us consider the 6-th order case in detail. The most general equation (3.1.20) of 6-th order is

$$x_{6t} + a_1 x x_{4t} + a_2 x_t x_{3t} + a_3 x_{tt}^2 + a_4 x x_t^2 + a_5 x^2 x_{tt} + a_6 x^4 = 0.$$
(3.1.30)

The admissible Newton representation reads

$$(r^{1})_{tt} = r^{2} + b_{1}(r^{1})^{2},$$

$$(r^{2})_{tt} = r^{3} + b_{2}r^{1}r^{2} + b_{3}(r^{1})^{3},$$

$$(r^{3})_{tt} = b_{4}r^{1}r^{3} + b_{5}(r^{1})^{2}r^{2} + b_{6}(r^{1})^{4} + b_{7}(r^{2})^{2},$$
(3.1.31)

where

$$r^{1} = x$$
, $r^{2} = x_{tt} - b_{2}x^{2}$, $r^{3} = x_{4t} - 2b_{1}x_{t}^{2} - (2b_{1} + b_{2})x_{tt} + (b_{1}b_{2} - b_{3})x^{3}$.

Equivalence of (3.1.31) and (3.1.30) requires that

$$a_{1} = -(2b_{1} + b_{2} + b_{4}), \quad a_{2} = -(8b_{1} + 2b_{2}), \quad a_{3} = -(6b_{1} + b_{2} + b_{7}),$$

$$a_{4} = 6b_{1}b_{2} + 2b_{1}b_{4} - 6b_{3}, \quad a_{5} = 3b_{1}b_{2} + 2b_{1}b_{4} + b_{2}b_{4} + 2b_{1}b_{7} - 3b_{3} - b_{5},$$

$$a_{6} = b_{3}b_{4} + b_{1}b_{5} - b_{1}b_{2}b_{4} - b_{1}^{2}b_{7} - b_{6}.$$

(3.1.32)

This is an undetermined system of equations, so we have some freedom in the choice of the Newton representation (3.1.31). We can fix one b_i coefficient arbitrarily and then solve (3.1.32) with respect to the other b_j coefficients. For example, if we choose a solution with fixed b_1 , then we obtain the Newton equations (3.1.31) parametrized by b_1

$$\begin{split} b_2 &= -\frac{1}{2}a_2 - 4b_1, \\ b_3 &= -\frac{1}{6}a_4 - \frac{1}{3}(a_1 + a_2)b_1 - \frac{10}{3}b_1^2, \\ b_4 &= -a_1 + \frac{1}{2}a_2 + 2b_1, \\ b_5 &= \frac{1}{2}a_4 - a_5 - \frac{1}{4}a_2^2 + \frac{1}{2}a_1a_2 + (3a_1 - \frac{3}{2}a_2 - 2a_3)b_1 - 10b_1^2, \\ b_6 &= -a_6 + \frac{1}{6}a_1a_4 - \frac{1}{12}a_2a_4 + (\frac{1}{6}a_4 - a_5 + \frac{1}{3}a_1^2 - \frac{1}{6}a_2^2 + \frac{1}{6}a_1a_2)b_1 \\ &+ (\frac{5}{3}a_1 - \frac{4}{3}a_2 - a_3)b_1^2 - \frac{20}{3}b_1^3, \\ b_7 &= \frac{1}{2}a_2 - a_3 - 2b_1. \end{split}$$

Let us consider the subclass of Lagrangian systems. The most general Lagrangian for (3.1.30) (up to a total *t*-derivative) reads

$$L[x] = \frac{1}{2}x_{3t}^2 + axx_{tt}^2 + bx^2x_t^2 + dx^5, \qquad (3.1.33)$$

where a, b, d are some suitable constants, and its Euler-Lagrange equation yields

$$\frac{\delta L}{\delta x} = x_{6t} - 2axx_{4t} - 4ax_tx_{3t} - 3ax_{tt}^2 + 2bx^2x_{tt} + 2bxx_t^2 - 5dx^4 = 0.$$
(3.1.34)

Then, in terms of Newton variables, we obtain the following $(b_1$ -parametrized) equations

$$(r^{1})_{tt} = r^{2} + b_{1}(r^{1})^{2},$$

$$(r^{2})_{tt} = r^{3} + (2a - 4b_{1})r^{1}r^{2} + (-\frac{1}{3}b + 2ab_{1} - \frac{10}{3}b_{1}^{2})(r^{1})^{3},$$

$$(r^{3})_{tt} = 2b_{1}r^{1}r^{3} + (-b + 6ab_{1} - 10b_{1}^{2})(r^{1})^{2}r^{2} + (5d - \frac{5}{3}bb_{1} + 5a^{2}b_{1}^{2} - \frac{20}{3}b_{1}^{3})(r^{1})^{4} + (a - 2b_{1})(r^{2})^{2},$$

$$(3.1.35)$$

with the natural Lagrangian

$$L[r] = r_t^T gr_t - V(r)$$

= $\frac{1}{2}(r_t^2)^2 + r_t^1 r_t^3 + r^2 r^3 + b_1(r^1)^2 r^3 + (-\frac{1}{3}b + 2ab_1 - \frac{10}{3}b_1^2)(r^1)^3 r^2$
+ $(a - 2b_1)r^1(r^2)^2 + (d - \frac{1}{3}bb_1 + a^2b_1^2 - \frac{4}{3}b_1^3)(r^1)^5$ (3.1.36)

where

$$g = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

so (r^1, r^2, r^3) are again flat, non-orthogonal coordinates. Notice that L[r] = L[x] modulo total derivative. System (3.1.35) is also Hamiltonian with the Hamiltonian function

$$H = \frac{1}{2}y_2^2 + y_1y_3 - r^2r^3 - b_1(r^1)^2r^3 + (\frac{1}{3}b - 2ab_1 + \frac{10}{3}b_1^2)(r^1)^3r^2 - (a - 2b_1)r^1(r^2)^2 + (-d + \frac{1}{3}bb_1 - a^2b_1^2 + \frac{4}{3}b_1^3)(r^1)^5, \qquad (3.1.37)$$

where $y_1 = (r^3)_t$, $y_2 = (r^2)_t$ and $y_3 = (r^1)_t$ are conjugate momenta. So, the natural Hamiltonian representation of the variational problem (3.1.25), (3.1.26) is as follows

$$\begin{split} &(r^{1})_{t} = y_{3}, \\ &(r^{2})_{t} = y_{2}, \\ &(r^{3})_{t} = y_{1}, \\ &(y_{1})_{t} = 2b_{1}r^{1}r^{3} - (b - 6ab_{1} + 10b_{1}^{2})(r^{1})^{2}r^{2} + (a - 2b_{1})(r^{2})^{2} \\ &+ 5(d - \frac{1}{3}bb_{1} + a^{2}b_{1}^{2} - \frac{4}{3}b_{1}^{3})(r^{1})^{4}, \\ &(y_{2})_{t} = r^{3} - (\frac{1}{3}b - 2ab_{1} + \frac{10}{3}b_{1}^{2})(r^{1})^{3} + 2(a - 2b_{1})r^{1}r^{2}, \\ &(y_{3})_{t} = r^{2} + b_{1}(r^{1})^{2}, \end{split}$$

as

$$r^{1} = x, \ r^{2} = x_{tt} - b_{1}x^{2},$$

$$r^{3} = x_{4t} - 2b_{1}x_{t}^{2} + 2(b_{1} - a)x_{tt} + \frac{1}{3}(b - 2b_{1}^{2})x^{3},$$

$$y_{1} = x_{5t} - 2(a + b_{1})x_{t}x_{tt} + 2(b_{1} - a)x_{3t} + (b - 2b_{1}^{2})x^{2}x_{t},$$

$$y_{2} = x_{3t} - 2b_{1}xx_{t}, \ y_{3} = x_{t}.$$

On the other hand, the Hamiltonian representation of Lagrangian dynamics (3.1.33) in Ostrogradsky representation (3.1.17), (3.1.18) takes the form

$$q^{1} = x, \quad q^{2} = x_{t}, \quad q^{3} = x_{tt},$$

$$p_{1} = \frac{\delta L}{\delta x_{t}} = x_{5t} - 2axx_{3t} - 2ax_{t}x_{tt} + 2bx^{2}x_{t},$$

$$p_{2} = \frac{\delta L}{\delta x_{tt}} = -x_{4t} + 2axx_{tt}, \quad p_{3} = \frac{\delta L}{\delta x_{3t}} = x_{3t},$$

$$H = p_{3}q_{t}^{3} + p_{2}q^{3} + p_{1}q^{2} - L$$

$$= \frac{1}{2}p_{3}^{2} + q^{3}p_{2} + q^{2}p_{1} - aq^{1}(q^{3})^{2} - b(q^{1})^{2}(q^{2})^{2} - d(q^{1})^{5}$$

and hence

$$\begin{split} &(q^{1})_{t} = q^{2}, \\ &(q^{2})_{t} = q^{3}, \\ &(q^{3})_{t} = p_{3}, \\ &(p_{1})_{t} = a(q^{3})^{2} + 2bq^{1}(q^{2})^{2} + 5d(q^{1})^{4}, \\ &(p_{2})_{t} = -p_{1} + 2b(q^{1})^{2}q^{2}, \\ &(p_{3})_{t} = -p_{2} + 2aq^{1}q^{3}. \end{split}$$

Both representations are related by the following transformation of the phase space coordinates

$$\begin{aligned} r^{1} &= q^{1}, \\ r^{2} &= q^{3} - b_{1}(q^{1})^{2}, \\ r^{3} &= -p_{2} - 2b_{1}(q^{2})^{2} + 2b_{1}q^{1}q^{3} + \frac{1}{3}(b - 2b_{1}^{2})(q^{1})^{3}, \\ y_{1} &= p_{1} + 2b_{1}q^{1}p_{3} - 2b_{1}q^{2}q^{3} - (b + 2b_{1}^{2})(q^{1})^{2}q^{2}, \\ y_{2} &= p_{3} - 2b_{1}q^{1}q^{2}, \\ y_{3} &= q^{2}, \end{aligned}$$

which again is the canonical transformation.

Example 3.5 The Newton representation of the variational problem from Example 3.3 is as follows. As a = d = -7 and b = 35 then, for $b_1 = \frac{1}{2}a$, we find

$$r^{1} = x, \ r^{2} = x_{tt} + \frac{7}{2}x^{2},$$

$$r^{3} = x_{4t} + 7x_{t}^{2} + 7xx_{tt} + \frac{7}{2}x^{3},$$

$$y_{1} = x_{5t} + 21x_{t}x_{tt} + 7xx_{3t} + \frac{21}{2}x^{2}x_{t},$$

$$y_{2} = x_{3t} + 7xx_{t}, \ y_{3} = x_{t}.$$

$$H = \frac{1}{2}y_{2}^{2} + y_{1}y_{3} - r^{2}r^{3} + \frac{7}{2}(r^{1})^{2}r^{3} + \frac{7}{2}(r^{1})^{3}r^{2} - \frac{21}{4}(r^{1})^{5},$$

and hence

$$(r^{1})_{t} = y_{3},$$

$$(r^{2})_{t} = y_{2},$$

$$(r^{3})_{t} = y_{1},$$

$$(y_{1})_{t} = -7r^{1}r^{3} - \frac{21}{2}(r^{1})^{2}r^{2} + \frac{105}{4}(r^{1})^{4},$$

$$(y_{2})_{t} = r^{3} - \frac{7}{2}(r^{1})^{3},$$

$$(y_{3})_{t} = r^{2} - \frac{7}{2}(r^{1})^{2}.$$

Both Ostrogradsky and Newton representations are related by the following transformation

$$r^{1} = q^{1},$$

$$r^{2} = q^{3} + \frac{7}{2}(q^{1})^{2},$$

$$r^{3} = -p_{2} + 7(q^{2})^{2} - 7q^{1}q^{3} + \frac{7}{2}(q^{1})^{3},$$

$$y_{1} = p_{1} - 7q^{1}p_{3} + 7q^{2}q^{3} - \frac{119}{2}(q^{1})^{2}q^{2},$$

$$y_{2} = p_{3} + 7q^{1}q^{2},$$

$$y_{3} = q^{2}.$$

3.2 Coordinate Free Formulation of Hamiltonian Mechanics

In the previous section we reminded the reader of the standard canonical formulation of classical Hamiltonian mechanics via an appropriate Legendre transformation from Lagrangian representation. Nevertheless, the modern Hamiltonian mechanics is formulated independently of the Lagrangian formalism (variational problems) and what important, in a coordinate free way. In consequence, Hamiltonian formalism not always has to be related with some dynamics in a Riemanian space. As will be presented in the following section, Hamiltonian mechanics will be formulated in the language of Poisson geometry (presymplectic geometry) not Riemaniann geometry. It means that dynamical systems it describes, are from Poisson manifolds. Nevertheless, in some particular class of examples, when the Poisson manifolds will be chosen as the cotangent bundle of some Riemaniann spaces, the Riemannian geometry can be adopted to Poisson geometry with great freedom in choosing an appropriate metric tensors. That observation will be crucial for further quantization procedure developed in the second part of the book.

3.2.1 Poisson and Presymplectic Manifolds

Consider a manifold M of dim M = m, the algebra $\mathcal{F}(M)$ of smooth, real-valued functions on M and a duality map $\langle ., . \rangle : T^*M \times TM \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}(M)$. A *Poisson tensor* Π of co-rank r on M is a bi-vector $\Pi \in \Lambda^2(M)$ with vanishing Schouten-Nijenhuis bracket [180]:

$$[\Pi, \Pi]_S = 0, \tag{3.2.1}$$

whose kernel is spanned by exact one-forms

$$\ker \Pi = Sp\{dc_i\}_{i=1,\dots,r},$$

i.e. $\prod dc_i = 0$ according to the notation in (2.2.6). In a local coordinate system $(\zeta^1, \ldots, \zeta^m)$ on M we have

$$\Pi = \sum_{i < j}^{m} \Pi^{ij} \frac{\partial}{\partial \zeta^{i}} \wedge \frac{\partial}{\partial \zeta^{j}}, \qquad (3.2.2)$$

while the Poisson property (3.2.1) takes the form of the so called Jacobi equation

$$\Pi^{jl}\partial_l\Pi^{ik} + \Pi^{il}\partial_l\Pi^{kj} + \Pi^{kl}\partial_l\Pi^{ji} = 0, \quad \partial_i := \frac{\partial}{\partial\zeta^i}$$
(3.2.3)

and is derived as a particular case of the formula (2.3.13) for r = k = 2 and $R = K = \Pi$. Any smooth function $c(\zeta) \in \mathcal{F}(M)$ is called a *Casimir function* of the Poisson tensor Π if $\Pi dc = 0$.

Having a Poisson tensor we can define a Hamiltonian vector fields on M. A vector field X_H related to a function $H \in \mathcal{F}(M)$ by the relation

$$X_H = \Pi \, dH, \tag{3.2.4}$$

(consistent with the notation defined by (2.2.6)), is called the *Hamiltonian vector* field with respect to the Poisson tensor Π . The function H is called a Hamiltonian function or simply a Hamiltonian.

Poisson tensor Π induces the Lie algebra structure into the associative algebra of functions $\mathcal{F}(M)$ through a particular Lie bracket

$$\{.,.\}: \mathcal{F}(M) \times \mathcal{F}(M) \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}(M),$$
$$\{F, G\}_{\Pi} := \Pi(dF, dG) = \langle dF, \Pi dG \rangle, \qquad (3.2.5)$$

that additionally satisfies Leibniz rule, i.e. the bracket is also a derivation for multiplication in the algebra of functions. Such bracket is called a *Poisson bracket*. Indeed

- 1. $\{F, G\}_{\Pi} = -\{G, F\}_{\Pi}$, antisymmetry,
- 2. $\{F, GH\}_{\Pi} = \{F, G\}_{\Pi}H + G\{F, H\}_{\Pi}$, Leibniz rule,
- 3. $\{F, \{H, G\}_{\Pi}\}_{\Pi} + \{H, \{G, F\}_{\Pi}\}_{\Pi} + \{G, \{F, H\}_{\Pi}\}_{\Pi} = 0$, Jacobi identity $\iff [\Pi, \Pi]_{S} = 0$.

Antisymmetry is obvious. The Leibniz rule follows from the fact that d(FG) = (dF)G + F(dG). To show the Jacobi identity notice that

$$\{F, \{H, G\}_{\Pi}\}_{\Pi} = \{F, dH_{i}\Pi^{ij}dG_{j}\}_{\Pi} = \{F, \Pi^{ij}H_{,i}G_{,j}\}_{\Pi} = \Pi^{rs}F_{,r}(\Pi^{ij}H_{,i}G_{,j})_{,s}$$
$$= \Pi^{rs}\Pi^{ij}F_{,r}H_{,is}G_{,j} + \Pi^{rs}\Pi^{ij}F_{,r}G_{,js}H_{,i} + \Pi^{rs}\Pi^{ij}_{,s}F_{,r}H_{,i}G_{,j}$$

and moreover $\Pi^{ij} = -\Pi^{ji}$, $F_{,ij} = F_{,ji}$, where $\Pi^{ij}_{,s} \equiv \partial_s \Pi^{ij}$ and $F_{,ij} = \partial_i \partial_j F$. Thus

$$\{F, \{H, G\}_{\Pi}\}_{\Pi} + c.p. = (\Pi^{rs}\Pi^{ij}_{,s} + \Pi^{is}\Pi^{jr}_{,s} + \Pi^{js}\Pi^{ri}_{,s})F_{,r}H_{,i}G_{,j} = 0$$
(3.2.6)

according to (3.2.3). Such an algebra is called a *Poisson algebra* and a pair (M, Π) is called a *Poisson manifold*.

The distinguished representation (canonical representation) of arbitrary Poisson tensor is described by the *Darboux theorem*. It claims that if a Poisson bivector Π on *m*-dimensional manifold *M* (dim M = m = 2n + r) has constant rank 2*n* on some open domain, then there are local coordinates (ζ^1, \ldots, ζ^m) = ($\xi^1, \ldots, \xi^{2n}, c_1, \ldots, c_r$), where c_i are Casimir coordinates, such that

$$\Pi = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \partial_{\xi^{i}} \wedge \partial_{\xi^{n+i}}, \quad \left(\Pi^{ij}\right) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I_{n} & 0 \\ -I_{n} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (3.2.7)$$

where I_n is *n*-dimensional unit matrix.

The Casimir functions $c_i(\zeta)$ of Π define a *foliation* of M denoted further by S. This foliation consists of the leaves $S_{\nu} = \{\zeta \in M : c_i(\zeta) = \nu_i, i = 1, ..., r\}, \nu = (\nu_r, ..., \nu_r)$. From the Darboux theorem it is obvious that the restriction of Π to any leaf S_{ν} , i.e. $\pi_{\nu} := \Pi_{|S_{\nu}|}$ is a non degenerate Poisson bi-vector. Such a foliation is called the *symplectic foliation* of a Poisson manifold (M, Π) and S_{ν} is called a *symplectic leave*.

Further, a *presymplectic form* Ω on M is defined by a two-form that is closed, i.e. $d\Omega = 0$, degenerate in general. Thus, in a local coordinate system $(\zeta^1, \ldots, \zeta^m)$ on

3.2 Coordinate Free Formulation of Hamiltonian Mechanics

M the two-form Ω is represented by

$$\Omega = \sum_{i < j}^{m} \Omega_{ij} d\zeta^{i} \wedge d\zeta^{j}, \qquad (3.2.8)$$

while the closeness condition takes the form

$$\partial_i \Omega_{jk} + \partial_k \Omega_{ij} + \partial_j \Omega_{ki} = 0.$$
(3.2.9)

Moreover, the kernel of any presymplectic form is an integrable distribution

$$\ker \Omega = Sp\{Z_i\}_{i=1,\dots,r}, \quad [Z_i, Z_j] = 0.$$
(3.2.10)

A pair (M, Ω) is called a *presymplectic manifold*.

Like for Poisson bi-vectors, there exists the Darboux theorem for presymplectic forms. It claims that if a presymplectic form Ω on *m*-dimensional manifold *M* (dim M = m = 2n + r) has a constant rank 2n on some open domain, then there are local coordinates (ζ^1, \ldots, ζ^m) = ($\xi^1, \ldots, \xi^{2n}, c_1, \ldots, c_r$), such that

$$\Omega = \sum_{i=1}^{n} d\xi^{n+i} \wedge d\xi^{i}, \quad (\Omega_{ij}) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -I_n & 0\\ I_n & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.2.11)

Coordinates, in which Π and Ω take the canonical forms (3.2.7), (3.2.11) are canonical coordinates (Darboux coordinates). Canonical coordinates can be equivalently defined in the following way. Coordinates (ζ^1, \ldots, ζ^m) are canonical if and only if

$$\{\zeta^{i}, \zeta^{j}\}_{\Pi} = \Pi^{ij} \tag{3.2.12}$$

where Π^{ij} are given by (3.2.7).

A vector field X^F related to a function $F \in \mathcal{F}(M)$ by the relation

$$\Omega X^F = dF \tag{3.2.13}$$

is called the *inverse Hamiltonian vector field* with respect to the presymplectic form Ω .

Any non-degenerate (r = 0) closed two form ω on M is called a *symplectic* form. The inverse of a symplectic form is a non-degenerate Poisson bi-vector π , called an *implectic* operator which satisfies

$$(\omega \pi) \alpha = \alpha, \qquad \alpha \in T^* M$$
$$(\pi \omega) v = v, \qquad v \in T M.$$

Thus, if some ω satisfies relations (3.2.9) then its inverse satisfies respective relations (3.2.3). In such a case

$$\omega^{-1} = \pi \Longrightarrow X_H = X^H. \tag{3.2.14}$$

Notice that in what follows we will use small letters to denote non-degenerate Poisson and symplectic tensors and the capital letters otherwise. Hence, in the non-degenerate case, the theory of Hamiltonian systems coincides with the theory of inverse Hamiltonian systems. Moreover, a symplectic operator ω defines the same Poisson bracket as the related implectic operator π

$$\{F, G\}^{\omega} := \omega(X_F, X_G) = \langle \omega X_F, X_G \rangle = \langle \omega X^F, X_G \rangle = \langle dF, X_G \rangle$$

= $\langle dF, \pi dG \rangle = \pi (dF, dG) = \{F, G\}_{\pi}.$ (3.2.15)

Darboux theorem suggests an admissible construction of symplectic two-forms and implectic bi-vectors with the help of appropriate 1-forms and vector fields. Such a construction will be particularly important for further quantization process. Let (X_1, \ldots, X_{2n}) be a collection of 2n linearly independent vector fields on M, which commute $[X_\beta, X_\gamma] = 0$. Then

$$\pi = \sum_{i=1}^{n} X_i \wedge X_{n+i}$$

is a Poisson bivector, as from the commutativity of vector fields follows immediately the vanishing of related Schouten-Nijenhuis bracket $[\pi, \pi]_S = 0$.

Let $(\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_{2n})$ be a collection of 1-forms, linearly independent on M, which are exact: $\alpha_\beta = df_\beta$. Then

$$\omega = \sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_{n+i} \wedge \alpha_i$$

is a closed two-form. Besides, if α_{β} is a 1-form dual to vector field X_{β} , i.e. when $\langle \alpha_{\beta}, X_{\gamma} \rangle = X_{\gamma}(\alpha_{\beta}) = \delta_{\beta\gamma}$, then

$$\omega\pi=\pi\omega=I_{2n}.$$

Classical Hamiltonian dynamical system on a Poisson manifold is defined by a system of the first order ODE's in a coordinate free form (tensorial form)

$$\xi_t = X_H(\xi) = \Pi \, dH \implies \xi_t^i = \Pi^{ij} (dH)_j, \tag{3.2.16}$$

Hence, the solutions of the system (3.2.16) are represented by a classical flow, generated by the Hamiltonian vector field X_H . Alternatively, equations of motion (3.2.16) can be represented by an appropriate Poisson bracket

$$\xi_t^i = \{\xi^i, H\}_{\Pi} \tag{3.2.17}$$

as

$$\{\xi^{i}, H\}_{\Pi} = \xi^{i}_{,k} \Pi^{kj} H_{,j} = \delta^{i}_{k} \Pi^{kj} H_{,j} = \Pi^{ij} H_{,j} = \Pi^{ij} (dH)_{j}$$

In Sect. 3.1.2 we considered the particular (but very important from physical point of view) example of a Poisson manifold being a phase space $M = T^*Q$, dim M = 2n, i.e. a cotangent bundle to some Riemannian space (Q, g) (configuration space) of dim Q = n, with canonical parametrization $(\xi) = (x^1, \ldots, x^n, p_1, \ldots, p_n)$ which means that

$$\{x^i, x^j\} = \{p_i, p_j\} = 0, \ \{x^i, p_j\} = \delta^i_j$$

Then, equations of motion (3.1.2)

$$x_{tt}^i + \Gamma_{jk}^i x_t^j x_t^k = -G^{ij} \partial_i V(x), \quad i = 1, \dots, n$$

of a particle, moving in a base space Q under the influence of a force of potential V(x), have the canonical Hamiltonian representation in the phase space T^*Q in a form

$$\begin{pmatrix} x \\ p \end{pmatrix}_{t} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\partial H}{\partial p} \\ -\frac{\partial H}{\partial x} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I_{n} \\ -I_{n} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\partial H}{\partial x} \\ \frac{\partial H}{\partial p} \end{pmatrix} = \pi dH$$
(3.2.18)

with natural Hamiltonian (3.1.9). Notice that in a canonical basis, Hamiltonian vector fields are given by the formula

$$X_{H}=\left(\partial_{p_{i}}H
ight)\partial_{x^{i}}-\left(\partial_{x^{i}}H
ight)\partial_{p_{i}}$$

and Poisson bracket of a pair of functions A(x, p), B(x, p) by the formula

$$\{A, B\} = \frac{\partial A}{\partial x^{i}} \frac{\partial B}{\partial p_{i}} - \frac{\partial A}{\partial p_{i}} \frac{\partial B}{\partial x^{i}}.$$
(3.2.19)

Example 3.6 Let us consider the Hénon-Heiles system [146] in the phase space $\mathbb{R}^4 = T^* \mathbb{E}^2$ and the canonical representation $(x, y, p_x p_y)$, with the Hamiltonian

$$H = \frac{1}{2}p_x^2 + \frac{1}{2}p_y^2 + x^3 + \frac{1}{2}xy^2.$$

3 Classical Hamiltonian Mechanics

Equations of motion are of the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \\ p_x \\ p_y \end{pmatrix}_t = \begin{pmatrix} p_x \\ p_y \\ -3x^2 - \frac{1}{2}y^2 \\ -xy^2 \end{pmatrix} = \pi dH,$$

where

$$\pi = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.2.20)

The next example presents a more general case of a Poisson manifold, not related to any particular configuration space.

Example 3.7 Let us consider the Euler equations of motion of a rigid body, so called Euler top, as an example of Hamiltonian dynamics on a three dimensional Poisson manifold (in this case being the Lie algebra so(3))

$$\begin{pmatrix} \omega_1 \\ \omega_2 \\ \omega_3 \end{pmatrix}_t = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{I_2 - I_3}{I_2 I_3} \omega_2 \omega_3 \\ \frac{I_3 - I_1}{I_1 I_3} \omega_1 \omega_3 \\ \frac{I_1 - I_2}{I_1 I_2} \omega_1 \omega_2 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\omega_3 & \omega_2 \\ \omega_3 & 0 & -\omega_1 \\ -\omega_2 & \omega_1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} d \left(\frac{1}{2} \frac{\omega_1^2}{I_1} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\omega_2^2}{I_2} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\omega_3^2}{I_3} \right)$$
$$= \Pi dH,$$

where ω_i are components of body angular momentum and I_i are the moments of inertia about the coordinate axis. As the manifold is of odd dimension, the Poisson tensor is degenerate and the Casimir function is of the form $c = \omega_1^2 + \omega_2^2 + \omega_3^2$.

Finally, let us recall two identities important for further considerations. Let Π be a Poisson bi-vector and Ω be a closed two-form, then

$$L_{\Pi\alpha}\Pi + \Pi \, d\alpha \, \Pi = 0, \qquad L_v \Omega = d(\Omega v), \tag{3.2.21}$$

where $v \in TM$ and $\alpha \in T^*M$. The second identity follows immediately from relations (2.5.20)–(2.5.22)

$$L_v\Omega = (d\,i_v + i_v d)\Omega = d\,i_v\Omega = d(\Omega v),$$

while the proof of the first identity is a bit more involved and can be found in [24].

3.2.2 Tensor Invariants of Hamiltonian Systems

In this subsection we turn our attention to various tensor invariants of a given Hamiltonian flow. Assume that (M, Π) is a given Poisson manifold and $X_H = \Pi dH$ is a respective Hamiltonian vector field, which in a local basis $(\zeta^1, \ldots, \zeta^m)$ takes the form

$$X_H = \Pi^{ij} (\partial_j H) \partial_i = X_H^i \partial_i, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, m.$$

As was demonstrated in Sect. 2.5, a change of considered tensor field T along a Hamiltonian flow ϕ_t^H , generated by a vector field X_H , is measured by the Lie derivative L_{X_H}

$$\frac{d}{dt}T = \frac{\partial}{\partial t}T + L_{X_H}T.$$
(3.2.22)

So, a tensor field T, which does not depend explicitly on t, is invariant along the flow ϕ_t^H if

$$L_{X_H}T = 0.$$

The invariant scalar field *F* is called a *constant of motion*. Thus $F \in \mathcal{F}(M)$ is the constant of motion if

$$0 = L_{X_H}F = X_H(F) = \Pi^{ij} \left(\partial_j H\right) \left(\partial_i F\right) = \{F, H\}_{\Pi}$$

We say that F is in involution with H. It means that if we fix a trajectory of the flow, F has a constant value for all points from that trajectory.

Observation 1 This is a proper moment to observe why bi-vectors with a vanishing Schouten-Nijenhuis bracket (3.2.1) lead to a natural, coordinate free, generalization (3.2.4) of canonical Hamiltonian equations of motion (3.2.18). In the canonical formulation (3.2.18), with the Poisson tensor in the form of a constant bi-vector, the related Poisson bracket of two constants of motion is either equal to zero or to another constant of motion. To keep that property for a non-constant bi-vector, the Jacobi property (3.2.6) is required. On the other hand, Jacobi identity follows from Jacobi equation (3.2.1), which is a consequence of vanishing of the Schouten-Nijenhuis bracket (3.2.1).

Invariant vector field Y which fulfils the condition

$$0 = L_{X_H}Y = [X_H, Y] \tag{3.2.23}$$

is called a *symmetry* (or more precisely a *symmetry generator*) of a Hamiltonian flow generated by X_H . If by ϕ_t we denote the flow generated by X_H and by ϕ_τ the flow

generated by *Y*, then ϕ_{τ} is the one-parameter group of symmetries of Hamiltonian flow ϕ_t if

$$\phi_t \circ \phi_\tau - \phi_\tau \circ \phi_t = 0.$$

On the level of respective infinitesimal generators it means their commutativity (3.2.23).

Poisson tensor Π itself is tensor invariant of type (0, 2), i.e.

$$L_{X_H}\Pi = 0.$$

It follows from the fact that $[X_H, X_H] = 0$ and $\Pi(dH, dH) = 0$:

$$0 = L_{X_H} X_H = L_{X_H} \Pi dH = (L_{X_H} \Pi) dH + \Pi (L_{X_H} dH)$$
$$= (L_{X_H} \Pi) dH + \Pi d(L_{X_H} H) = (L_{X_H} \Pi) dH \Longrightarrow L_{X_H} \Pi = 0$$

Assume now that F is a scalar field. Then we have

$$\Pi d\{H, F\}_{\Pi} \stackrel{(3.2.2)}{=} \Pi dL_{X_F} H \stackrel{(3.2.2)}{=} L_{X_F} \Pi dH = L_{X_F} X_H = -[X_H, X_F],$$
(3.2.24)

where $X_F = \prod dF$. It means that the map $\prod d : \mathcal{F}(M) \to T^{(0,1)}(M)$ is an anti-homomorphism of the Poisson algebra of scalar fields into the Lie algebra of vector fields. It also means that a respective Hamiltonian vector field X_F such that $[X_H, X_F] = 0$, is related with any constant of motion F i.e. X_F is a symmetry generator of the flow. It is nothing but the expression of the Noether theorem in the Hamiltonian formulation. It says that for the arbitrary Hamiltonian system, a Hamiltonian symmetry is related with the Constant of motion and vice versa, a constant of motion is related with the Hamiltonian symmetry. Observe that the number of all symmetries of a given flow is larger in general than the number of constants of motion, as beside Hamiltonian symmetries there may exist non-Hamiltonian symmetries as well.

When the Poisson bi-vector is impectic, then in an obvious way the tensor field $T^{(2,0)} = \omega = \pi^{-1}$ is also the invariant of considered Hamiltonian flow

$$L_{X_H}\omega = 0$$

3.2.3 Dual Poisson-Presymplectic Pairs

As was shown in the previous subsection, if the Poisson structure is nondegenerate, i.e. if the rank of the Poisson tensor is equal to the dimension of a manifold, then

the manifold becomes a symplectic manifold with a symplectic structure being just the inverse of the Poisson structure. In such a case there exists an alternative (dual) description of Hamiltonian vector fields in the language of symplectic geometry as inverse Hamiltonian systems coincide with Hamiltonian systems (3.2.14). So, a natural question arises, whether one can relate Hamiltonian and inverse Hamiltonian pictures in the degenerate case, when there is no natural inverse of the Poisson tensor [101]. For such a case we introduce the notion of dual Poisson-presymplectic structures [38].

A pair (π, ω) is called a dual implectic-symplectic pair on M if π is a a nondegenerate Poisson tensor, ω is a non-degenerate closed two-form and the following partition of unity holds on TM, respectively on T^*M : $I = \pi \omega$ and $I = \omega \pi$. So, in the non-degenerate case, dual implectic-symplectic pair is a pair of mutually inverse operators on M.

Let us extend these considerations onto a degenerate case. In order to do it let us introduce the concept of a *dual pair* [38]. Consider a manifold M of an arbitrary dimension m. A pair of tensor fields (Π , Ω) on M of co-rank r, where Π is a Poisson bi-vector and Ω is a closed two-form, is called a dual pair (Poissonpresymplectic pair) if there exists r exact one-forms $\alpha_i = dc_i$ and r linearly independent commuting vector fields Z_i , such that the following conditions are satisfied:

- 1. $\alpha_i(Z_j) = Z_j(c_i) = \delta_{ij}, i, j = 1, 2...r.$
- 2. ker $\Pi = Sp\{dc_i : i = 1, ..., r\}$.
- 3. ker $\Omega = Sp\{Z_i : i = 1, ..., r\}.$
- 4. The following partition of unity holds on TM, on T^*M respectively

$$I = \Pi \Omega + \sum_{i=1}^{r} Z_i \otimes dc_i, \qquad I = \Omega \Pi + \sum_{i=1}^{r} dc_i \otimes Z_i.$$
(3.2.25)

Condition 1 of the above definition implies that the distribution Z spanned by the vector fields Z_i is transversal to the symplectic foliation S. Thus, for any $x \in M$ we have

$$T_x M = T_x S_v \oplus \mathcal{Z}_x, \ T_x^* M = T_x^* S_v \oplus \mathcal{Z}_x^*$$

where S_{ν} is a leaf from the foliation *S* that passes through *x*, the symbol \oplus denotes the direct sum of the vector spaces, Z_x is the subspace of $T_x M$ spanned by the vectors Z_i at this point, $T_x^* S_{\nu}$ is the annihilator of Z_x and Z_x^* is the annihilator of $T_x S_{\nu}$. Condition 2 of the above definition implies that Im(Π) = *T S*, Condition 3 means that Im(Ω) = T^*S and Condition 4 describes the degree of degeneracy of our pair.

A presymplectic form Ω plays the role of an 'inverse' of Poisson bivector Π in the sense that on any symplectic leaf of the foliation defined by ker Π , the restrictions of Ω and Π are inverses of each other. Contrary to the non-degenerate case, for a given

Poisson tensor Π the choice of its dual is not unique. Also for a given presymplectic form Ω the choice of a dual Poisson tensor is not unique either. We will come back to that problem at the end of this subsection.

For the degenerate case the Hamiltonian and the inverse Hamiltonian vector fields are defined in the same way as for the non-degenerate case, but for degenerate structures the notion of Hamiltonian and inverse Hamiltonian vector fields do not coincide any more. For any degenerate dual pair one can find a Hamiltonian vector field that is not inverse Hamiltonian and an inverse Hamiltonian vector field that is not a Hamiltonian one. Actually, assume that (Π, Ω) is a dual pair, $X_F = \Pi dF$ is a Hamiltonian vector field and $dF = \Omega X^F$ is an inverse Hamiltonian one-form, where X^F is an inverse Hamiltonian vector field. Having applied Ω to both sides of the Hamiltonian vector field, Π to both sides of the inverse Hamiltonian one-form and using the decomposition (3.2.25) we find that

$$dF = \Omega(X_F) + \sum_{i=1}^{r} Z_i(F) dc_i, \qquad X_F = X^F - \sum_{i=1}^{r} X^F(c_i) Z_i.$$
(3.2.26)

It means that an inverse Hamiltonian vector field X^F is simultaneously a Hamiltonian vector field X_F , i.e. $X^F = X_F$, if dF is annihilated by ker(Ω) and X^F is annihilated by ker(Π). Besides, for any dual pair (Π , Ω), the following useful relations hold

$$L_{X_F}\Pi = 0, \quad L_{X^F}\Omega = 0, \quad L_{Z_i}\Pi = 0, \quad L_{Z_i}\Omega = 0, \quad i - 1, \dots, r.$$

(3.2.27)

The first relation was proved in (3.2.2). The second one follows immediately from (3.2.21)

$$L_{X^F}\Omega = d(\Omega X^F) = d(dF) = 0.$$

For the third one we have

$$0 = L_{Z_i}(\Pi dc_j) = L_{Z_i}(\Pi)dc_j + \Pi L_{Z_i}(dc_j)$$

= $L_{Z_i}(\Pi)dc_j + \Pi d(L_{Z_i}c_j) = L_{Z_i}(\Pi)dc_j + \Pi d(\delta_{ij})$
= $L_{Z_i}(\Pi)dc_j \Longrightarrow L_{Z_i}\Pi = 0.$

Finally, the forth relation also follows from (3.2.21)

$$L_{Z_i}\Omega = d(\Omega Z_i) = 0.$$

In the previous subsection we proved that in nondegenerate case the Poisson bracket (3.2.5) can be alternatively expressed by a related symplectic form (3.2.15).

The same formula is valid in a degenerate case, when the inverse of implectic bivector is substituted by any dual presymplectic form

$$\{F, G\}^{\Omega} := \Omega(X_F, X_G) = \left\langle \Omega X^F, X_G \right\rangle = \langle dF, X_G \rangle = \langle dF, \Pi \, dG \rangle$$
$$= \Pi(dF, dG) = \{F, G\}_{\Pi}$$
(3.2.28)

as, although $X_F \neq X^F$, but $\langle \Omega X_F, \Pi dG \rangle = \langle \Omega X^F, \Pi dG \rangle$. Notice also that $\Omega(X_F, X_G) = \Omega(X^F, X^G)$.

Now, let us consider the problem of a 'gauge freedom' for a duality property. In other words: given a dual pair (Π, Ω) how can we deform Ω to a new presymplectic form Ω' so that (Π, Ω') is again a dual pair, or how can we deform Π to a new Poisson tensor Π' so that (Π', Ω) is also a dual pair?

Let Π be a fixed Poisson tensor and Ω be a dual presympectic form. Assume that $\alpha_i = dc_i \in \ker \Pi$, $Z_i \in \ker \Omega$ and $Z_i(c_j) = \delta_{ij}$, i, j = 1, ..., r. Define a new closed 2-form

$$\Omega' = \Omega + \sum_{i=1}^{r} dc_i \wedge df_i, \qquad (3.2.29)$$

where $f_i \in C(M)$. Then (Π, Ω') is a dual pair, with ker $(\Omega') = Sp \{Z'_i = Z_i + \Pi df_i\}$, provided that

$$\Pi(df_i, df_j) + Z_j(f_i) - Z_i(f_j) = 0 \text{ for all } i, j.$$
(3.2.30)

Now define a new bi-vector

$$\Pi' = \Pi + \sum_{i=1}^{r} Z_i \wedge X_i, \quad \Omega X_i = dF_i, \qquad (3.2.31)$$

then Π' is Poisson and (Π', Ω) is again a dual pair, with ker $\Pi' = Sp\{dc' = dc_i + dF_i\}$, provided that

$$\Omega(X_i, X_j) + X_j(c_i) - X_i(c_j) = 0$$
(3.2.32)

for any pair of indices i, j and

$$Z_k(X_j(c_i)) = 0$$

for any triple of indices i, j, k. In addition, notice that from (3.2.31) follows that

$$Z_i(F_j) = 0$$
 and $X_i = \prod dF_i + \sum_{k=1}^r X_i(c_k)Z_k$.

Indeed, to prove duality of (Π, Ω') , as we have

$$\Omega'\Pi = \Omega\Pi + \sum_{i=1}^r dc_i \otimes \Pi df_i = I + \sum_{i=1}^r dc_i \otimes (Z_i + \Pi df_i)$$

and $Z'_i(c_j) = \delta_{ij}$, it remains to show that $Z'_i \in \ker \Omega'$. In fact, as

$$\Omega' Z'_{i} = (\Omega + \sum_{k=1}^{r} dc_{k} \wedge df_{k})(Z_{i} + \Pi df_{i})$$

= $\Omega \Pi df_{i} + \sum_{k=1}^{r} Z_{i}(f_{k})dc_{k} - df_{i} + \sum_{k=1}^{r} \Pi(df_{k}, df_{i})dc_{k}$
= $\sum_{k=1}^{r} [\Pi(df_{k}, df_{i}) + Z_{i}(f_{k}) - Z_{k}(f_{i})]dc_{k}$

it vanishes under condition (3.2.30).

On the other hand, to prove duality of (Π', Ω) , notice that for (3.2.31) we have

$$\Pi'\Omega = \Pi\Omega + \sum_{i=1}^{r} Z_i \otimes dF_i = I + \sum_{i=1}^{r} Z_i \otimes (dc_i + dF_i)$$

and $Z_i(c'_j) = \delta_{ij}$. Also $c'_i \in \ker \Pi'$ as

$$\Pi' dc'_{k} = (\Pi + \sum_{i=1}^{r} Z_{i} \wedge X_{i})(dc_{k} + dF_{k})$$

$$= \Pi dF_{k} + \sum_{i=1}^{r} X_{i}(c_{k})Z_{i} - X_{k} + \sum_{i=1}^{r} X_{i}(F_{k})Z_{i}$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{r} X_{i}(c_{k})Z_{i} - \sum_{i=1}^{r} X_{k}(c_{i})Z_{i} + \sum_{i=1}^{r} X_{i}(F_{k})Z_{i}$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{r} [\Omega(X_{k}, X_{i}) + X_{i}(c_{k}) - X_{k}(c_{i})] Z_{i}$$

and vanishes under condition (3.2.32). Finally, it remains to prove that (3.2.31) is Poisson. Using formula (2.3.11) and in particular (2.3.12) we have

$$[\Pi', \Pi']_{S} = 2 \sum_{i=1}^{r} [Z_{i} \wedge X_{i}, \Pi]_{S} + \sum_{i,k=1}^{r} [Z_{i} \wedge X_{i}, Z_{k} \wedge X_{k}]_{S}$$

= $2 \sum_{i=1}^{r} [Z_{i} \wedge X_{i}, \Pi]_{S} + \sum_{i,k=1}^{r} Z_{i} \wedge [X_{i}, X_{k}] \wedge Z_{k} - 2 \sum_{i,k=1}^{r} X_{i} \wedge [Z_{i}, X_{k}] \wedge Z_{k}$
= $2 \sum_{i=1}^{r} [Z_{i} \wedge X_{i}, \Pi]_{S} + \sum_{i,k=1}^{r} Z_{i} \wedge [X_{i}, X_{k}] \wedge Z_{k}$

where $[Z_i, X_k] = 0$ follows from condition (3.2.3) and relations (3.2.3). Now, using relation

$$[X,\Pi]_S = L_X\Pi, \quad X \in \Lambda^1(M), \ \Pi \in \Lambda^2(M)$$
(3.2.33)

relation (3.2.28) and the form (3.2.3) we get

$$2\sum_{i=1}^{r} [Z_i \wedge X_i, \Pi]_S = 2\sum_{i,k=1}^{r} Z_i \wedge \Pi d(X_i(c_k)) \wedge Z_k$$
$$= \sum_{i,k=1}^{r} Z_i \wedge \Pi d(X_i(c_k) - X_k(c_i)) \wedge Z_k$$

and

$$[X_i, X_k] = \prod d\Omega(X_k, X_i)$$

so finally

$$[\Pi',\Pi']_S = \sum_{i,k=1}^r Z_i \wedge \Pi d(\Omega(X_k,X_i) + X_i(c_k) - X_k(c_i)) \wedge Z_k$$

and vanishes under condition (3.2.32).

3.2.4 Classical Hamiltonian Flows on Symplectic Manifold

In order to compare classical and quantum dynamical systems, let us analyze classical Hamiltonian flows from the point of view of transport equations [93]. Consider a transport (2.5.1) on the phase space in local Darboux coordinates (x, p)

carried out by some functions

$$Q(x, p, t), \quad Q(x, p, 0) = x,$$
 (3.2.34a)

$$P(x, p, t), P(x, p, 0) = p,$$
 (3.2.34b)

being a solution of the following system of partial differential equations

$$(Q^{i})_{t}(x, p, t) = \{Q^{i}(x, p, t), H(x, p)\}_{\pi(x, p)}, \quad Q(x, p, 0) = x,$$
(3.2.35a)

$$(P_i)_t(x, p, t) = \{P_i(x, p, t), H(x, p)\}_{\pi(x, p)}, \quad P(x, p, 0) = p,$$
(3.2.35b)

where π is given by (3.2.20). These equations are equations of motion of a *classical Hamiltonian transport* on a phase space.

What is important, the system of PDE's (3.2.35) is equivalent to the system of ordinary differential equations

$$(Q^i)_t = \{Q^i, H(Q, P)\}_{\pi(Q, P)}, \quad Q^i(0) = x^i,$$
 (3.2.36a)

$$(P_i)_t = \{P_i, H(Q, P)\}_{\pi(Q, P)}, \quad P_i(0) = p_i,$$
 (3.2.36b)

i.e. classical Hamiltonian equations of motion. Indeed, from a previous section it follows that both the function H and the bi-vector π are invariants of the Hamiltonian flow, thus H(x, p) = H(Q, P) and $\pi(x, p) = \pi(Q, P)$. Hence, PDE's (3.2.35) can be written in the form of ODE's (3.2.36).

As the implectic bi-vector π is an invariant, so the flow

$$\phi_t^H : \phi_t^H(x, p) = (Q(x, p, t), P(x, p, t))$$

is a one-parameter group of canonical transformations (*symplectomorphisms*). It means that from relations

$$\{x^i, p_j\}_{\pi(x,p)} = \delta^i_j$$

follows that

$$\{Q^{i}(x, p, t), P_{j}(x, p, t)\}_{\pi(x, p)} = \delta^{i}_{j}.$$
(3.2.37)

In other words, (3.2.34) represents a *classical trajectory* passing at t = 0 through the point (x, p).

The time evolution of any function $A(x, p) \in \mathcal{F}(M)$ is given by the equation

$$\frac{dA}{dt} \equiv A_t = L_{X_H} A = \{A, H\}_{\pi}.$$
(3.2.38)

On the other hand, we know that the pull back of a function

$$\phi_t^* A = A \circ \phi_t,$$

which is a consequence of the fact that the product of two diffeomorphisms $\phi_{t_1} \cdot \phi_{t_2}$ is a simple composition of maps (2.5.3). As the result, the time evolution of any function A(x, p) along the Hamiltonian flow ϕ_t is given by

$$A(t) = A(Q(x, p, t), P(x, p, t)).$$
(3.2.39)

It means that once we have solutions of Hamiltonian equations of motion (3.2.36), the time evolution of arbitrary function $A(x, p) \in \mathcal{F}(M)$ is given by (3.2.39) which obviously solves the Eq. (3.2.38) as

$$\frac{d}{dt}A = \frac{\partial A}{\partial Q}\frac{\partial Q}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial A}{\partial P}\frac{\partial P}{\partial t} = \frac{\partial A}{\partial Q}\{Q, H\}_{\pi} + \frac{\partial A}{\partial P}\{P, H\}_{\pi}$$
$$= \{A, H\}_{\pi}.$$

Notice that if function A depends explicitly on t, then A(Q(x, p, t), P(x, p, t), t) solves the equation

$$\frac{dA}{dt} = \frac{\partial A}{\partial t} + L_{X_H}A = \frac{\partial A}{\partial t} + \{A, H\}_{\pi}, \qquad (3.2.40)$$

i.e. a particular case of the Eq. (3.2.22).

3.3 Statistical Hamiltonian Mechanics

In order to relate classical and quantum Hamiltonian mechanics to each other, we have to unify the language of both theories. For this purpose we have to extend the standard classical Hamiltonian mechanics to its more realistic (more 'physical') version, i.e. statistical Hamiltonian mechanics. Then, on the classical level, one can define such notions as observables, states, uncertainty relations, coherence et cetera, familiar to the reader from the quantum level.

3.3.1 Classical Poisson Algebra and Classical States

Let us consider a Poisson manifold (M, π) (symplectic manifold $(M, \omega = \pi^{-1})$ in particular), where *M* is a differential manifold of dimension dim M = 2n and π is real, nondegenerate bi-vector, of the vanishing Schouten-Nijenhuis bracket $[\pi, \pi]_S = 0$. Then, let us consider the space of complex valued functions $C^{\infty}(M, \mathbb{C})$ on *M*. The space $C^{\infty}(M, \mathbb{C})$ has a structure of commutative algebra with involution, where the product is a simple point-wise multiplication

$$(f \cdot g)(\xi) = f(\xi)g(\xi), \quad \xi \in M,$$

and the involution is a complex conjugation $f \to \bar{f}$.

Recall that the involution in algebra A is represented by anti-automorphism, whose square is an identity,

$$*: A \longrightarrow A$$

such that for $a, b \in A$

- 1. $(a+b)^* = a^* + b^*$,
- 2. $(ab)^* = b^*a^*$,
- 3. $1^* = 1$,
- 4. $(a^*)^* = a$.

The Poisson tensor π defines in the algebra $C^{\infty}(M, \mathbb{C})$ the Poisson bracket (3.2.1), (3.2.5), which is a particular realization of a Lie bracket. Such a double algebra with involution $(C^{\infty}(M), \cdot, \{., .\}_{\pi}, -)$ is called a *classical Poisson algebra* and will be denoted by \mathcal{A}_C . In particular, two Poisson manifolds are diffeomorphic if and only if the related Poisson algebras are isomorphic. The elements of \mathcal{A}_C , which are self-adjoint with respect to the involution, i.e. real functions, are called *classical observables*. They constitute the subalgebra of \mathcal{A}_C .

The points in a phase space (M, π) represent states of the classical system. Each point in M can be interpreted as generalized positions and momenta of particles composing a classical system. Values of generalized positions and momenta of the particles can be extracted from a point in M by writing this point in canonical coordinates (x, p). Then, x^i are values of generalized positions and p_i are values of generalized momenta.

When the exact state of the system is not known, but only a probability that the state is in a given region of the phase space, then there is a natural need to extend the concept of a state to take into account such a situation. In fact it is a very physical situation as any measurement is performed with finite accuracy. The natural way of doing this is to define states as probabilistic measures defined on a σ -algebra $\mathcal{B}(M)$ of Borel subsets of M. In such a chosen setting, points ξ of the phase space are

identified with Dirac measures δ_{ξ}

$$\delta_{\xi}(E) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{for } \xi \in E \\ 0 & \text{for } \xi \notin E \end{cases}, \quad E \in \mathcal{B}(M).$$

In what follows Dirac measures will be called pure states while other probabilistic measures mixed states, respectively. Further on we will be interested in such probabilistic measures μ that can be written in a form $d\mu = \rho d\Omega_{\omega}$, where ρ is an integrable function on *M* satisfying

$$\int_{M} \rho \, d\Omega_{\omega} = 1 \qquad \text{(normalization)},$$

$$\rho \ge 0 \qquad \text{(positive-definiteness)}$$

and thus can be identified with functions ρ . Here $d\Omega_{\omega}$ is a measure induced by a volume form

$$\Omega_{\omega} := \frac{1}{n!} \underbrace{\omega \wedge \ldots \wedge \omega}_{n}.$$

In local coordinates $(\xi^1, \ldots, \xi^{2n})$ on *M*

$$d\Omega_{\omega} = \pm \sqrt{|\det \omega|} d\xi^1 \wedge \dots \wedge d\xi^{2n}$$
(3.3.1)

and in canonical coordinates (x, p), the measure (3.3.1) turns into Lebesgue measure

$$d\Omega_{\omega} = dx^1 \dots dx^n dp_1 \dots dp_n.$$

In particular, for Dirac measures we will use a notation $d\delta_{\xi}(\xi') = \delta(\xi - \xi') d\Omega_{\omega}(\xi')$, where $\delta(\xi - \xi')$ is Dirac delta distribution.

Observe that states can be alternatively defined as those "functions" ρ , where $\rho \in L^1(M)$ or $\rho = \delta_{\xi}$, which satisfy:

- 1. $\rho = \bar{\rho}$ (self-conjugation),
- 2. $\int_M \rho \, d\Omega_\omega = 1$ (normalization),

3. $\int_{M} \bar{f} \cdot f \cdot \rho \, d\Omega_{\omega} \ge 0, \quad f \in C_{0}^{\infty}(M) \iff \rho \ge 0$ (positive-definiteness),

where $C_0^{\infty}(M)$ denotes a space of all smooth functions defined on *M* with compact support.

Classical states form a convex set. *Pure classical states* are defined as extreme points of the set of states, i.e. as those states which cannot be written as convex linear combinations of some other states. It can be proved that such a characterization of pure states is equivalent with the definition of pure states as Dirac measures. In

such a case, as will be proved later, statistical Hamiltonian mechanics reduces to the ordinary Hamiltonian mechanics. States which are not pure are called *mixed classical states*.

For $M = T^* E^{n_+,n_-}$ classical pure and mixed states can be alternatively defined as follows. Let us introduce a multiplication between states $\rho_1, \rho_2 \in L^1(M)$ in the form of convolution

$$\rho_1 * \rho_2 = \int_M \rho_1(\xi') \rho_2(\xi - \xi') d\xi'.$$
(3.3.2)

The space $L^1(M)$ is closed with respect to that product and so form the algebra which is commutative, associative and distributive. No algebra of functions possesses an identity for the convolution. The lack of identity is typically not a major inconvenience, since most collections of functions on which the convolution is performed can be convolved with a Dirac delta distribution δ or, at the very least (as is the case of L^1) admit approximations to the identity. Specifically,

$$\rho * \delta = \rho.$$

Pure states are defined as these which are idempotent

$$\rho * \rho = \rho. \tag{3.3.3}$$

In fact, states which fulfill (3.3.3) are just Dirac delta distributions. Any mixed state is a convex combination of pure states

$$\rho = \sum_{n} p_n \rho_{\text{pure}}^{(n)}, \quad p_n \ge 0, \quad \sum_{n} p_n = 1.$$
(3.3.4)

The summation in (3.3.4) can be substituted by integration over *M* such that $p \ge 0$, $\int_M p \, d\Omega_\omega = 1$

$$\rho(\xi) = \int_M p(\xi') \rho_{\text{pure}}(\xi') d\Omega_\omega = \int_M p(\xi') \delta(\xi - \xi') d\xi' = p(\xi),$$

where p fulfills the properties **1-3** of the classical state.

For a given observable $A \in C^{\infty}(M)$ and state μ $(d\mu = \rho d\Omega_{\omega})$ the expectation value of the observable A in the state μ is defined by

$$\langle A \rangle_{\mu} := \int_{M} A \, d\mu = \int_{M} (A \cdot \rho) \, d\Omega_{\omega}. \tag{3.3.5}$$

Note, that the expectation value of the observable A in a pure state δ_{ξ} is equal $A(\xi)$. Indeed,

$$\langle A \rangle_{\delta_{\xi}} = \int_{M} A(\xi') \delta(\xi - \xi') \, d\Omega_{\omega}(\xi') = A(\xi).$$

The expectation values of observables play an important role in the theory as they are identified with measurements in a physical experiment.

Thus, it is clear that in classical statistical mechanics appear integrals over a phase space which cannot be considered in arbitrary local coordinates, since doing this would change the values of integrals. For example, if $\psi: M \supset \mathcal{O} \rightarrow \mathbb{R}^{2n}$, $\psi: \xi \mapsto (\xi^1, \ldots, \xi^{2n})$ is a coordinate chart, then in general

$$\int_{M} f \, d\Omega_{\omega} \neq \int_{\psi(\mathcal{O})} f(\psi^{-1}(\xi)) \, d\xi$$

where f is a function defined on M and $d\Omega_{\omega}$ is a measure induced by the Liouville form Ω_{ω} . These integrals will be equal only when $M \setminus O$ is of measure zero. For this reason we introduce the following distinguished class of coordinates. A coordinate system $\psi : M \supset O \rightarrow \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ on a symplectic manifold (M, ω) is called almost global if $M \setminus O$ is of measure zero with respect to the measure $d\Omega_{\omega}$. Similarly, if (Q, g) is a Riemannian manifold representing a configuration space, then by an almost global coordinate system on Q we mean a coordinate system defined on an open subset $U \subset Q$ such that $Q \setminus U$ is of measure zero with respect to the measure induced by the metric volume form ω_g . It can be proved that an almost global coordinate system on Q induces a canonical coordinate system on T^*Q with the same property.

Observation 2 Classical Hamiltonian statistical mechanics can be well formulated on Poisson manifolds (simplectic manifolds in particular) which admit almost global coordinate systems.

More general manifolds, where a full integration measure exists, are beyond the scope of the book.

Example 3.8 Let $Q = E^3$ and consider Cartesian coordinates (x, y, z). Consider also spherical coordinates (r, θ, ϕ) related to the Cartesian coordinates by a transformation $\phi: (0, \infty) \times (0, \pi) \times (0, 2\pi) \rightarrow \mathcal{O}$, where $\mathcal{O} = \mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \{(x, y, z) \in \mathbb{R}^3 \mid x \ge 0, y = 0\}, \phi: (r, \theta, \phi) \mapsto (x, y, z),$

$$x = r \sin \theta \cos \phi,$$

$$y = r \sin \theta \sin \phi,$$

$$z = r \cos \theta.$$

In the Cartesian coordinates (x, y, z) the metric volume form ω_g on E^3 is equal $dx \wedge dy \wedge dz$, and the corresponding measure $d\omega_g$ takes the form of the Lebesgue

measure dxdydz. It can be seen that a set $\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \mathcal{O}$ is of Lebesgue-measure zero, hence the spherical coordinates (r, θ, ϕ) are almost global on E^3 .

Let (x, y, z, p_x, p_y, p_z) be canonical coordinates on T^*E^3 induced by the Cartesian coordinates (x, y, z) on E^3 . Canonical coordinates $(r, \theta, \phi, p_r, p_\theta, p_\phi)$ on T^*E^3 induced by the spherical coordinates (r, θ, ϕ) are related to the Cartesian coordinates (x, y, z, p_x, p_y, p_z) by a transformation $T: (0, \infty) \times (0, \pi) \times (0, 2\pi) \times \mathbb{R}^3 \rightarrow \hat{\mathcal{O}} = \mathcal{O} \times \mathbb{R}^3, T: (r, \theta, \phi, p_r, p_\theta, p_\phi) \mapsto (x, y, z, p_x, p_y, p_z)$,

$$x = r \sin \theta \cos \phi,$$

$$y = r \sin \theta \sin \phi,$$

$$z = r \cos \theta,$$

$$p_x = \frac{r p_r \sin^2 \theta \cos \phi + p_\theta \sin \theta \cos \theta \cos \phi - p_\phi \sin \phi}{r \sin \theta},$$

$$p_y = \frac{r p_r \sin^2 \theta \sin \phi + p_\theta \sin \theta \cos \theta \sin \phi + p_\phi \cos \phi}{r \sin \theta},$$

$$p_z = \frac{r p_r \cos \theta - p_\theta \sin \theta}{r}.$$

(3.3.6)

In the Cartesian coordinates (x, y, z, p_x, p_y, p_z) the Liouville form Ω_{ω} on T^*E^3 is equal $dx \wedge dy \wedge dz \wedge dp_x \wedge dp_y \wedge dp_z$, and the corresponding measure $d\Omega_{\omega}$ takes the form of the Lebesgue measure $dx dy dz dp_x dp_y dp_z$. It can be seen that a set $\mathbb{R}^6 \setminus \hat{\mathcal{O}}$ is of Lebesgue-measure zero, hence the canonical coordinates $(r, \theta, \phi, p_r, p_{\theta}, p_{\phi})$ are almost global on T^*E^3 .

3.3.2 Time Evolution of Classical Systems

For a given classical Hamiltonian system (M, π, H) there exists a dual description of its time evolution. The first one is known as the *classical Heisenberg picture*, The second one, known as *classical Schrödinger picture*, in which observables remain still whereas mixed states undergo a time development.

As was mentioned in Sect. 3.2.4, the Hamiltonian H governs the time evolution of the dynamical system. Actually, H generates a Hamiltonian field X_H . Then integral curves $\xi(t)$ of the vector field X_H , i.e. curves on M which satisfy Hamiltonian equation of motion

$$\xi_t = X_H(\xi(t)) = \pi \, dH(\xi(t)), \tag{3.3.7}$$

represent positions of points $\xi \in M$ for every instance of time *t*. All integral curves of a Hamiltonian field X_H generate a map $\phi_t^H : M \to M$, called a phase flow or a

Hamiltonian flow, by a prescription that for each point $\xi \in M$ a curve

$$\xi(t) = \phi_t^H(\xi) \tag{3.3.8}$$

is an integral curve of (3.3.7) passing through that point at time t = 0. Equation (3.3.7) is a Hamiltonian equation and integral curves of the Hamiltonian field are classical trajectories. For Darboux coordinates $\xi = (x, p)$, the flow (3.3.8) takes the form (3.2.4) while the Hamiltonian equation of motion (3.3.7) the form (3.2.36), respectively. As we will see later on, the Hamiltonian equation of motion (3.3.7) has a twofold interpretation (see Observation 3).

An equation of motion of mixed states can be derived from the probability conservation law, i.e. from the assumption that every probabilistic measure μ (mixed state) has to be constant along any trajectory in the phase space

$$\mu(t)(E) = \mu(t + \beta t)(\Phi^H_{\beta t}(E)), \quad E \in \mathcal{B}(M).$$

That property, written in terms of the pull-back of a measure, takes the form

$$\mu(t) = (\Phi_{\beta t}^{H})^{*} \mu(t + \beta t).$$
(3.3.9)

From (3.3.9) it follows that

$$0 = \lim_{\beta t \to 0} \frac{(\Phi_{\beta t}^{H})^{*} \mu(t + \beta t) - \mu(t)}{\beta t} = \frac{d}{ds} (\Phi_{s}^{H})^{*} \mu(t + s) \mid_{s=0}$$
$$= \frac{d}{ds} (\Phi_{0}^{H})^{*} \mu(t + s) \mid_{s=0} + \frac{d}{ds} (\Phi_{s}^{H})^{*} \mu(t) \mid_{s=0},$$

which further implies that

$$\frac{\partial \mu}{\partial t} + L_{X_H}\mu = 0, \qquad (3.3.10)$$

where $L_{X_H}\mu$ denotes a Lie derivative of the measure μ in the direction of the vector field X_H . Equation (3.3.10) is called a *Liouville equation* and it describes the time evolution of the state μ .

When a mixed state μ takes a form $d\mu = \rho d\Omega_{\omega}$, for a smooth function ρ , then the Liouville equation (3.3.10) can be written in an alternative form. Actually, from (3.3.10) we have

$$0 = \frac{\partial}{\partial t}(\rho(t)\Omega_{\omega}) + L_{X_H}(\rho(t)\Omega_{\omega}) = \left(\frac{\partial\rho}{\partial t}(t) + L_{X_H}\rho(t)\right)\Omega_{\omega},$$

where the fact that $L_{X_H}\Omega_{\omega} = 0$, following from (3.2.2) and (3.3.1), was used. It further implies that

$$0 = \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} + L_{X_H}\rho = \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} + X_H\rho = \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} + \{\rho, H\}_{\pi}.$$

Hence, the following time evolution equation for the function ρ corresponding to the state μ was derived

$$\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} - \{H, \rho\}_{\pi} = 0.$$
(3.3.11)

Notice that Liouville equation (3.3.11), for time evolution of a classical mixed state, is a single linear PDE and represents the Schrödinger picture of classical Hamiltonian evolution.

For a pure state $\delta_{x(t)}$ the Liouville equation (3.3.10) is equivalent to the Hamiltonian equation (3.3.7). Indeed, from (3.3.10) it follows that

$$0 = \frac{\partial \delta_{\xi(t)}}{\partial t} + \frac{d}{ds} (\Phi_s^H)^* \delta_{\xi(t)} |_{s=0} = \frac{\partial \delta_{\xi(t)}}{\partial t} + \frac{d}{ds} \delta_{\Phi_{-s}^H(\xi(t))} |_{s=0}$$

and from the above equation we get

$$0 = \dot{\xi}(t) - \frac{d}{ds} \Phi_s^H(\xi(t)) \mid_{s=0} = \dot{\xi}(t) - X_H(\xi(t)),$$

which is just the Eq. (3.3.7).

Until now the states undergo the time development whereas the observables do not. As we have just mentioned, this is a counterpart of a well known Schrödinger picture in quantum mechanics. There is also a dual representation in which states remain still whereas the observables undergo the time development. This approach corresponds in quantum mechanics to the Heisenberg picture. A pull-back of the Hamiltonian flow $U_t^H = (\Phi_t^H)^* = e^{tL_{X_H}}$ is, for every *t*, an automorphism of the algebra of observables $\mathcal{A}_C(M)$ (it preserves the linear structure as well as the pointwise product and the Poisson bracket). Its action on an arbitrary observable $A \in \mathcal{A}_C(M)$ is interpreted as the time evolution of A

$$A(t) = U_t^H A(0) = e^{tL_{X_H}} A(0) = e^{tX_H} A(0) = e^{-t\{H, \cdot\}_{\pi}} A(0).$$
(3.3.12)

Differentiating Eq. (3.3.12) with respect to *t* we obtain the known time evolution equation (3.2.38) for an observable *A*

$$\frac{dA}{dt}(t) - \{A(t), H\}_{\pi} = 0.$$
(3.3.13)

Contrary to Liouville equation (3.3.11), Eq. (3.3.13) is a single nonlinear ODE and represents the Heisenberg picture of classical Hamiltonian evolution of an observable. In particular, for coordinate observables $A = \xi$, we get

$$\frac{d\xi}{dt}(t) - \{\xi(t), H\}_{\pi} = 0 \stackrel{(3.2.1)}{\longleftrightarrow} \xi_t = \pi \, dH(\xi)$$

i.e. again the Hamiltonian equation (3.3.7).

For any observable *A*, both presented approaches to the time development yield the same predictions concerning the results of measurements, since

$$\begin{split} \langle A(0) \rangle_{\mu(t)} &= \int_{M} A(0) \, d\mu(t) = \int_{M} A(0) \, d\left((\Phi_{-t}^{H})^{*} \mu(0) \right) = \int_{M} (\Phi_{t}^{H})^{*} A(0) \, d\mu(0) \\ &= \int_{M} A(t) \, d\mu(0) = \langle A(t) \rangle_{\mu(0)}. \end{split}$$

From (3.3.13) follows that the time evolution of the expectation value of observable A in a mixed state $\rho(t)$, i.e. $\langle A \rangle_{\rho(t)}$, fulfills the following equation

$$\frac{d}{dt} \langle A \rangle_{\rho(t)} - \langle \{A, H\}_{\pi} \rangle_{\rho(t)} = 0.$$
(3.3.14)

Indeed

$$\int_{M} A(\xi) \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t}(\xi, t) d\Omega_{\omega} = \frac{d}{dt} \int_{M} A(\xi) \rho(\xi, t) d\Omega_{\omega} = \frac{d}{dt} \langle A \rangle_{\rho(t)},$$

$$\begin{split} \int_{M} A(\xi)\{H,\rho\}(\xi,t)d\Omega_{\omega} &= \int_{M} \{H,A\rho\}(\xi,t)d\Omega_{\omega} - \int_{M} \{H,A\}(\xi)\rho(\xi,t)d\Omega_{\omega} \\ &= -\int_{M} \{H,A\}(\xi)\rho(\xi,t)d\Omega_{\omega} = \frac{d}{dt} \langle A \rangle_{\rho(t)} \,. \end{split}$$

In second equality we used the fact that on M

$$\int_{M} \{H, A\rho\}(\xi, t) d\Omega_{\omega} = \int_{M} \left(\frac{d}{dt} - \frac{\partial}{\partial t}\right) (A\rho)(\xi, t) d\Omega_{\omega}$$
$$= \left(\frac{d}{dt} - \frac{d}{dt}\right) \langle A \rangle_{\rho(t)} = 0.$$

Observation 3 From our considerations follows that in classical statistical Hamiltonian mechanics time development can be realized by two equivalent schemes. Actually, we can either evolve in time a mixed state according to linear PDE (3.3.11) or evolve in time an observable according to nonlinear ODE (3.3.13). Exceptional

are classical Hamiltonian equations of motion which represent simultaneously time evolution of classical pure stat in the frame of classical Schrödinger picture and time evolution of position and momentum observables in the frame of classical Heisenberg picture.

In Hamiltonian statistical mechanics the classical uncertainty relations for canonical observables of position x^i and momentum p_i in a state ρ are of the form

$$\Delta x^i \Delta p_j \ge 0, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, n, \tag{3.3.15}$$

where

$$\triangle A = \sqrt{\left\langle A^2 \right\rangle_{\rho} - \left\langle A \right\rangle_{\rho}^2}$$

is a standard deviation. The above uncertainty relations state that it is possible to measure simultaneously the position and momentum of a particle with an arbitrary precision. In particular, the equality in (3.3.15) takes place for pure states. On the other hand, all states which minimize (3.3.15) will be called *classical coherent states*. So, on a classical level, arbitrary pure state

$$\rho_C(x', p') = \delta(x' - x)\delta(p' - p), \qquad (3.3.16)$$

is simultaneously a coherent state. That property will not be preserved on a quantum level.

Observation 4 According to the presented model, "physics" is represented by measurable objects, i.e. expectation values of observables in any classical state. On the other hand, for pure coherent classical state (3.3.16) Eqs. (3.3.13) and (3.3.14) coincide. In particular $Q^i(t) = \langle Q^i(t) \rangle_{\rho_C}$ and $P_i(t) = \langle P_i(t) \rangle_{\rho_C}$, so classical trajectory (3.2.34) represents simultaneously the time evolution of expectation values of position and momentum in a classical pure coherent state (3.3.16).

3.4 Reduction of Poisson Structures and Hamiltonian Systems Onto Submanifolds

The reduction theory of dynamical systems consists of two branches: the first branch deals with constrained Lagrangian systems, the second one with constrained Hamiltonian systems. In the Lagrangian approach one considers separately the case of holonomic constraints, i.e. the constraints which may depend on velocities, but only in such a way that the equations of constraints can be integrated to eliminate velocities, and the non-holonomic case [195]. In many cases authors first consider the Lagrangian formulation and then pass to the corresponding Hamiltonian formulation (see the example [252]).

The reduction theory in the Hamiltonian context has been initiated by P.A.M. Dirac, who in his famous paper [94] described a method of reducing a given Poisson bracket onto a submanifold given by some constraints φ provided they were of "second class". In this approach the classical notion of holonomic constraints is usually not introduced as in this context on arbitrary Poisson manifold (M, Π) there is no obvious division of variables between "position" and "momentum". The ideas of Dirac were developed in many papers, among others in [122, 135, 179, 180, 197, 198, 237] (see also the literature quoted there).

A very general geometric interpretation of the Poisson reduction procedure has been investigated in [197] by Marsden and Ratiu. Nevertheless, it is presented in an abstract, formal way which is made hard to handle with particular "physical" reduction problems. In this section, following [190], we present a constructive, computable method of reducing (locally) a given Poisson tensor Π to any regular submanifold (foliation) S. The idea of the method is to chose a distribution \mathcal{Z} (not necessarily integrable) that is transversal to the foliation S, i.e. at any $x \in M$ it completes $T_x S$ to $T_x M$. Moreover, the choice of \mathcal{Z} is such that makes the operator $\Pi \mathcal{Z}$ -invariant (see definitions below) and allows to deform the Poisson tensor Π to a new Poisson tensor Π_D such that its image will be tangent to the submanifold S. This new operator Π_D will be always Poisson (and so its natural restriction to S will be Poisson). In consequence, we obtain a method of reducing a Hamiltonian system on M to a Hamiltonian system on every leaf S_{y} of the foliation S. This reduced system strongly depends on the choice of the distribution \mathcal{Z} . As a special case we obtain the classical Dirac reduction of the Hamiltonian system. All our considerations will be local in the sense that our manifold M is perhaps only an open submanifold of a larger manifold. The presented construction is equivalent to the reduction method proposed by Marsden and Ratiu. However, it has advantages: it can be performed simultaneously on any leaf S_{ν} of the foliation S, it is constructive and it is formulated in the language of Poisson bi-vectors rather than Poisson brackets. The reader can also find some elements of the proposed scheme in [85, 112, 113] in the context of Poisson pencils.

The detailed analysis of the reduction procedures for Poisson bi-vectors will be crucial for a bi-Hamiltonian separability theory of integrable systems, developed in Chap. 5.

3.4.1 Geometric Reduction of Poisson Bi-Vectors

Let us consider a smooth manifold M of the finite dimension m and a foliation S of M consisting of the leaves S_{ν} parametrized by $\nu \in \mathbb{R}^{r}$ (so that $r \in \mathbb{N}$ is the codimension of every leaf S_{ν}). Moreover, consider a regular distribution \mathcal{Z} on M (i.e. a smooth collection of the spaces $\mathcal{Z}_{x} \subset T_{x}M$ where ν is such that $x \in S_{\nu}$) such that it completes every $T_{x}S$ to $T_{x}M$ in the sense that

$$T_x M = T_x S_v \oplus \mathcal{Z}_x \tag{3.4.1}$$

for every x in M. In consequence, every vector field X on the manifold M has a unique decomposition $X = X_{\parallel} + X_{\perp}$ such that for every x in M the vector $(X_{\parallel})_x \in T_x S$ (X_{\parallel} is tangent to the leaves of the foliation S) while $(X_{\perp})_x \in \mathbb{Z}_x$ (X_{\perp} is contained in the distribution \mathbb{Z}). The splitting (3.4.1) induces the respective splitting of the dual space $T_x^* M$:

$$T_x^* M = T_x^* S_v \oplus \mathcal{Z}_x^* \tag{3.4.2}$$

where $T_x^* S_v$ is the annihilator of Z_x while the space Z_x^* is the annihilator of $T_x S_v$. Thus, any one-form α on M has a unique decomposition $\alpha = \alpha_{\parallel} + \alpha_{\perp}$ such that $(\alpha_{\parallel})_x \in T_x^* S(\alpha_{\parallel} \text{ annihilates the vectors from } Z)$ while $(\alpha_{\perp})_x \in Z_x^* (\alpha_{\perp} \text{ annihilates the vectors from } Z)$ while $(\alpha_{\perp})_x \in Z_x^* (\alpha_{\perp} \text{ annihilates the vectors tangent to the foliation } S)$. We will call X_{\parallel} and α_{\parallel} projections of X and α (respectively) on the foliation S. Abusing notation a bit we will write that $X \subset TS$ if $X = X_{\parallel}, X \subset Z$ if $X = X_{\perp}$ and similarly for one forms: $\alpha \subset T^*S$ if $\alpha = \alpha_{\parallel}, \alpha \subset Z^*$ if $\alpha = \alpha_{\perp}$.

Assume now that our manifold M is equipped with a Poisson bi-vector Π . A smooth real-valued function F on M is called \mathcal{Z} -invariant if the Lie derivative $L_Z F = 0$ for any vector field $Z \subset \mathcal{Z}$. We will now adopt the following definition. The operator Π is said to be \mathcal{Z} -invariant if $L_Z \{F, G\}_{\Pi} = 0$ for any pair of \mathcal{Z} -invariant functions F and G and every vector field $Z \subset \mathcal{Z}$.

Observe that our definition does not necessarily mean that $L_Z \Pi = 0$ for all vector fields $Z \subset Z$, as for any pair F, G of Z-invariant functions the condition $L_Z \{F, G\}_{\Pi} = 0$ means only that the function $\langle dF, (L_Z \Pi) dG \rangle$ vanishes. Thus, Π does not have to be an invariant of the distribution Z to be Z-invariant in our meaning. Notice also, that the above definition is equivalent to the statement that for any pair $\alpha, \beta \subset T^*S$ we have $\langle \alpha, (L_Z \Pi) \beta \rangle = 0$ (since if F is Z-invariant then $dF \subset T^*S$).

Let us assume that the distribution Z is spanned by r vector fields Z_i and that for operator Π there exist vector fields W_{ij} , j = 1, ..., r such that

$$L_{Z_i}\Pi = \sum_{j=1}^r W_{ij} \wedge Z_j.$$
(3.4.3)

It is obvious that this definition does not depend on the choice of the basis in \mathcal{Z} (although the vector fields W_{ij} do). If the operator Π fulfills the condition (3.4.3), then it is \mathcal{Z} -invariant, as then for any two one-forms $\alpha, \beta \subset T^*S$

$$\langle \alpha, (L_Z \Pi) \beta \rangle = \sum_{j=1}^r \langle \alpha, (W_{ij} \wedge Z_j) \beta \rangle = 0,$$

since α and β annihilate all the vector fields Z_i . The converse statement is not true in general.

For a Poisson tensor Π on *M* let us define the following bi-vector:

$$\Pi_D(\alpha, \beta) = \Pi(\alpha_{||}, \beta_{||}) \text{ for any pair } \alpha, \beta \text{ of one-forms.}$$
(3.4.4)

We will call the bi-vector Π_D a deformation of Π . Observe that it always exists and that it is uniquely defined once the foliation *S* and the distribution \mathcal{Z} are given. Its image lies always in *TS*. $\Pi_D(\alpha) \subset TS$ for any one-form α on *M*, i.e. the image of Π_D is tangent to the foliation *S*. To prove it we have to show that $\langle \beta, \Pi_D \alpha \rangle = 0$ for any $\beta \subset \mathcal{Z}^*$, but

$$\langle \beta, \Pi_D \alpha \rangle = \Pi_D (\beta, \alpha) = \Pi \left(\beta_{\parallel}, \alpha_{\parallel} \right) = 0$$

since $\beta_{\parallel} = 0$ for every $\beta \subset \mathcal{Z}^*$.

Thus, the deformed bi-vector Π_D has its image in *TS* and if we regard it as mapping from one-forms to vector fields on *M* then it can be naturally restricted to a bi-vector π_{S_v} on every leaf S_v of *S* by simply restricting its domain to S_v :

$$\pi_{S_v} = \prod_{D \mid S_v}$$

Besides, Π_D induces a new bracket for functions on M

$$\{F, G\}_{\Pi_D} = \Pi_D (dF, dG) = \Pi((dF)_{||}, (dG)_{||}).$$
(3.4.5)

Obviously, the bi-vector Π_D (and thus even π_{S_ν}) does not have to be Poisson. However, it turns out that if Π is \mathcal{Z} -invariant then Π_D (and thus every π_{S_ν}) is Poisson. Obviously, this bracket is antisymmetric and satisfies the Leibniz property. It remains to show, that it also satisfies the Jacobi identity for any functions *F*, *G*, *H*. Using the definition of Π_D , this condition can be written as

$$\left\langle \left(d\left\langle (dF)_{\parallel}, \Pi (dG)_{\parallel} \right) \right\rangle_{\parallel}, \Pi (dH)_{\parallel} \right\rangle + \text{cycl.} = 0.$$

However, for any vector field $Z \subset \mathcal{Z}$ we have

$$\left\langle d\left\langle (dF)_{\parallel}, \Pi \left(dG \right)_{\parallel} \right\rangle, Z \right\rangle = Z \left(\left\langle (dF)_{\parallel}, \Pi \left(dG \right)_{\parallel} \right) \right) = L_Z \left\langle (dF)_{\parallel}, \Pi \left(dG \right)_{\parallel} \right\rangle = 0$$

due to the assumed \mathcal{Z} -invariance of Π . This means that $d\langle (dF)_{\parallel}, \Pi (dG)_{\parallel} \rangle \subset T^*S$, so that

$$\left(d\left\langle (dF)_{\parallel}, \Pi (dG)_{\parallel}\right\rangle\right)_{\parallel} = d\left\langle (dF)_{\parallel}, \Pi (dG)_{\parallel}\right\rangle,$$

and thus condition (3.4.1) turns out to be the Jacobi identity for Π , which is satisfied since Π is Poisson.
Thus, given a foliation *S* on *M* and a transversal distribution \mathcal{Z} on *M*, such that (3.4.1) is satisfied, we can reduce any Poisson bi-vector Π that is \mathcal{Z} -invariant to a Poisson bi-vector $\pi_{S_{\nu}}$ on the leaf S_{ν} of *S* by deforming Π to Π_D and then by restricting Π_D to S_{ν} . This construction yields the same operator $\pi_{S_{\nu}}$ as in the approach of Marsden and Ratiu [197] and besides we will show how this construction can be easily realized in practice.

Notice, that in a trivial case when the foliation *S* coincides with the symplectic foliation of Π then $\Pi_D = \Pi$, since in this case $\Pi((dF)_{\perp}) = 0$ for any function *F* and so

 $\{F, G\}_{\Pi_D} = \Pi((dF)_{||}, (dG)_{||}) = \Pi(dF, dG) = \{F, G\}_{\Pi}.$

In this case $\pi_{S_{\nu}}$ is the standard reduction of Π on its symplectic leaf S_{ν} .

Let us consider a few special cases of our general construction. We firstly observe that the annihilator Z^* of TS is defined as soon as the foliation S is determined, so we do not need to specify a particular Z in order to define Z^* . The distribution $\mathcal{D} = \Pi(Z^*)$ (so that $\mathcal{D}_x = \Pi(Z^*_x)$) is called further on a *Dirac distribution* associated with the foliation S. Thus, the distribution \mathcal{D} is determined by S and by Π . A priori, two limit cases are most interesting. If $TM = \mathcal{D} \oplus TS$ we say that we are in the Dirac case, while if $\mathcal{D} \subset TS$ we say that we are in the tangent case. In the Dirac case we have a canonical choice of Z, i.e. we can choose $Z = \mathcal{D}$. In this case Π is automatically Z-invariant, since Z is spanned by the vector fields Hamiltonian with respect to Π . Nevertheless, we can also choose some other distribution $Z \neq \mathcal{D}$ (non-canonical choices). Contrary to the previous case, in the tangent case we have no canonical choice of Z and we are free to find a distribution Z that makes Π Z-invariant. Anyway, in both cases we have many non-equivalent deformations Π_D and hence many non-equivalent projections π_{Sv} . Generically, the distribution \mathcal{D} will not be tangent to S, but it will not suffice to span TM together with TS.

Let us now suppose that the foliation *S* of *M* is parametrized by the set of *r* functionally independent real valued functions $\varphi_i(x)$ so that its leaves have the form $S_v = \{x \in M : \varphi_i(x) = v_i, v_i \in \mathbb{R}, i = 1, ..., r\}$ where *r* is the codimension of the foliation. The one-forms $d\varphi_i$ constitute a basis in \mathbb{Z}^* . Then, the Dirac distribution \mathcal{D} is spanned by *k* (possibly dependent) Hamiltonian vector fields $X_i = \Pi d\varphi_i$. Let us denote a basis of \mathcal{Z} dual to the basis $\{d\varphi_i\}$ in \mathcal{Z}^* by Z_i , i.e. $Z_i(\varphi_j) = \delta_{ij}$. Our projections X_{\parallel} and α_{\parallel} are then given by

$$X_{||} = X - \sum_{i=1}^{r} X(\varphi_i) Z_i,$$

(obviously $X_{||}(\varphi_i) = 0$ for all *i* so that indeed this vector field is tangent to the leaves of *S*) and by

$$\alpha_{||} = \alpha - \sum_{i=1}^{r} \alpha(Z_i) d\varphi_i$$

(and obviously $\alpha_{||}(Z_i) = 0$ for all *i*). Thus

$$\begin{aligned} \Pi(\alpha_{||},\beta_{||}) &= \Pi\left(\alpha - \sum_{i=1}^{r} \alpha(Z_i) d\varphi_i, \beta - \sum_{j=1}^{r} \beta(Z_j) d\varphi_j\right) \\ &= \Pi(\alpha,\beta) - \sum_{j=1}^{r} \beta(Z_j) \Pi(\alpha,d\varphi_j) - \sum_{i=1}^{r} \alpha(Z_i) \Pi(d\varphi_i,\beta) + \\ &+ \sum_{i,j=1}^{r} \alpha(Z_i) \beta(Z_j) \Pi(d\varphi_i,d\varphi_j), \end{aligned}$$

and so the deformation Π_D can be expressed by

$$\Pi_D = \Pi - \sum_{i=1}^r X_i \wedge Z_i + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j=1}^r \varphi_{ij} Z_i \wedge Z_j, \qquad (3.4.6)$$

where the functions φ_{ij} are defined as

$$\varphi_{ij} = \left\{\varphi_i, \varphi_j\right\}_{\Pi} = X_j(\varphi_i) = \Pi(d\varphi_i, d\varphi_j).$$

In the canonical Dirac case $(\mathcal{Z} = \mathcal{D})$, all the vector fields X_i are transversal to the foliation S and are moreover linearly independent. It happens precisely when $\det(\varphi_{ij}) \neq 0$ and the functions φ_i are then 'second class constraints' in the terminology of Dirac. The vector fields Z_i (the dual basis to $\{d\varphi_i\}$) can be expressed through the vector fields X_i by

$$Z_i = \sum_{j=1}^{r} (\varphi^{-1})_{ji} X_j, \ i = 1, \dots, r$$

as indeed

$$Z_{j}(\varphi_{i}) = \sum_{s=1}^{r} (\varphi^{-1})_{sj} X_{s}(\varphi_{i}) = \sum_{s=1}^{r} (\varphi^{-1})_{sj} \varphi_{is} = \delta_{ij}.$$

Moreover, in this case the deformation (3.4.6) attains the following form

$$\Pi_D = \Pi - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^r X_i \wedge Z_i$$
(3.4.7)

and Π_D is Poisson as Π is \mathbb{Z} -invariant (3.4.3). It follows from (2.5.19), (3.2.2) and (3.2.24) as we have

$$L_{Z_m} \Pi = \sum_{j=1}^r (\varphi^{-1})_{jm} L_{X_j} \Pi - \sum_{j=1}^r \Pi d(\varphi^{-1})_{jm} \wedge X_j$$
$$= \sum_{j=1}^r [X_j, X_m] \wedge X_j = \sum_{j=1}^r W_{mj} \wedge Z_j, \quad m = 1, \dots, r.$$

 Π_D defines the following bracket on $C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M})$

$$\{F, G\}_{\Pi_D} = \{F, G\}_{\Pi} - \sum_{i,j=1}^r \{F, \varphi_i\}_{\Pi} (\varphi^{-1})_{ij} \{\varphi_j, G\}_{\Pi},$$
(3.4.8)

which is just the well known *Dirac bracket* [94] related to the bracket {., .} Π . Notice also that for the Dirac-Poisson tensor (3.4.7) constraints φ_i are its Casimir functions, as

$$\Pi_{D}d\varphi_{m} = \left(\Pi - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^{r} X_{i} \wedge Z_{i}\right)d\varphi_{m}$$

$$= X_{m} - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^{r} Z_{i}(\varphi_{m})X_{i} + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^{r} X_{i}(\varphi_{m})Z_{i}$$

$$= X_{m} - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^{r} \delta_{im}X_{i} + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^{r} \varphi_{mi}\sum_{j=1}^{r} (\varphi^{-1})_{ji}X_{j} \qquad (3.4.9)$$

$$= X_{m} - \frac{1}{2}X_{m} - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i,j=1}^{r} \varphi_{mi}(\varphi^{-1})_{ij}X_{j}$$

$$= X_{m} - \frac{1}{2}X_{m} - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{j=1}^{r} \delta_{mj}X_{j} = 0.$$

In the tangent case all the vector fields X_i are tangent to the foliation S and the deformation (3.4.6) attains the form

$$\Pi_D = \Pi - \sum_{i=1}^r X_i \wedge Z_i$$
 (3.4.10)

where transversal distribution Z has to be chosen in a form which makes ΠZ -invariant (3.4.3). Thus,

$$L_{Z_m} \Pi = L_{Z_m} (\Pi_D + \sum_{i=1}^r X_i \wedge Z_i)$$

= $L_{Z_m} \Pi_D + \sum_{i=1}^r [Z_m, X_i] \wedge Z_i + \sum_{i=1}^r X_i \wedge [Z_m, Z_i]$

and the condition of being Z-invariant is as follows

$$L_{Z_m}\Pi_D + \sum_{i=1}^r X_i \wedge [Z_m, Z_i] = 0.$$

Its strong solution, when \mathcal{Z} is an integrable distribution,

 $L_{Z_m} \Pi_D = 0, \quad [Z_m, Z_i] = 0, \quad m, i = 1, \dots, r,$ (3.4.11)

will be discussed in detail in the next chapter in the frame of the bi-Hamiltonian separability theory. Observe, that (3.4.11) is equivalent to the condition

$$L_{Z_m}\Pi = \sum_{i=1}^r [Z_m, X_i] \wedge Z_i,$$

where $[Z_m, X_i] := W_{mi}$ (3.4.3). Also here the constraints φ_i are Casimir functions of the Π_D Poisson tensor (3.4.10) as

$$\Pi_D d\varphi_m = \left(\Pi - \sum_{i=1}^r X_i \wedge Z_i\right) d\varphi_m$$

= $X_m - \sum_{i=1}^r Z_i(\varphi_m) X_i + \sum_{i=1}^r X_i(\varphi_m) Z_i$ (3.4.12)
= $X_m - \sum_{i=1}^r \delta_{im} X_i = 0.$

3.4.2 Reduction of Hamiltonian Dynamics

Let us begin this subsection by stating a well-known theorem about the relation between the Dirac deformation Π_D of Π and the dynamic imposed by the con-

straints. Suppose, thus, that our manifold M is a cotangent bundle of a Riemannian manifold (Q, g) with a covariant metric tensor g. Denote the corresponding contravariant metric tensor by G. Let us consider a particle moving in our Riemannian manifold Q according to Lagrangian equations of motion

$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial x^{i}} - \frac{d}{dt} \frac{\partial L}{\partial x^{i}_{t}} = 0, \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$
(3.4.13)

with a Lagrangian function $L(x, x_t) = \frac{1}{2}g_{ij}x_t^i x_t^j - V(x)$. As we know, this leads to Hamiltonian equations of motion on $M = T^*Q$

$$(x^{i})_{t} = \{x^{i}, H\}_{\Pi}, \ (p_{i})_{t} = \{p_{i}, H\}_{\Pi}$$
 (3.4.14)

with the Hamiltonian $H = \frac{1}{2}p^T Gp + V(x)$ and with the canonical Poisson tensor Π . Now, suppose that this particle is subordinated to some holonomic constraints on Q

$$\varphi_k(x) = 0, \quad k = 1, \dots, s$$
 (3.4.15)

defining a submanifold Q_0 of Q. One often makes a physical assumption here that the surface Q_0 acts on our system with a reaction force $R(x, x_t)$ that is orthogonal to Q_0 and such that the trajectories of the constrained system

$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial x^{i}} - \frac{d}{dt} \frac{\partial L}{\partial x_{t}^{i}} = R_{i}(x, x_{t})$$
(3.4.16)

that start on Q_0 remain on Q_0 . The velocity $x_t = v = v^i \frac{\partial}{\partial x^i}$ of this particle must then remain tangent to this submanifold so that

$$0 = \left\langle d\varphi_k, v \right\rangle = \frac{\partial \varphi_k}{\partial x^i} v^i$$

and since $v^i = G^{ij} p_j$ the motion of the particle is constrained not only by the *s* relations (3.4.15) but also by the *s* relations

$$\varphi_{s+k}(x,p) \equiv G^{ij}(q) \frac{\partial \varphi_k(x)}{\partial x^i} p_j = \left(d\varphi_k\right)^T Gp = 0, \qquad k = 1, \dots, s,$$
(3.4.17)

that are the lift of (3.4.15) to *M*. We call the constraints (3.4.17) a *g*-consequence of the constraints (3.4.15), as they are natural differential consequences of (3.4.15) at a given metric tensor *g*. The constraints (3.4.15)–(3.4.17) define a submanifold *S*

of M of dimension n - 2s and so modify the (3.4.14) to

$$(x^{i})_{t} = \{x^{i}, H\}_{\Pi}, \ (p_{i})_{t} = \{p_{i}, H\}_{\Pi} + R_{i}(x, p).$$
 (3.4.18)

The equations (3.4.18) are Hamiltonian ones and can be written in the form

$$(x^{i})_{t} = \{x_{i}, H\}_{\Pi_{D}}, \quad (p_{i})_{t} = \{p_{i}, H\}_{\Pi_{D}}$$
 (3.4.19)

where $\Pi_D = \Pi - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^r X_i \wedge Z_i$ is the Dirac deformation (3.4.7) of Π given by the constraints φ_i , i = 1, ..., 2s = r. Thus, the response of the Lagrangian system (3.4.13) subordinated to the reaction forces *R* is accounted for by the related Dirac deformation of the Poisson tensor Π . Below we will only sketch the proof in the case of a pair of constraints.

The reaction force *R* can be calculated by differentiating the assumed identity $\varphi(x(t)) \equiv 0$ twice with respect to *t* and eliminating the second derivatives $(x^i)_{tt}$ applying equations (3.4.16) and by using the demand that the force is orthogonal to Q_0 . After some calculations we obtain the result

$$R(q, p) = \frac{1}{(d\varphi)^T G (d\varphi)} \left((d\varphi)^T G dV - (p^T G) H_{\varphi}(Gp) + A \right) d\varphi, \quad (3.4.20)$$

where $(H_{\varphi})_{ij} = \frac{\partial^2 \varphi}{\partial x_i \partial x_j}$ is the Hessian of φ and A = A(x, p) is given by

$$A = \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial x_s} \Gamma^s_{ij} G^{ir} G^{jm} p_r p_m$$

Notice that it vanishes in flat coordinates when all Christoffel's symbols Γ_{jk}^i are equal to zero. On the other hand, calculating the explicit form of (3.4.19) on the submanifold Q_0 given by the constraints φ_1, φ_2 , leads to the equations (3.4.18) with *R* given by (3.4.20).

Consider now a Hamiltonian vector field $X = \Pi dH$ on M. We constantly assume that we have a smooth, regular foliation S on M and a regular distribution Zon M such that (3.4.1) is satisfied. Thus, the corresponding Π_D defined by (3.4.4) is Poisson and has its image tangent to the foliation S, so that it can be properly restricted on every leaf S_v of S. Then, we call the vector field $X_D = \Pi_D dH$ the Hamiltonian projection of the Hamiltonian vector field $X = \Pi dH$.

The vector field X_D lives on every leaf of the foliation, i.e. its restriction on the leaf S_v is tangent to S_v . Moreover, on the leaf S_v it coincides with the Hamiltonian vector field $\pi_{S_v} dh$:

$$\Pi_D dH_{|S_v} = \pi_{S_v} dh,$$

where $h = H_{|S_{\nu}|}$ is the restriction of the Hamiltonian *H* to the leaf S_{ν} . To see this it is enough to choose a parametrization $\{\varphi_i\}$ of *S* and to pass on *M* to any system of coordinates of the form (x, φ) . In these coordinates the bi-vector Π_D has a matrix form with a non-zero upper-left block coinciding with the matrix form of $\pi_{S_{\nu}}$ and with the remaining terms equal to zero.

There is a connection between $X = \Pi dH$ and its Hamiltonian projection $X_D = \Pi_D dH$. If $X = \Pi dH$, $X_D = \Pi_D dH$ and $X_i = \Pi d\varphi_i$ then

$$X_D = X_{\parallel} - \sum_{i=1}^r Z_i(H) X_{i\parallel}.$$
 (3.4.21)

Indeed, a direct calculation shows

$$\begin{split} X_D &= \Pi_D dH = X - \sum_{i=1}^r \left(Z_i(H) X_i - X_i(H) Z_i \right) + \sum_{i,j=1}^r \varphi_{ij} Z_j(H) Z_i \\ &= X_{\parallel} - \sum_{i=1}^r Z_i(H) \left(X_i - \sum_{j=1}^r \varphi_{ji} Z_j \right), \end{split}$$

where the last equality is due to

$$X_i(H) = \langle dH, \Pi d\varphi_i \rangle = - \langle d\varphi_i, \Pi dH \rangle = -X(\varphi_i).$$

Since $\varphi_{ii} = X_i(\varphi_i)$ it yields (3.4.21).

Notice that the difference between X_D and X_{\parallel} is the term $\sum_{i=1}^{r} Z_i(H)X_{i\parallel}$ that is tangent to the foliation *S*, as it should be. Since for the Dirac case $X_{i\parallel} = 0$, so $X_D = X_{\parallel}$ and the Hamiltonian projection is just the natural projection (in the sense of direct sum) along the distribution \mathcal{Z} .

The term X_{\parallel} in X_D has a natural physical interpretation: it describes the evolution of the system $X = \prod dH$ imposed with the constraints given by φ_i . In a non-Dirac reduction case, the physical meaning of the second term in X_D is not clear, although it should represent an additional force (friction) acting on the system and following from a chosen reduction.

Let us now consider the degeneracy of the Dirac deformation Π_D given by (3.4.7). Suppose that the real valued functions c_i , i = 1, ..., s on M span the kernel of the operator Π and are such that the functions $\{c_i, \varphi_j\}$ are functionally independent. Then,

1. the constraints φ_i and the 'old' Casimirs c_i are all Casimirs of Π_D ,

2. any Casimir of Π_D must be of the form $C(c_1, \ldots, c_s, \varphi_1, \ldots, \varphi_r)$.

The proof of 1 is just a calculation partially done in (3.4.9). For c_i functions we have

$$\Pi_D dc_r = \left(\Pi - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^r X_i \wedge Z_i \right) dc_r$$

= $\Pi dc_r - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^r Z_i(c_r) X_i + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^r X_i(c_r) Z_i$
= $-\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j=1}^r (\varphi^{-1})_{ji} X_j(c_r) X_i = 0.$

To prove **2** let us complete the functionally independent functions $\{c_i, \varphi_j\}$ to a coordinate system $\{c_i, \varphi_j, x_k\}$ on *M*. Suppose that a function $C = C(c, \varphi, x)$ is a Casimir of $\Pi_D : \Pi_D dC = 0$. Then, according to $(3.4.21), (\Pi dC)_{\parallel} = 0$, i.e. $\Pi dC \subset \mathbb{Z}$. In the Dirac case the distribution \mathbb{Z} is spanned by the vector fields X_i so that there exist functions α_i such that

$$\Pi dC = \sum_{i=1}^{r} \alpha_i X_i = \sum_{i=1}^{r} \alpha_i \Pi d\varphi_i = \Pi \left(\sum_{i=1}^{r} \alpha_i d\varphi_i \right).$$

Thus, $\Pi \left(dC - \sum_{i=1}^{r} \alpha_i d\varphi_i \right) = 0$ or $dC = \sum_{i=1}^{r} \alpha_i d\varphi_i + \sum_{i=1}^{s} \beta_i dc_i$ which proves **2**.

Concluding, we state that the Dirac deformation (3.4.7) preserves all Casimirs of Π tensor and introduces new Casimirs φ_i and that no other Casimirs arise in this process. The situation in the case of general deformation (3.4.4) (or (3.4.6)) is more complicated, since the Casimirs of Π does not have to survive and moreover new Casimirs, different from φ_i ones, can arise. We can only state that in the general case the function *C* is a Casimir of Π_D if and only if the vector field $Y = \Pi dC$ satisfies the relation

$$Y_{\parallel} = \sum_{i=1}^{r} Z_i(C) X_{i\parallel}$$

which for the Dirac case degenerates to the already discussed condition $Y_{\parallel} = 0$.

Here we illustrate the presented formalism in the Dirac case, both canonical and non-canonical. The tangent case will be considered in the next chapter. Consider the following system of the second order Newton equations

$$x_{tt} = -10x^{2} + 4y$$

$$y_{tt} = -16xy + 10x^{3} + 4z$$

$$z_{tt} = -20xz - 8y^{2} + 30x^{2}y - 15x^{4}.$$

(3.4.22)

What is interesting this system is the so called first Newton representation of the seventh-order stationary flow of the Korteweg-de Vries hierarchy [225], with the corresponding Lagrangian

$$L = x_t z_t + \frac{1}{2}y_t^2 + 4yz - 10x^2 z - 8xy^2 + 10x^3 y - 3x^5.$$

The Legendre transformation (3.1.7), (3.1.2) with

$$\begin{pmatrix} p_x \\ p_y \\ p_z \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_t \\ y_t \\ z_t \end{pmatrix}$$

leads to a Hamiltonian representation:

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left(x, y, z, p_x, p_y, p_z\right)^T = X = \pi dH,$$

where π is the canonical Poisson tensor on a 6-dimensional phase space $T^*\mathbb{E}^{2,1}$ with the Hamiltonian

$$H = p_x p_z + \frac{1}{2} p_y^2 + 10x^2 z - 4yz + 8xy^2 - 10x^3 y + 3x^5.$$

Notice that

$$G = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

so (x, y, z) are flat but nonorthogonal coordinates on $\mathbb{E}^{2,1}$. Consider also a foliation S given by a pair of constraints

$$\varphi_1 = z + xy, \quad \varphi_2 = (d\varphi_1)^T \ Gp = p_x + xp_y + yp_z.$$

where φ_2 is the lift of φ_1 from the configuration space Q to T^*Q , with respect to the antidiagonal metric tensor G. The vector fields $X_i = \prod d\varphi_i$ have the form

$$X_1 = -y\frac{\partial}{\partial p_x} - x\frac{\partial}{\partial p_y} - \frac{\partial}{\partial p_z}, \ X_2 = \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + x\frac{\partial}{\partial y} + y\frac{\partial}{\partial z} - p_y\frac{\partial}{\partial p_x} - p_z\frac{\partial}{\partial p_y}$$

and they are transversal to S, so that we have the Dirac case.

Example 3.9 Here we consider a Dirac case with canonical reduction of the system (3.4.22). In this case the distribution $\mathcal{Z} = \mathcal{D} = Sp \{X_i\}$ makes $\prod \mathcal{Z}$ -invariant. The

basis in \mathcal{Z} that is dual to $\{d\varphi_i\}$ is

$$Z_1 = \frac{1}{\varphi_{12}} X_2, Z_2 = -\frac{1}{\varphi_{12}} X_1,$$

where

$$\varphi_{12} = \{\varphi_1, \varphi_2\}_{\Pi} = 2y + x^2.$$

In the adapted coordinate system the Dirac deformation Π_D given by (3.4.7) attains $(x, y, p_y, p_z, \varphi_1, \varphi_2)$ the form

It has, as it should, two Casimirs φ_1, φ_2 and we can easily restrict Π_D to the operator π_{S_ν} on S_ν . If we parametrize S_ν with the coordinates (x, y, p_y, p_z) (the constraints φ_1, φ_2 are constant on every S_ν) then

$$\pi_{S_{\nu}} = \frac{1}{2y + x^2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & -x & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 2y & -x \\ x & -2y & 0 & p_z \\ 1 & x & -p_z & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

which, in accordance with the theory, is non-degenerate. Observe that this expression actually does not depend on the choice of the leaf S_{ν} in the foliation S. On every leaf S_{ν} the Hamiltonian projection $X_D = \prod_D dH$ attains the form

$$\pi_{S_{v}}dh_{S_{v}} = \frac{1}{2y+x^{2}} \begin{pmatrix} (2y+x^{2})p_{z} \\ (2y+x^{2})p_{y} \\ -2xp_{y}p_{z} - 20x^{3}y - 36xy^{2} + 15x^{5} \\ -2p_{y}p_{z} - 36x^{2}y + 12y^{2} - 5x^{4} \end{pmatrix}$$

where

$$h_{S_{v}} = \frac{1}{2}p_{y}^{2} - xp_{y}p_{z} - yp_{y}^{2} - 20x^{3}y + 12xy^{2} + 3x^{5}.$$
 (3.4.23)

Example 3.10 Now we consider a Dirac case with non-canonical reduction of the system (3.4.22). Let us choose a non-canonical distribution \mathcal{Z} , for which Π is also

 \mathcal{Z} -invariant. Since the operator Π has a very simple form, so any pair of constant fields will span such a distribution, as then the condition (3.4.3) is trivially satisfied. Thus, let us take

$$\mathcal{Z} = Sp\left\{\frac{\partial}{\partial z} + \frac{\partial}{\partial p_z}, \frac{\partial}{\partial z} + \frac{\partial}{\partial p_x}\right\}$$

(observe that this distribution is integrable). We have now to change the basis in Z to a new basis $\{Z_1, Z_2\}$ such that the condition $Z_i(\varphi_j) = \delta_{ij}$ is satisfied. A simple calculation yields

$$Z_1 = \frac{\partial}{\partial z} + \frac{1}{1 - y} \left(-y \frac{\partial}{\partial p_x} + \frac{\partial}{\partial p_z} \right), \ Z_2 = \frac{1}{1 - y} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial p_x} - \frac{\partial}{\partial p_z} \right).$$

Now, the general deformation (3.4.6) defined by the above distribution attains the following form in the adopted coordinates $(x, y, p_y, p_z, \varphi_1, \varphi_2)$

and thus the restricted operator $\pi_{S_{\nu}}$ on the leaf S_{ν} parametrized with the coordinates (x, y, p_y, p_z) is

$$\pi_{S_{v}} = \frac{1}{y-1} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & y-1 & -x \\ 0 & 1-y & 0 & p_{z}-x \\ 1 & x & x-p_{z} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

and is non-degenerate. Again, this expression does not depend on the choice of the leaf S_{ν} in the foliation S. The Hamiltonian projection $X_D = \prod_D dH$ attains the following form on every leaf S_{ν}

$$\pi_{S_{v}}dh_{S_{v}} = \frac{1}{y-1} \begin{pmatrix} xp_{y} + 2yp_{z} \\ (y+x^{2}-1)p_{y} + (xy+x)p_{z} \\ -(y+1)p_{y}^{2} - xp_{y}p_{z} + x^{2}p_{y} + 2xyp_{z} + 4x(6y+5x^{2}y-6y^{2}-5x^{2}) \\ -xp_{y}^{2} + xp_{z}^{2} - 2p_{y}p_{x} + xp_{y} - x^{2}p_{z} - 36x^{2}y + 12y^{2} - 5x^{4} \end{pmatrix}$$

where h_{S_v} is given by (3.4.23).

Example 3.11 Here we consider a second Dirac case with non-canonical Poisson reduction of the system (3.4.22). Consider yet another distribution that makes Π Z-invariant, namely

$$\mathcal{Z} = Sp\left\{\frac{\partial}{\partial z} + \frac{\partial}{\partial p_z}, \frac{\partial}{\partial x}\right\}$$

The appropriate basis of \mathcal{Z} is given by

$$Z_1 = \frac{\partial}{\partial z} - y \frac{\partial}{\partial p_x} + \frac{\partial}{\partial p_z}, \ Z_2 = \frac{\partial}{\partial p_x}.$$

so that we have $Z_i(\varphi_j) = \delta_{ij}$. The general deformation (3.4.6) defined by the above distribution yields in the adopted coordinates $(x, y, p_y, p_z, \varphi_1, \varphi_2)$

so that the restricted operator $\pi_{S_{\nu}}$ on the leaf S_{ν} (again parametrized with the coordinates (x, y, p_y, p_z)) is

$$\pi_{S_{\nu}} = \frac{1}{y-1} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 & x \\ 0 & 0 & -x & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

and is degenerate this time, with Casimir function c = x. The Hamiltonian projection $X_D = \prod_D dH$ attains on every leaf S_v the form

$$\pi_{S_{v}}dh_{S_{v}} = \frac{1}{y-1} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ p_{y} - xp_{z} \\ p_{y}^{2} - x^{2}p_{y} - 2xyp_{z} + 20x^{3} - 24xy \\ -xp_{y} + x^{2}p_{z} \end{pmatrix}$$

where h_{S_v} is given by (3.4.23).

Thus, given a foliation *S*, by choosing different distributions \mathcal{Z} we can obtain several different Hamiltonian projections of our original Hamiltonian system, not only just the well known Dirac canonical reduction. The tangent case of the reduction procedure will be considered in details in Chap. 5.

Chapter 4 Classical Integrable and Separable Hamiltonian Systems



In this chapter we introduce the concept of classical integrability of Hamiltonian systems and then develop the separability theory of such systems based on the notion of separation relations introduced by Sklyanin [235]. Separation relations are the most fundamental objects of modern separability theory as well as allow for classification of all separable systems. We concentrate our attention on the subclass of separable systems for which all constants of motion are quadratic in momenta. This class of systems is most interesting from the physical point of view on both classical and quantum level.

4.1 Integrable Hamiltonian Systems

Once we have a Hamiltonian system, modeling some physical phenomena, we would like to solve it in order to get admissible trajectories of time evolution. We could do it systematically if the system under consideration is linear. Unfortunately, it happens only in simplest models or in linear approximation of the considered realistic models. In a generic situation Hamiltonian systems are nonlinear. As a consequence, even simple nonlinear dynamical systems can exhibit a completely unpredictable behavior, which might seem to be random, despite the fact that they are fundamentally deterministic. This seemingly unpredictable behavior has been called chaos. For such systems the distance between two, arbitrary close to each other, different initial conditions may diverge exponentially fast. As a consequence, trajectories of chaotic systems are not expressible by elementary functions or even special functions. Thus in order to find particular trajectories numerical methods have to be implemented. On the other hand, among all nonlinear Hamiltonian systems there exists a subclass of systems which despite their nonlinearity are integrable by quadratures. We call them nonlinear integrable systems and they are the subject of our further consideration, on both classical and quantum level.

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019 M. Błaszak, *Quantum versus Classical Mechanics and Integrability Problems*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-18379-0_4

4.1.1 Liouville Integrability

Let *M* be a symplectic manifold of dimension dim M = 2n with the defined Hamiltonian system (3.2.1). Assume that the considered system posseses *n* global (defined on the whole *M*, possible modulo some set of measure zero) constants of motion H_1, \ldots, H_n (first integrals) all in involution (Poisson commute) $\{H_i, H_j\}_{\pi} = 0$, and functionally independent in the sense that dH_i are linearly independent. Such a system is called *Liouville integrable*.

Let (Q, g, ∇) be a Riemannian space with Levi-Civita connection generated by a covariant metric tensor g. As was mentioned in Sect. 2.6, a symmetric covariant tensor $K \in T^{(m,0)}(Q)$ is called a Killing tensor of the metric g when it fulfills the condition (2.6.20)

$$\nabla_{(i_1} K_{i_2 \dots i_{m+1})} = 0. \tag{4.1.1}$$

If the function

$$T = \frac{1}{2} G^{ij} p_i p_j,$$

where *G* is a contravariant metric tensor, represents Hamiltonian (kinetic energy) of a free particle in the space (Q, g) and (x, p) is a canonical parametrization of the phase space $M = T^*Q$, then for arbitrary contravariant Killing tensor $K \in T^{(0,m)}(Q)$

$$K^{i_1\ldots i_m}=G^{i_1j_1}\ldots G^{i_mj_m}K_{j_1\ldots j_m},$$

the function

$$F(x, p) = K^{i_1 \dots i_m} p_{i_1} \dots p_{i_n}$$

is a constant of motion: $\{F, T\}_{\pi} = 0$ [97, 239].

To see that important relation, first let us notice that the Schouten-Nijenhuis bracket, introduced in Sect. 2.3 for multi-vectors, can be defined for symmetric contravariant tensor fields in a completely analogical way. It is sufficient to replace the wedge-product by a respective symmetric product. Let $S^k(Q)$ be the space of contravariant symmetric tensor fields of order k on Q. Let (x^i) be a local coordinate system on Q, $K \in S^k(Q)$ and $R \in S^r(Q)$, then their Schouten-Nijenhuis bracket $[K, R]_S$ takes the form

$$[K, R]_{S}^{l_{1}...l_{k+r-1}} = \frac{1}{k!r!} \left[kK^{n(l_{1}...}\partial_{n}R^{l_{k}...l_{k+r-1})} - rR^{n(l_{1}...}\partial_{n}K^{l_{r}...l_{k+r-1})} \right]$$
(4.1.2)

where (...) is the symmetrization operator over the indices (compare with (2.3.13)). If we now define the following functions

$$F_K = \frac{1}{k!} K^{i_1 \dots i_k} p_{i_1} \dots p_{i_k}, \quad F_R = \frac{1}{r!} R^{i_1 \dots i_r} p_{i_1} \dots p_{i_k}$$

on T^*Q , where p_i are momenta conjugate to position x^i then, by a simple inspection, we find that

$$\{F_K, F_R\} = -[K, R]_S^{i_1 \dots i_{k+r-1}} p_{i_1} \dots p_{i_{k+r-1}}, \qquad (4.1.3)$$

where $\{., .\}$ is a canonical Poisson bracket (3.2.19) and hence

$$\{F_K, F_R\} = 0 \iff [K, R]_S = 0.$$

The formula (4.1.2) has the remarkable property that the right-hand side is invariant under the substitution $\partial_i \rightarrow \nabla_i$ where ∇ denotes the covariant derivative with respect to any torsionless linear connection. It is in fact this property that the right-hand side of this formula indeed gives the components of a rank k + r - 1tensor field. Thus for each choice of a symmetric linear connection, one can write down the above formula in an invariant way without reference to any coordinate system [211]. So, lowering indices in covariant form of (4.1.2), substituting R = Gand using the fact that $\nabla_i g_{jk} = 0$, we immediately get that [K, G] = 0 if and only if the condition (4.1.1) is fulfilled, i.e. when K is a Killing tensor of metric g.

Example 4.1 Consider the Hénon-Heiles system from the Example 3.6. For Liouville integrability two constants of motion are desired

$$H_1 = T_1 + V_1 = \frac{1}{2}p_x^2 + \frac{1}{2}p_y^2 + \frac{1}{2}xy^2 + x^3,$$

$$H_2 = T_2 + V_2 = \frac{1}{2}yp_xp_y - \frac{1}{2}xp_y^2 + \frac{1}{4}x^2y^2 + \frac{1}{16}y^4.$$

It is easy to check that they are in involution with respect to the canonical Poisson bi-vector. Obviously, geodesic Hamiltonians

$$T_1 = \frac{1}{2}p_x^2 + \frac{1}{2}p_y^2, \quad T_2 = \frac{1}{2}yp_xp_y - \frac{1}{2}xp_y^2$$

Poisson commute as well $\{T_1, T_2\} = 0$, so in Cartesian coordinates (x, y) both metric tensor (g_{ij}) and its inverse (G^{ij}) are represented by a 2×2 unite matrix, while both the second order covariant (K_{ij}) and the second order contravariant $(K^{ij}) = (K_{sr}G^{si}G^{rj})$ Killing tensors are represented by

$$\left(\begin{array}{c} 0 \quad \frac{1}{4}y\\ \frac{1}{4}y \quad -\frac{1}{2}x \end{array}\right).$$

Our next example illustrates how rare such systems are, i.e. what is the ratio between chaotic and integrable nonlinear Hamiltonian systems.

Example 4.2 Consider the two parameter family of Hénon-Heiles systems, generated by

$$H = \frac{1}{2}p_x^2 + \frac{1}{2}p_y^2 + axy^2 - \frac{1}{3}bx^3$$

The simplicity of its potential together with the richness of dynamical behavior for different values of a and b turned it into a standard testing ground for many methods of studying two-dimensional Hamiltonian systems. Usually the system is nonintegrable. There are only three integrable cases, where there exists the second global constant of motion [42]

$$b = -6a: \quad F = \frac{1}{2}yp_xp_y - \frac{1}{2}xp_y^2 + \frac{1}{2}ax^2y^2 + \frac{1}{8}ay^4,$$

$$b = -a: \quad F = p_xp_y + ax^2y + \frac{1}{3}ay^3,$$

$$b = -16a: \quad F = 3p_y^4 + 12axy^2p_y^2 - 4ay^3p_xp_y - 4a^2x^2y^2 - \frac{2}{3}a^2y^6.$$

The first case with $a = \frac{1}{2}$ was considered in the previous example.

Consider a Liouville integrable systems on a 2*n*-dimensional symplectic manifold (M, π, H) , with *n* constants of motion (F_1, \ldots, F_n) which Poisson commute. Let us fix $a \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and consider the map

$$f: M \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^n, \quad f = (F_1, \ldots, F_n).$$

From the assumptions on dF_i it is a regular map, so $M_a = f^{-1}(a)$ is a smooth, *n*-dimensional submanifold of *M* for any $a \in \mathbb{R}^n$. The Arnold-Liouville theorem says that if M_a is compact and connected, then it is diffeomorphic to *n*-dimensional torus \mathbf{T}^n . Moreover, in the neighborhood of the torus, in *M* there exist particular coordinates ($\varphi^1, \ldots, \varphi^n, I_1, \ldots, I_n$) ($0 \le \varphi^i < 2\pi$), called *action-angle coordinates*, in which equations of motion are linear with respect to the evolution parameter *t*

$$(I_k)_t = 0, \quad (\varphi^k)_t = \frac{\partial H(I_1, \dots, I_n)}{\partial I_k} = \omega_k = const.$$

The motion on the torus is quasi-periodic. For the periodicity, an additional condition is necessary

$$\sum_{i=1}^n m_i \omega_i = 0, \qquad m_i \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

Assume that the considered Liouville integrable system is given in a canonical coordinate chart (x, p) and that the system of equations $F_i(x, p) = a_i$ can be

solved almost globally (globally in particular) for the momenta p_i

$$p_i = p_i(x, a) \tag{4.1.4}$$

and the relations $F_i(x, p(x, a)) = a_i$ hold identically. Now, let us differentiate these identities with respect to x_i

$$\frac{\partial F_i}{\partial x^j} + \sum_{r=1}^n \frac{\partial F_i}{\partial p_r} \frac{\partial p_r}{\partial x^j} = 0.$$

then multiply the resulting equations by $\partial F_s / \partial p_i$ and sum over j

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{\partial F_s}{\partial p_j} \frac{\partial F_i}{\partial x^j} + \sum_{r,j=1}^{n} \frac{\partial F_i}{\partial p_r} \frac{\partial F_s}{\partial p_j} \frac{\partial p_r}{\partial x^j} = 0,$$

swap the indices and subtract (si) - (is) obtaining finally

$$\{F_i, F_s\} + \sum_{r,j=1}^n \left(\frac{\partial F_s}{\partial p_j} \frac{\partial F_i}{\partial p_r} \frac{\partial p_r}{\partial x^j} - \frac{\partial F_i}{\partial p_j} \frac{\partial F_s}{\partial p_r} \frac{\partial p_r}{\partial x^j} \right) = 0.$$

The first term vanishes by the assumption and rearranging the indices in the second term we get

$$\sum_{r,j=1}^{n} \frac{\partial F_s}{\partial p_j} \frac{\partial F_i}{\partial p_r} \left(\frac{\partial p_r}{\partial x^j} - \frac{\partial p_j}{\partial x^r} \right) = 0.$$

From the invertibility of matrices $\partial F_s / \partial p_i$ we finally get

$$\frac{\partial p_r}{\partial x^j} - \frac{\partial p_j}{\partial x^r} = 0. \tag{4.1.5}$$

This condition implies, due to the Stokes theorem, that

$$\oint p_j \, dx^j = 0$$

for any closed contractible curve on the torus \mathbf{T}^n . There are *n* closed curves Γ_k which cannot be contracted down to a point, i.e. the corresponding integrals do not vanish and in consequence we can define the action coordinates

$$I_k := \frac{1}{2\pi} \oint_{\Gamma_k} p_j \, dx^j, \tag{4.1.6}$$

where the closed curve Γ_k is the k-th basic cycle of the torus \mathbf{T}^n

$$\Gamma_k = \{(\phi_1, \ldots, \phi_n) \in \mathbf{T}^n; 0 \le \phi_k < 2\pi, \ \phi_i = \text{const.} \ i \ne k\},\$$

and ϕ are some coordinates on \mathbf{T}^n . The actions I_k are also first integrals as the r.h.s. of (4.1.6) due to (4.1.4) only depend on $a_i = F_i$ which are first integrals as well.

Now we can construct the angle coordinates φ_i canonically conjugated to the actions using a generating function (see Sect. 4.1.4)

$$W(x, I) = \int_{x_0}^x p_j dx^j$$

where x_0 is a fixed point on the torus. This definition does not depend on a path joining x_0 and x as a consequence of (4.1.5) and Stoke's theorem. Choosing different x_0 just adds a constant to W thus leaving the angles

$$\varphi^k := \frac{\partial W}{\partial I_k}$$

invariant. The angles are periodic coordinates with a period 2π . Indeed if we add a *k*-th cycle C_k to the path *C* between x_0 and *x* then

$$W(x, I) = \int_{C \cup C_k} p_j dx^j = \int_C p_j dx^j + \int_{C_k} p_j dx^j = W(x, I) + 2\pi I_k$$

so

$$\varphi^k = \frac{\partial W}{\partial I_k} = \varphi^k + 2\pi$$

The transformations are canonical and invertible from construction

$$x = x(\varphi, I), \ p = p(\varphi, I) \text{ and } \varphi = \varphi(x, p), \ I = I(x, p).$$

The dynamics is given by

$$(I_k)_t = \{I_k, H\} = 0 \Longrightarrow H = H(I_1, \dots, I_n)$$
$$(\varphi^k)_t = \{\varphi^k, H\} = \frac{\partial H(I_1, \dots, I_n)}{\partial I_k} = \omega_k = const$$

and thus we have reconstructed the equations (4.1.1).

So, "in principle" the system is integrable in quadratures. In practice, we can do it explicitly only in particular cases as the explicit construction of generating function (4.1.1) is far from being trivial. For example, we can do it in the case when

a Hamiltonian H separates into a sum of n one-dimensional Hamiltonians h_i

$$H(x, p) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} h_i(x^i, p_i).$$

In order to integrate by quadratures the arbitrary Liouville integrable system, we need an extra property, i.e the existence of the so called separation coordinates. Then, such Liouville integrable systems are called *separable systems*. The theory of separable systems is developed in the next chapter.

Example 4.3 Let us consider n-dimensional harmonic oscillator described by the following n Newton equations of motion in Cartesian coordinates

$$mx_{tt}^i + \beta_i x^i = 0, \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$

where *m* is a particle mass and $\beta_i \in \mathbb{R}_+$ are elastic constants, with well known solutions

$$x^{i}(t) = A_{i}\sin(\omega_{i}t + \varphi_{i}^{0}), \quad \omega_{i} = \sqrt{\frac{\beta_{i}}{m}},$$

parametrized by 2n constants $(A_1, \ldots, A_n, \varphi_0^1, \ldots, \varphi_0^n)$, i.e. amplitudes A_i and phases φ_0^i . The considered system is equivalent to Liouville integrable systems generated by *n* functions in involution

$$h_i = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{1}{m} p_i^2 + \beta_i (x^i)^2 \right), \quad i = 1, \dots, n$$

with the Hamiltonian function

$$H(x, p) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} h_i = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{1}{m} p_i^2 + \beta_i (x^i)^2 \right).$$

Equations of motion are in the form

$$(x^{i})_{t} = \{x^{i}, H\} = \frac{\partial H}{\partial p_{i}} = \frac{1}{m}p_{i},$$

$$(p_{i})_{t} = \{p_{i}, H\} = -\frac{\partial H}{\partial x^{i}} = -\beta_{i}x^{i}, \qquad i = 1, \dots, n.$$

and split into *n* two-dimensional problems, each from \mathbb{R}^2 . Let us consider the *k*-th problem. Different choices of the energy $h_k = a_k$ give a foliation of \mathbb{R}^2 by ellipses l_{a_k}

$$\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{1}{m}p_k^2 + \beta_k(x^k)^2\right) = a_k.$$

For a fixed value of a_k we can take $\Gamma_k = l_{a_k}$. Then

$$I_k = \frac{1}{2\pi} \oint_{\Gamma_k} p_k \, dx^k = \frac{1}{2\pi} \iint_{S_k} dx^k \, dp_k = \frac{S_k}{2\pi} = \sqrt{\frac{m}{\beta_k}} a_k = \frac{a_k}{\omega_k}$$

where we used the Stoke's theorem. S_k is the area of ellipse l_{a_k} and there is no summation over k under the integral. The Hamiltonian expressed in new variables is

$$H = \sum_{i=1}^{n} h_i = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \omega_i I_i$$

and

$$(\varphi^i)_t = \frac{\partial H}{\partial I_i} = \omega_i, \quad (I_i)_t = -\frac{\partial H}{\partial \varphi^i} = 0$$

$$\downarrow$$

$$\varphi^{i}(t) = \omega_{i}t + \varphi^{i}_{0}, \quad I_{i} = \frac{a_{i}}{\omega_{i}} = const.$$

To complete the picture we need to relate (x, p) and (φ, I) coordinates. We already know that

$$I_k = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{p_k^2}{m\omega_k} + m\omega_k (x^k)^2 \right).$$

Thus the generating function is (with a chosen sign)

$$W(x^{k}, I_{k}) = \int p_{k} dx^{k} = \int \sqrt{2m I_{k} \omega_{k} - m^{2} \omega_{k}^{2} (x^{k})^{2}} dx^{k}$$

and

$$\varphi^{k} = \frac{\partial W}{\partial I_{k}} = \int \frac{m\omega_{k}}{\sqrt{2mI_{k}\omega_{k} - m^{2}\omega_{k}^{2}(x^{k})^{2}}} dx^{k} = \arcsin\left(\sqrt{\frac{m\omega_{k}}{2I_{k}}}x^{k}\right) - \varphi_{0}^{k}.$$

This gives

$$x^{k} = \sqrt{\frac{2I_{k}}{m\omega_{k}}}\sin(\varphi^{k} + \varphi_{0}^{k})$$

and finally we recover the solution

$$\begin{aligned} x^{i}(t) &= A_{i}\sin(\omega_{i}t + \varphi_{0}^{i}) = \frac{1}{\omega_{i}}\sqrt{\frac{2a_{i}}{m}}\sin(\omega_{i}t + \varphi_{0}^{i}),\\ p_{i}(t) &= m\frac{dx^{i}(t)}{dt} = m\omega_{i}A_{i}\cos(\omega_{i}t + \varphi_{0}^{i}) = \sqrt{2ma_{i}}\cos(\omega_{i}t + \varphi_{0}^{i}), \end{aligned}$$

with a new parametrization $(a_1, \ldots, a_n, \varphi_0^1, \ldots, \varphi_0^n)$, i.e. fixed values of constants of motion $F_i \equiv \omega_i I_i = a_i = const$ and phases φ_0^i . The respective action-angle coordinates (φ, I) are related to canonical coordinates (x, p) in the following way

$$x^{i} = \sqrt{\frac{2I_{i}}{\omega_{i}}} \sin \varphi^{i}, \quad p_{i} = \sqrt{2I_{i}\omega_{i}} \sin \varphi^{i}, \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$

The *n*-dimensional submanifold, such that $F_i = a_i = const$. for i = 1, ..., n, is the *n*-dimensional tori with the coordinate system $(\varphi^1, ..., \varphi^n)$. Fixing a point on the tori $(\varphi^1_0, ..., \varphi^n_0)$ we chose a particular trajectory. Trajectories are closed when the condition (4.1.1) is fulfilled.

4.1.2 Superintegrability

In the previous subsection we introduced the notion of Liouville integrability with n constants of motion in involution on the 2n-dimensional phase space. So, the natural question appears whether there are systems with a bigger number of global, single-valued integrals of motion. The answer is positive. A real-valued function H_1 on a 2n-dimensional manifold (phase space) $M = T^*Q$ is called a *classical superintegrable* Hamiltonian if it belongs to a set of n Poisson-commuting functions H_1, \ldots, H_n (constants of motion, so that $\{H_i, H_j\} = 0$ for all $i, j = 1, \ldots, n$) and for which there exist 0 < k < n additional functions H_{n+1}, \ldots, H_{n+k} , globally defined on M, that Poisson-commute with the Hamiltonian H_1 and such that all the functions H_1, \ldots, H_{n+k} constitute a functionally independent set of functions. Obviously, in general, $\{H_i, H_j\} \neq 0$ for $1 < i \leq n$ and j > n. In particular, when k = n - 1, such systems are called *maximally superintegrable*.

The reader can meet in literature the weaker notion of maximal superintegrability which requires that there exists 2n - 1 functions, one of which (the Hamiltonian) commutes with all of the others. In this sense, maximal superintegrability coincides with a particular case of the so called non-commutative integrability [52, 120, 201], which requires 2n - r integrals, r of which commute with all of the integrals. Such a class of systems is beyond the scope of the book.

In our further considerations we will limit ourselves to the so called polynomially superintegrable systems, with functionally independent and globally defined constants of motion that are polynomial functions of the momenta. Let us analyze such a case on examples familiar to everybody of two dimensional harmonic oscillator and Kepler problem, respectively.

Example 4.4 The harmonic oscillator in \mathbb{R}^2 , with equal component frequencies, can be described as the Hamiltonian system in the four dimensional phase space with Cartesian coordinates (x^1, x^2) and conjugate momenta (p_1, p_2) , where

$$H_1 = \frac{1}{2}(p_1^2 + p_2^2) + \frac{1}{2}\left(\omega^2(x^1)^2 + \omega^2(x^2)^2\right).$$

We show how superintegrability alone determines the orbits. Here n = 2 and 2n - 1 = 3 so three constants of the motion are required for superintegrability. Consider the following functions

$$H_2 = x^1 p_2 - x^2 p_1, \quad H_3 = \frac{1}{2} (-p_1^2 + p_2^2) + \frac{1}{2} \left(-\omega^2 (x^1)^2 + \omega^2 (x^2)^2 \right), \quad H_4 = \omega^2 x^1 x^2 + p_1 p_2$$

which are in involution with Hamiltonian with respect to the canonical Poisson bracket: $\{H_1, H_i\} = 0, i = 2, 3, 4$, where H_2 represents the angular momentum (angular momentum is conserved in any Hamiltonian system with potential that depends only on the radial distance) and H_3 and H_4 represent extra quadratic in momenta constants of motion. The remaining nonzero Poisson brackets are

$$\{H_2, H_3\} = -2H_4, \quad \{H_2, H_4\} = 2H_3, \quad \{H_3, H_4\} = -2\omega^2 H_2.$$

We have found 4 constants of the motion and only 3 can be functionally independent. Indeed, one finds that

$$H_1^2 - H_3^2 = H_4^2 + \omega^2 H_2^2.$$

Let us fix the value of total energy $H_1 \equiv E_1$, $H_3 \equiv E_3 < E_1$ and choose $H_4 \equiv 0$. From the last choice we get $\omega^4 (x^1)^2 (x^2)^2 = p_1^2 p_2^2$ while from the first two choices we get $p_1^2 = a_1^2 - \omega^2 (x^1)^2$, $p_2^2 = a_2^2 - \omega^2 (x^2)^2$, where $a_1^2 = E_1 - E_3$, $a_2^2 = E_1 + E_3$. Eliminating *p* coordinates, we get the elliptical orbit in (x^1, x^2) -plane

$$\frac{\omega^2}{a_1^2}(x^1)^2 + \frac{\omega^2}{a_2^2}(x^2)^2 = 1.$$

Example 4.5 The Kepler problem is a specific case of the two body problem for which one of the bodies is stationary relative to the other and the bodies interact according to an inverse square law. The motion of two isolated bodies satisfies this condition to good approximation if one is significantly more massive than the other. Since all orbits lie in a plane (like in the previous example) we can write the Hamiltonian system again in the four dimensional phase space with Cartesian

coordinates (x_1, x_2) and conjugate momenta (p_1, p_2)

$$H_1 = \frac{1}{2}(p_1^2 + p_2^2) - \frac{a}{\sqrt{(x^1)^2 + (x^2)^2}}, \quad a > 0.$$

We show how superintegrability alone implies Kepler's laws and determines the orbits. Here n = 2 and 2n - 1 = 3 so again three constants of the motion are required for superintegrability. Consider the following functions

$$H_2 = x^1 p_2 - x^2 p_1, \quad H_3 = H_2 p_2 - \frac{ax^1}{\sqrt{(x^1)^2 + (x^2)^2}}, \quad H_4 = -H_2 p_1 - \frac{ax^2}{\sqrt{(x^1)^2 + (x^2)^2}}$$

which are in involution with the Hamiltonian with respect to the canonical Poisson bracket: $\{H_1, H_i\} = 0, i = 2, 3, 4$, where H_2 represents the angular momentum (as the Hamiltonian again depends only on the radial distance) and H_3 and H_4 represent two components of the so called Laplace-Runge-Lenz vector $\mathbf{e} = (H_3, H_4)$ in (x^1, x^2) -plane for the Kepler problem. For an elliptical orbit or a hyperbolic trajectory the Laplace-Runge-Lenz vector is directed along the axis formed by the origin $(x^1, x^2) = (0, 0)$ and the perihelion (point of closest approach) of the trajectory to the origin. The perihelion is time-invariant in the Kepler problem, so the direction in which \mathbf{e} points must be a constant of the motion. The remaining nonzero Poisson brackets are

$$\{H_2, H_3\} = -H_4, \quad \{H_2, H_4\} = H_3, \quad \{H_3, H_4\} = 2H_1H_2.$$

We have found 4 constants of the motion and again only 3 can be functionally independent. Indeed, the length squared of the Laplace vector is determined by the energy and angular momentum

$$H_3^2 + H_4^2 = 2H_1H_2 + a^2.$$

Let us fix the value of of total energy $H_1 \equiv E$, the angular momentum $H_2 \equiv L$ and choose $H_4 \equiv 0$. For such a choice the Laplace-Runge-Lenz vector is pointed in the direction of the positive x_1 -axis and $E_3^2 = 2EL^2 + a^2$. Then, we have

$$p_1 = -\frac{ax^2}{L\sqrt{(x^1)^2 + (x^2)^2}}, \quad p_2 = \frac{E_3}{L} + \frac{ax^1}{L\sqrt{(x^1)^2 + (x^2)^2}}.$$

The expression for H_2 allows us to write

$$L = \frac{E_3 x^1}{L} + \frac{a(x^1)^2}{L\sqrt{(x^1)^2 + (x^2)^2}} + \frac{a(x^2)^2}{L\sqrt{(x^1)^2 + (x^2)^2}} = \frac{E_3 x^1}{L} + \frac{a\sqrt{(x^1)^2 + (x^2)^2}}{L}$$

which after rearrangement and squaring becomes

$$\left(1 - \frac{E_3^2}{a^2}\right)(x^1)^2 + \frac{2LE_3}{a^2}x^1 + (x^2)^2 = \frac{L^4}{a^2}.$$
(4.1.7)

These are conic sections of the plane (x^1, x^2) , so our trajectories are ellipses, parabolas, and hyperbolas, depending on the constants of the motion E, L.

The first Kepler's law says that planetary orbits are planar ellipses with the sun positioned at a focus. Indeed we found that only closed trajectories, or orbits, are elliptical.

The second Kepler's law says that a planetary orbit sweeps out equal areas in equal time, so it is a statement of conservation of the angular momentum. Indeed, let us introduce polar coordinates such that $x^1 = r \cos \varphi$, $x^2 = r \sin \varphi$ then, along the trajectory,

$$H_2 = L = x^1(t)p_2(t) - x^2(t)p_1(t) = x^1 \frac{dx^2}{dt} - x^2 \frac{dx^1}{dt} = r^2 \frac{d\varphi}{dt}$$

The area traced out from time 0 to time t is

$$A(t) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\varphi(0)}^{\varphi(t)} r^2 d\varphi.$$

Differentiating with respect to time

$$\frac{d}{dt}A(t) = \frac{1}{2}r^2\frac{d\varphi}{dt} = \frac{1}{2}L,$$

so the rate is constant.

The third Kepler's law says that the square of the period of an orbit is proportional to the cube of the length of the semi-major axis of the ellipse. Again, it is only valid for closed trajectories: ellipses. We may write the period *T* of such an orbit in terms of the constants of the motion. Explicit evaluation for $\varphi(0) = 0$, $\varphi(T) = 2\pi$, yields $A(T) = \frac{1}{2}LT$ as the area of the ellipse. Kepler's third law follows from the equations (4.1.7) and the simple calculus expression for the area of an ellipse.

The reader can find other examples of superintegrable systems with two degrees of freedom and various methods of their construction for instance in [79, 163, 185, 196, 249], while superintegrable systems with three and more degrees of freedom can be found in [8, 9, 64–66, 110, 134, 164, 166, 168] and in literature quoted there.

Suppose that we have an integrable system, i.e. *n* functionally independent Hamiltonians on a 2*n*-dimensional phase space *M* that pairwise commute: $\{H_i, H_j\} = 0$ for all i, j = 1, ..., n. If there exists an additional function *P* commuting to a constant with one of the Hamiltonians, say with H_1 (so that

 $\{H_1, P\} = c$) and if the (n - 1) functions

$$H_{n+i} = \{H_{i+1}, P\}, i = 1, \dots, n-1$$

together with all H_i are functionally independent, then the system becomes maximally superintegrable since then by the Jacobi identity

$$\{H_{n+i}, H_1\} = -\{\{P, H_1\}, H_{i+1}\} - \{\{H_1, H_{i+1}\}, P\} = 0, i = 1, \dots, n-1.$$

If moreover the first *n* integrals of motion H_i are quadratic in momenta and if *P* is linear in momenta, like in our two examples, then the resulting (n-1) extra integrals of motion H_{n+i} are also quadratic in momenta.

Suppose that $(x, p) = (x^1, ..., x^n, p_1..., p_n)$ are Darboux (canonical) coordinates on a 2*n*-dimensional phase space $M = T^*Q$. Consider two functions on M:

$$H = \frac{1}{2}p_i A^{ij}(x)p_j + U(x) \text{ with } A = A^T \text{ and } P = y^i(x)p_i.$$

Then

$$\{H, P\} = \frac{1}{2}p_i \left(L_Y A\right)^{ij} p_j + Y(U), \tag{4.1.8}$$

where *Y* is the vector field on *Q* given by $Y = y^i(x)\frac{\partial}{\partial x^i}$ and where L_Y is the Lie derivative (on *Q*) along *Y*. Thus, one can say that *H* and *P* commute if the corresponding vector field *Y* is the Killing vector (2.6.17) for the metric defined by the (2, 0)-tensor *A* (i.e. if $L_Y A = 0$) and if moreover Y(U) = 0. Thus, the simplest way of the construction of additional constants of motion is via an appropriate Killing vector. We will come back to such a construction of superintegrable systems later on. More complex methods of construction of superintegrable systems are beyond the scope of that book and we send the reader to the literature mentioned above.

4.1.3 Stäckel Transform

Stäckel transform is a functional transform that transforms a given Liouville integrable system into a new Liouville integrable system on the same Poisson manifold. Actuall, this is essentially a transformation that sends an n-tuple of functions in involution on a 2n-dimensional symplectic manifold into another n-tuple of functions on the same manifold, and these n new functions are again in involution. It also generates a corresponding reciprocal transform between solutions of these Stäckel-related systems, confined to proper submanifolds of the phase space. The construction in the restricted form (called coupling constant methamorphosis) was 4 Classical Integrable and Separable Hamiltonian Systems

first described in [58, 150] and then generalized to the final form in [39, 231]. Applied to a Stäckel separable system, this transformation yields a new Stäckel separable system, which explains its name. We will develop the theory of Stäckel transform of separable systems in the next chapter.

Consider a Poisson manifold (M, π) and suppose we have *r* functions (Hamiltonians) $h_i : M \to \mathbb{R}$ on *M*, each depending on $k \leq r$ parameters $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_k$ so that

$$h_i = h_i(\xi, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_k), \quad i = 1, \dots, r,$$
 (4.1.9)

where $\xi \in M$. From *r* functions in (4.1.9) let us now choose *k* functions h_{s_i} , $i = 1, \ldots, k$, where $S = \{s_1, \ldots, s_k\} \subset \{1, \ldots, r\}$. Assume that

$$\det\left(\partial h_{s_i} / \partial \alpha_j\right) \neq 0 \tag{4.1.10}$$

and that the system of equations

$$h_{s_i}(\xi, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_k) = \tilde{\alpha}_i, \quad i = 1, \dots, k, \tag{4.1.11}$$

where $\tilde{\alpha}_i$ is another set of k free parameters, or values of Hamiltonians h_{s_i} , can be solved almost globally (globally in particular) for the parameters α_i yielding

$$\alpha_i = \tilde{h}_{s_i}(\xi, \tilde{\alpha}_1, \dots, \tilde{\alpha}_k), \quad i = 1, \dots, k.$$
(4.1.12)

The right hand sides of these solutions define k new functions \tilde{h}_{s_i} on M, each depending on k parameters $\tilde{\alpha}_i$. Finally, let us define (r - k) functions \tilde{h}_i with i = 1, ..., r and such that $i \notin \{s_1, ..., s_k\}$ by, substituting \tilde{h}_{s_i} instead of α_i in h_i for $i \notin \{s_1, ..., s_k\}$

$$\tilde{h}_i = h_i|_{\alpha_1 \to \tilde{h}_{s_1}, \dots, \alpha_k \to \tilde{h}_{s_k}}, \quad i = 1, \dots, r, \ i \notin \{s_1, \dots, s_k\}.$$
 (4.1.13)

The functions $\tilde{h}_i = \tilde{h}_i(\xi, \tilde{\alpha}_1, \dots, \tilde{\alpha}_k)$, $i = 1, \dots, r$, defined through (4.1.12) and (4.1.13) are called the generalized Stäckel transform of the functions (4.1.9) with respect to the indices $\{s_1, \dots, s_k\}$ (or with respect to the functions h_{s_1}, \dots, h_{s_k}). Note that unless we extend the manifold M this operation cannot be obtained by any change of coordinates. It is also easy to see that if we perform again the Stäckel transform on the functions \tilde{h}_i with respect to \tilde{h}_{s_i} we will receive back the functions h_i in (4.1.9). Note also that neither k nor r are related to the dimension of the manifold M.

Example 4.6 Here we consider the simplest situation when k = r = 1. Let us take, after [150], the Fokas-Lagerström potential on the four-dimensional phase space M

with coordinates (x, y, p_x, p_y) :

$$h = \frac{1}{2}(p_x^2 + p_y^2) - \frac{2}{3}\alpha(xy)^{-2/3}.$$

Solving the equation $h = \tilde{\alpha}$ with respect to the only parameter α one obtains

$$\alpha = \frac{3}{4}(xy)^{2/3}(p_x^2 + p_y^2) - \frac{3}{2}\tilde{\alpha}(xy)^{2/3} \equiv \tilde{h}$$

which can be shown to be equivalent to the axially symmetric potential [150].

The importance of Stäckel transform relies on two properties that make it so useful for the study of integrable systems, i.e. it preserves functional independence and involutivity with respect to the Poisson tensor π .

In the special but nonetheless important case when functions (4.1.9) depend linearly on parameters α_i it is possible to write down the Stäckel transform in an explicit form. Suppose therefore that the functions in (4.1.9) are of the form

$$h_i = H_i + \sum_{j=1}^k \alpha_j H_i^{(j)}, \quad i = 1, \dots, r.$$
 (4.1.14)

The equations (4.1.11) defining the first part of the Stäckel transform take then the form of a system of k linear equations in unknowns $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_k$

$$H_{s_i} + \sum_{j=1}^k \alpha_j H_{s_i}^{(j)} = \tilde{\alpha}_i, \quad i = 1, \ldots, k,$$

with the determinant solution for $\alpha_i = \tilde{h}_{s_i}$ of the form:

$$\tilde{h}_{s_i} = \det W_i / \det W = \tilde{H}_{s_i} + \sum_{j=1}^k \tilde{\alpha}_j \tilde{H}_{s_i}^{(j)},$$
(4.1.15)

where

$$W = \begin{pmatrix} H_{s_1}^{(1)} \cdots H_{s_1}^{(k)} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ H_{s_k}^{(1)} \cdots H_{s_k}^{(k)} \end{pmatrix}$$

is the $k \times k$ matrix $(\partial h_{s_i}/\partial \alpha_j)$ given in (4.1.10) (so that det $W \neq 0$) and where W_i are obtained from W by replacing $H_{s_j}^{(i)}$ in the *i*-th column by $\tilde{\alpha}_j - H_{s_j}$ for all $j = 1, \ldots, k$. The second part of the transformation, i.e. formulas (4.1.13), is as

follows

$$\tilde{h}_i = H_i + \sum_{j=1}^k \tilde{h}_{s_j} H_i^{(j)} = \tilde{H}_i + \sum_{j=1}^k \tilde{\alpha}_j \tilde{H}_i^{(j)}, \quad i = 1, \dots, r, \quad i \notin \{s_1, \dots, s_k\}$$

where \tilde{h}_{s_i} are given by (4.1.15).

For the Stäckel transform in this case, after setting all the α and $\tilde{\alpha}$ equal to zero we obtain the following formulas relating Hamiltonians *H* and \tilde{H}

$$H_{s_i} + \tilde{H}_{s_1} H_{s_i}^{(1)} + \ldots + \tilde{H}_{s_k} H_{s_i}^{(k)} = 0, \qquad s_i \in S, H_j + \tilde{H}_{s_1} H_j^{(1)} + \ldots + \tilde{H}_{s_k} H_j^{(k)} = \tilde{H}_j, \qquad j \notin S.$$
(4.1.16)

Relations (4.1.16) can be written in a matrix form

$$H = A\dot{H} \tag{4.1.17}$$

where $H = (H_1, ..., H_r)^T$ and $\tilde{H} = (\tilde{H}_1, ..., \tilde{H}_r)^T$ and where the $r \times r$ matrix A is given by

$$A_{ij} = \delta_{ij} \text{ for } j \notin \{s_1, \dots, s_k\}, A_{is_j} = -\frac{\partial h_i}{\partial \alpha_j} = -H_i^{(j)} \text{ for } j = 1, \dots, k$$

(4.1.18)

Notice that relation (4.1.17) is valid on the whole M.

Let us now discuss the Stäckel transform between Hamiltonians and the corresponding reciprocal transform between respective solutions of two Liouville integrable systems. Suppose that dim M = 2n and that we have exactly r = n functionally independent Hamiltonians

$$h_i = h_i(\xi, \alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_k), \quad i = 1, \ldots, n$$

that depend on $k \le n$ parameters α_i and that are for all values of α_i in involution with respect to a nondegenerate Poisson bi-vector $\pi: \{h_i, h_j\}_{\pi} = 0$ for all i, j. These functions yield *n* Hamiltonian systems on *M*:

$$\frac{d\xi}{dt_i} = \pi dh_i \equiv X_i, \quad i = 1, \dots, n \tag{4.1.19}$$

so that X_i are *n* commuting Hamiltonian vector fields on *M*. Consider now a new set of *n* Hamiltonians \tilde{h}_i obtained from h_i by a Stäckel transform performed with respect to h_{s_1}, \ldots, h_{s_k} . These functions define a set of Hamiltonian flows on *M*, the vector fields of which are given by

$$\frac{d\xi}{d\tilde{t}_i} = \pi d\tilde{h}_i \equiv \tilde{X}_i, \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$
(4.1.20)

4.1 Integrable Hamiltonian Systems

Let us now analyze the relation between the Hamiltonian systems (4.1.19) and (4.1.20). In order to study this relation it is important to realize that both systems (4.1.19) and (4.1.20) are multiparameter and the relation between them can thus only be found if one fixes the values of both all α_i and all $\tilde{\alpha}_i$ which means that the sought relation can only exists on the (2n - k)-dimensional submanifolds $M_{\alpha,\tilde{\alpha}}$ given by (4.1.11):

$$M_{\alpha,\tilde{\alpha}} = \left\{ \xi \in M : h_{s_i}(\xi, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_k) = \tilde{\alpha}_i, \quad i = 1, \dots, k \right\}$$
(4.1.21)

Note that the surfaces $M_{\alpha,\tilde{\alpha}}$ depend on the simultaneous choice of 2k parameters α_i and $\tilde{\alpha}_i$ and that its codimension is k (so that dim $M_{\alpha,\tilde{\alpha}} = 2n - k \ge n$). Note also that due to the equivalence between (4.1.11) and (4.1.12) the surfaces $M_{\alpha,\tilde{\alpha}}$ can equivalently be defined through

$$M_{\alpha,\tilde{\alpha}} = \left\{ \xi \in M : \tilde{h}_{s_i}(\xi, \tilde{\alpha}_1, \dots, \tilde{\alpha}_k) = \alpha_i, \ i = 1, \dots k \right\}$$
(4.1.22)

Observation 5 Through each point ξ in M there passes infinitely many submanifolds $M_{\alpha,\tilde{\alpha}}$. If we fix the values of all the parameters α_i we can for any ξ always find some values of the parameters $\tilde{\alpha}_i$ so that $\xi \in M_{\alpha,\tilde{\alpha}}$; and vice versa, if we fix $\tilde{\alpha}_i$, for any given ξ we can find α_i so that $\xi \in M_{\alpha,\tilde{\alpha}}$.

As it follows from (4.1.11) and (4.1.12) the following identity is valid on *M* and for all values of parameters $\tilde{\alpha}_i$:

$$h_{s_i}(\xi, \tilde{h}_{s_1}(\xi, \tilde{\alpha}_1, \dots, \tilde{\alpha}_k), \dots, \tilde{h}_{s_k}(\xi, \tilde{\alpha}_1, \dots, \tilde{\alpha}_k)) \equiv \tilde{\alpha}_i, \ i = 1, \dots, k.$$
(4.1.23)

Moreover, the second part of the transformation, given by (4.1.13), can be written as the following identity on M, valid again for all values of $\tilde{\alpha}_i$,

$$\tilde{h}_i(\xi, \tilde{\alpha}_1, \dots, \tilde{\alpha}_k) \equiv h_i(\xi, \tilde{h}_{s_1}(\xi, \tilde{\alpha}_1, \dots, \tilde{\alpha}_k), \dots, \tilde{h}_{s_k}(\xi, \tilde{\alpha}_1, \dots, \tilde{\alpha}_S)),$$
(4.1.24)

where $i = 1, ..., n, i \notin \{s_1, ..., s_k\}$. Differentiating (4.1.23) with respect to ξ we get that on each $M_{\alpha, \tilde{\alpha}}$

$$dh_{s_i} = -\sum_{j=1}^k \frac{\partial h_{s_i}}{\partial \alpha_j} d\tilde{h}_{s_j}, \quad i = 1, \dots, k$$
(4.1.25)

while differentiation of (4.1.24) on $M_{\alpha,\tilde{\alpha}}$ gives

$$dh_i = d\tilde{h}_i - \sum_{j=1}^k \frac{\partial h_i}{\partial \alpha_j} d\tilde{h}_{s_j}, \quad i = 1, \dots, n, \quad i \notin \{s_1, \dots, s_k\}.$$

$$(4.1.26)$$

Obviously, in equations (4.1.25) and (4.1.26) we make the substitution (4.1.12). The transformation (4.1.25)–(4.1.26) on $M_{\alpha,\tilde{\alpha}}$ can be written in a matrix form as

$$dh = Ad\tilde{h} \tag{4.1.27}$$

where $dh = (dh_1, ..., dh_n)^T$, $d\tilde{h} = (d\tilde{h}_1, ..., d\tilde{h}_n)^T$ and where the $n \times n$ matrix A is given by

$$A_{ij} = \delta_{ij}$$
 for $j \notin \{s_1, \dots, s_k\}, A_{is_j} = -\frac{\partial h_i}{\partial \alpha_j}$ for $j = 1, \dots, k$ (4.1.28)

(compare with (4.1.18)).

From the structure of the matrix A it follows that

$$\det A = \pm \det \left(\frac{\partial h_{s_i}}{\partial \alpha_j} \right)$$

so that det $A \neq 0$ due to the assumption (4.1.10). In consequence, the relation (4.1.27) can be inverted yielding $d\tilde{h} = A^{-1}dh$. This leads to important two properties. Actually, if the functions h_i are functionally independent then so are \tilde{h}_i and if the functions h_i are in involution with respect to the Poisson tensor π (for all values of α_i), then the functions \tilde{h}_i are also in involution with respect to π for all values of $\tilde{\alpha}_i$.

For the first property, assume that h_i are functionally independent for all values of α_i . Consider the differentials $d\tilde{h}_i$ at a given point $\xi \in M$ and for some arbitrary values of $\tilde{\alpha}_i$. Due to Observation 5 one can always find values of α_i such that $\xi \in M_{\alpha,\tilde{\alpha}}$. By (4.1.27) and by the fact that det $A \neq 0$ the differentials $d\tilde{h}_i$ linearly independent at ξ (since dh_i are) and since ξ is arbitrary, \tilde{h}_i are functionally independent on the whole M.

For the second property, assume $\{h_i, h_j\}_{\pi} = 0$ for all i, j = 1, ..., n and for all values of α_i . Then, as in the proof of the first statement, at any $\xi \in M$ we can choose an appropriate $M_{\alpha,\tilde{\alpha}}$ so that (4.1.27) is valid and so

$$\begin{split} \left\{ \tilde{h}_{i}, \tilde{h}_{j} \right\}_{\pi} &= \left\langle d\tilde{h}_{i}, \pi d\tilde{h}_{j} \right\rangle = \left\langle \sum_{l_{1}=1}^{n} \left(A^{-1} \right)_{il_{1}} dh_{l_{1}}, \pi \sum_{l_{2}=1}^{n} \left(A^{-1} \right)_{jl_{2}} dh_{l_{2}} \right\rangle \\ &= \sum_{l_{1},l_{2}=1}^{n} \left(A^{-1} \right)_{il_{1}} \left(A^{-1} \right)_{jl_{2}} \left\langle dh_{l_{1}}, \pi dh_{l_{2}} \right\rangle \\ &= \sum_{l_{1},l_{2}=1}^{n} \left(A^{-1} \right)_{il_{1}} \left(A^{-1} \right)_{jl_{2}} \left\{ h_{l_{1}}, h_{l_{2}} \right\}_{\pi} = 0. \end{split}$$

Thus the system (4.1.20) is again Liouville integrable. It proves that Stäckel transform maps a Liouville integrable system into a Liouville integrable system.

4.1 Integrable Hamiltonian Systems

From (4.1.25)–(4.1.26) it follows that vector fields $X_i = \pi dh_i$ and $\tilde{X}_i = \pi d\tilde{h}_i$ are on the appropriate $M_{\alpha,\tilde{\alpha}}$ related by the following transformation

$$X_{s_i} = -\sum_{j=1}^k \frac{\partial h_{s_i}}{\partial \alpha_j} \tilde{X}_{s_j}, \quad i = 1, \dots, k$$
(4.1.29a)

$$X_i = \tilde{X}_i - \sum_{j=1}^k \frac{\partial h_i}{\partial \alpha_j} \tilde{X}_{s_j}, \quad i = 1, \dots, n, \quad i \notin \{s_1, \dots, s_k\}.$$
(4.1.29b)

This means that the Hamiltonian vector fields X_i and \tilde{X}_i span the same *n*-dimensional distribution on each $M_{\alpha,\tilde{\alpha}}$ and also that the vector fields X_{s_i} and \tilde{X}_{s_i} span the same *k*-dimensional sub-distribution of the above distribution. The transformation (4.1.29) can be written on $M_{\alpha,\tilde{\alpha}}$ in the matrix form

$$X = A\tilde{X}$$

where $X = (X_1, ..., X_n)^T$, $\tilde{X} = (\tilde{X}_1, ..., \tilde{X}_n)^T$, the $n \times n$ matrix A is given above and substitution (4.1.12) is performed.

All the vector fields X_i and \tilde{X}_i are naturally tangent to the corresponding $M_{\alpha,\tilde{\alpha}}$ so that if $\xi_0 \in M_{\alpha,\tilde{\alpha}}$ then the multiparameter simultaneous solution

$$\xi = \xi(t_1, \dots, t_n, \xi_0) \tag{4.1.30}$$

of all equations in (4.1.19) starting at ξ_0 for t = 0, will always remain in $M_{\alpha,\tilde{\alpha}}$ and the same is also true for multiparameter solutions of (4.1.20).

The relations (4.1.29) can be reformulated in the dual language, that of reciprocal multi-time transformations. The reciprocal transformation $\tilde{t}_i = \tilde{t}_i(t_1, \ldots, t_n, \xi), i = 1, \ldots, n$ given on $M_{\alpha, \tilde{\alpha}}$ by

$$d\tilde{t} = A^T dt, \tag{4.1.31}$$

where $dt = (dt_1, ..., dt_n)^T$ and $d\tilde{t} = (d\tilde{t}_1, ..., d\tilde{t}_n)^T$, transforms the *n*-parameter solutions (4.1.30) of the system (4.1.19) to the *n*-parameter solutions $\tilde{\xi} = \tilde{\xi}(\tilde{t}_1, ..., \tilde{t}_n, \xi_0)$ of the system (4.1.20), with the same initial condition $\xi(0) = \xi_0$, in the sense that for any $\xi_0 \in M_{\alpha,\tilde{\alpha}}$ we have

$$\tilde{\xi}(\tilde{t}_1(t_1,\ldots,t_n,\xi_0),\ldots,\tilde{t}_n(t_1,\ldots,t_n,\xi_0),\xi_0) = \xi(t_1,\ldots,t_n,\xi_0)$$

for all values of t_i sufficiently close to zero.

The transformation (4.1.31) is well defined since the right hand side of (4.1.31) is an exact differential, as it follows from the above construction. Thus it is possible, at least locally, to integrate (4.1.31) and obtain an explicit transformation $\tilde{t}_i = \tilde{t}_i(t_1, \ldots, t_n, \xi)$ that takes multi-time solutions of all Hamiltonian systems (4.1.19) to multi-time solutions of all the systems in (4.1.20).

In a specific case which is important for further considerations, when k = n and so that the Stäckel transform consists only of the first part (4.1.12), the matrix A simplifies to the form

$$A_{ij} = -\frac{\partial h_i}{\partial \alpha_j}, \ i, j = 1, \dots, n$$
(4.1.32)

so that the formulas (4.1.29) simplify to the single formula

$$X_i = -\sum_{j=1}^n \frac{\partial h_i}{\partial \alpha_j} \tilde{X}_j, \quad i = 1, \dots, n$$

and (4.1.31) can be explicitly written as

$$d\tilde{t}_i = -\sum_{j=1}^n \frac{\partial h_j}{\partial \alpha_i} dt_j, \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$
(4.1.33)

In this case our manifolds $M_{\alpha,\tilde{\alpha}}$ become level surfaces for all the Hamiltonians $h_i(\xi,\alpha)$ and also level surfaces for all the Hamiltonians $\tilde{h}_i(\xi,\tilde{\alpha})$.

As a simple illustration of the above results, consider the Hamiltonian systems on a four-dimensional phase space $M = \mathbb{R}^4$ with the coordinates $\xi = (x, y, p_x, p_y)$ and canonical Poisson structure. For our first example let k = 1, r = 2, $s_1 = 2$, $\alpha_1 \equiv \alpha$ and $\tilde{\alpha}_1 \equiv \tilde{\alpha}$ with nonlinear α -dependence.

Example 4.7 Consider the Hamiltonian

$$h_1 = \frac{1}{2}p_x^2 + \frac{1}{2}p_y^2 + \frac{\alpha(x^2 - y^2)}{y}p_y - 2\alpha^2 x^2,$$

which is Liouville integrable because it Poisson commutes with

$$h_2 = \frac{xp_y - yp_x - 2\alpha xy}{p_y}.$$

Relation (4.1.11) for $h_2 = \tilde{\alpha}$ takes the form

$$\frac{xp_y - yp_x - 2h_2xy}{y} = \tilde{\alpha},$$

4.1 Integrable Hamiltonian Systems

whence

$$\tilde{h}_2 = \frac{xp_y - yp_x - \tilde{\alpha}\,p_y}{2xy},$$

and therefore by virtue of (4.1.13) we have

$$\tilde{h}_1 = \frac{x^2 + y^2 - 2\tilde{\alpha}x}{2xy} p_x p_y + \frac{\tilde{\alpha}(x^2 - \tilde{\alpha}x + y^2)}{2xy^2} p_y^2.$$

The relation $\{h_1, h_2\} = 0$ implies $\{\tilde{h}_1, \tilde{h}_2\} = 0$, so \tilde{h}_1 is a Liouville integrable just like h_1 . The latter equality can be readily verified by straightforward computation. Interestingly enough, in this example the generalized Stäckel transform sends the Hamiltonian h_1 into a natural geodesic Hamiltonian \tilde{h}_1 , but the metric associated with \tilde{h}_1 is not flat and, moreover, has nonconstant scalar curvature unlike the metric associated with h_1 . Moreover, the reciprocal transformation (4.1.31), (4.1.28)

$$\begin{split} \tilde{t}_1 &= t_1 \\ d\tilde{t}_2 &= \left(\frac{y^2 - x^2}{y} p_y + 4\alpha x^2\right) dt_1 + \frac{2xy}{p_y} dt_2 \\ &= \left(-2x p_x + \frac{(x^2 - 2\tilde{\alpha}x + y^2)p_y}{y}\right) dt_1 + \frac{2xy}{p_y} dt_2 \end{split}$$

takes the equations of motion for h_1 and h_2 , with the respective evolution parameters t_1 and t_2 , restricted onto the common level surface $M_{\alpha\tilde{\alpha}} = \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^4 | h_2(\xi, \alpha) = \tilde{\alpha}\}$ into the equations of motion for \tilde{h}_1 and \tilde{h}_2 , with the respective evolution parameters \tilde{t}_1 and \tilde{t}_2 , restricted onto the same common level surface $M_{\alpha\tilde{\alpha}} = \{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^4 | \tilde{h}_2(\xi, \tilde{\alpha}) = \alpha\}$.

For the second example we set k = r = 2.

Example 4.8 Consider the extended Hénon-Heiles system with the Hamiltonian

$$h_1 = \frac{1}{2}p_x^2 + \frac{1}{2}p_y^2 + \alpha_1\left(x^3 + \frac{1}{2}xy^2\right) + \alpha_2x_3$$

which Poisson commutes with

$$h_2 = \frac{1}{2}y^2 p_x p_y - \frac{1}{2}x p_y^2 + \alpha_1 \left(\frac{1}{4}x^2 y^2 + \frac{1}{16}x^4\right) + \frac{1}{4}\alpha_2 y^2.$$

Let $s_1 = 1$, $s_2 = 2$, k = r = 2. Then (4.1.15) yield the following commuting deformation of h_1 and h_2 :

$$\begin{split} \tilde{h}_1 &= \frac{2}{xy^2} p_x^2 - \frac{8}{y^3} p_x p_y - \frac{2(y^2 + 4x^2)}{xy^4} p_y^2 + \frac{4}{xy^2} \tilde{\alpha}_1 - \frac{16}{y^4} \tilde{\alpha}_2, \\ \tilde{h}_2 &= -\frac{y^2 + 4x^2}{2xy^2} p_x^2 - \frac{4(y^2 + 2x^2)}{y^3} p_x p_y + \frac{16x^4 + 12x^2y^2 + y^4}{xy^4} p_x^2 \\ &- \frac{y^2 + 4x^2}{q_1 q_2^2} \tilde{\alpha}_1 + \frac{8(y^2 + 2x^2)}{y^4} \tilde{\alpha}_2. \end{split}$$

Using (4.1.32), (4.1.33) and proceeding in analogy with the previous example we readily find that the reciprocal transformation takes the form

$$d\tilde{t}_1 = \left(x^3 + \frac{1}{2}xy^2\right)dt_1 + \left(\frac{1}{16}x^4 + \frac{1}{4}x^2y^2\right)dt_2, \quad d\tilde{t}_2 = xdt_1 + \frac{1}{4}y^2dt_2.$$

But what about superintegrability? Adding to Hamiltonians (4.1.3) extra constants of motion $h_{n+i} = h_{n+i}(\xi, \alpha_1, ..., \alpha_k)$, i = 1, ..., n - 1 that commute with h_1 and differentiating extra identities

$$\tilde{h}_{n+i}(\xi,\tilde{\alpha}_1,\ldots,\tilde{\alpha}_k) \equiv h_{n+i}(\xi,\tilde{h}_{s_1}(\xi,\tilde{\alpha}_1,\ldots,\tilde{\alpha}_k),\ldots,\tilde{h}_{s_k}(\xi,\tilde{\alpha}_1,\ldots,\tilde{\alpha}_k)),$$

with respect to ξ we get

$$dh_{n+i} = d\tilde{h}_{n+i} - \sum_{j=1}^{k} \frac{\partial h_{n+i}}{\partial \alpha_j} d\tilde{h}_{s_j}, \quad i = 1, \dots, n-1.$$

The transformation matrix A (4.1.27), now $(2n-1) \times (2n-1)$, is given by the same formula (4.1.28) and again on $M_{\alpha\tilde{\alpha}}$ we find

$$\{\tilde{h}_i, \tilde{h}_j\}_{\pi} = \sum_{l_1, l_2=1}^{2n-1} \left(A^{-1}\right)_{il_1} \left(A^{-1}\right)_{jl_2} \{h_{l_1}, h_{l_2}\}_{\pi}.$$

In order to get extra conditions $\{\tilde{h}_1, \tilde{h}_{n+j}\}_{\pi} = 0$ a strong restriction has to be imposed on the matrix *A*. Actually, the first row of *A* must be zero except the element A_{11} . It happens only in the case when $h_1 = h_1(\xi, \alpha_1)$ and $s_1 = 1$. Thus, if all Hamiltonians depend on the same number of parameters, the superintegrability is preserved when that number is equal one and the Stäckel transform is performed with respect to h_1 (see Sect. 4.4.4 for particular examples).

4.1.4 Canonical Transformations

As we presented in the previous chapter, Hamiltonian mechanics is formulated in a coordinate free way. Nevertheless, in order to perform particular calculations, we need a local coordinate system. On the other hand, it is well known that complexity of calculations strongly depends on chosen coordinates. It will become apparent in the next chapter where the separability theory is presented. Thus, the coordinate transformations are a standard element of the further developed theory.

An important class of coordinate transformations on a symplectic manifold is the class of *canonical transformations*, i.e. these which do not change the canonical form of implectic bi-vector (symplectic 2-form). A particular importance of such transformations will be demonstrated in the next chapter. Thus, on 2n-dimensional phase space M consider some transformation of coordinates

$$(x, p) \longrightarrow (x', p')$$

such that if (x, p) are Darboux coordinates, i.e.

$$\omega = dp_i \wedge dq^i, \quad \pi = \omega^{-1} = \partial_{q^i} \wedge \partial_{p_i}.$$

then

$$\omega' = dp'_i \wedge dx'^i, \quad \pi' = \omega'^{-1} = \partial_{x'^i} \wedge \partial_{p'_i}$$

and hence (x', p') are also Darboux coordinates. In order to construct such a transformation, consider any smooth function F(x, p'), called further the *generating function* of canonical transformation, that $\left|\frac{\partial^2 F}{\partial x \partial p'}\right| \neq 0$. Then, define the following transformation

$$p_i = \frac{\partial F}{\partial x^i} \equiv F_{x^i}, \quad x'^i = \frac{\partial F}{\partial p'_i} \equiv F_{p'_i}, \quad i = 1, \dots, n$$
(4.1.34)

which in a matrix form reads

$$dp = F_{xx}dx + F_{p'x}dp', \quad dx' = F_{xp'}dx + F_{p'p'}dp',$$
 (4.1.35)

where $dp = (dp_1, \ldots, dp_n)^T$, $(F_{xx})_{ij} = F_{x^i x^j} = \partial^2 F / \partial x^j \partial x^i$ and so on. Then, from (4.1.35) and the fact that $F_{xx} = F_{xx}^T$, $F_{p'p'} = F_{p'p'}^T$, $F_{xp'} = F_{p'x}^T$ it follows that

$$dx = F_{xp'}^{-1}dx' - F_{xp'}^{-1}F_{p'p'}dp', \quad dp = F_{xx}F_{xp'}^{-1}dx' + (F_{p'x} - F_{xx}F_{xp'}^{-1}F_{p'p'})dp'$$

$$dp_{i} \wedge dx^{i} = (dp)^{T} \wedge dx$$

= $(dx')^{T} F_{p'x}^{-1} F_{xx} \wedge F_{xp'}^{-1} dx' - (dx')^{T} F_{p'x}^{-1} F_{xx} \wedge F_{xp'}^{-1} F_{p'p'} dp'$
+ $(dp')^{T} F_{xp'} \wedge F_{xp'}^{-1} dx' - (dp')^{T} F_{xp'} \wedge F_{xp'}^{-1} F_{p'p'} dp'$
+ $(dp')^{T} F_{p'p'} F_{p'x}^{-1} F_{xx} \wedge F_{xp'}^{-1} dx' - (dp')^{T} F_{p'p'} F_{p'x}^{-1} F_{xx} \wedge F_{xp'}^{-1} F_{p'p'} dp'$
= $(dp')^{T} \wedge dx' = dp'_{i} \wedge dx'^{i}$.

For the last by one equality we also used the fact that $\alpha^T \wedge A\alpha = \alpha^T A \wedge \alpha = 0$ for $A = A^T$ and $\alpha^T A \wedge A^{-1}\beta = \alpha^T \wedge \beta$. Thus in fact the transformation (4.1.34) is canonical. In a similar way one can introduce three other generating functions of canonical transformations

$$F(x, x') \Longrightarrow p_i = F_{x^i}, \ p'_i = -F_{x'^i}, \ i = 1, \dots, n,$$
 (4.1.36a)

$$F(p, p') \Longrightarrow x^{i} = -F_{p_{i}}, \quad x'^{i} = -F_{p'_{i}}, \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$
(4.1.36b)

$$F(p, x') \Longrightarrow x_i = F_{p^i}, \ p'_i = F_{x'^i} \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$

$$(4.1.36c)$$

The important subclass of canonical transformations on a phase space consists of these canonical transformations, which are generated by transformations on the underlying configuration space Q. Let (x, p) be some Darboux coordinates on $M = T^*Q$. Besides, consider any coordinate transformation on Q

$$x \longrightarrow x' : x' = \phi(x) \Longrightarrow x'^i = \phi^i(x), \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$

The generating function of respective canonical transformation on $M : (x, p) \rightarrow (x', p')$ is of the form

$$F(x, p') = \phi^{\iota}(x) p'_{\iota},$$

and hence

$$x'^{i} = \phi^{i}(x),$$

$$p'_{i} = \left[J^{-1}(x)\right]^{j}_{i} p_{j}, \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$
(4.1.37)

where J(x) is the Jacobian of the map $\phi(x)$. Canonical transformations (4.1.37) are called *point transformations*.
4.2 The Modern Formulation of Hamilton-Jacobi Theory

The theory of finite dimensional conservative integrable systems has a long history, starting from the works of Lagrange, Hamilton and Jacobi in the first half of the nineteenth century. In fact the Hamilton-Jacobi (HJ) theory is one of the most powerful methods of integration by quadratures a wide class of systems described by nonlinear ordinary differential equations, with a long history as part of analytical mechanics. The theory in question is closely related to the Liouville integrable Hamiltonian systems. The main difficulty of the HJ approach is that it demands distinguished coordinates, so called *separation coordinates*, in order to work effectively.

There are some milestones of that theory. First, in 1891 Stäckel initiated a program of classification of separable systems presenting conditions for separability of the HJ equations in orthogonal coordinates [240–242]. Then, in 1904 Levi-Civita found a test for the separability of a Hamiltonian dynamics in a given system of canonical coordinates [177]. The next was Eisenhart [104–106], who in 1934 inserted a separability theory in the context of the Riemannian geometry, making it coordinate free and introducing the crucial objects of the theory, i.e. Killing tensors. This approach was then developed by Woodhouse [265], Klanins [158, 162], and others. Finally, in 1992, Benenti [14–16] constructed a particular but very important subclass of separable systems, based on the so called special conformal Killing tensors.

4.2.1 Linearization of Hamiltonian Dynamics

Let us consider a Liouville integrable system on 2*n* dimensional symplectic manifold *M*, defined by *n* Poisson commuting Hamiltonians $\{H_i, H_j\}_{\pi} = 0$, i, j = 1, ..., n, with related Hamiltonian equations of motion

$$\xi_{t_i} = X_{H_i} = \pi dH_i, \quad i = 1, \dots, n, \quad \xi = (x, p)^T,$$
(4.2.1)

-

where t_i is the evolution parameter of the *i*-th equation. Assume that (x, p) are local Darboux coordinates. The time independent HJ method of integration by quadratures of the system (4.2.1) relies on its linearization through an appropriate canonical transformation

$$(x, p) \longrightarrow (b, a), \quad a_i = H_i, \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$
 (4.2.2)

In order to find coordinates b^i , canonically conjugated with a_i , it is necessary to find respective generating function W(x, a) of the transformation (4.2.2). Then,

according to (4.1.34)

$$b^i = \frac{\partial W}{\partial a_i}, \quad p_i = \frac{\partial W}{\partial x^i},$$

where function W(x, a) is the solution of the system of *n* Hamilton-Jacobi equations, generated by constants of motion H_i ,

$$H_i(x^1, \dots, x^n, \frac{\partial W}{\partial x^1}, \dots, \frac{\partial W}{\partial x^n}) = a_i, \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$
(4.2.3)

Observation 6 Historically, as well as in standard textbooks from classical mechanics (including Wikipedia) the reader finds a single HJ equation, for a distinguished Hamiltonian H. A single HJ equation is sufficient to find a generating function W only in simplest cases. Further on, we also analyze these simplest cases explicitly. Nevertheless, for the majority of separable systems, all n HJ equations (4.2.3) are necessary in order to find the generating function W and in consequence to integrate by quadratures equations (4.2.1).

In (b, a) representation, *n* evolution equations (4.2.1) become trivial (linear)

$$b_{t_i}^j = \frac{\partial H_i}{\partial a_j} = \delta_{ij}, \quad (a_j)_{t_i} = -\frac{\partial H_i}{\partial b_j} = 0, \quad H_i = a_i, \quad ij = 1, \dots, n.$$

where

$$b^{j}(x,a) = \frac{\partial W}{\partial x^{j}} = t_{j} + c_{j}, \quad c_{j} \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(4.2.4)

Equations (4.2.4) define implicit solutions of equations (4.2.1) in original coordinates (x, p). Solving the system of equations (4.2.4) with respect to x^i (so called *inverse Jacobi problem*), we reconstruct classical trajectories in the explicit form

$$x^{i} = x^{i}(t_{1}, \dots, t_{n}, a_{1}, \dots, a_{n}, c_{1}, \dots, c_{n}), \quad p_{i} = p_{i}(x, x_{t}, \dots).$$
 (4.2.5)

Unfortunately, for the majority of separable systems, with the exception of a few elementary systems, (4.2.5) cannot be expressed by elementary functions and the theory of special functions like Riemannian theta functions is necessary [139] (see also [6]). Thus, in general, searching for a solution of the inverse Jacobi problem is a complex mathematical problem from the algebraic geometry and goes beyond the scope of the book.

Observation 7 It is very important for the reader to keep in mind that once we are considering separable systems on a phase space, the x^i and p_i are functions which depend on n different evolution parameters t_j (4.2.5) and solve simultaneously all evolution equations (4.2.1). Obviously, for a k-th evolution system only t_k

plays the role of a variable while the remaining $t_{j\neq k}$ are just parameters. This observation was crucial for understanding the concept of a reciprocal transform, linking solutions of Stäckel related Liouville integrable systems, where all evolution parameters were simultaneously involved in the transformation (4.1.31).

So, where is the problem if the separation procedure is so clear? The main difficulty in applying the presented method to a given Liouville integrable system in some canonical coordinates (x, p) is in solving the system (4.2.3) for W. In general this is a hopeless task, as (4.2.3) is a very complicated system of nonlinear coupled partial differential equations. In essence, the only hitherto known way of overcoming this difficulty is to find distinguished canonical coordinates, denoted here by (λ, μ) and defined almost globally on M, for which there exist n relations

$$\varphi_i(\lambda^i, \mu_i; a_1, \dots, a_n) = 0, \qquad i = 1, \dots, n, \ a_i \in \mathbb{R}, \quad \det\left[\frac{\partial \varphi_i}{\partial a_j}\right] \neq 0,$$
(4.2.6)

such that each of these relations involves only a single pair of canonical coordinates [235] and with additional assumption that we can solve these equations for a_i not only locally but almost globally on *M*. Thus, in the domain of (λ, μ) , a_i are expressed in the form

$$a_i = H_i(\lambda, \mu), \quad i = 1, \ldots, n.$$

If the functions $W_i(\lambda^i, a)$ are solutions of a system of *n* decoupled ODE's, called *separation equations*, obtained from (4.2.6) by substituting $\mu_i = \frac{dW_i(\lambda^i, a)}{d\lambda^i}$

$$\varphi_i\left(\lambda^i, \mu_i = \frac{dW_i(\lambda^i, a)}{d\lambda^i}, a_1, \dots, a_n\right) = 0, \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$
(4.2.7)

then the function

$$W(\lambda, a) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} W_i(\lambda^i, a)$$

is an additively separable solution of all the equations (4.2.7). It is also a solution of all Hamilton-Jacobi equations (4.2.3) because solving (4.2.6) to the form $a_i = H_i(\lambda, \mu)$ is a purely algebraic operation.

The Hamiltonian functions $H_i(\lambda, \mu)$ Poisson commute as a consequence of separation relations (4.2.6). Indeed, differentiating equations (4.2.6) with respect to (λ, μ) coordinates we get

$$\frac{\partial \varphi_k}{\partial \lambda^i} + \sum_{r=1}^n \frac{\partial \varphi_k}{\partial a_r} \frac{\partial H_r}{\partial \lambda^i} = 0, \qquad \frac{\partial \varphi_k}{\partial \mu_i} + \sum_{r=1}^n \frac{\partial \varphi_k}{\partial a_r} \frac{\partial H_r}{\partial \mu_i} = 0$$

so

$$\frac{\partial H_r}{\partial \lambda^i} = -\sum_{s=1}^n A_s^r \frac{\partial \varphi_k}{\partial \lambda^i}, \quad \frac{\partial H_r}{\partial \mu_i} = -\sum_{s=1}^n A_s^r \frac{\partial \varphi_k}{\partial \mu_i}$$

where (A_s^r) is a matrix being the inverse of the matrix $(\partial \varphi_s / \partial a_r)$. In consequence

$$\{H_r, H_s\} = \sum_{k=1}^n \left(\frac{\partial H_r}{\partial \lambda^k} \frac{\partial H_s}{\partial \mu_k} - \frac{\partial H_r}{\partial \mu_k} \frac{\partial H_s}{\partial \lambda^k} \right)$$
$$= \sum_{k=1}^n \left(\sum_{i,j=1}^n A_i^r \frac{\partial \varphi_i}{\partial \lambda^k} A_j^s \frac{\partial \varphi_j}{\partial \mu_k} - \sum_{i,j=1}^n A_i^r \frac{\partial \varphi_i}{\partial \mu_k} A_j^s \frac{\partial \varphi_j}{\partial \lambda^k} \right)$$
$$= \sum_{i,j=1}^n A_i^r A_j^s \sum_{k=1}^n \left(\frac{\partial \varphi_i}{\partial \lambda^k} \frac{\partial \varphi_j}{\partial \mu_k} - \frac{\partial \varphi_i}{\partial \mu_k} \frac{\partial \varphi_j}{\partial \lambda^k} \right)$$
$$= \sum_{i,j=1}^n A_i^r A_j^s \{\varphi_i, \varphi_j\} = 0.$$

The distinguished coordinates (λ, μ) for which the original Hamilton-Jacobi equations (4.2.3) are equivalent to a set of separation equations (4.2.7) are called the *separation coordinates*.

Of course, the original Jacobi formulation of the method was a bit different from the one presented above, and was adopted to a particular class of Hamiltonians, nevertheless it contained all important ingredients of the method. Jacobi himself doubted whether there exists a systematic method for the construction of separation coordinates. Indeed, for many decades of development of the separability theory, the method did not exist. Only recently, at the end of the twentieth century and at the beginning of the twenty-first century, after more than 100 years of efforts, a few constructive methods have appeared. Some of them are the subject of the next chapter.

4.2.2 Stäckel Systems

In what follows we restrict ourselves to considering a special case of (4.2.6) when all separation relations are affine in constants H_i :

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} S_{ik}(\lambda^{i}, \mu_{i}) H_{k} = \psi_{i}(\lambda^{i}, \mu_{i}), \qquad i = 1, \dots, n,$$
(4.2.8)

where S_{ik} and ψ_i are arbitrary smooth functions of their arguments. The relations (4.2.8) are called the generalized *Stäckel separation relations* and the related dynamical systems are called the *Stäckel separable* ones. The matrix $S = (S_{ik})$ is called a *generalized Stäckel matrix*. The reason behind this name is the fact that the conditions (4.2.8) with S_{ik} being μ -independent and ψ_i being quadratic in momenta μ are equivalent to the original Stäckel conditions for separability of Hamiltonians H_i . To recover the explicit Stäckel form of the Hamiltonians it is sufficient to solve the linear system (4.2.8) with respect to H_i .

Although the restriction of linearity appears to be very strong, nevertheless for all separable systems known from the literature (at least to the knowledge of the author), the general separation relations can be reduced to the form (4.2.8) upon suitable choice of constents of motion H_i .

If in separation relations (4.2.8) we further assume that $S_{ik}(\lambda^i, \mu_i) = S_k(\lambda^i, \mu_i)$ and $\psi_i(\lambda^i, \mu_i) = \psi(\lambda^i, \mu_i)$ then the separation relations can be represented by *n* copies of a single curve

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} S_k(\lambda, \mu) H_k = \psi(\lambda, \mu)$$
(4.2.9)

in (λ, μ) plane, called a *separation curve*. The copies in question are obtained by setting $\lambda = \lambda^i$ and $\mu = \mu_i$ for i = 1, ..., n.

Finally, let us point out that in fact, with a given Stäckel system one can relate the whole set of admissible separation coordinates (ξ , ζ), related to (λ , μ) by canonical transformations of the form

$$\lambda^{i} = \lambda^{i}(\xi^{i}, \zeta_{i}), \quad \mu_{i} = \mu_{i}(\xi^{i}, \zeta_{i}).$$

$$(4.2.10)$$

It is a reason why in the literature the reader can meet the notion of separable web instead of separation coordinates.

As the separation relations play the fundamental role in the Hamilton-Jacobi theory, it is natural to employ them for classification of Stäckel systems. The form of separation relations (4.2.8) allows us to classify the associated Stäckel systems. Actually, any given class of Stäckel separable systems can be represented by a fixed Stäckel matrix *S* and the particular form of ψ .

In our further considerations we mainly restrict to a particular subclass of separation relations (4.2.8), for which

$$S_{ik}(\lambda^{i},\mu_{i}) = S_{ik}(\lambda^{i}), \quad \psi_{i}(\lambda^{i},\mu_{i}) = \frac{1}{2}f_{i}(\lambda^{i})\mu_{i}^{2} + \sigma_{i}(\lambda^{i}), \quad (4.2.11)$$

i.e. the Stäckel matrix is μ independent and ψ functions are quadratic in momenta μ . Nevertheless, this subclass of Stäckel separation relations contains a majority of known from analytical mechanics separable Hamiltonian systems. Also these Stäckel systems will be most interesting for the further quantization procedure.

In order to illustrate, let us consider three important cases of separation relations (4.2.9), (4.2.11).

The first case is the simplest one, when the Hamiltonian itself separates into the sum of Hamiltonians of one degree of freedom each: $H = \sum_{i=1}^{n} H_i(\lambda^i, \mu_i)$ where

$$H_i = \frac{1}{2}\mu_i^2 + \sigma_i(\lambda^i),$$
 (4.2.12)

so

$$H = \sum_{i=1}^{n} H_i = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mu_i^2 + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sigma_i(\lambda^i) = T + V.$$

Equations (4.2.12) are simultaneously particularly simple separation relations generated by a Stäckel matrix equal to the unit matrix.

In the second case of separable relations we assume that $H_{n+1-i}(\lambda, \mu) = H_{n+1-i}(\lambda^1, \dots, \lambda^i, \mu_1, \dots, \mu_i)$ and chose $H = H_1(\lambda, \mu)$. Let us consider the following separation relations

$$H_{i} - \zeta_{i}(\lambda^{i})H_{i+1} = \frac{1}{2}\mu_{i}^{2} + \sigma_{i}(\lambda^{i}), \quad i = 1, \dots, n$$
(4.2.13)

$$H_{1} - \zeta_{1}(\lambda^{1})H_{2} = \frac{1}{2}\mu_{1}^{2} + \sigma_{1}(\lambda^{1}),$$

$$H_{2} - \zeta_{2}(\lambda^{2})H_{3} = \frac{1}{2}\mu_{2}^{2} + \sigma_{2}(\lambda^{2}),$$

$$\vdots$$

$$H_{n} = \frac{1}{2}\mu_{n}^{2} + \sigma_{n}(\lambda^{n})$$

$$(4.2.14)$$

generated by a Stäckel matrix of the form

$$S = \begin{pmatrix} 1 - \zeta_1(\lambda^1) & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 1 & -\zeta_2(\lambda^2) & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \ddots & \ddots & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & -\zeta_n(\lambda^n)\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Denote $h_i = \frac{1}{2}\mu_i^2 + \sigma_i(\lambda^i)$, then

$$H_k = T_k + V_k = h_k + \zeta_k(\lambda^k)H_{k+1}, \quad H_n = h_n$$

and hence

$$H_k = h_k + \zeta_k h_{k+1} + \zeta_k \zeta_{k+1} h_{k+2} + \ldots + \zeta_k \ldots \zeta_{n-1} h_n,$$

which gives the common formula for kinetic T_k and potential V_k parts of the Hamiltonian H_k

$$T_{k} = \frac{1}{2} (\mu_{k}^{2} + \zeta_{k} \mu_{k+1}^{2} + \zeta_{k} \zeta_{k+1} \mu_{k+2}^{2} + \dots + \zeta_{k} \dots \zeta_{n-1} \mu_{n}^{2}),$$

$$V_{k} = \sigma_{k} + \zeta_{k} \sigma_{k+1} + \zeta_{k} \zeta_{k+1} \sigma_{k+2} + \dots + \zeta_{k} \dots \zeta_{n-1} \sigma_{n}.$$
(4.2.15)

Notice that separation relations (4.2.13) can be transformed with the help of point transformation (4.2.10) to new separation relations of the form

$$H_i\lambda^i + H_{i+1} = \frac{1}{2}f_i(\lambda^i)\mu_i^2 + \gamma_i(\lambda^i), \quad i = 1, \dots, n$$

Finally, the third case is a generic case, when $H_i = H_i(\lambda^1, \dots, \mu_n)$ and $H = H_1$. Consider separation relations (4.2.9), with the condition (4.2.11), of the irreducible form

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} H_k(\lambda^i)^{\gamma_k} = \frac{1}{2} f_i(\lambda^i) \mu_i^2 + \sigma_i(\lambda^i), \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$
(4.2.16)

where $\gamma_1 > \gamma_2 > \cdots > \gamma_n = 0$, $\gamma_i \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ and f_i, σ_i are rational functions. Irreducibility means that the set $\{\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_{n-1}\}$ of integers does not have a common divisor α . Otherwise, separation curve (4.2.16) can be reduced to the one with $\gamma_i \rightarrow \gamma_i$ $\frac{\gamma_i}{\alpha} \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ by a transformation $\lambda \mapsto \lambda^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}$. Hamiltonian functions H_i are solutions of the system (4.2.16)

$$\mathbf{H} = S_{\nu}^{-1} \mathbf{U},$$

where $\mathbf{H} = (H_1, \dots, H_n)^T$, $\mathbf{U} = (\frac{1}{2}\varphi_1(\lambda^1)\mu_1^2 + \sigma_1(\lambda^1), \dots, \frac{1}{2}\varphi_n(\lambda^n)\mu_n^2 + \sigma_n(\lambda^n))^T$ is the Stäckel vector and

$$S_{\gamma} = \begin{pmatrix} \left(\lambda^{1}\right)^{\gamma_{1}} \left(\lambda^{1}\right)^{\gamma_{2}} \cdots 1 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \left(\lambda^{n}\right)^{\gamma_{1}} \left(\lambda^{n}\right)^{\gamma_{2}} \cdots 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

is the Stäckel matrix.

At the end of that subsection let us briefly mention systems from classes, where separation curves are different from quadratic in momenta. In the first class of systems momenta enter exponentially

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} H_j \lambda^{n-j} = \exp(a\mu) + \exp(-b\mu) + \sigma(\lambda), \quad a, b \in \mathbb{R}_+, \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$
(4.2.17)

where σ defines a separable potential. This class includes such systems as the periodic Toda lattice [115], the KdV dressing chain [28], the Ruijsenaars-Schneider system [27] and others. In the second class momenta enter cubic

$$\mu \sum_{j=1}^{n_1} H_j^{(1)} \lambda^{n_1 - j} + \sum_{j=1}^{n_2} H_j^{(2)} \lambda^{n_2 - j} = \mu^3 + \mu \sigma_1(\lambda) + \sigma_2(\lambda), \qquad i = 1, \dots, n,$$

where $\mu \sigma_1$ and σ_2 give rise to the separable potentials. We also know some particular examples from the classes. For instance, stationary flows of nonlinear PDE's, known as the Boussinesq hierarchy, belong to the class with $n_1 = 1$ and $n_2 = n - 1$ [27, 114], while dynamical system on loop algebra $\mathfrak{sl}(3)$ belongs to the class with $n_1 = 2$ and $n_2 = 4$ [113].

4.2.3 Inverse Jacobi Problem

Let us integrate by quadratures separable equations whose separation relations were considered in the previous subsection. In the first case

$$H = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(\frac{1}{2m_i} p_i^2 + \sigma_i(x^i) \right).$$
(4.2.18)

In this case separation coordinates are just Cartesian coordinates x^i and conjugated momenta p_i . Separation equations (4.2.3) for the generating function W are of the form

$$\frac{1}{2m_i}\left(\frac{dW_i}{dx^i}\right)^2 + \sigma_i(x^i) = a_i, \quad i = 1, \dots, n$$

with the solution

$$W_i = \int \sqrt{2m_i(a_i - \sigma_i(x^i))} dx^i, \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$

thus

$$b^{i} = \frac{dW_{i}}{da_{i}} = \int \frac{m_{i}dx^{i}}{\sqrt{2m_{i}(a_{i} - \sigma_{i}(x^{i}))}} = t + c_{i}.$$

Example 4.9 Consider *n* dimensional harmonic oscillator, analyzed in Example 4.3, now from the point of view of separability theory. It has Hamiltonian of the form (4.2.18) with potential

$$\sigma_i(x^i) = \frac{1}{2}\beta_i(x^i)^2.$$

Then, the implicit solution (4.2.3) is expressible in elementary functions

$$t + c_i = \int \frac{m_i dx^i}{\sqrt{2m_i (a_i - \frac{1}{2}\beta_i (x^i)^2)}} = \sqrt{\frac{m_i}{\beta_i}} \arcsin \sqrt{\frac{\beta_i}{2a_i}} x^i,$$

and can be inverted to the form

$$x^{i} = A_{i}\sin(\omega_{i}t + \varphi_{i}), \quad A_{i} = \sqrt{\frac{2a_{i}}{\beta_{i}}}, \quad \omega_{i} = \sqrt{\frac{\beta_{i}}{m_{i}}}, \quad \varphi_{i} = \omega_{i}c_{i}$$

known from the Example 4.3.

As the second case consider separation relations (4.2.13), for which the generating function is of the form

$$W(\lambda, a) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} W_i(\lambda^i, a_{i+1}, a_i), \quad H_i = a_i.$$
(4.2.19)

From relations (4.2.7) and (4.2.13) follows that

$$\frac{dW_k}{d\lambda^k} = \sqrt{a_k - \zeta_k(\lambda^k)a_{k+1} - \sigma_k(\lambda^k)}$$

and so

$$b^{k} = \frac{\partial W}{\partial a_{k}} = \frac{1}{2} \int \frac{d\lambda^{k}}{\sqrt{a_{k} - \zeta_{k}(\lambda^{k})a_{k+1} - \sigma_{k}(\lambda^{k})}} \\ + \frac{1}{2} \int \frac{\zeta_{k-1}(\lambda^{k-1})d\lambda^{k-1}}{\sqrt{a_{k-1} - \zeta_{k-1}(\lambda^{k-1})a_{k} - \sigma_{k-1}(\lambda^{k-1})}} \\ = t_{k} + c_{k}, \quad k = 1, \dots, n.$$
(4.2.20)

where $\alpha_{n+1} = 0$. Hamiltonian dynamical systems from \mathbb{R}^3 , which separate in spherical and cylindrical coordinates belong to this class.

Example 4.10 Consider one particle natural Hamiltonian in $T^*\mathbb{R}^3$ in the Cartesian representation

$$H = \frac{1}{2m}p_x^2 + \frac{1}{2m}p_y^2 + \frac{1}{2m}p_z^2 + V(x, y, z).$$

The point transformation to spherical coordinates

$$(r, \phi, \theta, p_r, p_\theta, p_\phi) \longrightarrow (x, y, z, p_x, p_y, p_z)$$

is given by (3.3.6) and the Hamiltonian takes the form

$$H = \frac{1}{2m} \left(p_r^2 + \frac{p_{\theta}^2}{r^2} + \frac{p_{\phi}^2}{r^2 \sin^2 \theta} \right) + V(r, \phi, \theta).$$

Assume that the potential V(x, y, z) in spherical coordinates has the following structure

$$V(r,\phi,\theta) = \sigma_r(r) + \frac{\sigma_\theta(\theta)}{r^2} + \frac{\sigma_\phi(\phi)}{r^2 \sin^2 \theta},$$

then, the case (4.2.14) of separation relations is realized where n = 3, $(\lambda^1, \lambda^2, \lambda^3) = (r, \theta, \phi)$, $\zeta_r(r) = \frac{1}{r^2}$, $\zeta_{\theta}(\theta) = \frac{1}{\sin^2 \theta}$. Hence, the separation relations (4.2.14) are of the form

$$H_1 - \frac{1}{r^2}H_2 = \frac{1}{2m}p_r^2 + \sigma_r(r),$$

$$H_2 - \frac{1}{\sin^2\theta}H_3 = \frac{1}{2m}p_\theta^2 + \sigma_\theta(\theta),$$

$$H_3 = \frac{1}{2m}p_\phi^2 + \sigma_\phi(\phi),$$

and

$$H_{1} = H = h_{r} + \zeta_{r} H_{2} = \frac{1}{2m} \left(p_{r}^{2} + \frac{p_{\theta}^{2}}{r^{2}} + \frac{p_{\phi}^{2}}{r^{2} \sin^{2} \theta} \right) + \sigma_{r}(r) + \frac{\sigma_{\theta}(\theta)}{r^{2}} + \frac{\sigma_{\phi}(\phi)}{r^{2} \sin^{2} \theta},$$

$$H_{2} = h_{\theta} + \zeta_{\theta} H_{3} = \frac{1}{2m} \left(p_{\theta}^{2} + \frac{p_{\phi}^{2}}{\sin^{2} \theta} \right) + \sigma_{\theta}(\theta) + \frac{\sigma_{\phi}(\phi)}{\sin^{2} \theta},$$

$$H_{3} = h_{\phi} = \frac{1}{2m} p_{\phi}^{2} + \sigma_{\phi}(\phi).$$

$$(4.2.21)$$

Generating function W additively separates

$$W = W_{\phi}(\phi, a_3) + W_{\theta}(\theta, a_2, a_3) + W_r(r, a_1, a_2),$$

and implicit solutions (4.2.20) are of the form

$$b^{1} = \sqrt{\frac{m}{2}} \int \frac{rdr}{\sqrt{r^{2}(a_{1} - \sigma_{r}(r)) - a_{2}}} = t_{1} + c_{1},$$

$$b^{2} = \sqrt{\frac{m}{2}} \int \frac{\sin\theta d\theta}{\sqrt{\sin^{2}\theta(a_{2} - \sigma_{\theta}(\theta)) - a_{3}}} - \sqrt{\frac{m}{2}} \int \frac{dr}{r\sqrt{r^{2}(a_{1} - \sigma_{r}(r)) - a_{2}}} = t_{2} + c_{2},$$

$$b^{3} = \sqrt{\frac{m}{2}} \int \frac{d\phi}{\sqrt{a_{3} - \sigma_{\phi}(\phi)}} - \sqrt{\frac{m}{2}} \int \frac{d\theta}{\sin\theta\sqrt{\sin^{2}\theta(a_{2} - \sigma_{\theta}(\theta)) - a_{3}}} = t_{3} + c_{3}.$$

Let us mention that this example is a key example of the HJ theory, presented in the majority of textbooks from analytical mechanics, here presented from the point of view of separation relations.

Finally, as the third case, let us consider the generic case of separation relations (4.2.16), for which $W(\lambda, a) = \sum_{i} W_i(\lambda^i, a)$, so separation equations (4.2.7) take the form

$$\frac{1}{2}f_i(\lambda^i)\left(\frac{dW_i}{d\lambda^i}\right)^2 = -\sigma_i(\lambda^i) + \sum_{k=1}^n a_k \left(\lambda^i\right)^{\gamma_k} \equiv P(\lambda^i, a).$$

The solution of (4.2.3) is as follows

$$W_i = \int \sqrt{\frac{2P(\lambda^i, a)}{f_i(\lambda^i)}} d\lambda^i$$

and thus

$$b^{k} = \frac{\partial W}{\partial a_{k}} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \int \frac{(\lambda^{j})^{\gamma_{k}} d\lambda^{j}}{\sqrt{R_{j}(\lambda^{j}, a)}} = t_{k} + c_{k}, \quad k = 1, \dots, n,$$

where $R_j(\lambda^j, a) = 2f_j(\lambda^j)P(\lambda^j, a)$.

Summarizing, one can say that on the level surface $M_a = \{\xi \in M : H_i = a_i \in \mathbf{R}\}$ the multi-time solutions $\lambda_i = \lambda_i(t_1, \ldots, t_n, \xi_0)$ of all Hamiltonian systems defined by the separation relations (4.2.16), or equivalently by all Hamiltonians (4.2.2), attain the following Abel-Jacobi differential form

$$dt = S_{\gamma}^{T} \frac{d\lambda}{\sqrt{R(\lambda, a)}},$$
(4.2.22)

where dt is a column vector with components dt_i and $d\lambda/\sqrt{R(\lambda, a)}$ means a column vector with components $d\lambda_j/\sqrt{R_j(\lambda^j, a)}$. Note that solutions (4.2.22) define in a standard (canonical) way the corresponding multi-time solutions for the momenta $\mu_i = \mu_i(t_1, \ldots, t_n, \xi_0)$.

Example 4.11 Consider once more the Hénon-Heiles system from Example 4.1

$$H_1 = H = \frac{1}{2}p_x^2 + \frac{1}{2}p_y^2 + x^3 + \frac{1}{2}xy^2,$$

$$H_2 = \frac{1}{2}yp_xp_y - \frac{1}{2}xp_y^2 + \frac{1}{4}x^2y^2 + \frac{1}{16}x^4.$$

The transformation between Cartesian and separation coordinates is of the form

$$x = \lambda^{1} + \lambda^{2}, \quad y = 2\sqrt{-\lambda^{1}\lambda^{2}},$$
$$p_{x} = \frac{\lambda^{1}\mu_{1}}{\lambda^{1} - \lambda^{2}} + \frac{\lambda^{2}\mu_{2}}{\lambda^{2} - \lambda^{1}}, \quad p_{y} = \sqrt{-\lambda^{1}\lambda^{2}} \left(\frac{\mu_{1}}{\lambda^{1} - \lambda^{2}} + \frac{\mu_{2}}{\lambda^{2} - \lambda^{1}}\right).$$

Hamiltonians H_1 and H_2 in canonical coordinates (λ, μ) are of the form

$$H_{1} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\lambda^{1}}{\lambda^{1} - \lambda^{2}} \mu_{1}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\lambda^{2}}{\lambda^{2} - \lambda^{1}} \mu_{2}^{2} + (\lambda^{1})^{3} + (\lambda^{1})^{2} \lambda^{2} + \lambda^{1} (\lambda^{2})^{2} + (\lambda^{2})^{3},$$

$$H_{1} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\lambda^{1} \lambda^{2}}{\lambda^{1} - \lambda^{2}} \mu_{1}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\lambda^{1} \lambda^{2}}{\lambda^{2} - \lambda^{1}} \mu_{2}^{2} - \lambda^{1} \lambda^{2} [(\lambda^{1})^{2} + \lambda^{1} \lambda^{2} + (\lambda^{2})^{2}].$$

and fulfill the following separation relations

$$H_1\lambda^1 + H_2 = \frac{1}{2}\lambda^1\mu_1^2 + (\lambda^1)^4,$$

$$H_1\lambda^2 + H_2 = \frac{1}{2}\lambda^2\mu_2^2 + (\lambda^2)^4$$

so, the implicit solution expressed by separation coordinates is as follows

$$t_1 + c_1 = \int \frac{\lambda^1 d\lambda^1}{\sqrt{R(\lambda^1, a)}} + \int \frac{\lambda^2 d\lambda^2}{\sqrt{R(\lambda^2, a)}},$$

$$t_2 + c_2 = \int \frac{d\lambda^1}{\sqrt{R(\lambda^1, a)}} + \int \frac{d\lambda^2}{\sqrt{R(\lambda^2, a)}},$$

where $R(\lambda, a) = 2\lambda(a_2 + a_1\lambda - \lambda^4)$. Obtaining the explicit solution in Cartesian coordinates is a far from being a trivial task and we skip it here.

In our last example we miraculously found the transformation to separation coordinates. In fact, the systematic construction of a transformation relating some natural coordinates (pseudo-Euclidean for example) with separation coordinates, was the most challenging problem of the separability theory for over 100 years and will be discussed in the next chapter.

4.3 Stäckel Systems in Riemannian Geometry

The class of Liouville integrable and separable systems considered in the previous section consists of functions quadratic in momenta. So, we can adopt a Riemannian geometry to the Poisson geometry of such systems. It is not a unique procedure and that fact will be crucial for further separable quantization of Stäckel systems, considered in Sect. 8.2. Here we mainly concentrate on a natural choice, which allows us to identify a distinguished metric tensor and related Killing tensors from kinetic parts of Poisson commuting Hamiltonians. We also derive the algorithmic construction of separable potentials with the help of an appropriate recursion matrix. We analyze in details a particular important class of Stäckel systems, so called Benenti class. The significance of that class becomes clear in the next section.

4.3.1 Killing Tensors and Separable Potentials

Consider the separable system defined by the following separation relations

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} H_k S_{ik}(\lambda^i) = \frac{1}{2} f_i(\lambda^i) \mu_i^2 + \sigma_i(\lambda^i), \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$
(4.3.1)

linear in H_i , with the following solution

$$H_r = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^n A_r^{ii} \mu_i^2 + V_r, \quad r = 1, \dots, n.$$
 (4.3.2)

It is useful for further applications to relate a symplectic geometry (Poisson in general) with a Riemannian geometry in the context of the separability theory. Let us consider the Hamiltonians (4.3.2) as functions from the phase space T^*Q , where Q is a Riemannian space (Q, g), written in local coordinates (λ, μ) . Then, Hamiltonians adopted to such an interpretation, can be written in the form

$$H_r = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^n A_r^{ii} \mu_i^2 + V_r = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^n (B_r G)^{ii} \mu_i^2 + V_r, \quad r = 1, \dots, n.$$
(4.3.3)

Such freedom in the interpretation of Hamiltonians H_i will be crucial for the quantum separability theory developed in Sect. 8.2. Here, on the classical level, we make a useful "natural" choice, identifying A_1 with a contravariant metric tensor G, i.e.

$$H_r = T_r + V_r = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^n (K_r G)^{ii} \mu_i^2 + V_r, \quad r = 1, \dots, n$$
(4.3.4)

where, from the construction, $B_1 = K_1 = I$, $A_1 \equiv G$ and $B_r = K_r$ represent second order Killing tensors of (1, 1) type for the metric $g = G^{-1}$. T_r represent geodesic Hamiltonians and V_r separable potentials. Notice that in separation coordinates metric tensor G and Killing tensors K_r are represented by diagonal matrices. Moreover, $V_r(\lambda)$ represent separable potentials. In fact we have n such choices, where A_r is identified with a metric tensor G_r and $A_{i\neq r}$ are respective Killing tensors. As all constants of motion are functions quadratic in momenta μ_i , so all Hamiltonian systems generated by H_r have their own Legendre transformation (3.1.7), (3.1.8), generated by the metric tensor $G_r \equiv A_r$, and the related second order Newton equations of motion can be represented by the following equations

$$\lambda_{t_r t_r}^i + (\Gamma_r)_{jk}^i \lambda_{t_r}^j \lambda_{t_r}^k = -G_r^{ij} \partial_j V_r, \quad r = 1, \dots, n.$$

$$(4.3.5)$$

The form of separation relations (4.3.1) allows for a classification of such a type of systems. Each class is defined by a particular choice of Stäckel matrix *S*. Systems inside a class are parametrized by functions *f* and σ . Actually, functions *f* parametrize *separable metrics* (called sometimes Stäckel metrics) while functions σ parametrize *separable potentials*. Indeed, the Stäckel matrix for separation relations (4.3.1) is of the form

$$S = \begin{pmatrix} S_{11} (\lambda^1) S_{12} (\lambda^1) \cdots S_{1n} (\lambda^1) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ S_{n1} (\lambda^n) S_{n2} (\lambda^n) \cdots S_{nn} (\lambda^n) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (4.3.6)$$

hence tensors A_r and potentials $V_r(\lambda)$ can be expressed as

$$A_{r} = diag\left((S^{-1})_{r1}f_{1}(\lambda^{1}), \dots, (S^{-1})_{rn}f_{n}(\lambda^{n})\right), \quad V_{r}(\lambda) = (S^{-1})_{ri}\sigma_{i}(\lambda^{i}).$$
(4.3.7)

Besides, for a "natural" choice $G = A_1$, we have

$$K_{r} = diag\left(\frac{(S^{-1})_{r1}}{(S^{-1})_{11}}, \dots, \frac{(S^{-1})_{rn}}{(S^{-1})_{1n}}\right)$$

$$\downarrow \qquad (4.3.8)$$

$$(K_{r})_{i}^{i} = \frac{(S^{-1})_{ri}}{(S^{-1})_{1i}} = \frac{D_{ir}}{D_{i1}},$$

where D_{kj} are respective cofactors of matrix *S*. Notice, that for Stäckel matrix *S* in the form (4.3.6) we have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda_i} (K_r)_i^i = 0, \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$
(4.3.9)

Moreover, one can check that metric $G = A_1$ is non-flat in general. We will come back to that problem later on.

Let us consider in greater detail two types of separation relations from the previous subsection. For separation relations (4.2.13) $f_i(\lambda^i) = 1$ and non-zero elements of Stäckel matrix are of the form

$$S_{i,i} = 1, \quad S_{i,i+1} = -\zeta_i(\lambda^i),$$

while non-zero elements of the inverse Stäckel matrix are

$$(S^{-1})_{ii} = 1, \quad (S^{-1})_{ij} = \prod_{k=i}^{j-1} \zeta_k(\lambda^k), \quad i < j.$$

For example, for n = 4 we have

$$S = \begin{pmatrix} 1 - \zeta_1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & -\zeta_2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -\zeta_3 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad S^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \zeta_1 \zeta_1 \zeta_2 \zeta_1 \zeta_2 \zeta_3 \\ 0 & 1 & \zeta_2 & \zeta_2 \zeta_3 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & \zeta_3 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The first row of the matrix S^{-1} represents elements of diagonal metric G

$$G = diag(1, \zeta_1, \zeta_1 \zeta_2, \dots, \zeta_1 \dots \zeta_{n-1}),$$

with respective Killing tensors of (1, 1) type

$$K_r = diag\left(\underbrace{0,\ldots,0}_{r-1},\frac{1}{\xi_r},\ldots,\frac{1}{\xi_r}\right), \quad \xi_r = \prod_{k=1}^{r-1} \zeta_k(\lambda^k).$$

Separable potentials are given by relation (4.2.15).

Example 4.12 Let us supplement the Example 4.10 of separable particle dynamics in \mathbb{R}^3 by some extra information. In spherical coordinates (r, ϕ, θ) (3.3.6) the metric tensor has the form

$$G = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{r^2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{r^2 \sin^2 \theta} \end{pmatrix},$$

the related Killing tensors of (1, 1) type are

$$K_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad K_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & r^2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & r^2 \end{pmatrix}, \quad K_3 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & r^2 \sin^2 \theta \end{pmatrix},$$

while admissible separable potentials are of the form

$$V_{1} = \sigma_{r}(r) + \frac{\sigma_{\theta}(\theta)}{r^{2}} + \frac{\sigma_{\phi}(\phi)}{r^{2}\sin^{2}\theta},$$
$$V_{2} = \sigma_{\theta}(\theta) + \frac{\sigma_{\phi}(\phi)}{\sin^{2}\theta},$$
$$V_{3} = \sigma_{\phi}(\phi),$$

where $\sigma_r(r), \sigma_\theta(\theta), \sigma_\phi(\phi)$ are smooth functions of its arguments.

As a second particular case of separation relations (4.3.1) consider systems whose separable relations are *n* copies of irreducible separation curve

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} H_k \lambda^{\gamma_k} = f(\lambda) \left[\frac{1}{2} \mu^2 + \kappa(\lambda) \right] = \frac{1}{2} f(\lambda) \mu^2 + \sigma(\lambda), \qquad (4.3.10)$$

where $\gamma_1 > \gamma_2 > \ldots > \gamma_n$, $\gamma_i \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, with normalization $\gamma_n = 0$, being a particular case of (4.2.16). We also assume in our further considerations the meromorphic form of functions $f(\lambda)$ and $\sigma(\lambda)$. The explicit form of metric tensor *G* and respective Killing tensors K_r will be presented in the next subsection. Here we demonstrate the construction of separable potentials with the help of the so called *recursion matrix*. Notice first that from the form of separation relations (4.3.1) follows that they split into a geodesic part and a potential part, respectively. The potential part of the separation curve takes the form

$$V_1^{(\sigma)}\lambda^{\gamma_1} + V_2^{(\sigma)}\lambda^{\gamma_2} + \ldots + V_n^{(\sigma)}\lambda^{\gamma_n} = \sigma(\lambda).$$
(4.3.11)

Let us begin from the so called *basic potentials*, i.e. $\sigma(\lambda) = \lambda^k$, $k \in \mathbb{Z}$. Then, the *n* copies of the separation curve (4.3.11) with $(\lambda, \mu) = (\lambda^i, \mu^i)_{i=1,...,n}$ can be written in a matrix form

$$S_{\mathcal{V}}V^{(k)} = \Lambda^k (1, \ldots, 1)^T,$$

where $V^{(k)} = (V_1^{(k)}, \dots, V_n^{(k)})^T$, $\Lambda = diag(\lambda^1, \dots, \lambda^n)$ and Stäckel matrix S_{γ} , according to the normalization in (4.3.10), is of the form

$$S_{\gamma} = \begin{pmatrix} \left(\lambda^{1}\right)^{\gamma_{1}} \left(\lambda^{1}\right)^{\gamma_{2}} \cdots 1 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \dots \vdots \\ \left(\lambda^{n}\right)^{\gamma_{1}} \left(\lambda^{n}\right)^{\gamma_{2}} \cdots 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

As a consequence

$$V^{(0)} = S_{\gamma}^{-1}(1, \dots, 1)^{T} = (0, \dots, 0, 1)^{T}$$

which follows from the form of Stäckel matrix (4.3.6), and hence

$$S_{\gamma} V^{(1)} = \Lambda(1, \ldots, 1)^T = \Lambda S_{\gamma} V^{(0)},$$

so

$$V^{(1)} = S_{\gamma}^{-1} \Lambda S_{\gamma} V^{(0)} = F_{\gamma} V^{(0)},$$

where

$$F_{\gamma} = S_{\gamma}^{-1} \Lambda S_{\gamma}$$

is called the recursion matrix for separation relations (4.3.10). Indeed

$$V^{(k)} = F_{\gamma}^{k} V^{(0)}, \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}$$
(4.3.12)

as from the assumption about the invertibility of Stäckel matrix S_{γ} follows the invertibility of recursion matrix F_{γ} . Besides

$$V^{(\sigma)} = \sigma(F_{\gamma})V^{(0)}, \qquad (4.3.13)$$

for any meromorphic function $\sigma(\lambda)$ in (4.3.11). Notice that relation (4.3.13) is of simple matrix form so it is valid in any coordinate frame on Q. Moreover, since

 $V^{(0)} = (0, 0, \dots, 0, 1)^T$, we find that the potentials (4.3.12) are trivial for $k = \gamma_1, \dots, \gamma_n$ as

$$V_r^{(\gamma_j)} = \delta_{\gamma_r, \gamma_j}$$

4.3.2 Benenti Class of Separable Systems

A particular important role, among all considered Stäckel systems (4.3.10), plays the so called Benenti class, defined by

$$(\gamma_1, \dots, \gamma_n) = (n - 1, n - 2, \dots, 0),$$

hence by separation relations of the form

$$\sum_{r=1}^{n} H_r(\lambda^i)^{n-r} = \frac{1}{2} f_i(\lambda^i) \mu_i^2 + \sigma(\lambda^i), \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$
(4.3.14)

with solution

$$H_r = \frac{1}{2} (K_r G)^{ii} \mu_i^2 + V_r^{(\sigma)}, \quad r = 1, \dots, n.$$
(4.3.15)

For this class of systems the Stäckel matrix

$$S = \begin{pmatrix} \left(\lambda^{1}\right)^{n-1} \left(\lambda^{1}\right)^{n-2} \cdots 1\\ \vdots & \vdots & \dots \\ \left(\lambda^{n}\right)^{n-1} \left(\lambda^{n}\right)^{n-2} \cdots 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

is the Vandermonde matrix and metric tensors are of the form

$$G^{ii} = \boxed{\frac{f_i(\lambda^i)}{\Delta_i}}, \quad \Delta_i = \prod_{k \neq i} (\lambda^i - \lambda^k), \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$
(4.3.16)

i.e. are parametrized by *n* functions of one variable $f_i(\lambda^i)$.

All metric tensors (4.3.16) have a common set of Killing tensors of (1, 1) type

$$(K_r)_i^i = -\frac{\partial \rho_r}{\partial \lambda^i}, \quad r = 1, \dots, n,$$
(4.3.17)

where $\rho_r(\lambda)$ are signed elementary symmetric polynomials in λ (later in the book called Viète polynomials, for short):

$$\rho_i(\lambda) = (-1)^i \sum_{1 \le n_1 < n_2 < \dots < n_i \le n} \lambda_{n_1} \dots \lambda_{n_i}, \quad i = 1, \dots, n$$
(4.3.18)

so in particular

$$\rho_1 = -(\lambda^1 + \ldots + \lambda^n), \ldots, \rho_n = (-1)^n \lambda^1 \lambda^2 \ldots \lambda^n.$$

It follows from (4.3.17) and (4.3.18) that Killing tensors and Viète polynomials fulfill the following matrix equations

$$\rho_r I_n = K_{r+1} - \Lambda K_r, \quad r = 1, \dots, n-1, \quad \rho_n I_n = -\Lambda K_n.$$
(4.3.19)

In particular, when separation relations (4.3.14) are represented by *n* copies of the separation curve

$$\sum_{r=1}^{n} H_r \lambda^{n-r} = \frac{1}{2} f(\lambda) \mu^2 + \sigma(\lambda), \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$

metric tensors (4.3.16) are represented by

$$G = f(\Lambda)G_0, \quad (G_0)^{ii} = \frac{1}{\Delta_i}.$$

Moreover, the potential part of separation relations (4.3.14) is generated by

$$V_1^{(\sigma)}\lambda^{n-1} + V_2^{(\sigma)}\lambda^{n-2} + \ldots + V_n^{(\sigma)} = \sigma(\lambda).$$

Hence, the recursion matrix $F = S^{-1}\Lambda S$ attains the simple form

$$F = \begin{pmatrix} -\rho_1 & 1 \\ -\rho_2 & \ddots \\ \vdots & 1 \\ -\rho_n & 0 \cdots & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.3.20)

with the inverse

$$F^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & -\frac{1}{\rho_n} \\ 1 & -\frac{\rho_1}{\rho_n} \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ 1 & 1 & -\frac{\rho_{n-1}}{\rho_n} \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.3.21)

and for the hierarchy of basic potentials $\sigma(\lambda) = \lambda^k$ we have

$$V^{(k)} = F^k V^{(0)}, \quad k \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
(4.3.22)

Since $V^{(0)} = (0, 0, \dots, 0, 1)^T$, we easily obtain that the potentials (4.3.22) are trivial for $k = 1, \dots, n-1$ as

$$V_r^{(k)} = \delta_{r,n-k}.$$

The first nontrivial positive potentials are

$$V^{(n)} = F^n V^{(0)} = (-\rho_1, \dots, -\rho_n)^T \Longrightarrow V_r^{(n)} = -\rho_r,$$

$$V^{(n+1)} = F^{n+1} V^{(0)} = (\rho_1^2 - \rho_2, \rho_1 \rho_2 - \rho_3, \dots, \rho_1 \rho_n)^T$$

$$\Longrightarrow V_r^{(n+1)} = \rho_1 \rho_r - \rho_{r+1},$$

while the first nontrivial negative potentials take the form

$$V^{(-1)} = F^{-1}V^{(0)} = (-1/\rho_n, -\rho_1/\rho_n, \dots, -\rho_{n-1}/\rho_n)^T \Longrightarrow V_r^{(-1)} = -\frac{\rho_{r-1}}{\rho_n},$$
$$V^{(-2)} = F^{-2}V^{(0)} \Longrightarrow V_r^{(-2)} = \frac{\rho_{r-1}\rho_{n-1} - \rho_{r-2}\rho_n}{\rho_n^2},$$

where $\rho_0 := 1$ and $\rho_r = 0$ for r < 0. Notice that the recursion matrix (4.3.20) and its inverse (4.3.21) are constructed from respective vectors of potentials

$$F = (V^{(n)}, V^{(n-1)}, \dots, V^{(1)}), \quad F^{-1} = (V^{(n-2)}, \dots, V^{(0)}, V^{(-1)}).$$

From (4.3.22) follows immediately a simple recursive formula for components of positive potentials $V^{(k)}$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$

$$V_r^{(k+1)} = V_{r+1}^{(k)} - \rho_r V_1^{(k)}, \quad r = 1, \dots, n-1, \quad V_n^{(k+1)} = -\rho_n V_1^{(k)},$$
(4.3.23)

while from (4.3.21) follows a simple recursive formula for components of negative potentials $V^{(-k)}$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$

$$\frac{V_r^{(-k-1)} = V_{r-1}^{(-k)} - \frac{\rho_{r-1}}{\rho_n} V_n^{(-k)}, \quad r = 2, \dots, n, \quad V_1^{(-k-1)} = -\frac{1}{\rho_n} V_n^{(-k)},}{(4.3.24)}$$

The Benenti class is a distinguished class among separable systems of type (4.3.10), which contains a subclass of flat metrics, hence a lot of separable

systems, known from analytical mechanics, belong to that class. One can show that Stäckel matrices (4.3.16) are flat when

$$f_i(\lambda^i) = f(\lambda^i) = \prod_{k=1}^m (\lambda^i - \beta_k), \quad m = 0, 1, \dots, n$$

is a real polynomial. If the polynomial $f(\lambda^i)$ is of order n + 1, the metric G is of constant curvature: R = const.

Observation 8 Note, that any Stäckel system (4.3.1) of two degrees of freedom can be transformed to the Benenti class (4.3.14) through the point transformation $\lambda^i \rightarrow (\lambda^i)^{\frac{1}{\gamma_1}}$ (4.1.37). In a consequence any Stäckel system of two degrees of freedom with both integrals of motion quadratic in momenta belongs to the Benenti class.

A typical representative of this class is the Henon Heiles system from Example 4.11. More examples will appear in the following sections.

4.3.3 Superintegrability in Benenti Class

Let us investigate the problem of superintegrability inside the Benenti class of separable systems. In order to simplify the problem we restrict the considerations to systems generated by separation curves of the form

$$\sum_{k \in I} \alpha_k \lambda^k + \sum_{r=1}^n H_r \lambda^{n-r} = \frac{1}{2} \lambda^m \mu^2, \quad m = 0, \dots, n+1.$$
(4.3.25)

where $I \subset \mathbf{Z}$ is some finite index set, numerating nontrivial basic potentials. The coordinates (λ, μ) , convenient for the integrability procedure, are inconvenient for any other purpose as the components of metric tensors, Killing tensors and separable potentials are rational functions making computations very complicated. We will therefore perform the search of other Darboux coordinates. The simplest choice are Viète coordinates

$$q^{i} = \rho_{i}(\lambda), \quad p_{i} = -\sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{(\lambda^{k})^{n-i} \mu_{k}}{\Delta_{k}}.$$
 (4.3.26)

Since the transformation from (λ, μ) to (q, p) is a point transformation the coordinates (q, p) are also Darboux coordinates for our Poisson tensor. It can be shown [44] that in the (q, p)-coordinates

$$(\Lambda)_{j}^{i} = -\delta_{j}^{1}q^{i} + \delta_{j}^{i+1}, \qquad (G_{0})^{ij} = q^{i+j-n-1}$$

so components of metric tensors $G_m = \Lambda^m G_0$ take the form

$$(G_m)^{ij} = \begin{cases} q^{i+j+m-n-1}, & i, j = 1, \dots, n-m \\ -q^{i+j+m-n-1}, & i, j = n-m+1, \dots, n \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(4.3.27)

$$(G_{n+1})^{ij} = q^i q^j - q^{i+j}, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, n,$$

where we set $q^0 = 1$ and $q^r = 0$ for r > n or r < 0. An advantage of these new coordinates is that the geodesic parts of H_i are polynomial in q. Moreover, separable potentials are given by the same formula (4.3.22) under substitution $q_i = \rho_i(\lambda)$.

Example 4.13 For n = 3 in Viète coordinates (4.3.26) we have

$$\Lambda = \begin{pmatrix} -q^1 \ 1 \ 0 \\ -q^2 \ 0 \ 1 \\ -q^3 \ 0 \ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad G_0 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \ 0 \ 1 \\ 0 \ 1 \ q^1 \\ 1 \ q^1 \ q^2 \end{pmatrix}$$

and hence the metric tensors G_i have the form

$$G_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & q^{1} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -q^{3} \end{pmatrix}, \quad G_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -q^{2} & -q^{3} \\ 0 & -q^{3} & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
$$G_{3} = \begin{pmatrix} -q^{1} & -q^{2} & -q^{3} \\ -q^{2} & -q^{3} & 0 \\ -q^{3} & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad G_{4} = \begin{pmatrix} (q^{1})^{2} & -q^{2} & q^{1}q^{2} & -q^{3} & q^{1}q^{3} \\ q^{1}q^{2} & -q^{3} & (q^{2})^{2} & q^{2}q^{3} \\ q^{1}q^{3} & q^{2}q^{3} & (q^{3})^{2} \end{pmatrix}$$

In accordance with (4.3.2), the metric tensors G_0, \ldots, G_3 are flat, while the metric G_4 is of constant curvature.

Let us come back to superintegrability. According to (4.1.2) and (4.1.8) we are looking for additional constants of motion of H_1 , linear in momenta, generated by Killing vectors of the respective metric tensor. Nontrivial Killing vectors are expected for flat and constant curvature metrices and Viète coordinates are very useful for such a search. In Viète coordinates, for the geodesic part of H_1 , i.e. $T_1 = \frac{1}{2} G_m^{ij} p_i p_j$, the simplest constants of motion P_r linear in momenta, generated by Killing vectors of the metric G_m (4.3.27) with components linear in positions, are of the form [193]

$$P_{r} = \sum_{k=1}^{r} kq^{r-k} p_{n-m-k+1}, \quad m = 0, \dots, n-1, \quad r = 1, \dots, n-m,$$

$$P_{r} = \sum_{k=1}^{n-r+1} kq^{r+k-1} p_{n-m+k+1}, \quad m = 2, \dots, n+1, \quad r = n-m+2, \dots, n$$
(4.3.28)

Formulas (4.3.28) can be verified by direct computation. Other constants P are generated by Killing vectors with components being higher order polynomials of position coordinates.

Example 4.14 For the metric tensors G_m from Example 4.13 we have the following sets of Killing vectors Y and related functions P (4.3.28) that commute with geodesic Hamiltonian T:

$$\begin{aligned} G_0 &= \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & q^1 \\ 1 & q^1 & q^2 \end{pmatrix}; \quad Y_1 = (0, 0, 1), \ Y_2 = (0, 2, q^1), \ Y_3 = (3, 2q^1, q^2) \\ T &= p_1 p_3 + \frac{1}{2} p_2^2 + q^1 p_2 p_3 + \frac{1}{2} q^2 p_3^2, \\ P_1 &= p_3, \ P_2 = 2p_2 + q^1 p_3, \ P_3 = 3p_1 + 2q^1 p_2 + q^2 p_3, \\ G_1 &= \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & q^1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -q^3 \end{pmatrix}; \quad Y_1 = (0, 1, 0), \ Y_2 = (2, q^1, 0), \\ T &= p_1 p_2 + \frac{1}{2} q^1 p_2^2 - \frac{1}{2} q^3 p_3^2, \ P_1 = p_2, \ P_2 = 2p_1 + q^1 p_2, \\ G_2 &= \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -q^2 & -q^3 \\ 0 & -q^3 & 0 \end{pmatrix}; \quad Y_1 = (1, 0, 0), \ Y_3 = (0, 0, q^3), \\ T &= \frac{1}{2} p_1^2 - \frac{1}{2} q^2 p_2^2 - q^3 p_2 p_3, \ P_1 = p_1, \ P_3 = q^3 p_3, \\ G_3 &= \begin{pmatrix} -q^1 - q^2 - q^3 \\ -q^2 - q^3 & 0 \\ -q^3 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}; \quad Y_1 = (0, q^3, 0), \ Y_3 = (0, q^2, 2q^3), \\ T &= -\frac{1}{2} q^1 p_1^2 - q^2 p_1 p_2 - q^3 p_1 p_3 - \frac{1}{2} q^3 p_2^2, \ P_1 = q^3 p_2, \ P_3 = q^2 p_2 + 2q^3 p_3, \end{aligned}$$

$$G_{4} = \begin{pmatrix} (q^{1})^{2} - q^{2} q^{1}q^{2} - q^{3} q^{1}q^{3} \\ q^{1}q^{2} - q^{3} (q^{2})^{2} q^{2}q^{3} \\ q^{1}q^{3} q^{2}q^{3} (q^{3})^{2} \end{pmatrix} :$$

$$Y_{1} = (0, q^{3}, 0), \quad Y_{2} = (0, q^{2}, 2q^{3}), \quad Y_{3} = (q^{1}, 2q^{2}, 3q^{3}),$$

$$T = (q^{1}q^{2} - q^{3})p_{1}p_{2} + \frac{1}{2}((q^{1})^{2} - q^{2})p_{1}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}(q^{2})^{2}p_{2}^{2} + q^{1}q^{3}p_{1}p_{3} + \frac{1}{2}(q^{3})^{2}p_{3}^{2} + q^{2}q^{3}p_{2}p_{3},$$

$$P_{1} = q^{3}p_{1}, \quad P_{2} = q^{2}p_{1} + 2q^{3}p_{2}, \quad P_{3} = q^{1}p_{1} + 2q^{2}p_{2} + 3q^{3}p_{3}.$$

In order to find superintegrable potentials we have to use the condition $Y(U) = c \Leftrightarrow \{H_1, P\}$ (4.1.2)–(4.1.8). The highest number of such potentials is detected by $P = P_1 = p_{n-m}$ for m = 0, ..., n - 1 and by $P = P_n = q^n p_{n-m+2}$ for m = n, n + 1. In consequence, the Stäckel system (4.3.25) is maximally superintegrable in the following cases:

- (i) case $m \in \{0, ..., n-1\}$: if $I \subset \{2n m 1, ..., n\} \cup \{-1, ..., -m\}$,
- (ii) case m = n: if $I \subset \{n\} \cup \{-1, \dots, -n+2\}$,
- (iii) case m = n + 1 (the case of constant curvature): if $I \subset \{-1, \dots, -n + 1\}$.

The additional integrals h_{n+r} commuting with h_1 have the structure

$$h_{n+r} = \frac{1}{2} p_i \left(L_Y A_{r+1} \right)^{ij} p_j + Y(U_{r+1}), \quad r = 1, \dots, n-1,$$
(4.3.29)

where Y is a vector field on Q given by

(i) for $m \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$: $Y = \frac{\partial}{\partial a^{n-m}}$,

(ii) for
$$m = n$$
: $Y = q^n \frac{\partial}{\partial q^2}$

(iii) for m = n + 1: $Y = q^n \frac{\partial}{\partial q^1}$.

The above result provides us with a sufficient condition for maximal superintegrability of Stäckel systems of constant curvature (flat in particular) in case when $f(\lambda)$ is a monomial of maximal order n + 1. In consequence, the case (i) yields an *n*-parameter family of maximally superintegrable systems, parametrized by $\{\alpha_{-m}, \ldots, \alpha_{-1}, \alpha_n, \ldots, \alpha_{2n-m-1}\}, m = 0, \ldots, n - 1$, where α_j parametrize families of nontrivial superintegrable potentials U in (4.3.25). Similarly, in the cases (ii) and(iii) we get an appropriate (n - 1)-parameter families of superintegrable systems [43]. The reader can find a more general case of that classification, i.e. the polynomial case of $f(\lambda)$ in (4.3.25), in [40].

The geodesic parts

$$T_{n+r} = \frac{1}{2} A_{n+r}^{ij}(\lambda) \mu_i \mu_j, r = 1, \dots, n-1$$

of additional integrals of motion $h_{n+r} = \{h_{r+1}, P\}$ with r = 1, ..., n - 1, written in the separation coordinates (λ, μ) , are of the form

(i) for $0 \le m \le n - 1$:

$$A_{n+r}^{ij} = -\frac{\partial^2 \rho_r}{\partial \lambda^i \partial \lambda^j} \frac{(\lambda^i)^m (\lambda^j)^m}{\Delta_i \Delta_j}, \ i \neq j,$$
$$A_{n+r}^{ii} = \frac{(\lambda^i)^m}{\Delta_i} \sum_{j=1}^n \frac{\partial^2 \rho_r}{\partial \lambda^i \partial \lambda^j} \frac{(\lambda^j)^m}{\Delta_j},$$

where $\rho_r(\lambda)$ are given by (4.3.18) while Δ_i by (4.3.16) (ii) for m = n, n + 1

$$A_{n+r}^{ij} = -\frac{\partial^2 \rho_r}{\partial \lambda^i \partial \lambda^j} \frac{\partial \rho_n}{\partial \lambda^i} \frac{1}{\lambda^j} \frac{(\lambda^i)^m (\lambda^j)^m}{\Delta_i \Delta_j}, \ i \neq j,$$
$$A_{n+r}^{ii} = \frac{(\lambda^i)^m}{\Delta_i} \sum_{j=1}^n \frac{\partial^2 \rho_r}{\partial \lambda^i \partial \lambda^j} \frac{(\lambda^j)^m}{\Delta_j} \frac{\partial \rho_n}{\partial \lambda^j} \frac{1}{\lambda^j}$$

Let us illustrate the above considerations by some examples.

Example 4.15 Consider the flat case n = 3, m = 1, (4.3.25) with $I = \{-1, 3, 4\}$, so commuting Hamiltonians h_i are given by a separation curve

$$\alpha_4 \lambda^4 + \alpha_3 \lambda^3 + h_1 \lambda^2 + h_2 \lambda + h_3 + \alpha_{-1} \lambda^{-1} = \frac{1}{2} \lambda \mu^2.$$
(4.3.30)

Then, the corresponding Stäckel Hamiltonians attain in Viète coordinates the form

$$\begin{split} h_1 &= p_1 p_2 + \frac{1}{2} q^1 p_2^2 - \frac{1}{2} q^3 p_3^2 + \alpha_{-1} V_1^{(-1)}(q) + \alpha_3 V_1^{(3)}(q) + \alpha_4 V_1^{(4)}(q), \\ h_2 &= \frac{1}{2} p_1^2 + \frac{1}{2} ((q^1)^2 - q^2) p_2^2 - \frac{1}{2} q^1 q^3 p_3^2 + q^1 p_1 p_2 - q^3 p_2 p_3 + \alpha_{-1} V_2^{(-1)}(q) + \alpha_3 V_2^{(3)}(q) \\ &+ \alpha_4 V_2^{(4)}(q), \\ h_3 &= -\frac{1}{2} q^3 p_2^2 - \frac{1}{2} q^2 q^3 p_3^2 - q^3 p_1 p_3 - q^1 q^3 p_2 p_3 + \alpha_{-1} V_3^{(-1)}(q) + \alpha_3 V_3^{(3)}(q) + \alpha_4 V_3^{(4)}(q). \end{split}$$

where

$$V_1^{(-1)}(q) = \frac{1}{q^3}, \quad V_2^{(-1)}(q) = \frac{q^1}{q^3}, \quad V_3^{(-1)}(q) = \frac{q^2}{q^3},$$
$$V_1^{(3)}(q) = q^1, \quad V_2^{(3)}(q) = q^2, \quad V_3^{(3)}(q) = q^3,$$
$$V_1^{(4)}(q) = -(q^1)^2 + q^2, \quad V_2^{(4)}(q) = -q^1q^2 + q^3, \quad V_3^{(4)}(q) = -q^1q^3.$$

As $Y = \frac{\partial}{\partial q_2}$ so that $P = p_2$ and thus

$$\{h_1, P\} = \begin{cases} 0 \text{ for } k = -1 \\ 0 \text{ for } k = 3 \\ \alpha_4 \text{ for } k = 4 \end{cases}$$

Hence, the system is maximally superintegrable with additional constants of motion for h_1 given by:

$$h_4 = \{h_2, P\} = -\frac{1}{2}p_2^2 + \alpha_3 - \alpha_4 q^1,$$

$$h_5 = \{h_3, P\} = -\frac{1}{2}q^3 p_3^2 + \frac{\alpha_{-1}}{q^3}.$$

Consider now the point transformation from (q, p)-coordinates to new coordinates (x, y, z, p_x, p_y, p_z) such that

$$q^{1} = x, \quad q^{2} = y + \frac{1}{4}x^{2}, \quad q^{3} = -\frac{1}{4}z^{2}$$
 (4.3.31)

while (p_x, p_y, p_z) are new conjugated momenta. Then (x, y, z) are flat but nonorthogonal coordinates for the metric $G_1 = A_1$ (the reader can find more about flat coordinates in Sect. 5.5). In new coordinates we get

$$G = G_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \Lambda = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{1}{2}x & 1 & 0 \\ -y & -\frac{1}{2}x & -\frac{1}{2}z \\ -\frac{1}{2}z & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.3.32)

while the first three commuting Hamiltonians become

$$h_{1} = p_{x}p_{y} + \frac{1}{2}p_{z}^{2} + \alpha_{-1}V_{1}^{(-1)} + \alpha_{3}V_{1}^{(3)} + \alpha_{4}V_{1}^{(4)}$$

$$h_{2} = \frac{1}{2}p_{x}^{2} - \frac{1}{2}yp_{y}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}xp_{z}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}xp_{x}p_{y} - \frac{1}{2}zp_{y}p_{z} + \alpha_{-1}V_{2}^{(-1)} + \alpha_{3}V_{2}^{(3)} + \alpha_{4}V_{2}^{(4)}$$

$$h_{3} = \frac{1}{8}z^{2}p_{y}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}(y + \frac{1}{4}x^{2})p_{z}^{2} - \frac{1}{2}zp_{x}p_{z} - \frac{1}{4}xzp_{y}p_{z} + \alpha_{-1}V_{3}^{(-1)} + \alpha_{3}V_{3}^{(3)} + \alpha_{4}V_{3}^{(4)}$$

$$(4.3.33)$$

with $V_k^{(s)} = V_k^{(s)}(x, y, z)$ of the form

$$V_{1}^{(-1)} = \frac{4}{z^{2}}, \quad V_{2}^{(-1)} = \frac{4x}{z^{2}}, \quad V_{3}^{(-1)} = \frac{x^{2} + 4y}{z^{2}}$$
$$V_{1}^{(3)} = x, \quad V_{2}^{(3)} = \left(y + \frac{1}{4}x^{2}\right), \quad V_{3}^{(3)} = -\frac{1}{4}z^{2}$$
(4.3.34)
$$V_{1}^{(4)} = y - \frac{3}{4}x^{2}, \quad V_{2}^{(4)} = -\left(xy + \frac{1}{4}x^{3} + \frac{1}{4}z^{2}\right), \quad V_{3}^{(4)} = \frac{1}{4}xz^{2}$$

After the transformation to flat coordinates we have $P = p_y$, and $Y = \frac{\partial}{\partial y}$ so the additional constants of motion h_{n+i} of h_1 are:

$$h_4 = \{h_2, P\} = -\frac{1}{2}p_y^2 + \alpha_3 - \alpha_4 x, \quad h_5 = \{h_3, P\} = \frac{1}{2}p_z^2 + \frac{4\alpha_{-1}}{z^2}$$
(4.3.35)

4.4 Stäckel Transform for Separable Systems

In Sect. 4.1 we presented the theory of the Stäckel transform allowing for the construction of new Liouville integrable system from a given Liouville integrable system. Here we apply that theory to Stäckel systems considered in the previous section. We show that all Stäckel systems form any γ -class (4.2.16) are Stäckel equivalent with appropriate systems from Benenti class. Even more, systems from Benenti class are also Stäckel related. Finally, using constructed Stäckel transforms we analyze the geometric structure of Hamiltonians from the arbitrary γ -class. That structure will be important for the process of separable quantization of the considered systems.

4.4.1 Reciprocal Equivalence with Benenti Class

We will now turn to the fundamental property of all Stäckel systems generated by separation relations of the form (4.2.16). As we will show in this subsection, any class of Stäckel systems with the particular choice of $\gamma = (\gamma_1, \dots, \gamma_{n-1}, 0)$ is related to Benenti class with $\gamma = (n-1, \dots, 1, 0)$ by a single Stäckel transform and in such a way those solutions of respective systems from both classes are related by a reciprocal transform. As we mentioned above, Hamiltonians (4.3.4) do not depend on any additional parameters α_i so, in order to perform a Stäckel transform, we have to embed it into a parameter-dependent system. Of course, there are infinitely many ways of embedding of our Stäckel system into an *n*-parameter system but the choice below is natural in the sense that the corresponding Stäckel transform maps a Stäckel system into a new Stäckel system.

Consider *n* Hamiltonians $h_i = h_i(\lambda, \mu, \alpha)$ from the Benenti class, defined by the separation curve

$$R^{-1}(\lambda)\sum_{j=1}^{n}\alpha_{j}\lambda^{\gamma_{j}} + \sum_{j=1}^{n}h_{j}\lambda^{n-j} = f(\lambda)\left[\frac{1}{2}\mu^{2} + \kappa(\lambda)\right]$$
(4.4.1)

where we do admit the possibility that some or all of γ_k coincide with some n - k and where $R(\lambda)$ is an arbitrary meromorphic function of one variable so that

$$R(\lambda) = \prod_{j=1}^{k_1} (\lambda - \beta_j) \prod_{j=1}^{k_2} (\lambda - \beta'_j)^{-1}$$

for some (complex in general) constants $\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_{k_1}$ and $\beta'_1, \ldots, \beta'_{k_2}$. This function can be generalized to a matrix function i.e. we define, for any $n \times n$ matrix A (λ -dependent or not)

$$R(A) = \prod_{r=1}^{k_1} (A - \beta_r I_n) \prod_{r=1}^{k_2} (A - \beta'_r I_n)^{-1}$$
(4.4.2)

(as all the terms in (4.4.2) commute so that there is no ordering problem here). The relations (4.4.1) written in a matrix form are as follows

$$R^{-1}(\Lambda)S_{\gamma}\alpha + Sh = U$$

where S_{γ} and S are two Stäckel matrices given by (4.3.2) and (4.2.2) respectively (so that $(S_{\gamma})_{ij} = (\lambda^i)^{\gamma_j}$ and $(S)_{ij} = (\lambda^i)^{n-j}$), $h = (h_1, \dots, h_n)^T$ is the column vector consisting of Hamiltonians h_i , $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_n)^T$, U is the column vector given by $U_i = f(\lambda^i) [\mu_i^2 + \kappa(\lambda^i)]$ and where $\Lambda = \text{diag}(\lambda^1, \dots, \lambda^n)$.

Solving (4.4.1) with respect to *h* we obtain

$$h = S^{-1}U - S^{-1}R^{-1}(\Lambda)S_{\gamma}\alpha = S^{-1}U - S^{-1}R^{-1}(\Lambda)SS^{-1}S_{\gamma}\alpha.$$
(4.4.3)

In the notation as above

$$S^{-1}R(\Lambda)S = R(F),$$

where F is given by (4.3.20). We show (4.4.1) for $R(\lambda) = \lambda - \beta$ as

$$S^{-1} \left(\Lambda - \beta I \right) S = S^{-1} \Lambda S - \beta I = F - \beta I = R(F).$$

The general statement follows by developing the above derivation. Thus, introducing the shorthand notation

$$W_{\gamma}^{-1} := S^{-1}S_{\gamma}$$

formula (4.4.3) can be written as

$$h = H - R^{-1}(F)W_{\gamma}^{-1}\alpha$$
(4.4.4)

where $H = S^{-1}U$ is the part of *h* that is independent of parameters α_i (cf. (4.3.4)).

Let us shortly analyze the structure of the matrix $W_{\gamma}^{-1} = S^{-1}S_{\gamma}$. Assume that $\sigma(\lambda)$ in (4.3.2) is a polynomial of the form $\sigma(\lambda) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i \lambda^{\gamma_i}$. Then, as it follows from (4.3.2) and from the definition of potentials $V^{(k)}$ (4.3.22), we have

$$V^{(\sigma)} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i V^{(\gamma_i)}$$

where $V^{(\gamma_i)} = (V_1^{(\gamma_i)}, \dots, V_n^{(\gamma_i)})^T$ are basic potentials from Benenti class. On the other hand, the formula (4.3.2) can be written as

$$SV^{(\sigma)} = S_{\nu}\alpha$$

so that $V^{(\sigma)} = S^{-1}S_{\gamma}\alpha = W_{\gamma}^{-1}\alpha$ which implies that

$$\left(W_{\gamma}^{-1}\right)_{ij} = V_{i}^{(\gamma_{j})},$$
(4.4.5)

where $V^{(\gamma_j)} = F^{\gamma_j} V^{(0)}$ are the basic potential from Benenti class. Therefore, the formula (4.4.4) can be written in the form

$$h_i = H_i - \sum_{j,k=1}^n \left(R^{-1}(F) \right)_{ij} V_j^{(\gamma_k)} \alpha_k, \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$

Let us now perform an *n*-parameter Stäckel transform of the system given by the separation curve (4.4.1). Since the number of parameters α_i and the number of Hamiltonians h_i is equal to *n*, the Stäckel transform consists only of part (4.1.12) and is generated by the relation $h = \tilde{\alpha}$ (which implies $\tilde{h} = \alpha$) in the vector notation. The *n*-parameter Stäckel transform generated by $h = \tilde{\alpha}$ transforms the set of *n* Hamiltonians *h* defined by (4.4.1) into the following set of Hamiltonians

$$\tilde{h} = W_{\gamma} R(F) H - W_{\gamma} R(F) \tilde{\alpha}$$
(4.4.6)

(where $\tilde{h} = (\tilde{h}_1, \dots, \tilde{h}_n)^T$ and similarly $\tilde{\alpha} = (\tilde{\alpha}_1, \dots, \tilde{\alpha}_n)^T$) which constitute a new Stäckel system with the separation curve of the form

$$R(\lambda)\sum_{j=1}^{n}\tilde{\alpha}_{j}\lambda^{n-j} + \sum_{j=1}^{n}\tilde{h}_{j}\lambda^{\gamma_{j}} = \tilde{f}(\lambda)\left[\mu^{2} + \kappa(\lambda)\right],$$
(4.4.7)

where $\tilde{f}(\lambda) := R(\lambda) f(\lambda)$. Moreover, the reciprocal transformation

$$d\tilde{t} = \left[R(F^T)W_{\gamma}^T\right]^{-1}dt$$
(4.4.8)

transforms *n*-time solutions $\xi = \xi(t_1, \ldots, t_n, \xi_0)$ of the system (4.4.1) into *n*-time solutions $\tilde{\xi} = \tilde{\xi}(\tilde{t}_1, \ldots, \tilde{t}_n, \xi_0)$ of the system (4.4.7). Note that in spite of the fact that we introduced both systems in the (λ, μ) -variables the matrix formulas (4.4.6) and (4.4.8) are not of tensor type and that they are coordinate-free. They can be therefore freely applied in any coordinate system on *M*, which will be used in the examples further on.

In order to verify the formulas (4.4.6)–(4.4.8) let us multiply the curve (4.4.1) by $R(\lambda)$ obtaining

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_j \lambda^{\gamma_j} + R(\lambda) \sum_{j=1}^{n} h_j \lambda^{n-j} = R(\lambda) f(\lambda) \left[\mu^2 + \kappa(\lambda) \right]$$

which after the Stäckel transform $h = \tilde{\alpha}$ (so that $\tilde{h} = \alpha$) obviously attains the form (4.4.7). Let us therefore show the matrix form are

$$R(\Lambda)S\tilde{\alpha} + S_{\nu}\tilde{h} = R(\Lambda)U.$$

Solving this with respect to \tilde{h} we get

$$\tilde{h} = S_{\gamma}^{-1} R(\Lambda) U - S_{\gamma}^{-1} R(\Lambda) S \tilde{\alpha} = S_{\gamma}^{-1} R(\Lambda) S H - S_{\gamma}^{-1} R(\Lambda) S \tilde{\alpha}$$
$$= \left(S_{\gamma}^{-1} R(\Lambda) S_{\gamma} \right) \left(S^{-1} S_{\gamma} \right)^{-1} H - \left(S_{\gamma}^{-1} R(\Lambda) S_{\gamma} \right) \left(S^{-1} S_{\gamma} \right)^{-1} \tilde{\alpha}$$
$$= R(F_{\gamma}) W_{\gamma} H - R(F_{\gamma}) W_{\gamma} \tilde{\alpha}$$

so the only remaining thing is to show that $R(F_{\gamma})W_{\gamma} = W_{\gamma}R(F)$. We show it for $R(\lambda) = \lambda - \beta$ as a general statement can be proved in a similar way

$$(F_{\gamma} - \beta)W_{\gamma} = S_{\gamma}^{-1} (\Lambda - \beta I) S_{\gamma}S_{\gamma}^{-1}S = S_{\gamma}^{-1} (\Lambda - \beta I) S$$
$$= S_{\gamma}^{-1}SS^{-1} (\Lambda - \beta I) S = W_{\gamma}(F - \beta).$$

Finally, the formula (4.4.8) is obtained by inserting (4.4.4) into (4.1.33)

$$d\tilde{t} = -\left(\frac{\partial h}{\partial \alpha}\right)^T dt = \left[R(F^T)W_{\gamma}^T\right]^{-1} dt,$$

where we use the equality $R(A)^T = R(A^T)$.

Let us also present an alternative way of proving the formula (4.4.8), directly involving solutions of (4.4.1) and (4.4.7). It follows from (4.2.22) and from the above considerations that the multi-time solutions of the systems (4.4.1) and (4.4.7) on any common level surface

$$M_{\alpha,\tilde{\alpha}} = \left\{ \xi \in M : h_i(\xi, \alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_n) = \tilde{\alpha}_i, \, \tilde{h}_i(\xi, \tilde{\alpha}_1, \dots, \tilde{\alpha}_n) = \alpha_i \, i = 1, \dots n \right\}$$

take the form

$$dt = S^T \frac{d\lambda}{\sqrt{2f(\lambda)P(\lambda,\tilde{\alpha},\alpha)}}, \qquad d\tilde{t} = S^T_{\gamma} \frac{d\lambda}{\sqrt{2R(\lambda)f(\lambda)\tilde{P}(\lambda,\alpha,\tilde{\alpha})}}, \qquad (4.4.9)$$

where

$$P(\lambda, \tilde{\alpha}, \alpha) = -f(\lambda)\kappa(\lambda) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \tilde{\alpha}_{j}\lambda^{n-j} + R^{-1}(\lambda)\sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_{j}\lambda^{\gamma_{j}},$$
$$\tilde{P}(\lambda, \alpha, \tilde{\alpha}) = -\tilde{f}(\lambda)\kappa(\lambda) + R(\lambda)\sum_{j=1}^{n} \tilde{\alpha}_{j}\lambda^{n-j} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_{j}\lambda^{\gamma_{j}}.$$

Now, we can see that $\tilde{P}(\lambda, \alpha, \tilde{\alpha}) = R(\lambda)P(\lambda, \tilde{\alpha}, \alpha)$ as $R(\lambda)f(\lambda) = \tilde{f}(\lambda)$, so that, by (4.4.9) and by the fact that $R(\Lambda)$ is symmetric,

$$\begin{split} d\tilde{t} &= S_{\gamma}^{T} \frac{d\lambda}{\sqrt{2R(\lambda)f(\lambda)\tilde{P}(\lambda,\alpha,\tilde{\alpha})}} = S_{\gamma}^{T} \frac{d\lambda}{\sqrt{2R^{2}(\lambda)f(\lambda)P(\lambda,\tilde{\alpha},\alpha)}} \\ &= S_{\gamma}^{T}R^{-1}(\Lambda) \frac{d\lambda}{\sqrt{2f(\lambda)P(\lambda,\tilde{\alpha},\alpha)}} = S_{\gamma}^{T}R^{-1}(\Lambda)\left(S^{T}\right)^{-1}dt = \left(S^{-1}R^{-1}(\Lambda)S_{\gamma}\right)^{T}dt \\ &= \left(S^{-1}S_{\gamma}S_{\gamma}^{-1}R^{-1}(\Lambda)S_{\gamma}\right)^{T}dt = \left(W_{\gamma}^{-1}R^{-1}(F_{\gamma})\right)^{T}dt \end{split}$$

and hence

$$d\tilde{t} = R^{-1}(F_{\gamma}^{T}) \left(W_{\gamma}^{T}\right)^{-1} dt = \left[W_{\gamma}^{T} R(F_{\gamma}^{T})\right]^{-1} dt = \left[R(F^{T}) W_{\gamma}^{T}\right]^{-1} dt$$
$$= \left[W_{\gamma}^{T} R(F^{T})\right]^{-1} dt,$$

which is what we wanted to prove.

Our formulas contain two special cases: when $\gamma = (n - 1, ..., 1, 0)$ and when R = 1. In the first case we relate systems belonging to the same Benenti class and differ by f and σ . The matrix $W_{\gamma} = I_n$ so that the formulas (4.4.4) and (4.4.6)

become

$$h = H - R^{-1}(F)\alpha,$$

$$\tilde{h} = R(F)H - R(F)\tilde{\alpha},$$
(4.4.10)

while (4.4.8) attains the form

$$d\tilde{t} = R^{-1}(F^T)dt. ag{4.4.11}$$

In the second case (R = 1) we relate systems from different classes, i.e. $(\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_n)$ and Benenti class $(n - 1, \ldots, 1, 0)$ respectively, which share the same *f* and σ . The formulas (4.4.4) and (4.4.6) become

$$h = H - W_{\gamma}^{-1} \alpha,$$

$$\tilde{h} = W_{\gamma} H - W_{\gamma} \tilde{\alpha},$$
(4.4.12)

while the formula (4.4.8) attains the form

$$d\tilde{t} = \left[W_{\gamma}^{T}\right]^{-1} dt.$$
(4.4.13)

Thus, the general transformation between the systems (4.4.1) and (4.4.7) can be regarded as a composition of two transformations: a map between two Stäckel systems from the Beneti class with different f (i.e. metrics) and the transformation between two Stäckel systems from different classes, sharing the same f.

4.4.2 Elementary Stäckel Transforms in Benenti Class

In the previous subsection we presented the construction of equivalent separable systems, in the sense that their sets of Hamiltonians were related by the Stäckel transform (4.4.6) and respective solutions are related by an appropriate reciprocal transformation (4.4.8) (coordinate dependent reparametrization of evolution parameters). If we skip the demand of reciprocal relations between solutions and restrict only to Stäckel related systems, then on the level of Stäckel transforms we can formulate the following statement. Any separable system generated by a separation curve of the form

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \bar{H}_{j} \lambda^{\gamma_{j}} = \bar{f}(\lambda) \mu^{2} + \bar{\sigma}(\lambda)$$
(4.4.14)

168

is Stäckel-related to a Benenti system generated by a separation curve

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} H_j \lambda^{n-j} = f(\lambda) \mu^2 + \sigma(\lambda)$$
(4.4.15)

under the condition

$$\bar{f}(\lambda)\sigma(\lambda) = \bar{\sigma}(\lambda)f(\lambda) \Longrightarrow \sigma(\lambda) = f(\lambda)\kappa(\lambda), \quad \bar{\sigma}(\lambda) = \bar{f}(\lambda)\kappa(\lambda), \quad (4.4.16)$$

where the single Stäckel transform is of the form

$$\bar{H} = W_{\gamma}R(F)H \tag{4.4.17}$$

with $R(\lambda) = \frac{\bar{f}(\lambda)}{f(\lambda)}$. In particular, any two geodesic Stäckel systems (i.e. with $\sigma = \bar{\sigma} = 0$) are connected by the Stäckel transform (4.4.17). The statement follows directly from (4.4.4) and (4.4.6) for the particular case $\alpha = \bar{\alpha} = 0$ (compare with (4.1.17)). In this sense our Stäckel transform transforms the parameter-free Liouville-integrable system (4.4.15) into another parameter-free Liouville integrable system (4.4.14), although their solutions are not related by any reciprocal transformation.

The condition (4.4.16) splits all Stäckel systems generated by (4.3.10) into equivalence classes since it is an equivalence relation. Indeed, if $\frac{f_2(\lambda)}{f_1(\lambda)} = \frac{\sigma_2(\lambda)}{\sigma_1(\lambda)} = R_1(\lambda)$ and $\frac{f_3(\lambda)}{f_2(\lambda)} = \frac{\sigma_3(\lambda)}{\sigma_2(\lambda)} = R_2(\lambda)$ then $\frac{f_3(\lambda)}{f_1(\lambda)} = \frac{\sigma_3(\lambda)}{\sigma_1(\lambda)} = R_2(\lambda)R_1(\lambda)$ so the relation is transitive. Further, if $\frac{f_2(\lambda)}{f_1(\lambda)} = \frac{\sigma_2(\lambda)}{\sigma_1(\lambda)} = R(\lambda)$ then $\frac{f_1(\lambda)}{f_2(\lambda)} = \frac{\sigma_1(\lambda)}{\sigma_2(\lambda)} = \frac{1}{R(\lambda)}$ so the relation is reflexive. Finally, $\frac{f_1(\lambda)}{f_1(\lambda)} = \frac{\sigma_1(\lambda)}{\sigma_1(\lambda)} = 1$ so the relation is symmetric.

The general Stäckel transform (4.4.17) is a composition of two elementary Stäckel transforms. The first one is the Stäckel transform inside Benenti class, relating two systems with different $f(\lambda)$

$$H_{1}\lambda^{n-1} + H_{2}\lambda^{n-2} + \dots + H_{n} = f(\lambda) \left[\frac{1}{2}\mu^{2} + \kappa(\lambda)\right]$$
$$\downarrow R(F), W_{\gamma} = I_{n}$$
$$\mu\lambda^{n-1} + \bar{H}_{2}\lambda^{n-2} + \dots + \bar{H}_{n} = \bar{f}(\lambda) \left[\frac{1}{2}\mu^{2} + \kappa(\lambda)\right], \qquad (4.4.18)$$

where

 \overline{H}

$$\bar{H} = R(F)H, \quad R(F) = \bar{f}(F)f^{-1}(F).$$
 (4.4.19)

The second one (R = 1) relates systems from Benenti class with systems from $(\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_n)$ class, which share the same $f(\lambda)$

$$H_{1}\lambda^{n-1} + H_{2}\lambda^{n-2} + \dots + H_{n} = f(\lambda) \left[\frac{1}{2}\mu^{2} + \kappa(\lambda)\right]$$

$$\downarrow W_{\gamma}, \ R(F) = I_{n}$$

$$\bar{H}_{1}\lambda^{\gamma_{1}} + \bar{H}_{2}\lambda^{\gamma_{2}} + \dots + \bar{H}_{n} = f(\lambda) \left[\frac{1}{2}\mu^{2} + \kappa(\lambda)\right],$$
(4.4.20)

where

$$\bar{H} = W_{\gamma} H. \tag{4.4.21}$$

Let us analyze the structure of the matrix $W_{\gamma} = S_{\gamma}^{-1}S$ in a similar fashion as we analyzed the structure of the matrix $W_{\gamma}^{-1} = S^{-1}S_{\gamma}$ in the previous subsection. Assume that $\sigma(\lambda)$ in (4.3.11) is a polynomial of the form $\sigma(\lambda) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \bar{\alpha}_i \lambda^{n-i}$. Then, as it follows from (4.3.11) and from the definition of potentials $\bar{V}^{(k)}$, we have

$$\bar{V}^{(\sigma)} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i \bar{V}^{(n-i)},$$

where $\bar{V}^{(n-i)} = (\bar{V}_1^{(n-i)}, \dots, \bar{V}_n^{(n-i)})^T$ are basic potentials from γ -class (4.3.10). On the other hand, the formula (4.3.11) can now be written as

$$S_{\nu}^{(\sigma)}\bar{V}=S\bar{\alpha},$$

so that $\bar{V}^{(\sigma)} = S_{\gamma}^{-1} S \bar{\alpha} = W_{\gamma} \bar{\alpha}$, which implies that

$$(W_{\gamma})_{ij} = \bar{V}_i^{(n-j)},$$
 (4.4.22)

where $\bar{V}^{(n-j)} = F_{\gamma}^{n-j} V^{(0)}$ in accordance with (4.3.13).

4.4.3 The Structure of Stäckel Hamiltonians from y-Classes

The separation curve for γ -class of Stäckel systems for $\gamma = (\gamma_1, \dots, \gamma_{n-1}, 0)$ is of the form

$$\bar{H}_1\lambda^{\gamma_1} + \bar{H}_2\lambda^{\gamma_2} + \dots + \bar{H}_n = f(\lambda)\left[\frac{1}{2}\mu^2 + \kappa(\lambda)\right] = \frac{1}{2}f(\lambda)\mu^2 + \sigma(\lambda), \quad (4.4.23)$$

with Hamiltonians

$$\bar{H}_r = \frac{1}{2} \sum_i \bar{A}_r^{ii} \mu_i^2 + \bar{V}_r^{(\sigma)}, \quad r = 1, \dots, n.$$
(4.4.24)

According to our previous considerations, tensors \bar{A}_r and separable potentials $\bar{V}^{(\sigma)}$ can be calculated either directly from the separation curve (4.4.23) with the help of (4.3.7) and (4.3.13) or by the Stäckel transform (4.4.20), (4.4.21) from Beneti class.

For the sake of the further quantum separability theory, it is important to reveal in a greater detail the structure of tensors \bar{A}_r . In order to do it in this subsection we adopt the alternative derivation of Stäckel transform (4.4.20), developed in [30]. Let us start with the separation curve (4.4.23) with the following notation

$$\tilde{H}_1 \lambda^{(n+k)-1} + \tilde{H}_2 \lambda^{(n+k)-2} + \ldots + \tilde{H}_{n+k} = \frac{1}{2} f(\lambda) \mu^2 + \sigma(\lambda), \qquad (4.4.25)$$

with missing k monomials $\tilde{H}_{m_1}\lambda^{(n+k)-m_1}$, $\tilde{H}_{m_2}\lambda^{(n+k)-m_2}$, ..., $\tilde{H}_{m_k}\lambda^{(n+k)-m_k}$, $1 < m_1 < \ldots < m_k < n+k-1$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$, i.e. $\tilde{H}_{m_1} = \tilde{H}_{m_2} = \ldots = \tilde{H}_{m_k} = 0$, and the separation curve for Benenti systems with the same right hand side

$$H_1 \lambda^{n-1} + H_2 \lambda^{n-2} + \ldots + H_n = \frac{1}{2} f(\lambda) \mu^2 + \sigma(\lambda).$$
 (4.4.26)

As for the basic potentials of Benenti class

$$V_1^{(n+k)}\lambda^{n-1}+\ldots+V_n^{(n+k)}=\lambda^{n+k},$$

substituting this relation to (4.4.25) for $\lambda^{(n+k)-1}, \ldots, \lambda^n$ and comparing the obtained relation with (4.4.26) we get

$$H_r = \tilde{H}_{r+k} + V_r^{(n+k-1)}\tilde{H}_1 + V_r^{(n+k-2)}\tilde{H}_2 + \ldots + V_r^{(n)}\tilde{H}_k, \quad r = 1, \ldots, n,$$
(4.4.27)

where $\tilde{H}_{m_1} = \ldots = \tilde{H}_{m_k} = 0$ and $V_r^{(m)}$ are appropriate basic potentials. Notice that fixing the numbers m_1, \ldots, m_k we chose in a unique way the numbers $\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_n$, i.e. a γ -class.

The inverse formula to the (4.4.27) one, is given by a following determinant form

$$\tilde{H}_{r} = \frac{\begin{vmatrix} H_{r-k} & \rho_{r-1} & \cdots & \rho_{r-k} \\ H_{m_{1}-k} & \rho_{m_{1}-1} & \cdots & \rho_{m_{1}-k} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ H_{m_{k}-k} & \rho_{m_{k}-1} & \cdots & \rho_{m_{k}-k} \end{vmatrix}}{\begin{vmatrix} \rho_{m_{1}-1} & \cdots & \rho_{m_{1}-k} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \rho_{m_{k}-1} & \cdots & \rho_{m_{k}-k} \end{vmatrix}},$$
(4.4.28)

where ρ_i are Viète polynomials (4.3.18), where $\rho_0 = 1$, $\rho_r = 0$ for r > n and r < 0. The constants m_i are those for which the corresponding monomials λ^{n+k-m_i} are missing in the left hand side of (4.4.25).

In order to verify the formula (4.4.28), first we select from (4.4.27) k equations containing $\tilde{H}_{m_1}, \ldots, \tilde{H}_{m_k}$

$$H_{m_1-k} = V_{m_1-k}^{(n+k-1)} \tilde{H}_1 + \ldots + V_{m_1-k}^{(n)} \tilde{H}_k,$$

$$\vdots$$
$$H_{m_k-k} = V_{m_k-k}^{(n+k-1)} \tilde{H}_1 + \ldots + V_{m_k-k}^{(n)} \tilde{H}_k.$$

The solution with respect to \tilde{H}_i , i = 1, ..., k is given by a determinant form

$$\tilde{H}_i = \frac{D_i}{D}, \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$

where

$$D = \begin{vmatrix} V_{m_1-k}^{(n+k-1)} \cdots V_{m_1-k}^{(n)} \\ \cdots \\ V_{m_k-k}^{(n+k-1)} \cdots V_{m_k-k}^{(n)} \end{vmatrix}$$

and

$$D_{i} = (-1)^{i+1} \begin{vmatrix} H_{m_{1}-k} & V_{m_{1}-k}^{(n+k-1)} & \cdots & V_{m_{1}-k}^{(n)} \\ \cdots & \cdots & \cdots \\ H_{m_{k}-k} & V_{m_{k}-k}^{(n+k-1)} & \cdots & V_{m_{k}-k}^{(n)} \end{vmatrix}$$

with the column $(V_{m_1-k}^{(n+k-i)}, \ldots, V_{m_k-k}^{(n+k-i)})^T$ missing. Substituting this result to (4.4.27) we get

$$\tilde{H}_{r} = \frac{H_{r-k}D - V_{r-k}^{(n+k-1)}D_{1} - \dots - V_{r-k}^{(n)}D_{k}}{D}$$

$$= \frac{\begin{vmatrix} H_{r-k} & V_{r-k}^{(n+k-1)} & \cdots & V_{r-k}^{(n)} \\ H_{m_{1}-k} & V_{m_{1}-k}^{(n+k-1)} & \cdots & V_{m_{1}-k}^{(n)} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ H_{m_{k}-k} & V_{m_{k}-k}^{(n+k-1)} & \cdots & V_{m_{k}-k}^{(n)} \end{vmatrix}}{\begin{vmatrix} V_{m_{k}-k}^{(n+k-1)} & \cdots & V_{m_{1}-k}^{(n)} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ V_{m_{k}-k}^{(n+k-1)} & \cdots & V_{m_{k}-k}^{(n)} \end{vmatrix}}$$
$$= \frac{\begin{vmatrix} H_{r-k} & \rho_{r-1} & \cdots & \rho_{r-k} \\ H_{m_1-k} & \rho_{m_1-1} & \cdots & \rho_{m_1-k} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ H_{m_k-k} & \rho_{m_k-1} & \cdots & \rho_{m_k-k} \end{vmatrix}}{\begin{vmatrix} \rho_{m_1-1} & \cdots & \rho_{m_1-k} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \rho_{m_k-1} & \cdots & \rho_{m_k-k} \end{vmatrix}}.$$

The last step is valid due to the fact that $V_i^{(n)} = -\rho_i$, the form of the recursion formula for basic potentials (4.3.23) and the properties of determinants. It allows us to replace the arbitrary potential $V_s^{(n+k-i)}$ in determinants by the $V_{s+k-i}^{(n)} = -\rho_{s+k-i}$ one. For each recursive step we have

The formula (4.4.28) applies separately to the geodesic and the potential parts. Moreover it is valid in any local coordinates. So first, let us look at *n* geodesic Hamiltonians \tilde{T}_r , r = 1, ..., n + k, $r \neq m_1, ..., m_k$. Introducing the abbreviation

$$\varphi(m_1,\ldots,m_k) = \begin{vmatrix} \rho_{m_1-1} \cdots \rho_{m_1-k} \\ \cdots \\ \rho_{m_k-1} \cdots \\ \rho_{m_k-k} \end{vmatrix}, \qquad (4.4.29)$$

one finds

$$\tilde{T}_{r} = \frac{1}{\varphi} \begin{vmatrix} T_{r-k} & \rho_{r-1} & \cdots & \rho_{r-k} \\ T_{m_{1}-k} & \rho_{m_{1}-1} & \cdots & \rho_{m_{1}-k} \\ \cdots & \cdots & \cdots & \cdots \\ T_{m_{k}-k} & \rho_{m_{k}-1} & \cdots & \rho_{m_{k}-k} \end{vmatrix}.$$

Using the known relations for Killing tensors (4.3.19), the convention $K_r = 0$ for r > n and r < 1 and the property of determinants we get (in a coordinate free form)

$$\tilde{T}_{r} = \frac{1}{2} p^{T} \begin{vmatrix} K_{r-k} & \rho_{r-1}I & \cdots & \rho_{r-k}I \\ K_{m_{1}-k} & \rho_{m_{1}-1}I & \cdots & \rho_{m_{1}-k}I \\ \cdots & \cdots & \cdots & \cdots \\ K_{m_{k}-k} & \rho_{m_{k}-1}I & \cdots & \rho_{m_{k}-k}I \end{vmatrix} \frac{1}{\varphi} Gp$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} p^{T} \begin{vmatrix} K_{r-k} & K_{r} & \cdots & K_{r-k+1} \\ K_{m_{1}-k} & K_{m_{1}} & \cdots & K_{m_{1}-k+1} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots \\ K_{m_{k}-k} & K_{m_{k}} & \cdots & K_{m_{k}-k+1} \end{vmatrix} \frac{1}{\varphi} G p$$

$$= (-1)^{k} \frac{1}{2} p^{T} \begin{vmatrix} K_{r} & \cdots & K_{r-k+1} & K_{r-k} \\ K_{m_{1}} & \cdots & K_{m_{1}-k+1} & K_{m_{1}-k} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ K_{m_{k}} & \cdots & K_{m_{k}-k+1} & K_{m_{k}-k} \end{vmatrix} \frac{1}{\varphi} Gp$$
(4.4.30)

$$=\frac{1}{2}p^T\frac{1}{\varphi}M_rGp,$$

where

$$M_{r} = (-1)^{k} \begin{vmatrix} K_{r} & \cdots & K_{r-k+1} & K_{r-k} \\ K_{m_{1}} & \cdots & K_{m_{1}-k+1} & K_{m_{1}-k} \\ \cdots & \cdots & \cdots & \cdots \\ K_{m_{k}} & \cdots & K_{m_{k}-k+1} & K_{m_{k}-k} \end{vmatrix}, \quad r = 1, \dots, n+k, \quad (4.4.31)$$

 $I \equiv I_n$ and K_m , $\rho_m I$ in determinant calculations are treated as symbols not matrices. Again the formula (4.4.30) is valid in any local coordinate frame. Thus, the structure of tensors \tilde{A}_r in Hamiltonians (4.4.25) is as follows

$$\tilde{A}_r = \frac{1}{\varphi(m_1, \dots, m_k)} M_r G, \qquad (4.4.32)$$

where G is a metric tensor (4.3.16) from Benenti class, M_r tensors are polynomial functions (4.4.31) of Killing tensors (4.3.17) and function φ is determined by (4.4.29). From the construction of M_r tensors, it follows that in the separation coordinate

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda_i} (M_r)_i^i = 0, \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$
(4.4.33)

The structure of \tilde{A}_r tensors, revealed above, will be crucial for the quantum separability theory developed in Sect. 8.2. Additionally, the basic deformed potentials can be calculated form the general formula

$$\tilde{V}_{r} = \frac{1}{\varphi(m_{1}, \dots, m_{k})} \begin{vmatrix} V_{r-k} & \rho_{r-1} & \cdots & \rho_{r-k} \\ V_{m_{1}-k} & \rho_{m_{1}-1} & \cdots & \rho_{m_{1}-k} \\ \cdots & \cdots & \cdots & \cdots \\ V_{m_{k}-k} & \rho_{m_{k}-1} & \cdots & \rho_{m_{k}-k} \end{vmatrix}.$$

Let us consider in detail the simplest nontrivial case $k = 1, 1 < m_1 < n$, where Hamiltonians $\overline{H} = \overline{T} + \overline{V}$ and $\widetilde{H} = \widetilde{T} + \widetilde{V}$ from (4.4.23) and (4.4.25) are related by

$$\bar{H}_r = \tilde{H}_r, \quad r = 1, \dots, m_1 - 1,$$

 $\bar{H}_r = \tilde{H}_{r+1}, \quad r = m_1, \dots, n$
(4.4.34)

and will be expressed by respective elements of Benenti Hamiltonians H_r (4.4.26), (4.3.15). The formula (4.4.28) applies separately to the geodesic and the potential parts

$$\tilde{T}_r = T_{r-1} - \frac{\rho_{r-1}}{\rho_{m_1-1}} T_{m_1-1}, \qquad (4.4.35a)$$

$$\tilde{V}_r = V_{r-1} - \frac{\rho_{r-1}}{\rho_{m_1-1}} V_{m_1-1}.$$
(4.4.35b)

First let us consider the geodesic parts, which according to (4.4.30) take the form

$$\tilde{T}_r = \frac{1}{2} p^T \frac{1}{\rho_{m_1-1}} M_r G p, \quad M_r = K_{m_1} K_{r-1} - K_{m_1-1} K_r,$$

where $\varphi(m_1) = \rho_{m_1-1}$ and \overline{T}_r are related with \widetilde{T}_r by relation (4.4.34). Now, let us analyze the basic potentials $\widetilde{V}_r^{(m)}$ related with $\sigma(\lambda) = \lambda^m$, $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ in (4.4.25). From (4.3.2)–(4.3.23) and (4.4.35a) we have

$$\tilde{V}_r^{(m)} = \delta_{r-1,n-m}, \quad m < n+1, \quad m \neq n+1-m_1$$

and first nontrivial potentials

$$\tilde{V}_r^{(n+1-m_1)} = \delta_{r,m_1} - \frac{\rho_{r-1}}{\rho_{m_1-1}}, \quad \tilde{V}_r^{(n+1)} = -\rho_r + \frac{\rho_{r-1}\rho_{m_1}}{\rho_{m_1-1}}.$$

Again \bar{V}_r are related with \tilde{V}_r by relations (4.4.34), so for m < n + 1, $m \neq n + 1 - m_1$

$$\bar{V}_r^{(m)} = \delta_{r-1,n-m}, \quad r = 1, \dots, m_1 - 1,$$

 $\bar{V}_r^{(m)} = \delta_{r,n-m}, \quad r = m_1, \dots, n,$

then

$$\bar{V}_r^{(n+1-m_1)} = -\frac{\rho_{r-1}}{\rho_{m_1-1}}, \quad r = 1, \dots, m_1 - 1,$$
$$\bar{V}_r^{(n+1-m_1)} = -\frac{\rho_r}{\rho_{m_1-1}}, \quad r = m_1, \dots, n,$$

and

$$\bar{V}_r^{(n+1)} = -\rho_r + \frac{\rho_{r-1}\rho_{m_1}}{\rho_{m_1-1}}, \quad r = 1, \dots, m_1 - 1,$$
$$\bar{V}_r^{(n+1)} = -\rho_{r+1} + \frac{\rho_r \rho_{m_1}}{\rho_{m_1-1}}, \quad r = m_1, \dots, n,$$

respectively. The recursion matrix (4.3.1), expressed by vectors of potentials $\bar{V}^{(m)}$ takes the form

$$F = S^{-1} \Lambda S = (\bar{V}^{(n+1)}, \dots, \bar{V}^{(n+3-m_1)}, \bar{V}^{(n+1-m_1)}, \dots, \bar{V}^{(1)}).$$

We illustrate the general case k > 1 by one simple example.

Example 4.16 Consider the case of $\gamma = (4, 1, 0)$, i.e. n = 3, k = 2, $m_1 = 2$, $n_2 = 3$ and thus the separation curve in the form

$$\bar{H}_1\lambda^4 + \bar{H}_2\lambda + \bar{H}_3 = \frac{1}{2}f(\lambda)\mu^2 + \sigma(\lambda)$$

The related Hamiltonians from Beneti class are given by the separation curve

$$H_1\lambda^2 + H_2\lambda + H_3 = \frac{1}{2}f(\lambda)\mu^2 + \sigma(\lambda).$$

According to (4.4.28) and (4.4.29)

$$\varphi = \begin{vmatrix} \rho_1 & 1 \\ \rho_2 & \rho_1 \end{vmatrix} = \rho_1^2 - \rho_2,$$
$$\bar{H}_1 = \tilde{H}_1 = \frac{1}{\varphi} \begin{vmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \rho_1 & 1 \\ H_1 & \rho_2 & \rho_1 \end{vmatrix} = \frac{1}{\rho_1^2 - \rho_2} H_1,$$

$$\bar{H}_{2} = \tilde{H}_{4} = \frac{1}{\varphi} \begin{vmatrix} H_{2} \rho_{3} \rho_{2} \\ 0 \rho_{1} & 1 \\ H_{1} \rho_{2} \rho_{1} \end{vmatrix} = H_{2} + \frac{\rho_{3} - \rho_{1}\rho_{2}}{\rho_{1}^{2} - \rho_{2}} H_{1},$$
$$\bar{H}_{3} = \tilde{H}_{5} = \frac{1}{\varphi} \begin{vmatrix} H_{3} & 0 & \rho_{3} \\ 0 & \rho_{1} & 1 \\ H_{1} & \rho_{2} & \rho_{1} \end{vmatrix} = H_{3} - \frac{\rho_{1}\rho_{3}}{\rho_{1}^{2} - \rho_{2}} H_{1}.$$

Observe that Hamiltonians \overline{H}_i can be alternatively constructed according to (4.4.21) and (4.4.5)

$$\bar{H} = W_{\gamma}^{-1}H$$

where

$$W_{\gamma} = \begin{pmatrix} V_1^{(4)} & V_1^{(1)} & V_1^{(0)} \\ V_2^{(4)} & V_2^{(1)} & V_2^{(0)} \\ V_3^{(4)} & V_3^{(1)} & V_3^{(0)} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \rho_1^2 - \rho_2 & 0 & 0 \\ \rho_1 \rho_2 - \rho_3 & 1 & 0 \\ \rho_1 \rho_3 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

According to (4.4.30), geodesic parts of Hamiltonians \bar{H}_i are $\bar{T}_i = \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{\varphi} p^T \bar{M}_r G p$, where

$$\bar{M}_{1} = M_{1} = \begin{vmatrix} I & 0 & 0 \\ K_{2} & I & 0 \\ K_{3} & K_{2} & I \end{vmatrix} = I,$$

$$\bar{M}_{2} = M_{4} = \begin{vmatrix} 0 & K_{3} & K_{2} \\ K_{2} & I & 0 \\ K_{3} & K_{2} & I \end{vmatrix} = K_{2}^{3} - 2K_{2}K_{3},$$

$$\bar{M}_{3} = M_{5} = \begin{vmatrix} 0 & 0 & K_{3} \\ K_{2} & I & 0 \\ K_{3} & K_{2} & I \end{vmatrix} = K_{2}^{2}K_{3} - K_{3}^{2}.$$

Metric tensor G and Killing tensors K_i are from the Benenti class. Separable potentials are constructed according to formulas

$$\bar{V}_1 = \tilde{V}_1 = \frac{1}{\rho_1^2 - \rho_2} V_1,$$

$$\bar{V}_2 = \tilde{V}_4 = V_2 + \frac{\rho_3 - \rho_1 \rho_2}{\rho_1^2 - \rho_2} V_1,$$

$$\bar{V}_3 = \tilde{V}_5 = V_3 - \frac{\rho_1 \rho_3}{\rho_1^2 - \rho_2} V_1.$$

The simplest potentials are as follows

$$\begin{split} \bar{V}^{(1)} &= (0, 1, 0)^T, \\ \bar{V}^{(2)} &= \left(\frac{1}{\rho_1^2 - \rho_2}, \frac{\rho_3 - \rho_1 \rho_2}{\rho_1^2 - \rho_2}, -\frac{\rho_1 \rho_3}{\rho_1^2 - \rho_2}\right)^T, \\ \bar{V}^{(3)} &= \left(-\frac{\rho_1}{\rho_1^2 - \rho_2}, \frac{\rho_2^2 - \rho_1 \rho_3}{\rho_1^2 - \rho_2}, \frac{\rho_2 \rho_3}{\rho_1^2 - \rho_2}\right)^T, \\ \bar{V}^{(4)} &= (1, 0, 0)^T, \\ \bar{V}^{(5)} &= \left(\frac{2\rho_1 \rho_2 - \rho_1^3 - \rho_3}{\rho_1^2 - \rho_2}, \frac{2\rho_1 \rho_2 \rho_3 - \rho_2^3 - \rho_3^2}{\rho_1^2 - \rho_2}, \frac{\rho_1 \rho_3^2 - \rho_2^2 \rho_3}{\rho_1^2 - \rho_2}\right)^T \end{split}$$

and the recursion matrix takes the form

$$F = S^{-1}\Lambda S = (\bar{V}^{(5)}, \bar{V}^{(2)}, \bar{V}^{(1)}) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{2\rho_1\rho_2 - \rho_1^3 - \rho_3}{\rho_1^2 - \rho_2} & \frac{1}{\rho_1^2 - \rho_2} & 0\\ \frac{2\rho_1\rho_2\rho_3 - \rho_2^3 - \rho_3^2}{\rho_1^2 - \rho_2} & \frac{\rho_3 - \rho_1\rho_2}{\rho_1^2 - \rho_2} & 1\\ \frac{\rho_1\rho_3^2 - \rho_2^2\rho_3}{\rho_1^2 - \rho_2} & -\frac{\rho_1\rho_3}{\rho_1^2 - \rho_2} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

4.4.4 Stäckel Transform of Superintegrable Systems

In this subsection we perform Stäckel transforms of systems considered in Sect. 4.3.3 that preserve maximal superintegrability. According to the results of Sect. 4.1.3, the Hamiltonian h_1 of the considered system can only depend on one parameter $h_1 = h_1(x, \alpha)$. It is then natural to choose one of the α_k in (4.3.25) as this parameter.

Consider thus a maximally superintegrable system (h_1, \ldots, h_{2n-1}) with the first *n* commuting Hamiltonians h_1, \ldots, h_n defined by a separation curve

$$\sum_{s \in I} \alpha_s \lambda^s + h_1 \lambda^{n-1} + h_2 \lambda^{n-2} + \ldots + h_n = \frac{1}{2} \lambda^m \mu^2, \quad m = 0, \ldots, n+1,$$

where the index set *I* was found in Sect. 4.3.3 and where the higher integrals h_{n+r} are constructed as usual through $h_{n+r} = \{h_{r+1}, P\}$. Let us now choose one of the parameters α_s , with $s \in I$, say α_k , (we will suppose that $k \ge n$ or k < 0 otherwise the corresponding potential is trivial, as explained earlier) and define the functions H_r , $r = 1, \ldots, 2n - 1$, through

$$h_r = H_r + \alpha_k V_r^{(k)}, \ r = 1, \dots, 2n-1.$$

We now perform the Stäckel transform on this system (h_1, \ldots, h_{2n-1}) with respect to the chosen parameter α_k . Thus, we first solve the relation $h_1 = \tilde{\alpha}$ i.e. $H_1 + \alpha_k V_1^{(k)} = \tilde{\alpha}$ with respect to α_k which yields

$$\tilde{h}_1 = \alpha_k = -\frac{1}{V_1^{(k)}} H_1 + \tilde{\alpha} \frac{1}{V_1^{(k)}}$$
(4.4.36)

and then replace α_k with \tilde{h}_1 in all the remaining Hamiltonians:

$$\tilde{h}_r = H_r - \frac{V_r^{(k)}}{V_1^{(k)}} H_1 + \tilde{\alpha} \frac{V_r^{(k)}}{V_1^{(k)}}, \quad r = 2, \dots, 2n - 1$$
(4.4.37)

We obtain in this way a new superintegrable system $(\tilde{h}_1, \ldots, \tilde{h}_{2n-1})$ where the first *n* commuting Hamiltonians \tilde{h}_r are defined by the following separation curve

$$\tilde{h}_1 \lambda^k + \sum_{s \in I, \ s \neq k} \alpha_s \lambda^s + \tilde{\alpha} \lambda^{n-1} + \tilde{h}_2 \lambda^{n-2} \dots + \tilde{h}_n = \frac{1}{2} \lambda^m \mu^2, \quad m = 0, \dots, n+1$$
(4.4.38)

since on the level of the separation relations our Stäckel transform replaces α_k with \tilde{h}_1 and h_1 with $\tilde{\alpha}$. For $k \ge n$ the system (4.4.38) is no longer in the Benenti class (4.3.25). On the other hand, for k < 0, the separation curve (4.4.38) attains after the consecutive point transformation given by

$$\lambda \to 1/\lambda, \mu \to -\lambda^2 \mu,$$

the form

$$\tilde{\alpha}\lambda^{-1} + \sum_{s \in I, \ s \neq k} \alpha_s \lambda^{n-2-s} + \tilde{h}_1 \lambda^{n-k-2} + \tilde{h}_n \lambda^{n-2} + \ldots + \tilde{h}_2 = \frac{1}{2}\lambda^{n-m+2}\mu^2.$$

Thus, for k = -1, it again attains the form (4.3.25), i.e. belongs to the Benenti class, while for k < -1 we deal with particular γ -class. Notice that the transformation (4.4.4) does not change the separation web of the system.

Denoting

$$\tilde{h}_r = \tilde{H}_r + \tilde{\alpha}\tilde{V}_r, \ r = 1, \dots, 2n-1$$

(where \tilde{h}_r for r = 1, ..., n are defined by (4.4.37) while \tilde{h}_r for r = n+1, ..., 2n-1 are obtained through $\tilde{h}_{n+r} = {\tilde{h}_{r+1}, P}$) we find from (4.4.37) that

$$\tilde{V}_r = V_r - \frac{V_r^{(k)}}{V_1^{(k)}} V_1, \ r = 2, \dots, 2n-1$$

and from (4.4.36) it also follows that the geodesic part \tilde{T}_1 of \tilde{h}_1 has the form

$$\tilde{T}_1 = \tilde{G}^{ij} p_i p_j, \quad \tilde{G} = -\frac{1}{V_1^{(k)}} G$$

It means that the metric \tilde{G} is a *conformal deformation* of either a flat or a constant curvature metric G.

It is interesting to find the cases of superintegrable systems when the metric \tilde{G} is actually flat or of constant curvature as well. The following results hold:

- (i) For $0 \le m \le n-1$ and $k \in \{-m, \ldots, -1, n, \ldots, 2n-m-1\}$ the metric \tilde{G} in (4.4.4) is flat for $k \in \{-[m/2], \ldots, -1, n, \ldots, n-1+[(n-m)/2]\}$, where $[\cdot]$ denotes the integer part. Moreover, for m = 1 and k = -1 \tilde{G} is of constant curvature. Otherwise \tilde{G} is conformally flat.
- (ii) For m = n and $k \in \{-(n-2), \dots, -1, n\}$ the metric \tilde{G} in (4.4.4) is flat for $k \in \{-[n/2], \dots, -1\}$. Otherwise \tilde{G} is conformally flat.
- (iii) For m = n + 1 and $k \in \{-(n 1), \dots, -1\}$ the metric \tilde{G} in (4.4.4) is flat for $k \in \{-[(n + 1)/2], \dots, -1\}$. Otherwise \tilde{G} is conformally flat.

For the proof we send the reader to [40].

If $Y(V_1^{(k)}) = 0$ then $Y(1/V_1^{(k)}) = 0$ and due to (4.4.4) also $L_Y \tilde{G} = 0$ so that $\{\tilde{h}_1, P\} = 0$ as well and the same P as in the "non-tilde"-case (i.e. before the Stäckel transform) can be used as an alternative definition of extra Hamiltonians through $\bar{h}_{n+r} = \{\tilde{h}_{r+1}, P\}$, r = 1, ..., n-1. This is, however, no longer true if $Y(V_1^{(k)}) = c \neq 0$ and it happens only in the case when m < n and k = 2n - m - 1. In consequence, if $Y(V_1^{(k)}) = 0$ then both sets of extra integrals of motion:

$$h_{n+r} = \{h_{r+1}, P\}, r = 1, \dots, n-1$$

and

$$\tilde{h}_{n+r} = h_{n+r}|_{\alpha = \tilde{h}_1(\tilde{\alpha})}, r = 1, \dots, n-1$$

coincide. Indeed, on one hand, according to (4.4.37) and due to the fact that $\{\tilde{h}_1, P\} = 0$ we have

$$\bar{h}_{n+r} = \{\tilde{h}_{r+1}, P\} = \left\{ H_{r+1} - \frac{V_{r+1}^{(k)}}{V_1^{(k)}} H_1 + \tilde{\alpha} \frac{V_{r+1}^{(k)}}{V_1^{(k)}}, P \right\}$$
$$= \{H_{r+1}, P\} - \frac{H_1}{V_1^{(k)}} \left\{ V_{r+1}^{(k)}, P \right\} + \frac{\tilde{\alpha}}{V_1^{(k)}} \left\{ V_{r+1}^{(k)}, P \right\}$$
$$= \{H_{r+1}, P\} + \tilde{h}_1 \left\{ V_{r+1}^{(k)}, P \right\}$$

On the other hand, due to

$$\tilde{h}_{n+r} = h_{n+r}|_{\alpha = \tilde{h}_1(\widetilde{\alpha})} = \{h_{r+1}, P\}|_{\alpha = \tilde{h}_1(\widetilde{\alpha})} = \{H_{r+1}, P\} + \alpha \left\{ V_{r+1}^{(k)}, P \right\} \Big|_{\alpha = \tilde{h}_1(\widetilde{\alpha})}$$

which yields the same result.

Thus, if $Y(V_1^{(k)}) = 0$, the diagram below commutes

$$\begin{array}{ccc} (h_1, \dots, h_n) & \stackrel{P}{\longrightarrow} & (h_1, \dots, h_{2n-1}) \text{ with } h_{n+r} = \{h_{r+1}, P\} \\ & & | \\ \text{Stäckel transform} & & \text{Stäckel transform} \\ & \downarrow & \downarrow \\ \left(\tilde{h}_1, \dots, \tilde{h}_n\right) & \stackrel{P}{\longrightarrow} \left(\tilde{h}_1, \dots, \tilde{h}_{2n-1}\right) \text{ with } \tilde{h}_{n+r} = \left\{\tilde{h}_{r+1}, P\right\} \end{array}$$

Example 4.17 Let us apply the relations (4.4.36)–(4.4.37) to perform the Stäckel transform on the system from Example 4.15. To keep the formulas simple, we assume that all the α_s in (4.3.30) are zero except the transformation parameter α_k . Thus, we consider again the system given by the separation curve

$$\alpha_k \lambda^k + h_1 \lambda^2 + h_2 \lambda + h_3 = \frac{1}{2} \lambda \mu^2,$$

with k = -1, 3 or 4, respectively. Applying the Stäckel transform to the resulting Hamiltonians from Example 4.15 we obtain a maximally superintegrable system with the separation curve of the form:

$$\tilde{h}_1 \lambda^k + \tilde{\alpha} \lambda^2 + \tilde{h}_2 \lambda + \tilde{h}_3 = \frac{1}{2} \lambda \mu^2, \qquad (4.4.39)$$

Again we perform our calculations in non-orthogonal flat coordinates (*x*, *y*, *z*, *p_x*, p_y , p_z). Explicitly, we obtain for k = -1

$$\begin{split} \tilde{h}_{1} &= \frac{1}{8}z^{2}p_{z}^{2} + \frac{1}{4}z^{2}p_{x}p_{y} - \frac{1}{4}\tilde{\alpha}z^{2} \\ \tilde{h}_{2} &= \frac{1}{2}p_{x}^{2} - \frac{1}{2}yp_{y}^{2} - \frac{1}{2}xp_{x}p_{y} - \frac{1}{2}zp_{y}p_{z} + \tilde{\alpha}x \\ \tilde{h}_{3} &= \frac{1}{8}z^{2}p_{y}^{2} - \left(\frac{1}{4}x^{2} + y\right)p_{x}p_{y} - \frac{1}{2}zp_{x}p_{z} - \frac{1}{4}xzp_{y}p_{z} + \frac{1}{4}\tilde{\alpha}\left(x^{2} + 4y\right) \\ \tilde{h}_{4} &= -\frac{1}{2}p_{y}^{2} \end{split}$$

$$(4.4.40)$$

$$\tilde{h}_{5} &= -p_{x}p_{y} + \tilde{\alpha}$$

for k = 3

$$\tilde{h}_1 = -\frac{1}{x} p_x p_y - \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{x} p_z^2 + \tilde{\alpha} \frac{1}{x}$$
$$\tilde{h}_2 = \frac{1}{2} p_x^2 + \frac{1}{4} \frac{x^2 - 4y}{x} p_x p_y - \frac{1}{2} y p_y^2 - \frac{1}{2} z p_y p_z + \frac{1}{8} \frac{3x^2 - 4y}{x} p_z^2 + \frac{1}{4} \tilde{\alpha} \frac{x^2 + 4y}{x}$$

$$\begin{split} \tilde{h}_3 &= \frac{1}{4} \frac{z^2}{x} p_x p_y - \frac{1}{2} z p_x p_z + \frac{1}{8} z^2 p_y^2 - \frac{1}{4} x z p_y p_z + \frac{1}{8} \frac{x^3 + 4xy + z^2}{x} p_z^2 - \frac{1}{4} \tilde{\alpha} \frac{z^2}{x} \\ \tilde{h}_4 &= -\frac{1}{x} p_x p_y - \frac{1}{2} p_y^2 - \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{x} p_z^2 + \tilde{\alpha} \frac{1}{x} \\ \tilde{h}_5 &= \frac{1}{2} p_z^2 \end{split}$$

and for k = 4

$$\begin{split} \tilde{h}_{1} &= -\frac{1}{y - \frac{3}{4}x^{2}} p_{x} p_{y} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{y - \frac{3}{4}x^{2}} p_{z}^{2} + \tilde{\alpha} \frac{1}{y - \frac{3}{4}x^{2}} \\ \tilde{h}_{2} &= \frac{1}{2} p_{x}^{2} - \frac{1}{2} y p_{y}^{2} - \frac{1}{8} \frac{2x^{3} - 8xy - z^{2}}{y - \frac{3}{4}x^{2}} p_{z}^{2} - \frac{1}{8} \frac{x^{3} - 12xy - 2z^{2}}{y - \frac{3}{4}x^{2}} p_{x} p_{y} - \frac{1}{2} z p_{y} p_{z} \\ &- \tilde{\alpha} \frac{xy + \frac{1}{4}x^{3} + \frac{1}{4}z^{2}}{y - \frac{3}{4}x^{2}} \\ \tilde{h}_{3} &= \frac{1}{8} z^{2} p_{y}^{2} - \frac{1}{32} \frac{3x^{4} + 8x^{2}y + 4xz^{2} + 16y^{2}}{y - \frac{3}{4}x^{2}} p_{z}^{2} + \frac{1}{4} \frac{xz^{2}}{y - \frac{3}{4}x^{2}} p_{x} p_{y} - \frac{1}{2} z p_{x} p_{z} - \frac{1}{4} x z p_{y} p_{z} \\ &+ \frac{1}{4} \tilde{\alpha} \frac{xz^{2}}{y - \frac{3}{4}x^{2}} \end{split}$$

$$(4.4.41)$$

$$\tilde{h}_{4} &= -\frac{1}{2} p_{y}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{x}{y - \frac{3}{4}x^{2}} p_{z}^{2} + \frac{x}{y - \frac{3}{4}x^{2}} p_{x} p_{y} - \tilde{\alpha} \frac{x}{y - \frac{3}{4}x^{2}} \\ \tilde{h}_{5} &= \frac{1}{2} p_{z}^{2} \end{split}$$

According to (i) of that subsection the metrics of \tilde{h}_1 are of constant curvature, flat and conformally flat, respectively.

Chapter 5 Classical Separability Theory



As was analysed in the previous chapter, once we find separation coordinates for a Liouville integrable system, we can integrate the system by quadratures through an appropriate separation relations. The fundamental problem in the Hamilton–Jacobi method is the systematic construction of transformation from some "natural" coordinates to separation coordinates. As was demonstrated in the previous chapter, such coordinates like Cartesian, spherical or cylindrical are separation coordinates only in very special cases. In general, separation coordinates are much less obvious and completely unpredictable. So the question about the existence of a systematic method for the construction of separation coordinates is very important. Indeed, for many decades of development of the separability theory, the method did not exist. Only recently, at the end of the twentieth century, after more than 100 years of efforts, a few different constructive methods were suggested. Obviously, the knowledge of all constants of motion for a given Liouville integrable system is not enough. Some extra information is required.

The first constructive theory of separated coordinates for Hamiltonian systems was made by Sklyanin [235]. He adopted the method of the Soliton theory, i.e. the Lax representation and the so called *r*-matrix approach, to systematic derivation of separation coordinates. In that theory involutive functions appear as coefficients of the characteristic equation (*spectral curve*) of Lax matrix. The method was successfully applied to the separation of variables for many integrable systems [107, 108, 175, 233–235, 272, 273]. The detailed description of *r*-matrix approach to separability theory and related mathematical tools the reader can find in the book [6], so we skip it here.

Then, a modern geometric theory of separability on bi-Poisson manifolds [23, 26–28, 112–115, 189], and bi-presymplectic manifolds [29, 32, 46] was constructed. In that approach we require from symmetries to constitute appropriate bi-Hamiltonian chains or from conserved 1-forms to constitute appropriate bi-presymplectic chains, both on an extended phase space. The geometric approach

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

M. Błaszak, Quantum versus Classical Mechanics and Integrability Problems, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-18379-0_5

for the construction of separation coordinates is at least as powerful as the *r*-matrix approach and as the less known to readers, will be presented with all details in the following sections.

5.1 Bi-Hamiltonian Separability Theory

Presented here the modern geometric separability theory relies on the fact that any Liouville integrable and separable system, with separation relations generated by a separation curve, possesses two different Hamiltonian representations in any local coordinates, or can be extended to such representations. Thus, for a given Liouville integrable system its bi-Hamiltonian representation is sufficient for the construction of a transformation from original coordinates to separation coordinates. During that process we will reduce the second Poisson bi-vector onto the symplectic foliation of the first one. As in the considered case, the Dirac distribution is tangent to the foliation (see the results of Sect. 3.4), we have to find an appropriate transversal distribution \mathcal{Z} along which the reduction will be performed. This is the only non algorithmic element of the construction.

5.1.1 Bi-Hamiltonian Liouville Integrable Systems

The idea of bi-Hamiltonian systems was introduced by Magri [186] in the context of the so called Soliton systems, i.e. integrable nonlinear PDE's (see [23] for review of bi-Hamiltonian field systems). Then it was transferred to the theory of finite dimensional systems [4] (see also [23] and the literature quoted there).

The first step in a geometric separability theory is to find the bi-Hamiltonian representation of a given Liouville integrable system. This is closely related to the notion of Poisson pencils of a particular type and their Casimirs. Let us consider a manifold M and two Poisson tensors Π_0 and Π_1 . A linear combination $\Pi_{\lambda} = \Pi_1 - \lambda \Pi_0$ ($\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$) is called a *Poisson pencil* if the operator Π_{λ} is Poissonian for any value of the parameter λ . In this case we say that Π_0 and Π_1 are *compatible*. A pair of Poisson bi-vectors Π_0 and Π_1 is compatible if and only if one of the following equivalent conditions is satisfied

1.

$$[\Pi_0, \Pi_1]_S = 0, \tag{5.1.1}$$

2.

$$\left(\{\{f,g\}_{\Pi_0},h\}_{\Pi_1}+\{\{f,g\}_{\Pi_0},h\}_{\Pi_1}\right)+c.p.=0,\tag{5.1.2}$$

3.

$$[X_f, Y_g] + [Y_f, X_g] = X_{\{f,g\}\Pi_1} + Y_{\{f,g\}\Pi_0}, \quad X_f = \Pi_0 df, \quad Y_f = \Pi_1 df.$$
(5.1.3)

In fact, each of these conditions follows from the application of the corresponding conditions (3.2.1), (3.2.6), (3.2.24) for a single Poisson structure to a Poisson pencil. For example we have

$$0 = [\Pi_{\lambda}, \Pi_{\lambda}]_{S} = [\Pi_{1}, \Pi_{1}]_{S} - 2\lambda[\Pi_{0}, \Pi_{1}]_{S} + \lambda^{2}[\Pi_{0}, \Pi_{0}]_{S} \Longrightarrow [\Pi_{0}, \Pi_{1}]_{S} = 0.$$

Given a Poisson pencil $\Pi_{\lambda} = \Pi_1 - \lambda \Pi_0$ we can often construct a sequence of vector fields X_i on M that have a twofold Hamiltonian form (the so-called *bi-Hamiltonian chain*)

$$X_i = \Pi_1 dh_i = \Pi_0 dh_{i+1}$$
(5.1.4)

where $h_i : M \to \mathbb{R}$ are called the Hamiltonians of the chain (5.1.4) and where *i* is a discrete index. This sequence of vector fields may or may not truncate (depending on the existence of Casimir functions).

Let us consider a bi-Poisson manifold (M, Π_0, Π_1) of dim M = m = 2n + rwhere Π_0, Π_1 is a pair of compatible Poisson tensors of rank 2n. Moreover we assume that the Poisson pencil Π_{λ} admits r, polynomial with respect to the pencil parameter λ , Casimir functions of the form

$$h^{(j)}(\lambda) = \sum_{i=0}^{n_j} h_i^{(j)} \lambda^{n_j - i}, \qquad j = 1, \dots, r, \qquad (5.1.5)$$

such that $n_1 + \ldots + n_r = n$ and $h_i^{(j)}$ are functionally independent. The collection of *n* bi-Hamiltonian vector fields

$$\Pi_{0}dh_{0}^{(j)} = 0$$

$$\Pi_{0}dh_{1}^{(j)} = X_{1}^{(j)} = \Pi_{1}dh_{0}^{(j)}$$

$$\Pi_{\lambda}dh^{(j)}(\lambda) = 0 \iff \qquad \vdots$$

$$\Pi_{0}dh_{n_{j}}^{(j)} = X_{n_{j}}^{(j)} = \Pi_{1}dh_{n_{j}-1}^{(j)}$$

$$0 = \Pi_{1}dh_{n_{j}}^{(j)}$$
(5.1.6)

where j = 1, ..., r, is called the Gel'fand–Zakharevich (GZ) system of pure Kronecker type (see [123, 124, 216, 217] and the references quoted therein). Notice that each chain starts from a Casimir of Π_0 and terminates with a Casimir of Π_1 . It is the Liouville integrable system as all $h_i^{(j)}$ are functionally independent from the definition and moreover pairwise commute with respect to both Poisson structures

$$X_i^{(j)}(h_l^{(k)}) = \Pi_0(dh_l^{(k)}, dh_i^{(j)}) = \Pi_1(dh_l^{(k)}, dh_{i-1}^{(j)}) = 0.$$
(5.1.7)

In fact, as

$$\begin{aligned} \Pi_0(dh_l^{(k)}, dh_i^{(j)}) &= \Pi_1(dh_l^{(k)}, dh_{i-1}^{(j)}) = -\Pi_1(dh_{i-1}^{(j)}, dh_l^{(k)}) \\ &= -\Pi_0(dh_{i-1}^{(j)}, dh_{l-1}^{(k)}) = \Pi_0(dh_{l-1}^{(k)}, dh_{i-1}^{(j)}), \end{aligned}$$

so after an appropriate number of iterations we get either $\Pi_0(dh_0^{(k)}, dh_s^{(j)}) = 0$ or $\Pi_0(dh_s^{(k)}, dh_0^{(j)}) = 0$.

Below we illustrate our considerations with a few instructive examples. First three examples are bi-Hamiltonian chains written in some canonical coordinates.

Example 5.1 The bi-Hamiltonian extension of the Henon–Heiles system.

Let us consider the integrable case of the Henon–Heiles system considered in previous examples with an extra parameter c

$$x_{tt} = -3x^2 - \frac{1}{2}y^2 + c, \quad y_{tt} = -xy.$$
 (5.1.8)

In the Hamiltonian representation the system (5.1.8) belongs to one-Casimir bi-Hamiltonian chain on a 5-dimensional extended phase space parametrized by (x, y, p_x, p_y, c)

$$\Pi_{0}dh_{0} = 0$$

$$\Pi_{0}dh_{1} = X_{1} = \Pi_{1}dh_{0}$$

$$\Pi_{0}dh_{2} = X_{2} = \Pi_{1}dh_{1}$$

$$0 = \Pi_{1}dh_{2},$$

(5.1.9)

where

$$\begin{split} h_0 &= c, \\ h_1 &= \frac{1}{2} p_x^2 + \frac{1}{2} p_y^2 + \frac{1}{2} x y^2 + x^3 - cx, \\ h_2 &= \frac{1}{2} y p_x p_y - \frac{1}{2} x p_y^2 + \frac{1}{16} y^4 + \frac{1}{4} x^2 y^2 - \frac{1}{4} c y^2, \end{split}$$

and both Poisson structures are

$$\Pi_{0} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \Pi_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & x & \frac{1}{2}y & p_{x} \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{2}y & 0 & p_{y} \\ -x & -\frac{1}{2}y & 0 & \frac{1}{2}p_{y} & -h_{1,x} \\ -\frac{1}{2}y & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}p_{y} & 0 & -h_{1,y} \\ -p_{x} & -p_{y} & h_{1,x} & h_{1,y} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

One can check that indeed $[\Pi_0, \Pi_1]_S = 0$. Notice that the last column of Π_1 is built of Hamiltonian vector field X_1 , which represents Hamiltonian dynamics (5.1.8). The chain (5.1.9) represents the Casimir $h(\lambda) = c\lambda^2 + h_1\lambda + h_2$ of the Poisson pencil $\Pi_{\lambda} = \Pi_1 - \lambda \Pi_0$: $\Pi_{\lambda} dh(\lambda) = 0$.

Example 5.2 The bi-Hamiltonian extension of the Kepler problem in the plane. Let us consider the classical problem of a particle in the plane under the influence of the Kepler potential (Example 4.5) and an additional homogeneous field force. The Hamiltonian function reads

$$h_1 = H_1 - cy = \frac{1}{2}p_x^2 + \frac{1}{2}p_y^2 - \frac{\alpha}{\sqrt{x^2 + y^2}} - cy, \quad \alpha = const.$$

There is a second independent integral of the motion

$$h_2 = -H_4 - \frac{1}{4}cx^2 = -\frac{1}{2}yp_x^2 + \frac{1}{2}xp_xp_y + \frac{1}{2}\frac{\alpha y}{\sqrt{x^2 + y^2}} - \frac{1}{4}cx^2$$

which together with $h_0 = c$ allows us to construct a bi-Hamiltonian chain (5.1.9) with the second Poisson structure in the form

$$\Pi_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{2}x & p_{x} \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{2}x & y & p_{y} \\ 0 & -\frac{1}{2}x & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}p_{x} - h_{1,x} \\ -\frac{1}{2}x & -y & \frac{1}{2}p_{x} & 0 & -h_{1,y} \\ -p_{x} - p_{y} & h_{1,x} & h_{1,y} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Example 5.3 Two-Casimir bi-Hamiltonian chains. Consider the two-parameter Lagrangian system

$$L = \frac{1}{2}xx_t^2 + \frac{1}{2}xy_t^2 - x^2 - \frac{1}{2}y^2 + c_1(x + \frac{1}{4}x^{-1}y^2) + c_2x^{-1}.$$
 (5.1.10)

In the Hamiltonian representation, the system generated by (5.1.10) belongs to the two-Casimir bi-Hamiltonian chain on a 6-dimensional extended phase space parametrized by $(x, y, p_x, p_y, c_1, c_2)$

$$\Pi_{0}dh_{0}^{(1)} = 0 \qquad \Pi_{0}dh_{0}^{(2)} = 0 \Pi_{0}dh_{1}^{(1)} = X_{1}^{(1)} = \Pi_{1}dh_{0}^{(1)} \qquad \Pi_{0}dh_{1}^{(2)} = X_{1}^{(1)} = \Pi_{1}dh_{0}^{(2)}$$

$$0 = \Pi_{1}dh_{1}^{(1)} \qquad 0 = \Pi_{1}dh_{1}^{(2)}$$

$$(5.1.11)$$

where

$$h_0^{(1)} = c_1,$$

$$h_1^{(1)} = \frac{1}{2}x^{-1}p_x^2 + \frac{1}{2}x^{-1}p_y^2 + x^2 + \frac{1}{2}y^2 - c_1(x + \frac{1}{4}x^{-1}y^2) - c_2x^{-1},$$

$$h_0^{(2)} = c_2,$$

$$h_1^{(2)} = -\frac{1}{8}x^{-1}y^2p_x^2 + \frac{1}{2}yp_xp_y - \frac{1}{8}x^{-1}y^2p_y^2 - \frac{1}{16}y^4 + \frac{1}{16}c_1x^{-1}y^4 + \frac{1}{4}c_2x^{-1}y^2,$$

and both Poisson structures are

Notice that two last columns of Π_1 are built of Hamiltonian vector fields $X_1^{(1)}$ and $X_1^{(2)}$. The chains (5.1.11) represent two Casimirs $h^{(1)}(\lambda) = c_1\lambda + h_1^{(1)}$ and $h^{(2)}(\lambda) = c_2\lambda + h_1^{(2)}$ of the Poisson pencil $\Pi_{\lambda} = \Pi_1 - \lambda \Pi_0$: $\Pi_{\lambda} dh^{(i)}(\lambda) = 0$, i = 1, 2.

The last example is a bi-Hamiltonian chain written in a non-canonical representation.

Example 5.4 The Euler top, considered in Example 3.7, has the following bi-Hamiltonian representation

$$h_{0} = \frac{1}{2}\omega_{1}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\omega_{2}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\omega_{3}^{2},$$

$$h_{1} = \frac{1}{2}a_{1}\omega_{1}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}a_{2}\omega_{2}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}a_{3}\omega_{3}^{2},$$

$$\Pi_{0} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\omega_{3} & \omega_{2} \\ \omega_{3} & 0 & -\omega_{1} \\ -\omega_{2} & \omega_{1} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \Pi_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & a_{3}\omega_{3} & -a_{2}\omega_{2} \\ -a_{3}\omega_{3} & 0 & a_{1}\omega_{1} \\ a_{2}\omega_{2} & -a_{1}\omega_{1} & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\Pi_{0}dh_{0} = 0$$

$$\Pi_{0}dh_{1} = X = \Pi_{1}dh_{0}$$

$$0 = \Pi_{1}dh_{1}$$

5.1 Bi-Hamiltonian Separability Theory

where

$$X = \begin{pmatrix} (a_3 - a_2)\omega_2\omega_3\\ (a_1 - a_3)\omega_1\omega_3\\ (a_2 - a_1)\omega_1\omega_2 \end{pmatrix}, \quad a_i = I_i^{-1}.$$

Although the presented examples show the existence of bi-Hamiltonian representation of some Liouville integrable systems, nevertheless in order to make the bi-Hamiltonian separability theory relevant, such a representation has to be a common feature inside integrable systems. Fortunately, it is the case, i.e. any Stäckel system with separation relations of the general form

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} H_j(\lambda^i)^{\gamma_j}(\mu_i)^{\delta_j} = \psi_i(\lambda^i, \mu_i), \quad \gamma_j, \delta_j \in \mathbb{N}, \qquad i = 1, \dots, n, \qquad (5.1.12)$$

has an appropriate extension to the bi-Hamiltonian chains of Gel'fand–Zakharevich type (5.1.6) [31]. In order to construct such an extension, let us rearrange the l.h.s. of (5.1.12) collecting terms and renumerating Hamiltonians as follows:

$$\sum_{k=1}^{r} \beta^{k}(\lambda^{i}, \mu_{i}) H^{(k)}(\lambda^{i}) = \psi_{i}(\lambda^{i}, \mu_{i}), \qquad i = 1, \dots, n,$$
(5.1.13)

where

$$H^{(k)}(\lambda) = \sum_{i=1}^{n_k} H_i^{(k)} \lambda^{n_k - i}, \qquad n_1 + \dots + n_r = n$$

 $\beta^k(\lambda^i, \mu_i)$ are respective monomials of it arguments and let impose the normalization $\beta^r(\lambda^i, \mu_i) = 1$. The matrix *S* is uniquely defined by *r* functions $\beta^k = \beta^k(\lambda, \mu)$, k = 1, ..., r, and the partition $(n_1, ..., n_r)$ of *n*. Note that in our normalization we have $\beta^r = 1$.

All Hamiltonian systems $H_i^{(k)}$ are defined on 2*n*-dimensional phase space parametrized by their separation coordinates (λ, μ) . Now, let us extend the phase space by *r* extra coordinates (c_1, \ldots, c_r) to new, (2n + r)-dimensional space. Moreover, let us extend Hamiltonians $H_i^{(k)}(\lambda, \mu)$ to a new Hamiltonians by adding terms linear in c_i :

$$h_i^{(k)}(\lambda,\mu,c) = H_i^{(k)}(\lambda,\mu) + \sum_{m=1}^r F_i^{(k,m)}(\lambda,\mu)c_m,$$
(5.1.14)

which fulfills the following, new separation relations

$$\sum_{k=1}^{r} \beta^{k}(\lambda^{i}, \mu_{i})h^{(k)}(\lambda^{i}) = \psi_{i}(\lambda^{i}, \mu_{i}), \qquad i = 1, \dots, n,$$
(5.1.15)

$$h^{(k)}(\lambda) = \sum_{i=0}^{n_k} h_i^{(k)} \lambda^{n_k - i}, \qquad n_1 + \dots + n_r = n,$$
(5.1.16)

where $h_0^{(k)} = c_k$. It means that $F_i^{(k,r)}$ can be treated as additional potentials generated by extra terms $\beta^k (\lambda^i, \mu_i) (\lambda^i)^{n_k} c_k$ in separation relations (5.1.15). So, the potentials $F_i^{(k,m)}$ are solutions of the set of linear algebraic equations

$$\beta^{m}(\lambda^{i},\mu_{i})(\lambda^{i})^{n_{m}} + \sum_{k=1}^{r} \beta^{k}(\lambda^{i},\mu_{i})F^{(k,m)}(\lambda^{i}) = 0, \qquad m = 1, \dots, r, \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$
(5.1.17)

where

$$F^{(k,m)}(\lambda) = \sum_{j=1}^{n_k} F_j^{(k,m)} \lambda^{n_k-j}, \qquad n_1 + \dots + n_r = n.$$

Such extended Hamiltonian functions form bi-Hamiltonian chains (5.1.6) on a (2n + r)-dimensional extended phase space, where

$$\Pi_{0} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \hline -I & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \hline 0 & & & & \\ \vdots & & 0 & & \\ 0 & & & & \\ \end{pmatrix},$$
(5.1.18a)
$$\Pi_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \Lambda & X_{1}^{(1)} & \cdots & X_{1}^{(r)} \\ \hline -\Lambda & 0 & X_{1}^{(1)} & \cdots & X_{1}^{(r)} \\ \hline -(X_{1}^{(1)})^{T} & & & \\ \vdots & & 0 & \\ -(X_{1}^{(r)})^{T} & & & \\ \end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.1.18b)

The proof that Poisson tensors Π_0 and Π_1 form a Poisson pencil $\Pi_{\lambda} = \Pi_1 - \lambda \Pi_0$ with $h^{(k)}(\lambda)$ (5.1.16) as Casimirs

$$\Pi_{\lambda} dh^{(k)}(\lambda) = 0, \qquad k = 1, \dots, r,$$
 (5.1.18c)

is laborious and technical so we send the interested reader to the original paper [31]. In particular, a lift to bi-Hamiltonian chains can be done for the class (4.3.10) of separation relations considered in Sect. 4.3.

To illustrate the method, let us consider such a lift for particular classes of Stäckel systems. The simplest one is the Benenti class where $r = 1 \implies k = m = 1$, $\beta^1(\lambda^i, \mu_i) = 1$, hence Eqs. (5.1.17) for $F_i^{(1,1)} \equiv F_i$ reduce to

$$(\lambda^i)^n + F_1(\lambda^i)^{n-1} + \ldots + F_n = 0, \quad i = 1, \ldots, n$$

$$\Downarrow$$
 $F_i = -V_i^{(n)},$

where $V^{(n)}$ is given by (4.3.23). Thus,

$$h_i(\lambda, \mu, c) = H_i(\lambda, \mu) - V_i^{(n)}(\lambda)c = H_i(\lambda, \mu) + \rho_i(\lambda)c$$

and we have one bi-Hamiltonian chain (5.1.6) in a (2n + 1)-dimensional extended phase space. It explains, for example, the appropriate extension of the Henon–Heiles system from Example 5.1, where the transformation to Cartesian coordinates is given in Example 4.11. The bi-Hamiltonian representation of systems from Benenti class was first constructed in [156].

Another class of separation relations for which we construct the extension (5.1.14) is given by a separation curve (4.4.23) of the form

$$\bar{H}_{1}\lambda^{n} + \ldots + \bar{H}_{n_{1}}\lambda^{n+1-n_{1}} + \bar{H}_{n_{1}+1}\lambda^{n-1-n_{1}} + \cdots + \bar{H}_{n} = \frac{1}{2}f(\lambda)\mu^{2} + \sigma(\lambda),$$
(5.1.19)

or equivalently by (4.4.25) with $k = 1, 1 < m_1 = n_1 + 1 < n$, discussed in Sect. 4.3. Adopting the notation (5.1.13), the separation curve (5.1.19) takes the form

$$\lambda^{n+1-n_1}(H_1^{(1)}\lambda^{n_1-1}+\ldots+H_{n_1}^{(1)})+(H_1^{(2)}\lambda^{n_2-1}+\ldots+H_{n_2}^{(1)})=\frac{1}{2}f(\lambda)\mu^2+\sigma(\lambda), \quad n_1+n_2=n,$$

where

$$H_j^{(1)} = \bar{H}_j, \quad j = 1, \dots, n_1,$$

 $H_j^{(2)} = \bar{H}_{n_1+j}, \quad j = 1, \dots, n_2$

thus $\beta^1(\lambda) = \lambda^{n+1-n_1}$ and $\beta^2(\lambda) = 1$. So, the potentials $F_i^{(k,1)}$ are solutions of the set of linear algebraic equations being *n* copies of

$$\lambda^{n+1-n_1}(\lambda^{n_1}+F_1^{(1,1)}\lambda^{n_1-1}+\ldots+F_{n_1}^{(1,1)})+(F_1^{(2,1)}\lambda^{n_2-1}+\ldots+F_{n_2}^{(2,1)})=0,$$

while the potentials $F_i^{(k,2)}$ are solutions of the set of linear algebraic equations being *n* copies of

$$\lambda^{n+1-n_1}(F_1^{(1,2)}\lambda^{n_1-1}+\ldots+F_{n_1}^{(1,2)})+(\lambda^{n_2}+F_1^{(2,2)}\lambda^{n_2-1}+\ldots+F_{n_2}^{(2,2)})=0.$$

Thus

$$\begin{pmatrix} F^{(1,1)} \\ F^{(2,1)} \end{pmatrix} = -\bar{V}^{(n+1)}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} F^{(1,2)} \\ F^{(2,2)} \end{pmatrix} = -\bar{V}^{(n+1-m_1)} = -\bar{V}^{(n_2)}$$

and according to (4.4.3) and (4.4.3)

$$F_r^{(1,1)} = \rho_r - \frac{\rho_{r-1}\rho_{n_1+1}}{\rho_{n_1}}, \quad r = 1, \dots, n_1,$$

$$F_r^{(2,1)} = \rho_{r+1} - \frac{\rho_{n_1+r}\rho_{n_1+1}}{\rho_{n_1}}, \quad r = 1, \dots, n_2,$$

$$F_r^{(1,2)} = \frac{\rho_{r-1}}{\rho_{n_1}}, \quad r = 1, \dots, n_1,$$

$$F_r^{(2,2)} = \frac{\rho_{n_1+r}}{\rho_{n_1}}, \quad r = 1, \dots, n_2.$$
(5.1.20)

Extended Hamiltonians

$$h_i^{(1)}(\lambda,\mu,c) = H_i^{(1)}(\lambda,\mu) + F_i^{(1,1)}(\lambda,\mu)c_1 + F_i^{(1,2)}(\lambda,\mu)c_2, \quad i = 1, \dots, n_1,$$

$$h_i^{(2)}(\lambda,\mu,c) = H_i^{(2)}(\lambda,\mu) + F_i^{(2,1)}(\lambda,\mu)c_1 + F_i^{(2,2)}(\lambda,\mu)c_2, \quad i = 1, \dots, n_2,$$

belong to two bi-Hamiltonian chains (5.1.6) in a (2n + 2)-dimensional extended phase space.

5.1.2 Reduction of Poisson Pencils onto Symplectic Leaves

The second step of our geometric separability theory is as follows. The necessary condition for separability of Hamiltonian systems generated by functions $h_i^{(j)}$ (5.1.5) is a Poisson projection of the pencil Π_{λ} onto a symplectic foliation *S* of Π_0 , that is a 2*n*-dimensional submanifold defined by fixed values of Casimir functions of Π_0 : $h_0^{(1)} = c_1, \ldots, h_0^{(r)} = c_r$. Thus, every leave S_c is a submanifold of a codimension r in M. The projection is done through the particular realization of the reduction schema considered in Sect. 3.4.1. As our constraints $\varphi_i = h_0^{(k)} = c_k$, $k = 1, \ldots, r$ are Casimirs of Π_0 its reduction is trivial. From the property that all Casimirs c_i of Π_0 are in involution with respect to $\Pi_1 : \{dh_0^{(k)}, dh_0^{(j)}\}_{\Pi_1} = \Pi_1(dh_0^{(k)}, dh_0^{(j)}) = 0$ we have to reduce Π_1 according to the tangent case (Dirac reduction is useless in that case). Actually, we are looking for an appropriate distribution \mathcal{Z} , transversal to the foliation S that the deformation of Π_1 in the form

$$\Pi_D = \Pi_1 - \sum_{k=1}^r X_1^{(k)} \wedge Z_k, \qquad X_1^{(k)} = \Pi_0 dh_1^{(k)} = \Pi_1 dh_0^{(k)}, \tag{5.1.21}$$

fulfills the following conditions:

- 1. the image of Π_D is tangent to the foliation *S*,
- 2. Π_D is Poisson,
- 3. Π_D is compatible with Π_0 ,
- 4. all constants of motion are in involution with respect to Π_D :

$$\{dh_l^{(k)}, dh_i^{(j)}\}_{\Pi_D} = \Pi_D(dh_l^{(k)}, dh_i^{(j)}) = 0.$$
(5.1.22)

The first condition means that $\text{Im}(\Pi_D) \subset TS$, i.e. that for every 1-form α and $k = 1, \ldots, r$,

$$\left\langle dh_{0}^{(k)},\,\Pi_{D}\alpha\right\rangle =0$$

and it follows directly from the fact that $h_0^{(k)}$ are Casimirs of Π_D (3.4.12). The second condition is fulfilled if \mathcal{Z} is an integrable distribution ($[Z_i, Z_j] = 0$) and $L_{Z_i}\Pi_D = 0$ or equivalently fulfills relation (3.4.1) for i = 1, ..., r. For the compatibility of Π_D and Π_0 we have the condition

$$0 = [\Pi_D, \Pi_0]_S = [\Pi_1, \Pi_0]_S - \sum_{k=1}^r [X_1^{(k)} \wedge Z_k, \Pi_0]$$
$$= \sum_{k=1}^r \left(-L_{X_1^{(k)}} \Pi_0 \wedge Z_k + X_1^{(k)} \wedge L_{Z_k} \Pi_0 \right), \qquad (5.1.23)$$

where the last equality follows from the properties of Schouten–Nijenhuis bracket (3.2.33). As $L_{X_1^{(k)}} \Pi_0 = 0$ (3.2.2), the strong solution of (5.1.23) is

$$L_{Z_k} \Pi_0 = 0, \quad k = 1, \dots, r.$$
 (5.1.24)

Finally, the involutivity (5.1.22) follows from the form of Π_D (5.1.21)

$$\begin{aligned} \Pi_D(dh_l^{(k)}, dh_i^{(j)}) &= \Pi(dh_l^{(k)}, dh_i^{(j)}) + \sum_{k=1}^r \left(dh_l^{(r)}, (X_1^{(k)} \wedge Z_k) dh_i^{(j)} \right) \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^r \left(Z_k(h_i^{(j)}) X_1^{(k)}(h_l^{(r)}) - X_1^{(k)}(h_i^{(j)}) Z_k(h_l^{(r)}) \right) \\ &= 0 \end{aligned}$$

according to (5.1.7). Notice, that if the compatibility condition (5.1.24) is fulfilled, then the condition (3.4.1) takes the form

$$L_{Z_k} \Pi_1 = \sum_{i=1}^r [Z_k, X_1^{(i)}] \wedge Z_i = \sum_{i=1}^r Y_{ki} \wedge Z_i, \quad Y_{ki} = \Pi_0 d(Z_k(h_1^{(i)})). \quad (5.1.25)$$

Assume that conditions 1–4 are fulfilled. Then, bi-Hamiltonian chains on M take the form

$$\Pi_D dh_i^{(j)} = \Pi_0 dh_{i+1}^{(j)} - \sum_{k=1}^r Z_k (dh_i^{(j)}) \Pi_0 dh_1^{(k)}$$

= $\Pi_0 dh_{i+1}^{(j)} - \sum_{k=1}^r F_i^{(j,k)} \Pi_0 dh_1^{(k)},$ (5.1.26)

where $F_i^{(j,k)} = Z_k(dh_i^{(j)})$ and can be restricted to any leave S_c of Π_0

$$\pi_1 dh_i^{(j)} = \pi_0 dh_{i+1}^{(j)} - \sum_{k=1}^r F_i^{(j,k)} \pi_0 dh_1^{(k)}, \qquad (5.1.27)$$

where

$$\pi_1 = \Pi_{D|S_c}, \ \pi_0 = \Pi_{0|S_c}$$

are Poisson restrictions of Π_D and Π_0 to S_c and $h_i^{(j)}$ are functions on S_c with constant values of c_k coordinates. Obviously, from the construction, π_0 and π_1 are compatible Poisson tensors on S_c and π_0 is nondegenerate. Hence, $\omega_0 = \pi_0^{-1}$ is symplectic two-form on S_c . Moreover, on S_c we have

$$\pi_0(dh_i^{(j)}, dh_l^{(k)}) = 0, \quad \pi_1(dh_i^{(j)}, dh_l^{(k)}) = 0.$$

The involutivity with respect to π_0 is obvious, while the involutivity with respect to π_1 follows from (5.1.22). Relations (5.1.27) are called the *quasi-bi-Hamiltonian* representation of the Liouville integrable system [60, 203].

Application of the presented reduction procedure to bi-Hamiltonian chains for Hamiltonians (5.1.14), which are written directly in separation coordinates (λ, μ, c) is a trivial task. With a natural choice of transversal distribution \mathcal{Z} by $Z_i = \frac{\partial}{\partial c_i}$, i = 1, ..., r, on each symplectic leaf of Π_0 (5.1.18a), i.e. $c_i = const$, i = 1, ..., r, Hamiltonians (5.1.14) form a quasi-bi-Hamiltonian chains (5.1.27) with $F_i^{(j,k)}$ being solutions of (5.1.17) and with two nondegenerate Poisson structures

$$\pi_0 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I_n \\ -I_n & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \pi_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \Lambda_n \\ -\Lambda_n & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

being reductions of (5.1.18). Notice that in particular, for $c_i = 0$, i = 1, ..., r, Hamiltonians (5.1.13) form the same quasi-bi-Hamiltonian chains on a bi-Poisson manifold (M, π_0, π_1) .

5.1.3 Bi-Simplectic Manifolds

Let us consider a bi-Poisson manifold (S, π_0, π_1) , where π_0 is invertible and compatible with π_1 . Then consider a following (1, 1)-tensor field

$$N = \pi_1 \pi_0^{-1} = \pi_1 \omega_0, \quad \omega_0 = \pi_0^{-1}, \tag{5.1.28}$$

called a recursion operator with the dual

$$N^* = N^T = \omega_0 \pi_1. \tag{5.1.29}$$

Notice that

$$N\pi_0 = \pi_1, \qquad N^*\omega_0 = \omega_0\pi_1\omega_0 := \omega_1. \tag{5.1.30}$$

First, we show that from the compatibility of π_0 and π_1 follows that the Nijenhuis torsion T(N) of tensor N vanishes on the image of π_0 . We recall that the Nijenhuis torsion of a (1, 1)-tensor N on a manifold S is the (1, 2)-tensor T(N), such that for all vector fields $v \in TS$

$$T(N)v = L_{Nv}N - NL_vN.$$
(5.1.31)

The alternative definition is given by the formula

$$T(N)(v, w) = [Nv, Nw] - N[Nv, w] - N[v, Nw] + N^{2}[v, w].$$
 (5.1.32)

Indeed

$$T(N)(v, w) = L_{Nv}(Nw) - NL_{Nv}w - NL_v(Nw) + N^2L_vw$$
$$= (L_{Nv}N)w - N(L_vN)w = (L_{Nv}N - NL_vN)w.$$

In order to show the vanishing of T(N) it is enough to show that T(N) vanishes on any pair of vectors $(\pi_0 df, \pi_0 dh)$ where $f, h \in \mathcal{F}(S)$. In fact, using the notation from (5.1.3)

$$\begin{split} T(N)(\pi_0 df, \pi_0 dh) = & [N\pi_0 df, N\pi_0 dh] - N[N\pi_0 df, \pi_0 dh] - N[\pi_0 df, N\pi_0 dh] \\ & + N^2[\pi_0 df, \pi_0 dh] \\ = & [Y_f, Y_h] - N[Y_f, X_h] - N[X_f, Y_h] + N^2[X_f, X_h] \\ = & Y_{\{f,h\}\pi_1} - N(X_{\{f,h\}\pi_1} + Y_{\{f,h\}\pi_0}) + N^2 X_{\{f,h\}\pi_0}, \end{split}$$

which vanishes since $NX_g = Y_g$, $g \in \mathcal{F}(S)$. Bi-Poisson manifolds (S, π_0, π_1) with the tensor π_0 invertible and the tensor $N = \pi_1 \pi_0^{-1}$ of vanishing torsion, are also called ωN manifolds and were studied for example in [173] and [187].

Second, we show that from the compatibility of π_0 and π_1 follows that the second two-form ω_1 (5.1.30) is closed on *S*. First observe that as π_0 and $\omega_0 = \pi_0^{-1}$ are nondegenerate on *S*, so any vector field $v \in TS$ can be represented by $v = \pi_0 \gamma$ for some $\gamma \in T^*S$ and any γ can be represented by $\gamma = \omega_0 v$ for some $v \in TS$. Moreover, from relations (3.2.21) follows that for closed ω_0 we have $L_v \omega_0 = d(\omega_0 v) = d\gamma$ and for Poisson pencil π_λ

$$0 = L_{\pi_{\lambda}\gamma}\pi_{\lambda} + \pi_{\lambda}(d\gamma)\pi_{\lambda}$$

↕

$$0 = L_{\pi_1\gamma}\pi_0 + L_{\pi_0\gamma}\pi_1 + \pi_1(d\gamma)\pi_0 + \pi_0(d\gamma)\pi_1$$

= $L_{\pi_0\omega_0\pi_1\gamma}\pi_0 + L_{\nu}\pi_1 + \pi_1(d\gamma)\pi_0 + \pi_0(d\gamma)\pi_1$
= $-\pi_0d(\omega_0\pi_1\gamma)\pi_0 + L_{\nu}\pi_1 + \pi_1(d\gamma)\pi_0 + \pi_0(d\gamma)\pi_1$.

Multiplying from left and right by ω_0 we get

$$0 = -d(\omega_0 \pi_1 \gamma) + \omega_0 (L_v \pi_1) \omega_0 + \omega_0 \pi_1 (d\gamma) + (d\gamma) \pi_1$$

= $-d(\omega_0 \pi_1 \omega_0 v) + \omega_0 (L_v \pi_1) \omega_0 + \omega_0 \pi_1 L_v \omega_0 + (L_v \omega_0) \pi_1 \omega_0$
= $-d(\omega_0 \pi_1 \omega_0 v) + L_v (\omega_0 \pi_1 \omega_0)$

and hence, according to (3.2.21), $\omega_1 = \omega_0 \pi_1 \omega_0$ is closed.

In our further considerations we will assume that the recursion operator N has, at every point of S, n distinct and different from zero double eigenvalues $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n$, functionally independent as a functions of oryginal variables. Such an operator will be called a *regular recursion operator*. In such a generic case the second closed two-form ω_1 is symplectic.

Concluding, if *S* is a bi-Poisson manifold (S, π_0, π_1) where π_0 is invertible and compatible with π_1 , and where $N = \pi_1 \pi_0^{-1}$ is a regular recursion operator, then *S* is simultaneously a bi-symplectic manifold (S, ω_0, ω_1) , where both symplectic forms are given by

$$\omega_0 = \pi_0^{-1}, \quad \omega_1 = \omega_0 \pi_1 \omega_0 = \pi_0^{-1} \pi_1 \pi_0^{-1}.$$

Now we are prepared to introduce the notion of compatibility for closed forms, at least in the case when one of them is symplectic. The compatibility of two presymplectic forms will be defined in the next subsection. Let *S* be a manifold of even dimension with a symplectic-implectic pair ($\omega_0, \pi_0 = \omega_0^{-1}$), i.e a nondegenerate case of a dual pair (3.2.25). We say that a closed two-form ω_1 is *d*-compatible with a symplectic form ω_0 if $\pi_0\omega_1\pi_0$ is a Poisson tensor. We say that a Poisson tensor π_1 is d-compatible with an implectic tensor π_0 if $\omega_0\pi_1\omega_0$ is closed.

What is important, in the case considered, i.e. when π_0 is nondegenerate, the notions of d-compatibility and compatibility of Poisson tensors are equivalent. Actually, we proved that if π_0 and π_1 are compatible then are d-compatible. As the presented proof works in both directions, so in this case, from d-compatibility follows also compatibility of π_0 and π_1 .

Let (S, ω) be a symplectic manifold, with dim S = 2n. A Lagrangian distribution on *S* is a *n*-dimensional distribution *D* such that $\omega(\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2) = 0$ for all vector fields $\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2 \in D$. So, for the quasi-bi-Hamiltonian system (5.1.27) and closed two-forms ω_0, ω_1 (5.1.3), using the relation (5.1.2) and notation $\mathbf{x}_i^{(j)} = \pi_0 dh_i^{(j)}$, we have

$$\omega_0(\mathbf{x}_i^{(j)}, \mathbf{x}_l^{(k)}) = \left\langle \omega_0 \mathbf{x}_i^{(j)}, \mathbf{x}_l^{(k)} \right\rangle = \left\langle \omega_0 \pi_0 dh_i^{(j)}, \pi_0 dh_l^{(k)} \right\rangle$$
$$= \left\langle dh_i^{(j)}, \pi_0 dh_l^{(k)} \right\rangle = \pi_0 (dh_i^{(j)}, dh_l^{(k)}) = 0.$$

and

$$\omega_1(\mathbf{x}_i^{(j)}, \mathbf{x}_l^{(k)}) = \left\langle \omega_1 \mathbf{x}_i^{(j)}, \mathbf{x}_l^{(k)} \right\rangle = \left\langle \omega_0 \pi_1 \omega_0 \mathbf{x}_i^{(j)}, \mathbf{x}_l^{(k)} \right\rangle$$
$$= \left\langle \omega_0 \pi_1 dh_i^{(j)}, \mathbf{x}_l^{(k)} \right\rangle = -\left\langle \omega_0 \mathbf{x}_l^{(k)}, \pi_1 dh_i^{(j)} \right\rangle$$
$$= -\left\langle dh_l^{(k)}, \pi_1 dh_i^{(j)} \right\rangle = \pi_1 (dh_i^{(j)}, dh_l^{(k)}) = 0$$

Hence, in the generic case, the n-dimensional integrable distribution

$$D = Sp\{\mathbf{x}_i^{(j)} = \pi_0 dh_i^{(j)}\} \subset TS$$

is bi-Lagrangian as it is Lagrangian with respect to two different symplectic forms.

Now, using relations (5.1.28)–(5.1.30), quasi-bi-Hamiltonian chains (5.1.27) are equivalent to quasi-bi-symplectic chains

$$\omega_1 \mathbf{x}_i^{(j)} = \omega_0 \mathbf{x}_{i+1}^{(j)} - \sum_{k=1}^r F_i^{(j,k)} \omega_0 \mathbf{x}_1^{(k)}.$$
 (5.1.33)

There are also two other equivalent representations

$$N\mathbf{x}_{i}^{(j)} = \mathbf{x}_{i+1}^{(j)} - \sum_{k=1}^{m} F_{i}^{(j,k)} \mathbf{x}_{1}^{(k)}$$
(5.1.34)

and

$$N^* dh_i^{(j)} = dh_{i+1}^{(j)} - \sum_{k=1}^r F_i^{(j,k)} dh_1^{(k)}.$$
(5.1.35)

Renumbering Hamiltonian functions $(h_1^{(1)}, \ldots, h_{n_r}^{(r)}) = (h_1, \ldots, h_n)$ and respective vector fields $(\mathbf{x}_1^{(1)}, \ldots, \mathbf{x}_{n_r}^{(r)}) = (\mathbf{x}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{x}_n)$ relations (5.1.34) and (5.1.35) can be written in compact forms

$$N\mathbf{x}_i = \sum_{j=1}^n F_{ij}\mathbf{x}_j, \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$
 (5.1.36)

and

$$N^* dh_i = \sum_{j=1}^n F_{ij} dh_j, \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$
(5.1.37)

where matrix *F* is called a *control matrix* [113]. Relation (5.1.36) says that bi-Lagrangian distribution (5.1.3) is invariant with respect to *N* and relation (5.1.37) says that the subspace spanned by (dh_1, \ldots, dh_n) is invariant with respect to N^* . In particular, for $c_i = 0$, $i = 1, \ldots, r$, the subspace spanned by (dH_1, \ldots, dH_n) is also invariant with respect to N^*

$$N^*dH_i = \sum_{j=1}^n F_{ij}dH_j, \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$

5.1.4 Stäckel Separability on Bi-Symplectic Manifolds

A set of local coordinates (ξ, ζ) on the bi-symplectic manifold (ωN manifold) is called a set of *Darboux-Nijenhuis (DN) coordinates* if they are canonical with respect to a symplectic form ω_0

$$\omega_0 = \sum_{i=1}^n d\zeta_i \wedge d\xi^i$$

and diagonalize the recursion operator

$$N = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda^{i}(\xi^{i}, \zeta_{i}) \left(\partial_{\xi^{i}} \otimes d\xi^{i} + \partial_{\zeta_{i}} \otimes d\zeta_{i} \right),$$

thus

$$\pi_1 = \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda^i \partial_{\xi^i} \wedge \partial_{\zeta_i}.$$

The existence of DN coordinates is a consequence of vanishing of the Nijenhuis torsion T(N) of operator N [123, 247, 250]. The double eigenvalues λ^i follow from the implectic-symplectic factorization of N (5.1.28). The coordinates $(\lambda^1, \ldots, \lambda^n, \mu_1, \ldots, \mu_n)$, where μ_i are momenta canonically conjugate to positions λ^i , are called special DN coordinates and will be identified with separation coordinates. It means that in the (λ, μ) coordinates

$$\pi_0 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I_n \\ -I_n & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \pi_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \Lambda_n \\ -\Lambda_n & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad N = \begin{pmatrix} \Lambda_n & 0 \\ 0 & \Lambda_n \end{pmatrix},$$

where $\Lambda_n = diag(\lambda_1, ..., \lambda_n)$, and their differentials span the $T^*\mathcal{N}$ which is an eigenspace of N^* (the adjoint of N), as

$$N^* d\lambda_i = \lambda_i d\lambda_i, \quad N^* d\mu_i = \lambda_i d\mu_i, \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$

A function f on ωN manifold is said to be a Stäckel function if its differential is an eigenfunction of N^*

$$N^*df = \lambda^i df.$$

The immediate consequence of such a definition is that $f = f(\lambda^i, \mu_i)$. As the elements of Stäckel matrix are Stäckel functions, hence

$$N^*dS = \Lambda dS \Longleftrightarrow N^*dS_{ij} = \lambda^i dS_{ij}.$$

In previous subsections, using the reduction procedure, we proved that the subspace (dh_1, \ldots, dh_n) , spanned by differentials of Stäckel Hamiltonians (5.1.14) or in particular (5.1.13) ones, is invariant with respect to N^* . Here we show the simple alternative proof, revealing simultaneously the structure of the control matrix *F* (5.1.37). Let us start with general Stäckel separation relations (4.2.9)

$$\varphi_i(\lambda^i, \mu_i, h_1, \dots, h_n) = \sum_{k=1}^n S_i^k(\lambda^i, \mu_i)h_k - \psi(\lambda^i, \mu_i) = 0, \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$
(5.1.38)

Differentiate the relations (5.1.38)

$$\frac{\partial \varphi_i}{\partial \lambda^i} d\lambda^i + \frac{\partial \varphi_i}{\partial \mu_i} d\mu_i + \sum_{j=1}^n \frac{\partial \varphi_i}{\partial h_j} dh_j = 0,$$

and then apply N^* to obtain

$$\frac{\partial \varphi_i}{\partial \lambda^i} \lambda^i d\lambda^i + \frac{\partial \varphi_i}{\partial \mu_i} \lambda^i d\mu_i + \sum_{j=1}^n \frac{\partial \varphi_i}{\partial h_j} N^* dh_j = 0.$$

It follows that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{\partial \varphi_{i}}{\partial h_{j}} N^{*} dh_{j} = -\lambda^{i} \left(\frac{\partial \varphi_{i}}{\partial \lambda^{i}} d\lambda^{i} + \frac{\partial \varphi_{i}}{\partial \mu_{i}} d\mu_{i} \right) = \lambda^{i} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{\partial \varphi_{i}}{\partial h_{j}} dh_{j},$$

or in the matrix form

$$SN^*dh = \Lambda Sdh \Longrightarrow F = S^{-1}\Lambda S,$$
 (5.1.39)

where $S_{ij} = \frac{\partial \varphi_i}{\partial h_j}$ are elements of the Stäckel matrix, $dh = (dh_1, \dots, dh_n)^T$, $N^*dh = (N^*dh_1, \dots, N^*dh_n)^T$ and so, Eq. (5.1.39) coincides with Eqs. (5.1.37). Thus, the control matrix *F* is nothing but the recursion matrix (4.3.1), considered in the previous chapter for particular separation relations (4.3.10). From (5.1.39) follows that *F* matrix has *n* distinct eigenvalues λ^i and the *i*-th row $S_i :=$ (S_{i1}, \dots, S_{in}) of a Stäckel matrix *S* is a related left eigenvector

$$S_i F = \lambda^i S_i$$

Moreover, for the Stäckel separability, the control matrix F satisfies

$$N^*dF = FdF \iff N^*dF_{ij} = \sum_{k=1}^n F_{ik}dF_{kj}, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, n.$$
 (5.1.40)

Indeed

$$N^* dF = N^* d(S^{-1} \Lambda S) = N^* (-S^{-1} dSS^{-1} \Lambda S + S^{-1} d\Lambda S + S^{-1} \Lambda dS)$$

= $-S^{-1} \Lambda dSS^{-1} \Lambda S + S^{-1} \Lambda d\Lambda S + S^{-1} \Lambda^2 dS$
= $S^{-1} \Lambda S (-S^{-1} dSS^{-1} \Lambda S + S^{-1} d\Lambda S + S^{-1} \Lambda dS) = F dF.$

Condition (5.1.40) is also sufficient for the Stäckel separability. Actually, let (h_1, \ldots, h_n) be independent functions, defining a bi-Lagrangian foliation on a regular ωN manifold (5.1.37). If the control matrix *F* fulfills additionally relation (5.1.40), then the left eigenvectors of *F*, if suitably normalized, form a Stäckel matrix and the functions (h_1, \ldots, h_n) are a Stäckel separable in DN coordinates. The reader can find the proof of the sufficient condition in [113].

So, up to now, we have demonstrated that a *n*-tuple $(h_1^{(1)}, \ldots, h_{n_r}^{(r)})$ of functions which fulfill separation relations (5.1.15) form Gel'fand–Zakharevich bi-Hamiltonian chains (5.1.6). On the other hand, we have demonstrated that an *n*-tuple $(h_1^{(1)}, \ldots, h_{n_r}^{(r)})$ of functions from Gel'fand–Zakharevich bi-Hamiltonian chains (5.1.6) are a Stäckel separable if a Poisson pencil Π_{λ} is reducible onto a symplectic foliation S_c of Π_0 (5.1.34)–(5.1.37), the recursion operator N on each leave is regular and the control matrix F fulfills the condition (5.1.40).

Now, for a quasi-bi-Hamiltonian chains (5.1.27), given in some local coordinates (x, p) on a 2*n*-dimensional phase space, we construct a transformation to separation coordinates (λ, μ) , i.e. special DN coordinates and find the explicit form of separation relations (5.1.15) following [113]. First, we find λ^i coordinates which, by definition, are roots of the minimal polynomial of *N* or, equivalently, roots of a characteristic polynomial of the control matrix *F* :

$$0 = \sqrt{\det(\lambda I - N(x, p))}$$
(5.1.41)
=
$$\det(\lambda I - F(x, p)) = \lambda^n + \rho_1 \lambda^{n-1} + \dots + \rho_n \equiv B(\lambda),$$

where $\rho_i(\lambda)$ are Viète polynomials (4.3.18). Before we go further on, we will show the alternative construction of λ^i coordinates. Let us define the $r \times r$ matrix $F(\lambda)$

$$F(\lambda) = \begin{pmatrix} Z_1(h^{(1)}(\lambda)) \cdots Z_1(h^{(r)}(\lambda)) \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ Z_r(h^{(1)}(\lambda)) \cdots Z_r(h^{(r)}(\lambda)) \end{pmatrix}$$

The eigenvalues of N(F) can be easily obtained from the matrix $F(\lambda)$. Actually, the determinant of $F(\lambda)$ is the characteristic polynomial of F

$$\det F(\lambda) = \det(\lambda I - F) = B(\lambda). \tag{5.1.42}$$

In order to show it, let us differentiate the separation relations (5.1.15) with respect to Z_k

$$0 = \sum_{k=1}^{r} \beta^{k}(\lambda^{i}) \partial_{Z_{m}} h^{(k)}(\lambda^{i}) = (\beta^{1}(\lambda^{i}), \dots, \beta^{r}(\lambda^{i})) F(\lambda^{i}), \quad m = 1, \dots, r, \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$
(5.1.43)

This shows that det $F(\lambda^i) = 0$. Since det $F(\lambda)$ is a monic degree *n* polynomial and λ^i are distinct, we conclude that (5.1.42) holds. Moreover, from Eqs. (5.1.43) we can calculate Casimir multipliers β^k from separation relations (5.1.15). Obviously, Eqs. (5.1.43) have infinitely many solutions with respect to β^k unless we chose one by fixing the normalization, $\beta^r = 1, i = 1, ..., n$ in our case.

Finally, let us describe a procedure for constructing conjugate momenta μ_i . First observe that

$$Y = \pi_0 d\rho_1 = \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{\partial}{\partial \mu_i}, \quad \rho_1 = -\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} N = -\operatorname{tr} F = -(\lambda^1 + \ldots + \lambda^n).$$

Then, notice that $(\beta^1(\lambda^i), \ldots, \beta^r(\lambda^i))F(\lambda^i) = \psi_i(\lambda^i, \mu_i)$ is a Stäckel function. Applying successively *Y* vector to $(\beta^1(\lambda^i), \ldots, \beta^r(\lambda^i))F(\lambda^i)$ find such $f_i(x, p, \lambda^i)$ that

$$Y(f_i(x, p, \lambda^i)) = 1, \quad i = 1, ..., n$$

and define

$$\mu_i = f_i(x, p, \lambda^i), \quad i = 1, \dots, n \tag{5.1.44}$$

which is an admissible canonical momentum conjugated with λ^i .

In order to demonstrate how efficient the presented procedure of separability is, let us start with a few instructive examples. More systematic application of bi-Hamiltonian separability theory is presented in the next section. First of all, notice that if the Poisson structure Π_0 is canonical and

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial c_k} \Pi_1^{ij} = 0, \ i, j = 1, \dots, 2n, \ k = 1, \dots, r,$$
 (5.1.45)

then a desired transversal distribution is given simple by $\{Z_k = \partial_{c_k}\}_{k=1,\dots,r}$. In fact, if we define \prod_D

$$\Pi_D = \Pi_1 - \sum_{k=1}^r X_1^{(k)} \wedge \frac{\partial}{\partial c_k},$$

5.1 Bi-Hamiltonian Separability Theory

so that

$$\Pi_D^{ij} = \begin{cases} \Pi_1^{ij}, & i, j = 1, \dots, 2n, \\ 0, & 2n < i, j \le 2n + r \end{cases}$$

then, according to considerations from Sect. 3.4.1, Π_D is Poisson and compatible with Π_0 if $L_{Z_k}\Pi_D = 0$, k = 1, ..., r, which reduces to (5.1.45). It is the case of our first following three examples. The first example is a one-Casimir case with a separation curve.

Example 5.5 Let us separate the Henon–Heiles system from Example 5.1. It is a one-Casimir case with one-dimensional transversal distribution generated by $Z = \frac{\partial}{\partial c}$. Indeed, one can check that

$$L_Z \Pi_0 = 0, \quad L_Z \Pi_1 = Y \wedge Z,$$

where

$$Y = [Z, X_1] = \Pi_0 d(Z(h_1)) = \frac{\partial}{\partial p_x}$$

The Casimir multiplier is trivial and hence, $F(\lambda)$ matrix is one-dimensional

Alternatively, one obtains the same result from (5.1.41), where

$$N = \pi_1 \pi_0^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & x & \frac{1}{2}y \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{2}y & 0 \\ -x & -\frac{1}{2}y & 0 & \frac{1}{2}p_y \\ -\frac{1}{2}y & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}p_y & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 - 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 - 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} x & \frac{1}{2}y & 0 & 0 \\ \frac{1}{2}y & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{2}p_y & x & \frac{1}{2}y \\ -\frac{1}{2}p_y & 0 & \frac{1}{2}y & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

and

$$F = \begin{pmatrix} x & 1\\ \frac{1}{4}y^2 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

As (x, p) are canonical coordinates and the transformation to separation coordinates is a point transformation, we could calculate the missing part of a canonical transformation using formula (4.1.37). Nevertheless, we demonstrate how works the general construction (5.1.44). First notice that

$$Y = \pi_0 d\rho_1 = \frac{\partial}{\partial p_x}$$

and

$$Y(h(\lambda)) = p_x \lambda + \frac{1}{2} y p_y, \quad Y^2(h(\lambda)) = \lambda,$$

hence

$$Y\left(\frac{Y(h(\lambda))}{Y^2(h(\lambda))}\right) = 1.$$

As a result

$$\mu_1 = \frac{Y(h(\lambda^1))}{Y^2(h(\lambda^1))} = p_x + \frac{1}{2} \frac{yp_y}{\lambda^1} = p_x - \frac{(-\lambda^1 \lambda^2)^{1/2}}{\lambda^1} p_y,$$

$$\mu_2 = \frac{Y(h(\lambda^2))}{Y^2(h(\lambda^2))} = p_x + \frac{1}{2} \frac{yp_y}{\lambda^2} = p_x - \frac{(-\lambda^1 \lambda^2)^{1/2}}{\lambda^2} p_y,$$

so that

$$p_x = \frac{\lambda^1 \mu_1}{\lambda^1 - \lambda^2} + \frac{\lambda^2 \mu_2}{\lambda^2 - \lambda^1}, \quad p_y = \sqrt{-\lambda^1 \lambda^2} \left(\frac{\mu_1}{\lambda^1 - \lambda^2} + \frac{\mu_2}{\lambda^2 - \lambda^1} \right)$$

and we reconstructed the transformation to separation coordinates from Example 4.11, given there ad hoc. Evaluating $h(\lambda^i)$ we recover separation relations in the form

$$c(\lambda^{1})^{2} + h_{1}\lambda^{1} + h_{2} = \frac{1}{2}\lambda^{1}\mu_{1}^{2} + (\lambda^{1})^{4},$$

$$c(\lambda^{2})^{2} + h_{1}\lambda^{2} + h_{2} = \frac{1}{2}\lambda^{2}\mu_{2}^{2} + (\lambda^{2})^{4}$$

204

which are two copies of the separation curve

$$c\lambda^2 + h_1\lambda + h_2 = \frac{1}{2}\lambda\mu^2 + \lambda^4.$$

The second example is also a one-Casimir case without a separation curve.

Example 5.6 Let us separate the Kepler problem on the plane considered in Example 5.2. Like in previous example, it is a one-Casimir case with one-dimensional transversal distribution generated by $Z = \frac{\partial}{\partial c}$. As

$$F = \lambda^2 - y\lambda - \frac{1}{4}x^2,$$

so

$$\lambda^1 + \lambda^2 = y, \quad \lambda^1 \lambda^2 = -\frac{1}{4}x^2.$$

Moreover

$$Y = \pi_0 d\rho_1 = \frac{\partial}{\partial p_y},$$

hence

$$\mu_1 = \frac{Y(h(\lambda^1))}{Y^2(h(\lambda^1))} = p_y + \frac{1}{2} \frac{x p_x}{\lambda^1} = p_y - \frac{(-\lambda^1 \lambda^2)^{1/2}}{\lambda^1} p_x,$$

$$\mu_2 = \frac{Y(h(\lambda^2))}{Y^2(h(\lambda^2))} = p_y + \frac{1}{2} \frac{x p_x}{\lambda^2} = p_y - \frac{(-\lambda^1 \lambda^2)^{1/2}}{\lambda^2} p_x,$$

so that

$$p_x = \sqrt{-\lambda^1 \lambda^2} \left(\frac{\mu_1}{\lambda^1 - \lambda^2} + \frac{\mu_2}{\lambda^2 - \lambda^1} \right), \quad p_y = \frac{\lambda^1 \mu_1}{\lambda^1 - \lambda^2} + \frac{\lambda^2 \mu_2}{\lambda^2 - \lambda^1}.$$

Again, evaluating $h(\lambda^i)$ we recover separation relations in the form

$$c(\lambda^{1})^{2} + h_{1}\lambda^{1} + h_{2} = \frac{1}{2}\lambda^{1}\mu_{1}^{2} - \frac{1}{2}a$$
$$c(\lambda^{2})^{2} + h_{1}\lambda^{2} + h_{2} = \frac{1}{2}\lambda^{2}\mu_{2}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}a$$

for $\lambda^1 > \lambda^2$ and $a \to -a$ for $\lambda^2 > \lambda^1$. These separation relations are not related to any separation curve.

The third example is a two-Casimir case again with separation curve.

Example 5.7 Let us separate the system from Example 5.3. It is two-Casimir case with two-dimensional transversal distribution generated by $Z_1 = \frac{\partial}{\partial c_1}$, $Z_2 = \frac{\partial}{\partial c_2}$, hence

$$F(\lambda) = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda - (x + \frac{1}{4}x^{-1}y^2) & \frac{1}{16}x^{-1}y^4 \\ -x^{-1} & \lambda + \frac{1}{4}x^{-1}y^2 \end{pmatrix}$$

and

$$\det F(\lambda) = \lambda^2 - x\lambda - \frac{1}{4}y^2 \Longrightarrow \lambda^1 + \lambda^2 = x, \quad \lambda^1\lambda^2 = -\frac{1}{4}y^2, \tag{5.1.46}$$

so the transformation to separation coordinates is the same as in the Henon–Heiles case from Example 5.5. The Casimir multiplier is calculated from

$$\left(\beta_{i}^{1} \ 1\right) F(\lambda) = \left(\beta_{i}^{1} [\lambda - (x + \frac{1}{4}x^{-1}y^{2})] - x^{-1} \\ \frac{1}{16}\beta_{i}^{1}x^{-1}y^{4} + \lambda + \frac{1}{4}x^{-1}y^{2} \\ \right) = 0.$$

Substituting (5.1.46), both equations give the same result $\beta_i^1 = (\lambda^i)^2$. Evaluating $\beta_i^1 h^{(1)}(\lambda^i) + h^{(2)}(\lambda)$ we recover separation relations in the form

$$c_1(\lambda^1)^3 + h_1^{(1)}(\lambda^1)^2 + c_2\lambda^1 + h_1^{(2)} = \frac{1}{2}\lambda^1\mu_1^2 + (\lambda^1)^4,$$

$$c_1(\lambda^2)^3 + h_1^{(1)}(\lambda^2)^2 + c_2\lambda^2 + h_1^{(2)} = \frac{1}{2}\lambda^2\mu_2^2 + (\lambda^2)^4,$$

which are two copies of the separation curve

$$c_1\lambda^3 + h_1^{(1)}\lambda^2 + c_2\lambda + h_1^{(2)} = \frac{1}{2}\lambda\mu^2 + \lambda^4.$$

Finally, we consider bi-Hamiltonian separability of the Euler top from Example 5.4

Example 5.8 Although the bi-Hamiltonian representation of Euler top (see Example 5.4) seems relatively simple, nevertheless, it is not such a simple task to find a one-dimensional distribution Z of the desired properties. An appropriate vector field is of the form

$$Z = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\omega_1}{\omega_1^2 + \omega_2^2} \\ \frac{\omega_2}{\omega_1^2 + \omega_2^2} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Indeed, as according to (2.5.8)

$$\begin{split} \Pi_0'[Z] &= \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & \frac{\omega_2}{\omega_1^2 + \omega_2^2} \\ 0 & 0 & -\frac{\omega_1}{\omega_1^2 + \omega_2^2} \\ -\frac{\omega^2}{\omega_1^2 + \omega_2^2} & \frac{\omega_1}{\omega_1^2 + \omega_2^2} & 0 \end{pmatrix},\\ \Pi_1'[Z] &= \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & -\frac{a_2\omega_2}{\omega_1^2 + \omega_2^2} \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{a_1\omega_1}{\omega_1^2 + \omega_2^2} \\ \frac{a_2\omega_2}{\omega_1^2 + \omega_2^2} & -\frac{a_1\omega_1}{\omega_1^2 + \omega_2^2} & 0 \end{pmatrix},\\ Z' &= \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{\omega_1^2 - \omega_2^2}{(\omega_1^2 + \omega_2^2)^2} & -\frac{2\omega_1\omega_2}{(\omega_1^2 + \omega_2^2)^2} & 0 \\ -\frac{2\omega_1\omega_2}{(\omega_1^2 + \omega_2^2)^2} & \frac{\omega_1^2 - \omega_2^2}{(\omega_1^2 + \omega_2^2)^2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \end{split}$$

then, one can check that

$$L_Z \Pi_0 = 0, \quad L_Z \Pi_1 = Y \wedge Z,$$

where

$$Y = [Z, X] = \Pi_0 d(Z(h_1)) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{2(a_1 - a_2)\omega_1^2 \omega_2 \omega_3}{(\omega_1^2 + \omega_2^2)^2} \\ \frac{2(a_1 - a_2)\omega_1 \omega_2^2 \omega_3}{(\omega_1^2 + \omega_2^2)^2} \\ -\frac{2(a_1 - a_2)\omega_1 \omega_2}{\omega_1^2 + \omega_2^2} \end{pmatrix}$$

hence, according to (5.1.24) and (5.1.25), the Poisson pencil $\Pi_{\lambda} = \Pi_1 - \lambda \Pi_1$ can be reduced along the distribution *Z*. Now,

$$F(\lambda) = Z(\lambda h_0 + h_1) = \lambda + \frac{a_1 \omega_1^2 + a_2 \omega_2^2}{\omega_1^2 + \omega_2^2}$$

and

$$\det F(\lambda) = 0 \Longrightarrow \lambda^1 = -\frac{a_1\omega_1^2 + a_2\omega_2^2}{\omega_1^2 + \omega_2^2}.$$

Then,

$$\Pi_0 d(-\lambda_1) = \Pi_0 d(Z(h_1)) = Y$$

and one can check that

$$Y\left(\frac{Y(h(\lambda))}{Y^2(h(\lambda))}\right) = 1 \Longrightarrow \mu_1 = \frac{Y(h(\lambda))}{Y^2(h(\lambda))} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\omega_3(\omega_1^2 + \omega_2^2)}{(a_2 - a_1)\omega_1\omega_2},$$

giving the following separation relation

$$c\lambda^{1} + h_{1} = -2(\lambda^{1} + a_{1})(\lambda^{1} + a_{2})(\lambda^{1} + a_{3})\mu_{1}^{2}.$$

The transformation between original coordinates $(\omega_1, \omega_2, \omega_3)$ and separation coordinates (λ^1, μ_1, c) is as follows

$$\lambda^{1} = -\frac{a_{1}\omega_{1}^{2} + a_{2}\omega_{2}^{2}}{\omega_{1}^{2} + \omega_{2}^{2}}, \quad \mu_{1} = \frac{1}{2}\frac{\omega_{3}(\omega_{1}^{2} + \omega_{2}^{2})}{(a_{2} - a_{1})\omega_{1}\omega_{2}}, \quad c = \frac{1}{2}\omega_{1}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\omega_{2}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\omega_{3}^{2}.$$

There is a famous generalization of Euler top from so(3) to so(m), constructed by Manakov [188], which has also a bi-Hamiltonian formulation of the GZ type [117]. Nevertheless, it has not been separated yet. We even do not have any proof that it can be separated. Although we know [31] that separable systems have a bi-Hamiltonian extension to GZ chains, the inverse statement is not proved. As will be presented in the next section, the necessary and sufficient condition for separability of GZ chains is the so called *d*-compatibility of two Poisson structures, which is a stronger demand than ordinary compatibility.

5.2 Application of Bi-Hamiltonian Separability Theory

A reach source of finite dimensional bi-Hamiltonian systems are hierarchies of bi-Hamiltonian field systems, i.e. nonlinear PDE's known as Soliton equations. A systematic methods of their construction the reader can find in [23] and in literature quoted there. In particular, the construction of bi-Hamiltonian representation for stationary flows and constraint flows of Soliton field equations is presented. Thus we skip that class of examples. Here we will illustrate the bi-Hamiltonian separability theory, described in previous sections, on another classes of systems with arbitrary number of degrees of freedom.
5.2.1 Elliptic Separable Potentials

Consider a Liouville integrable geodesic Hamiltonians in $M = \mathbb{R}^{2n}$, given in Euclidean coordinates x^i and conjugate momenta p_i by

$$T_r = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^n \left[\frac{\partial \rho_r(\beta)}{\partial \beta_i} - \frac{1}{4} \sum_{k=1, k \neq i}^n \frac{\partial^2 \rho_r(\beta)}{\partial \beta_i \partial \beta_k} (x^k)^2 \right] p_i^2 + \frac{1}{8} \sum_{i, j=1, i \neq j}^n \frac{\partial^2 \rho_r(\beta)}{\partial \beta_i \partial \beta_j} x^i x^j p_i p_j,$$
(5.2.1)

for r = 1, ..., n, where $\rho_r(\beta)$ are Viète polynomials of *n* parameters β_i (signed elementary symmetric polynomials of β_i (5.5.3)). The extended systems in $M = \mathbb{R}^{2n+1}$

$$h_r = T_r + c \left[\rho_r(\beta) - \frac{1}{4} \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{\partial \rho_r(\beta)}{\partial \beta_i} (x^i)^2 \right]$$
(5.2.2)

form a bi-Hamiltonian chain [24, 224]

$$\Pi_{0}dh_{0} = 0$$

$$\Pi_{0}dh_{1} = X_{1} = \Pi_{1}dh_{0}$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\Pi_{0}dh_{n} = X_{n} = \Pi_{1}dh_{n-1}$$

$$0 = \Pi_{1}dh_{n}$$
(5.2.3)

where

$$\Pi_{0} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I_{n} & 0 \\ -I_{n} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \Pi_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & B - \frac{1}{4}x \otimes x & p \\ -B + \frac{1}{4}x \otimes x & \frac{1}{4}p \otimes x - \frac{1}{4}x \otimes p & -\frac{1}{2}cx \\ -p & \frac{1}{2}cx & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (5.2.4)$$

 $x = (x^1, ..., x^n)^T$, $p = (p_1, ..., p_n)^T$, $B = \text{diag}(\beta_1, ..., \beta_n)$ and $h_0 = c$. Notice that

$$h_1 = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^n p_i^2 - \frac{1}{4} c \sum_{i=1}^n \left[\beta_i + (x^i)^2 \right].$$

According to the projection procedure

$$Z = \frac{\partial}{\partial c}, \quad Y = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} x^{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{i}}$$

and

$$Z(h_0) = 1$$
, $Y(h_0) = 0$, $L_Z \Pi_0 = 0$, $L_Z \Pi_1 = Y \wedge Z$.

The first part of the transformation to separation coordinates is a point transformation

$$\rho_r(\lambda) = \rho_r(\beta) - \frac{1}{4} \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{\partial \rho_r(\beta)}{\partial \beta_i} (x^i)^2, \quad r = 1, \dots, n.$$
(5.2.5)

As is proved in Sect. 5.5.1 (see formulas (5.5.11), (5.5.20) and (5.5.13) for $\varepsilon = -1$), the relations (5.2.5) are equivalent to the following one

$$1 + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{(x^{j})^{2}}{z - \beta_{j}} \equiv \frac{\prod_{j=1}^{n} (z - \lambda^{j})}{\prod_{j=1}^{n} (z - \beta_{j})}$$

which defines the generalized elliptic coordinates $(\lambda^1, \ldots, \lambda^n)$. Moreover,

$$(x^{j})^{2} = 4 \frac{\prod_{k=1}^{n} (\beta_{j} - \lambda^{k})}{\prod_{\substack{k=1\\k \neq j}}^{n} (\beta_{j} - \beta_{k})}, \quad \mu_{j} = \frac{\partial x^{i}}{\partial \lambda^{j}} p_{i}, \qquad j = 1, \dots n$$
(5.2.6)

and we get the following form of Hamiltonians (5.2.2) in separation coordinates

$$h_r = (-1)^r \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{\partial \rho_r(\lambda)}{\partial \lambda^i} \frac{\prod_{k=1}^n (\lambda^i - \beta_k) \mu_i^2 + c\lambda_i^n}{\prod_{k=1, k \neq i}^n (\lambda^i - \lambda^k)}.$$

In consequence, the separation curve takes the form

$$c\lambda^n + h_1\lambda^{n-1} + \ldots + h_n = \frac{1}{2}\prod_{k=1}^n (\lambda - \beta_k)\mu^2$$

and belongs to the Benenti class.

In the next step let us add some potentials to Hamiltonian functions (5.2.2)

$$h_r = T_r + V_r(x) + c \left[\rho_r(\beta) - \frac{1}{4} \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{\partial \rho_r(\beta)}{\partial \beta_i} (x^i)^2 \right].$$
 (5.2.7)

It change the tensor Π_1 to the form

$$\Pi_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & B - \frac{1}{4}x \otimes x & p \\ -B + \frac{1}{4}x \otimes x & \frac{1}{4}p \otimes x - \frac{1}{4}x \otimes p - \frac{\partial}{\partial x}V_{1}(x) - \frac{1}{2}cx \\ -p & \frac{\partial}{\partial x}V_{1}(x) + \frac{1}{2}cx & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5.2.8)

As we demand from new Hamiltonians to constitute the bi-Hamiltonian chain (5.2.3), so Π_1 has to be a Poisson tensor and Jacobi equations (3.2.3) impose restrictions on $V_1(x)$ in the form

$$(\beta_i - \beta_j)\frac{\partial^2 V_1}{\partial x^i \partial x^j} + \frac{3}{4} \left(x^j \frac{\partial V_1}{\partial x^i} - x^j \frac{\partial V_1}{\partial x^j} \right) + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{k=1}^n \left(x^j x^k \frac{\partial^2 V_1}{\partial x^i \partial x^k} - x^i x^k \frac{\partial^2 V_1}{\partial x^j \partial x^k} \right) = 0,$$
(5.2.9)

where i, j = 1, ..., n. Notice that remaining potentials V_r are uniquely determined by V_1 and the chain (5.2.3). Such potentials are known as *elliptic separable potentials*, as separate in generalized elliptic coordinates, and are constructing systematically in Sect. 5.5.1.

Example 5.9 Garnier system with *n* degrees of freedom. Its Hamiltonian representation in canonical coordinates (x, p) is of the form [24, 68]

$$(x^{i})_{t} = p_{i}, \quad i = 1, ..., n,$$

 $(p_{i})_{t} = -\frac{1}{4}x^{i}\sum_{k=1}^{n}(x^{k})^{2} + \frac{1}{2}(\beta_{i} - c)x^{i}, \quad i = 1, ..., n$

generated by the Hamiltonian function

$$h_1 = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^n p_i^2 + \frac{1}{16} \left[\sum_{i=1}^n (x^i)^2 \right]^2 - \frac{1}{4} \sum_{i=1}^n \beta_i (x^i)^2 - c \sum_{i=1}^n \left[\beta_i - \frac{1}{4} (x^i)^2 \right].$$

The potential

$$V_1 = \frac{1}{16} \left[\sum_{i=1}^n (x^i)^2 \right]^2 - \frac{1}{4} \sum_{i=1}^n \beta_i (x^i)^2$$

fulfills condition (5.2.9) so h_1 belongs to bi-Hamiltonian hierarchy for elliptic potentials. For simplicity we illustrate the separability procedure for the case of n = 2. The two dimensional Garnier system

$$(x^{1})_{t} = p_{1}$$

$$(x^{2})_{t} = p_{2}$$

$$(p_{1})_{t} = -\frac{1}{4}x^{1}\left[(x^{1})^{2} + (x^{2})^{2}\right] + \frac{1}{2}(\beta_{1} - c)x^{1}$$

$$(p_{2})_{t} = -\frac{1}{4}x^{2}\left[(x^{1})^{2} + (x^{2})^{2}\right] + \frac{1}{2}(\beta_{2} - c)x^{2}$$

$$c_{t} = 0$$

is a Liouville integrable system with two constants of motion

$$\begin{split} h_1 &= \frac{1}{2} p_1^2 + \frac{1}{2} p_2^2 + \frac{1}{16} \left[(x^1)^2 + (x^2)^2 \right]^2 - \frac{1}{4} \beta_1 (x^1)^2 - \frac{1}{4} \beta_2 (x^2)^2 + c \left[-\beta_1 - \beta_2 + \frac{1}{4} (x^1)^2 + \frac{1}{4} (x^2)^2 \right] \\ h_2 &= -\frac{1}{2} \beta_2 p_1^2 - \frac{1}{2} \beta_1 p_2^2 + \frac{1}{8} (x^2 p_1 - x^1 p_2)^2 - \frac{1}{16} \left[(x^1)^2 + (x^2)^2 \right] \left[\beta_2 (x^1)^2 + \beta_1 (x^2)^2 \right] \\ &+ \frac{1}{4} \beta_1 \beta_2 \left[(x^1)^2 + (x^2)^2 \right] - c \left[-\beta_1 \beta_2 + \frac{1}{4} \beta_2 (x^1)^2 + \frac{1}{4} \beta_1 (x^2)^2 \right] \end{split}$$

which together with $h_0 = c$ belong to the bi-Hamiltonian chain (5.2.3), where

$$\Pi_0 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\Pi_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & \beta_{1} - \frac{1}{4}(x^{1})^{2} & -\frac{1}{4}x^{1}x^{2} & p_{1} \\ 0 & 0 & -\frac{1}{4}x^{1}x^{2} & \beta_{2} - \frac{1}{4}(x^{2})^{2} & p_{2} \\ -\beta_{1} + \frac{1}{4}(x^{1})^{2} & \frac{1}{4}x^{1}x^{2} & 0 & \frac{1}{4}(x^{2}p_{1} - x^{1}p_{2}) - \frac{\partial h_{1}}{\partial x^{1}} \\ \frac{1}{4}(x^{1})^{2} & -\beta_{2} + \frac{1}{4}(x^{2})^{2} - \frac{1}{4}(x^{2}p_{1} - x^{1}p_{2}) & 0 & -\frac{\partial h_{1}}{\partial x^{2}} \\ -p_{1} & -p_{2} & \frac{\partial h_{1}}{\partial x^{1}} & \frac{\partial h_{1}}{\partial x^{2}} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

From (5.2.6) we find the transformation to separation coordinates

$$x^{1} = 2\sqrt{\frac{(\beta_{1} - \lambda^{1})(\beta_{1} - \lambda^{2})}{\beta_{1} - \beta_{2}}}, \quad x^{2} = 2\sqrt{\frac{(\beta_{2} - \lambda^{1})(\beta_{2} - \lambda^{2})}{\beta_{2} - \beta_{1}}},$$

$$p_{1} = \sqrt{\frac{(\beta_{1} - \lambda^{1})(\beta_{1} - \lambda^{2})}{\beta_{1} - \beta_{2}}} \left[\frac{(\beta_{1} - \lambda^{1})\mu_{1}}{\lambda^{1} - \lambda^{2}} + \frac{(\beta_{1} - \lambda^{2})\mu_{2}}{\lambda^{2} - \lambda^{1}} \right],$$
$$p_{2} = \sqrt{\frac{(\beta_{2} - \lambda^{1})(\beta_{2} - \lambda^{2})}{\beta_{2} - \beta_{1}}} \left[\frac{(\beta_{2} - \lambda^{1})\mu_{1}}{\lambda^{1} - \lambda^{2}} + \frac{(\beta_{2} - \lambda^{2})\mu_{2}}{\lambda^{2} - \lambda^{1}} \right],$$

and the separation curve of the form

$$c\lambda^2 + h_1\lambda + h_2 = (\lambda - \beta_1)(\lambda - \beta_2)(\frac{1}{2}\mu^2 + \lambda).$$

5.2.2 Bi-Cofactor Systems

Let us consider the system of differential equations in Euclidean space $\mathbb{E}^n = (\mathbb{R}^n, g = I_n)$ of Newton form

$$x_{tt}^i = F^i(x), \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$
 (5.2.10)

Notice, that in \mathbb{E}^n and Euclidean coordinates, rising and lowering indices of any second order tensor with the help of metric tensor does not change its matrix representation. Thus, in the further notation, for a second order tensor $A : A^{ij}(x) = A^i_{ij}(x) = A^i_{ij}(x)$. The function

$$H = \frac{1}{2} A^{ij} p_i p_j + V,$$

where $p_i = x_t^i$, A = A(x) is a nondegenerate symmetric matrix and V = V(x) is some function, is an integral of motion for the system (5.2.10) if and only if the following two conditions hold

$$\partial_i A^{jk} + \partial_k A^{ij} + \partial_j A^{ki} = 0, \quad i, j, k = 1, \dots, n$$
(5.2.11)

and

$$A_{ij}F^{j} + (dV)_{i} = 0, \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$
 (5.2.12)

Equations (5.2.11) implies that the matrix A is a Killing tensor of the Euclidean metric. We will restrict ourselves to a class of solutions of (5.2.11) that have the form

$$A = \operatorname{cof}(J)$$

with

$$J = \alpha \, x \otimes x + \beta \otimes x + x \otimes \beta + \gamma,$$

where cof means the cofactor matrix (so that cof(J)J = det(J)), $x = (x^1, ..., x^n)^T$, α is a real constant, $\beta = (\beta_1, ..., \beta_n)^T$ is a column vector of constants and γ is a symmetric $n \times n$ constant matrix. Equations (5.2.12) imply that the force *F* can be written in the *quasi-potential* form $F = -A^{-1}dV$.

In the case when the system (5.2.10) has the second, functionally independent of *H*, integral of motion of the form

$$\bar{H} = \frac{1}{2}\bar{A}^{ij}p_ip_j + \bar{V},$$

with an invertible matrix $\overline{A}(x)$, then it can be written in a quasi-potential form in two distinct ways. Actually, a system of equations

$$x_{tt} = F = -A^{-1}dV = -\bar{A}^{-1}d\bar{V}$$
(5.2.13)

where A and \overline{A} are two linearly independent matrices of the cofactor form

$$A = \operatorname{cof}(J), \quad J = \alpha \, x \otimes x + \beta \otimes x + x \otimes \beta + \gamma$$
$$\bar{A} = \operatorname{cof}(\bar{J}), \quad \bar{J} = \bar{\alpha} \, x \otimes x + \bar{\beta} \otimes x + x \otimes \bar{\beta} + \bar{\gamma}$$

where V = V(x) and $\overline{V} = \overline{V}(x)$ are two scalar functions, is called a *bi-cofactor* system [184, 194, 225].

If the Newton system (5.2.10) has a bi-cofactor form (5.2.13) then it has *n* integrals of motion of the form

$$H_k = \frac{1}{2} (A_k)^{ij} p_i p_j + V_k, \quad k = 1, \dots, n$$

where the matrices A_k are defined as coefficients in the polynomial expansion of $cof(J + \lambda \overline{J})$ with respect to the parameter λ [184]

$$\operatorname{cof}(J + \lambda \overline{J}) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} A_k \lambda^{n-k}$$

with $A_1 = \operatorname{cof}(\overline{J})$, $A_n = \operatorname{cof}(J)$ and where $V_1 = \overline{V}$ and $V_n = V$. Consequently, such a system can be written in a quasi-potential form in *n* distinct ways

$$x_{tt} = F = -A_k^{-1} dV_k, \quad k = 1, \dots, n.$$
 (5.2.14)

The admissible potentials V_k can be constructed recursively [184] through the formula

$$V^{(r+1)}(\lambda) = \frac{\det(J + \lambda \bar{J})}{\det(\bar{J})} V_1^{(r)} - \lambda V^{(r)}(\lambda)$$

and its inverse

$$V^{(r)}(\lambda) = \frac{1}{\lambda} \left(\frac{\det(J + \lambda \overline{J})}{\det(J)} V_n^{(r+1)} - V^{(r+1)}(\lambda) \right),$$

where $V^{(r)}(\lambda) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} V_k^{(r)} \lambda^{n-k}$. Starting from a trivial potential $V_i^{(0)} = \delta_{in}$ it is possible to construct the infinite hierarchy of positive and negative potentials $V_k^{(r)}$, $r \in \mathbb{Z}$.

The bi-cofactor system (5.2.13) can be embedded in a bi-Hamiltonian system on $M = T^* \mathbb{E}^n \times \mathbb{R}$. Actually, consider a following pencil $\Pi_{\lambda} = \Pi_1 - \lambda \Pi_0$

$$\Pi_{0} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\bar{J} & 0\\ \bar{J} & -\bar{R} & -2c\bar{N}\\ 0 & c\bar{N} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \Pi_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & J & p\\ -J & R & F + 2cN\\ -p & -F - cN & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.2.15)

The $n \times n$ symmetric matrices J and \overline{J} are exactly the matrices that defined our system (5.2.13), the $n \times 1$ matric N and \overline{N} are given by

$$N = \alpha x + \beta, \quad \bar{N} = \bar{\alpha} x + \bar{\beta}$$

and the $n \times n$ matrices R and \overline{R} are defined by

$$R = N \otimes p - p \otimes N, \qquad \overline{R} = \overline{N} \otimes p - p \otimes \overline{N}.$$

It is a Poisson pencil due to the fact that the term *F* can be represented as (5.2.14). The bi-Hamiltonian chain (5.2.3) is generated by the Casimir function h_{λ} of Π_{λ} of the form

$$h_{\lambda} = \frac{1}{2}p^{T} \operatorname{cof}(J + \lambda \bar{J}) + V(\lambda) - c \operatorname{det}(J + \lambda \bar{J}),$$

where $V(\lambda) = V^{(r)}(\lambda)$, $r \in \mathbb{Z}$. Thus, $h_{\lambda} = \sum_{k=0}^{n} h_k \lambda^{n-k}$ with functions $h_k(x, p, c)$ given by

$$h_k(x, p, c) = H_k(x, p) - cD_k, \quad k = 1, \dots, n, \quad h_0(x, c) = -cD_0$$

and with D_i defined as

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} D_k \lambda^{n-k} = \det(J + \lambda \bar{J}),$$

so that $D_0 = \det(\overline{J})$ and $D_n = \det(J)$. Notice that coordinates (x, p, c) are non-canonical coordinates for both Poisson structures (5.2.15).

In order to separate the bi-Hamiltonian system we pass to new coordinates $(x, p, c) \rightarrow (x, p, c')$, where $c' = h_0 = -cD_0$. In new coordinates the bi-Hamiltonian chain (5.2.3) is generated by

$$\Pi_0 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\bar{J} & 0 \\ \bar{J} & -\bar{R} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\Pi_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & J & -\det(\bar{J})p \\ -J & R & -\det(\bar{J})F + c'(N - J\bar{J}^{-1}\bar{N}) \\ \det(\bar{J})p \,\det(\bar{J})F - c'(N - J\bar{J}^{-1}\bar{N}) & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

and

$$h_k(x, p, c') = H_k(x, p) + c' \frac{D_k}{D_0}, \quad k = 1, \dots, n, \quad h_0(x, c) = c'.$$
 (5.2.16)

For this new representation the projection procedure is as follows [189]

$$Z = \frac{\partial}{\partial c'}, \quad Y = \Pi_0 d(Z(h_1)) = \Pi_0 d\left(\frac{D_1}{D_0}\right)$$
$$L_Z \Pi_0 = 0, \quad L_Z \Pi_1 = Y \wedge Z,$$

and

$$Y^{3}(h_{\lambda_{i}}) = 0, \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$
 (5.2.17)

,

From (5.2.16) follows that

$$Z(h_{\lambda}) = \frac{\det(J + \lambda J)}{\det(\bar{J})}$$

so $\lambda_i(x)$ are roots of det $(J + \lambda \overline{J}) = 0$. From (5.2.17) follows that

$$\mu_{i} = \frac{Y(h_{\lambda^{i}})}{Y^{2}(h_{\lambda^{i}})}, \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$
(5.2.18)

Example 5.10 We consider 2-dimensional bi-cofactor system

$$\begin{aligned} x_{tt}^{1} &= \frac{2x^{1}(x^{2}+1)}{[(x^{1})^{2}-2x^{2}]}, \\ x_{tt}^{2} &= \frac{(x^{2})^{2}}{[(x^{1})^{2}-2x^{2}]}, \end{aligned}$$

generated by a pair of matrices

$$\bar{J} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & x^1 \\ x^1 & 2x^2 \end{pmatrix}, \quad J = \begin{pmatrix} (x^1)^2 + 1 & x^1x^2 \\ x^1x^2 & (x^2)^2 \end{pmatrix}$$

and a pair of potential functions

$$V = \frac{x^2(x^2+2)}{2x^2 - (x^1)^2}, \quad \bar{V} = \frac{(x^2)^2}{2x^2 - (x^1)^2}.$$

Two constants of motion are

$$H_1 = x^2 p_1^2 - x^1 p_1 p_2 + \frac{1}{2} p_2^2 + \frac{x^2 (x^2 + 2)}{2x^2 - (x^1)^2},$$

$$H_2 = \frac{1}{2} (x^1)^2 p_1^2 - x^1 x^2 p_1 p_2 + \frac{1}{2} [(x^1)^2 + 1] p_2^2 + \frac{(x^2)^2}{2x^2 - (x^1)^2},$$

where $p_1 = x_t^1$, $p_2 = x_t^2$. As

$$\bar{\alpha} = 0, \quad \alpha = 1, \quad \bar{\beta} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \beta = \begin{pmatrix} x^1 \\ x^2 \end{pmatrix} \quad \bar{\gamma} = \gamma = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

the extended Hamiltonians

$$h_1 = H_1 - c x^2 (x^2 + 2), \quad h_2 = H_2 - c (x^2)^2, \text{ and } h_0 = c[(x^1)^2 - 2x^2]$$

form the bi-Hamiltonian chain (5.2.3) with respect to two Poisson tensors

$$\Pi_0 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & -1 & -x^1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -x^1 & -2x^2 & 0 \\ 1 & x^1 & 0 & p_1 & 0 \\ x^1 & 2x^2 & -p_1 & 0 & -2c \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 2c & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\Pi_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & (x^{1})^{2} + 1 & x^{1}x^{2} & p_{1} \\ 0 & 0 & x^{1}x^{2} & (x^{2})^{2} & p_{2} \\ -(x^{1})^{2} - 1 & -x^{1}x^{2} & 0 & x^{1}p_{2} - x^{2}p_{1} & \frac{2x^{1}(x^{1}+1)}{[(x^{1})^{2} - 2x^{2}]^{2}} + 2cx^{1} \\ -x^{1}x^{2} & -(x^{2})^{2} - x^{1}p_{2} + x^{2}p_{1} & 0 & \frac{2(x^{2})^{2}}{[(x^{1})^{2} - 2x^{2}]^{2}} + 2cx^{2} \\ & & * & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

According to presented procedure, the first part of transformation to separation coordinates is given by

$$\frac{\det(J+\lambda\bar{J})}{\det(\bar{J})} = 0 \implies \lambda^1 + \lambda^2 = \frac{x^2(x^2+2)}{(x^1)^2 - 2x^2}, \quad \lambda^1\lambda^2 = -\frac{(x^2)^2}{(x^1)^2 - 2x^2}.$$

As

$$Y = \frac{2x^{1}(x^{1}+1)}{(x^{1})^{2}-2x^{2}}\frac{\partial}{\partial p_{1}} + \frac{2(x^{2})^{2}}{(x^{1})^{2}-2x^{2}}\frac{\partial}{\partial p_{2}},$$

the second part of transformation to separation coordinates, according to (5.2.18), takes the form

$$\begin{split} \mu_{i} = & \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left[(x^{1})^{2} - 2x^{2} \right] x^{1} x^{2} (x^{2} + \lambda^{i} x^{2} + 2\lambda^{i}) p_{1}}{x^{2} \left[(x^{2})^{3} + (x^{1})^{2} x^{2} + 2\lambda^{i} (x^{1})^{2} + \lambda^{i} (x^{2})^{3} + 2\lambda^{i} (x^{1})^{2} x^{2} \right]}{+ \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left[(x^{1})^{2} - 2x^{2} \right] \left[(x^{2})^{2} - (x^{1})^{2} x^{2} + \lambda^{i} (x^{2})^{2} - \lambda^{i} (x^{1})^{2} - \lambda^{i} (x^{1})^{2} x^{2} \right] p_{2}}{x^{2} \left[(x^{2})^{3} + (x^{1})^{2} x^{2} + 2\lambda^{i} (x^{1})^{2} + \lambda^{i} (x^{2})^{3} + 2\lambda^{i} (x^{1})^{2} x^{2} \right]}, \quad i = 1, 2. \end{split}$$

The solution is as follows

$$x^{1} = -2\frac{\sqrt{-\lambda^{1}\lambda^{2}(\lambda^{1}+1)(\lambda^{2}+1)}}{\lambda^{1}+\lambda^{2}+\lambda^{1}\lambda^{2}}, \quad x^{2} = -2\frac{\lambda^{1}\lambda^{2}}{\lambda^{1}+\lambda^{2}+\lambda^{1}\lambda^{2}},$$

$$p_{1} = \sqrt{-\lambda^{1}\lambda^{2}(\lambda^{1}+1)(\lambda^{2}+1)} \left[\frac{(\lambda^{1}\lambda^{2}-\lambda^{1}+\lambda^{2})\mu_{1}}{\lambda^{2}(\lambda^{1}-\lambda^{2})} + \frac{(\lambda^{1}\lambda^{2}+\lambda^{1}-\lambda^{2})\mu_{2}}{\lambda^{1}(\lambda^{2}-\lambda^{1})}\right],$$

$$p_{2} = -2\lambda^{1}\lambda^{2} \left[\frac{(\lambda^{1}+1)\mu_{1}}{\lambda^{1}-\lambda^{2}} + \frac{(\lambda^{2}+1)\mu_{2}}{\lambda^{2}-\lambda^{1}}\right]$$

with separation curve

$$h_0\lambda^2 + h_1\lambda + h_2 = 2\lambda^2(\lambda+1)\mu^2 + \lambda^2.$$

The theory of bi-cofactor systems extended from Euclidean space \mathbb{E}^n to Riemannian space the reader can find in [70, 72, 73, 191].

5.2.3 Non-Periodic Toda Lattice

Let us consider a dynamical system on $M = \mathbb{R}^{2n+1}$

$$(a_i)_t = a_i(b_i - b_{i+1}) = X_1^i, \qquad i = 1, \dots, n$$

$$(b_i)_t = 2(a_i^2 - a_{i-1}^2) = X_1^{n+i}, \qquad i = 1, \dots, n+1$$
(5.2.19)

where $(a_1, \ldots, a_n, b_1, \ldots, b_{n+1})$ are some coordinates on *M*. The system (5.2.19) is known as non-periodic Toda lattice in Flaschka coordinates [121]. For arbitrary *n* it is bi-Hamiltonian Liouville integrable system [77], with first Poisson tensor given by the following non-zero elements

$$\Pi_0: \quad \{a_i, b_i\}_{\Pi_0} = -a_i, \quad \{a_i, b_{i+1}\}_{\Pi_0} = a_i$$

and the second Poisson tensor given by

$$\Pi_1: \quad \{a_i, a_{i+1}\}_{\Pi_1} = \frac{1}{2}a_i a_{i+1}, \quad \{a_i, b_i\}_{\Pi_1} = -a_i b_i,$$
$$\{a_i, b_{i+1}\}_{\Pi_0} = a_i b_{i+1}, \quad \{b_i, b_{i+1}\}_{\Pi_0} = 2a_i^2.$$

The bi-Hamiltonian chain is given by the Casimir of Poisson pencil $\Pi_{\lambda} = \Pi_1 - \lambda \Pi_0 : \Pi_{\lambda} dh_{\lambda}^{(n)} = 0$, where

$$dh_{\lambda}^{(n)} = \det(\lambda I - L_n) = \lambda^{n+1} + h_0^{(n)} \lambda^n + h_1^{(n)} \lambda^{n-1} + \dots + h_n^{(n)},$$
$$L_n = \begin{pmatrix} b_1 \ a_1 \ 0 \ 0 \ 0 \\ a_1 \ b_2 \ a_2 \ 0 \ 0 \\ 0 \ a_2 \ \ddots \ \ddots \ 0 \\ 0 \ 0 \ \cdots \ b_n \ a_n \\ 0 \ 0 \ 0 \ a_n \ b_{n+1} \end{pmatrix},$$

 $h_0^{(n)}$ is the Casimir of Π_0 while $h_n^{(n)}$ is the Casimir of Π_1 . The system (5.2.19) is generated by Hamiltonian vector field $X_1 = \Pi_0 dh_1^{(n)}$. Moreover, Hamiltonian functions $h_i^{(n+1)}$ can be constructed recursively by

$$h_i^{(n)} = h_i^{(n-1)} - b_{n+1}h_{i-1}^{(n-1)} - a_n^2 h_{i-2}^{(n-2)}$$
(5.2.20)

with $h_{-1}^{(m)} \equiv 1$.

The projection procedure for the Poisson pencil of non-periodic Toda lattice is given by

$$Z = -\frac{\partial}{\partial b_{n+1}}, \quad Y = a_n \frac{\partial}{\partial a_n}$$

as

$$Z(h_0^{(n)}) = 1, \quad L_Z \Pi_1 = Y \wedge Z$$

and thus

$$\Pi_{1D} = \Pi_1 - X_1 \wedge Z.$$

Poisson structures projected on symplectic leaves $h_0^{(n)} = const$ parametrized by $(a_1, \ldots, a_n, b_1, \ldots, b_n)$, are nondegenerate tensors π_0 , π_1 and minimal polynomial of $N = \pi_1 \pi_0^{-1}$ (5.1.41) is equal $h_{\lambda}^{(n-1)}$ as according to (5.2.20) $Z(h_{\lambda}^{(n)}) = h_{\lambda}^{(n-1)}$. Also from (5.2.20) it follows that

$$Y(h_{\lambda}^{(n)}) = -2a_n^2(h_{\lambda}^{(n-2)}) \Longrightarrow Y\left[\frac{1}{2}\ln\left(-2a_n^2h_{\lambda}^{(n-2)}\right)\right] = 1.$$

In consequence, transformation to separation coordinates is given by the following relations

$$\rho_i(\lambda) = h_i^{(n-1)}, \quad \mu_i = \frac{1}{2} \ln\left(-2a_n^2 h_{\lambda_i}^{(n-2)}\right), \quad i = 1, \dots, n$$
(5.2.21)

and separation curve takes the form

$$\lambda^{n+1} + h_0^{(n)} \lambda^n + h_1^{(n)} \lambda^{n-1} + \ldots + h_n^{(n)} = \frac{1}{2} \exp(2\mu),$$

see Eq. (4.2.2).

Example 5.11 Non-periodic Toda system with n = 2. The dynamical system

$$(a_1)_t = a_1(b_1 - b_2)$$

$$(a_2)_t = a_2(b_2 - b_3)$$

$$(b_1)_t = -2a_1^2$$

$$(b_2)_t = 2(a_1^2 - a_2^2)$$

$$(b_3)_t = 2a_2^2$$

220

is bi-Hamiltonian and Liouville integrable with constants of motion of the form

$$h_0 = -b_1 - b_2 - b_3$$

$$h_1 = b_1b_2 + b_1b_3 + b_2b_3 - a_1^2 - a_2^2$$

$$h_2 = -b_1b_2b_3 + a_1^2b_3 + a_2^2b_1$$

and two Poisson tensors

$$\Pi_{0} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 -a_{1} & a_{1} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 -a_{2} & a_{2} \\ a_{1} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -a_{1} & a_{2} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 -a_{2} & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\Pi_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{1}{2}a_{1}a_{2} - a_{1}b_{1} & a_{1}b_{2} & 0 \\ -\frac{1}{2}a_{1}a_{2} & 0 & 0 -a_{2}b_{2} & a_{2}b_{3} \\ a_{1}b_{1} & 0 & 0 & 2a_{1}^{2} & 0 \\ -a_{1}b_{2} & a_{2}b_{2} - 2a_{1}^{2} & 0 & 2a_{2}^{2} \\ 0 -a_{2}b_{3} & 0 & -2a_{2}^{2} & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

The transformation to separation coordinates, calculated from (5.2.21) of the form

$$\lambda^{1} + \lambda^{2} = b_{1} + b_{2}, \quad \lambda^{1}\lambda^{2} = b_{1}b_{2} - a_{2}^{2}, \quad c = -b_{1} - b_{2} - b_{3},$$
$$\mu_{1} = \frac{1}{2}\ln(-2a_{2}^{2}(\lambda^{1} - b_{1})), \quad \mu_{2} = \frac{1}{2}\ln(-2a_{2}^{2}(\lambda^{2} - b_{1})),$$

is given by

$$b_{1} = \frac{\lambda^{2} \exp(2\mu_{1}) - \lambda^{1} \exp(2\mu_{2})}{\exp(2\mu_{1}) - \exp(2\mu_{2})}, \quad b_{2} = \frac{\lambda^{1} \exp(2\mu_{1}) - \lambda^{2} \exp(2\mu_{2})}{\exp(2\mu_{1}) - \exp(2\mu_{2})}, \quad b_{3} = -\lambda^{1} - \lambda^{2} - c,$$
$$a_{1}^{2} = \frac{\exp(2\mu_{1} + 2\mu_{2})(\lambda^{1} - \lambda^{2})^{2}}{(\exp(2\mu_{1}) - \exp(2\mu_{2}))^{2}}, \quad a_{2}^{2} = -\frac{1}{2}\frac{\exp(2\mu_{1}) - \exp(2\mu_{2})}{\lambda^{1} - \lambda^{2}}.$$

As $h_{\lambda^i} = h_0(\lambda^i)^2 + h_1\lambda^i + h_2 = \frac{1}{2}\exp(2\mu_i) - (\lambda^i)^3$, i = 1, 2, the separation curve takes the form

$$\lambda^{3} + h_{0}\lambda^{2} + h_{1}\lambda + h_{2} = \frac{1}{2}\exp(2\mu).$$

5.2.4 Dressing Chain

Consider the so called *dressing chain*

$$(v_k + v_{k+1})_x = v_k^2 - v_{k+1}^2 + \alpha_k, \quad v_k = v_k(x), \quad \alpha_k = const$$
 (5.2.22)

for the Schrödinger equation

$$\Psi_{xx} = (u - \lambda)\Psi. \tag{5.2.23}$$

If u_k is a sequence of solutions of (5.2.23), generated by a chain of Darboux transformations and $u_k = (v_k)_x + v_k^2 + \beta_k$ is a Miura map to the modified fields v_k , then the new fields v_k are related among themselves through the chain of Eqs. (5.2.22), where $\alpha_k = \beta_k - \beta_{k+1}$ (see [232] for details of the construction). Closing the chain by $v_k \equiv v_{k+N}$, $\alpha_k \equiv \alpha_{k+N}$ and by assumption that $\sum_{k=1}^N \alpha_k = 0$, we obtain a finite dimensional dynamical system

$$(v_k + v_{k+1})_x = v_k^2 - v_{k+1}^2 + \beta_k - \beta_{k+1}, \quad k = 1, \dots, N_k$$

where x plays a role of evolution parameter. As was shown in [253], for N = 2n + 1and variables $g_k = v_k + v_{k+1}$, it is a bi-Hamiltonian system. The nonzero matrix elements of both Poisson tensors are the following

$$\{g_k, g_{k-1}\}_{\Pi_0} = 1,$$

$$\{g_k, g_j\}_{\Pi_1} = (-1)^{j-k} g_k g_j, \quad j \neq k \pm 1,$$

$$\{g_k, g_{k-1}\}_{\Pi_1} = g_k g_{k-1} + \beta_i,$$

and the Casimir of the pencil $\Pi_{\lambda} = \Pi_1 - \lambda \Pi_0$ is given by

$$h_{\lambda} = h_0 \lambda^n + h_1 \lambda^{n-1} + \ldots + h_n = (-1)^N \left[\prod_{j=1}^N \left(1 + \zeta_{j+1} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial g_j \partial g_{j+1}} \right) \right] \prod_{k=1}^N g_k, \quad \zeta_i = \beta_i - \lambda.$$

The projection procedure for the Poisson pencil of the dressing chain is given by [28]

$$Z = -\frac{\partial}{\partial g_N}, \quad Y = \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} (-1)^{i+1} g_i \frac{\partial}{\partial g_i} + \left(\sum_{i=1}^{N-1} (-1)^i g_i\right) \frac{\partial}{\partial g_N}$$

as then

$$Z(h_0) = 1$$
, $Y(h_0) = 0$, $L_Z \Pi_0 = 0$, $L_Z \Pi_1 = Y \wedge Z$.

The first part of the transformation to the separation coordinates is

$$c = h_0, \quad \rho_k(\lambda) = \frac{\partial h_k}{\partial g_N}, \quad k = 1, \dots, n.$$
 (5.2.24)

The following property of the Casimir h_{λ}

$$Y^{3}(h_{\lambda}) = Y(h_{\lambda}) \Longrightarrow Y \ln(Y(h_{\lambda}) + Y^{2}(h_{\lambda})) = 1$$

gives the second part of the transformation

$$\mu_k = \ln(Y(h_{\lambda_k}) + Y^2(h_{\lambda_k})), \quad k = 1, \dots, n.$$
(5.2.25)

Moreover, low dimensional examples suggest the separation curve of the form

$$h_0\lambda^n + h_1\lambda^{n-1} + \ldots + h_n = 2\prod_{i=1}^N (\lambda - \beta_i) \exp(-\mu) + \frac{1}{2} \exp(\mu),$$

see Eq. (4.2.2).

Example 5.12 The dressing chain for N = 5. The dynamical system

$$(g_1)_x = g_1(-g_2 + g_3 - g_4 + g_5) + \beta_1 - \beta_2$$

$$(g_2)_x = g_2(g_1 - g_3 + g_4 - g_5) + \beta_2 - \beta_3$$

$$(g_3)_x = g_3(-g_1 + g_2 - g_4 + g_5) + \beta_3 - \beta_4$$

$$(g_4)_x = g_4(g_1 - g_2 + g_3 - g_5) + \beta_4 - \beta_5$$

$$(g_5)_x = g_5(-g_1 + g_2 - g_3 + g_4) + \beta_5 - \beta_1$$

is bi-Hamiltonian and Liouville integrable with constants of motion of the form

$$\begin{split} h_0 &= g_1 + g_2 + g_3 + g_4 + g_5, \\ h_1 &= -g_1 g_2 g_3 - g_2 g_3 g_4 - g_3 g_4 g_5 - g_4 g_5 g_1 - g_5 g_1 g_2 \\ &- g_1 (\beta_3 + \beta_5) - g_2 (\beta_4 + \beta_1) - g_3 (\beta_5 + \beta_2) - g_4 (\beta_1 + \beta_3) - g_5 (\beta_2 + \beta_4), \\ h_2 &= g_1 g_2 g_3 g_4 g_5 + \beta_1 g_2 g_3 g_4 + \beta_2 g_3 g_4 g_5 + \beta_3 g_4 g_5 g_1 + \beta_4 g_5 g_1 g_2 + \beta_5 g_1 g_2 g_3 \\ &+ \beta_3 \beta_5 g_1 + \beta_1 \beta_4 g_2 + \beta_2 \beta_5 g_3 + \beta_1 \beta_3 g_4 + \beta_2 \beta_4 g_5 \end{split}$$

and two Poisson tensors

$$\Pi_0 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 - 1 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 - 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 - 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 - 1 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\Pi_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -g_{1}g_{2} - \beta_{2} & g_{1}g_{3} & -g_{1}g_{4} & g_{1}g_{5} + \beta_{1} \\ g_{1}g_{2} + \beta_{2} & 0 & -g_{2}g_{3} - \beta_{3} & g_{2}g_{4} & -g_{2}g_{5} \\ -g_{1}g_{3} & g_{2}g_{3} + \beta_{3} & 0 & -g_{3}g_{4} - \beta_{4} & g_{3}g_{5} \\ g_{1}g_{4} & -g_{2}g_{4} & g_{3}g_{4} + \beta_{4} & 0 & -g_{4}g_{5} - \beta_{5} \\ -g_{1}g_{5} - \beta_{1} & g_{2}g_{5} & -g_{3}g_{5} & g_{4}g_{5} + \beta_{5} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The transformation to separation coordinates, calculated from (5.2.24) and (5.2.25), is of the form

$$g_{1} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{(\lambda_{2} - \lambda_{1}) \exp(\mu_{1} + \mu_{2})}{(\lambda_{2} - \beta_{3})(\lambda_{2} - \beta_{4})(\lambda_{2} - \beta_{5}) \exp(\mu_{1}) - (\lambda_{1} - \beta_{3})(\lambda_{1} - \beta_{4})(\lambda_{1} - \beta_{5}) \exp(\mu_{2})},$$

$$g_{2} = 2 \frac{(\lambda_{2} - \beta_{2})(\lambda_{2} - \beta_{4})(\lambda_{2} - \beta_{5}) \exp(\mu_{1}) - (\lambda_{1} - \beta_{2})(\lambda_{1} - \beta_{4})(\lambda_{1} - \beta_{5}) \exp(\mu_{2})}{(\lambda_{2} - \beta_{4})(\lambda_{2} - \beta_{5}) \exp(\mu_{1}) - (\lambda_{1} - \beta_{3})(\lambda_{1} - \beta_{4})(\lambda_{1} - \beta_{5}) \exp(\mu_{2})}{(\lambda_{2} - \lambda_{1}) \exp(\mu_{1} + \mu_{2}),},$$

$$g_{3} = -\frac{1}{2} \frac{(\lambda_{2} - \beta_{3})(\lambda_{2} - \beta_{4})(\lambda_{2} - \beta_{5}) \exp(\mu_{1}) - (\lambda_{1} - \beta_{3})(\lambda_{1} - \beta_{5}) \exp(\mu_{2})}{(\lambda_{2} - \lambda_{1}) \exp(\mu_{1} - (\lambda_{1} - \beta_{3})(\lambda_{1} - \beta_{5}) \exp(\mu_{2})},$$

$$g_{4} = -2 \frac{(\lambda_{2} - \lambda_{1})(\lambda_{1} - \beta_{4})(\lambda_{1} - \beta_{5})(\lambda_{2} - \beta_{5})}{(\lambda_{2} - \beta_{4})(\lambda_{2} - \beta_{5}) \exp(\mu_{1}) - (\lambda_{1} - \beta_{4})(\lambda_{2} - \beta_{5})},$$

$$g_{4} = c_{1} - g_{2} - g_{3} - g_{4}$$

and the separation curve is

$$c\lambda^2 + h_1\lambda + h_2 = 2(\lambda - \beta_1)(\lambda - \beta_2)(\lambda - \beta_3)(\lambda - \beta_4)(\lambda - \beta_5)\exp(-\mu) + \frac{1}{2}\exp(\mu).$$

5.3 **Bi-Presymplectic Separability Theory**

The bi-Poisson formulation of finite dimensional integrable Hamiltonian systems has been systematically developed in the previous two sections. It has been found that most of the known Liouville integrable systems have more then one Hamiltonian representation. Moreover, in the majority of known cases, both Poisson structures of a given flow are degenerate. For such systems, related bi-Poisson (bi-Hamiltonian) commuting vector fields belong to one or more bi-Hamiltonian chains starting and terminating with Casimirs of respective Poisson structures. The most important aspect of such a construction is its relation to the geometric separability theory. Having a bi-Hamiltonian representation of a given system, the sufficient condition for the existence of separation coordinates is the reducibility of one of the Poisson structures onto a symplectic leaf of the other one. Unfortunately, this procedure is non-algorithmic and has to be considered independently from case to case and is related with finding an appropriate integrable distribution Z, transversal to symplectic foliation. Moreover, we do not have any proof that it is always possible for any GZ system. Anyway, once the reduction is done, the remaining procedure of the construction of separation coordinates is algorithmic. The relevance of bi-Hamiltonian formalism in separability theory confirms the fact that the arbitrary Stäckel system, defined by an appropriate separation relations (4.2.9), has a bi-Hamiltonian extension [31].

On the other hand, it is well known from the classical mechanics that if the Poisson structure is nondegenerate, i.e. if the rank of the Poisson tensor is equal to the dimension of a phase space, then the phase space becomes a symplectic manifold with a symplectic structure being just the inverse of the Poisson structure (see the previous chapter). In such a case there exists an alternative (dual) description of Hamiltonian vector fields in the language of symplectic geometry. So, a natural question arises, whether one can construct such a dual picture in the degenerate case, when there is no natural inverse of the Poisson tensor. For such tensors the notion of dual presymplectic structures was developed in Sect. 3.2.3.

The presymplectic picture is especially interesting in the case of Liouville integrable systems. As was mentioned above, there is a well developed bi-Hamiltonian theory of such systems, based on Poisson pencils of the GZ type, whose Casimir functions are polynomials with respect to pencil parameters and the related separability theory. The important question is whether it is possible to formulate a dual, bi-presymplectic (bi-inverse-Hamiltonian in particular) theory of Liouville integrable systems with the related separability theory and how both theories are related to each other.

The following section presents the general bi-presymplectic theory of Liouville integrable systems when the co-rank of presymplectic forms is equal and fixed. The whole formalism is based on the notion of *d-compatibility* of presymplectic forms and *d-compatibility* of Poisson bi-vectors. What is important, in the new formalism the construction of separation coordinates is simply algorithmic, once the bi-presymplectic chain is given. Finally it is shown that any Stäckel system, defined by an appropriate separation relations, has a bi-inverse-Hamiltonian representation, which confirms the relevance of the presented formalism.

5.3.1 D-Compatibility of Closed Two-Forms and Poisson Bi-Vectors

In the following section we develop a concept of d-compatibility which is crucial for our further considerations. The notion of d-compatibility for a non-degenerate case was introduced in Sect. 5.1.3. Here we extend the notion of d-compatibility onto the degenerate case.

A closed two-form Ω_0 is d-compatible with a closed two-form Ω_1 if there exists a Poisson tensor Π_0 , dual to Ω_0 , such that $\Pi_0\Omega_1\Pi_0$ is Poisson. Then we say that the pair (Ω_0 , Ω_1) is d-compatible with respect to Π_0 . Analogically, a Poisson tensor Π_0 is d-compatible with a Poisson tensor Π_1 if there exists a presymplectic form Ω_0 , dual to Π_0 , such that $\Omega_0\Pi_1\Omega_0$ is closed. Then we say that the pair (Π_0 , Π_1) is d-compatible with respect to Ω_0 .

Comparing the notions of compatibility and d-compatibility for Poisson pair (Π_0, Π_1) we have shown in Sect. 5.1.3 that when Π_0 is non-degenerate both notions are equivalent, but for a degenerate case the notion of d-compatibility is the stronger one. Actually, let us consider the following identity, proved in [29],

$$L_{(\Pi_{\lambda})\gamma}\Pi_{\lambda} + (\Pi_{\lambda}) d\gamma (\Pi_{\lambda})$$

= $\lambda \{L_{\tau}(\Omega_{0}\Pi_{1}\Omega_{0}) - d(\Omega_{0}\Pi_{1}\Omega_{0}\tau) - \sum_{i} [\Omega_{0}(L_{Z_{i}}\Pi_{1})\Omega_{0}]\tau \wedge dc_{i}$
- $\sum_{i} \tau(c_{i}) [\Omega_{0}(L_{Z_{i}}\Pi_{1})\Omega_{0}]\},$ (5.3.1)

where $\Pi_{\lambda} = \Pi_1 + \lambda \Pi_0$ is a Poisson pencil, Π_0 , Π_1 are Poisson tensors, (Π_0, Ω_0) is a dual pair, where $dc_i \in \ker \Pi_0$, $Z_i \in \ker \Omega_0$, $\tau \in TM$ and $\gamma = \Omega_0 \tau \in T^*M$. Assume first that Π_0 and Π_1 are d-compatible with respect to Ω_0 . Then $\Omega_0 \Pi_1 \Omega_0$ is closed and hence

$$L_{\tau}(\Omega_0 \Pi_1 \Omega_0) - d(\Omega_0 \Pi_1 \Omega_0 \tau) = 0, \qquad \tau \in TM.$$
(5.3.2)

In particular, for $\tau = Z_i$, relation (5.3.2) gives

$$Ω0 (LZi Π1) Ω0 = 0, i = 1,..., r,$$
(5.3.3)

so as a result

$$L_{(\Pi_{\lambda})\gamma}\Pi_{\lambda} + (\Pi_{\lambda}) d\gamma (\Pi_{\lambda}) = 0$$
(5.3.4)

and $\Pi_1 + \lambda \Pi_0$ is Poisson according to (3.2.21). On the other hand, from the compatibility relation (5.3.4) the d-compatibility (5.3.2) follows under additional conditions (5.3.3).

Observation 9 From the above construction follows that d-compatibility of a Poisson pair (Π_0 , Π_1) with respect to Ω_0 , dual to Π_0 , guarantees not only ordinary compatibility of the pair (Π_0 , Π_1), but also a Poisson reduction of Π_1 onto the symplectic foliation of Π_0 along the distribution $\mathcal{Z} = \ker \Omega_0$. So, in a generic case, bi-Hamiltonian chains of Liouville integrable systems, with a d-compatible pair of Poisson structures are separable.

Before we pass to bi-presymplectic chains and the related separability theory, we need some relations between d-compatible Poisson bi-vectors and d-compatible

presymplectic two-forms. Thus, let a Poisson tensor Π_0 and a closed two-form Ω_0 form a dual pair. Moreover, let $Z_k \in \ker \Omega_0$, $dc_k \in \ker \Pi_0$ and $Z_k(c_i) = \delta_{ki}$, k, i = 1, ..., r. Then, we have the following statements.

1. If Π_1 is a Poisson tensor d-compatible with Π_0 with respect to Ω_0 and

$$\Pi_1(dc_i, dc_i) = 0$$

then forms Ω_0 and $\Omega_1 = \Omega_0 \Pi_1 \Omega_0$ are d-compatible with respect to Π_0 . 2. If Ω_1 is a closed two-form d-compatible with Ω_0 with respect to Π_0 and

$$\Omega_1(Z_i, Z_j) = 0 \text{ and } \Pi_0 \Omega_1 Z_i = \Pi_0 dh^{(i)}$$
 (5.3.5)

for some functions $h^{(i)} \in h(M)$, i = 1, ..., r, then Poisson tensors Π_0 and $\Pi_1 = \Pi_0 \Omega_1 \Pi_0$ are d-compatible with respect to Ω_0 , provided that

$$Z_i(h^{(k)}) = Z_k(h^{(i)}), \quad k, i = 1, \dots, r.$$
 (5.3.6)

In the first case, from the definition, Ω_0 and $\Omega_1 = \Omega_0 \Pi_1 \Omega_0$ are d-compatible if

$$\Pi = \Pi_0 \Omega_1 \Pi_0 = \Pi_0 \Omega_0 \Pi_1 \Omega_0 \Pi_0 = (I - \sum_{i=1}^r Z_i \otimes dc_i) \Pi_1 (I - \sum_{j=1}^r dc_j \otimes Z_j)$$
$$= \Pi_1 - \sum_{i=1}^r X_i \wedge Z_i + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j=1}^r \Pi_1 (dc_i, dc_j) Z_i \wedge Z_j$$
$$= \Pi_1 - \sum_{i=1}^r X_i \wedge Z_i,$$

where $X_i = \prod_1 dc_i$, is a Poisson. From (3.2.27) and (5.3.3) it follows that $L_{Z_i} \Pi = 0$ and hence

$$L_{Z_k}\Pi_1 = \sum_{i=1}^r [Z_k, X_i] \wedge Z_i.$$

Using relations (3.2.33) we get

$$[\Pi, \Pi]_{S} = [\Pi_{1}, \Pi_{1}]_{S} - 2[\sum_{i=1}^{r} X_{i} \wedge Z_{i}, \Pi_{1}]_{S} + [\sum_{i=1}^{r} X_{i} \wedge Z_{i}, \sum_{j} X_{j} \wedge Z_{j}]_{S}$$
$$= -2\sum_{i=1}^{r} (Z_{i} \wedge [X_{i}, \Pi_{1}]_{S} - X_{i} \wedge [Z_{i}, \Pi_{1}]_{S})$$

$$+\sum_{i,j=1}^{r} (Z_{i} \wedge [X_{i}, X_{j} \wedge Z_{j}]_{S} - X_{i} \wedge [Z_{i}, X_{j} \wedge Z_{j}]_{S})$$

$$= 2\sum_{i=1}^{r} X_{i} \wedge L_{Z_{i}} \Pi_{D} + \sum_{i,j=1}^{r} (Z_{i} \wedge X_{j} \wedge [X_{i}, Z_{j}] - X_{i} \wedge [Z_{i}, X_{j}] \wedge Z_{j})$$

$$= \sum_{i,j=1}^{r} (2X_{i} \wedge [Z_{i}, X_{j}] \wedge Z_{j} + Z_{i} \wedge X_{j} \wedge [X_{i}, Z_{j}] - X_{i} \wedge [Z_{i}, X_{j}] \wedge Z_{j})$$

$$= 0.$$
(5.3.7)

In the second case, from the d-compatibility of Ω_0 and Ω_1 it follows that Π_1 is a Poisson. Then,

$$\Omega_0 \Pi_1 \Omega_0 = \Omega_0 \Pi_0 \Omega_1 \Pi_0 \Omega_0 = (I - \sum_{k=1}^r dc_k \otimes Z_k) \Omega_1 (I - \sum_{i=1}^r Z_i \otimes dc_i)$$
$$= \Omega_1 + \sum_{k=1}^r dc_k \wedge \Omega_1 (Z_k) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,k=1}^r \Omega_1 (Z_i, Z_k) dc_k \wedge dc_i.$$

From the assumption (5.3.5) and decompositions (3.2.25) it follows that

$$\Omega_1 Z_k = dh^{(k)} + \sum_{i=1}^r \left[\Omega_1(Z_k, Z_i) - Z_i(h^{(k)}) \right] dc_i = dh^{(k)} - \sum_{i=1}^r Z_i(h^{(k)}) dc_i,$$

hence,

$$\Omega_0 \Pi_1 \Omega_0 = \Omega_1 + \sum_{k=1}^r dc_k \wedge dh^{(k)} - \sum_{i,k=1}^r \left[Z_i(h^{(k)}) \right] dc_k \wedge dc_i$$
$$= \Omega_1 + \sum_{k=1}^r dc_k \wedge dh^{(k)} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,k=1}^r \left[Z_k(h^{(i)}) - Z_i(h^{(k)}) \right] dc_k \wedge dc_i$$

and under condition (5.3.6) $\Omega_0 \Pi_1 \Omega_0$ is closed.

As a consequence of previous relations, two other statements can be proved. Let again a Poisson tensor Π_0 and a closed two-form Ω_0 form a dual pair, where $Z_k \equiv Y_0^{(k)} \in \ker \Omega_0, \ dc_k \equiv h_0^{(k)} \in \ker \Pi_0 \text{ and } Y_0^{(k)}(h_0^{(i)}) = \delta_{ki}, \ k, i = 1, \dots, r.$ Then, we have what follows.

1. If Π_1 is a Poisson tensor d-compatible with Π_0 with respect to Ω_0 ,

$$X_1^{(k)} = \Pi_1 dh_0^{(k)} = \Pi_0 dh_1^{(k)}, \qquad k = 1, \dots, r$$

are bi-Hamiltonian vector fields for some functions $h_1^{(k)}$ and

$$\Pi_1(dh_0^{(i)}, dh_0^{(j)}) = 0, \qquad i, j = 1, \dots, n$$

then Ω_0 and $\Omega_1 = \Omega_0 \Pi_1 \Omega_0 + \sum_{k=1}^r dh_1^{(k)} \wedge dh_0^{(k)}$ is a d-compatible pair of presymplectic forms with respect to Π_0 .

2. If Ω_1 is a presymplectic form d-compatible with Ω_0 with respect to Π_0 ,

$$\beta_1^{(k)} = \Omega_1 Y_0^{(k)} = \Omega_0 Y_1^{(k)}, \quad k = 1, \dots, r$$
 (5.3.8)

are bi-presymplectic one-forms for some vector fields $Y_1^{(k)}$ such that

$$X_1^{(k)} = \Pi_0 \beta_1^{(k)} = \Pi_0 dh_1^{(k)}, \quad h_1^{(k)} \in F(M), \quad k = 1, \dots, r$$
(5.3.9)

and

$$\Omega_1(Y_0^{(i)}, Y_0^{(j)}) = 0, \qquad i, j = 1, \dots, r,$$
(5.3.10)

then Π_0 and $\Pi_1 = \Pi_0 \Omega_1 \Pi_0 + \sum_{k=1}^r X_1^{(k)} \wedge Y_0^{(k)}$, are d-compatible Poisson tensors with respect to Ω_0 , provided that

$$Y_0^{(s)}(h_1^{(k)}) = Y_0^{(k)}(h_1^{(s)}), (5.3.11a)$$

$$Y_1^{(s)}(h_0^{(k)}) = Y_0^{(k)}(h_1^{(s)}), \qquad k, s = 1, \dots, r,$$
(5.3.11b)

$$\Pi_0 \beta_2^{(k)} \equiv \Pi_0 \Omega_1 Y_1^{(k)} = \Pi_0 dh_2^{(k)}, \ h_2^{(k)} \in F(M).$$
(5.3.11c)

In the first case obviously $d\Omega_1 = 0$ and from the definition, Ω_0 and $\Omega_1 = \Omega_0 \Pi_1 \Omega_0 + \sum_{k=1}^r dh_1^{(k)} \wedge dh_0^{(k)}$ are d-compatible as

$$\Pi_0 \Omega_1 \Pi_0 = \Pi_0 \Omega_0 \Pi_1 \Omega_0 \Pi_0 + \Pi_0 \left(\sum_{k=1}^r dh_1^{(k)} \wedge dh_0^{(k)} \right) \Pi_0$$
$$= \Pi_0 \Omega_0 \Pi_1 \Omega_0 \Pi_0 = \Pi$$

is a Poisson according to (5.3.7).

In the second case, the proof is technical and laborious so we skip it and refer the interested reader to the original paper [45].

5.3.2 Bi-Presymplectic Chains

Now we are ready to investigate main properties of bi-presymplectic chains. Assume we have a pair of presymplectic forms (Ω_0, Ω_1) , d-compatible with respect to some Π_0 dual to Ω_0 , both of rank 2n and co-rank r. Assume further that they form bi-presymplectic chains of one-forms

$$\beta_i^{(k)} = \Omega_0 Y_i^{(k)} = \Omega_1 Y_{i-1}^{(k)}, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n_k$$
(5.3.12)

where $k = 1, ..., r, n_1 + ... + n_r = n$ and each chain starts with a kernel vector field $Y_0^{(k)}$ of Ω_0 and terminates with a kernel vector field $Y_{n_k}^{(k)}$ of Ω_1 . Then: 1.

$$\Omega_0(Y_i^{(k)}, Y_j^{(m)}) = \Omega_1(Y_i^{(k)}, Y_j^{(m)}) = 0,$$
(5.3.13)

for $k, m = 1, ..., r, i = 1, 2, ..., n_k, j = 1, 2, ..., n_m$. 2. Moreover, let us assume that

$$X_i^{(k)} = \Pi_0 \beta_i^{(k)} = \Pi_0 dh_i^{(k)}, \qquad (5.3.14)$$

for $k = 1, ..., r, i = 1, 2, ..., n_k$, which implies

$$\beta_i^{(k)} = dh_i^{(k)} - \sum_{m=1}^r Y_0^{(m)}(h_i^{(k)}) dh_0^{(m)}, \qquad (5.3.15)$$

$$Y_i^{(k)} = X_i^{(k)} + \sum_{m=1}^r Y_i^{(k)}(h_0^{(m)})Y_0^{(m)}, \quad Y_i^{(k)}(h_0^{(m)}) \neq 0,$$
(5.3.16)

where $\Pi_0 dh_0 = 0$. Then,

$$\Pi_0(dh_i^{(k)}, dh_j^{(m)}) = 0, \quad [X_i^{(k)}, X_j^{(m)}] = 0$$
(5.3.17)

and bi-presymplectic one-forms (5.3.12) define a Liouville integrable system

$$\xi_{t_{k,i}} = X_i^{(k)}(\xi) = \Pi_0 \beta_i^{(k)}(\xi) = \Pi_0 dh_i^{(k)}(\xi)$$

for $k = 1, ..., r, i = 1, ..., n_k$.

5.3 Bi-Presymplectic Separability Theory

3. Additionally, if

$$Y_0^{(m)}(h_1^{(k)}) = Y_0^{(k)}(h_1^{(m)}), (5.3.18a)$$

$$Y_i^{(m)}(h_0^{(k)}) = Y_0^{(k)}(h_i^{(m)}), (5.3.18b)$$

where $k, m = 1, ..., r, i = 1, 2, ..., n_m$, then vector fields $X_i^{(k)}$ (5.3.14) form

bi-Hamiltonian chains

$$X_i^{(k)} = \Pi_0 dh_i^{(k)} = \Pi_1 dh_{i-1}^{(k)}, \qquad (5.3.19)$$

where

$$\Pi_1 = \Pi_0 \Omega_1 \Pi_0 + \sum_{m=1}^r X_1^{(m)} \wedge Y_0^{(m)}, \qquad (5.3.20)$$

 $k, m = 1, ..., r, i = 1, 2, ..., n_k$ and $n_1 + ... + n_r = n$. The chain starts with $h_0^{(k)}$, a Casimir of Π_0 , and terminates with $h_{n_k}^{(k)}$, a Casimir of Π_1 . Moreover, the Poisson pair (Π_0, Π_1) is d-compatible with respect to Ω_0 .

4. Contrary, if

$$Y_0^{(k)}(h_i^{(m)}) = 0,$$

for all admissible values of k, m and i, chains (5.3.12) are bi-inverse-Hamiltonian as $\beta_i^{(k)} = dh_i^{(k)}$ and obviously $X_i^{(k)}$ are not bi-Hamiltonian according to violation of condition (5.3.18b). Such Hamiltonians will be denoted by $H_i^{(k)}$ according to the notation from previous sections.

From (5.3.12) we have

$$\begin{aligned} \Omega_0(Y_i^{(k)}, Y_j^{(r)}) &= \Omega_0(Y_{i-1}^{(k)}, Y_{j+1}^{(r)}), \\ \Omega_1(Y_i^{(k)}, Y_j^{(r)}) &= \Omega_1(Y_{i+1}^{(k)}, Y_{j-1}^{(r)}) \\ \Omega_0(Y_i^{(k)}, Y_j^{(r)}) &= \Omega_1(Y_{i-1}^{(k)}, Y_j^{(r)}). \end{aligned}$$

Then, the first property (5.3.13) follows from

$$\Omega_0(Y_0^{(k)}, Y_i^{(r)}) = 0, \quad \Omega_1(Y_{n_k}^{(k)}, Y_i^{(r)}) = 0.$$

From properties of dual pair (Π_0 , Ω_0), if $X_i^{(k)} = \Pi_0 dh_i^{(k)}$ then

$$\Pi_0(dh_i^{(k)}, dh_j^{(r)}) = \Omega_0(X_i^{(k)}, X_j^{(r)}).$$

On the other hand as $X_i^{(k)} = Y_i^{(k)} + \sum_{m=1}^r \alpha_m^{(k)} Y_0^{(m)}$, where $\alpha_m^{(k)}$ are appropriate functions. So the second property follows from the fact that

$$\Omega_0(X_i^{(k)}, X_j^{(m)}) = \Omega_0(Y_i^{(k)}, Y_j^{(m)}).$$

The property (5.3.19) is proved as follows

$$\begin{aligned} X_{i}^{(k)} &= \Pi_{0}dh_{i}^{(k)} = \Pi_{0}\Omega_{1}Y_{i-1}^{(k)} \\ &= \Pi_{0}\Omega_{1}(X_{i-1}^{(k)} + \sum_{m=1}^{r}Y_{i-1}^{(k)}(h_{0}^{(m)})Y_{0}^{(m)}) \\ &= \Pi_{0}\Omega_{1}\Pi_{0}dh_{i-1}^{(k)} + \sum_{m=1}^{r}Y_{i-1}^{(k)}(h_{0}^{(m)})X_{1}^{(m)} \\ &\stackrel{(5.3.18b)}{=} (\Pi_{0}\Omega_{1}\Pi_{0} + \sum_{m=1}^{r}X_{1}^{(m)} \wedge Y_{0}^{(m)})dh_{i-1}^{(k)} \\ &= \Pi_{1}dh_{i-1}^{(k)}. \end{aligned}$$

Moreover, Π_0 and Π_1 are d-compatible Poisson tensors provided that (5.3.18) are fulfilled (see (5.3.8)–(5.3.11c)). We also have

$$\Pi_1 dh_{n_k}^{(k)} = (\Pi_0 \Omega_1 \Pi_0 + \sum_{m=1}^r X_1^{(m)} \wedge Y_0^{(m)}) dh_{n_k}^{(k)} = \Pi_0 \Omega_1 X_{n_k}^{(k)} + \sum_{m=1}^r Y_0^{(m)} (h_{n_k}^{(k)}) X_1^{(m)}$$

$$\stackrel{(5.3.16)}{=} \Pi_0 \Omega_1 (Y_{n_k}^{(k)} - \sum_{m=1}^r Y_{n_k}^{(k)} (h_0^{(m)}) Y_0^{(m)}) + \sum_{m=1}^r Y_0^{(m)} (h_{n_k}^{(k)}) X_1^{(m)}$$

$$= -\sum_{m=1}^r Y_{n_k}^{(k)} (h_0^{(m)}) X_1^{(m)} + \sum_{m=1}^r Y_0^{(m)} (h_{n_k}^{(k)}) X_1^{(m)} \stackrel{(5.3.18b)}{=} 0.$$

As will be demonstrated in the next subsection, for Stäckel systems conditions (5.3.18) are violated, so the only case when Stäckel system has simultaneously a bi-Hamiltonian and a bi-presymplectic representation is the case of co-rank r = 1, when conditions (5.3.18) reduce to a trivial one (see examples from next section).

Finally we show that arbitrary Liouville integrable system (5.3.14), (5.3.17), which has a bi-presymplectic representation on (2n+r)-dimensional extended phase space, has also quasi-bi-Hamiltonian representation on any symplectic leaf of its Poisson structure Π_0 . Actually, from (5.3.12), (5.3.16) follows that

$$\Pi_0 dh_{i+1}^{(k)} = \Pi_0 \beta_{i+1}^{(k)} = \Pi_0 \Omega_1 Y_i^{(k)}$$
$$= \Pi_0 \Omega_1 (X_i^{(k)} + \sum_{m=1}^r Y_i^{(k)} (h_0^{(m)}) Y_0^{(m)})$$

$$= \Pi_0 \Omega_1 \Pi_0 dh_i^{(k)} + \sum_{m=1}^r Y_i^{(k)} (h_0^{(m)}) X_1^{(m)}$$
$$= \Pi_0 \Omega_1 \Pi_0 dh_i^{(k)} + \sum_{m=1}^r Y_i^{(k)} (h_0^{(m)}) \Pi_0 dh_1^{(m)}$$

hence on a (2n + r)-dimensional extended phase space we have a quasi-bi-Hamiltonian representation

$$\Pi_D dh_i^{(k)} = \Pi_0 dh_{i+1}^{(k)} - \sum_{m=1}^r F_i^{(k,m)} \Pi_0 dh_1^{(m)}, \qquad (5.3.21)$$

where $\Pi_D = \Pi_0 \Omega_1 \Pi_0$, $F_i^{(k,m)} = Y_i^{(k)}(h_0^{(m)})$ (compare with (5.1.26)). Notice that both Poisson structures Π_0 and $\Pi_D = \Pi_0 \Omega_1 \Pi_0$ share the same

Notice that both Poisson structures Π_0 and $\Pi_D = \Pi_0 \Omega_1 \Pi_0$ share the same Casimirs $h_0^{(k)}$, so the quasi-bi-Hamiltonian dynamics can be restricted immediately to any common leaf S_c of dimension 2n

$$\pi_1 dh_{c,i}^{(k)} = \pi_0 dh_{c,i+1}^{(k)} - \sum_{m=1}^{\prime} F_i^{(k,m)} \pi_0 dh_{c,1}^{(m)}, \qquad i = 1, \dots, n,$$

where ω_1 , $\pi_1 = \pi_0 \omega_1 \pi_0$, π_0 are restrictions of Ω_1 , Π_D , Π_0 and $h_{i|S_c}^{(k)} = h_{c,i}^{(k)}$, respectively. As ω_1 is closed, hence π_0 and π_1 are compatible and we deal with a Stäckel system whose separation coordinates are eigenvalues of the recursion operator $N = \pi_1 \pi_0^{-1}$, provided that N has n distinct and functionally independent eigenvalues at any point of S_{ν} , i.e. we are in a generic case. We will come back to separable systems in next subsections.

The advantage of a bi-presymplectic representation of the Liouville integrable system, when compared to bi-Hamiltonian ones, is that the existence of the first guarantees that the system is separable and the construction of separation coordinates is purely algorithmic (in a generic case), while the bi-Hamiltonian representation does not guarantee the existence of the quasi-bi-Hamiltonian representation and hence separability of the system in question. Moreover, the projection of the second Poisson structure onto the symplectic foliation of the first one, in order to construct a quasi-bi-Hamiltonian representation, necessary for separability, is far from being trivial non-algorithmic procedure, as was demonstrated in the previous section.

5.3.3 Bi-Inverse-Hamiltonian Representation of Stäckel Systems

As was shown in the previous section, the Stäckel Hamiltonians defined by separation relations (5.1.13) admit on *M* the following quasi bi-Hamiltonian chains

in (λ, μ) representation

$$\pi_1 dH_j^{(k)} = \pi_0 dH_{j+1}^{(k)} - \sum_{l=1}^r F_j^{(k,l)} \pi_0 dH_1^{(l)}, \quad H_{n_k+1}^{(k)} = 0, \quad k = 1, \dots, r, \quad j = 1, \dots, n_k,$$
(5.3.22)

with compatible Poisson tensors π_0 and π_1

$$\pi_0 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I_n \\ -I_n & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \pi_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \Lambda_n \\ -\Lambda_n & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \Lambda_n = diag(\lambda^1, \dots, \lambda^n)$$

and the expansion coefficients $F_j^{(k,l)}$ (appropriate basic potentials) being solutions of the set of linear algebraic Eqs. (5.1.17).

Now we show how to lift (5.3.22) to a bi-inverse-Hamiltonian representation on the extended phase space. Let us consider the following symplectic forms on M

$$\omega_0 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -I_n \\ I_n & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \omega_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\Lambda_n \\ \Lambda_n & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Observe that (π_0, ω_0) constitutes a non degenerate dual implectic-symplectic pair as $\omega_0 = \pi_0^{-1}$, π_0 and $\pi_1 = \pi_0 \omega_1 \pi_0$ are d-compatible with respect to ω_0 and ω_0 and $\omega_1 = \omega_0 \pi_1 \omega_0$ are d-compatible with respect to π_0 . Besides, quasi bi-Hamiltonian chains (5.3.22) have equivalent quasi bi-inverse-Hamiltonian representations (5.1.33)

$$\omega_1 \mathbf{x}_i^{(k)} = \omega_0 \, \mathbf{x}_{i+1}^{(k)} - \sum_{l=1}^{\prime} F_i^{(k,l)} \, \omega_0 \, \mathbf{x}_1^{(l)}, \quad \mathbf{x}_{n_k+1}^{(k)} = 0, \quad k=1,\dots,r, \quad i=1,\dots,n_k,$$
(5.3.23)

where

$$\mathbf{x}_{i}^{(k)} = \pi_{0} d H_{i}^{(k)}, \qquad d H_{i}^{(k)} = \omega_{0} \mathbf{x}_{i}^{(k)}.$$

Let us lift the whole construction to the extended phase space

$$M \to \mathcal{M} : (\lambda, \mu) \to (\lambda, \mu, c),$$
 (5.3.24)

where c_1, \ldots, c_r are extra coordinates and dim $\mathcal{M} = 2n + r$. Then, on \mathcal{M}

$$\omega_0 \to \Omega_0 = \left(\frac{\omega_0 | 0}{0 | 0}\right), \qquad \pi_0 \to \Pi_0 = \left(\frac{\pi_0 | 0}{0 | 0}\right),$$

where

ker
$$\Omega_0 = Sp\{Y_0^{(k)}\}, \ k = 1, ..., r, \ Y_0^{(k)} = \frac{\partial}{\partial c_k}, \ \Omega_0 Y_0^{(k)} = 0$$

and

ker
$$\Pi_0 = Sp\{dc_k\}, \ k = 1, \dots, r, \quad \Pi_0 dc_k = 0, \quad Y_0^{(k)}(c_j) = \delta_{kj}$$

Obviously, $(\Pi_0,\,\Omega_0)$ is a dual Poisson-presymplectic pair on $\mathcal M.$ In the same fashion we lift

$$\omega_1 \rightarrow \Omega_{1D}, \quad \pi_1 \rightarrow \Pi_{1D}, \quad \mathbf{x}_i^{(k)} \rightarrow X_i^{(k)} = (\mathbf{x}_i^{(k)}, 0)^T,$$

where ker $\Omega_{1D} = \ker \Omega_0$ and ker $\Pi_{1D} = \ker \Pi_0$. On \mathcal{M} quasi bi-inverse-Hamiltonian chains (5.3.23) take the form

$$\Omega_{1D}X_i^{(k)} = \Omega_0 X_{i+1}^{(k)} - \sum_{l=1}^{r} F_i^{(k,l)} \Omega_0 X_1^{(l)}, \quad X_{n_k+1}^{(k)} = 0, \quad k = 1, \dots, r, \quad i = 1, \dots, n_k.$$

Let us define the following presymplectic two-forms

...

$$\Omega_1 = \Omega_{1D} + \sum_{k=1}^r dH_1^{(k)} \wedge dc_k$$
(5.3.25)

and the set of vector fields

$$Y_i^{(k)} = X_i^{(k)} + \sum_{l=1}^r F_i^{(k,l)} Y_0^{(l)}.$$
 (5.3.26)

Then, we have

$$\begin{split} \Omega_0 Y_{i+1}^{(k)} &= dH_{i+1}^{(k)} \\ &= \Omega_0 X_{i+1}^{(k)} = \Omega_{1D} X_i^{(k)} + \sum_{l=1}^r F_i^{(k,l)} \,\Omega_0 \,X_1^{(l)} \\ &= (\Omega_1 - \sum_{l=1}^r dH_1^{(l)} \wedge dc_l) (Y_i^{(k)} - \sum_{l=1}^r F_i^{(k,l)} Y_0^{(l)}) + \sum_{l=1}^r F_i^{(k,l)} dH_1^{(l)} \\ &= \Omega_1 Y_i^{(k)} - \sum_{l=1}^r F_i^{(k,l)} \Omega_1 Y_0^{(l)} - \sum_{l=1}^r Y_i^{(k)} (c_l) dH_1^{(l)} + \sum_{l=1}^r Y_i^{(k)} (H_1^{(l)}) dc_l \end{split}$$

5 Classical Separability Theory

$$+ \sum_{l=1}^{r} F_{i}^{(k,l)} dH_{1}^{(l)} - \sum_{l,m=1}^{r} F_{i}^{(k,m)} Y_{0}^{(m)} (H_{1}^{(l)}) dc_{l} + \sum_{l=1}^{r} F_{i}^{(k,l)} dH_{1}^{(l)}$$

= $\Omega_{1} Y_{i}^{(k)}$,

as

$$\Omega_1 Y_0^{(l)} = \sum_{k=1}^r (dH_1^{(k)} \wedge dc_k) Y_0^{(l)} = dH_1^{(l)},$$
$$Y_i^{(k)}(H_1^{(l)}) = 0, \quad Y_i^{(k)}(c_l) = F_i^{(k,l)}, \quad Y_0^{(r)}(c_k) = \delta_{rk}.$$

Hence, on \mathcal{M} , differentials $dH_i^{(k)}$ form a bi-inverse-Hamiltonian hierarchies

$$\begin{aligned}
\Omega_0 Y_0^{(k)} &= 0 \\
\Omega_0 Y_1^{(k)} &= dH_1^{(k)} = \Omega_1 Y_0^{(k)} \\
&\vdots & k = 1, \dots, r, \\
\Omega_0 Y_{n_k}^{(k)} &= dH_{n_k}^{(k)} = \Omega_1 Y_{n_k-1}^{(k)} \\
&0 &= \Omega_1 Y_{n_k}^{(k)}
\end{aligned}$$
(5.3.27)

which start with a kernel vector field $Y_0^{(k)}$ of Ω_0 and terminate with a kernel vector field $Y_{n_k}^{(k)}$ of Ω_1 . Indeed

$$\Omega_1 Y_{n_k}^{(k)} = (\Omega_{1D} + \sum_{m=1}^r dH_1^{(m)} \wedge dc_m) (X_{n_k}^{(k)} + \sum_{m=1}^r F_{n_k}^{(k,m)} Y_0^{(m)})$$

= $-\sum_{m=1}^r F_{n_k}^{(k,m)} dH_1^{(m)} + \sum_{m=1}^r F_{n_k}^{(k,m)} dH_1^{(m)} = 0,$

what follows from (5.3.17), (5.3.25), (5.3.26) and the fact that $\Omega_{1D}Y_0^{(k)} = 0$. Moreover, Ω_0 and Ω_1 are d-compatible with respect to Π_0 , as

$$\Pi_0 \Omega_1 \Pi_0 = \Pi_0 \Omega_{1D} \Pi_0 = \Pi_{1D}$$

which is a Poisson. According to conditions (5.3.18) vector fields $X_i^{(k)}$ are not bi-Hamiltonian as $Y_j^{(k)}(c_l) = F_j^{(k,l)} \neq 0$ and $Y_0^{(k)}(H_i^{(k)}) = 0$, which violates condition (5.3.18b).

In order to lift (5.3.22) to a respective bi-Hamiltonian representation on the extended phase space \mathcal{M} (5.3.24), one has to extend the original Hamiltonians $H_i^{(k)}$

$$H_j^{(k)} \to h_j^{(k)} = H_j^{(k)} + \sum_{l=1}^r F_j^{(k,l)} c_l, \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$

where functions $F_j^{(k,l)}$ are appropriate potentials calculated from Eqs. (5.1.17). Then, on \mathcal{M} , vector fields $X_j^{(k)} = \prod_0 dh_j^{(k)}$ form a bi-Hamiltonian chains

$$\Pi_0 dh_{j+1}^{(k)} = X_{j+1}^{(k)} = \Pi_1 dh_j^{(k)}, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n_k, \quad k = 1, \dots, r,$$

where

$$\Pi_1 = \Pi_{1D} + \sum_{m=1}^r X_1^{(m)} \wedge Y_0^{(m)}$$

is a Poisson tensor compatible with Π_0 one. Each chain starts with the Casimir of Π_0 , i.e. $H_0^{(k)} = c_k$, and terminates with the Casimir of Π_1 , i.e. $H_{n_k}^{(k)}$. The reader finds the details of the construction in [31]. Poisson tensors Π_0 and Π_1 are d-compatible with respect to Ω_0 as

$$\Omega_0 \Pi_1 \Omega_0 = \Omega_0 \Pi_{1D} \Omega_0 = \Omega_{1D}$$

is closed. As was proved in [29], bi-Hamiltonian chains (5.3.3) have no bipresymplectic counterparts as the conditions (5.3.18) are not satisfied. Indeed

$$Y_0^{(k)}(H_1^{(m)}) = F_1^{(m,k)} \neq F_1^{(k,m)} = Y_0^{(m)}(H_1^{(k)})$$

as coefficients $F_1^{(k,l)}$ are solutions of the set of linear algebraic Eqs. (5.1.17) and all are different in general. The only exception is the case of co-rank one (r = 1), as then (5.3.18) is trivially fulfilled.

Example 5.13 The bi-inverse-Hamiltonian of the Henon-Heiles system.

Let us consider the integrable case of the Henon–Heiles system considered in Examples 3.6 and 4.1 with the following constants of motion

$$H_1 = H = \frac{1}{2}p_x^2 + \frac{1}{2}p_y^2 + \frac{1}{2}xy^2 + x^3,$$

$$H_2 = \frac{1}{2}yp_xp_y - \frac{1}{2}xp_y^2 + \frac{1}{4}x^2y^2 + \frac{1}{16}y^4.$$

On 5-dimensional extended phase space parametrized by (x, y, p_x, p_y, c) differentials dH_1 and dH_2 have a bi-inverse-Hamiltonian representation of the form

$$\Omega_0 Y_0 = 0$$

$$\Omega_0 Y_1 = dH_1 = \Omega_1 Y_0$$

$$\Omega_0 Y_2 = dH_2 = \Omega_1 Y_1$$

$$0 = \Omega_1 Y_2$$

where vector fields Y_i are

$$Y_{0} = (0, 0, 0, 0, 1)^{T}$$

$$Y_{1} = X_{1} + F_{1}Y_{0} = (p_{x}, p_{y}, -3x^{2} - \frac{1}{2}y^{2}, -xy, -x)^{T}$$

$$Y_{2} = X_{2} + F_{2}Y_{0} = (\frac{1}{2}yp_{y}, \frac{1}{2}yp_{x} - xp_{x}, \frac{1}{2}p_{y}^{2} - \frac{1}{2}xy^{2}, -\frac{1}{2}p_{x}p_{y} - \frac{1}{4}y^{3} - \frac{1}{2}x^{2}y, -\frac{1}{4}y^{2})^{T},$$

m

presymplectic forms

$$\Omega_0 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\Omega_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\frac{1}{2}p_{y} & -x & -\frac{1}{2}y & 3x^{2} + \frac{1}{2}y^{2} \\ \frac{1}{2}p_{y} & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}y & 0 & xy \\ x & \frac{1}{2}y & 0 & 0 & p_{x} \\ \frac{1}{2}q_{y} & 0 & 0 & 0 & p_{y} \\ -3x^{2} - \frac{1}{2}y^{2} & -xy & -p_{x} - p_{y} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

are d-compatible with respect to the canonical Poisson tensor Π_0 dual to Ω_0 one, $X_i = \Pi_0 dH_i$ and expansion coefficients (5.1.17) $F_1 \equiv F_1^{(1,1)}$, $F_2 \equiv F_2^{(1,1)}$ are respective basic potentials $F_1 = -V_1^{(2)} = -x$, $F_2 = -V_2^{(2)} = -\frac{1}{4}y^2$. The chain starts with a kernel vector field Y_0 of Ω_0 and terminates with a kernel vector field Y_2 of Ω_1 . On \mathbb{R}^4 we have immediately

$$\omega_0 = \Omega_0|_{\mathbb{R}^4} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\omega_1 = \Omega_1|_{\mathbb{R}^4} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\frac{1}{2}p_y & -x & -\frac{1}{2}y \\ \frac{1}{2}p_y & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}y & 0 \\ x & \frac{1}{2}y & 0 & 0 \\ \frac{1}{2}y & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

and the quasi-bi-Hamiltonian representation takes the form (5.3.22)

$$\pi_1 dH_1 = \pi_0 dH_2 - F_1 \pi_0 dH_1, \quad \pi_1 dH_2 = -F_2 \pi_0 dH_1,$$

where

$$\pi_0 = \Pi_0|_{\mathbb{R}^4} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \omega_0^{-1},$$

$$\pi_1 = \Pi_0 \Omega_1 \Pi_0|_{\mathbb{R}^4} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & x & \frac{1}{2}y \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{2}y & 0 \\ -x & -\frac{1}{2}y & 0 & \frac{1}{2}p_y \\ -\frac{1}{2}y & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}p_y & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \pi_0 \omega_1 \pi_0,$$

Example 5.14 Consider the separation relations on a 6-dimensional phase space *M* given by the following geodesic separation curve

$$T_1\lambda^2 + T_2\lambda + T_3 = \frac{1}{2}\mu^2.$$

This curve corresponds to the geodesic motion for a classical Stäckel system (of Benenti type). As in this example r = 1, we use the notation $T_i^{(1)} \equiv T_i$. The transformation to flat coordinates (x, y, z) of associated metric (see Sect. 5.5) follows from the point transformation

$$\rho_1 = x = -\lambda^1 - \lambda^2 - \lambda^3,$$

$$\rho_2 = \frac{1}{4}x^2 + y = \lambda^1\lambda^2 + \lambda^1\lambda^3 + \lambda^2\lambda^3,$$

$$\rho_3 = \frac{1}{2}xy + z = -\lambda^1\lambda^2\lambda^3.$$

In the canonical coordinates (x, y, z, p_x, p_y, p_z) Hamiltonians take the form

$$T_{1} = p_{x}p_{z} + \frac{1}{2}p_{y}^{2},$$

$$T_{2} = p_{x}p_{y} + \frac{1}{2}xp_{y}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}xp_{x}p_{z} - \frac{1}{2}yp_{y}p_{z} - \frac{1}{2}zp_{z}^{2},$$

$$T_{3} = \frac{1}{2}p_{x}^{2} + \frac{1}{8}x^{2}p_{y}^{2} + \frac{1}{8}y^{2}p_{z}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}xp_{x}p_{y} + \frac{1}{2}yp_{x}p_{z} - (\frac{1}{4}xy + z)p_{y}p_{z},$$
(5.3.28)

and admit a quasi bi-inverse-Hamiltonian representation (5.3.23)

$$\omega_1 \mathbf{x}_1 = \omega_0 \mathbf{x}_2 - F_1 \omega_0 \mathbf{x}_1,$$

$$\omega_1 \mathbf{x}_2 = \omega_0 \mathbf{x}_3 - F_2 \omega_0 \mathbf{x}_1,$$

$$\omega_1 \mathbf{x}_3 = -F_3 \omega_0 \mathbf{x}_1,$$

with symplectic operators ω_0 and ω_1 of the form

$$\omega_{0} = \pi_{0}^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -I_{3} \\ I_{3} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (5.3.29)$$

$$\omega_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{1}{2}p_{y} & \frac{1}{2}p_{z} & \frac{1}{2}x & \frac{1}{2}y & z \\ -\frac{1}{2}p_{y} & 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 & \frac{1}{2}y \\ -\frac{1}{2}p_{z} & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 & \frac{1}{2}x \\ -\frac{1}{2}x & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -\frac{1}{2}y & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -z & -\frac{1}{2}y & -\frac{1}{2}x & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (5.3.30)$$

and Hamiltonian vector fields $\mathbf{x}_i = \pi_0 dT_i$, i = 1, 2, 3. The expansion coefficients $F_i^{(1,1)} \equiv F_i$ are respective basic potentials $F_i = -V_i^{(3)} = \rho_i$, i.e. the solution of equations (5.1.17)

$$(\lambda^{i})^{3} + F_{1}(\lambda^{i})^{2} + F_{2}\lambda^{i} + F_{3} = 0, \quad i = 1, 2, 3$$

which in flat coordinates are

$$F_1 = \rho_1 = x$$
, $F_2 = \rho_2 = \frac{1}{4}x^2 + y$, $F_3 = \sigma_3 = \frac{1}{2}xy + z$.

On the extended phase space \mathcal{M} of dimension seven, with an additional coordinate c, the differentials dH_i form a bi-inverse-Hamiltonian chain

$$\begin{aligned} \Omega_0 Y_0 &= 0\\ \Omega_0 Y_1 &= dT_1 = \Omega_1 Y_0\\ \Omega_0 Y_2 &= dT_2 = \Omega_1 Y_1\\ \Omega_0 Y_3 &= dT_3 = \Omega_1 Y_2\\ 0 &= \Omega_1 Y_3, \end{aligned}$$

with presymplectic forms

$$\Omega_0 = \left(\frac{\omega_0}{0} \frac{0}{0}\right) \quad , \quad \Omega_1 = \left(\frac{\omega_1}{-(dT_1)^T} \frac{dT_1}{0}\right)$$

d-compatible with respect to

$$\Pi_0 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I_3 & 0 \\ -I_3 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

and vector fields

$$Y_0 = (0, ..., 0, 1)^T, \quad Y_i = X_i + F_i Y_0, \quad i = 1, 2, 3,$$

where $X_i = \Pi_0 dT_i = (\mathbf{x}_i, 0)^T$.

Example 5.15 Consider the separation relations on a 6-dimensional phase space given by the following geodesic separation curve

$$\bar{T}_1\lambda^3 + \bar{T}_2\lambda^2 + \bar{T}_3 \equiv \lambda^2 (T_1^{(1)}\lambda + T_2^{(1)}) + T_1^{(2)} = \frac{1}{2}\mu^2$$

representing geodesic motion for a classical Stäckel system (this time of the non-Benenti type). Actually it is the case (5.1.19) from the previous section when n = 3, $n_1 = 2$ and $\sigma(\lambda) = 0$. Using the coordinates, the geodesic Hamiltonians T_i , and the functions σ_i from the previous example we find, according to (4.4.34) and (4.4.35) for n = 3, $m_1 = 3$, that

$$T_1^{(1)} = -\frac{1}{\sigma_2} T_2,$$

$$T_2^{(1)} = T_1 - \frac{\sigma_1}{\sigma_2} T_2,$$

$$T_1^{(2)} = T_3 - \frac{\sigma_3}{\sigma_2} T_2$$

and thus we see that the Hamiltonians $T_i^{(k)}$ are related to T_j (5.3.28) through the Stäckel transform (4.4.28) (see Sect. 4.4.3 for details). They admit a quasi biinverse-Hamiltonian representation (5.3.23)

$$\begin{split} \omega_1 \mathbf{x}_1^{(1)} &= \omega_0 \mathbf{x}_2^{(1)} - F_1^{(1,1)} \omega_0 \mathbf{x}_1^{(1)} - F_1^{(1,2)} \omega_0 \mathbf{x}_1^{(2)}, \\ \omega_1 \mathbf{x}_2^{(1)} &= -F_2^{(1,1)} \omega_0 \mathbf{x}_1^{(1)} - F_2^{(1,2)} \omega_0 \mathbf{x}_1^{(2)}, \\ \omega_1 \mathbf{x}_1^{(2)} &= -F_1^{(2,1)} \omega_0 \mathbf{x}_1^{(1)} - F_1^{(2,2)} \omega_0 \mathbf{x}_1^{(2)} \end{split}$$

with the presymplectic forms (5.3.29), (5.3.30) and Hamiltonian vector fields $\mathbf{x}_i^{(k)} = \pi_0 dT_i^{(k)}$. The expansion coefficients, according to (5.1.17), are solutions of three copies of respective equations

$$\lambda^{2}(\lambda^{2} + F_{1}^{(1,1)}\lambda + F_{2}^{(1,1)}) + F_{1}^{(2,1)} = 0$$

and

$$\lambda^{2}(F_{1}^{(1,1)}\lambda + F_{2}^{(1,1)}) + (\lambda + F_{1}^{(2,1)}) = 0$$

for $\lambda = \lambda_1, \lambda_2, \lambda_3$, i.e. from (5.1.20) we get

$$F_1^{(1,1)} = \rho_1 - \frac{\rho_3}{\rho_2}, \quad F_2^{(1,1)} = \rho_2 - \frac{\rho_1 \rho_3}{\rho_2}, \quad F_1^{(2,1)} = \frac{\rho_3^2}{\rho_2^2},$$
$$F_1^{(1,2)} = \frac{1}{\rho_2}, \quad F_2^{(1,2)} = \frac{\rho_1}{\rho_2}, \quad F_1^{(2,2)} = \frac{\rho_3}{\rho_2}.$$

On the extended phase space \mathcal{M} of dimension eight, with additional coordinates c_1 and c_2 , the differentials $dT_i^{(k)}$ form a bi-inverse-Hamiltonian chains

$$\begin{aligned} \Omega_0 Y_0^{(1)} &= 0\\ \Omega_0 Y_1^{(1)} &= dT_1^{(1)} = \Omega_1 Y_0^{(1)} & \Omega_0 Y_0^{(2)} = 0\\ \Omega_0 Y_2^{(1)} &= dT_2^{(1)} = \Omega_1 Y_1^{(1)} & \Omega_0 Y_1^{(2)} = dT_1^{(2)} = \Omega_1 Y_0^{(2)}\\ 0 &= \Omega_1 Y_2^{(1)} & 0 = \Omega_1 Y_1^{(2)}, \end{aligned}$$

with the presymplectic forms

$$\Omega_0 = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\omega_0 & 0 & 0}{0} \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} , \ \Omega_1 = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\omega_1 & dT_1^{(1)} & dT_1^{(2)} \\ -(dT_1^{(1)})^T & 0 \\ -(dT_1^{(2)})^T & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

d-compatible with respect to Π_0 and vector fields

$$Y_0^{(1)} = (0, \dots, 0, 1, 0)^T, \quad Y_0^{(2)} = (0, \dots, 0, 0, 1)^T, \quad Y_1^{(1)} = X_1^{(1)} + F_1^{(1,1)} Y_0^{(1)} + F_1^{(1,2)} Y_0^{(2)},$$
$$Y_2^{(1)} = X_2^{(1)} + F_2^{(1,1)} Y_0^{(1)} + F_2^{(1,2)} Y_0^{(2)}, \quad Y_1^{(2)} = X_1^{(2)} + F_1^{(2,1)} Y_0^{(1)} + F_1^{(2,2)} Y_0^{(2)},$$

where again $X_i^{(j)} = \Pi_0 dT_i^{(j)} = (\mathbf{x}_i^{(j)}, 0)^T$.

Example 5.16 Consider Hamiltonians with elliptic potentials, described in Sect. 5.2.1

$$H_r = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^n \left[-\frac{\partial \rho_r(\beta)}{\partial \beta_i} - \frac{1}{4} \sum_{k=1, k \neq i}^n \frac{\partial^2 \rho_r(\beta)}{\partial \beta_i \partial \beta_k} (x^k)^2 \right] p_i^2 + \frac{1}{8} \sum_{i, j=1, i \neq j}^n \frac{\partial^2 \rho_r(\beta)}{\partial \beta_i \partial \beta_j} x^i x^j p_i p_j + V_r(x),$$

where r = 1, ..., n. They form the bi-inverse-Hamiltonian chain

$$\Omega_0 Y_0 = 0$$

$$\Omega_0 Y_1 = dH_1 = \Omega_1 Y_0$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\Omega_0 Y_n = dH_2 = \Omega_1 Y_{n-1}$$

$$0 = \Omega_1 Y_n$$

where

$$\Omega_{0} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 - I_{n} & 0 \\ I_{n} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \Omega_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{4}p \otimes x - \frac{1}{4}x \otimes p - B + \frac{1}{4}x \otimes x & \frac{\partial V_{1}(x)}{\partial x} \\ B - \frac{1}{4}x \otimes x & 0 & p \\ -\frac{\partial V_{1}(x)}{\partial x} & -p & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

and

$$Y_r = \begin{pmatrix} (X_r)^1 \\ \vdots \\ (X_r)^{2n} \\ \rho_r(\beta) - \frac{1}{4} \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{\partial \rho_r(\beta)}{\partial \beta_i} (x^i)^2 \end{pmatrix}, \quad X_r = \Pi_0 d H_r, \quad \Pi_0 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I_n & 0 \\ -I_n & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The presymplectic forms Ω_1 and Ω_0 are d-compatible with respect to Π_0 if and only if the potential function $V_1(x)$ satisfies the Eqs. (5.2.9).

5.4 Bi-Hamiltonian and Bi-Presymplectic Theory in \mathbb{R}^3

The simplest realization of the theory presented in previous two sections takes place in $M = \mathbb{R}^3$. We consider Poisson bi-vectors and presymplectic forms which in this case have a particularly convenient description. In consequence we get a simple condition for respective compatibility. We analyze bi-Hamiltonian and bi-presymplectic chains with particular care and find conditions for their equivalence. We illustrate that case by a few instructive examples.

5.4.1 Poisson and Presymplectic Structures in \mathbb{R}^3

In \mathbb{R}^3 , parametrized by coordinates $(\zeta^1, \zeta^2, \zeta^3)$, any Poisson bi-vector Π can be represented by the following form [5]

$$\Pi^{ij} = \mu \epsilon^{ijk} \partial_k F \Longrightarrow \Pi = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \mu \partial_3 F - \mu \partial_2 F \\ -\mu \partial_3 F & 0 & \mu \partial_1 F \\ \mu \partial_2 F - \mu \partial_1 F & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5.4.1)

Here μ and F are some differentiable functions in \mathbb{R}^3 and ϵ^{ijk} is a Levi-Civita symbol

$$\epsilon^{ijk} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{when some indices coincide} \\ 1 & \text{for even permutations of } i, j, k \\ -1 & \text{for odd permutations of } i, j, k. \end{cases}$$

Note that for the above Poisson tensor we have $\Pi dF = 0$ that is the kernel of Π is spanned by the form dF.

In order to prove the representation (5.4.1) put $\Pi^{12} = u$, $\Pi^{31} = v$ and $\Pi^{23} = w$, respectively. Then the Jacobi equation (3.2.3) takes the form

$$u\partial_1 v - v\partial_1 u + w\partial_2 u - u\partial_2 w + v\partial_3 w - w\partial_3 v = 0.$$
(5.4.2)

First, assume that $u \neq 0$, let $\kappa = v/u$ and $\xi = w/u$, then Eq. (5.4.2) can be written as

$$\partial_1 \kappa - \partial_2 \xi + \kappa \partial_3 \xi - \xi \partial_3 \kappa = 0,$$

or in a more suitable form

$$(\partial_1 - \xi \partial_3)\kappa - (\partial_2 - \kappa \partial_3)\xi = 0. \tag{5.4.3}$$

Introducing differential operators

$$D_1 = \partial_1 - \xi \partial_3, \quad D_2 = \partial_2 - \kappa \partial_3,$$

one can write Eq. (5.4.3) as

$$D_1 \kappa - D_2 \xi = 0. \tag{5.4.4}$$
If (5.4.4) is satisfied, it is easy to show that the operators D_1 and D_2 commute and hence there exist new coordinates $(\bar{\zeta}^1, \bar{\zeta}^2, \bar{\zeta}^3)$, such that

$$D_1 = \partial_{\bar{\zeta}^1}, \quad D_2 = \partial_{\bar{\zeta}^2}. \tag{5.4.5}$$

Let *F* be a common invariant function of D_1 and D_2

$$D_1 F = D_2 F = 0, (5.4.6)$$

then the coordinates $(\bar{\zeta}^1, \bar{\zeta}^2, \bar{\zeta}^3)$ are given by

$$\bar{\zeta}^1 = \zeta^1, \quad \bar{\zeta}^2 = \zeta^2, \quad \bar{\zeta}^3 = F.$$

Moreover, from (5.4.6) we get

$$\xi = \frac{\partial_1 F}{\partial_3 F}, \quad \kappa = \frac{\partial_1 F}{\partial_3 F}.$$
(5.4.7)

Using (5.4.7), the entries of matrix Π , in the coordinates $(\bar{\zeta}^1, \bar{\zeta}^2, \bar{\zeta}^3)$, can be written as

$$u = \mu \partial_3 F, \quad v = \mu \partial_2 F, \quad w = \mu \partial_1 F.$$
 (5.4.8)

Thus matrix Π has the form (5.4.1).

So far we assumed that $u \neq 0$. If u = 0 then the Jacobi equation (3.2.3) becomes simpler

$$v\partial_3 w - w\partial_3 v = 0,$$

which has the simple solution $w = v\varphi(\zeta^1, \zeta^2)$, where φ is an arbitrary differentiable function of ζ^1 and ζ^2 . This class is also covered by the general solution (5.4.1) by letting *F* be independent of ζ^3 .

Let Poisson tensors Π_0 and Π_1 be given by $(\Pi_0)^{ij} = \mu_0 \epsilon^{ijk} \partial_k H_0$ and $(\Pi_1)^{ij} = \mu_1 \epsilon^{ijk} \partial_k H_1$, where μ_0, μ_1 and H_0, H_1 are some differentiable functions. Then Π_0 and Π_1 are compatible if and only if there exists a differentiable function $\Phi(H_0, H_1)$ such that

$$\mu_1 = \mu_0 \frac{\partial_{H_1} \Phi}{\partial_{H_0} \Phi} \tag{5.4.9}$$

provided that $\partial_{H_1} \Phi = \partial \Phi / \partial H_1 \neq 0$ and $\partial_{H_0} \Phi = \partial \Phi / \partial H_0 \neq 0$ [5]. Indeed, compatibility means that the linear combination of Π_0 and Π_1 has the form (5.4.1).

Let us consider the Poisson structure (5.4.1) with $F = \Phi(H_0, H_1)$. Then

$$\Pi = \mu \epsilon^{ijk} \partial_k F = \mu \epsilon^{ijk} \partial_k \left[\frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial H_0} \partial_k H_0 + \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial H_1} \partial_k H_1 \right]$$
$$= \mu \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial H_0} \epsilon^{ijk} \partial_k H_0 + \mu \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial H_1} \epsilon^{ijk} \partial_k H_1,$$

hence

$$\mu_0 = \mu \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial H_0}, \quad \mu_1 = \mu \frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial H_1}$$

and after elimination of μ we get condition (5.4.9).

For example, it follows that a Poisson tensor Π_0 , given by μ and a function H_0 , and a Poisson tensor Π_1 , given by $-\mu$ and a function H_1 , are compatible. One should take $\Phi = H_0 - H_1$.

The presymplectic forms in \mathbb{R}^3 are described in the following way. Any closed two-form Ω in \mathbb{R}^3 has the form

$$\Omega_{ij} = \nu \epsilon_{ijk} Y^k \Longrightarrow \Omega = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \nu Y^3 & -\nu Y^2 \\ -\nu Y^3 & 0 & \nu Y^1 \\ \nu Y^2 & -\nu Y^1 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
(5.4.10)

where ν is a differentiable function and $Y = (Y^1, Y^2, Y^3)^T$ is a vector, such that νY is a divergence free vector

$$\operatorname{div} \nu Y = \partial_i(\nu Y^i) = 0 \Longleftrightarrow \nu \operatorname{div} Y + Y(\nu) = 0.$$
(5.4.11)

Equation (5.4.11) has also a strong solution

$$\operatorname{div} Y = 0, \ Y(v) = 0. \tag{5.4.12}$$

Note that for the above presymplectic form we have $\Omega Y = 0$, which means that the kernel of Ω is spanned by the vector Y. A particular case of (5.4.10) for $\nu = 1$ was considered in [46].

Next, let us consider a dual pair. For a Poisson tensor $\Pi^{ij} = \mu \epsilon^{ijk} \partial_k F$ and a presymplectic form $\Omega_{ij} = \nu \epsilon_{ijk} Y^k$ the pair (Π , Ω) is a dual pair if and only if

$$Y(F) = Y^i \partial_i F = 1, \quad v = -\mu^{-1}.$$
 (5.4.13)

Indeed, the form Ω is dual to the Poisson tensor Π if the following partition of the unit operator holds

$$I = \Pi \Omega + Y \otimes dF.$$

The above equality is fulfilled under condition (5.4.13), as

$$(\Pi\Omega)_{s}^{i} = \mu \nu \varepsilon^{ijk} \varepsilon_{jsm} F_{,k} Y^{m} = \mu \nu (\delta_{s}^{k} \delta_{m}^{i} - \delta_{s}^{i} \delta_{m}^{k}) F_{,k} Y^{m}$$
$$= \mu \nu F_{,s} Y^{i} - \mu \nu F_{,k} Y^{k} \delta_{s}^{i},$$

where we used the following property of the Levi-Civita symbol

$$\varepsilon^{ikj}\varepsilon_{jsm} = \delta^i_s \delta^k_m - \delta^k_s \delta^i_m. \tag{5.4.14}$$

Consider a dual pair (Π_0 , Ω_0), where the Poisson tensor Π_0 is given by $(\Pi_0)^{ij} = \mu_0 \epsilon^{ijk} \partial_k H_0$ and the presymplectic form Ω_0 is given by $(\Omega_0)_{ij} = -\mu_0^{-1} \epsilon_{ijk} Y_0^k$. Then, the Poisson tensor Π_1 , $(\Pi_1)^{ij} = \mu_1 \epsilon^{ijk} \partial_k H_1$, is d-compatible with the Poisson tensor Π_0 if

$$Y_0\left(\frac{\mu_1}{\mu_0}Y_0(H_1)\right) = 0.$$
 (5.4.15)

The condition (5.4.15) follows from the fact that the two-form

$$\Omega_0 \Pi_1 \Omega_0 = \frac{\mu_1}{\mu_0} Y_0(H_1) \Omega_0$$

is closed under condition (5.4.15) which follows from (5.4.12).

Consider the same dual pair (Π_0, Ω_0) . Then, the presymplectic form Ω_1 , $(\Omega_1)_{ij} = \nu_1 \epsilon_{ijk} Y_1^k$, is d-compatible with the presymplectic form Ω_0 if

$$Y_1(H_0) \neq 0. \tag{5.4.16}$$

The condition (5.4.16) follows from the fact that the bi-vector

$$\Pi_0 \Omega_1 \Pi_0 = \mu_0 \nu_1 Y_1(H_0) \Pi_0$$

is a Poisson if $Y_1(H_0) \neq 0$.

5.4.2 Bi-Hamiltonian and Bi-Presymplectic Chains in \mathbb{R}^3

Suppose we have two compatible Poisson structures Π_0 and Π_1 in an open domain of $\mathbb{R}^3,$ given by

$$(\Pi_0)^{ij} = \mu \,\epsilon^{ijk} \partial_k H_0 \quad \text{and} \quad (\Pi_1)^{ij} = -\mu \,\epsilon^{ijk} \partial_k H_1, \qquad i, j = 1, 2, 3.$$

(5.4.17)

The Casimirs of the Π_0 and Π_1 are dH_0 and dH_1 respectively. Then we can consider a bi-Hamiltonian chain

$$\Pi_0 d H_0 = 0$$

$$\Pi_0 d H_1 = X = \Pi_1 d H_0$$

$$0 = \Pi_1 d H_1.$$
(5.4.18)

It follows from the fact that

$$(\Pi_0 d H_1)^i = \mu \,\epsilon^{ijk} (\partial_k H_0) (\partial_j H_1),$$

$$(\Pi_1 d H_0)^i = -\mu \,\epsilon^{ijk} (\partial_k H_1) (\partial_j H_0) = \mu \,\epsilon^{ijk} (\partial_k H_0) (\partial_j H_1).$$

From the construction it follows that in \mathbb{R}^3 any Hamiltonian vector field X is simultaneously a bi-Hamiltonian.

Moreover, if the presymplectic form Ω_0 , given by $(\Omega_0)_{ij} = -\mu^{-1} \epsilon_{ijk} Y_0^k$, is a dual to Poisson structure Π_0 with additional condition (5.4.15)

$$Y_0(Y_0(H_1)) = 0, (5.4.19)$$

then the pair (Π_0, Π_1) is d-compatible with respect to Ω_0 .

Consider closed two-forms Ω_0 and Ω_1 in an open domain of \mathbb{R}^3 , given in terms of vectors Y_0 , Y_1 and a function ν by

$$(\Omega_0)_{ij} = \nu \epsilon_{ijk} Y_0^k \quad \text{where} \quad \partial_k (\nu Y_0^k) = 0, \ i, j = 1, 2, 3$$
 (5.4.20)

and

$$(\Omega_1)_{ij} = -\nu \epsilon_{ijk} Y_1^k$$
 where $\partial_k (\nu Y_1^k) = 0, \ i, j = 1, 2, 3.$ (5.4.21)

It is easy to see that in \mathbb{R}^3 any two such presymplectic forms give a bi-presymplectic chain

$$\Omega_0 Y_0 = 0$$

$$\Omega_0 Y_1 = \beta = \Omega_1 Y_0$$

$$0 = \Omega_1 Y_1.$$
(5.4.22)

Again it follows from the fact that

$$(\Omega_0 Y_1)_i = \nu \varepsilon_{ijk} Y_0^k Y_1^j,$$

$$(\Omega_1 Y_0)_i = -\nu \varepsilon_{ijk} Y_1^k Y_0^j = \nu \varepsilon_{ijk} Y_0^k Y_1^j.$$

If a Poisson tensor Π_0 given by $\Pi_0^{ij} = -\frac{1}{\nu} \epsilon^{ijk} \partial_k H_0$ is dual to Ω_0 and such that $Y_1(H_0) \neq 0$, then Ω_0 and Ω_1 are d-compatible with respect to Π_0 .

For a d-compatible bi-Hamiltonian chain (5.4.18), (5.4.19) we can construct a corresponding bi-presymplectic chain. Take a pair of presymplectic structures in the form $(\Omega_0)_{ij} = -\mu^{-1}\epsilon_{ijk}Y_0^k$, $(\Omega_1)_{ij} = \mu^{-1}\epsilon_{ijk}Y_1^k$ where

$$Y_1 = X + Y_0(H_1)Y_0. (5.4.23)$$

The two-form Ω_0 is presymplectic dual to Π_0 and the 2-form Ω_1 is presymplectic as

$$div(\mu^{-1}Y_1) = div(\mu^{-1}X) + div(Y_0(H_1)\mu^{-1}Y_0)$$

= div(\mu^{-1}X) + div(\mu^{-1}Y_0) + \mu^{-1}Y_0(Y_0(H_1)) = 0.

They form a bi-presymplectic chain (5.4.22) with

$$\beta = \Omega_0 Y_1 = \Omega_0 X = \Omega_0 \Pi_0 dH_1 = (I - dH_0 \otimes Y_0) dH_1 = dH_1 - Y_0(H_1) dH_0.$$
(5.4.24)

For a d-compatible bi-presymplectic chain (5.4.22) we can construct a corresponding bi-Hamiltonian chain provided that

$$X = \Pi_0 \beta = \Pi_0 dH_1, \tag{5.4.25}$$

where Π_0 , given by $\Pi_0^{ij} = -\frac{1}{\nu} \epsilon^{ijk} \partial_k H_0$, is dual to Ω_0 and such that $Y_1(H_0) \neq 0$. Following previous considerations, every Hamiltonian system in \mathbb{R}^3 has a bi-Hamiltonian representation. Thus the vector field $X = \Pi_0 dH_1$ can be also written as $X = \Pi_1 dH_0$, where $(\Pi_1)^{ij} = \frac{1}{\nu} \epsilon^{ijk} \partial_k H_1$ for i, j = 1, 2, 3.

Relations (5.3.18)–(5.3.20) from the previous section also give the bi-Hamiltonian representation of the vector field X. Let us show that these two representations coincide provided that

$$Y_0(H_1) = Y_1(H_0). (5.4.26)$$

According to (5.3.20)

$$\Pi_1 = \Pi_0 \Omega_1 \Pi_0 + X \wedge Y_0 \tag{5.4.27}$$

that is

$$\Pi_1^{ij} = \frac{1}{\nu} Y_1(H_0) \epsilon^{ijk} \partial_k H_0 + (X^i Y_0^j - X^j Y_0^i), \ i, j = 1, 2, 3.$$

The property (5.4.14) allows us to write

$$X^{i}Y_{0}^{j} - X^{j}Y_{0}^{i} = \epsilon^{ijk}W_{k}, \quad W_{k} = \varepsilon_{krs}X^{r}Y^{s}$$

and

$$\Pi_1^{ij} = -\frac{1}{\nu} Y_1(H_0) \epsilon^{ijk} \partial_k H_0 + \epsilon^{ijk} W_k = \epsilon^{ijk} (-\frac{1}{\nu} Y_1(H_0) \partial_k H_0 + W_k).$$

Since $X^i = -\frac{1}{\nu} \epsilon^{ijk} \Pi_0^k \partial_j H_1$, we can put

$$W_{k} = \varepsilon_{krs} X^{r} Y^{s} = -\frac{1}{\nu} \epsilon_{krs} \epsilon^{rij} (\partial_{j} H_{0}) (\partial_{i} H_{1}) Y_{0}^{s} = -\frac{1}{\nu} (\delta_{k}^{j} \delta_{s}^{i} - \delta_{k}^{i} \delta_{s}^{j}) (\partial_{j} H_{0}) (\partial_{i} H_{1}) Y_{0}^{s}$$

= $-\frac{1}{\nu} Y_{0}(H_{1}) \partial_{k} H_{0} + \frac{1}{\nu} Y_{0}(H_{0}) \partial_{k} H_{1}.$

Using the above equality for W_k and condition (5.4.26) we get

$$\Pi_1^{ij} = \frac{1}{\nu} Y_1(H_0) \epsilon^{ijk} \partial_k H_0 - \frac{1}{\nu} Y_0(H_1) \epsilon^{ijk} \partial_k H_0 + \frac{1}{\nu} \epsilon^{ijk} \partial_k H_1 = \frac{1}{\nu} \epsilon^{ijk} \partial_k H_1.$$

Finally, we show that there might exist presymplectic chains that do not admit a dual bi-Hamiltonian representation. Consider closed 2-forms Ω_0 and Ω_1 in \mathbb{R}^3 , given by

$$\Omega_0 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \Omega_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & c & -b \\ -c & 0 & a \\ b & -a & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

where *a*, *b* and *c* are the functions of x_1 , x_2 and x_3 . Their kernels are spanned by vectors $Y_0 = (0, 0, 1)^t$ and $Y_1 = (a, b, c)^t$ respectively. Since div $Y_1 = 0$ then we have

$$\partial_1 a + \partial_2 b + \partial_3 c = 0.$$

Let us take a Poisson tensor Π_0 in the form

$$\Pi_0 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \partial_3 H_0 & -\partial_2 H_0 \\ -\partial_3 H_0 & 0 & \partial_1 H_0 \\ \partial_2 H_0 & -\partial_1 H_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

where H_0 is an arbitrary function of ζ^1 , ζ^2 and ζ^3 . If $\partial_3 H_0 = 1$, then one can show that Π_0 and Ω_0 are dual and Ω_0 and Ω_1 are d-compatible with respect to Π_0 and

$$H_0 = \zeta^3 + h_0(\zeta^1, \zeta^2). \tag{5.4.28}$$

The forms Ω_0 and Ω_1 create a presymplectic chain

$$\Omega_0 Y_0 = 0$$

$$\Omega_0 Y_1 = \beta = \Omega_1 Y_0$$

$$0 = \Omega_1 Y_1,$$

(5.4.29)

where $\beta = (b, -a, 0)^{t}$.

Now, let us consider a vector field X

$$X = \Pi_0 \beta = (a, b, 0)^t$$

We find that an additional condition

$$X = \Pi_0 dH_1,$$

gives

$$a = \partial_2 H_1 - (\partial_2 H_0)(\partial_3 H_1), \qquad (5.4.30a)$$

$$b = -\partial_1 H_1 + (\partial_1 H_0)(\partial_3 H_1), \qquad (5.4.30b)$$

$$a \,\partial_1 H_0 + b \,\partial_2 H_0 = (\partial_1 H_0)(\partial_2 H_1) - (\partial_2 H_0)(\partial_1 H_1), \tag{5.4.30c}$$

and from the constraint (5.4.26) we get that

$$\partial_3 H_1 = a \,\partial_1 H_0 + b \,\partial_2 H_0 + c \,. \tag{5.4.31}$$

Then, using a and b from the Eqs. (5.4.30a) and (5.4.30b) respectively we show that (5.4.30c) is satisfied. Moreover, using the identity (5.4.30c) in (5.4.31) we get

$$c = \partial_3 H_1 - (\partial_1 H_0)(\partial_2 H_1) + (\partial_2 H_0)(\partial_1 H_1).$$
(5.4.32)

As a summary we are left with the Eqs. (5.4.30a), (5.4.30b), (5.4.32) for *a*,*b*, and *c*. When we use *a*, *b* and *c* in (5.4.29) we obtain that

$$\partial_3^2 H_1 = 0. \tag{5.4.33}$$

This is nothing else but the d-compatibility condition (5.4.19), i.e., $Y_0(Y_0(H_1)) = 0$, of the Poisson tensors Π_0 and Π_1 . Equation (5.4.33) means that

$$H_1 = h_1(\zeta^1, \zeta^2) H_0 + h_2(\zeta^1, \zeta^2)$$
(5.4.34)

where h_1 and h_2 are arbitrary functions of ζ^1 and ζ^2 . Using (5.4.34) and (5.4.28) we get

$$a = H_0 \partial_2 h_1 + \partial_2 h_2 = \zeta^3 \partial_2 h_1 + \partial_2 h_2 + f \partial_2 h_1,$$

$$b = -H_0 \partial_1 h_1 - \partial_1 h_2 = -\zeta^3 \partial_1 h_1 - \partial_1 h_2 - f \partial_1 h_1,$$

$$c = h_1 - a \partial_1 H_0 - b \partial_2 H_0 = h_1 - a \partial_1 f - b \partial_2 f.$$

From the above equations follows immediately that a bi-presymplectic chain (5.4.29) has a dual bi-Hamiltonian chain only in the case when functions a, b and c are linear with respect to ζ^3 . On the other hand, arbitrary three functions $h_1(\zeta^1, \zeta^2)$, $h_2(\zeta^1, \zeta^2)$ and $f(\zeta^1, \zeta^2)$ determined all bi-presymplectic chains (5.4.29) which have dual bi-Hamiltonian chains.

Observation 10 Summarizing the results of this section, first observe that any Hamiltonian system in \mathbb{R}^3 is simultaneously bi-Hamiltonian with respect to a pair of compatible Poisson bi-vectors (5.4.17) and belongs to the bi-Hamiltonian chain (5.4.18). If in addition Poisson bi-vectors are d-compatible then there exists a related pair of d-compatible presymplectic forms (5.4.20), (5.4.21) and related bi-presymplectic chain (5.4.22), (5.4.24). In particular, when $Y_0(H_1) = 0$ the chain is bi-inverse-Hamiltonian. The opposite is not always true, i.e. once we have a one-form in a bi-presymplectic representation (5.4.22), there exists a related bi-Hamiltonian chain (5.4.18) provided that extra condition (5.4.25) is fulfilled. Finally, observe that any Darboux coordinates are separation coordinates.

Example 5.17 Consider the harmonic oscillator in the extended phase space \mathbb{R}^3 , where it has both bi-Hamiltonian and bi-inverse-Hamiltonian representations. In Darboux coordinates (x, p, c) the first (canonical) Hamiltonian representation takes the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} x \\ p \\ c \end{pmatrix}_{t} = \begin{pmatrix} p \\ -\omega^{2}x \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} d\left(\frac{1}{2}p^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\omega^{2}x^{2}\right) = \Pi_{0}dH_{1}$$

where Π_0 is generated by $\mu_0 = 1$ and $H_0 = c$. The second Hamiltonian representation

$$\begin{pmatrix} x \\ p \\ c \end{pmatrix}_{t} = \begin{pmatrix} p \\ -\omega^{2}x \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & p \\ 0 & 0 & -\omega^{2}x \\ -p & \omega^{2}x & 0 \end{pmatrix} dc = \Pi_{1} dH_{0}$$

is generated by $\mu_1 = -1$ and $H_1 = \frac{1}{2} (p^2 + \omega^2 x^2)$. Poisson tensors Π_0 and Π_1 are d-compatible with respect to the presymplectic form

$$\Omega_0 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

generated by $v_0 = -1$ and $Y_0 = (0, 0, 1)^T$, dual to Π_0 . So, according to (5.4.23), the second presymplectic form

$$\Omega_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & \omega^2 x \\ 0 & 0 & p \\ -\omega^2 x - p & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

generated by $v_1 = 1$ and $Y_1 = (p, -\omega^2 x, 0)$, is d-compatible with Ω_0 with respect to Π_0 . Both presymplectic forms lead to the bi-inverse-Hamiltonian representation of a harmonic oscillator

$$dH_{1} \equiv \begin{pmatrix} \omega^{2}x \\ p \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 - 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} p \\ -\omega^{2}x \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} = \Omega_{0}Y_{1}$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & \omega^{2}x \\ 0 & 0 & p \\ -\omega^{2}x - p & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} = \Omega_{1}Y_{0}.$$
(5.4.35)

However, the constructed representation does not fit to the schema from the previous section as the reduction procedure of Π_1 onto symplectic foliation of Π_0 along the transversal distribution $\mathcal{Z} = \ker \Omega_0 = Y_0$ does not reconstruct separation coordinates $\lambda^1 = x, \mu_1 = p$. Simply $\omega_1 = \Omega_1|_{\mathbb{R}^2} = 0, \pi_1 = \pi_0 \omega_1 \pi_0 = 0$ and hence $N = \pi_1 \omega_0 = 0$. In order to fit in the schema presented in Sects. 5.1 and 5.3 one has to extend the harmonic oscillator Hamiltonian H_1 by an extra term

$$H_1 = \frac{1}{2} \left(p^2 + \omega^2 x^2 \right) - cx.$$

For the extended harmonic oscillator its bi-Hamiltonian representation takes the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} x \\ p \\ c \end{pmatrix}_{t} = \begin{pmatrix} p \\ -\omega^{2}x + c \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} = X = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} d \left(\frac{1}{2}p^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\omega^{2}x^{2} - cx\right) = \Pi_{0}dH_{1}$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix} 0 & x & p \\ -x & 0 & -\omega^{2}x + c \\ -p & \omega^{2}x - c & 0 \end{pmatrix} dc = \Pi_{1}dH_{0}$$

$$(5.4.36)$$

where Π_0 is generated by $\mu_0 = 1$, $H_0 = c$ and Π_1 by $\mu_1 = -1$, $H_1 = \frac{1}{2}(p^2 + \omega^2 x^2) - cx$. The related bi-presymplectic representation takes the form

$$\beta \equiv \begin{pmatrix} \omega^2 x - c \\ p \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 - 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} p \\ -\omega^2 x + c \\ -x \end{pmatrix} = \Omega_0 Y_1$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -x & \omega^2 x - c \\ x & 0 & p \\ -\omega^2 x + c - p & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} = \Omega_1 Y_0$$

where Ω_0 is generated by $\nu = -1$, $Y_0 = (0, 0, 1)$ and Ω_1 by $\nu = 1$, $Y_1 = X + Y_0(H_1)Y_0 = (p, -\omega^2 x + c, -x)^T$. Notice that $\beta \neq dH_1$ so it is not a bi-inverse-Hamiltonian representation. We make it bi-inverse-Hamiltonian putting c = 0

$$dH_{1} \equiv \begin{pmatrix} \omega^{2}x \\ p \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 - 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} p \\ -\omega^{2}x \\ -x \end{pmatrix} = \Omega_{0}Y_{1}$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -x & \omega^{2}x \\ x & 0 & p \\ -\omega^{2}x & -p & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} = \Omega_{1}Y_{0}$$

as new Ω_1 is still a presymplectic two-form, generated by $\nu_1 = 1$, $Y_1 = X + Y_0(H_1)Y_0 = X = (p, -\omega^2 x, 0)^T$. Notice that there is no related bi-Hamiltonian representation (5.4.36) of a standard harmonic oscillator, as a bi-vector

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & x & p \\ -x & 0 & -\omega^2 x \\ -p & \omega^2 x & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

is not Poisson any more. The reduction of Ω_0 and Ω_1 onto any symplectic leave of Π_0 gives

$$\omega_0 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \omega_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -x \\ x & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

and hence the recursion operator

$$N = \pi_0 \omega_1 = \omega_0^{-1} \omega_1 = \begin{pmatrix} x & 0 \\ 0 & x \end{pmatrix}$$

reconstructs trivial information that $\lambda^1 = x$.

In the presented example bi-Hamiltonian and bi-inverse-Hamiltonian representations of a harmonic oscillator were irrelevant, as from the beginning the system was written in separation coordinates. In the next examples both representations are crucial for the construction of separation coordinates.

Example 5.18 Consider the Lorentz system [5, 141]

$$\begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \\ z \end{pmatrix}_t = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2}y \\ -xz \\ xy \end{pmatrix}$$

It admits a bi-Hamiltonian representation (5.4.18) with $H_0 = \frac{1}{4}z - \frac{1}{4}x^2$, $\mu_0 = 1$ and $H_1 = y^2 + z^2$, $\mu_1 = -1$, so

$$\Pi_0^{ij} = \varepsilon^{ijk} \partial_k H_0 \Longrightarrow \Pi_0 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{1}{4} & 0\\ -\frac{1}{4} & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}x\\ 0 & \frac{1}{2}x & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

and

$$\Pi_1^{ij} = -\varepsilon^{ijk}\partial_k H_1 \Longrightarrow \Pi_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -2z & 2y \\ 2z & 0 & 0 \\ -2y & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The form Ω_0 dual to Π_0 and compatible with Π_1 is given by

$$\Omega_0 = - \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \gamma - \beta \\ -\gamma & 0 & lpha \\ b - lpha & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

where the vector $Y_0 = (\alpha, \beta, \gamma)^T$. The conditions on α, β and γ are

div
$$Y_0 = \partial_x \alpha + \partial_y \beta + \partial_z \gamma = 0$$
, $Y_0(H_0) = \frac{1}{4}\gamma - \frac{1}{2}x\alpha = 1$.

One can find Ω_1 having determined Y_1 from (5.4.23)

$$Y_1 = \left(\frac{1}{2}y + 2\alpha\eta, -xz + 2\beta\eta, xy + 2\gamma\eta\right)$$

where $\eta = \frac{1}{2} Y_0(H_1) = \beta y + \gamma z$. We have an additional constraint on α, β and γ coming from div $Y_1 = 0$ which reads

$$Y_0(\eta) = \alpha \partial_x \eta + \beta \partial_y \eta + \gamma \partial_z \eta = 0.$$

A simple solution for the above presymplectic structures is given as $\alpha = -2/x$, $\beta = -2y/x^2$, $\gamma = 0$. Thus we have a pair of presymplectic forms given by

$$v_0 = -1, \quad Y_0 = \begin{pmatrix} -2x^{-1} \\ -2yx^{-2} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

and

$$v_1 = 1, \quad Y_1 = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2}y + 8y^2x^{-3}\\ z + 8y^3x^{-3}\\ xy \end{pmatrix},$$

so

$$(\Omega_0)_{ij} = -\varepsilon_{ijk} Y_0^k \Longrightarrow \Omega_0 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & -2yx^{-2} \\ 0 & 0 & 2x^{-1} \\ 2yx^{-2} & -2x^{-1} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

and

$$(\Omega_1)_{ij} = \varepsilon_{ijk} Y_1^k \Longrightarrow$$
$$\Omega_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & xy & -z - 8y^3 x^{-3} \\ -xy & 0 & \frac{1}{2}y + 8y^2 x^{-3} \\ z + 8y^3 x^{-3} - \frac{1}{2}y - 8y^2 x^{-3} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

are d-compatible presymplectic forms with respect to Π_0 . According to Observation 9, the reduction of the Poisson structure Π_1 onto symplectic foliation of Π_0 is given along the distribution $\mathcal{Z} = \ker \Omega_0 = Y_0$. So, following the procedure described by (5.1.4)–(5.1.44), we find that

$$F(\lambda) = Y_0(H(\lambda)) = Y_0(H_0\lambda + H_1) = -4x^{-2}y^2,$$

$$Y = \Pi_0 d(Y_0(H_1)) = \begin{pmatrix} -2x^{-2}y \\ -2x^{-3}y^2 \\ -4x^{-1}y \end{pmatrix},$$

$$Y\left(\frac{Y(H(\lambda))}{Y^2(H(\lambda))}\right) = 1$$

and the transformation to separation coordinates (λ^1, μ_1, c) is as follows

$$\lambda^1 = 4x^{-2}y^2$$
, $\mu_1 = -\frac{1}{8}x^{-1}y - \frac{1}{4}xy^{-1}z$, $c = H_0 = \frac{1}{4}z - \frac{1}{4}x^2$.

The respective separation relation takes the form

$$H_0\lambda^1 + H_1 = 4\lambda^1\mu_1^2 - \frac{1}{64}(\lambda^1)^2.$$

As another example let us come back to the Euler top from Examples 5.4 and 5.8.

Example 5.19 Both Poisson structures of Euler top from Example 5.4 are generated by the formula $\Pi_l^{ij} = \mu_l \epsilon^{ijk} \partial_k H_l$, l = 0, 1, where $\mu_0 = -1$, $H_0 = \frac{1}{2}\omega_1^2 + \frac{1}{2}\omega_2^2 + \frac{1}{2}\omega_2^2$ and $\mu_1 = 1$, $H_1 = \frac{1}{2}a_1\omega_1^2 + \frac{1}{2}a_2\omega_1^2 + \frac{1}{2}a_3\omega_1^2$. The bi-presymplectic representation of Euler top can be found by an analogical procedure as in the case of the Lorentz system. Thus we have a pair of presymplectic forms given by

$$\nu_0 = 1, \quad Y_0 = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\omega_1}{\omega_1^2 + \omega_2^2} \\ \frac{\omega_2}{\omega_1^2 + \omega_2^2} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

and

$$\nu_1 = -1, \quad Y_1 = \begin{pmatrix} (a_3 - a_2)\omega_2\omega_3 + \frac{(a_1\omega_1^2 + a_2\omega_2^2)\omega_1}{(\omega_1^2 + \omega_2^2)^2} \\ (a_1 - a_3)\omega_1\omega_3 + \frac{(a_1\omega_1^2 + a_2\omega_2^2)\omega_2}{(\omega_1^2 + \omega_2^2)^2} \\ (a_2 - a_1)\omega_1\omega_2 \end{pmatrix}$$

The transversal distribution Z, which appeared ad hoc in Example 5.8, is just equal to Y_0 from the above construction.

5.5 Direct Transformation from Separation to Flat Coordinates

In previous sections we constructed in a systematic way a transformation from original coordinates (x, p) (flat in particular) to separation coordinates (λ, μ) , provided a bi-Hamiltonian or a bi-inverse-Hamiltonian representation of the considered Liouville integrable systems is given. The presented construction of separation coordinates is general and covers all Stäckel systems. Nevertheless, there exists an alternative approach to the problem. Actually, we can start from the system written in separation coordinates, constructed from a given separation relations, and then find the transformation to some distinguished coordinates in which all commuting Hamiltonians take a particularly simple form. For the class of systems considered in previous chapters, flat coordinates of particular Stäckel matrices are such distinguished coordinates.

The search for flat coordinates for systems that we a priori know are flat is not an easy task. In this section we construct separable flat systems of Stäckel type directly from scratch i.e. from an appropriate separation curve or an appropriate set of separation relations and then find the transformation to flat coordinates [44, 192]. We also establish the signature of metric tensors of these systems as in the majority of cases we deal with pseudo-Euclidian spaces. Moreover, we present in these new coordinates the explicit form of many important geometric objects connected to these flat Stäckel systems like metric tensors, Killing tensors or separable potentials. Notice, that once we construct the set of Stäckel systems in some flat coordinates, we can construct all other Stäckel systems in the same coordinates, using the Stäckel transform described in the previous chapter.

Our construction contains in particular two known cases of pure Euclidean metrics, when separation coordinates are either Jacobi elliptic coordinates [157] or Jacobi parabolic coordinates. All other cases are related with pseudo-Euclidean metrics.

In the following section we consider separation curves (4.3.14) in the form

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} H_j \lambda^{n-j} = \frac{1}{2} f(\lambda) \mu^2 + \sigma(\lambda) = B_m(\lambda) \left(\frac{1}{2} \mu^2 + \lambda^k\right), \quad m \in \mathbf{N}, k \in \mathbf{Z}$$
(5.5.1)

where

$$B_m(\lambda) = \sum_{j=0}^m \lambda^{m-j} \rho_j^{(m)}(\beta) \equiv \prod_{j=1}^m \left(\lambda - \beta_j\right)$$
(5.5.2)

is a real polynomial of order *m* in λ with possibly complex roots β_j that are all assumed to be different. A particular case of degeneracy will be considered in a separate subsection. The real coefficients $\rho_j^{(m)}(\beta)$ are thus Viète polynomials of the possibly complex constants β_1, \ldots, β_m

$$\rho_j^{(m)}(\beta) = (-1)^j \sum_{1 \le s_1 < s_2 < \dots < s_j \le m} \beta_{s_1} \dots \beta_{s_j}, \quad j = 1, \dots, m.$$
(5.5.3)

The Hamiltonians H_i generated by the separation curve (5.5.1) were considered in Sect. 4.3.2. Let us remind that Hamiltonians H_i have the form

$$H_i = \frac{1}{2}\mu^T K_i G\mu + U_i(\lambda) \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$
 (5.5.4)

with the metric tensor G and the Killing tensors K_i given explicitly through

$$G = \operatorname{diag}\left(\frac{f(\lambda^{1})}{\Delta_{1}}, \dots, \frac{f(\lambda^{n})}{\Delta_{n}}\right) = \operatorname{diag}\left(\frac{B_{m}(\lambda^{1})}{\Delta_{1}}, \dots, \frac{B_{m}(\lambda^{n})}{\Delta_{n}}\right), \quad \Delta_{i} = \prod_{j \neq i} (\lambda^{i} - \lambda^{j})$$

$$K_{i} = -\operatorname{diag}\left(\frac{\partial q^{i}}{\partial \lambda^{1}}, \dots, \frac{\partial q^{i}}{\partial \lambda^{n}}\right) \quad i = 1, \dots, n$$
(5.5.5)

Here and below $q^i = q^i(\lambda)$ are Viète polynomials (4.3.18) in the variables $\lambda^1, \ldots, \lambda^n$:

$$q^{i}(\lambda) = (-1)^{i} \sum_{1 \le s_{1} < s_{2} < \dots < s_{i} \le n} \lambda^{s_{1}} \dots \lambda^{s_{i}}, \quad i = 1, \dots, n$$
(5.5.6)

(cf. (5.5.3)) that can also be considered as new coordinates on the Riemannian manifold Q and in the previous chapter we referred to them as Viète coordinates.

As was mentioned in Sect. 4.3.2, the metric (5.5.5) is flat only for $m \le n$ and is of constant curvature for m = n + 1. For higher *m* it has a non-constant curvature. Thus, it is meaningful to seek for flat coordinates for Benenti systems only in case when m = 0, ..., n.

Let us now turn our attention to the separable potentials $U_i(\lambda)$ in (5.5.4) in the Benenti case. The potentials $U_i(\lambda)$ depend on the constants *m* and *k* (as well as on the dimension *n*) so will be denoted by $U_i^{(m,k)}$, while the column vector with components $U_i^{(m,k)}$ will be denoted by $U_i^{(m,k)}$

$$U^{(m,k)} = \left(U_1^{(m,k)}, \dots, U_n^{(m,k)}\right)^T$$

By solving (5.5.1) with respect to H_i one obtains that

$$U^{(m,k)} = \sum_{j=0}^{m} \rho_j^{(m)}(\beta) V^{(m-j+k)}$$
(5.5.7)

where the column vector $V^{(k)}$ represents the so called basic separable potentials related to $\sigma(\lambda) = \lambda^k$ which was constructed recursively (4.3.22) by

$$V^{(k)} = F^k V^{(0)} (5.5.8)$$

with the recursion matrix F (4.3.20) of the form

$$F = \begin{pmatrix} -q^{1} & 1 \\ -q^{2} & \ddots \\ \vdots & 1 \\ -q^{n} & 0 \cdots & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.5.9)

and with $V^{(0)} = (0, 0, ..., 0, 1)^T$. Note that the formulas (5.5.7)–(5.5.9) are non tensorial so are the same in an arbitrary coordinate system. Note also that for m = 0 we have $U_r^{(0,k)} = V_r^{(k)}$ so that for m = 0 both families of potentials coincide. The potentials U are naturally linear combinations of the basic separable potentials V determined by our specific choice of the function $\sigma(\lambda)$ in (5.5.1). This choice is motivated by the fact that the potentials U in flat coordinates generalize the well known potentials as it will be demonstrated below.

5.5.1 Flat Coordinates for Real Non Degenerate Case

In this subsection we construct flat coordinates of *G* in the case where all the roots β_1, \ldots, β_m of $B_m(\lambda)$ are real and distinct.

Consider thus the following generating function [192]

$$\sum_{j=0}^{n-m} z^{n-m-j} a^j - \frac{1}{4} \varepsilon \sum_{j=1}^m \frac{(x^j)^2}{z - \beta_j} \equiv \frac{\prod_{j=1}^n (z - \lambda^j)}{\prod_{j=1}^m (z - \beta_j)}$$
(5.5.10)

where $\varepsilon = +1$ or $\varepsilon = -1$ and where the identity is taken with respect to the variable *z*. As will be shown below, this function defines locally an invertible map between variables $(\lambda^1, \ldots, \lambda^n)$ and new variables $(x^1, \ldots, x^m, a^1, \ldots, a^{n-m})$ on the flat Riemannian manifold *Q* whereas the choice of the sign of ε is governed by the actual sign of the variables in a given region of *Q*. A simple way to see this is to multiply both sides of (5.5.10) by $B_m(z) \equiv \prod_{j=1}^m (z - \beta_j)$ and compare the coefficients of polynomials on both sides of the equation. We find that $a_0 = 1$, so in the particular case m = n the generating function (5.5.10) attains the form

$$1 - \frac{1}{4}\varepsilon \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{(x^{j})^{2}}{z - \beta_{j}} \equiv \frac{\prod_{j=1}^{n} (z - \lambda^{j})}{\prod_{j=1}^{n} (z - \beta_{j})}$$
(5.5.11)

which in the regions of the manifold Q when $\varepsilon < 0$ is nothing else than the well known transformation (see [157]) between the coordinates (x^1, \ldots, x^n) and the Jacobi elliptic coordinates $(\lambda^1, \ldots, \lambda^n)$.

5.5 Direct Transformation from Separation to Flat Coordinates

In the case m = n - 1 the function (5.5.10) becomes

$$z + a^{1} - \frac{1}{4}\varepsilon \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \frac{(x^{j})^{2}}{z - \beta_{j}} \equiv \frac{\prod_{j=1}^{n} (z - \lambda^{j})}{\prod_{j=1}^{m} (z - \beta_{j})}$$

which is commonly known as the generating function for transformation between the coordinates $(x^1, \ldots, x^{n-1}, a^1)$ and the Jacobi parabolic coordinates $(\lambda^1, \ldots, \lambda^n)$. In the case m = 0 we consider instead of (5.5.10) the generating function of the form

$$\sum_{j=0}^{n} z^{n-j} a^{j} \equiv \prod_{j=1}^{n} (z - \lambda^{j})$$
(5.5.12)

so that $a^i(\lambda) = q^i(\lambda)$ i.e. the variables (a^1, \ldots, a^n) coincide then with the Viète coordinates (5.5.6) while the variables x_i are not present at all. One can say that this function is a variant of (5.5.10) with both ε and all β_i not present.

Let us now investigate the map between coordinates $(\lambda^1, \ldots, \lambda^n)$ and $(x^1, \ldots, x^m, a^1, \ldots, a^{n-m})$ in a general case. Such a map is given by

$$(x^{j})^{2} = -4\varepsilon \frac{\prod_{k=1}^{n} (\beta_{j} - \lambda^{k})}{\prod_{\substack{k=1\\k \neq j}}^{m} (\beta_{j} - \beta_{k})}, \quad j = 1, \dots m$$
(5.5.13)

$$\begin{pmatrix} a^{1} \\ \vdots \\ a^{n-m} \end{pmatrix} = M \begin{pmatrix} q^{1}(\lambda) - \rho_{1}(\beta) \\ \vdots \\ q^{n-m}(\lambda) - \rho_{n-m}(\beta) \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.5.14)

where M is a square matrix with the following entries

$$M_{ij} = \begin{cases} V_1^{(m,m-1+i-j)} \text{ for } j \le i \\ 0 & \text{ for } j > i \end{cases} \text{ with } i, j = 1, \dots, n-m$$

where $V_1^{(m,m-1+i-j)}$ are basic separable potentials given by (5.5.8) with the dimension *n* replaced by *m*.

To show (5.5.13) let us first multiply both sides of (5.5.10) by $B_m(z) = \prod_{k=1}^m (z - \beta_k)$ receiving

$$B_m(z)\sum_{k=0}^{n-m} z^{n-m-k} a^k - \frac{1}{4} \varepsilon B_m(z) \sum_{k=1}^m \frac{(x^k)^2}{z - \beta_k} \equiv \prod_{k=1}^n (z - \lambda^k).$$
(5.5.15)

Then, let us insert $z = \beta_i$ in (5.5.15) and since $B_m(\beta_i) = 0$ we obtain

$$-\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon(x^j)^2\prod_{\substack{k=1\\k\neq j}}^m(\beta_j-\beta_k)=\prod_{k=1}^n(\beta_j-\lambda^k)$$

from which (and since $1/\varepsilon = \varepsilon$) we obtain (5.5.13). The formula (5.5.14) can be obtained by comparison of coefficients of polynomials in (5.5.15).

By a direct comparison of the coefficients in (5.5.15) one can also find that

$$q^{i} = \sum_{j=0}^{n-m} \rho_{i-j} a^{j} + \frac{1}{4} \varepsilon \sum_{j=1}^{m} \frac{\partial \rho_{i-(n-m)}}{\partial \beta_{j}} (x^{j})^{2}, \ i = 1, \dots, n$$
(5.5.16)

which represents the map from the variables $(x^1, \ldots, x^m, a^1, \ldots, a^{n-m})$ to the Viète variables (5.5.6) and where we use the notation $\rho_i = 0$ for i < 0 or for i > m and $\rho_0 = 1$.

Let us now move on to the problem of finding flat coordinates for the metric G generated by (5.5.1). In order to do it consider the polynomial map [44]

$$a^{i} = r^{i} + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} r^{j} r^{i-j}, \quad i = 1, \dots, n-m$$
 (5.5.17)

from the variables (r^1, \ldots, r^{n-m}) to (a^1, \ldots, a^{n-m}) . This map is invertible due to its triangular structure and its inverse is also a polynomial map. Then, combining the maps (5.5.13)–(5.5.14) and (5.5.17) we find the map between variables $(\lambda^1, \ldots, \lambda^n)$ and $(x^1, \ldots, x^m, r^1, \ldots, r^{n-m})$.

We are now in position to formulate the following statement. The metric G defined by (5.5.5) in coordinates $(x^1, \ldots, x^m, r^1, \ldots, r^{n-m})$ attains the form

$$G = \begin{pmatrix} \varepsilon I_{m \times m} & 0_{m \times (n-m)} \\ 0_{(n-m) \times m} & J_{(n-m) \times (n-m)} \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.5.18)

where $I_{k\times k}$ denotes the $k \times k$ identity matrix and $J_{k\times k}$ denotes the $k \times k$ matrix given by $(J_{k\times k})_{ij} = \delta_{i,k-j+1}$ i.e. with entries equal to 0 everywhere except on the antidiagonal where all the entries are equal to 1.

The form (5.5.18) can be proved by direct but tedious calculation. Thus, the variables $(x^1, \ldots, x^m, r^1, \ldots r^{n-m})$ as a whole are flat but not orthogonal coordinates for the metric *G*. Actually, they consist of the orthogonal part (x^1, \ldots, x^m) and the not orthogonal part (r^1, \ldots, r^{n-m}) . It is now elementary to find the transformation from coordinates $(x^1, \ldots, x^m, r^1, \ldots, r^{n-m})$ to the pseudo-Euclidean coordinates for *G*. However, we skip that transformation as formulas for Killing tensors and potentials become much less transparent in orthogonal flat coordinates.

The signature (n_+, n_-) (2.1.3) (where n_+ and n_- is the number of positive respective negative eigenvalues of G) of the metric G in the considered case is given by

$$(n_{+}, n_{-}) = \left(n - \left[\frac{n-m}{2}\right], \left[\frac{n-m}{2}\right]\right) \text{ in the region where } \varepsilon = +1$$
$$(n_{+}, n_{-}) = \left(n - m - \left[\frac{n-m}{2}\right], \left[\frac{n-m}{2}\right] + m\right) \text{ in the region where } \varepsilon = -1$$

where $[\alpha]$ denotes the integer part of the number α . This means that the metric *G* is Euclidean (in the appropriate regions, where $\varepsilon = +1$) only in the elliptic case and in the parabolic case, i.e. for m = n and m = n - 1, otherwise it is pseudo-Euclidean. Note also that in the case m = 0 both expressions coincide.

We will now investigate the structure of the Killing tensors $A_i = K_i G$ and separable potentials V in flat coordinates $(x^1, \ldots, x^m, r^1, \ldots, r^{n-m})$ in the elliptic case (x^1, \ldots, x^n) and in the parabolic case $(x^1, \ldots, x^{n-1}, r)$. In the case of arbitrary m the formulas become very complicated and non-transparent, so we only present some results concerning the simplest separable potentials.

Let us start with the elliptic case m = n. The form of the (0, 2)-type tensors A_r in flat coordinates can be calculated by the usual transformation rules for tensors and in flat orthogonal coordinates (x^1, \ldots, x^n) attains the form

$$A_{s}^{ij} = \frac{1}{4} \frac{\partial^{2} \rho_{s}}{\partial \beta_{i} \partial \beta_{j}} x^{i} x^{j}, \quad i \neq j$$

$$A_{s}^{ii} = \varepsilon \frac{\partial \rho_{s}}{\partial \beta_{i}} - \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\substack{k=1\\k \neq i}}^{n} \frac{\partial^{2} \rho_{s}}{\partial \beta_{i} \partial \beta_{k}} (x^{k})^{2}$$
(5.5.19)

(no summation over repeated indices is performed here) where $\rho_s = \rho_s^{(n)}(\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_n)$ is given by (5.5.3). Notice that matrix elements of tensors A_r are quadratic functions of Cartesian coordinates.

It is not possible to present the general formula for the potentials $U_r^{(n,k)}$ in flat coordinates but we can at least present a few first potentials with low k. Let x =

 $(x^1, \ldots, x^n)^T$ and by (\cdot, \cdot) we denote the usual scalar product in \mathbb{R}^n . Further, denote

$$\Gamma_s = -\operatorname{diag}\left(\frac{\partial \rho_s^{(n)}}{\partial \beta_1}, \cdots, \frac{\partial \rho_s^{(n)}}{\partial \beta_n}\right) \quad s = 1, \dots, n$$
$$B = \operatorname{diag}(\beta_1, \dots, \beta_n)$$
$$W = 1 + \frac{1}{4}\varepsilon(x, B^{-1}x)$$

where $\rho_s = 0$ for s < 0 and s > m. In the above notation, where (5.5.16) reduces to

$$q^{i}(\lambda) = \rho_{i}(\beta) + \frac{1}{4}\varepsilon \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{\partial \rho_{i}}{\partial \beta_{j}} (x^{j})^{2}, \ i = 1, \dots, n$$
(5.5.20)

after some calculations we obtain

$$\begin{split} U_s^{(n,2)} &= \frac{1}{4} \varepsilon \left(\Gamma_s x, B^2 x \right) + \frac{1}{16} \left(\Gamma_s x, x \right) (x, Bx) + \frac{1}{64} \varepsilon (\Gamma_s x, x) (x, x)^2 \\ &+ \frac{1}{16} (x, x) (\Gamma_s x, Bx), \\ U_s^{(n,1)} &= \frac{1}{4} \varepsilon (\Gamma_s x, Bx) + \frac{1}{16} (\Gamma_s x, x) (x, x), \\ U_s^{(n,0)} &= \frac{1}{4} \varepsilon (\Gamma_s x, x), \\ U_s^{(n,-1)} &= \frac{1}{4} \varepsilon \frac{(\Gamma_s x, B^{-1} x)}{W}, \\ U_s^{(n,-2)} &= \frac{1}{W^2} \left(\frac{1}{4} \varepsilon \left(\Gamma_s x, B^{-2} x \right) + \frac{1}{16} \left(\Gamma_{s-1} x, B^{-1} x \right) (x, B^{-1} x) \\ &- \frac{1}{16} (\Gamma_{s-1} x, x) (x, B^{-2} x)^2 \right). \end{split}$$

For a higher positive or negative *k* these potentials quickly become very complicated functions of their arguments. Since $\Gamma_1 = I$ and $\Gamma_0 = 0$ (due to (5.5.3)) we have in particular

$$\begin{split} U_1^{(n,2)} &= \frac{1}{4} \varepsilon \left(x, B^2 x \right) + \frac{1}{8} (x, Bx) \left(x, x \right) + \frac{1}{64} \varepsilon (x, x)^3, \\ U_1^{(n,1)} &= \frac{1}{4} \varepsilon (x, Bx) + \frac{1}{16} (x, x)^2, \\ U_1^{(n,0)} &= \frac{1}{4} \varepsilon (x, x), \\ U_1^{(n,-1)} &= \frac{1}{4} \varepsilon \frac{(x, B^{-1} x)}{W}, \\ U_1^{(n,-2)} &= \frac{1}{4} \varepsilon \frac{\left(x, B^{-2} x \right)}{W^2}. \end{split}$$

This family of potentials, known as elliptic separable potentials, has been obtained for the first time in [264] (see also [3]). The potential $U_1^{(n,1)}$ is the well known Garnier potential while $U_1^{(n,0)}$ is just a harmonic oscillator. Note that both in the Killing tensors A_s and in the potentials $U_s^{(n,k)}$ the sign ε is present only at terms with odd powers of (x, x) which is clearly due to (5.5.13).

Let us now turn to the parabolic case m = n - 1. In this case the structure of the Killing tensors A_s in flat coordinates $(x^1, \ldots, x^{n-1}, r)$ is more complicated and attains the form

$$\begin{aligned} A_s^{ij} &= \frac{1}{4} \frac{\partial^2 \rho_{s-1}}{\partial \beta_i \partial \beta_j} x^i x^j, \quad i \neq j, \ i, \ j = 1, \dots, n-1, \\ A_s^{ii} &= -\varepsilon \frac{\partial \rho_s}{\partial \beta_i} - \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\substack{k=1 \ k \neq i}}^{n-1} \frac{\partial^2 \rho_{s-1}}{\partial \beta_i \partial \beta_k} (x^k)^2 - \varepsilon \frac{\partial \rho_{s-1}}{\partial \beta_i} r, \ i = 1, \dots, n-1, \\ A_s^{in} &= A_s^{ni} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial \rho_{s-1}}{\partial \beta_i} x^i, \ i = 1, \dots, n-1, \\ A_s^{nn} &= \rho_{s-1}(\beta), \end{aligned}$$

(again, with no summation over repeated indices) where $\rho_s = \rho_s^{(n-1)}(\beta_1, \dots, \beta_{n-1})$ is given by (5.5.3). Also in that case matrix elements of tensors A_s are quadratic functions of Cartesian coordinates.

We will now construct the potentials $U_s^{(n-1,k)}$. Let us slightly change the notation:

$$\Gamma_{s} = -\operatorname{diag}\left(\frac{\partial \rho_{s}^{(n-1)}}{\partial \beta_{1}}, \cdots, \frac{\partial \rho_{s}^{(n-1)}}{\partial \beta_{n-1}}\right) \quad s = 1, \dots, n$$
$$B = \operatorname{diag}(\beta_{1}, \dots, \beta_{n-1}),$$
$$W = r + \frac{1}{4}\varepsilon \left(x, B^{-1}x\right),$$

while (\cdot, \cdot) stands now for the standard scalar product in \mathbb{R}^{n-1} . In the above notation, where (5.5.16) reduces to

$$q^{i} = \rho_{i-1}r + \frac{1}{4}\varepsilon \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \frac{\partial \rho_{i-1}}{\partial \beta_{j}} (x^{j})^{2}, \ i = 1, \dots, n$$

we receive, after some calculations

$$\begin{split} U_{s}^{(n-1,3)} &= -\rho_{s-1}r^{3} + \frac{1}{4}\varepsilon\left(\Gamma_{s-1}x,x\right)r^{2} - \varepsilon\left(\frac{1}{2}\left(\Gamma_{s}x,x\right) - \frac{1}{4}\sum_{j=1}^{n-1}\rho_{s-j-1}(x,B^{j}x)\right)r \\ &+ \frac{1}{4}\varepsilon\left(\Gamma_{s}x,Bx\right) + \frac{1}{16}\left(\Gamma_{s-1}x,x\right)(x,x), \\ U_{s}^{(n-1,2)} &= \rho_{s-1}r^{2} - \frac{1}{4}\varepsilon\left(\Gamma_{s-1}x,x\right)r + \frac{1}{4}\varepsilon\left(\Gamma_{s}x,x\right), \\ U_{s}^{(n-1,1)} &= -\rho_{s-1}r + \frac{1}{4}\varepsilon\left(\Gamma_{s-1}x,x\right), \\ U_{s}^{(n-1,0)} &= \rho_{s-1}, \\ U_{s}^{(n-1,-1)} &= \frac{1}{W}\left(-\rho_{s-1} + \frac{1}{4}\varepsilon\left(\Gamma_{s-1}x,B^{-1}x\right)\right), \\ U_{s}^{(n-1,-2)} &= \frac{1}{W^{2}}\left(\rho_{s-1} + \frac{1}{4}\varepsilon\left(\Gamma_{s}x,B^{-2}x\right) - \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon\left(\Gamma_{s-1}x,B^{-1}x\right) + \frac{1}{4}\varepsilon\left(\Gamma_{s-1}x,B^{-2}x\right)r \\ &+ \frac{1}{16}\left(\Gamma_{s-2}x,B^{-1}x\right)\left(x,B^{-1}x\right) - \frac{1}{16}\left(\Gamma_{s-2}x,x\right)\left(x,B^{-2}x\right)\right), \end{split}$$

(with s = 1, ..., n) and again these formulas become quickly very complicated for a higher positive or negative k. In the particular case s = 1, since $\rho_0 = 1$, $\Gamma_1 = I$ and $\Gamma_0 = 0$ we get

$$\begin{split} U_1^{(n-1,4)} &= r^4 + \frac{3}{4}\varepsilon(x,x)r^2 - \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon(x,Bx)r + \frac{1}{4}\varepsilon(x,B^2x) + \frac{1}{16}(x,x)^2, \\ U_1^{(n-1,3)} &= -r^3 + \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon(x,x)r + \frac{1}{4}\varepsilon(x,Bx), \\ U_1^{(n-1,2)} &= r^2 + \frac{1}{4}\varepsilon(x,x), \\ U_1^{(n-1,1)} &= -r, \\ U_1^{(n-1,0)} &= 1, \\ U_1^{(n-1,-1)} &= -\frac{1}{W}, \\ U_1^{(n-1,-2)} &= \frac{1 + \frac{1}{4}\varepsilon\left(x,B^{-2}x\right)}{W^2}. \end{split}$$

Again, in the above formulas the sign ε is present only at terms with odd powers of (x, x). All these potentials are known as parabolic separable potentials.

For arbitrary $0 \le m \le n-2$ the form of the Killing tensors A_s is not so transparent and we will omit it here. Let us, however, present some results on separable potentials $U^{(m,k)}$. In the case m = 0 the variables are (r^1, \ldots, r^n) and $U_r^{(0,k)} = V_r^{(k)}$ where $V_r^{(k)}$ are functions of q^i given by (5.5.8)–(5.5.9). Thus,

remember that for m = 0 we have $q^i = a^i$ (5.5.12),

$$U^{(0,k)}(r) = V^{(k)}(r) = \begin{pmatrix} -a^{1} & 1 \\ -a^{2} & \ddots \\ \vdots & 1 \\ -a^{n} & 0 \cdots & 0 \end{pmatrix}^{k} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \vdots \\ 0 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}, \ k \in \mathbb{Z}$$

with

$$a_i = r_i + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} r_j r_{i-j}, \quad i = 1, \dots, n$$

and so the first nontrivial potential is $V^{(0,n)} = (-a_1(r), \ldots, -a_n(r))^T$.

The situation is much more complex for arbitrary m such that 0 < m < n - 1. Before we present some results in this generic case, let us introduce a notation similar to that from previous cases. We denote

$$\Gamma_s = -\operatorname{diag}\left(\frac{\partial \rho_s^{(m)}}{\partial \beta_1}, \cdots, \frac{\partial \rho_s^{(m)}}{\partial \beta_m}\right) \quad s = 1, \dots, m$$
$$B = \operatorname{diag}(\beta_1, \dots, \beta_m)$$

and to shorten the notation we denote $\rho_s^{(m)}(\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_m)$ by ρ_s . The variables are now $(x_1, \ldots, x_m, r_1 \ldots, r_{n-m})$ and (\cdot, \cdot) denotes the scalar product in \mathbb{R}^{n-m} . Introduce now the column vector of potentials $V^{(l)} = V^{(l)}(r_1, \ldots, r_{n-m})$ given by

$$V^{(l)}(r) = \begin{pmatrix} -a_1(r) & 1 \\ -a_2(r) & \ddots \\ \vdots & 1 \\ -a_{n-m}(r) & 0 \cdots & 0 \end{pmatrix}^l \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \vdots \\ 0 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}, \ l \in \mathbf{Z}$$

with

$$a^{i} = r^{i} + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} r^{j} r^{i-j}, \quad i = 1, \dots, n-m$$

so that the last trivial potential is $V^{(n-m-1)} = (1, ..., 0)^T$. After some calculations we obtain

$$U_{k}^{(m,n-m+2)} = \sum_{j=1}^{n-m} \rho_{k-j} V_{j}^{(n-m+2)}(r) + \frac{1}{4} \varepsilon \sum_{j=0}^{2} \left(\Gamma_{k-(n-m-j)}x, x \right) V_{1}^{(n-m+1-j)}(r)$$

$$U_{k}^{(m,n-m+1)} = \sum_{j=1}^{n-m} \rho_{k-j} V_{j}^{(n-m+1)}(r) + \frac{1}{4} \varepsilon \sum_{j=0}^{1} \left(\Gamma_{k-(n-m-j)}x, x \right) V_{1}^{(n-m-j)}(r)$$

$$U_{k}^{(m,n-m)} = \sum_{j=1}^{n-m} \rho_{k-j} V_{j}^{(n-m)}(r) + \frac{1}{4} \varepsilon \left(\Gamma_{k-(n-m)}x, x \right) V_{1}^{(n-m-1)}(r)$$

$$U_{k}^{(m,n-m-1)} = \rho_{k-1} V_{1}^{(n-m-1)}(r) = \text{const.}$$

$$\vdots$$

$$U_{k}^{(m,-1)} = \frac{-\sum_{j=1}^{n-m} \rho_{k-j} a_{j-1}(r) + \frac{1}{4} \varepsilon (\Gamma_{k-(n-m)}x, B^{-1}x)}{a_{n-m}(r) + \frac{1}{4} \varepsilon (x, B^{-1}x)}$$

$$\vdots$$

Potentials higher than $U_k^{(m,n-m+2)}$ as well as lower than $U_k^{(m,-1)}$ contain terms at least quadratic in (x, x) and are too complicated to present them in the explicit form.

The reader can find the case of complex roots β_j (5.5.2) in [192].

5.5.2 Flat Coordinates for Particular Degeneration

Our second case under consideration is represented by the separation curve in the form (5.5.1) with a maximal degeneracy of (5.5.2), given by $\beta_1 = \ldots = \beta_m = 0$, i.e.

$$H_1\lambda^{n-1} + H_2\lambda^{n-2} + \dots + H_n = \frac{1}{2}\lambda^m\mu^2 + \lambda^l, \quad l \in \mathbb{Z}, \quad n \in \mathbb{N}$$

with $B_m(\lambda) = \lambda^m$. Solving these equations for fixed *m* and *l* yields *n* functions denoted here by $H_r^{(m,l)}(\lambda, \mu)$. In this case, the passage to flat coordinates is as follows [44]. The first step of the construction is to perform the canonical transformation from the (λ, μ) to the Viète coordinates (q, p) (4.3.26)

$$q^i = \rho_i(\lambda), \quad p_i = -\sum_{k=1}^n (\lambda^k)^{n-i} \mu_k / \Delta_k, \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$

:

In the (q, p) coordinates flat metrics are (4.3.27)

$$(G_m)^{ij} = \begin{cases} q^{i+j+m-n-1}, & i, j = 1, \dots, n-m \\ -q^{i+j+m-n-1}, & i, j = n-m+1, \dots, n \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

where we set $q^0 = 1$, $q^k = 0$ for k < 0 or k > 0 and m = 0, ..., n.

At the second step, we fix the value of m and perform a canonical transformation from the (q, p) to the (r, s) coordinates:

$$q^{i} = r^{i} + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} r^{j} r^{i-j}, \quad i = 1, ..., n - m,$$

$$q^{i} = -\frac{1}{4} \sum_{j=i}^{n} r^{j} r^{n-j+i}, \quad i = n - m + 1, ..., n,$$

$$s_{k} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\partial q^{i}}{\partial r^{k}} p_{i}, \quad k = 1, ..., n.$$
(5.5.21)

It is straightforward to verify that for any given $m, 0 \le m \le n$, the metrics G_m in the coordinates r^i defined by (5.5.21) takes the form

$$(G_m)^{kl} = \left(\delta_{n-m+1}^{k+l} + \delta_{2n-m+1}^{k+l}\right).$$
(5.5.22)

Notice that although the canonical coordinates (r, s) are still nonorthogonal, the metric tensor G_m is constant in these coordinates. In order to bring G_m into a canonical form, with +1 and -1 at the diagonal and zeros off the diagonal, we must perform one more canonical transformation from flat not orthogonal coordinates (r, s) to pseudo-Euclidian coordinates (x, p_x) , defined as follows (here $d \equiv [(n - m)/2]$). For any given $m, 0 \le m \le n$, the transformation defined by the formulas

$$p_{x^{k}} = \frac{\partial r^{i}}{\partial x^{k}} s_{i}, \quad k = 1, ..., n,$$

$$r^{i} = (x^{i} + x^{n-i+1})/\sqrt{2}, \quad i = 1, ..., d,$$

$$r^{i} = (x^{n-m-i+1} - x^{m+i})/\sqrt{2}, \quad i = n - m - d + 1, ..., n - m,$$

$$r^{i} = (x^{i-n+m+d} + x^{2n-m-d-i+1})/\sqrt{2}, \quad i = n - m + 1, ..., n - m + [m/2],$$

$$r^{i} = (x^{n+1+d-i} - x^{i-d})/\sqrt{2}, \quad i = n + 1 - [m/2], ..., n,$$
if $n - m$ is odd and m is even then $r^{d+1} = x^{d+[m/2]+1},$
if $n - m$ is even and m is odd then $r^{n-m+[m/2]+1} = x^{d+[m/2]+1},$
if both $n - m$ and m are odd then $r^{d+1} = x^{d+[m/2]+1}, r^{n-m+[m/2]+1} = x^{d+[m/2]+2}$

brings the metrics G_m into the form

$$G_m^{ij} = \begin{cases} +1, \text{ if } i = j \text{ and } i = 1, \dots, n - [(n-m)/2] - [m/2], \\ -1, \text{ if } i = j \text{ and } i = n - [(n-m)/2] - [m/2] + 1, \dots, n, \\ 0 \text{ otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

and we have

$$H_1^{(m,l)} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n-d-[m/2]} p_{x_j}^2 - \sum_{j=n-d-[m/2]+1}^n p_{x_j}^2 \right) + V_1^{(l)}, \quad m = 0, \dots, n.$$

As a final remark notice that the metrics G_m , m = 0, ..., n, are in general pseudo-Euclidean with the signature

$$(n_+, n_-) = \left(n - \left[\frac{n-m}{2}\right] - \left[\frac{m}{2}\right], \left[\frac{n-m}{2}\right] + \left[\frac{m}{2}\right]\right).$$

Example 5.20 Let us illustrate our results for n = 4 [44]. In the (q, p) coordinates we have

$$G_{0} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & q^{1} \\ 0 & 1 & q^{1} & q^{2} \\ 1 & q^{1} & q^{2} & q^{3} \end{pmatrix}, G_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & q^{1} & 0 \\ 1 & q^{1} & q^{2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -q^{4} \end{pmatrix}, G_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & q^{1} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -q^{3} & -q^{4} \\ 0 & 0 & -q^{4} & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
$$G_{3} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -q^{2} & -q^{3} & -q^{4} \\ 0 & -q^{3} & -q^{4} & 0 \\ 0 & -q^{4} & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, G_{4} = \begin{pmatrix} -q^{1} & -q^{2} & -q^{3} & -q^{4} \\ -q^{2} & -q^{3} & -q^{4} & 0 \\ -q^{3} & -q^{4} & 0 & 0 \\ -q^{4} & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

with the simplest nontrivial potentials being

$$V_1^{(-3)} = (q^2 q^4 - (q^3)^2)/(q^4)^3, \quad V_1^{(-2)} = q^3/(q^4)^2, \quad V_1^{(-1)} = 1/q^4, \quad V_1^{(4)} = -q^1,$$

$$V_1^{(5)} = -q^2 + (q^1)^2, \quad V_1^{(6)} = -q^3 + 2q^1 q^2 - (q^1)^3, \quad V_1^{(7)} = -q^4 + 2q^1 q^3 + (q^2)^2 - 3(q^1)^2 q^2 + (q^1)^4.$$

For m = 0 in the (r, y) coordinates we have

$$q^{1} = r^{1}, \quad q^{2} = \frac{1}{4}(r^{1})^{2} + r^{2}, \quad q^{3} = \frac{1}{2}r^{1}r^{2} + r^{3}, \quad q^{4} = \frac{1}{2}r^{1}r^{3} + \frac{1}{4}(r^{2})^{2} + r^{4},$$
$$G_{0} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

while in the (x, p_x) coordinates

$$\begin{aligned} q^{1} &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(x^{1} + x^{4} \right), \quad q^{2} = \frac{1}{8} \left(x^{1} + x^{4} \right)^{2} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(x^{2} + x^{3} \right), \\ q^{3} &= \frac{1}{4} \left(x^{1}x^{2} + x^{1}x^{3} + x^{4}x^{2} + x^{4}x^{3} \right) + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(x^{2} - x^{3} \right), \\ q^{4} &= \frac{1}{4} \left(x^{1}x^{2} - x^{1}x^{3} + x^{4}x^{2} - x^{4}x^{3} \right) + \frac{1}{8} \left(x^{2} + x^{3} \right)^{2} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(x^{1} - x^{4} \right), \\ G_{0} &= \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \end{aligned}$$

and, for instance, the Hamiltonian $H_1^{(0,6)}$ reads

$$\begin{aligned} H_1^{(0,6)} &= \frac{1}{2} \left(p_{x^1}^2 + p_{x^2}^2 - p_{x^3}^2 - p_{x^4}^2 \right) + \frac{3}{4} \left(x^1 x^2 + x^1 x^3 + x^4 x^2 + x^4 x^3 \right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(x^3 - x^2 \right) - \frac{1}{4\sqrt{2}} \left(x^1 + x^4 \right)^3. \end{aligned}$$

For another choice m = n - 1 = 3 in the (r, s) coordinates we obtain

$$q^{1} = r^{1}, \ q^{2} = -\frac{1}{4}(r^{3})^{2} - \frac{1}{2}r^{2}r^{4}, \ q^{3} = -\frac{1}{2}r^{3}r^{4}, \ q^{4} = -\frac{1}{4}(r^{4})^{2},$$
$$G_{3} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0\\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

and in the (x, p_x) coordinates we have

$$q^{1} = x^{2}, \quad q^{2} = -\frac{1}{4} \left((x^{1})^{2} + (z)^{2} - (x^{4})^{2} \right), \quad q^{3} = -\frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}} x^{3} \left(x^{1} - x^{4} \right),$$
$$q^{4} = -\frac{1}{8} \left(x^{1} - x^{4} \right)^{2},$$
$$G_{3} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 - 1 \end{pmatrix},$$

and, for example, the Hamiltonian $H_1^{(3,6)}$ takes the form

$$\begin{split} H_1^{(3,6)} &= \frac{1}{2} \left(p_{x^1}^2 + p_{x^2}^2 + p_{x^3}^2 - p_{x^4}^2 \right) - \frac{1}{2} \left((x^1)^2 + 2(x^2)^2 + (x^3)^2 - (x^4)^2 \right) x^2 \\ &+ \frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}} \left(x^1 - x^4 \right) x^3. \end{split}$$

5.5.3 Stäckel Transform in Flat Coordinates

In a few previous subsections the explicit transformation to flat coordinates was presented for separable systems from Benenti class (5.5.1) with flat metrics. In fact, using Stäckel transform (4.4.17), we can write down any Stäckel system (4.3.2) in these coordinates. We will illustrate the whole procedure for a few particular cases.

First, let us analyze the construction of systems from Benenti class when the metric $G \equiv A_1$ is non-flat. In fact we have to construct the geodesic parts as potentials do not depend on the metric tensor and are constructed according to (5.5.8), (5.5.9).

Example 5.21 As the first example let us consider a pseudo-Euclidean space $E^{2,1}$ with signature (+ + -) and flat non-orthogonal coordinates (r^1, r^2, r^3) such that

$$\bar{g} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then, consider the following Stäckel geodesic system on $T^*E^{2,1}$

$$\begin{split} \bar{T}_1 &= \bar{G}^{ij} s_i s_j = s_1 s_3 + \frac{1}{2} s_2^2, \\ \bar{T}_2 &= (\bar{K}_2 \bar{G})^{ij} s_i s_j = \frac{1}{8} (r^1)^2 s_1^2 - \frac{1}{4} r^1 r^3 s_2^2 + \frac{1}{8} (r^3)^2 s_3^2 + \left(\frac{1}{4} r^1 r^2 + 1\right) s_1 s_2 \\ &- \frac{1}{4} \left(r^1 r^3 + (r^2)^2 \right) s_1 s_3 - \frac{1}{4} r^2 r^3 s_2 s_3, \\ \bar{T}_3 &= (\bar{K}_3 \bar{G})^{ij} s_i s_j = \left(\frac{1}{4} r^1 r^2 + \frac{1}{2}\right) s_1^2 - \frac{1}{4} r^1 r^3 s_1 s_2 - \frac{1}{4} r^2 r^3 s_1 s_3 + \frac{1}{4} (r^3)^2 s_2 s_3. \end{split}$$

One can check that $\{\overline{T}_i, \overline{T}_j\} = 0$. The transformation to separation coordinates (λ, μ) is generated by (5.5.21)

$$\lambda^{1} + \lambda^{2} + \lambda^{3} = \frac{1}{2}r^{1}r^{3} + \frac{1}{4}(r^{2})^{2},$$

$$\lambda^{1}\lambda^{2} + \lambda^{1}\lambda^{3} + \lambda^{2}\lambda^{3} = -\frac{1}{2}r^{2}r^{3},$$

$$\lambda^{1}\lambda^{2}\lambda^{3} = \frac{1}{4}(r^{3})^{2}$$

(5.5.23)

and the related separation curve is

$$\bar{T}_1\lambda^2 + \bar{T}_2\lambda + \bar{T}_3 = \frac{1}{2}\lambda^3\mu^2.$$

The recursion matrix F (5.5.9) in *r*-coordinates is

$$F = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2}r^{1}r^{3} + \frac{1}{4}(r^{2})^{2} & 1 & 0\\ \frac{1}{2}r^{2}r^{3} & 0 & 1\\ \frac{1}{4}(r^{3})^{2} & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

so separable potentials $\bar{V}_r^{(k)}$ are given by (4.3.22). For example, the first nontrivial potential is

$$\bar{V}^{(3)} = F^3 \bar{V}^{(0)} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2}r^1 r^3 + \frac{1}{4}(r^2)^2 \\ \frac{1}{2}r^2 r^3 \\ \frac{1}{4}(r^3)^2 \end{pmatrix}$$

and the separation curve for Hamiltonians $\bar{H}_i = \bar{T}_i + \bar{V}_i^{(k)}$, i = 1, 2, 3, takes the form

$$\bar{H}_1\lambda^2 + \bar{H}_2\lambda + \bar{H}_3 = \frac{1}{2}\lambda^3\mu^2 + \lambda^k.$$

Now, let us consider the following Stäckel transform

$$\bar{H}_1\lambda^2 + \bar{H}_2\lambda + \bar{H}_3 = \frac{1}{2}\lambda^3\mu^2 + \lambda^{r-s+3}$$

$$\downarrow R(F) = F^{s-3}$$

$$H_1\lambda^2 + H_2\lambda + H_3 = \frac{1}{2}\lambda^s\mu^2 + \lambda^r$$

so, $H = F^{s-3}\overline{H}$ and in particular, for s = 4 and r = 4, we have for $H_i = T_i + V_i^{(4)}$

$$T_{1} = \frac{1}{8}(r^{1})^{2}s_{1}^{2} + \frac{1}{8}(r^{2})^{2}s_{2}^{2} + \frac{1}{8}(r^{3})^{2}s_{3}^{2} + \left(\frac{1}{4}r^{1}r^{2} + 1\right)s_{1}s_{2} + \frac{1}{4}r^{1}r^{3}s_{1}s_{3} + \frac{1}{4}r^{2}r^{3}s_{2}s_{3},$$

$$T_{2} = \left(\frac{1}{4}r^{1}r^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\right)s_{1}^{2} + \frac{1}{4}r^{2}r^{3}s_{2}^{2} - \frac{1}{4}r^{1}r^{3}s_{1}s_{2} + \frac{1}{4}r^{2}r^{3}s_{1}s_{3} + \frac{1}{4}(r^{3})^{2}s_{2}s_{3},$$

$$T_{3} = \frac{1}{4}(r^{3})^{2}s_{1}s_{3} + \frac{1}{8}(r^{3})^{2}s_{2}^{2}$$

and

$$\begin{split} V_1^{(4)} &= \frac{1}{4} (r^1)^2 (r^3)^2 + \frac{1}{4} r^1 (r^2)^2 r^3 + \frac{1}{16} (r^2)^4 + \frac{1}{2} r^2 r^3 \\ V_2^{(4)} &= \frac{1}{4} r^1 r^2 (r^3)^2 + \frac{1}{8} (r^2)^3 r^3 + \frac{1}{4} (r^3)^2, \\ V_3^{(4)} &= \frac{1}{16} (r^3)^2 \left(2 r^1 r^3 + (r^2)^2 \right). \end{split}$$

Of course, again canonical transformation generated by (5.5.23) is a transformation to separation coordinates.

Now we present how to construct in Euclidean coordinates and conjugate momenta systems from the subclass given by the separation curve of the form

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \bar{H}_{j} \lambda^{n-j} = \frac{1}{2} f(\lambda) \mu^{2} + \sigma(\lambda) = B_{n+1}(\lambda) \left(\frac{1}{2} \mu^{2} + \lambda^{k}\right), \quad m \in \mathbf{N}, k \in \mathbf{Z}$$
(5.5.24)

where

$$B_{n+1}(\lambda) = \prod_{j=1}^{n+1} \left(\lambda - \beta_j\right)$$

is a real polynomial of order n + 1 in λ with real roots β_j . As was mentioned in the previous subsection, in this case the metric tensor (5.5.5) is of constant curvature while Euclidean coordinates are flat orthogonal coordinates for systems described by a separation curve (5.5.1) with m = n. Hence, according to (4.4.19)

$$H = R(F)H = (F - \beta_{n+1}I)H$$

and in particular

_

$$H_k = -\rho_k H_1 - \beta_{n+1} H_k + H_{k+1}, \quad k = 1, \dots, n.$$

Using formulas (5.5.19), (5.5.20) and the following relation between Viète polynomials (5.5.3)

$$-\beta_{n+1}\rho_k^{(n)} + \rho_{k+1}^{(n)} = \rho_{k+1}^{(n+1)}$$

tensors A_k of the geodesic part take in Euclidean coordinates the form

$$A_{s}^{ij} = \frac{1}{4} \frac{\partial^{2} \rho_{s+1}^{(n+1)}}{\partial \beta_{i} \partial \beta_{j}} x^{i} x^{j}, \quad i \neq j$$

$$A_{s}^{ii} = -\varepsilon \frac{\partial \rho_{s+1}^{(n+1)}}{\partial \beta_{i}} - \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\substack{k=1\\k\neq i}}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial \beta_{k}} \left(\rho_{s}^{(n)} + \frac{\partial \rho_{s+1}^{(n+1)}}{\partial \beta_{i}} \right) (x^{k})^{2}$$

Example 5.22 Neumann system for n = 3. Relations (5.5.24) for $\sigma(\lambda) = c\lambda^n$ are separation relations for the Neumann system [25, 204, 218, 223] well known from the analytical mechanics. Hence, according to our considerations, three commuting Hamiltonians of the three dimensional Neumann system written in Euclidean

coordinates (x, y, z)

$$H_r = \frac{1}{2} A_r^{ij} p_i p_j + V_r, \quad r = 1, 2, 3$$

are given by

$$\begin{split} A_{1} &= \frac{1}{4} \begin{pmatrix} x^{2} xy xz \\ xy y^{2} yz \\ xz yz z^{2} \end{pmatrix} - \varepsilon \begin{pmatrix} \beta_{2} + \beta_{3} + \beta_{4} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \beta_{1} + \beta_{3} + \beta_{4} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \beta_{1} + \beta_{2} + \beta_{4} \end{pmatrix} \\ A_{2} &= -\frac{1}{4} \begin{pmatrix} (\beta_{2} + \beta_{3})x^{2} & (\beta_{3} + \beta_{4})xy & (\beta_{2} + \beta_{4})xz \\ (\beta_{3} + \beta_{4})xy & (\beta_{1} + \beta_{3})y^{2} & (\beta_{1} + \beta_{4})yz \\ (\beta_{3} + \beta_{4})xz & (\beta_{1} + \beta_{3})y^{2} & (\beta_{1} + \beta_{4})z^{2} \\ (\beta_{2} + \beta_{4})xz & (\beta_{1} + \beta_{4})yz & (\beta_{1} + \beta_{3})z^{2} \\ (\beta_{2} + \beta_{4})xz & (\beta_{1} + \beta_{4})yz & (\beta_{1} + \beta_{3})z^{2} \\ (\beta_{2} + \beta_{4})xz & (\beta_{1} + \beta_{4})yz & +(\beta_{3} - \beta_{4})(x^{2} + y^{2}) \end{pmatrix} \\ &+ \varepsilon \begin{pmatrix} \beta_{2}\beta_{3} + \beta_{2}\beta_{4} + \beta_{3}\beta_{4} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \beta_{1}\beta_{3} + \beta_{1}\beta_{4} + \beta_{3}\beta_{4} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \beta_{1}\beta_{2} + \beta_{1}\beta_{4} + \beta_{2}\beta_{4} \end{pmatrix} \\ &A_{3} &= \frac{1}{4} \begin{pmatrix} (\beta_{2}\beta_{3})x^{2} & (\beta_{1}\beta_{3})y^{2} & \beta_{3}\beta_{4}xy & \beta_{2}\beta_{4}yz \\ +(\beta_{1}\beta_{2} - \beta_{2}\beta_{4})z^{2} & (\beta_{1}\beta_{3})y^{2} & \beta_{3}\beta_{4}xy & \beta_{2}\beta_{4}yz \\ +(\beta_{1}\beta_{2} - \beta_{3}\beta_{4})y^{2} & \beta_{3}\beta_{4}xy & (\beta_{2}\beta_{3} - \beta_{2}\beta_{4})x^{2} \\ \beta_{2}\beta_{4}xz & \beta_{1}\beta_{4}yz & +(\beta_{2}\beta_{3} - \beta_{2}\beta_{4})x^{2} \\ +(\beta_{1}\beta_{3} - \beta_{1}\beta_{4})y^{2} & (\beta_{1}\beta_{3})\beta_{4} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \beta_{1}\beta_{2}\beta_{4} \end{pmatrix} \\ &- \varepsilon \begin{pmatrix} \beta_{2}\beta_{3}\beta_{4} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \beta_{1}\beta_{3}\beta_{4} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \beta_{1}\beta_{2}\beta_{4} \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix} \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} V_1 &= -\frac{1}{4} \varepsilon c \left[x^2 + y^2 + z^2 \right], \\ V_2 &= \frac{1}{4} \varepsilon c \left[(\beta_2 + \beta_3) x^2 + (\beta_1 + \beta_3) y^2 + (\beta_1 + \beta_2) z^2 \right], \\ V_3 &= -\frac{1}{4} \varepsilon c \left[\beta_2 \beta_3 x^2 + \beta_1 \beta_3 y^2 + \beta_1 \beta_2 z^2 \right]. \end{split}$$

Now let us consider the Stäckel transform (4.4.20) in flat coordinates. Again we illustrate the method using the example of a system with three degrees of freedom.

Example 5.23 Consider the Stäckel system for n = 3 given by the separation curve of the form

$$H_1\lambda^2 + H_2\lambda + H_3 = \frac{1}{2}\lambda\mu^2 + \lambda^4$$
 (5.5.25)

and flat coordinates (r^1, r^2, r^3) defined by (cf. 5.5.21)

$$\rho_1 = -\left(\lambda^1 + \lambda^2 + \lambda^3\right) = r^1$$
$$\rho_2 = \lambda^1 \lambda^2 + \lambda^1 \lambda^3 + \lambda^2 \lambda^3 = r^2 + \frac{1}{4} (r^1)^2$$
$$\rho_3 = -\lambda^1 \lambda^2 \lambda^3 = -\frac{1}{4} (r^3)^2.$$

Solving the relations (5.5.25) with respect to the Hamiltonians H_i and passing to the variables r^i we receive $H_r = A_r^{ij} s_i s_j + V_r(r)$, where y_i are momenta conjugate to r^i , where the tensors A_r have the form

$$A_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad A_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \frac{1}{2}r^{1} & 0 \\ \frac{1}{2}r^{1} & -r^{2} & -\frac{1}{2}r^{3} \\ 0 & -\frac{1}{2}r^{3} & r^{1} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$A_{3} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & -\frac{1}{2}r^{3} \\ 0 & \frac{1}{4}(r^{3})^{2} & -\frac{1}{4}r^{1}r^{3} \\ -\frac{1}{2}r^{3} & -\frac{1}{4}r^{1}r^{3} & \frac{1}{4}(r^{1})^{2} + r^{2} \end{pmatrix}$$

and respective potentials are

$$V_1 = -\frac{3}{4}(r^1)^2 + r^2$$

$$V_2 = -\frac{1}{4}(r^1)^3 - r^1r^2 - \frac{1}{4}(r^3)^2$$

$$V_3 = \frac{1}{4}r^1(r^3)^2.$$

According to (4.4.28), the Stäckel transform to Hamiltonians \bar{H}_i from separation curve

$$\bar{H}_1\lambda_i^3 + \bar{H}_2\lambda_i + \bar{H}_3 = \frac{1}{2}\lambda_i\mu_i^2 + \lambda_i^4, \ i = 1, 2, 3$$

is given by

$$\bar{H}_1 = -\frac{1}{\rho_1}H_1, \quad \bar{H}_2 = H_2 - \frac{\rho_2}{\rho_1}H_1, \quad \bar{H}_3 = H_3 - \frac{\rho_3}{\rho_1}H_1.$$

Hence, we obtain

$$A_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\frac{1}{r^{1}} & 0 \\ -\frac{1}{r^{1}} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -\frac{1}{r^{1}} \end{pmatrix}, \quad A_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \frac{1}{4}r^{1} - \frac{r^{2}}{r^{1}} & 0 \\ \frac{1}{4}r^{1} - \frac{r^{2}}{r^{1}} & -r^{2} & -\frac{1}{2}r^{3} \\ 0 & -\frac{1}{2}r^{3} & \frac{3}{4}r^{1} - \frac{r^{2}}{r^{1}} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$A_{3} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{1}{4} \frac{(r^{3})^{2}}{r^{1}} & -\frac{1}{2}r^{3} \\ \frac{1}{4} \frac{(r^{3})^{2}}{r^{1}} & \frac{1}{4}(r^{3})^{2} & -\frac{1}{4}r^{1}r^{3} \\ -\frac{1}{2}r^{3} & -\frac{1}{4}r^{1}r^{3} & \frac{1}{4}(r^{1})^{2} + r^{2} + \frac{1}{4}\frac{(r^{3})^{2}}{r^{1}} \end{pmatrix}$$

with the corresponding potentials

$$V_1(x) = -\frac{3}{4}r^1 + \frac{r^2}{r^1}$$

$$V_2(x) = \frac{1}{16}(r^1)^3 + \frac{1}{2}r^1r^2 + \frac{1}{4}(r^3)^2 + \frac{(r^2)^2}{r^1}$$

$$V_3(x) = -\frac{1}{16}r^1(r^3)^2 - \frac{1}{4}\frac{r^2(r^3)^2}{r^1}.$$

In Sect. 8.2 we will demonstrate how to quantize all systems constructed in this section in a way preserving quantum separability.

Chapter 6 Deformation Theory of Classical Poisson Algebras



Classical physics explains matter and energy on a scale familiar to human experience, including the behavior of astronomical bodies. It remains the key to measurement for much of modern science and technology. However, toward the end of the nineteenth century, scientists discovered phenomena in both the large (macro) and the small (micro) worlds that classical physics could not explain. It means for example, that for a proper description of conservative dynamics in micro-scale the classical Hamiltonian mechanics has to be modified (deformed) to a new theory whose predictions are in agreement with experiments in micro-scale of atoms and molecules. Summarizing experimental results from that level we observe that on the microscopic level the classical uncertainty relations (3.3.15) are violated and have to be modified to a new *quantum uncertainty relations*

$$\Delta x^i \Delta p_j \ge \frac{1}{2}\hbar \delta^i_j, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, n$$
(6.0.1)

where \hbar is a fundamental constant (the Planck constant) determined in a physical experiment. This is a fundamental change compared to classical mechanics, where the only source of different from zero uncertainty is our limited knowledge of the system. In a quantum system, different from zero uncertainty follows directly from the physical nature of the system itself.

From our previous consideration it is clear that the modern classical Hamiltonian mechanics is formulated on the Poisson manifold in a coordinate free way. So, it is natural to formulate its quantum modification on a quantum analog of the Poisson manifold (symplectic manifold in particular) and obviously in a coordinate free way as well. Such a theory cannot be formulated from the very beginning in a Riemannian space (the Euclidean space in particular) as a priori such a structure does not exist in a classical Poisson geometry. On the other hand, as we know from previous chapters, one can adopt various Riemannian geometries to a given Poisson geometry, identifying the phase space with cotangent bundle to a chosen Riemannian basic space (configuration space). In consequence, on the quantum

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

M. Błaszak, Quantum versus Classical Mechanics and Integrability Problems, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-18379-0_6

level, we also expect to construct respective Riemannian representations of the quantum Hamiltonian mechanics, which will reduce in the case of the Euclidean space and Cartesian coordinates to a standard formulation of quantum mechanics from many textbooks.

6.1 Star-Algebras

In this section we construct in a systematic way star-algebras and related quantum Poisson algebras which are admissible from the point of view of our quantization assumption (6.0.1). On an appropriate symplectic manifolds we derive star-products in vector representation, covariant representation and integral representation, respectively. We present a detailed discussion on equivalence of the constructed star-algebras and the explicit form of the related morphisms.

6.1.1 Preliminaries

One of the admissible realizations of the quantization procedure is deformation quantization developed in [11–13]. Their work was based on earlier works of Weyl [260, 261], Wigner [263], Groenewold [140], Moyal [205] and Berezin [19–21] on the physical side and of Gerstenhaber [125–129] and Gerstenhaber and Schack [130] deformation theory of associatives algebras on the mathematical side (see also later papers of Bordemann et. al [53–57]). Since then many efforts have been made in order to develop the phase space quantum mechanics [54, 59, 74, 75, 80, 81, 83, 90–92, 111, 152, 153, 207, 213, 236, 256, 269, 270], see also [96, 142, 143] for recent reviews. In this approach quantum mechanics is formulated as a deformation of classical mechanics. Such a procedure results in a quantum theory described in a geometric language similar to that of its classical counterpart. This allows the introduction of many concepts from the classical theory like trajectories, observables or states into quantum mechanics. Moreover, the formalism of deformation quantization gives a smooth passage from the classical to quantum theory, which makes it easy to investigate the classical limit of quantum mechanics.

The main element of deformation quantization is a formal deformation of a Poisson algebra $C^{\infty}(M)$ of smooth complex-valued functions defined on a phase space M (symplectic manifold). The formal deformation procedure is based on the Gerstenhaber's theory of deformation of rings and algebras [126]. Let $\mathbb{C}[[v]]$ and $C^{\infty}(M)[[v]]$ denote the ring of formal power series in a parameter v with coefficients in \mathbb{C} and $C^{\infty}(M)$, respectively. The space $C^{\infty}(M)[[v]]$ is a $\mathbb{C}[[v]]$ -module. A *star-product* on a symplectic manifold $(M, \omega = \pi^{-1})$ is defined as a bilinear map

$$C^{\infty}(M) \times C^{\infty}(M) \to C^{\infty}(M)[[\nu]], \quad (f,g) \mapsto f \star g = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \nu^k C_k(f,g),$$
(6.1.1)

which extends $\mathbb{C}[[\nu]]$ -linearly to $C^{\infty}(M)[[\nu]] \times C^{\infty}(M)[[\nu]]$, with the following properties

- 1. C_k are bi-differential operators,
- 2. $(f \star g) \star h = f \star (g \star h)$ (associativity),
- 3. $C_0(f,g) = fg, C_1(f,g) C_1(g,f) = \{f,g\}_{\pi},$

4.
$$1 \star f = f \star 1 = f$$
.

Then, a deformed Poisson bracket is defined by the formula

$$\llbracket f, g \rrbracket_{\star} := \frac{1}{\nu} [f, g]_{\star} = \frac{1}{\nu} (f \star g - g \star f), \tag{6.1.2}$$

and a formal involution as an anti-linear map

$$C^{\infty}(M) \to C^{\infty}(M)\llbracket \nu \rrbracket, \quad f \mapsto f^* = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \nu^k B_k(f), \tag{6.1.3}$$

extending $\mathbb{C}[\![\nu]\!]$ -anti-linearly to $C^{\infty}(M)[\![\nu]\!]$, where

- 1. B_k are anti-linear operators,
- 2. $(f \star g)^* = g^* \star f^*$,
- 3. $(f^*)^* = f$,
- 4. $B_0(f) = \bar{f}$.

From the above definitions it follows that the \star -product, the quantum Poisson bracket $[\![\cdot, \cdot]\!]_{\star}$, and involution \ast are deformations of the point-wise product of functions \cdot , Poisson bracket $\{\cdot, \cdot\}_{\pi}$, and complex-conjugation:

$$f \star g = fg + o(v),$$

$$\llbracket f, g \rrbracket_{\star} = \{f, g\}_{\pi} + o(v),$$

$$f^* = \bar{f} + o(v).$$
(6.1.4)

On the other hand, the associativity of the \star -product implies the following relations that the bi-differential operators C_k have to satisfy

$$\sum_{n=0}^{k} \left(C_n(C_{k-n}(f,g),h) - C_n(f,C_{k-n}(g,h)) \right) = 0, \quad k = 1, 2, \dots$$

Moreover, in what follows the deformation parameter ν will be chosen in the form $i\hbar$ in order to make the presented theory compatible with quantum uncertainty relations (6.0.1).
For our further considerations star-products of the following form are particularly interesting

$$f \star g = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{i\hbar}{2}\right)^k C_k(f,g), \qquad (6.1.5)$$

which beside the conditions (1-4) from definition (6.1.1) fulfill additionally the following ones

1.
$$C_k(f,g) = (-1)^k C_k(g, f),$$

2. $\overline{C_k(f,g)} = C_k(\bar{f}, \bar{g}),$
3. $\int_M C_k(f,g) d\Omega = 0$ for $f, g \in C_0^{\infty}(M)$ and $k = 1, 2, ...$

 $C_0^{\infty}(M)$ denotes the space of smooth compactly supported functions on M, and $d\Omega$ is the Liouville measure induced by the Liouville form Ω_{ω} . Conditions 1 and 2 imply that like in the classical case, the complex-conjugation is a proper involution, and from condition 3 follows that the \star -product under the integral sign reduces to the ordinary point-wise product

$$\int_{M} f \star g \, d\Omega = \int_{M} fg \, d\Omega, \quad f, g \in C_{0}^{\infty}(M).$$
(6.1.6)

However, we will not limit ourselves only to star-products of the form (6.1.5) and we will also consider other star-products, in particular, those for which an involution differs from the complex-conjugation.

The symplectic manifold M is completely described by the Poisson algebra $C^{\infty}(M)$, hence the deformation of the Poisson algebra can be though of as a deformation of a geometrical structure of the symplectic manifold M. Thus by the deformation of $C^{\infty}(M)$ to some non-commutative algebra we can think of it as describing a non-commutative symplectic manifold.

From a historical point of view, the existence of a star-product on the arbitrary symplectic manifold was first proved in 1983 by De Wilde and Lecomte [84]. Later Fedosov [118] and Omori [213], independently, gave a proof of the existence of a star-product on a symplectic manifold using the framework of Weyl bundles. Finally, in 1997, Kontsevich [172] proved the existence of a star-product on the arbitrary Poisson manifold.

Let \star and \star' be two star-products on a symplectic manifold (M, ω) . Both starproducts are said to be equivalent if there exists a series

$$S = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} v^k S_k, \quad S_0 = \mathrm{id},$$
 (6.1.7)

where S_k are differential operators on $C^{\infty}(M)$, such that

$$S(f \star g) = Sf \star' Sg. \tag{6.1.8}$$

On the other hand, having a star-product on (M, ω) and a morphism (6.1.7) one can define a new star-product on (M, ω) by the formula (6.1.8). One can check that the new star-product indeed satisfies conditions 1–4 from the definition of a star-product.

From the mathematical point of view the study of equivalences of star-products was described in the language of Hochschild cohomologies [126]. The relation of equivalence of star-products is an equivalence relation, so the set of all starproducts on any symplectic manifold is divided into disjoint equivalence classes. Due to results of Nest and Tsygan [210], Bertelson et al. [22] and Deligne [86], the equivalence classes of star-products on a symplectic manifold *M* are parametrized by formal series of elements from the second de Rham cohomology group of *M*, i.e. $H^2(M; \mathbb{C})[[\nu]]$. In particular, on a symplectic manifold *M* for which the second de Rham cohomology group $H^2(M; \mathbb{C})$ vanishes all star-products are equivalent.

If we choose a coordinate system on a domain $\mathcal{O} \subset M$ of the Poisson manifold M, then a given star-product can be written locally in this coordinate system. The simplest case is when a coordinate representation of the star-product is in the form of a Moyal star-product (6.1.33) [205]. To each star-product corresponds a particular class of coordinate systems, namely quantum canonical coordinate systems. Coordinates which are canonical with respect to a one star-product do not have to be canonical with respect to the other star-product. If $\mathcal{O} \subset M$ is a domain of a coordinate system $\varphi \colon \mathcal{O} \to \mathbb{R}^{2N}$ then equivalence classes of star-products written in these coordinates are parametrized by elements of $H^2(\mathcal{O}; \mathbb{C})[[\hbar]]$. The Moyal star-product is in one of these classes. Let us denote this class by $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{O}, \varphi)$. So every star-product on M whose coordinate representation with respect to the coordinate chart (\mathcal{O}, φ) is in the class $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{O}, \varphi)$ is locally equivalent with the Moyal star-product. For part of these star-products, the coordinates (\mathcal{O}, φ) are quantum canonical (see (6.1.15)), like for the Moyal product. We will denote the class of such star-products by $\mathcal{S}_{qc}(\mathcal{O}, \varphi)$.

The star-products in $S_{qc}(\mathcal{O}, \varphi)$ will be used to perform nonequivalent quantizations of the classical Hamiltonian system. For this reason the knowledge of morphisms relating the star-products in $S_{qc}(\mathcal{O}, \varphi)$ with the Moyal product can help in establishing the relations between the received nonequivalent quantizations. Moreover, the fact that these star-products are equivalent with the Moyal product is useful when constructing particular realizations of quantizations. For this reason we will need an explicit form of *S* which will be constructed order by order. Fortunately, for classical Hamiltonian functions polynomial in momenta, the *h*-expansion of *S* has only the finite number of terms which will give the non-zero contribution when acting on such functions. For instance, we will show that to calculate the action of *S* on functions at most cubic in momenta we only need *S* to the second order in *h*.

Let (M, ω, H) be a classical Hamiltonian system. Such a system can be quantized in the framework of deformation quantization. Actually, the classical

Poisson algebra $\mathcal{A}_C = (C^{\infty}(M), \cdot, \{\cdot, \cdot\}, -)$ is deformed to a *quantum Poisson* algebra $\mathcal{A}_{O} = (C^{\infty}(M)[[\nu]], \star, [[\cdot, \cdot]], *)$, with the deformation parameter $\nu = i\hbar$. In analogy to classical case, elements of $C^{\infty}(M)[[v]]$, self-adjoint with respect to the involution * from \mathcal{A}_{Ω} form the set of admissible *quantum observables*. So, like on the classical level, an observable corresponds to every measurable quantity. The correspondence between measurable quantities and self-adjoint elements of $C^{\infty}(M)[[v]]$ is fixed by the particular choice of quantization, so can vary depending on the chosen quantization. What is important, quantum observables do not have to coincide with functions in the classical case and in general they will be an \hbar -deformations of classical observables. They do not even have to be real valued if for the considered quantization the involution from \mathcal{A}_{O} is not the complexconjugation. Note that to each classical observable corresponds the whole family of quantum observables, related to various admissible quantizations, which will reduce to the same classical observable in the classical limit. It means that if A_C is a classical observable then the related quantum observables corresponding to it are of the form

$$A_Q = A_C + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \hbar^k A_k$$

for some functions $A_k \in C^{\infty}(M)$.

On a mathematical level there is no way of telling which assignment of measurable quantities to elements of $C^{\infty}(M)[[\hbar]]$ is appropriate for a given starproduct. This can be only verified through experiment, i.e. on a physical level. On the other hand, there is a very restrictive number of known physical quantum systems, being counterparts of some classical systems. They are mainly described by the so called natural Hamiltonians

$$H(x, p) = \frac{1}{2}G^{ij}(x)p_i p_j + V(x),$$

with flat metrics G on a configuration space. The knowledge of quantization of such systems is not enough to fix uniquely the quantization in arbitrary Riemann space and is the source of ambiguities. In consequence, in the literature one meets various versions of quantizations which coincide for the class of natural flat Hamiltonians.

Observation 11 A choice of quantization of the classical Hamiltonian system is fixed by a choice of both, the *-product and the particular assignment $A \rightarrow A(\hbar)$ to classical observables A their quantum counterparts $A(\hbar)$. Moreover, two quantizations (*, $A(\hbar)$) and (*', $A'(\hbar)$) are equivalent if there exists an isomorphism S of their quantum Poisson algebras, i.e. when both star-products are related by (6.1.7), (6.1.8), and respective quantum observables are related by $A'(\hbar) = S(A(\hbar))$.

In what follows let $d\Omega_{\hbar}(\xi) = \frac{d\Omega(\xi)}{(2\pi\hbar)^n}$ be the normalized Liouville measure and $L^2(M, d\Omega_{\hbar})$ a Hilbert space of functions defined on the phase space *M* and square

integrable with respect to the measure $d\Omega_{\hbar}$, where the scalar product is given by

$$\langle f, g \rangle = \int_{M} \overline{f(\xi)} g(\xi) \, d\Omega_{\hbar}.$$
 (6.1.9)

So far we considered a quantum Poisson algebra as a formal algebra and so we did not worry about the convergence of formal series appearing during the process of formal quantization. However, such an approach is not entirely physical as observables should be functions on a phase space not formal power series and hence, complete quantum theory requires to investigate the problem of convergence. This is an important mathematical problem which is beyond the scope of the book, nevertheless let us give some remarks about the convergence of formal power series appearing in the definition of star-products.

Let \star be a star-product on (M, ω) . In general it is not possible to find a topology on $C^{\infty}(M)$ such that the \star -product will be convergent for every pair of smooth functions. What can be done is to search for a subspace $\mathcal{A} \subset C^{\infty}(M)$ with appropriately chosen topology such that the \star -product will be convergent. In general, functions from \mathcal{A} can depend implicitly on \hbar . Additionally, we will require that there exists a subalgebra $\mathcal{G} \subset \mathcal{A}$ such that \mathcal{G} is a dense subset of $L^2(M, d\Omega_{\hbar})$, and for $f, g \in \mathcal{G}$ there holds

$$\|f \star g\| \le \|f\| \|g\|. \tag{6.1.10}$$

From (6.1.10) results that the \star -product is continuous on the subspace $\mathcal{G} \times \mathcal{G}$ with respect to the L^2 -topology and in consequence can be uniquely extended to the continuous star-product on the whole space $L^2(M, d\Omega_{\hbar})$ satisfying (6.1.10) for every $f, g \in L^2(M, d\Omega_{\hbar})$, which follows from the fact that \mathcal{G} is dense in $L^2(M, d\Omega_{\hbar})$.

The convergence of a \star -product in $L^2(M, d\Omega_\hbar)$ is closely related with the existence of integral representation of such a product (see the next subsection). The reader can find more on the convergence of deformation quantization in the literature. For example, in [208, 209, 226] the authors study the convergence in the framework of C^* -algebras (this is usually referred to as strict deformation quantization). A non-formal deformation quantization developed in the framework of Fréchet-Poisson algebras is studied in [214, 215]. Worth noting are also papers [136, 238] where the convergence of a Moyal product on suitable spaces of functions is investigated.

The Hilbert space $L^2(M, d\Omega_{\hbar})$ with some convergent \star -product (6.1.5) has a structure of an algebra, denoted hereafter by \mathcal{L} . From properties (1–3) of (6.1.5) it is clear that for the algebra $\mathcal{L} = (L^2(M, d\Omega_{\hbar}), \star)$ the complex-conjugation is an involution, that under the integral sign the star-product of two functions from $L^2(M, d\Omega_{\hbar})$ reduces to the point-wise product and that the following relation holds

$$\langle g, f \star h \rangle = \langle \bar{f} \star g, h \rangle, \quad f, g, h \in L^2(M, d\Omega_{\hbar}).$$

For any $f \in A$ such that D(f) is a subspace of A, dense in $L^2(M, d\Omega_h)$, and such that for every $\rho \in D(f)$, $f \star \rho \in L^2(M, d\Omega_h)$, we can associate a densely defined operator $f \star$ on the Hilbert space $L^2(M, d\Omega_h)$ with the domain equal D(f)and which satisfies

$$(f\star)^{\dagger} = \bar{f}\star.$$

Defining a trace functional by the formula

$$\operatorname{Tr}(f) = \int_{M} f(\xi) \, d\Omega_{\hbar}(\xi), \qquad f \in L^{1}(M, d\Omega_{\hbar}), \tag{6.1.11}$$

the *-product in the algebra \mathcal{L} obey the following property: the ideal $\mathcal{L}^1 = \mathcal{L} \star \mathcal{L}$ is a subset of $L^1(M, d\Omega_{\hbar})$ and

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\bar{f} \star g) = \langle f, g \rangle \tag{6.1.12}$$

for any $f, g \in L^2(M, d\Omega_{\hbar})$.

So far the star-products have been represented by formal series of bi-differential operators. Then, using a respective topology on an appropriate space of smooth functions, these series could be made convergent. In such a way we can introduce a star-product on a subspace of $C^{\infty}(M)$ and then transfer it to the Hilbert space $L^2(M, d\Omega_{\hbar})$. There is however alternative way of introducing star-products, presented in [170]. One can first define a star-product on some subspace $\mathcal{G} \subset C^{\infty}(M)$ of smooth functions, which is at the same time required to be a dense subspace in $L^2(M, d\Omega_{\hbar})$. Then \mathcal{G} should be endowed with a topology. Moreover, the star-product should be continuous in \mathcal{G} and it is usually defined by an integral formula. From there it can be extended to a continuous star-product on the whole space $L^2(M, d\Omega_{\hbar})$.

The geometrical language which was used to deform classical Poisson algebra allowed for the deformation presented in a coordinate free way. However, in a full analogy with the classical case, it is possible to develop the deformed theory in any particular coordinate system. Let $M \supset U \rightarrow V \subset \mathbb{R}^{2n}$, $\xi \mapsto (\xi^1(\xi), \dots, \xi^{2n}(\xi))$ be a local coordinate system on the symplectic manifold M. In analogy with the classical case this coordinate system is called quantum canonical if there holds

$$\llbracket \xi^{\alpha}, \xi^{\beta} \rrbracket = \pi^{\alpha\beta}, \tag{6.1.13}$$

where

$$(\pi^{\alpha\beta}) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I_n \\ -I_n & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (6.1.14)

In the case when $M = T^*Q$ we will denote a *quantum canonical coordinate system*, like in the classical case, by

$$(x^1,\ldots,x^n,p_1,\ldots,p_n)\equiv (x^i,p_j).$$

Then the quantum canonicity condition (6.1.13) takes the form

$$[[x^{i}, x^{j}]] = [[p_{i}, p_{j}]] = 0, \quad [[x^{i}, p_{j}]] = \delta_{j}^{i}.$$
(6.1.15)

Note that in the limit $\hbar \to 0$ a quantum canonical coordinate system reduces to a classical canonical one. If (x^i, p_j) and (x'^i, p'_j) are two quantum canonical coordinate systems then the transformation $(x^i, p_j) \mapsto (x'^i, p'_j)$ is called a *quantum canonical transformation* and will be considered with a special care in our further considerations.

Let us derive the condition on a coordinate system $(\xi^1, \ldots, \xi^{2n})$ which has to be satisfied to make it simultaneously classical and quantum canonical coordinate system. A coordinate system $(\xi^1, \ldots, \xi^{2n})$ is classical and quantum canonical for star-algebra (6.1.1), (6.1.2) if and only if

$$\{\xi^{\alpha},\xi^{\beta}\} = C_1(\xi^{\alpha},\xi^{\beta}) - C_1(\xi^{\beta},\xi^{\alpha}) = \pi^{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (6.1.16a)$$

$$C_k(\xi^{\alpha},\xi^{\beta}) = C_k(\xi^{\beta},\xi^{\alpha}), \quad k = 2,3,\dots,$$
 (6.1.16b)

for every $\alpha, \beta = 1, ..., 2n$, where C_k are bi-differential operators from the expansion (6.1.1) of the \star -product. Indeed, from (3.2.12) and condition 3 from the definition (6.1.1) of a \star -product we get (6.1.16a). In accordance with (6.1.13) a coordinate system ($\xi^1, ..., \xi^{2n}$) is a quantum canonical coordinate system if and only if

$$[\xi^{\alpha},\xi^{\beta}] = \xi^{\alpha} \star \xi^{\beta} - \xi^{\beta} \star \xi^{\alpha} = i\hbar\pi^{\alpha\beta}.$$

The above condition can be written in the form

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \nu^k \left(C_k(\xi^{\alpha}, \xi^{\beta}) - C_k(\xi^{\beta}, \xi^{\alpha}) \right) = i\hbar\pi^{\alpha\beta}$$

and is equivalent with the system (6.1.16a), (6.1.16b). In particular

$$C_k(\xi^{\alpha},\xi^{\beta}) = C_k(\xi^{\beta},\xi^{\alpha}) = 0, \quad k = 2, 3, \dots$$

For the distinguished class of \star -products in the form (6.1.5) the symmetry

$$C_k(f,g) = (-1)^k C_k(g,f)$$

reduces conditions (6.1.16a), (6.1.16b) to the simpler form

$$C_1(\xi^{\alpha},\xi^{\beta}) = \pi^{\alpha\beta},$$

$$C_k(\xi^{\alpha},\xi^{\beta}) = 0, \quad k = 3, 5, \dots$$

If $(\xi^1, \ldots, \xi^{2n})$ is a coordinate system on some domain $V \subset M$ then we can write elements of $C^{\infty}(M)[[\hbar]]$ in these coordinates and get a formal power series in $C^{\infty}(V)[[\hbar]]$. In particular, if $f = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \hbar^k f_k \in C^{\infty}(M)[[\hbar]]$, then by writing each $f_k \in C^{\infty}(M)$ in the coordinates $(\xi^1, \ldots, \xi^{2n})$ we get a formal power series in $C^{\infty}(V)[[\hbar]]$. Analogically, we can write a *-product on M in the coordinates $(\xi^1, \ldots, \xi^{2n})$ receiving a star-product on a subset V. Further on we will denote such star-product by $\star^{(\xi)}$.

Let us make some remarks about admissible domains of coordinate systems. If one is interested only in the investigation of a geometry of the classical Hamiltonian system (M, ω, H) , then one can consider coordinate systems defined on arbitrary open subsets U of a phase space M. However, for quantum systems, even on such a general level of the geometry of the system, this does not remain true since starproducts, considered in a non-formal setting by an integral representation are not local. The same situation occurs on both classical and quantum levels, when one investigates integrals over the phase space in order to calculate expectation values of observables. Then it cannot be done in an arbitrary coordinate system. The reason for this is that, in general the values of integrals will change if the integration will be performed over a subset $U \subset M$ where coordinates are defined. That problem was already discussed on a classical level. The only coordinate systems in which it is meaningful to consider integration are almost global coordinate systems (cf. Observation 6). In most general situation, when integration is defined in several charts, a full integration measure on M may exists as well. Nevertheless, that cases are beyond the scope of the book and we confine to manifolds with almost global coordinate system, where both classical Hamiltonian statistical mechanics and quantum Hamiltonian mechanics can be always well formulated.

6.1.2 Fourier Transforms

Fourier transforms play an important role in our further considerations. Thus, it is a proper moment for a choice of a notation and a convention for various Fourier transforms used in the following sections on the quantum level. In what follows we will define the Fourier transform of a function $f \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$ by a formula

$$(\mathcal{F}f)(\zeta) = \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} f(\xi) e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}\zeta_{\mu}\xi^{\mu}} d\xi = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} f(\xi) e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}\zeta_{\mu}\xi^{\mu}} d\Omega_{\hbar}(\xi)$$
(6.1.17)

and the inverse Fourier transform by

$$(\mathcal{F}^{-1}f)(\xi) = \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} f(\xi) e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}\zeta_\mu \xi^\mu} d\zeta = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} f(\zeta) e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}\zeta_\mu \xi^\mu} d\Omega_\hbar(\zeta)$$
(6.1.18)

The Fourier transform has the following properties

$$\mathcal{F}(\partial_{\xi^{\mu}} f)(\zeta) = \frac{i}{\hbar} \zeta_{\mu} \mathcal{F}f(\zeta), \qquad (6.1.19)$$

$$\mathcal{F}(f \cdot g) = \mathcal{F}f * \mathcal{F}g, \qquad (6.1.20)$$

where * is a convolution of functions defined by

$$(f * g)(\xi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} f(\xi')g(\xi - \xi') \, d\Omega_{\hbar}(\xi') = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} f(\xi - \xi')g(\xi') \, d\Omega_{\hbar}(\xi').$$
(6.1.21)

For further considerations we also need a notion of a symplectic Fourier transform. Thus, for a function $f \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$ we define a symplectic Fourier transform of f by a formula

$$\mathcal{F}_{\omega}f(\xi') = \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} f(\xi) e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}\omega(\xi',\xi)} d\xi = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} f(\xi) e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}\omega(\xi',\xi)} d\Omega_{\hbar}(\xi),$$
(6.1.22)

where ω is a canonical symplectic form on \mathbb{R}^{2N} given by $\omega(\xi', \xi) = \omega_{\alpha\beta}\xi'^{\alpha}\xi^{\beta}$ where

$$(\omega_{\alpha\beta}) = \begin{pmatrix} 0_n & -I_n \\ I_n & 0_n \end{pmatrix}.$$

Note that $\mathcal{F}_{\omega}f(\xi') = \mathcal{F}f(\omega^T\xi')$.

In (x, p) representation we have

$$\mathcal{F}_{\omega}f(p',x') = \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f(x,p) \exp\left[-\frac{i}{\hbar} \left(p'_k x^k - x'^k p_k\right)\right] dxdp,$$
$$\mathcal{F}_{\omega}^{-1}f(x,p) = \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f(p',x') \exp\frac{i}{\hbar} \left(p'_k x^k - x'^k p_k\right) dx'dp'.$$

Besides, in this convention

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{F}_{\omega}(\partial_{x}^{n}\partial_{p}^{m}f)(p',x') &= \left(\frac{i}{\hbar}p'\right)^{n} \left(-\frac{i}{\hbar}x'\right)^{m} \mathcal{F}_{\omega}f(p',x'),\\ \mathcal{F}_{\omega}(x^{n}p^{m}f)(p',x') &= \left(i\hbar\partial_{p'}\right)^{n} \left(-i\hbar\partial_{x'}\right)^{m} \mathcal{F}_{\omega}f(p',x'),\\ \mathcal{F}_{\omega}^{-1}(\partial_{p'}^{n}\partial_{x'}^{m}f)(x,p) &= \left(-\frac{i}{\hbar}x\right)^{n} \left(\frac{i}{\hbar}p\right)^{m} \mathcal{F}_{\omega}f(x,p),\\ \mathcal{F}_{\omega}^{-1}(p'^{n}x'^{m}f)(x,p) &= \left(-i\hbar\partial_{x}\right)^{n} \left(i\hbar\partial_{p}\right)^{m} \mathcal{F}_{\omega}f(x,p),\end{aligned}$$

and

$$\delta(x - x_0) = \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \exp\left(\frac{i}{\hbar}(x^k - x_0^k)p_k\right) dp,$$

$$\delta(p - p_0) = \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \exp\left(-\frac{i}{\hbar}(p_k - p_{0k})x^k\right) dx.$$

Finally, let

$$\tilde{f}(x,x') = \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f(x,p) e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} p_k x'^k} dp$$
(6.1.23)

and

$$\tilde{f}(p',p) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f(x,p) e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar} p'_k x^k} dx,$$
 (6.1.24)

where \tilde{f} denotes the Fourier transform of a function $f \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$ with respect to *n* momentum coordinates *p* or *n* position coordinates *x*, respectively. The inverse transforms are

$$f(x, p) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \tilde{f}(x, x') e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar} p_k x'^k} dx' = \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \tilde{f}(p', p) e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} p'_k x^k} dp'.$$
(6.1.25)

6.1.3 Star Products on \mathbb{R}^{2n}

Let us consider a 2n-dimensional simplectic manifold $M = \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ with Darboux coordinates $(\xi^1, \ldots, \xi^{2n})$. In particular we can adapt the Euclidean geometry to the construction in the sense that the first *n* Darboux coordinates ξ^i are a Cartesian coordinate system (x^1, \ldots, x^n) on E^n while the remaining Darboux coordinates are fiber coordinates, i.e. momenta p_i conjugated to x^i . That is $M = T^*E^n$ and

 $(\xi^1, \ldots, \xi^{2n}) = (x^1, \ldots, x^n, p_1, \ldots, p_n)$. In these coordinates the symplectic form ω takes the canonical form $dp_i \wedge dx^i$. Also the Poisson tensor (implectic bi-vector) $\pi = \omega^{-1}$ related to the symplectic form ω can be written in the form

$$\pi = \pi^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\xi^{\mu}} \otimes \partial_{\xi^{\nu}} = \partial_{x^{i}} \wedge \partial_{p_{i}}. \tag{6.1.26}$$

In Sect. 3.2.1 was shown that the Poisson tensor π can be decomposed into a wedge product of pair-wise commuting on *M* vector fields (3.2.1)

$$\pi = \pi^{\mu\nu} D_{\mu} \otimes D_{\nu} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} X_{i} \wedge Y_{i}, \qquad (6.1.27)$$

where $X_i = D_i$ and $Y_i = D_{n+i}$ for i = 1, ..., n, as the Poisson property $[\pi, \pi]_S = 0$ follows directly from commutativity of vector fields $D_{\mu} : [D_{\mu}, D_{\nu}] = 0$. The canonical Poisson bi-vector (6.1.26) can be represented by these D_{α} for which

$$X_i \wedge Y_i = D_i \wedge D_{n+i} = \partial_{x^i} \wedge \partial_{p_i}.$$

The related Poisson bracket $\{f, g\}_{\pi}$ can be written as

$$\{f,g\}_{\pi} = \pi (df,dg) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} [X_i(f)Y_i(g) - Y_i(f)X_i(g)]$$
$$= f \sum_{i=1}^{n} (\overleftarrow{X}_i \overrightarrow{Y}_i - \overleftarrow{Y}_i \overrightarrow{X}_i)g = f\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \overleftarrow{X}_i \wedge \overrightarrow{Y}_i\right)g$$

In what follows we will define an important family of star-products on the symplectic manifold T^*E^n . Let (D_{μ}) be a sequence of pair-wise commuting global vector fields from the decomposition (6.1.27) of the Poisson tensor π . Define a star-product by the formula

$$f \star g = f \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}i\hbar\pi^{\mu\nu}\overleftarrow{D}_{\mu}\overrightarrow{D}_{\nu}\right)g = f \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}i\hbar\sum_{k=1}^{n}\overleftarrow{X}_{k}\wedge\overrightarrow{Y}_{k}\right)g$$
$$= f \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}i\hbar\sum_{k=1}^{n}\overleftarrow{X}_{k}\overrightarrow{Y}_{k} - \frac{1}{2}i\hbar\sum_{k=1}^{n}\overleftarrow{Y}_{k}\overrightarrow{X}_{k}\right)g = f \cdot g + O(\hbar),$$
(6.1.28)

and aquantum Poisson bracket by a respective formula

$$\llbracket f, g \rrbracket_{\star} = \frac{1}{i\hbar} [f, g]_{\star} = \frac{1}{i\hbar} (f \star g - g \star f) = \{f, g\}_{\pi} + O(\hbar).$$
(6.1.29)

From the commutativity of vector fields X_i , Y_i follows the associativity of the star-product and hence the quantum bracket (6.1.29) is a Lie bracket as the Jacobi identity (2.5.24) is fulfilled by any commutator built up on an associative multiplication. Besides, the quantum involution in the star-algebra (6.1.28) is the complex conjugation as from (6.1.28) we get immediately that

$$\overline{f \star g} = \overline{g} \star \overline{f}. \tag{6.1.30}$$

In the simplest case n = 1, for example, the product (6.1.28) can be written in the form

$$f \star g = f \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}i\hbar \overleftarrow{X} \overrightarrow{Y} - \frac{1}{2}i\hbar \overleftarrow{Y} \overrightarrow{X}\right)g$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!} \left(\frac{i\hbar}{2}\right)^k \sum_{m=0}^k \binom{k}{m} (-1)^m (X^{k-m}Y^m f)(X^m Y^{k-m}g).$$
(6.1.31)

However, the decomposition (6.1.27) of the Poisson tensor π is not unique. There are different sequences of commuting vector fields X'_i , Y'_i , i = 1, ..., n on $M = T^*E^n$ such that

$$\pi = \sum_{i=1}^{n} X_i \wedge Y_i = \sum_{i=1}^{n} X'_i \wedge Y'_i.$$
(6.1.32)

So, with the arbitrary canonical Poisson tensor π (6.1.26) one can relate the whole family of star-products (6.1.28), parametrized by appropriate sets of commuting vector fields from the decomposition (6.1.32).

The constructed family of star-products consists of equivalent star-products, which is a direct consequence of the fact that the second de Rham cohomology group $H^2(\mathbb{R}^{2n}; \mathbb{C})$ vanishes. In particular, for any pair of \star -algebras generated by respective sets of commuting vector fields (X_i, Y_i) and (X'_i, Y'_i) there exists an isomorphism S (6.1.7), (6.1.8) of both algebras.

Example 6.1 Let us consider the Poisson manifold $T^*\mathbb{R} \cong \mathbb{R}^2$ with the canonical Poisson tensor π in a Darboux coordinate system (x, p). Consider the following vector fields

$$\begin{split} X &= \partial_x, \quad Y = \partial_p, \\ X' &= x^2 \partial_x - 2xp \partial_p, \quad Y' = x^{-2} \partial_p. \end{split}$$

It can be checked immediately that [X, Y] = 0, [X', Y'] = 0 and that

$$\pi = X \wedge Y = X' \wedge Y' = \partial_x \wedge \partial_p.$$

Star-products induced by vector fields X, Y and X', Y' are equivalent and the morphism S up to \hbar^2 is given by

$$S = \operatorname{id} + \frac{\hbar^2}{4} \left(2x^{-2}\partial_p^2 + x^{-2}p\partial_p^3 - x^{-1}\partial_x\partial_p^2 \right) + O(\hbar^4).$$

Note that vector fields *X*, *Y* and *X'*, *Y'* are related by a canonical transformation $T: (x, p) \mapsto T(x, p) = (-x^{-1}, x^2p)$:

$$(Xf) \circ T = X'(f \circ T), \quad (Yf) \circ T = Y'(f \circ T),$$

for $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)$. We will investigate systematically the construction of starproducts via canonical transformations in the next subsection.

For a given sequence of vector fields (D_{μ}) from the decomposition (6.1.27) of the Poisson tensor π there exists a coordinate system $(\xi^1, \ldots, \xi^{2n})$ in which D_{μ} are coordinate vector fields, i.e. $D_{\mu} = \partial_{\xi^{\mu}}$. Such a coordinate system is of course a Darboux coordinate system associated with the Poisson tensor π . In these coordinates the star-product (6.1.28) takes the form

$$f \star_{M} g = f \exp\left(\frac{i\hbar}{2}\pi^{\mu\nu} \overleftarrow{\partial}_{\xi^{\mu}} \overrightarrow{\partial}_{\xi^{\nu}}\right) g$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!} \left(\frac{i\hbar}{2}\right)^{k} \pi^{\mu_{1}\nu_{1}} \cdots \pi^{\mu_{k}\nu_{k}} (\partial_{\xi^{\mu_{1}}} \cdots \partial_{\xi^{\mu_{k}}} f) (\partial_{\xi^{\nu_{1}}} \cdots \partial_{\xi^{\nu_{k}}} g),$$
(6.1.33)

where $\pi^{\mu\nu}$ is the Poisson tensor in Darboux coordinates (6.1.14). The starproduct (6.1.33) was first considered by [140, 205], and [19] and is usually called a *Moyal product*. The coordinate system (ξ^1, \ldots, ξ^{2n}) will be called a natural coordinate system of the *-product.

The family of \star -products (6.1.28) belongs to a particular class of products defined by (6.1.5). The property 1 follows immediately from the form of (6.1.28) and the expansion of the exponents (see (6.1.31) for example). The property 2 was mentioned in (6.1.30). Finally, we prove the property 3 by writing the product (6.1.28) in its natural coordinate system (6.1.33). Let

$$C_k(f,g) = \frac{1}{k!} \pi^{\mu_1 \nu_1} \cdots \pi^{\mu_k \nu_k} (\partial_{\xi^{\mu_1}} \cdots \partial_{\xi^{\mu_k}} f) (\partial_{\xi^{\nu_1}} \cdots \partial_{\xi^{\nu_k}} g)$$

Then, using integration by parts we get for k = 1, 2, ...

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} C_k(f,g) \, d\xi &= -\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} \frac{1}{k!} \pi^{\nu_1 \mu_1} \pi^{\mu_2 \nu_2} \cdots \pi^{\mu_k \nu_k} (\partial_{\xi^{\nu_1}} \partial_{\xi^{\mu_2}} \cdots \partial_{\xi^{\mu_k}} f) \\ &\times (\partial_{\xi^{\mu_1}} \partial_{\xi^{\nu_2}} \cdots \partial_{\xi^{\nu_k}} g) \, d\xi = -\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} C_k(f,g) \, d\xi \end{split}$$

and so

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} C_k(f,g) \, d\xi = 0,$$

which proves 3.

In the simplest case n = 1, for example, the Moyal product (6.1.33) in (x, p) representation takes the form

$$f \star_{M} g = f \exp\left[\frac{1}{2}i\hbar\left(\overleftarrow{\partial}_{x}\overrightarrow{\partial}_{p} - \overleftarrow{\partial}_{p}\overrightarrow{\partial}_{x}\right)\right]g$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!} \left(\frac{i\hbar}{2}\right)^{k} \sum_{m=0}^{k} \binom{k}{m} (-1)^{m} (\partial_{x}^{k-m} \partial_{p}^{m} f) (\partial_{x}^{m} \partial_{p}^{k-m} g)$$
(6.1.34)

and hence

$$\llbracket f, g \rrbracket_{M} = \frac{2}{\hbar} f \sin \left[\frac{1}{2} \hbar \left(\overleftarrow{\partial}_{x} \overrightarrow{\partial}_{p} - \overleftarrow{\partial}_{p} \overrightarrow{\partial}_{x} \right) \right] g$$
$$= \{ f, g \}_{\pi} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{n}}{(2n+1)!} \left(\frac{\hbar}{2} \right)^{2n} f \left(\overleftarrow{\partial}_{x} \overrightarrow{\partial}_{p} - \overleftarrow{\partial}_{p} \overrightarrow{\partial}_{x} \right)^{2n+1} g.$$
(6.1.35)

The structure of the symplectic manifold T^*E^n distinguishes one product from the presented family of star-products, namely the one for which the natural coordinate system is the Cartesian coordinate system. Such a star-product is indeed uniquely defined since coordinate vector fields of Cartesian coordinate systems are related to each other by linear symplectic transformations and such transformations do not change the star-product (6.1.33), as will be shown later. This distinguished star-product will be called a *canonical star-product* on T^*E^n . As will be proved in the next chapter, such a particular deformation of the classical Poisson algebra is equivalent with standard Weyl quantization of classical mechanics.

As was mentioned above, in a given classical canonical coordinate system $(\xi^1, \ldots, \xi^{2n})$, one of the products (6.1.28) takes the form of Moyal representation (6.1.33). In this case evidently classical canonical coordinates are simultaneously quantum canonical coordinates. Besides, all other star-products (6.1.28) are generated from the Moyal one (6.1.33) by classical canonical transformations (see Example 6.1). Obviously, not every classical canonical transformation generates a new star-product (6.1.28) for which coordinates (ξ^1, \ldots, ξ^{2n}) are quantum canonical. That problem will be considered in details in the next subsection.

According to Observation 11, the choice of quantization consists of the choice of a \star -product and simultaneously the choice of a quantum observable $A_Q(\hbar)$. For a particular class of \star -products (6.1.28), or more general (6.1.5), when the involution is a complex conjugation, the simplest admissible choice of quantum observables is

294

6.1 Star-Algebras

given by

$$A_Q(\hbar) = A_C$$

Now let us present a family of star-products on T^*E^n , which are not in the form (6.1.28) and for which the complex-conjugation is not the involution. Let $X_1, \ldots, X_n, Y_1, \ldots, Y_n$ be a set of pair-wise commuting global vector fields from the decomposition (6.1.27) of the Poisson tensor π . Define a star-product (in fact a three-parameter family of star-products) by the formula

$$f \star_{\sigma,\alpha,\beta} g = f \exp\left(i\hbar\left(\frac{1}{2} - \sigma\right)\sum_{j=1}^{n} \overleftarrow{X}_{j} \overrightarrow{Y}_{j} - i\hbar\left(\frac{1}{2} + \sigma\right)\sum_{j=1}^{n} \overleftarrow{Y}_{j} \overrightarrow{X}_{j} + \hbar\alpha\sum_{j=1}^{n} \overleftarrow{X}_{j} \overrightarrow{X}_{j} + \hbar\beta\sum_{j=1}^{n} \overleftarrow{Y}_{j} \overrightarrow{Y}_{j}\right)g,$$

$$(6.1.36)$$

where $\sigma, \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$. The star-product (6.1.36) is equivalent with the starproduct (6.1.28) corresponding to the same sequence (X_i, Y_j) of vector fields. A morphism *S* (6.1.7), (6.1.8) giving this equivalence is of the form

$$S_{\sigma,\alpha,\beta} = \exp\left(-i\hbar\sigma\sum_{j=1}^{n}X_{j}Y_{j} + \frac{1}{2}\hbar\alpha\sum_{j=1}^{n}X_{j}X_{j} + \frac{1}{2}\hbar\beta\sum_{j=1}^{n}Y_{j}Y_{j}\right).$$
(6.1.37)

For the simplicity of formulas we will prove it for a particular case of $\alpha = \beta = 0$, when

$$f \star_{\sigma} g = f \exp\left(i\hbar\left(\frac{1}{2} - \sigma\right)\sum_{j=1}^{n} \overleftarrow{X}_{j} \overrightarrow{Y}_{j} - i\hbar\left(\frac{1}{2} + \sigma\right)\sum_{j=1}^{n} \overleftarrow{Y}_{j} \overrightarrow{X}_{j}\right)g$$

and

$$S_{\sigma} = \exp\left(-i\hbar\sigma\sum_{j=1}^{n}X_{j}Y_{j}\right).$$

Using the notation

$$f \exp\left(\overleftarrow{X} \ \overrightarrow{Y}\right) g := \exp\left(X^f Y^g\right) (fg)$$

and observing that for commuting vector fields X, Y

$$\exp(XY)(fg) = \exp\left[\left(X^f + X^g\right)\left(Y^f + Y^g\right)\right](fg)$$

we get

$$f \star_{\sigma} g = S_{\sigma}(S_{\sigma}^{-1}f \star S_{\sigma}^{-1}g)$$

$$= \exp\left[-i\hbar\sigma \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left(X_{j}^{f} + X_{j}^{g}\right)\left(Y_{j}^{f} + Y_{j}^{g}\right)\right] \exp\left[i\hbar\sigma \sum_{j=1}^{n} X_{j}^{f}Y_{j}^{f}\right]$$

$$\exp\left[\frac{1}{2}i\hbar \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left(X_{j}^{f}Y_{j}^{g} - X_{j}^{g}Y_{j}^{f}\right)\right] \exp\left[i\hbar\sigma \sum_{j=1}^{n} X_{j}^{g}Y_{j}^{g}\right](fg)$$

$$= \exp\left[i\hbar \left(\frac{1}{2} - \sigma\right) \sum_{j=1}^{n} X_{j}^{f}Y_{j}^{g} - i\hbar \left(\frac{1}{2} + \sigma\right) \sum_{j=1}^{n} X_{j}^{g}Y_{j}^{f}\right](fg)$$

$$= f \exp\left[i\hbar \left(\frac{1}{2} - \sigma\right) \sum_{j=1}^{n} \overleftarrow{X}_{j}\overrightarrow{Y}_{j} - i\hbar \left(\frac{1}{2} + \sigma\right) \sum_{j=1}^{n} \overleftarrow{Y}_{j}\overrightarrow{X}_{j}\right]g.$$

The involution for the $\star_{\sigma,\alpha,\beta}$ -product as well as for other star-products of the general form (6.1.1) is constructed from the following considerations. Assume that in a \star -algebra the involution is the complex-conjugation. Let a \star' -algebra be isomorphic to the previous one by *S*. Then, the involution in \star' -algebra, induced by involution in \star -algebra, takes the form

$$f^* = S\overline{S^{-1}f}.$$
(6.1.38)

Indeed

$$(f \star' g)^* = S\overline{S^{-1}(f \star' g)} = S\overline{(S^{-1}f \star S^{-1}g)}$$

= $S(\overline{S^{-1}g} \star \overline{S^{-1}f}) = S\overline{S^{-1}g} \star' S\overline{S^{-1}f})$
= $g^* \star' f^*.$

Now, the same question, concerning a choice of a quantum observable according to Observation 11, appears for \star -products with involution given by (6.1.38). The simplest admissible deformation of a classical observable A_C , which is self-adjoint with respect to (6.1.38) is given by

$$A_Q(\hbar) = W(\hbar)A_C, \quad S\overline{S^{-1}}\overline{W} = W.$$
(6.1.39)

Indeed, for such $W(\hbar)$ we have $A_Q^* = A_Q$. In particular, for

$$S\overline{S^{-1}} = \exp iB \Longrightarrow W = \exp \frac{1}{2}iB,$$

where B is a real differential operator.

The involution of algebra (6.1.36), induced by the involution of algebra (6.1.28), according to (6.1.38) takes the form

$$f^* = \exp\left(-2i\hbar\sigma\sum_{j=1}^n X_j Y_j\right)\bar{f}$$
(6.1.40)

and

$$W(\hbar) = \exp\left(-i\hbar\sigma\sum_{j=1}^{n}X_{j}Y_{j}\right).$$
(6.1.41)

From (6.1.40) it is evident that for $\sigma \neq 0$ the involution for the $\star_{\sigma,\alpha,\beta}$ -product is different from the complex-conjugation and functions self-adjoint with respect to it can be complex in general.

Example 6.2 In particular let us consider a quantization given by the $\star_{\sigma,\alpha,\beta}$ -product for a one-dimensional case (n = 1) and in a natural coordinate system when $X = \partial_x$ and $Y = \partial_p$. Then

$$f^* = \exp\left(-2i\hbar\sigma\,\partial_x\,\partial_p\right)\bar{f}, \quad W(\hbar) = \exp(-i\hbar\sigma\,\partial_x\,\partial_p)$$

and choosing for instance $A_C = xp^2$ we get

$$A_Q(\hbar) = W(\hbar)A_C = xp^2 - 2i\hbar\sigma p,$$

which evidently is self-adjoint: $A_Q^*(\hbar) = A_Q(\hbar)$.

The last question, related to the definition of involution different from the complex conjugation, is about the existence of a canonical choice of the involution. Such a problem is related directly with the existence of a canonical star-product on the considered manifold. From previous considerations we know that a canonical star-product exists on T^*E^n , i.e. the one which in Cartesian coordinates takes the form of the Moyal product. Thus, on T^*E^n , we also have a canonical choice of *S* in (6.1.39) as this related the considered star-product with the canonical star-product.

Let us consider a larger family of star-products related to the decomposition (6.1.27) of the classical Poisson tensor π by the formula

$$f \star g = f \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}i\hbar \sum_{k=1}^{n} \overleftarrow{X}_{k} \overrightarrow{Y}_{k} - \frac{1}{2}i\hbar \sum_{k=1}^{n} \overleftarrow{Y}_{k} \overrightarrow{X}_{k} + P(\overleftarrow{X}_{1} + \overrightarrow{X}_{1}, \dots, \overleftarrow{Y}_{n} + \overrightarrow{Y}_{n}; \hbar) - P(\overleftarrow{X}_{1}, \dots, \overleftarrow{Y}_{n}; \hbar) - P(\overrightarrow{X}_{1}, \dots, \overrightarrow{Y}_{n}; \hbar)\right)g,$$

$$(6.1.42)$$

where *P* is a polynomial of 2n arguments with coefficients dependent on \hbar . An isomorphism *S* intertwining the \star -product (6.1.42) with the \star -product (6.1.28) reads

$$S = \exp\left(P(X_1, \ldots, Y_n; \hbar)\right).$$

Obviously the family (6.1.36) is the particular case of (6.1.42) with S given by (6.1.37). If additionally the condition

$$\overline{P(X_1,\ldots,Y_n)} = P(Y_1,\ldots,X_n)$$

is fulfilled, then the complex-conjugation is the involution for this product as well. In particular let us take $P(X_1, ..., Y_n; \hbar) = -\frac{1}{8}b\hbar^2 \sum_{k,j=1}^n X_k X_j Y_k Y_j, b \in \mathbb{R}$. Then the \star -product (6.1.42) takes the form

$$f \star g = f \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}i\hbar \sum_{k=1}^{n} \overleftarrow{X}_{k} \overrightarrow{Y}_{k} - \frac{1}{2}i\hbar \sum_{k=1}^{n} \overleftarrow{Y}_{k} \overrightarrow{X}_{k} + \frac{1}{8}b\hbar^{2} \sum_{k,j=1}^{n} (\overleftarrow{X}_{k} \overleftarrow{Y}_{k} \overleftarrow{X}_{j} \overleftarrow{Y}_{j} + \overrightarrow{X}_{k} \overrightarrow{Y}_{k} \overrightarrow{X}_{j} \overrightarrow{Y}_{j}) - \frac{1}{8}b\hbar^{2} \sum_{k,j=1}^{n} (\overleftarrow{X}_{k} + \overrightarrow{X}_{k})(\overleftarrow{Y}_{k} + \overrightarrow{Y}_{k})(\overleftarrow{X}_{j} + \overrightarrow{X}_{j})(\overleftarrow{Y}_{j} + \overrightarrow{Y}_{j}) \right)g$$

$$(6.1.43)$$

and will play an important role in our further considerations.

For a given sequence of vector fields (X_i, Y_i) , from the decomposition (6.1.27) of the Poisson tensor π , there exists a coordinate system $(x^1, \ldots, x^n, p_1, \ldots, p_n)$ in which $X_i = \partial_{x^i}$, $Y_i = \partial_{p_i}$ are coordinate vector fields. Such a coordinate system, as was mentioned earlier, is a Darboux coordinate system associated with the Poisson

tensor π . In these coordinates the star-products (6.1.42) take the form

$$f \star g = f \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}i\hbar\left(\overleftarrow{\partial}_{x^{k}}\overrightarrow{\partial}_{p_{k}} - \overleftarrow{\partial}_{p_{k}}\overrightarrow{\partial}_{x^{k}}\right) + P(\overleftarrow{\partial}_{x^{1}} + \overrightarrow{\partial}_{x^{1}}, \dots, \overleftarrow{\partial}_{p_{n}} + \overrightarrow{\partial}_{p_{n}}; \hbar) - P(\overleftarrow{\partial}_{x^{1}}, \dots, \overrightarrow{\partial}_{p_{n}}; \hbar)\right)g$$

while the star-product (6.1.43) the respective form

$$f \star g = f \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}i\hbar\left(\overleftarrow{\partial}_{x^{k}}\overrightarrow{\partial}_{p_{k}} - \overleftarrow{\partial}_{p_{k}}\overrightarrow{\partial}_{x^{k}}\right) + \frac{1}{8}b\hbar^{2}(\overleftarrow{\partial}_{x^{k}}\overleftarrow{\partial}_{p_{k}}\overleftarrow{\partial}_{x^{j}}\overleftarrow{\partial}_{p_{j}} + \overrightarrow{\partial}_{x^{k}}\overrightarrow{\partial}_{p_{k}}\overrightarrow{\partial}_{x^{j}}\overrightarrow{\partial}_{p_{j}}) - \frac{1}{8}b\hbar^{2}(\overleftarrow{\partial}_{x^{k}} + \overrightarrow{\partial}_{x^{k}})(\overleftarrow{\partial}_{p_{k}} + \overrightarrow{\partial}_{p_{k}})(\overleftarrow{\partial}_{x^{j}} + \overrightarrow{\partial}_{x^{j}})(\overleftarrow{\partial}_{p_{j}} + \overrightarrow{\partial}_{p_{j}})\right)g.$$

Again, all other star-products (6.1.42) are constructed by classical canonical transformations of coordinates.

An integral representation of a star-product is very important and particularly useful for further considerations. In order to do it let us chose the Fourier transform and the convolution defined by formulas (6.1.17)–(6.1.21). Next we need to specify a space \mathcal{G} where the series (6.1.1) ((6.1.7) in particular) is convergent. Let $\mathcal{G} = \mathcal{F}(C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{2n}))$ be the Fourier image of the space of smooth functions on \mathbb{R}^{2n} with the compact support, where the Moyal product (6.1.33) is convergent [136]. We prove the following integral form of that product

$$(f \star_M g)(\xi) = \frac{1}{(\pi\hbar)^{2n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} f(\xi + \xi') g(\xi + \xi'') e^{-\frac{2i}{\hbar}\omega_{\mu\nu}\xi'^{\mu}\xi''^{\nu}} d\xi' d\xi''.$$
(6.1.44)

Indeed, using the properties (6.1.19) and (6.1.20) of the Fourier transform, the Moyal product (6.1.33) can be written in the following representation

$$(f \star_{M} g)(\xi) = \mathcal{F}^{-1} \mathcal{F}(f \star_{M} g)(\xi) = \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \mathcal{F}(f \star_{M} g)(\zeta) e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} \zeta_{\mu} \xi^{\mu}} d\zeta$$
$$= \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^{2n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!} \left(\frac{i\hbar}{2}\right)^{k} \pi^{\mu_{1}\nu_{1}} \cdots \pi^{\mu_{k}\nu_{k}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} \mathcal{F}(\partial_{\xi^{\mu_{1}}} \cdots \partial_{\xi^{\mu_{k}}} f)(\zeta')$$
$$\times \mathcal{F}(\partial_{\xi^{\nu_{1}}} \cdots \partial_{\xi^{\nu_{k}}} g)(\zeta - \zeta') e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} \zeta_{\mu} \xi^{\mu}} d\zeta' d\zeta$$
$$= \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^{2n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!} \left(\frac{i\hbar}{2}\right)^{k} \pi^{\mu_{1}\nu_{1}} \cdots \pi^{\mu_{k}\nu_{k}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} \frac{i}{\hbar} \zeta'_{\mu_{1}} \cdots \frac{i}{\hbar} \zeta'_{\mu_{k}} \mathcal{F}f(\zeta')$$

$$\begin{aligned} & \times \frac{i}{\hbar} (\zeta_{\nu_1} - \zeta_{\nu_1}') \cdots \frac{i}{\hbar} (\zeta_{\nu_k} - \zeta_{\nu_k}') \mathcal{F}g(\zeta - \zeta') e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} \zeta_{\mu} \xi^{\mu}} d\zeta' d\zeta \\ &= \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^{2n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!} \left(\frac{-i}{2\hbar}\right)^k \left(\pi^{\mu\nu} \zeta_{\mu}'(\zeta_{\nu} - \zeta_{\nu}')\right)^k \\ & \times \mathcal{F}f(\zeta') \mathcal{F}g(\zeta - \zeta') e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} \zeta_{\mu} \xi^{\mu}} d\zeta' d\zeta \\ &= \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^{2n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \mathcal{F}f(\zeta') \mathcal{F}g(\zeta - \zeta') e^{-\frac{i}{2\hbar} \pi^{\mu\nu} \zeta_{\mu}'(\zeta_{\nu} - \zeta_{\nu}')} e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} \zeta_{\mu} \xi^{\mu}} d\zeta' d\zeta . \end{aligned}$$

After the change of variables

$$\begin{split} \zeta'_{\mu} &\to \zeta'_{\mu}, \\ \zeta_{\mu} &\to \zeta_{\mu} + \zeta'_{\mu} \end{split}$$

we get

$$(f \star_{M} g)(\xi) = \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^{2n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \mathcal{F}f(\zeta') \mathcal{F}g(\zeta) e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}(\xi^{\mu} + \frac{1}{2}\pi^{\mu\nu}\zeta'_{\nu})\zeta_{\mu}} e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}\zeta'_{\mu}\xi^{\mu}} d\zeta' d\zeta$$

$$= \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \mathcal{F}f(\zeta')g(\xi + \frac{1}{2}\pi\zeta') e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}\zeta'_{\mu}\xi^{\mu}} d\zeta'$$

$$= \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^{2n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} f(\xi')g(\xi + \frac{1}{2}\pi\zeta') e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}\zeta'_{\mu}\xi^{\mu}} e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}\zeta'_{\mu}\xi'^{\mu}} d\xi' d\zeta'.$$

Performing another change of variables

$$\begin{split} \xi^{\prime\mu} &\to \xi^{\mu} + \xi^{\prime\mu}, \\ \xi^{\prime}_{\mu} &\to 2\omega_{\mu\nu}\xi^{\prime\prime\nu} \end{split}$$

and observing that $\pi \omega = I_n$ we receive the result. Notice that in the representation $M = T^* \mathbb{R}^n$ with canonical basis $(x^1, \ldots, x^n, p_1, \ldots, p_n)$, the star product (6.1.44) takes the form [7, 152, 269]

$$(f \star_{M} g)(x, p)$$

$$= \frac{1}{(\pi \hbar)^{2n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} f(x + x', p + p')g(x + x'', p + p'')e^{-\frac{2i}{\hbar}(x''^{k}p'_{k} - x'^{k}p''_{k})} dx'dx''dp'dp''$$

$$= \frac{1}{(\pi \hbar)^{2n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} f(x', p')g(x'', p'')e^{-\frac{2i}{\hbar}[(p'_{k} - p_{k})(x''^{k} - x^{k}) - (x'^{k} - x^{k})(p''_{k} - p_{k})]} dx'dx''dp'dp''.$$
(6.1.45)

The integral form of the Moyal product is also valid for the space of Schwartz functions S. Moreover, it can be shown that \star_M is continuous on S and that for

 $f, g \in S$ we have $f \star_M g \in S$ and

$$\|f \star_M g\|_{L^2} \le \|f\|_{L^2} \|g\|_{L^2},$$

see e.g. [33, 136]. The extension of the Moyal product from \mathcal{G} to a continuous star-product on \mathcal{S} is unique since \mathcal{G} is dense in \mathcal{S} . Hence the Schwartz space \mathcal{S} is an algebra with respect to the Moyal product. From (6.1.3) follows that the Moyal product is continuous with respect to the L^2 -topology and thus can be uniquely extended to a continuous star-product on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^{2N})$ making it an algebra $\mathcal{L} = L^2(\mathbb{R}^{2N}, \star_M)$.

Under substitution $x' \rightarrow \frac{1}{2}x'$, $x'' \rightarrow -\frac{1}{2}x''$, the integral form (6.1.45) of the Moyal product can be written in the following way

$$(f \star_M g)(x, p) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \tilde{f}(x + \frac{1}{2}x', x'') \tilde{g}(x - \frac{1}{2}x'', x') e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}(x'^k + x''^k)p_k} dx' dx'',$$
(6.1.46)

where \tilde{f} denotes the Fourier transform of f in the momentum variable (6.1.23). Note, that the Moyal product on \mathcal{G} is not local, which can be seen from its integral form (6.1.44). For a fixed $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ the value of the integral in (6.1.44) depends on the values of functions f and g far away from ξ .

The Moyal product (6.1.33) is also a valid star-product on the symplectic manifold $M = T^*U = U \times \mathbb{R}^n$, where U is an open subset of \mathbb{R}^n . This is a direct consequence of the fact that the Moyal product is a series of bi-differential operators which are local operators. For $f, g \in C_0^{\infty}(M)$ the integral form (6.1.44) of the product still makes sense, since f and g can be uniquely extended to smooth functions on the whole space \mathbb{R}^{2n} with the same supports as f and g respectively (simply by putting the functions f and g equal 0 outside $U \times \mathbb{R}^n$). In such a case the expression (6.1.44) still can be formally expanded to the series (6.1.33). For $f, g \in \mathcal{G}$ formula (6.1.46) makes sense and defines the Moyal product of functions f and g. Moreover, $f \star_M g$ is smooth and hence $f \star_M g \in \mathcal{G}$, i.e. \mathcal{G} is an algebra with respect to \star_M .

Finally, at the end of that subsection, let us prove that any function $f \in A_Q$ can be expanded into an appropriate \star -power series. For simplicity we do it for the case n = 1, but the generalization onto arbitrary n is straightforward. We show that for any $f(x, p) \in A_Q$

$$f = \sum_{n,m=0}^{\infty} a_{nm} \underbrace{x \star \cdots \star x}_{n} \star \underbrace{p \star \cdots \star p}_{m}, \qquad (6.1.47)$$

where $a_{nm} \in \mathbb{C}$. First we prove it for the Moyal algebra. From relations

$$x \star_M x = x \cdot x, \quad p \star_M p = p \cdot p, \quad x \star_M p = x \cdot p + \frac{1}{2}i\hbar$$

we get the recurrence relations

$$x \cdot (\underbrace{x \star_{M} \cdots \star_{M} x}_{n} \star_{M} \underbrace{p \star_{M} \cdots \star_{M} p}_{m}) = \underbrace{x \star_{M} \cdots \star_{M} x}_{n+1} \star_{M} \underbrace{p \star_{M} \cdots \star_{M} p}_{m}$$
$$- \frac{1}{2}i\hbar m \underbrace{x \star_{M} \cdots \star_{M} x}_{n} \star_{M} \underbrace{p \star_{M} \cdots \star_{M} p}_{m-1},$$
$$p \cdot (\underbrace{x \star_{M} \cdots \star_{M} x}_{n} \star_{M} \underbrace{p \star_{M} \cdots \star_{M} p}_{m}) = \underbrace{x \star_{M} \cdots \star_{M} x}_{n} \star_{M} \underbrace{p \star_{M} \cdots \star_{M} p}_{m+1}$$
$$- \frac{1}{2}i\hbar n \underbrace{x \star_{M} \cdots \star_{M} x}_{n-1} \star_{M} \underbrace{p \star_{M} \cdots \star_{M} p}_{m}$$

and hence, it follows that monomials $x^n p^m$ can be written as \star_M -polynomials. Thus after expanding f into the power series it is seen that f can be written in the form (6.1.47). Then, for any other \star -product, related to the Moyal one by (6.1.8), we have

$$Sf = \sum_{n,m=0}^{\infty} a_{nm} \underbrace{x \star \cdots \star x}_{n} \star \underbrace{p \star \cdots \star p}_{m},$$

and hence

$$f = \sum_{n,m=0}^{\infty} a'_{nm} \underbrace{x \star \cdots \star x}_{n} \star \underbrace{p \star \cdots \star p}_{m},$$

where

$$f' = S^{-1}f = \sum_{n,m=0}^{\infty} a'_{nm} \underbrace{q \star_M \cdots \star_M q}_{n} \star_M \underbrace{p \star_M \cdots \star_M p}_{m}.$$

Particular examples of morphism S, either explicitly or up to some order of \hbar , are constructed in next subsections.

6.1.4 Canonical Transformations of Star-Products

As previously, let us consider a symplectic manifold $M = T^*U = U \times \mathbb{R}^n$, where U is an open subset of \mathbb{R}^n . A transformation of phase space coordinates is defined as in classical mechanics, i.e., as a smooth bijective map $T: M \supset U \ni (x, p) \rightarrow (x', p') \in W \subset M$. The transformed star-product, denoted hereafter by \star_T , should

fulfill the following natural condition

$$(f \star g) \circ T = (f \circ T) \star_T (g \circ T), \quad f, g \in \mathcal{A}_Q.$$

Assume that (x', p') are classical canonical coordinates. When the star-product in (x', p') coordinates is the Moyal product

$$f \star'_{M} g = f \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}i\hbar\overleftarrow{\partial}_{x'^{j}}\overrightarrow{\partial}_{p'_{j}} - \frac{1}{2}i\hbar\overleftarrow{\partial}_{p'_{j}}\overrightarrow{\partial}_{x'^{j}}\right)g$$
(6.1.48)

hence (x', p') are also quantum canonical coordinates. Then, the \star_T -product is given by the following formula (6.1.33)

$$f \star_T g = f \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}i\hbar \overleftarrow{D}_{x^j} \overrightarrow{D}_{p_j} - \frac{1}{2}i\hbar \overleftarrow{D}_{p_j} \overrightarrow{D}_{x^j}\right)g,$$
(6.1.49)

where vector fields D_{x^j} , D_{p_j} are derivations $\partial_{x'^j}$, $\partial_{p'_j}$ transformed by the transformation *T* according to the rule

$$\begin{aligned} &(\partial_{x'^j}f)\circ T=D_{x^j}(f\circ T),\quad f\in C^\infty(M),\\ &(\partial_{p'_j}f)\circ T=D_{p_j}(f\circ T),\quad f\in C^\infty(M). \end{aligned}$$

Notice that the Moyal product (6.1.48) in (x', p') coordinates transforms into a non-Moyal product (6.1.49) in new coordinates (x, p), more complicated in general.

To this moment we considered general transformations of coordinates. In what follows we will focus on an important class of transformations, namely these which are classical and/or quantum canonical transformations. In classical mechanics a canonical transformation is such a transformation T of phase space coordinates which transforms the system from one canonical coordinate system to the other. In other words, T is a canonical transformation if it preserves the form of the Poisson bracket (see Sect. 4.1.4), i.e.,

$$\{x^i, p_j\} = \delta^i_j,$$

where $\{\cdot, \cdot\}$ denotes a Poisson bracket transformed by *T* to the new coordinate system:

$$\{f,g\}=\{f\circ T^{-1},g\circ T^{-1}\}'\circ T,\quad f,g\in C^\infty(M).$$

Canonical transformations for the quantum Poisson bracket are defined in a similar manner [35, 75, 87, 91, 147]. Namely, a quantum canonical transformation is such a transformation T of coordinates which preserves the form of the quantum

Poisson bracket, i.e.,

$$\llbracket x^i, p_j \rrbracket_{\star} = \delta^i_j,$$

where $[[\cdot, \cdot]]_{\star}$ denotes a deformed Poisson bracket transformed by *T* to the new coordinate system:

$$\llbracket f,g \rrbracket_{\star} = \llbracket f \circ T^{-1}, g \circ T^{-1} \rrbracket_{\star'} \circ T, \quad f,g \in C^{\infty}(M).$$

Assume now that (x, p) are canonical coordinates for a nondegenerate Poisson tensor π and \star_M is a Moyal product in these coordinates. Let us denote

$$T(x, p) = (Q^{1}(x, p), \dots, Q^{n}(x, p), P_{1}(x, p), \dots, P_{n}(x, p)),$$

then T defines a classical canonical transformation if

$$\left\{ Q^{i}(x, p), P_{j}(x, p) \right\}_{\pi} = \delta^{i}_{j},$$

$$\left\{ Q^{i}(x, p), Q^{j}(x, p) \right\}_{\pi} = \left\{ P_{i}(x, p), P_{j}(x, p) \right\}_{\pi} = 0$$
(6.1.50)

and T defines a quantum canonical transformation if

$$\llbracket Q^{i}(x, p), P_{j}(x, p) \rrbracket_{\star_{M}} = \delta^{i}_{j}, \llbracket Q^{i}(x, p), Q^{j}(x, p) \rrbracket_{\star_{M}} = \llbracket P_{i}(x, p), P_{j}(x, p) \rrbracket_{\star_{M}} = 0.$$
(6.1.51)

There are transformations which are either classically canonical or quantum canonical. The following two examples illustrate such cases.

Example 6.3 A transformation which is only classically canonical [93]. Let us define such a transformation by

$$Q(x, p) = x \exp(2\alpha x p), \quad P(x, p) = p \exp(-2\alpha x p),$$

where $\alpha \neq 0$ is a real parameter. It is obviously classically canonical transformation as

$$\{Q(x, p), P(x, p)\} = 1.$$

However, it is not a quantum canonical with respect to the Moyal bracket. To check this let us first compute $Q(x, p) \star_M P(x, p)$ using the kernel representation (6.1.45).

Substituting $t = i\tau$, we get after some integrations and integration by parts

$$Q(x, p) \star_M P(x, p) = \frac{xp + \frac{1}{2}i\hbar}{[1 + (\alpha\hbar)^2]^2}, \quad P(x, p) \star_M Q(x, p) = \frac{xp - \frac{1}{2}i\hbar}{[1 + (\alpha\hbar)^2]^2}$$

and hence

$$\llbracket Q(x, p), P(x, p) \rrbracket_{\star_M} = [1 + (\alpha \hbar)^2]^{-2} \neq 1.$$

Example 6.4 A transformation which is only quantum canonical [93]. Let us define such a transformation by

$$Q(x, p) = \beta \exp\left(\frac{x}{\beta}\right), \quad P(x, p) = \exp\left(-\frac{x}{\beta}\right) \left[p + \gamma \sinh\left(\frac{2\beta\pi p}{\hbar}\right)\right],$$

where β and γ are positive real constants. Obviously this is not a classically canonical transformation as

$$\{Q(x, p), P(x, p)\} = 1 + \frac{2\beta\gamma\pi}{\hbar}\cosh\left(\frac{2\beta\pi p}{\hbar}\right) > 1.$$

On the other hand we have

$$Q(x, p) \left(\overleftarrow{\partial}_x \overrightarrow{\partial}_p - \overleftarrow{\partial}_p \overrightarrow{\partial}_x \right)^{2n+1} P(x, p) = \beta \gamma \left(\frac{2\pi}{\hbar} \right)^{2n+1} \cosh\left(\frac{2\beta \pi p}{\hbar} \right).$$

Consequently, from (6.1.35),

$$\begin{split} \llbracket Q(x, p), P(x, p) \rrbracket_{\star_M} \\ &= \{Q(x, p), P(x, p)\} \\ &+ \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^n}{(2n+1)!} \left(\frac{\hbar}{2}\right)^{2n} Q(x, p) \left(\overleftarrow{\partial}_x \overrightarrow{\partial}_p - \overleftarrow{\partial}_p \overrightarrow{\partial}_x\right)^{2n+1} P(x, p) \\ &= 1 + \frac{2\beta\gamma}{\hbar} \cosh\left(\frac{2\beta\pi p}{\hbar}\right) \sin\pi = 1, \end{split}$$

and so this is a quantum canonical transformation.

In what follows we will present four important classes of nonlinear canonical transformations (both classical and quantum) [35]. The linear case is considered separately. A sufficient condition for such a class of transformations is a linearity in one set of arguments of an appropriate generating function (see Sect. 4.1.4).

Let us begin with the case of two-dimensional phase space and generating function of the form

$$F_1(x', x) = x'\phi_1(x) + \phi_2(x).$$

The related transformation is expressed by equations

$$p' = \frac{\partial F_1}{\partial x'}(x', x), \quad p = -\frac{\partial F_1}{\partial x}(x', x),$$

where ϕ_1 is a smooth bijective function and ϕ_2 is a smooth function. The above equations lead to a class of transformations in the form

$$T_1(x, p) = (Q_1(x, p), P_1(x, p)) = \left(-\left(\phi_1'(x)\right)^{-1}p - \left(\phi_1'(x)\right)^{-1}\phi_2'(x), \phi_1(x)\right),$$
(6.1.52)

where $\phi'(x) = \frac{d}{dx}\phi(x)$. Note, that generating function

$$\tilde{F}_1(x', x) = -x\phi_1(x') - \phi_2(x')$$

induces a transformation \tilde{T}_1 being an inverse transformation to T_1 .

The second class of transformations

$$x' = -\frac{\partial F_2}{\partial p'}(p', p), \quad x = \frac{\partial F_2}{\partial p}(p', p),$$

is generated by functions

$$F_2(p', p) = -p'\phi_1(p) - \phi_2(p)$$

which give

$$T_2(x, p) = (Q_2(x, p), P_2(x, p)) = \left(\phi_1(p), -(\phi_1'(p))^{-1}x - (\phi_1'(p))^{-1}\phi_2'(p)\right).$$

In this case functions

$$F_2(p', p) = p\phi_1(p') + \phi_2(p')$$

generate transformation \tilde{T}_2 being an inverse transformation to T_2 .

The third and fourth classes of transformations are generated by

$$F_3(x', p) = x'\phi_1(p) + \phi_2(p),$$

$$F_4(x, p') = -p'\phi_1(x) - \phi_2(x),$$

with related transformations expressed by the equations

$$p' = \frac{\partial F_3}{\partial x'}(x', p), \quad x = \frac{\partial F_3}{\partial p}(x', p),$$

and

$$x' = -\frac{\partial F_4}{\partial p'}(x, p'), \quad p = -\frac{\partial F_4}{\partial x}(x, p').$$

The above equations give transformations in the form

$$T_{3}(x, p) = (Q_{3}(x, p), P_{3}(x, p)) = \left(\left(\phi_{1}'(p) \right)^{-1} x - \left(\phi_{1}'(p) \right)^{-1} \phi_{2}'(p), \phi_{1}(p) \right),$$

$$(6.1.53)$$

$$T_{4}(x, p) = (Q_{4}(x, p), P_{4}(x, p)) = \left(\phi_{1}(x), \left(\phi_{1}'(x) \right)^{-1} p - \left(\phi_{1}'(x) \right)^{-1} \phi_{2}'(x) \right).$$

$$(6.1.54)$$

Observe that functions

$$\tilde{F}_3(x', p) = -p\phi_1(x') - \phi_2(x'),$$

$$\tilde{F}_4(x, p') = x\phi_1(p') + \phi_2(p')$$

generate transformations $\tilde{T}_3 = T_4^{-1}$ and $\tilde{T}_4 = T_3^{-1}$.

Note, that the transformations T_2 , T_3 and T_4 can be constructed from T_1 with the help of an interchange of variables transformation I(x, p) = (-p, x) being a special case of the transformation T_1 generated by a function F(x', x) = xx':

$$T_2 = I \circ T_1 \circ I^{-1},$$

$$T_3 = T_1 \circ I^{-1},$$

$$T_4 = I^{-1} \circ T_1.$$

Thus instead of considering the transformation theory for transformations T_1 , T_2 , T_3 and T_4 it is enough to consider only the transformation T_1 and its appropriate compositions with I.

The four presented classes of transformations are obviously classically canonical. It can be shown that they are also quantum canonical for Moyal product as

$$\llbracket Q_i(x, p), P_i(x, p) \rrbracket_{\star_M} = 1.$$

They belong to the intersection of the set of classical canonical transformations of a given Poisson tensor π and the set of quantum canonical transformations of its related quantum deformation.

The presented considerations can be easily extended to a 2n-dimensional case. As an example let us present the transformation T_1 (6.1.52) in 2n-dimensions. Consider a generating function

$$F(x', x) = x'^{i}(\phi_{1})_{i}(x) + \phi_{2}(x),$$

where $\phi_1 = ((\phi_1)_1, \dots, (\phi_1)_n) \colon \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ is a smooth bijective function and $\phi_2 \colon \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ a smooth function, and $x = (x^1, \dots, x^n)$. The function *F* generates the transformation T(x, p) = (x', p') of the form

$$\begin{split} x'^{i} &= -p_{j}[(\phi_{1}'(x))^{-1}]^{ji} - [\phi_{2}'(x)]_{j}[(\phi_{1}'(x))^{-1}]^{ji}, \\ p_{i}' &= (\phi_{1})_{i}(x), \end{split}$$

where $[(\phi'_1(x))^{-1}]^{ji}$ is the inverse of the Jacobian matrix $[\phi'_1(x)]_{ij} = \frac{\partial(\phi_1)_i}{\partial x^j}(x)$ of ϕ_1 and $[\phi'_2(x)]_j = \frac{\partial \phi_2}{\partial x^j}(x)$ is the Jacobian matrix of ϕ_2 . A calculation shows that this transformation is also quantum canonical for the Moyal product. All other cases can be extended in a similar fashion.

In what follows the well known linear transformations of coordinates of a quantum phase space will be reconsidered in the frame of formalism just developed. For n = 1 the linear transformation is a transformation $T: \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ given by the equation

$$T(x, p) = (dx - bp, -cx + ap),$$

where $a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{R}$. Moreover, it is assumed that ad - bc = 1, which makes this transformation canonical both on a classical and quantum level, i.e. it preserves both the Poisson bracket and the star-commutator. The inverse transformation is given by the following equation

$$T^{-1}(x', p') = (ax' + bp', cx' + dp').$$

The linear transformation T is generated by a function $F(x', x) = \frac{1}{b}xx' - \frac{a}{2b}x'^2 - \frac{d}{2b}x^2$, i.e.

$$p' = \frac{\partial F}{\partial x'}(x', x), \quad p = -\frac{\partial F}{\partial x}(x', x),$$

where (x', p') = T(x, p).

6.1 Star-Algebras

For a given function $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ the derivatives of the function f transform as follows

$$\begin{split} &\frac{\partial f}{\partial x'} \circ T = a \frac{\partial}{\partial x} (f \circ T) + c \frac{\partial}{\partial p} (f \circ T), \\ &\frac{\partial f}{\partial p'} \circ T = b \frac{\partial}{\partial x} (f \circ T) + d \frac{\partial}{\partial p} (f \circ T). \end{split}$$

Using the above formulae one finds that the linear transformation T preserves the \star -product, i.e. the \star -product does not change after the transformation of coordinates

$$(f \star g) \circ T = (f \circ T) \star (g \circ T), \quad f, g \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2).$$

Of course, in this case the isomorphism $S_T = 1$. The extension onto arbitrary n is straightforward.

Let us return to the transformed Moyal product (6.1.49). If new coordinates (x, p) are quantum canonical with respect to the transformed product (6.1.49) then, as will be proved in the next subsection, there exists a morphism S_T of the form

$$S_T = \mathrm{id} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \hbar^k S_k,$$

where S_k are differential operators on $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{2n})[[\hbar]]$, such that

$$S_T(f \star_M^{(x,p)} g) = S_T f \star_T^{(x,p)} S_T g,$$
(6.1.55a)

$$S_T x^i = x^i, \quad S_T p_i = p_i, \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$
 (6.1.55b)

where $\star_M^{(x,p)}$ is a star-product which in the coordinates $(\xi) = (x^1, \dots, x^n, p_1, \dots, p_n)$ p_n) is of the form of the Moyal product (6.1.33). This fact is crucial as it means that in new coordinates we again can use the Moyal product with deformed properly quantum observables.

For deriving the form of the automorphism S_T for particular transformations T, other forms of the conditions (6.1.55) will be more useful. The conditions (6.1.55)are fulfilled if and only if the conditions

$$(\hat{q}_T)^j = S_T(\hat{q}_M)^j S_T^{-1}, \tag{6.1.56a}$$

$$(\hat{p}_T)_j = S_T(\hat{p}_M)_j S_T^{-1},$$
(6.1.56b)
(6.1.56b)

are fulfilled, where $(\hat{q}_T)^j = x^j \star_T$, $(\hat{p}_T)_j = p_j \star_T$, $(\hat{q}_M)^j = x^j \star_M$ and $(\hat{p}_M)_i = p_i \star_M$ are operators of position and momentum in \star_M and \star_T quantizations, respectively. Notice, that according to (6.1.34)

$$(\hat{q}_M)^j = x^j + \frac{1}{2}i\hbar\partial_{p_j}, \quad (\hat{p}_M)_j = p_j - \frac{1}{2}i\hbar\partial_{x^j},$$
(6.1.57)

and are known as "Bopp shifts" (see Chapter 18 in [82], for example).

For simplicity we will present the proof for a two-dimensional case (n = 1). If the conditions (6.1.55) are fulfilled then the conditions (6.1.56a), (6.1.56b) are fulfilled as well, as for any $f \in A_Q$

$$\hat{q}_T f = x \star_T f = S_T S_T^{-1} (x \star_T f) = S_T (S_T^{-1} x \star_M S_T^{-1} f)$$

= $S_T (x \star_M S_T^{-1} f) = [S_T (x \star_M) S_T^{-1}] f = (S_T \hat{q} S_T^{-1}) f$

with similar calculations for (6.1.56b). Assume now, that the conditions (6.1.56a), (6.1.56b) are fulfilled. Then it follows that (6.1.55a) will be satisfied for every f in the form of a \star -monomial $x \star_M \cdots \star_M x \star_M p \star_M \cdots \star_M p$ as

$$S_T \left(\underbrace{x \star_M \cdots \star_M x}_n \star_M \underbrace{p \star_M \cdots \star_M p}_m \right) \star_M g \right)$$

$$= S_T x \star_T S_T \underbrace{(x \star_M \cdots \star_M x}_{n-1} \star_M \underbrace{p \star_M \cdots \star_M p}_m \star_M g \right)$$

$$= \underbrace{S_T x \star_T \cdots \star_T S_T x}_n \star_T \underbrace{S_T p \star_T \cdots \star_T S_T p}_m \star_T S_T g$$

$$= \underbrace{S_T x \star_T \cdots \star_T S_T x}_n \star_T \underbrace{S_T p \star_T \cdots \star_T S_T p}_{m-2} \star_T S_T (p \star_M p) \star_T S_T g$$

$$= S_T \underbrace{(x \star_M \cdots \star_M x}_n \star_M \underbrace{p \star_M \cdots \star_M p}_m \star_T S_T g.$$

From the linearity of S_T and the fact that the general $f \in A_Q$ can be written in the form of the series (6.1.47) follows the condition (6.1.55a). The condition (6.1.55b) can be received by calculating left and right sides of (6.1.56a), (6.1.56b) on function identically equal 1.

If $\overline{T} = T$, then for both star-algebras (6.1.48) and (6.1.49) the complex conjugation is an involution. As a consequence $\overline{S}_T = S_T$. More generally, such transformations do not change the involution (6.1.38) for the class of a star-product (6.1.42). Indeed

$$f^{*T} = SS_T \overline{(SS_T)^{-1}} f = SS_T \overline{S_T^{-1}} \overline{S^{-1}} \overline{f} = S\overline{S^{-1}} f = f^*.$$

6.1 Star-Algebras

Let us analyze the following instructive case [35] of a particular class of nonlinear transformations of coordinates

$$T(x, p) = (-ap - a\phi'(x), a^{-1}x),$$

i.e. the case of T_1 (6.1.52) generated by the function $F(x', x) = a^{-1}xx' + \phi(x)$ ($a \in \mathbb{R}, a \neq 0, \phi$ being an arbitrary smooth function). This transformation is a classical canonical transformation. For a given function $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ the derivatives of the function f transform as follows

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial x'} \circ T = -\frac{1}{a} \frac{\partial}{\partial p} (f \circ T),$$
$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial p'} \circ T = a \frac{\partial}{\partial x} (f \circ T) - a \phi''(x) \frac{\partial}{\partial p} (f \circ T).$$

Hence the Moyal \star' -product transforms to the following one

$$f \star_T g = f \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}i\hbar\overleftrightarrow{D_x}\overrightarrow{D_p} - \frac{1}{2}i\hbar\overleftrightarrow{D_p}\overrightarrow{D_x}\right)g,$$

where

$$D_x = a^{-1}\partial_p,$$

$$D_p = a\partial_x - a\phi''(x)\partial_p.$$

In consequence, one calculates that

$$\hat{q}_T = x \star_T = x + \frac{1}{2}i\hbar\partial_p,$$

$$\hat{p}_T = p \star_T = p - \frac{1}{2}i\hbar\partial_x - \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \left(\frac{i\hbar}{2}\right)^n \phi^{(n+1)}(x)\partial_p^n,$$

and moreover

$$[\hat{q}_T, \hat{p}_T] = i\hbar.$$

The above equation shows that the transformation T is a quantum canonical transformation for the Moyal product.

The isomorphism S_T intertwining the Moyal \star_M -product with the \star_T -product in (x, p) coordinates is given by [35]

$$S_T = \exp\left(-\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(2n+1)!} (-1)^n \left(\frac{\hbar}{2}\right)^{2n} \phi^{(2n+1)}(x) \partial_p^{2n+1}\right).$$
(6.1.58)

Indeed, from (6.1.56a), (6.1.56b) it is enough to prove that

$$\hat{q}_T = S_T \hat{q}_M S_T^{-1},$$
$$\hat{p}_T = S_T \hat{p}_M S_T^{-1}.$$

Since $S_T = e^{\hat{A}}$ where

$$\hat{A} = -\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(2n+1)!} (-1)^n \left(\frac{\hbar}{2}\right)^{2n} \phi^{(2n+1)}(x) \partial_p^{2n+1}$$

the above equations, from the Hadamard's lemma, take the form

$$\hat{q}_T = e^{[\hat{A}, \cdot]} \hat{q}_M,$$
 (6.1.59)

$$\hat{p}_T = e^{[\hat{A}, \cdot]} \hat{p}_M.$$
 (6.1.60)

One can calculate that $[\hat{A}, \hat{q}_M] = 0$ and thus

$$e^{[\hat{A},\,\cdot\,]}\hat{q}_M=\hat{q}_M=\hat{q}_T,$$

which proves (6.1.59). On the other hand, one finds that

$$\begin{split} [\hat{A}, \, \hat{p}_M] &= -\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(2n)!} (-1)^n \left(\frac{\hbar}{2}\right)^{2n} \phi^{(2n+1)}(x) \partial_p^{2n} \\ &- \frac{1}{2} i \hbar \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(2n+1)!} (-1)^n \left(\frac{\hbar}{2}\right)^{2n} \phi^{(2n+2)}(x) \partial_p^{2n+1} \\ &= -\sum_{n=2}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \left(\frac{i \hbar}{2}\right)^n \phi^{(n+1)}(x) \partial_p^n \end{split}$$

and

$$[\hat{A}, [\hat{A}, \hat{p}_M]] = 0.$$

6.1 Star-Algebras

Thus

$$e^{[\hat{A},\cdot]}\hat{p}_M = p - \frac{1}{2}i\hbar\partial_x - \sum_{n=2}^{\infty}\frac{1}{n!}\left(\frac{i\hbar}{2}\right)^n\phi^{(n+1)}(x)\partial_p^n = \hat{p}_T,$$

which proves (6.1.60).

Let us derive the more compact formula for S_T , transforming (6.1.58) as follows

$$S_T = \exp\left(-\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(n+1)!} \left(\frac{i\hbar}{2}\right)^n \frac{1+(-1)^n}{2} \phi^{(n+1)}(x) \partial_p^{n+1}\right)$$

$$= \exp\left[\frac{i}{\hbar} \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \left(1-(-1)^n\right) \phi^{(n)}(x) \left(\frac{1}{2}i\hbar\partial_p\right)^n\right]$$

$$= \exp\left[\frac{i}{\hbar} \left(\phi \left(x+\frac{1}{2}i\hbar\partial_p\right) - \phi(x) - \phi'(x)\frac{1}{2}i\hbar\partial_p - \phi \left(x-\frac{1}{2}i\hbar\partial_p\right) + \phi(x) - \phi'(x)\frac{1}{2}i\hbar\partial_p\right)\right]$$

$$= \exp\left[\frac{i}{\hbar} \left(\phi \left(x+\frac{1}{2}i\hbar\partial_p\right) - \phi \left(x-\frac{1}{2}i\hbar\partial_p\right) - i\hbar\phi'(x)\partial_p\right)\right]$$

$$= \exp\left(\frac{i}{\hbar} \left[\phi(\hat{q}_M) - \phi'(x)\hat{q}_M - \phi(\hat{q}_M^*) + \phi'(x)\hat{q}_M^*\right]\right).$$

Observe that the map S_T preserves the involution, i.e.,

$$S_T(\bar{f}) = (\overline{S_T f}), \quad f \in \mathcal{A}_Q,$$

which can be immediately seen from the fact that $S_T = \bar{S}_T$.

The class of point transformations on the phase space $M = T^*E^n$ is particularly important for our further considerations. Let us start from the simplest case of n = 1. Then, the transformation takes the form

$$T(x, p) = (\phi(x), (\phi'(x))^{-1}p)$$

generated by functions $F(x, p') = -p'\phi(x)$ (ϕ being an arbitrary smooth bijective function). These transformations from construction are classical canonical transformations of class T_4 (6.1.54) where $\phi_1 \equiv \phi$ and $\phi_2 = 0$. For a given function $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ the derivatives of the function f transform as follows

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial x'} \circ T = (\phi'(x))^{-2} \phi''(x) p \frac{\partial}{\partial p} (f \circ T) + (\phi'(x))^{-1} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} (f \circ T),$$
$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial p'} \circ T = \phi'(x) \frac{\partial}{\partial p} (f \circ T).$$

In consequence, the Moyal \star' -product transforms to the following product

$$f \star_T g = f \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}i\hbar\overleftarrow{D}_x\overrightarrow{D}_p - \frac{1}{2}i\hbar\overleftarrow{D}_p\overrightarrow{D}_x\right)g,$$
(6.1.61)

where

$$D_x = (\phi'(x))^{-1}\partial_x + (\phi'(x))^{-2}\phi''(x)p\partial_p,$$

$$D_p = \phi'(x)\partial_p.$$

To the third order in \hbar the operators \hat{q}_T and \hat{p}_T are of the form

$$\begin{split} \hat{q}_T &= x + \frac{1}{2}i\hbar\partial_p + \frac{1}{8}\hbar^2\Gamma(x)\partial_p^2 - \frac{1}{48}i\hbar^3\left(2\Gamma^2(x) - \Gamma'(x)\right)\partial_p^3 + O(\hbar^4), \\ \hat{p}_T &= p - \frac{1}{2}i\hbar\partial_x + \frac{1}{8}\hbar^2\left[2\Gamma^2(x)\partial_p + 2\Gamma(x)\partial_x\partial_p + \left(2\Gamma^2(x) - \Gamma'(x)\right)p\partial_p^2\right] \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{48}i\hbar^3\left[6\Gamma(x)\Gamma'(x)\partial_p^2 + 3\Gamma'(x)\partial_x\partial_p^2 - (\Gamma''(x) + 4\Gamma(x)\Gamma'(x))p\partial_p^3\right] + O(\hbar^4), \end{split}$$

where $\Gamma(x) = (\phi'(x))^{-1} \phi''(x)$. Moreover, it can be verified [35] that

$$[\hat{q}_T, \, \hat{p}_T] = i\hbar,$$

which proves that T is a quantum canonical transformation.

Up to the second order in \hbar the isomorphism S_T reads

$$S_T = 1 + \frac{\hbar^2}{4!} \left[3\Gamma^2(x)\partial_p^2 + 3\Gamma(x)\partial_x\partial_p^2 + (2\Gamma^2(x) - \Gamma'(x))p\partial_p^3 \right] + O(\hbar^4).$$

Example 6.5 Consider a classical point transformation of coordinates [35] $T : (\mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}) \times \mathbb{R} \to (\mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}) \times \mathbb{R}, T(x, p) = (x', p')$ where

$$x' = \begin{cases} \sqrt{|2x|}, & x > 0\\ -\sqrt{|2x|}, & x < 0 \end{cases}, \quad p' = p\sqrt{|2x|},$$

with the inverse T^{-1} in the form

$$x = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2}x^{\prime 2}, & x^{\prime} > 0\\ -\frac{1}{2}x^{\prime 2}, & x^{\prime} < 0 \end{cases}, \quad p = |x^{\prime}|^{-1}p^{\prime},$$

The operators \hat{q}_T and \hat{p}_T take then the form

$$\hat{q}_T = x + \frac{1}{2}i\hbar\partial_p - \frac{1}{8}\hbar^2 \operatorname{sgn}(x)|2x|^{-1}\partial_p^2,$$

$$\hat{p}_T = p - \frac{1}{2}i\hbar\partial_x + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(-\frac{i\hbar}{2}\right)^{n+1} \left((\operatorname{sgn}(x))^n |2x|^{-n}\partial_x\partial_p^n - n(\operatorname{sgn}(x))^{n+1} |2x|^{-n-1}\partial_p^n\right),$$

and the isomorphism S_T is expressed by the formula

$$S_T = \exp\left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-1)^n \left(\frac{\hbar}{2}\right)^{2n} \left(A_n \operatorname{sgn}(x) |2x|^{-2n+1} \partial_x \partial_p^{2n} - B_n |2x|^{-2n} \partial_p^{2n}\right)\right),$$

where A_n and B_n are rational constants given recursively by

$$A_n = \frac{1}{2n} \left(1 - \sum_{k=2}^n \frac{1}{k!} A_{2n-1}^{(k)} \right),$$

$$B_n = \frac{1}{2n} \left(2n - 1 - \sum_{k=2}^n \frac{1}{k!} B_{2n-1}^{(k)} \right),$$

where

$$A_{2n-1}^{(k)} = \sum_{m=1}^{n-1} 4(n-2m)A_{n-m}A_{2m-1}^{(k-1)},$$

$$B_{2n-1}^{(k)} = \sum_{m=1}^{n-1} \left(4(n-m)B_{n-m}A_{2m-1}^{(k-1)} - 4mA_{n-m}B_{2m-1}^{(k-1)}\right)$$

for k = 2, 3, ..., n and n = 2, 3, ..., and

$$A_1^{(k)} = B_1^{(k)} = 0, \quad k = 2, 3, \dots,$$

 $A_{2n-1}^{(1)} = 2nA_n, \quad B_{2n-1}^{(1)} = 2nB_n, \quad n = 1, 2, \dots.$

The values of a few first constants A_n and B_n are

$$A_{1} = \frac{1}{2}, \qquad A_{2} = \frac{1}{4}, \qquad A_{3} = \frac{1}{4}, \qquad A_{4} = \frac{7}{24},$$
$$B_{1} = \frac{1}{2}, \qquad B_{2} = \frac{3}{4}, \qquad B_{3} = \frac{5}{4}, \qquad B_{4} = \frac{49}{24}.$$

Now, let us pass to a multi-dimensional case of point transformation on $M = T^* E^n$

$$T: x'^{i} = \phi^{i}(x),$$

$$p'_{i} = \left[\phi'(x)^{-1}\right]^{j}_{i} p_{j},$$
(6.1.62)

where $\phi'(x)^{-1}$ is an inverse of Jacobian $\left[\phi'(x)\right]_{j}^{i} = \frac{\partial \phi^{i}}{\partial x^{j}}$, x' are Cartesian coordinates and x are curvilinear coordinates on E^{n} . The Moyal product

$$\star_{M}^{(x',p')} = \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}i\hbar\overleftarrow{\partial}_{x'^{i}}\overrightarrow{\partial}_{p'_{i}} - \frac{1}{2}i\hbar\overleftarrow{\partial}_{p'_{i}}\overrightarrow{\partial}_{x'^{i}}\right)$$
(6.1.63)

transforms to a new star-product

$$\star^{(x,p)} = \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}i\hbar\overleftarrow{D}_{x^{i}}\overrightarrow{D}_{p_{i}} - \frac{1}{2}i\hbar\overleftarrow{D}_{p_{i}}\overrightarrow{D}_{x^{i}}\right) = \exp\frac{1}{2}i\hbar\pi^{\alpha\beta}\overleftarrow{D}_{\alpha}\overrightarrow{D}_{\beta},$$
(6.1.64)

such that

$$(f \star_M^{(x',p')} g) \circ T = (f \circ T) \star^{(x,p)} (g \circ T),$$

where

$$D_{i} = D_{x^{i}} = \left[\phi'(x)^{-1}\right]_{i}^{j} \partial_{x^{j}} + \left[\phi'(x)^{-1}\right]_{i}^{j} \left[\phi'(x)^{-1}\right]_{k}^{r} \left[\phi''(x)\right]_{jl}^{k} p_{r} \partial_{p_{l}},$$

$$D_{n+i} = D_{p_{i}} = \left[\phi'(x)\right]_{j}^{i} \partial_{p_{j}},$$
(6.1.65)

and $\left[\phi''(x)\right]_{jl}^{k} = \frac{\partial^{2}\phi^{k}}{\partial x^{j}\partial x^{l}}$ is the Hessian of ϕ . Up to quadratic terms in \hbar , the isomorphism S_{T} relating $\star_{M}^{(x,p)}$ -algebra (6.1.33) and $\star^{(x,p)}$ -algebra (6.1.64) respectively, is of the form

$$S_{T} = id + \frac{\hbar^{2}}{4!} [3\Gamma_{lj}^{i}(x)\Gamma_{ik}^{l}(x)\partial_{p_{j}}\partial_{p_{k}} + 3\Gamma_{jk}^{i}(x)\partial_{x^{i}}\partial_{p_{j}}\partial_{p_{k}} + \left(2\Gamma_{nl}^{i}(x)\Gamma_{jk}^{n}(x) - \partial_{x^{l}}\Gamma_{jk}^{i}(x)\right)p_{i}\partial_{p_{j}}\partial_{p_{k}}\partial_{p_{l}}] + O(\hbar^{4})$$

$$(6.1.66)$$

and will be crucial for our further considerations. To the second order in \hbar the operators \hat{q}_T^j and \hat{p}_{jT} are

$$(\hat{q}_T)^j = x^j + \frac{1}{2}i\hbar\partial_{p_j} + \frac{1}{8}\hbar^2\Gamma^j_{kn}(x)\partial_{p_k}\partial_{p_n} + O(\hbar^3),$$
(6.1.67a)

$$(\hat{p}_T)_j = p_j - \frac{1}{2}i\hbar\partial_{x^j} + \frac{1}{8}\hbar^2 \left\{ 2\Gamma^m_{nj}(x)\Gamma^n_{mk}(x)\partial_{p_k} + 2\Gamma^k_{jn}(x)\partial_{x^k}\partial_{p_n} \right.$$
(6.1.67b)

+
$$\left[\Gamma_{nl}^{k}(x)\Gamma_{mj}^{n}(x) + \Gamma_{nj}^{k}(x)\Gamma_{ml}^{n}(x) - \Gamma_{mj,l}^{k}(x)\right]p_{k}\partial_{p_{m}}\partial_{p_{l}}\left\} + O(\hbar^{3}),$$

where

$$\Gamma^{i}_{jk}(x) = [(\phi'(x)^{-1}]^{i}_{r}[\phi''(x)]^{r}_{jk}$$

are coefficients of the Levi-Civita connection on E^n in curvilinear coordinates (see (2.6.5)).

In what follows let us transform the vector representation (6.1.64) of the $\star^{(x,p)}$ -product to its covariant representation. Taking into account the explicit form of vector fields (6.1.65), the $\star^{(x,p)}$ -product (6.1.64) can be written in the form

$$f \star^{(x,p)} g = \sum_{n,m=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!m!} (-1)^m \left(\frac{i\hbar}{2}\right)^{n+m} (D_{i_1\dots i_n}^{j_1\dots j_m} f) (D_{j_1\dots j_m}^{i_1\dots i_n} g)$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!} \left(\frac{i\hbar}{2}\right)^k \sum_{n=0}^k \binom{k}{n} (-1)^{k-n} (D_{i_1\dots i_n}^{j_1\dots j_{k-n}} f) (D_{j_1\dots j_{k-n}}^{i_1\dots i_n} g),$$
(6.1.68)

where operators $D_{i_1...i_n}^{j_1...j_m}$ are given by recursion formulas [37]

$$D_{i_1\dots i_{n+1}}^{j_1\dots j_m} f = D_{i_{n+1}}(D_{i_1\dots i_n}^{j_1\dots j_m} f) - \Gamma_{i_1i_{n+1}}^k D_{k\dots i_n}^{j_1\dots j_m} f - \dots - \Gamma_{i_ni_{n+1}}^k D_{i_1\dots k}^{j_1\dots j_m} f + \Gamma_{ki_{n+1}}^{j_1} D_{i_1\dots i_n}^{k\dots j_m} f + \dots + \Gamma_{ki_{n+1}}^{j_m} D_{i_1\dots i_n}^{j_1\dots k} f,$$
(6.1.69a)

$$D_{i_1\dots i_n}^{j_1\dots j_{m+1}}f = D^{j_{m+1}}(D_{i_1\dots i_n}^{j_1\dots j_m}f),$$
(6.1.69b)

$$D_i f = \partial_{x^i} f + \Gamma^k_{ij} p_k \partial_{p_j} f, \qquad (6.1.69c)$$

$$D^{j}f = \partial_{p_{j}}f, \tag{6.1.69d}$$

and where $\{D_i, D^j\}$ is a so called adopted frame on $\mathbb{R}^{2n} = T^* E^n$ (see Sect. 2.7). Note that the upper indices in the operator $D_{i_1...i_n}^{j_1...j_m}$ commute with the lower indices, i.e. it does not matter if, when calculating $D_{i_1...i_n}^{j_1...j_m} f$, we first use formula (6.1.69a) and then (6.1.69b) or vice verse.
Equation (6.1.68) takes the form

$$f \star^{(x,p)} g \tag{6.1.70}$$

$$=\sum_{k=0}^{\infty}\frac{1}{k!}\left(\frac{i\hbar}{2}\right)^{k}\sum_{n=0}^{k}\binom{k}{n}(-1)^{k-n}\underbrace{(\overline{\nabla}\cdots\overline{\nabla}}_{k}f)_{i_{1}\ldots i_{n}\overline{j}_{1}\ldots\overline{j}_{k-n}}\underbrace{(\overline{\nabla}\cdots\overline{\nabla}}_{k}g)_{\overline{i}_{1}\ldots\overline{i}_{n}j_{1}\ldots j_{k-n}},$$

where $\bar{i} = n + i$ and $\bar{\nabla}$ is a linear connection on the symplectic manifold $T^* E^N$, whose components in the frame $\{D_i, D^j\}$ are

$$\bar{\Gamma}^i_{jk} = \Gamma^i_{jk}, \quad \bar{\Gamma}^{\bar{i}}_{\bar{j}k} = -\Gamma^j_{ik} \tag{6.1.71}$$

with the remaining components equal zero. Thus, Eq. (6.1.70) can be written in the form

$$f \star^{(x,p)} g = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!} \left(\frac{i\hbar}{2}\right)^k \sum_{n=0}^k \binom{k}{n} A^{\mu_1 \nu_1} \cdots A^{\mu_n \nu_n} B^{\mu_{n+1} \nu_{n+1}} \cdots B^{\mu_k \nu_k}$$
$$(\underbrace{\bar{\nabla} \cdots \bar{\nabla}}_k f)_{\mu_1 \dots \mu_k} (\underbrace{\bar{\nabla} \cdots \bar{\nabla}}_k g)_{\nu_1 \dots \nu_k}, \tag{6.1.72}$$

where

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} 0_n & I_n \\ 0_n & 0_n \end{pmatrix}, \quad B = \begin{pmatrix} 0_n & 0_n \\ -I_n & 0_n \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then, Eq. (6.1.72) can be transformed to the form

$$f \star^{(x,p)} g = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!} \left(\frac{i\hbar}{2}\right)^k (A+B)^{\mu_1 \nu_1} \cdots (A+B)^{\mu_k \nu_k} (\underbrace{\bar{\nabla} \cdots \bar{\nabla}}_k f)_{\mu_1 \dots \mu_k} (\underbrace{\bar{\nabla} \cdots \bar{\nabla}}_k g)_{\nu_1 \dots \nu_k}$$

and introducing

$$\pi = A + B = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I_n \\ -I_n & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

we finally receive

$$f \star^{(x,p)} g = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!} \left(\frac{i\hbar}{2} \right)^k \pi^{\mu_1 \nu_1} \cdots \pi^{\mu_k \nu_k} (\underbrace{\bar{\nabla} \cdots \bar{\nabla}}_k f)_{\mu_1 \dots \mu_k} (\underbrace{\bar{\nabla} \cdots \bar{\nabla}}_k g)_{\nu_1 \dots \nu_k}.$$
(6.1.73)

Since $D_i \wedge D^j = \partial_{x^i} \wedge \partial_{p_j}$, $\pi^{\mu\nu}$ are components of the Poisson tensor in the Darboux frame $\{\partial_{x^i}, \partial_{p_j}\}$ as well as in the adopted frame $\{D_i, D^j\}$.

The Christoffel symbols of the linear connection $\bar{\nabla}$ in the Darboux coordinate frame take the form

$$\begin{split} \bar{\Gamma}^{i}_{jk} &= \Gamma^{i}_{jk}, \quad \bar{\Gamma}^{\bar{\imath}}_{\bar{j}k} = -\Gamma^{j}_{ik}, \quad \bar{\Gamma}^{\bar{\imath}}_{j\bar{k}} = -\Gamma^{k}_{ji}, \\ \bar{\Gamma}^{\bar{\imath}}_{jk} &= p_{l}(\Gamma^{r}_{jk}\Gamma^{l}_{ri} + \Gamma^{r}_{ik}\Gamma^{l}_{rj} - \Gamma^{l}_{ij,k}), \end{split}$$
(6.1.74)

with the remaining components equal zero. Comparing (6.1.74) and (6.1.71) with (2.7.7) and (2.7.6) we immediately recognize that $\overline{\nabla} = \nabla^{(S)}$ is a flat symplectic connection on T^*E^n induced by the Levi-Civita connection on E^n . Thus we wrote the canonical star-product on T^*E^n in a covariant form (6.1.73) with respect to an appropriate symplectic connection. Notice that the isomorphism S_T (6.1.66) between $\star_M^{(x,p)}$ -algebra (6.1.33) and $\star^{(x,p)}$ -algebra (6.1.73), expressed by a symplectic connection in the Darboux frame, is of the form

$$S = id + \frac{\hbar^2}{4!} \left(-\bar{\Gamma}_{\alpha\beta\gamma} \partial^{\alpha} \partial^{b} \partial^{\gamma} + \frac{3}{2} \bar{\Gamma}^{\mu}_{\nu\alpha} \bar{\Gamma}^{\nu}_{\mu\beta} \partial^{\alpha} \partial^{\beta} \right) + O(\hbar^4), \qquad (6.1.75)$$

where $\partial^{\alpha} = \pi^{\alpha\beta}\partial_{\xi^{\beta}}, (\xi^1, \dots, \xi^{2n}) = (x^1, \dots, x^n, p_1, \dots, p_n)$ and $\bar{\Gamma}_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = \omega_{\alpha\delta}\bar{\Gamma}^{\delta}_{\beta\gamma}$, while (6.1.67a) reads

$$\xi^{\alpha} \star = \xi^{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2} i\hbar \partial^{\alpha} + \left(\frac{i\hbar}{2}\right)^{2} \left(-\frac{1}{2}\bar{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\mu_{1}\mu_{2}}\partial^{\mu_{1}}\partial^{\mu_{2}} - \frac{1}{2}\bar{\Gamma}^{\nu_{1}}_{\mu_{1}\mu_{2}}\bar{\Gamma}^{\mu_{2}}_{\nu_{1}\nu_{2}}\partial^{\nu_{2}}\right) + O(\hbar^{3}).$$
(6.1.76)

As we will see in the next subsection, on a symplectic manifold endowed with a symplectic torsionless connection it is possible to distinguish a whole family of star-products. In the majority of physically interesting cases a symplectic manifold is taken in the form of a cotangent bundle to a Riemannian configuration space. In such a case there exists a distinguished connection, induced by the Levi-Civita connection from the related Riemannian space, and thus a family of star-products which can be used in the process of quantization.

The star-product (6.1.64) is also an admissible star-product on more general symplectic manifolds. Let us consider a symplectic manifold M whose Poisson tensor can be written in the form (6.1.27). Additionally, let us assume that the first de Rham cohomology class $H^1(M)$ vanishes, which guarantees the existence of global natural coordinate systems associated to the star-products (6.1.64). On such a symplectic manifold M the product (6.1.64) is a proper star-product, which can also be written in a covariant form (6.1.73) with an appropriate linear connection $\overline{\nabla}$. However, in this case there is no distinguished star-product from the family

of products (6.1.64). To distinguish a star-product we have to select a set of commuting vector fields (D_{μ}) from the decomposition (6.1.27) of the Poisson tensor, or equivalently, by choosing a flat torsionless symplectic linear connection $\overline{\nabla}$ on M.

6.1.5 Star Products on Symplectic Manifolds

Let now $(M, \omega = \pi^{-1})$ be a general symplectic manifold with \star -product (6.1.1). The following statement will be crucial for our further considerations. If on *M* exists a coordinate system $M \supset U \rightarrow V \subset \mathbb{R}^{2n}, \xi \mapsto (\xi^1, \dots, \xi^{2n})$ such that it is at the same time classical with respect to the classical Poisson bracket and quantum canonical with respect to the quantum bracket (6.1.2), then there exists a unique series *S* of the form

$$S = \mathrm{id} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \hbar^k S_k,$$

where S_k are differential operators on $C^{\infty}(U)[[\hbar]]$, such that

$$S(f \star_{M}^{(\xi)} g) = Sf \star^{(\xi)} Sg,$$
 (6.1.77a)

$$S\xi^{\alpha} = \xi^{\alpha}, \tag{6.1.77b}$$

where $\star_M^{(\xi)}$ is a star-product which in the coordinates $(\xi^1, \ldots, \xi^{2n})$ is of the form of the Moyal product (6.1.33). The operators S_k will satisfy the following recurrence relations for $k \ge 1$

$$[S_{k},\xi^{\alpha}](f) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{l=1}^{k} \left(C_{l}(\xi^{\alpha}, S_{k-l}(f)) + C_{l}(S_{k-l}(f),\xi^{\alpha}) \right), \quad f \in C^{\infty}(M),$$
(6.1.78)

where operators C_l are defined in (6.1.1). The reader can find the proof of that statement in [99].

If the \star -product satisfies also the parity condition (6.1.5)

$$C_k(f,g) = (-1)^k C_k(g,f), \quad f,g \in C^{\infty}(M),$$
 (6.1.79)

then relations (6.1.78) take the form

$$[S_{2k+1},\xi^{\alpha}](f) = 0, \tag{6.1.80a}$$

$$[S_{2k},\xi^{\alpha}](f) = \sum_{l=1}^{k} C_{2l}(\xi^{\alpha}, S_{2(k-l)}(f)), \qquad (6.1.80b)$$

for $k \ge 1$. Thus, in this special case only terms of the even order in the expansion of *S* are non-zero and they are given by (6.1.80b).

A direct calculation shows that the solution of (6.1.78) is of the form

$$S_{k} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} [\xi^{\alpha_{1}}, \dots, [\xi^{\alpha_{n-1}}, F_{k}^{\alpha_{n}}]] \partial_{\xi^{\alpha_{1}}} \cdots \partial_{\xi^{\alpha_{n}}}, \qquad (6.1.81)$$

where

$$F_k^{\alpha}(f) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{l=1}^k \left(C_l(\xi^{\alpha}, S_{k-l}(f)) + C_l(S_{k-l}(f), \xi^{\alpha}) \right).$$
(6.1.82)

Indeed,

[

$$S_{k},\xi^{\alpha}] = -\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} [\xi^{\alpha}, [\xi^{\beta_{1}}, \dots, [\xi^{\beta_{n-1}}, F_{k}^{\beta_{n}}]]] \partial_{\beta_{1}} \cdots \partial_{\beta_{n}}$$
$$+ \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(n-1)!} [\xi^{\beta_{1}}, \dots, [\xi^{\beta_{n-1}}, F_{k}^{\alpha}]] \partial_{\beta_{1}} \cdots \partial_{\beta_{n-1}}$$
$$= -\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} [\xi^{\beta_{1}}, \dots, [\xi^{\beta_{n}}, F_{k}^{\alpha}]] \partial_{\beta_{1}} \cdots \partial_{\beta_{n}}$$
$$+ \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} [\xi^{\beta_{1}}, \dots, [\xi^{\beta_{n}}, F_{k}^{\alpha}]] \partial_{\beta_{1}} \cdots \partial_{\beta_{n}} = F_{k}^{\alpha}.$$

Observe that when C_k are finite order bi-differential operators then the sum in (6.1.81) will be finite.

If the \star -product satisfies additionally the parity condition (6.1.79), then (6.1.82) reduces to the form

$$F_{2k}^{\alpha}(f) = \sum_{l=1}^{k} \left(C_{2l}(\xi^{\alpha}, S_{2(k-l)}(f)) \right).$$
(6.1.83)

Further on we will consider such *-products for which, for every almost global classical and quantum canonical coordinate system $M \supset U \rightarrow V \subset \mathbb{R}^{2n}$, $\xi \mapsto (\xi^1, \ldots, \xi^{2n})$, the associated series *S* such that $S = \overline{S}$ giving the equivalence with a Moyal product has the property that for every $f \in C_0^{\infty}(V)$ the series S(f) is convergent to an element of $L^2(V, d\Omega_{\hbar})$ and

$$\int_{V} Sf \, d\Omega_{\hbar} = \int_{V} f \, d\Omega_{\hbar}, \quad f \in C_{0}^{\infty}(V).$$
(6.1.84)

From (6.1.84) it follows that

$$\langle Sf, Sg \rangle = \langle f, g \rangle, \quad f, g \in C_0^{\infty}(V).$$

Indeed, we have

$$\begin{split} \langle Sf, Sg \rangle &= \int_{V} \overline{Sf} Sg \, d\Omega_{\hbar} = \int_{V} S\bar{f} \star^{(x)} Sg \, d\Omega_{\hbar} \\ &= \int_{V} S(\bar{f} \star^{(\xi)}_{M} g) \, d\Omega_{\hbar} = \int_{V} \bar{f} \star^{(\xi)}_{M} g \, d\Omega_{\hbar} = \langle f, g \rangle. \end{split}$$

The above property imposed on the series *S* guaranties that *S* can be uniquely extended to a unitary operator defined on the whole Hilbert space $L^2(V, d\Omega_h)$ and satisfying

$$S(f \star_M^{(\xi)} g) = Sf \star^{(\xi)} Sg, \quad f, g \in L^2(V, d\Omega_{\hbar}).$$

In the case when $(\xi^1, \ldots, \xi^{2n})$ is a purely quantum canonical coordinate system, i.e. it is not at the same time classical canonical, then it must depend on \hbar and will be a deformation of a classical canonical coordinate system. The components $\pi^{\mu\nu}$ of the Poisson tensor π for such purely quantum canonical coordinate system will be \hbar dependent and can be expanded in the series

$$\pi^{\mu\nu}(\hbar) = \pi_0^{\mu\nu} + \hbar \pi_1^{\mu\nu} + \hbar^2 \pi_2^{\mu\nu} + O(\hbar^3), \qquad (6.1.85)$$

where $\pi_0^{\mu\nu}$ components are of the form (6.1.14). In consequence, the bi-differential operators C_k from the expansion (6.1.1) of the \star -product written in the coordinates $(\xi^1, \ldots, \xi^{2n})$ will depend on \hbar . Expanding C_k in the power series of \hbar allows to write the $\star^{(\xi)}$ -product in the form

$$f \star^{(\xi)} g = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \hbar^k C'_k(f,g),$$

where C'_k are new bi-differential operators which do not depend on \hbar , and satisfy conditions **1–4** of (6.1.1). Moreover, in condition **3** the Poisson bracket, in accordance with (6.1.85), is associated with the Poisson tensor π_0 . In consequence, the $\star^{(\xi)}$ -product can be regarded as a coordinate representation, with respect to the coordinate system $(\xi^1, \ldots, \xi^{2n})$, of a star-product on a Poisson manifold (V, π_0) . The coordinates $(\xi^1, \ldots, \xi^{2n})$ are then classical and quantum canonical. Thus, our statement is also valid for a purely quantum canonical coordinate system $(\xi^1, \ldots, \xi^{2n})$, but the Moyal product $\star^{(\xi)}_M$ will no longer be associated with the Poisson tensor $\pi(\hbar)$, but with another Poisson tensor. The current considerations can be summarized as follows.

Observation 12 Quantum Hamiltonian mechanics is formulated on simplectic manifolds which admit almost global coordinate systems. Choosing such a coordinate system $(\xi^1, \ldots, \xi^{2n})$, a family of admissible quantizations is represented by a family of $\star^{(\xi)}$ -products equivalent through S with the Moyal product $\star^{(\xi)}_M$ (6.1.33) and such that (6.1.77b) and (6.1.84) are fulfilled. Moreover, a canonical choice of quantum observables for $\star^{(\xi)}$ -product with involution in the form of complexconjugation is given by $A_Q(\hbar) = A_C$, and for $\star^{(\xi)}$ -product with other involution by $A_Q(\hbar) = W(\hbar)A_C$ (6.1.39) respectively. In consequence, all these nonequivalent quantizations can be represented by a single Moyal product $\star^{(\xi)}_M$ and a family of assignments of quantum observables $A_S(\hbar) = SA_Q(\hbar)$ (see Observation 11).

The star-product (6.1.28) can be defined on more general symplectic manifolds M, different from $M = \mathbb{R}^{2n}$. Moreover, we adopt the Riemannian geometry to our construction. Let (Q, g) be an *n*-dimensional flat pseudo-Riemannian manifold with a property that every two points of Q can be connected by exactly one geodesic. On such a manifold, called the *simple connected pseud-Riemannian manifold*, there exists a global Riemann normal coordinate system (x^1, \ldots, x^n) , which are flat coordinates of the metric tensor g. Every such a coordinate system is parametrized by a point $x \in Q$ and a basis e_1, \ldots, e_n in Q. Using the flatness of the manifold Q one can show that Riemann normal coordinate systems transform according to the formula

$$x^{\prime i} = A^i_{\ i} x^j + x^i_0, \tag{6.1.86}$$

where x_0^i are the coordinates of the origin of the second coordinate system from the perspective of the first coordinate system, and A_j^i is a matrix which transforms the basis e_1, \ldots, e_n of the first coordinate system to a parallel transported basis e'_1, \ldots, e'_n of the second coordinate system, respectively.

The Riemann normal coordinate system $(x^i) = (x^1, ..., x^n)$ induces a global canonical coordinate system $(\xi^{\alpha}) = (x^i, p_i) = (x^1, ..., x^n, p_1, ..., p_n)$ on a symplectic manifold $M = T^*Q$. We will call this coordinate system a Riemann normal coordinate system on T^*Q . The canonical Poisson tensor π on T^*Q in Riemann normal coordinates can be globally written in the form (6.1.26).

Using the coordinate vector fields of the Riemann normal coordinate system on T^*Q we can introduce a star-product on the symplectic manifold T^*Q by the formula (6.1.33) and hence the Riemann normal coordinate system is a natural coordinate system for this star-product. Such a star-product is independent of the choice of the Riemann normal coordinate system as according to (6.1.86) coordinate vector fields of Riemann normal coordinate systems are related to each other by linear symplectic transformations which do not change the star-product. Thus, on the symplectic manifold T^*Q , for any flat connection ∇ on Q there is a distinguished star-product from the family of star-products (6.1.28) having Moyal representation (6.1.33) in any Riemann normal coordinate system on T^*Q induced by Riemann normal coordinates of ∇ . We will call this product a canonical starproduct on T^*Q related to the flat connection ∇ .

For Riemann normal coordinates the Christoffel symbols Γ^i_{jk} of the Levi-Civita connection ∇ on Q vanish, so g is a symmetric constant matrix. In consequence the Christoffel symbols $\tilde{\Gamma}^{\alpha}_{\beta\gamma}$ of the lift (6.1.74) of the connection ∇ to a symplectic connection $\bar{\nabla}$ on T^*Q vanish as well. This shows that the canonical star-product on T^*Q can be written in a covariant form

$$f \star g = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!} \left(\frac{i\hbar}{2}\right)^k \pi^{\mu_1 \nu_1} \cdots \pi^{\mu_k \nu_k} (\underbrace{\bar{\nabla} \cdots \bar{\nabla}}_k f)_{\mu_1 \dots \mu_k} (\underbrace{\bar{\nabla} \cdots \bar{\nabla}}_k g)_{\nu_1 \dots \nu_k}$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!} \left(\frac{i\hbar}{2}\right)^k \pi^{\mu_1 \nu_1} \cdots \pi^{\mu_k \nu_k} (\partial_{\xi^{\mu_1}} \cdots \partial_{\xi^{\mu_k}} f) (\partial_{\xi^{\nu_1}} \cdots \partial_{\xi^{\nu_k}} g),$$
(6.1.87)

as for Riemann normal coordinates both products coincide. From flatness property of the linear connection $\overline{\nabla}$ follows the associativity of the star-product (6.1.87).

Now, let us consider some automorphism ϕ of (Q, g). It induces a new flat metric

$$g^{\phi} = \left(\phi'^{-1}\right)^T g\phi'^{-1} \tag{6.1.88}$$

of the same signature as g and new connection ∇^{ϕ} with different from zero Christoffel symbols in Riemann normal coordinates of the old connection ∇ . The new connection ∇_{ϕ} induces a new symplectic connection $\bar{\nabla}_{\phi}$ on T^*Q and a new star-product

$$f \star g = f \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}i\hbar\pi^{\alpha\beta}\overline{\bar{\nabla}}^{\phi}_{\alpha} \overrightarrow{\bar{\nabla}}^{\phi}_{\beta}\right)g$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!} \left(\frac{i\hbar}{2}\right)^{k} \pi^{\mu_{1}\nu_{1}} \cdots \pi^{\mu_{k}\nu_{k}} (\underline{\bar{\nabla}}^{\phi} \cdots \underline{\bar{\nabla}}^{\phi}_{k} f)_{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{k}} (\underline{\bar{\nabla}}^{\phi} \cdots \underline{\bar{\nabla}}^{\phi}_{k} g)_{\nu_{1}\dots\nu_{k}}$$
(6.1.89)

being a covariant representation of the product (6.1.28)

$$f \star g = f \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}i\hbar\pi^{\alpha\beta} \overleftarrow{D}_{\alpha} \overrightarrow{D}_{\beta}\right)g$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!} \left(\frac{i\hbar}{2}\right)^{k} \pi^{\mu_{1}\nu_{1}} \cdots \pi^{\mu_{k}\nu_{k}} (D_{\xi^{\mu_{1}}} \cdots D_{\xi^{\mu_{k}}} f) (D_{\xi^{\nu_{1}}} \cdots D_{\xi^{\nu_{k}}} g)$$
(6.1.90)

where $D_{\alpha} \equiv D_{\xi^{\alpha}}$ are given by (6.1.65). Thus, we have constructed a family of starproducts (6.1.89), (6.1.90) induced by a family of flat connections on the base space Q and hence by a family of flat symplectic connections on T^*Q .

It is also possible to distinguish covariant star-products on more general symplectic manifolds. Let Q be an *n*-dimensional flat Riemannian manifold, and let us take as a symplectic manifold M the cotangent bundle to Q, $M = T^*Q$. According to (6.1.74), we can lift a flat Levi-Civita connection ∇ on Q to a flat torsionless symplectic connection $\overline{\nabla}$ on M. In analogy to (6.1.73) we can define a local canonical star-product on M by the formula

$$f \star g = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!} \left(\frac{i\hbar}{2}\right)^k \pi^{\mu_1 \nu_1} \cdots \pi^{\mu_k \nu_k} (\underbrace{\bar{\nabla} \cdots \bar{\nabla}}_k f)_{\mu_1 \dots \mu_k} (\underbrace{\bar{\nabla} \cdots \bar{\nabla}}_k g)_{\nu_1 \dots \nu_k}.$$
(6.1.91)

On can prove that the star-product (6.1.91) is associative (see [12]), so it is a proper star-product on M. What is interesting, in a case of a non-flat connection $\overline{\nabla}$ the star-product (6.1.91) in general fails to be associative and thus has to be modified (deformed).

The star-product (6.1.91) can be written in a different, coordinate free form. Let $\overline{\exp}: TM \to M$ be an exponential map of the connection $\overline{\nabla}$. For every $\xi \in M$ there exists a neighborhood $U \subset M$ of ξ on which $\overline{\exp}_{\xi}$ is a diffeomorphism of an open subset V of the tangent space $T_{\xi}M$ onto U. Diffeomorphism $\overline{\exp}_{\xi}$ can be used to locally represent each function $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$ as a smooth function defined on the vector space $T_{\xi}M$. On each vector space there exists a canonical star-product, namely the Moyal product \star_M , thus it is natural to define on M a star-product by the following formula

$$(f \star g)(\xi) = (\overline{\exp}_{\xi}^* f \star \overline{\exp}_{\xi}^* g)(0), \qquad (6.1.92)$$

where the pull-back $\overline{\exp}_{\xi}^* f = f \circ \overline{\exp}_{\xi}$. Using the formula

$$\frac{\partial^k}{\partial y^{\mu_1} \cdots \partial y^{\mu_k}} f(\overline{\exp}_{\xi}(y)) \Big|_{y=0} = (\underbrace{\bar{\nabla} \cdots \bar{\nabla}}_k f)_{\mu_1 \dots \mu_k}(\xi)$$
(6.1.93)

one can see that the star-product (6.1.92) is equal to (6.1.91).

In what follows we are mainly interested in certain manifolds Q for which the star-product (6.1.91) can be written in an integral form. For this purpose a Riemannian manifold (Q, g) will be called *almost geodesically simply connected* if for every $x \in Q$ there exists a neighborhood $U \subset Q$ of x such that $Q \setminus U$ is of measure zero with respect to the measure induced by the metric volume form ω_g , and every point in U can be connected with x by a unique geodesic. By analogy we define the notion of an almost geodesically simply connected symplectic manifold (M, ω) equipped with a torsionless symplectic connection. In that case in the definition we replace the metric volume form ω_g by Liouville volume form Ω_{ω} . If Q is almost geodesically simply connected then T^*Q has the same property. The simplest nontrivial example of almost geodesically simply connected Riemannian manifold is the sphere.

If $M = T^*Q$ is almost geodesically simply connected then for every $\xi \in M$ exists a neighborhood $U \subset M$ such that $M \setminus U$ is of measure zero and $\overline{\exp}_{\xi}$ is a diffeomorphism of an open subset $V \subset T_{\xi}M$ onto U. If $f \in C_0^{\infty}(M)$ is a smooth function with the compact support then $\overline{\exp}_{\xi}^* f \in C_0^{\infty}(V)$ has the same property. The function $\overline{\exp}_{\xi}^* f$ can be uniquely extended to a smooth function on the whole tangent space $T_{\xi}M$ with the same support as $\overline{\exp}_{\xi}^* f$, just by putting the function $\overline{\exp}_{\xi}^* f$ equal 0 outside V. Thus according to (6.1.92) and the known integral form of the Moyal product (6.1.44) it follows that for $f, g \in C_0^{\infty}(M)$ the *-product can be written in the following integral form

$$(f \star g)(\xi) = \frac{1}{(\pi\hbar)^{2N}} \int_{T_{\xi}M} \int_{T_{\xi}M} f(\overline{\exp}_{\xi}(u))g(\overline{\exp}_{\xi}(v))e^{-\frac{2i}{\hbar}\omega_{\xi}(u,v)} du dv.$$
(6.1.94)

Note that the crucial assumption that $M \setminus U$ is of measure zero guaranties that the above integral form of the *-product indeed expands to the series (6.1.91).

An important property of the star-product (6.1.91) is that for a given classical and quantum canonical coordinate system (x, p) it is equivalent with the Moyal product associated with the same coordinates (x, p). The morphism *S* is constructed according to general formulas (6.1.81) and (6.1.83). For a star-product (6.1.91) the calculation shows that the operators $C_k(\xi^{\alpha}, \cdot)$ take the form

$$C_k(x^j, \cdot) = \frac{1}{k!} \left(\frac{i}{2}\right)^k (\underbrace{\nabla \cdots \nabla}_k x^j)_{j_1 \dots j_k} \partial_{p_{j_1}} \cdots \partial_{p_{j_k}}, \qquad (6.1.95a)$$

$$C_{k+1}(p_{j}, \cdot) = \frac{1}{(k+1)!} \left(\frac{i}{2}\right)^{k+1} \left(\gamma_{jj_{1}\dots j_{k+1}}^{r} - (k+1)\gamma_{j(j_{1}\dots j_{k}}^{l}\Gamma_{j_{k+1})l}^{r}\right) p_{r}\partial_{p_{j_{1}}}\cdots\partial_{p_{j_{k+1}}}$$
$$- \frac{1}{k!} \left(\frac{i}{2}\right)^{k+1} \gamma_{jj_{1}\dots j_{k}}^{l}\partial_{q^{l}}\partial_{p_{j_{1}}}\cdots\partial_{p_{j_{k}}}$$
$$- \frac{1}{(k-1)!} \left(\frac{i}{2}\right)^{k+1} \gamma_{jl(j_{1}\dots j_{k-1}}^{r}\Gamma_{j_{k})r}^{l}\partial_{p_{j_{1}}}\cdots\partial_{p_{j_{k}}}, \qquad (6.1.95b)$$

where functions $\gamma^{l}_{jj_{1}...j_{k}}$ are given recursively by

$$\gamma_{jj_1\dots j_{k+1}}^l = \gamma_{j(j_1\dots j_k, j_{k+1})}^l + \gamma_{j(j_1\dots j_k}^r \Gamma_{j_{k+1})r}^l - k\gamma_{jr(j_1\dots j_{k-1})r}^r \Gamma_{j_k j_{k+1})r}^r,$$

$$\gamma_{jj_1}^l = \Gamma_{jj_1}^l.$$
(6.1.96)

The round bracket () means as usually the symmetrization with respect to a group of indices. Indeed, using (6.1.74) one receives that

$$(\underbrace{\tilde{\nabla}\cdots\tilde{\nabla}}_{k}x^{j})_{j_{1}\dots j_{k}} = (\underbrace{\nabla\cdots\nabla}_{k}x^{j})_{j_{1}\dots j_{k}},$$
(6.1.97a)

$$(\underbrace{\tilde{\nabla}\cdots\tilde{\nabla}}_{k+1}p_{j})_{j_{1}\dots j_{k+1}} = \left(\gamma_{jj_{1}\dots j_{k+1}}^{r} - (k+1)\gamma_{j(j_{1}\dots j_{k}}^{l}\Gamma_{j_{k+1})l}^{r}\right)p_{r}, \qquad (6.1.97b)$$

$$(\underbrace{\tilde{\nabla}\cdots\tilde{\nabla}}_{k+1}p_j)_{\bar{l}j_1\dots j_k} = \gamma^l_{jj_1\dots j_k}, \tag{6.1.97c}$$

where remaining terms are equal zero, and

$$(\underbrace{\tilde{\nabla}\cdots\tilde{\nabla}}_{k}f)_{\bar{j}_{1}\ldots\bar{j}_{k}}=\partial_{p_{j_{1}}}\cdots\partial_{p_{j_{k}}}f,$$
(6.1.98a)

$$\underbrace{(\tilde{\nabla}\cdots\tilde{\nabla}_{k+1}f)_{l\,\tilde{j}_1\dots\tilde{j}_k}}_{k+1} = \partial_{x^l}\partial_{p_{j_1}}\cdots\partial_{p_{j_k}}g + \Gamma^{j_1}_{lj}\partial_{p_j}\cdots\partial_{p_{j_k}}f + \dots + \Gamma^{j_k}_{lj}\partial_{p_{j_1}}\cdots\partial_{p_j}f.$$
(6.1.98b)

From (6.1.97) and (6.1.98) one receives (6.1.95).

Let us calculate the second order terms in the \hbar expansion of the morphism *S*. As $F_2^{\alpha} = C_2(\xi^{\alpha}, \cdot)$ and

$$C_{2}(x^{i}, \cdot) = \frac{1}{8}\Gamma_{kj}^{i}(x)\partial_{p_{k}}\partial_{p_{j}},$$

$$C_{2}(p_{i}, \cdot) = \frac{1}{4}\Gamma_{li}^{m}(x)\Gamma_{mk}^{l}(x)\partial_{p_{k}} + \frac{1}{4}\Gamma_{il}^{k}(x)\partial_{x^{k}}\partial_{p_{l}}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{8}[\Gamma_{rl}^{k}(x)\Gamma_{mi}^{r}(x) + \Gamma_{ri}^{k}(x)\Gamma_{ml}^{r}(x) - \Gamma_{mi,l}^{k}(x)]p_{k}\partial_{p_{m}}\partial_{p_{l}}$$

hence, from (6.1.81) and (6.1.83) we find that

$$S_{2} = C_{2}(\xi^{\gamma}, \cdot)\partial_{\xi^{\gamma}} + \frac{1}{2} \left[\xi^{\alpha}, C_{2}(\xi^{\gamma}, \cdot) \right] \partial_{\xi^{\alpha}} \partial_{\xi^{\gamma}} + \frac{1}{6} \left[\xi^{\alpha}, \left[\xi^{\beta}, C_{2}(\xi^{\gamma}, \cdot) \right] \right] \partial_{\xi^{\alpha}} \partial_{\xi^{\beta}} \partial_{\xi^{\gamma}}$$
$$= \frac{1}{8} \Gamma^{i}_{jk} \partial_{x^{i}} \partial_{p_{j}} \partial_{p_{k}} + \frac{1}{8} \Gamma^{i}_{lj} \Gamma^{l}_{ik} \partial_{p_{j}} \partial_{p_{k}} + \frac{1}{24} \left(2 \Gamma^{i}_{nl} \Gamma^{n}_{jk} - \Gamma^{i}_{jk,l} \right) p_{i} \partial_{p_{j}} \partial_{p_{k}} \partial_{p_{l}}$$

(confront with (6.1.66)). The complexity of terms S_k grow rapidly for k > 2. The reader can find the complicated explicit form of S_4 , calculated using a computer algebra program, in [99].

Now, let us describe a procedure of constructing star-products on a symplectic manifold $M = T^*Q$ over a non-flat almost geodesically simply connected pseudo-Riemannian manifold (Q, g). In such a case, in analogy to the flat case, we will use a symplectic connection $\overline{\nabla}$ on T^*Q induced from a Levi-Civita connection ∇ on Q, in order to derive a star-product. However, for a curved linear connection $\overline{\nabla}$ a star-product in the form (6.1.91) is not a proper star-product as it is not associative

and (6.1.93) is not valid any more. In consequence we have to deform the starproduct (6.1.91) in such a way that for a curved linear connection $\overline{\nabla}$ it would remain associative. In addition, we would like the new star-product to be equivalent with the Moyal product for every classical and quantum canonical coordinate system.

In what follows, any admissible star-product will be constructed from an appropriate morphism *S* acting on the Moyal product (see Observation 13). We will present the construction up to the third order in \hbar . Let us take the admissible one parameter family of morphisms *S*_a which in the flat case coincide with the known formula (6.1.75)

$$S_{a} = \mathrm{id} + \hbar^{2} \left(-\frac{1}{24} \bar{\Gamma}_{\alpha\beta\gamma} \partial^{\alpha} \partial^{\beta} \partial^{\gamma} + \frac{1}{16} (\bar{\Gamma}^{\mu}_{\nu\alpha} \bar{\Gamma}^{\nu}_{\mu\beta} + a\bar{R}_{\alpha\beta}) \partial^{\alpha} \partial^{\beta} \right) + O(\hbar^{4}),$$
(6.1.99)

where *a* is a real parameter, $\bar{R}_{\alpha\beta}$ is the Ricci curvature tensor (2.7.9) and the components of the non-flat symplectic connection in the Darboux coordinate frame are given by (2.7.6). Then, after some cumbersome calculations, we will receive the one-parameter family of star-products in the form

$$f \star_{a} g = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!} \left(\frac{i\hbar}{2}\right)^{k} \pi^{\mu_{1}\nu_{1}} \cdots \pi^{\mu_{k}\nu_{k}} \left((\overline{\nabla}\cdots\overline{\nabla} f)_{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{k}}(\overline{\nabla}\cdots\overline{\nabla} g)_{\nu_{1}\dots\nu_{k}}\right)$$
$$+ B_{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{k}\nu_{1}\dots\nu_{k}}(f,g), \qquad (6.1.100)$$

equivalent with the Moyal product, up to third order in \hbar , where $B_{\mu_1...\mu_k\nu_1...\nu_k}$ are bilinear operators given by [37]

$$\begin{split} B_{0}(f,g) &= 0, \\ B_{\mu_{1}\nu_{1}}(f,g) &= 0, \\ B_{\mu_{1}\mu_{2}\nu_{1}\nu_{2}}(f,g) &= -3a\bar{R}_{\mu_{1}\mu_{2}}(\bar{\nabla}_{\nu_{1}}f)(\bar{\nabla}_{\nu_{2}}g), \\ B_{\mu_{1}\mu_{2}\mu_{3}\nu_{1}\nu_{2}\nu_{3}}(f,g) &= -\bar{R}_{\nu_{1}\nu_{2}\nu_{3}\alpha}\pi^{\alpha\beta}(\bar{\nabla}\bar{\nabla}\bar{\nabla}f)_{\mu_{1}\mu_{2}\mu_{3}}(\bar{\nabla}_{\beta}g) \\ &\quad -\bar{R}_{\mu_{1}\mu_{2}\mu_{3}\alpha}\pi^{\alpha\beta}(\bar{\nabla}_{\beta}f)(\bar{\nabla}\bar{\nabla}\bar{\nabla}g)_{\nu_{1}\nu_{2}\nu_{3}} \\ &\quad -\frac{9}{2}a\bar{R}_{\mu_{1}\mu_{2};\mu_{3}}(\bar{\nabla}\nu_{3}f)(\bar{\nabla}\bar{\nabla}g)_{\nu_{1}\nu_{2}} \\ &\quad +\frac{9}{2}a\bar{R}_{\mu_{2}\nu_{3}}(\bar{\nabla}\bar{\nabla}f)_{\nu_{1}\nu_{2}}(\bar{\nabla}\nu_{3}g) \\ &\quad +9a\bar{R}_{\mu_{2}\nu_{3}}(\bar{\nabla}\bar{\nabla}f)_{\mu_{1}\mu_{3}}(\bar{\nabla}\bar{\nabla}g)_{\nu_{1}\nu_{2}} \\ &\quad +\bar{R}_{\mu_{1}\mu_{2}\mu_{3}\alpha}\bar{R}_{\nu_{1}\nu_{2}\nu_{3}\gamma}\pi^{\alpha\beta}\pi^{\gamma\delta}(\bar{\nabla}_{\beta}f)(\bar{\nabla}_{\delta}g). \end{split}$$

where $\bar{R}_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} = \omega_{\alpha\lambda}\bar{R}^{\lambda}_{\beta\gamma\delta}$ is the curvature tensor. Clearly for the flat linear connection $\bar{\nabla}$ the product (6.1.100) reduces to (6.1.91) ones.

In a special case a = 0 the star-product (6.1.100) reduces to

$$f \star g = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!} \left(\frac{i\hbar}{2}\right)^k \pi^{\mu_1 \nu_1} \cdots \pi^{\mu_k \nu_k} (D_{\mu_1 \dots \mu_k} f) (D_{\nu_1 \dots \nu_k} g), \tag{6.1.101}$$

where $D_{\mu_1...\mu_k}$ are linear operators mapping functions to *k*-times covariant tensor fields according to the formulas

$$D_0 f = f, (6.1.102a)$$

$$D_{\mu_1} f = \bar{\nabla}_{\mu_1} f, \tag{6.1.102b}$$

$$D_{\mu_1\mu_2}f = (\bar{\nabla}\bar{\nabla}f)_{\mu_1\mu_2}, \tag{6.1.102c}$$

$$D_{\mu_1\mu_2\mu_3}f = (\bar{\nabla}\bar{\nabla}\bar{\nabla}f)_{\mu_1\mu_2\mu_3} - \bar{R}_{\mu_1\mu_2\mu_3\alpha}\pi^{\alpha\beta}\bar{\nabla}_{\beta}f.$$
(6.1.102d)

A direct calculation, with the help of the Ricci identity

$$\bar{R}_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} + \bar{R}_{\alpha\gamma\delta\beta} + \bar{R}_{\alpha\delta\beta\gamma} = 0,$$

shows that operators (6.1.102) are symmetric with respect to indices μ_1, μ_2, \ldots . The reader can verify that the star-product (6.1.101), up to at least third order in \hbar , is a Fedosov star-product associated with the Weyl curvature form $\Omega = \omega$ [118]. It should be also noted that for $a \neq 0$ the star-product (6.1.100) is not a Fedosov star-product.

From the presented construction it is clear that when the configuration space Q is curved there is no single natural star-product on T^*Q but rather the whole family of natural star-products. In the considered case (see formula (6.1.99)) the natural star-products are parametrized by a real number a. Notice that also the Fedosov construction of star-products has freedom in taking different Weyl curvature forms Ω [118].

Let us extend the introduced family of star-products on $M = T^*Q$ in the way which will be important for the formalism developed in the next chapter. Using (2.7.6) and (2.7.9) the formula (6.1.99) can be rewritten in the Darboux chart

$$S = \mathrm{id} + \frac{\hbar^2}{4!} \Big[3 \left(\Gamma^i_{lj} \Gamma^l_{ik} + aR_{jk} \right) \partial_{p_j} \partial_{p_k} + 3 \Gamma^i_{jk} \partial_{x^i} \partial_{p_j} \partial_{p_k} + \left(2 \Gamma^i_{nl} \Gamma^n_{jk} - \Gamma^i_{jk,l} \right) p_i \partial_{p_j} \partial_{p_k} \partial_{p_l} \Big] + O(\hbar^4).$$
(6.1.103)

Now let us generalize the formula (6.1.103) in the following way

$$S = \mathrm{id} + \frac{\hbar^2}{4!} \Big[3 \left(\Gamma^i_{lj} \Gamma^l_{ik} + aR_{jk} \right) \partial_{p_j} \partial_{p_k} + 3 \Gamma^i_{jk} \partial_{x^i} \partial_{p_j} \partial_{p_k} + \left(2 \Gamma^i_{nl} \Gamma^n_{jk} - \Gamma^i_{jk,l} \right) p_i \partial_{p_j} \partial_{p_k} \partial_{p_l} - 3b \partial_{p_j} (\partial_{x^j} + \Gamma^i_{jl} p_i \partial_{p_l}) \partial_{p_k} (\partial_{x^k} + \Gamma^r_{kn} p_r \partial_{p_n}) \Big] + O(\hbar^4),$$
(6.1.104)

where *b* is a real parameter. This two-parameter family of morphisms will be crucial for quantizations considered in the next chapter. For a symplectic manifold T^*E^n and Cartesian coordinates (x^i, p_j) all Christoffel symbols $\Gamma_{jk}^i = 0$ and the morphism *S* (6.1.104) take the form

$$S = \mathrm{id} - \frac{\hbar^2}{8} b \partial_{x^j} \partial_{p_j} \partial_{x^k} \partial_{p_k} + O(\hbar^4),$$

and can be regarded as the expansion of the following morphism

$$S = \exp\left(-\frac{\hbar^2}{8}b\partial_{x^j}\partial_{p_j}\partial_{x^k}\partial_{p_k}\right).$$
(6.1.105)

The morphism S (6.1.105) induces a star-product which takes the form

$$f \star g = f \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}i\hbar\left(\overleftarrow{\partial}_{x^{k}}\overrightarrow{\partial}_{p_{k}} - \overleftarrow{\partial}_{p_{k}}\overrightarrow{\partial}_{x^{k}}\right) + \frac{1}{8}b\hbar^{2}(\overleftarrow{\partial}_{x^{k}}\overleftarrow{\partial}_{p_{k}}\overleftarrow{\partial}_{x^{j}}\overrightarrow{\partial}_{p_{j}} + \overrightarrow{\partial}_{x^{k}}\overrightarrow{\partial}_{p_{k}}\overrightarrow{\partial}_{x^{j}}\overrightarrow{\partial}_{p_{j}}) - \frac{1}{8}b\hbar^{2}(\overleftarrow{\partial}_{x^{k}} + \overrightarrow{\partial}_{x^{k}})(\overleftarrow{\partial}_{p_{k}} + \overrightarrow{\partial}_{p_{k}})(\overleftarrow{\partial}_{x^{j}} + \overrightarrow{\partial}_{x^{j}})(\overleftarrow{\partial}_{p_{j}} + \overrightarrow{\partial}_{p_{j}})\right)g$$

considered in Sect. 6.1.3. In general, the star-product induced by the morphism S (6.1.104) for a = 1 and b = 1 leads to what will be called in Sect. 8.1.6 a "minimal" quantization. Moreover, the same quantization will be used in Sect. 8.2 in order to investigate the quantum integrability and quantum separability of classical Stäckel systems.

Observation 13 As long as a symplectic manifold T^*Q has the flat base manifold Q, a lot of star-products have a compact explicit representation. However, it is lost in the case of a non-flat base. Fortunately, such explicit representations are not necessary in many physically interesting cases. Observe that for the quantum theory, once we chose a local coordinate system, all admissible quantizations (star-products) should be equivalent with the one which has the Moyal representation in

these coordinates. Thus, they are uniquely specified by an appropriate morphism S. Obviously, for quantization of classical Hamiltonian, represented by an arbitrary smooth function on T^*Q , a complete S in explicit form is necessary. But, in the case of "physical" Hamiltonians, represented by functions polynomial in momenta, a few first terms in \hbar expansion of S are sufficient. For example, for a two-parameter family of quantizations defined by (6.1.104), the knowledge of S₂ is sufficient for quantizations of Hamiltonians which are linear, quadratic and cubic in momenta.

6.2 Operator Representation of Star-Algebras and Related Orderings

In the previous section we constructed a broad class of quantum Poisson algebras $\mathcal{A}_Q = (C^{\infty}(M)[[\hbar]], \star)$. Observables were represented by particular elements of A_Q , self-adjoint with respect to involution. In the following section we construct an operator representation of the algebra \mathcal{A}_Q in the Hilbert space $L^2(M, d\Omega_{\hbar})$. Actually, with any element of $C^{\infty}(M)[[\hbar]]$ we associate an operator

$$A \mapsto \hat{A} \equiv A \star \tag{6.2.1}$$

defined on the Hilbert space $L^2(M, d\Omega_h)$. We construct both, integral and differential representations of any operator (6.2.1) for the class of quantum algebras considered in the previous section. We prove that for each star-algebra \mathcal{A}_Q any operator \hat{A} is represented by appropriately ordered operators of position and momenta

$$\hat{A} = A \star = A(x \star, p \star) = A(\hat{q}, \hat{p}).$$

Thus, with each quantization we relate some ordering.

6.2.1 Weyl Ordering for Moyal Product

Let us take as a phase space M the symplectic vector space $(\mathbb{R}^{2n}, \omega)$, where ω is a symplectic form. Moreover, let us consider on M a star-product which in canonical coordinates $(\xi^1, \ldots, \xi^{2n})$ takes the form of Moyal product (6.1.33). For any element of $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{2n})[[\hbar]]$ we can associate the operator defined on the Hilbert space $L^2(\mathbb{R}^{2n}, d\Omega_{\hbar})$ by the prescription

$$A \mapsto A \star_M . \tag{6.2.2}$$

Formula (6.2.2) gives us a representation of the algebra $\mathcal{A}_Q = (C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{2n})[[\hbar]], \star_M)$ in the Hilbert space $L^2(\mathbb{R}^{2n}, d\Omega_{\hbar})$. In what follows we will derive the form of the operators $A \star_M$.

Let *A* be an element of the space $S(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$ of Schwartz functions. The operator $A \star_M$ can be written in the following integral form

$$A \star_{M} = \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \mathcal{F}_{\omega} A(p', x') e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} \left[p'_{j}(\hat{q}_{M})^{j} - x'^{j}(\hat{p}_{M})_{j} \right]} dx' dp',$$
(6.2.3)

where

$$(\hat{q}_M)^j = x^i \star_M = x^i + \frac{1}{2}i\hbar\partial_{p_i}, \quad (\hat{p}_M)_j = p_i \star_M = p_i - \frac{1}{2}i\hbar\partial_{x^i}$$

are operators of position and momenta, respectively and \mathcal{F}_{ω} is the symplectic Fourier transform (6.1.23). The formula (6.2.3) can be derived as follows. For $\rho \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$, using the identity

$$e^{y^l \partial_{z^i}} \rho(z) = \rho(z+y), \quad (y^1, \dots, y^{2n}) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}$$

and the Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formula

$$e^{\hat{a}+\hat{b}} = e^{\hat{a}}e^{\hat{b}}e^{-\frac{1}{2}[\hat{a},\hat{b}]}, \quad e^{\hat{a}}e^{\hat{b}} = e^{\hat{b}}e^{\hat{a}}e^{[\hat{a},\hat{b}]}, \quad [\hat{a},\hat{b}] = const.,$$

we receive that

$$\begin{split} e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} \left[p'_{j}(\hat{q}_{M})^{j} - x'^{j}(\hat{p}_{M})_{j} \right]} \rho(x, p) &= e^{-\frac{i}{2\hbar} x'^{i} p'_{i}} e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} p'_{j}(\hat{q}_{M})^{j}} e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar} x'^{j}(\hat{p}_{M})_{j}} \rho(x, p) \\ &= e^{-\frac{i}{2\hbar} x'^{j} p'_{j}} e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} p'_{j}(x^{j} + \frac{1}{2}i\hbar\partial_{p_{j}})} e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar} x'^{j}(p_{j} - \frac{1}{2}i\hbar\partial_{x^{j}})} \rho(x, p) \\ &= e^{-\frac{i}{2\hbar} x'^{j} p'_{j}} e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} p'_{j} x^{j}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}p'_{j}\partial_{p_{j}}} e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar} x'^{j} p_{j}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}q'^{j}\partial_{x^{j}}} \rho(x, p) \\ &= e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} (p'_{j} x^{j} - x'^{j} p_{j})} e^{-\frac{1}{2}p'_{j}\partial_{p_{j}}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}x'^{j}\partial_{x^{j}}} \rho(x, p) \\ &= e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} (p'_{j} x^{j} - x'^{j} p_{j})} \rho(x - \frac{1}{2}x', p - \frac{1}{2}p'). \end{split}$$

From the above result we find that

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \mathcal{F}_{\omega} A(p', x') e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} \left[p'_j(\hat{q}_M)^j - x'^j(\hat{p}_M)_j \right]} dx' dp' \end{bmatrix} \rho(x, p) = \\ = \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \mathcal{F}_{\omega} A(p', x') \rho(x - \frac{1}{2}x', p - \frac{1}{2}p') e^{\frac{i}{\hbar} (p'_j x^j - x'^j p_j)} dx' dp' \end{bmatrix}$$

6.2 Operator Representation of Star-Algebras and Related Orderings

$$= \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^{2n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} A(x'', p'') \rho(x - \frac{1}{2}x', p - \frac{1}{2}p') \\ \times e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}(p'_j(x^j - x''^j) - x'^j(p_j - p''_j))} dx' dp' dx'' dp''.$$

After changing variables

$$\begin{aligned} x'j &\to -2x'j, \quad x''j \to x^j + x''j, \\ p'_j &\to -2p'_j, \qquad p''_j \to p_j + p''_j, \end{aligned}$$

the above equation can be written in a form

$$\begin{split} & \left[\frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^n}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}}\mathcal{F}_{\omega}A(x',p')e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}\left[p'_j(\hat{q}_M)^j - x'^j(\hat{p}_M)_j\right]}dx'dp'\right]\rho(x,p) \\ &= \frac{1}{(\pi\hbar)^{2n}}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}}A(x+x'',p+p'')\rho(x+x',p+p')e^{-\frac{2i}{\hbar}(x'^jp''_j - p'_jx''^j)}dx'dp'dx''dp'', \end{split}$$

which is the known integral form (6.1.45) of the Moyal star-product $A \star_M \rho$.

The formula (6.2.3) represents the Weyl ordering (symmetric ordering) of A as a function of quantum canonical operators \hat{q}_M , \hat{p}_M , as will be shown in a moment, so we will use the following notation

$$A(q, p)\star_M := A_W(\hat{q}_M, \hat{p}_M).$$
 (6.2.4)

It was first proposed by Weyl [260] for the symmetric ordering and formally it works by substituting variables q^i , p_j with operators \hat{q}^i , \hat{p}_j and appropriately ordering them. The symmetric-ordered function A of operators \hat{q}^i , \hat{p}_j (6.2.3) will be shortly denoted by a formula

$$A_W(\hat{q},\,\hat{p}) = \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \mathcal{F}_{\omega} A(p',\,x') \hat{T}(p',\,x') \,dx' \,dp', \tag{6.2.5}$$

where

$$\hat{T}(p',x') = e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}(p'_i\hat{q}^i - x'^i\hat{p}_i)} = e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}p'_i\hat{q}^i}e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}x'^i\hat{p}_i}e^{-\frac{1}{2}\frac{i}{\hbar}x'^ip'_i}$$
(6.2.6)

is a unitary operator for every $(p', x') \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}$.

These functions *A* which are polynomial in momenta are particularly interesting from the point of view of further applications. For $A(x, p) = K^{j_1 \dots j_m}(x) p_{j_1} \dots p_{j_m}$, where $K^{j_1 \dots j_m}$ is a symmetric tensor field on \mathbb{R}^n , we get

$$A_W(\hat{q},\,\hat{p}) = \frac{1}{2^m} \sum_{k=0}^m \binom{m}{k} \hat{p}_{j_1} \cdots \hat{p}_{j_k} K^{j_1 \dots j_m}(\hat{q}) \,\hat{p}_{j_{k+1}} \cdots \hat{p}_{j_m}.$$
(6.2.7)

Indeed, from (6.2.5) for $(p', x') = (\eta, \xi)$ we get

$$A_{W}(\hat{q}, \hat{p}) = \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^{2n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} K^{j_{1}\dots j_{m}}(x) p_{j_{1}} \cdots p_{j_{n}} e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}(\eta_{j}x^{j} - \xi^{j}p_{j})} \hat{T}(\eta, \xi) \, dx \, dp \, d\xi \, d\eta$$

$$= \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^{2n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} K^{j_{1}\dots j_{m}}(x) \left((-i\hbar)^{m} \partial_{\xi^{j_{1}}} \cdots \partial_{\xi^{j_{m}}} e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}(\eta_{j}x^{j} - \xi^{j}p_{j})} \right)$$
$$\times \hat{T}(\eta, \xi) \, dx \, dp \, d\xi \, d\eta$$

$$= \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^{2n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} K^{j_{1}\dots j_{m}}(x) e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}(\eta_{j}x^{j} - \xi^{j}p_{j})} \left((i\hbar)^{m} \partial_{\xi^{j_{1}}} \cdots \partial_{\xi^{j_{m}}} \hat{T}(\eta, \xi) \right)$$
$$\times dx \, dp \, d\xi \, d\eta. \tag{6.2.8}$$

Using the Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formula the operator $\hat{T}(\eta, \xi)$ can be written in a form

$$\hat{T}(\eta,\xi) = e^{-\frac{1}{2}\frac{i}{\hbar}\xi^{j}\hat{p}_{j}}e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}\eta_{j}\hat{q}^{j}}e^{-\frac{1}{2}\frac{i}{\hbar}\xi^{j}\hat{p}_{j}}.$$
(6.2.9)

From (6.2.6) and the Leibniz's formula we get

$$(i\hbar)^{m}\partial_{\xi^{j_{1}}}\cdots\partial_{\xi^{j_{m}}}\hat{T}(\eta,\xi) = (i\hbar)^{m}\partial_{\xi^{j_{1}}}\cdots\partial_{\xi^{j_{m}}}e^{-\frac{1}{2}\frac{i}{\hbar}\xi^{j}\hat{p}_{j}}e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}\eta_{j}\hat{q}^{j}}e^{-\frac{1}{2}\frac{i}{\hbar}\xi^{j}\hat{p}_{j}}$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{m} \binom{m}{k} \left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^{k}\hat{p}_{j_{1}}\cdots\hat{p}_{j_{k}}e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}\frac{1}{2}\xi^{j}\hat{p}_{j}}e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}\eta_{j}\hat{q}^{j}}\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^{m-k}\hat{p}_{j_{k+1}}\cdots\hat{p}_{j_{m}}e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}\frac{1}{2}\xi^{j}\hat{p}_{j}}.$$
(6.2.10)

Substituting (6.2.10) into (6.2.8) and performing integration with the help of (6.1.23) and (6.1.23) we get the result. In particular, for n = 1, we get

$$\left(f(\hat{q})\hat{p}^{m}\right)_{W} = \frac{1}{2^{m}}\sum_{k=0}^{m} \binom{m}{k}\hat{p}^{k}f(\hat{q})\hat{p}^{m-k},$$
(6.2.11)

thus

$$(f\hat{p})_{W} = \frac{1}{2}(f\hat{p} + \hat{p}f),$$

$$(f\hat{p}^{2})_{W} = \frac{1}{4}(f\hat{p}^{2} + \hat{p}^{2}f) + \frac{1}{2}\hat{p}f\hat{p},$$

$$(f\hat{p}^{3})_{W} = \frac{1}{8}(f\hat{p}^{3} + \hat{p}^{3}f) + \frac{3}{8}(\hat{p}f\hat{p}^{2} + \hat{p}^{2}f\hat{p}),$$

$$(f\hat{p}^{4})_{W} = \frac{1}{16}(f\hat{p}^{4} + \hat{p}^{4}f) + \frac{1}{4}(\hat{p}f\hat{p}^{3} + \hat{p}^{3}f\hat{p}) + \frac{3}{8}\hat{p}^{2}f\hat{p}^{2}$$

$$\vdots$$

A general differential representation of (6.2.5) for any canonical operators \hat{q} , \hat{p} takes the form

$$A_W(\hat{q}, \hat{p}) = A(-i\hbar\partial_\eta, i\hbar\partial_\xi)\hat{T}(\eta, \xi)_{|\xi=\eta=0}$$
(6.2.12)

from which we get immediately (6.2.7) once we choose $\hat{T}(\eta, \xi)$ in representation (6.2.9). The proof of (6.2.12) is based on the following equality

$$f(i\hbar\partial_x, -i\hbar\partial_p)g(x, p)|_{x=0} = \frac{1}{2\pi\hbar} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \mathcal{F}_{\omega}f(x, p)g(x, p)dx \, dp$$

for a pair of coordinates(x, p) and admissible functions f and g. The adjoint \dagger in the Hilbert space $\mathcal{H} = L^2(\mathbb{R}^{2n}, d\Omega_h)$ is defined, according to (6.1.1), by

$$\langle \rho_1, A \star_M \rho_2 \rangle := \langle (A \star_M)^{\dagger} \rho_1, \rho_2 \rangle,$$

where

$$\langle \rho_1, A \star_M \rho_2 \rangle = \int_M \bar{\rho}_1 (A \star_M \rho_2) d\Omega_{\hbar},$$

thus we get

$$(A\star_M)^{\dagger} = \bar{A}\star_M = \bar{A}_W(\hat{q},\,\hat{p}).$$

,

6.2.2 General Theory of Orderings

Let *S* be an isomorphism of quantum algebras (\mathcal{A}_Q, \star_M) and (\mathcal{A}_Q, \star) on $(\mathbb{R}^{2N}, \omega)$, given by (6.1.77), which does not change the value of integral

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} SAd\Omega_{\hbar} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} Ad\Omega_{\hbar}$$
(6.2.13)

for any integrable function $A \in A_Q$. Such types of isomorphisms are generated, for example, by coordinate transformations which are simultaneously classical and quantum canonical (see the previous subsection). Isomorphism *S* defines a new \star_S -product

$$f \star_S g = S(S^{-1}f \star_M S^{-1}g), \quad f, g \in \mathcal{A}_Q.$$

Involution in \star_S -algebra is defined by (6.1.38). Besides, let $f, g \in A_Q$ be such that $f \star_S g$ and $g \star_S f$ are integrable functions. Then, from (6.1.6) for Moyal product and (6.2.13) follows that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} (f \star_{S} g) d\Omega_{\hbar} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} (g \star_{S} f) d\Omega_{\hbar}$$

We demonstrate now how to construct an operator representation of \star_S -algebra [33]. Let us define an *S*-order of operator function through the relation

$$A(q, p)\star_{S} = A_{S}(\hat{q}, \hat{p}) := (S^{-1}A)_{W}(\hat{q}, \hat{p}),$$
(6.2.14)

where $[\hat{q}^k, \hat{p}_j] = i\hbar \delta_j^k$. The conjugation of such an ordering is of the form

$$\begin{bmatrix} A_{S}(\hat{q}, \hat{p}) \end{bmatrix}^{\dagger} = \begin{bmatrix} (S^{-1}A)_{W}(\hat{q}, \hat{p}) \end{bmatrix}^{\dagger}$$

= $(\overline{S^{-1}A})_{W}(\hat{q}, \hat{p}) \stackrel{(6.1.38)}{=} (S^{-1}A^{*})_{W}(\hat{q}, \hat{p})$
= $(A^{*})_{S}(\hat{q}, \hat{p}),$

where * is a new involution (6.1.38) of \star_S -algebra.

Let us introduce new operators

$$(\hat{q}_S)^j := x^j \star_S, \quad (\hat{p}_S)_j := p_j \star_S,$$

then, according to (6.1.56a) and (6.1.56b), we get

$$\hat{q}_S = S\hat{q}_M S^{-1}, \quad \hat{p}_S = S\hat{p}_M S^{-1}.$$
 (6.2.15)

Obviously, from (6.2.15) follows that

$$[(\hat{q}_S)^k, (\hat{p}_S)_j] = i\hbar\delta_j^k$$

Now, for any $A \in \mathcal{A}_Q$ we have

$$A \star_{S} = A_{S}(\hat{q}_{S}, \hat{p}_{S}) = (S^{-1}A)_{W}(\hat{q}_{S}, \hat{p}_{S})$$

$$= \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \mathcal{F}_{\omega}(S^{-1}A)(\eta, \xi) \exp \frac{i}{\hbar} [\eta_{j}(\hat{q}_{S})^{j} - \xi^{j}(\hat{p}_{S})_{j}] d\xi \, d\eta$$
(6.2.16)

as

$$\begin{aligned} A \star_{S} &= SS^{-1}(A \star_{S}) = S(S^{-1}A)_{W}(\hat{q}, \hat{p})S^{-1} \\ &= \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \mathcal{F}_{\omega}(S^{-1}A)(\eta, \xi)Se^{\frac{i}{\hbar}\left[\eta_{j}(\hat{q}_{M})^{j} - \xi^{j}(\hat{p}_{M})_{j}\right]}S^{-1}d\xi \, d\eta \\ &= \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \mathcal{F}_{\omega}(S^{-1}A)(\eta, \xi)e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}\left[\eta_{j}S(\hat{q}_{M})^{j}S^{-1} - \xi^{j}S(\hat{p}_{M})_{j}S^{-1}\right]}d\xi \, d\eta \\ &= \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \mathcal{F}_{\omega}(S^{-1}A)(\eta, \xi)\exp\frac{i}{\hbar}[\eta_{j}(\hat{q}_{S})^{j} - \xi^{j}(\hat{p}_{S})_{j}]d\xi \, d\eta \\ &= A_{S}(\hat{q}_{S}, \hat{p}_{S}). \end{aligned}$$

Moreover, the related differential representation of (6.2.16), for any canonical operators \hat{q} , \hat{p} , takes the form

$$A_{S}(\hat{q},\,\hat{p}) = \left(S^{-1}A\right)(-i\hbar\partial_{\eta},\,i\hbar\partial_{\xi})\hat{T}(\eta,\,\xi)_{|\xi=\eta=0}$$
(6.2.17)

where $\hat{T}(\xi, \eta)$ is given by (6.2.6) or equivalently by (6.2.9).

The S-ordering rule (6.2.16) is very general and contains as special cases all ordering rules found in the literature. In particular, for a class of S for which

$$S^{-1} = F(i\hbar\partial_p, -i\hbar\partial_x), \qquad (6.2.18)$$

where $F : \mathbb{R}^{2n} \to \mathbb{C}$ is a general analytic function such that F(0) = 1, the S-ordered function of operators \hat{q}^i , \hat{p}_j can be presented alternatively by the formula

$$\begin{split} A_{S}(\hat{q}, \hat{p}) &= \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \mathcal{F}_{\omega}\left(S^{-1}A\right)(\eta, \xi) e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}(\eta_{j}\hat{q}^{j} - \xi^{j}\hat{p}_{j})} d\xi d\eta \\ &= \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \mathcal{F}_{\omega}\left(FA\right)(\eta, \xi) e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}(\eta_{j}\hat{q}^{j} - \xi^{j}\hat{p}_{j})} d\xi d\eta \end{split}$$

$$=\frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^n}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}}\mathcal{F}_{\omega}A(\eta,\xi)F(\eta,\xi)e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}(\eta_j\hat{q}^j-\xi^j\hat{p}_j)}d\xi\,d\eta\qquad(6.2.19)$$

$$=\frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^n}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}}\mathcal{F}_{\omega}A(\eta,\xi)\hat{T}_F(\eta,\xi)\,d\xi\,d\eta.$$
(6.2.20)

The above formula was first considered by Cohen [69]. Thus, it is clear that the very broad family of orderings considered in [69] is a special case of the introduced family of orderings (6.2.16). In this case, alternative to (6.2.17) differential representation of (6.2.20) for any canonical operators \hat{q} , \hat{p} takes the form

$$A_{S}(\hat{q}, \hat{p}) = A(-i\hbar\partial_{\eta}, i\hbar\partial_{\xi})\hat{T}_{F}(\eta, \xi)|_{\xi=\eta=0}, \quad \hat{T}_{F}(\eta, \xi) = \hat{T}(\eta, \xi)F(\eta, \xi).$$
(6.2.21)

Now, let us illustrate various admissible orderings by a few particular cases. As the first case let us consider $\star_{\sigma,\alpha,\beta}$ -algebra (6.1.3) on the symplectic manifold $M = (\mathbb{R}^{2n}, \omega)$ in natural coordinates (x, p)

$$f \star_{\sigma,\alpha,\beta} g = f \exp\left(i\hbar\left(\frac{1}{2} - \sigma\right)\overleftarrow{\partial}_{x^{j}}\overrightarrow{\partial}_{p_{j}} - i\hbar\left(\frac{1}{2} + \sigma\right)\overleftarrow{\partial}_{p^{j}}\overrightarrow{\partial}_{x_{j}}\right) + \hbar\alpha\overleftarrow{\partial}_{x^{j}}\overrightarrow{\partial}_{x^{j}} + \hbar\beta\overleftarrow{\partial}_{p_{j}}\overrightarrow{\partial}_{p_{j}}\right)g,$$

$$(6.2.22)$$

related with \star_M -product by isomorphism $S_{\sigma,\alpha,\beta}$ (6.1.37)

$$S_{\sigma,\alpha,\beta} = \exp\sum_{j=1}^{n} (-i\hbar\sigma\partial_{x^{j}}\partial_{p_{j}} + \frac{1}{2}\hbar\alpha\partial_{x^{j}}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\hbar\beta\partial_{p_{j}}^{2}).$$
(6.2.23)

Observables $A(\hbar)$ in \star_M -algebra are real functions on M $A(\hbar) = A_C$, i.e. functions self-adjoint with respect to complex conjugation, while in $\star_{\sigma,\alpha,\beta}$ -algebra observables were chosen as the set of functions $A(\hbar) = W(\hbar)A_C$ (6.1.41) which are complex functions, self-adjoint with respect to involution (6.1.40)

$$A^* = \exp \sum_{j=1}^n \left(-2i\hbar\sigma \partial_{x^j}\partial_{p_j}\right) \bar{A}.$$

For such a choice the Moyal quantization and $\star_{\sigma,\alpha,\beta}$ -quantization are nonequivalent quantizations. The choice of quantum observables in the form $A(\hbar) = S_{\sigma,\alpha,\beta}(\hbar)A_C$ makes them isomorphic.

Besides

$$(\hat{q}_S)^j = x^j \star_{\sigma,\alpha,\beta} = S_{\sigma,\alpha,\beta} (\hat{q}_M)^j S_{\sigma,\alpha,\beta}^{-1} = x^j + i\hbar(\frac{1}{2} - \sigma)\partial_{p_j} + \hbar\alpha\partial_{x^j},$$

$$(6.2.24)$$

$$(\hat{p}_S)_j = p_j \star_{\sigma,\alpha,\beta} = S_{\sigma,\alpha,\beta} (\hat{p}_M)_j S_{\sigma,\alpha,\beta}^{-1} = p_j - i\hbar(\frac{1}{2} + \sigma)\partial_{x^j} + \hbar\beta\partial_{p_j}$$

and

$$[\left(\hat{q}_{S}\right)^{j},\left(\hat{p}_{S}\right)_{k}]=i\hbar\delta_{k}^{j}.$$

 $S_{\sigma,\alpha,\beta}$ -ordering is expressible by the Cohen formula

$$A_{\sigma,\alpha,\beta}(\hat{q},\,\hat{p}) = \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \mathcal{F}_{\omega} A(\eta,\xi) \exp\frac{i}{\hbar} \left(\eta_j \hat{q}^j - \xi^j \hat{p}_j\right) \\ \times \exp\left(\frac{i}{\hbar} \sigma \xi^j \eta_j + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\alpha}{\hbar} \sum_{j=1}^n \eta_j^2 + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\beta}{\hbar} \sum_{j=1}^n \xi^{j2}\right) d\xi \, d\eta.$$
(6.2.26)

The integral formula (6.2.16) gives us immediately the integral representation of a respective $\star_{\sigma,\alpha,\beta}$ -product in the form

$$\begin{split} (f \star_{\sigma,\alpha,\beta} g)(x,p) &= \\ \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \mathcal{F}_{\omega} f(\eta,\xi) g(x-(\frac{1}{2}+\sigma)\xi + i\alpha\eta, p-(\frac{1}{2}-\sigma)\eta - i\beta\xi) e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}(\eta_j x^j - \xi^j p_j)} d\xi \, d\eta. \end{split}$$

or equivalently, for $\sigma^2 - \alpha \beta \neq \frac{1}{4}$, in the form

$$(f \star_{\sigma,\alpha,\beta} g)(x, p) = \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^{2n} \left|\frac{1}{4} + \alpha\beta - \sigma^2\right|^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} f(x', p')g(x'', p'')K(x, p; x', p', x'', p'')dx'dp'dx''dp'',$$

with the kernel

$$K(x, p; x', p', x'', p'') = \exp\left[-\frac{i}{\hbar} \frac{1}{\left(\frac{1}{4} + \alpha\beta - \sigma^2\right)} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left[\left((\frac{1}{2} + \sigma)(p_j'' - p_j) - i\beta(x''^j - x^j)\right) \times (x'^j - x^j) - \left((\frac{1}{2} - \sigma)(x''^j - x^j) + i\alpha(p_j'' - p_j)\right)(p_j' - p_j)\right]\right].$$

(6.2.25)

The representation (6.2.2) follows from (6.2.2) after substitution

$$\mathcal{F}_{\omega}f(\eta,\xi) = \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} f(x',p') \exp\left[-\frac{i}{\hbar} \left(\eta_j x'^j - \xi^j p'_j\right)\right] dx' dp'$$

and change of coordinates from ξ^{j} , η_{i} to

$$x''^{j} = x^{j} - (\frac{1}{2} + \sigma)\xi^{j} + i\alpha\eta_{j}, \quad p''_{j} = p_{j} - (\frac{1}{2} - \sigma)\eta_{j} - i\beta\xi^{j}.$$

We have two admissible differential representations of $S_{\sigma,\alpha,\beta}$ -ordering of operators (6.2.24) and (6.2.25), given by formulas (6.2.17) and (6.2.21), respectively. Let us consider more carefully the case $\alpha = \beta = 0$ and in particular the differential formula (6.2.21)

$$A_{\sigma}(\hat{q},\,\hat{p}) = A(-i\hbar\partial_{\eta},\,i\hbar\partial_{\xi})\hat{T}_{\sigma}(\eta,\,\xi)|_{\xi=\eta=0}, \quad \hat{T}_{\sigma}(\eta,\,\xi) = \hat{T}(\eta,\,\xi)\exp\frac{i}{\hbar}\sigma\xi^{j}\eta_{j}.$$

Using the Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formula the operator $\hat{T}_{\sigma}(\eta, \xi)$ can be written in a form

$$\hat{T}_{\sigma}(\eta,\xi) = e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}(\frac{1}{2}-\sigma)\xi^{j}\hat{p}_{j}}e^{\frac{i}{\hbar}\eta_{j}\hat{q}^{j}}e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}(\frac{1}{2}+\sigma)\xi^{j}\hat{p}_{j}}$$

and then, for $A(x, p) = K^{j_1 \dots j_m}(x) p_{j_1} \cdots p_{j_m}$, we get

$$A_{\sigma}(\hat{q}, \hat{p}) = \sum_{k=0}^{m} {m \choose k} \left(\frac{1}{2} - \sigma\right)^{k} \left(\frac{1}{2} + \sigma\right)^{m-k} \hat{p}_{j_{1}} \cdots \hat{p}_{j_{k}} K^{j_{1} \dots j_{m}}(\hat{q}) \hat{p}_{j_{k+1}} \cdots \hat{p}_{j_{m}}.$$
(6.2.27)

The best known from the literature particular orderings (6.2.27) are symmetric (Weyl) ordering $W : \sigma = 0$ (6.2.11), standard ordering $St : \sigma = \frac{1}{2}$ and anti-standard ordering $ASt : \sigma = -\frac{1}{2}$. For n = 1 and $A = f(x)p^m$

$$A_{St}(\hat{q}, \hat{p}) = f(\hat{q})\hat{p}^{m}, \quad A_{ASt}(\hat{q}, \hat{p}) = \hat{p}^{m}f(\hat{q}).$$

Example 6.6 For the simplest monomial A = qp and σ -ordering (6.2.27) we have

$$A_{\sigma}(\hat{q},\,\hat{p}) = \left(\frac{1}{2} + \sigma\right)\hat{q}\,\hat{p} + \left(\frac{1}{2} - \sigma\right)\hat{p}\hat{q}\,.$$

Observe, that we can construct an equivalent formula for Weyl ordering (6.2.11) using isomorphism *S* of quantum algebras $(\mathcal{A}_Q, \star_{St})$ and (\mathcal{A}_Q, \star_M) on (\mathbb{R}^2, ω) ,

$$S = \exp i\hbar \frac{1}{2} \partial_x \partial_p$$

and differential formula (6.2.14). Actually, for $A = f(x)p^m$

$$A_{W}(\hat{q}, \hat{p}) = (S^{-1}A)_{St}(\hat{q}, \hat{p}) = \sum_{k=0}^{m} {\binom{m}{k}} \frac{1}{2^{k}} (-i\hbar)^{k} \left(f^{(k)}(x) p^{m-k} \right)_{St}$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{m} {\binom{m}{k}} \frac{1}{2^{k}} (-i\hbar)^{k} f^{(k)}(\hat{q}) \hat{p}^{m-k},$$
(6.2.28)

and one can prove the equivalence with (6.2.11) observing that $[\hat{p}, f(\hat{q})] = -i\hbar f'(\hat{q})$.

In the general case, when $\alpha \neq 0$ and $\beta \neq 0$, formula (6.2.17) is more suitable for the construction of the appropriate ordering.

Example 6.7 For n = 1 and $A = qp + \frac{1}{2}q^2 + \frac{1}{2}p^2$ we get for (σ, α, β) -ordering (6.2.17)

$$\begin{aligned} A_{\sigma,\alpha,\beta}(\hat{q},\,\hat{p}) &= (S^{-1}A)_W(\hat{q},\,\hat{p}) = \left(\frac{1}{2}\hat{q}^2 + \frac{1}{2}\hat{p}^2 + \hat{q}\,\hat{p} + i\hbar\sigma - \frac{1}{2}\hbar\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\hbar\beta\right)_W \\ &= \frac{1}{2}\hat{q}^2 + \frac{1}{2}\hat{p}^2 + \frac{1}{2}(\hat{q}\,\hat{p} + \hat{p}\hat{q}) + \sigma[\hat{q},\,\hat{p}] + \frac{1}{2}i\alpha[\hat{q},\,\hat{p}] + \frac{1}{2}i\beta[\hat{q},\,\hat{p}] \\ &= \frac{1}{2}\hat{q}^2 + \frac{1}{2}\hat{p}^2 + \left(\frac{1}{2} + \sigma + \frac{1}{2}i\alpha + \frac{1}{2}i\beta\right)\hat{q}\,\hat{p} + \left(\frac{1}{2} - \sigma - \frac{1}{2}i\alpha - \frac{1}{2}i\beta\right)\hat{p}\hat{q}.\end{aligned}$$

For n = 1, in holomorphic coordinates [136]

$$a(q, p) = \frac{\omega q + ip}{\sqrt{2\omega}}, \quad \bar{a}(q, p) = \frac{\omega q - ip}{\sqrt{2\omega}}, \quad \omega > 0$$

the $\star_{\sigma,\alpha,\beta}$ -product takes the form

$$f \star_{\sigma,\alpha,\beta} g = f \exp\left[\frac{1}{2}\hbar\left(1 + \alpha\omega + \frac{\beta}{\omega}\right)\overleftarrow{\partial}_{a}\overrightarrow{\partial}_{\bar{a}} - \frac{1}{2}\hbar\left(1 - \alpha\omega - \frac{\beta}{\omega}\right)\overleftarrow{\partial}_{\bar{a}}\overrightarrow{\partial}_{a} + \frac{1}{2}\hbar\left(2\sigma + \alpha\omega - \frac{\beta}{\omega}\right)\overleftarrow{\partial}_{\bar{a}}\overrightarrow{\partial}_{a} - \frac{1}{2}\hbar\left(2\sigma - \alpha\omega + \frac{\beta}{\omega}\right)\overleftarrow{\partial}_{\bar{a}}\overrightarrow{\partial}_{a}\right]g.$$

Let us consider a particular case of the star-product (6.2.2), when $\sigma = 0$, $\alpha = -\frac{\lambda}{\omega}$ and $\beta = -\lambda\omega$

$$f \star_{\lambda} g = f \exp\left[\hbar\left(\frac{1}{2} - \lambda\right) \overleftarrow{\partial}_{a} \overrightarrow{\partial}_{\bar{a}} - \hbar\left(\frac{1}{2} + \lambda\right) \overleftarrow{\partial}_{\bar{a}} \overrightarrow{\partial}_{a}\right] g.$$
(6.2.29)

Moreover, the operators $f \star_{\lambda}$ can be written in a form

$$f \star_{\lambda} = f_{\lambda}(\hat{a}, \hat{a}^{\dagger}) = \frac{1}{\pi \hbar} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \mathcal{F}f(w, \bar{w}) e^{\hbar^{-1}(w\hat{a}^{\dagger} - \bar{w}\hat{a} + \lambda |w|^2)} d^2 w,$$

where $\hat{a} = a \star_{\lambda}$, $\hat{a}^{\dagger} = \bar{a} \star_{\lambda}$ are operators of annihilation and creation, and

$$\mathcal{F}f(w,\bar{w}) = \frac{1}{\pi\hbar} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} f(z,\bar{z}) e^{\hbar^{-1}(z\bar{w}-\bar{z}w)} d^2 z.$$

where $d^2 z = d(\operatorname{Re} z) d(\operatorname{Im} z)$, is the symplectic Fourier transform in holomorphic coordinates. The star-product (6.2.29) and the operator function $f_{\lambda}(\hat{a}, \hat{a}^{\dagger})$ are widely used in quantum optics. In particular, for $\lambda = \frac{1}{2} (\sigma = 0, \alpha = -\frac{1}{2\omega}, \beta = -\frac{\omega}{2})$ we have the so called normal ordering N while for $\lambda = -\frac{1}{2} (\sigma = 0, \alpha = \frac{1}{2\omega}, \beta = -\frac{\omega}{2})$ we have the so called anti-normal ordering AN. For monomial $f = a^n \overline{a}^m$

$$f_N(\hat{a}, \hat{a}^{\dagger}) = (\hat{a}^{\dagger})^m \hat{a}^n, \quad f_{AN}(\hat{a}, \hat{a}^{\dagger}) = \hat{a}^n (\hat{a}^{\dagger})^m.$$

The choice $\sigma = 0, \alpha = \frac{1}{2\kappa}, \beta = \frac{\kappa}{2}$ turns the product (6.2.2) into

$$f \star_{\kappa} g = f \exp\left[\frac{1}{2}\hbar\left(1 + \frac{\omega^{2} + \kappa^{2}}{2\kappa\omega}\right) \overleftarrow{\partial}_{a} \overrightarrow{\partial}_{\bar{a}} - \frac{1}{2}\hbar\left(1 - \frac{\omega^{2} + \kappa^{2}}{2\kappa\omega}\right) \overleftarrow{\partial}_{\bar{a}} \overrightarrow{\partial}_{a} + \frac{1}{2}\hbar\left(\frac{\omega^{2} - \kappa^{2}}{2\kappa\omega}\right) \overleftarrow{\partial}_{\bar{a}} \overrightarrow{\partial}_{a} + \frac{1}{2}\hbar\left(\frac{\omega^{2} - \kappa^{2}}{2\kappa\omega}\right) \overleftarrow{\partial}_{\bar{a}} \overrightarrow{\partial}_{a}\right]g,$$

and related ordering is called generalized anti-normal (Husimi) ordering which collapses onto anti-normal ordering for $\kappa = \omega$.

In general, morphisms S are not of the form (6.2.18). As an example in twodimensional case (n = 1) the following two parameter family of morphisms may serve

$$S = \exp\left(-i\hbar a\partial_q \partial_p + i\hbar bq \partial_p^2\right), \qquad (6.2.30)$$

where $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$.

Example 6.8 To illustrate the S-ordering rule (6.2.30) let us consider a function $A(q, p) = \frac{1}{2}p^2 + qp$. Then, one finds that

$$(S^{-1}A)(q, p) = \frac{1}{2}p^2 + qp + i\hbar a - i\hbar bq$$

and for canonical \hat{q} , \hat{p} operators

$$\begin{split} A_{S}(\hat{q},\,\hat{p}) &= \frac{1}{2}(\hat{q}\,\hat{p}+\hat{p}\hat{q}) + \frac{1}{2}\hat{p}^{2} + a[\hat{q},\,\hat{p}] - b[\hat{q},\,\hat{p}]\hat{q} \\ &= \left(\frac{1}{2} + a\right)\hat{q}\,\hat{p} + \left(\frac{1}{2} - a\right)\hat{p}\hat{q} + \frac{1}{2}\hat{p}^{2} - b\hat{q}\,\hat{p}\hat{q} + b\hat{p}\hat{q}^{2}. \end{split}$$

Let us now consider a general phase space in the form of a cotangent bundle T^*Q to an almost geodesically simple connected pseudo-Riemannian manifold Q, and a general \star -product (6.1.1) defined on it such that for any canonical coordinates (x^i, p_j) on T^*Q the $\star^{(x, p)}$ -product is equivalent with the Moyal product. Using the related morphism S and performing analogical considerations as for (6.2.14), we get for a quantum observable $A(x, p, \hbar)$ polynomial in momenta an appropriate operator

$$A(x, p, \hbar) \star^{(x, p)} = A_S(\hat{q}, \hat{p}),$$

acting in the Hilbert space $L^2(T^*Q, d\Omega_h)$. Observe that for star-products considered in the previous subsection the action $S^{-1}A$ of the morphism S on a function A polynomial in momenta was again a function polynomial in momenta. Thus, to a general star-product on T^*Q written in canonical coordinates corresponds an S-ordering of operators of position and momenta.

Chapter 7 Quantum Hamiltonian Mechanics on Symplectic Manifolds



In the previous chapter we presented the general theory of quantum deformations of classical Poisson algebras. In the following chapter we develop a deformation procedure applied to classical statistical Hamiltonian mechanics (described in Sect. 3.3) in order to construct its quantum analogue on the phase space. First, we define quantum states as appropriate deformations of classical states and their time development through the respective deformation of the classical Liouville equation. Then we introduce quantum Hamiltonian equations of motion being a deformation of classical Hamiltonian equations and time development of quantum observables. With particular care we present the theory of quantum flow and quantum trajectories on a phase space together with a wide range of examples which illustrate the presented formalism. Such constructed quantum theories (each related with an appropriate quantum algebra) reduce to a common classical counterpart as deformation parameter \hbar tends to zero: $\hbar \rightarrow 0$.

General Theory of Quantization 7.1

7.1.1 **Quantum States**

By definition, by an analogy with the classical case (cf. Sect. 3.3.1), quantum states related to quantum Poisson algebra $\mathcal{A}_O = (C^{\infty}(M)[[\hbar]], \star, [[\cdot, \cdot]], *)$ are those functions $\rho \in L^2(M, d\Omega_{\hbar})$ which satisfy the following conditions

1. $\rho = \rho^*$ (self-conjugation),

2. $\int_M \rho \, d\Omega_\hbar = \operatorname{Tr}(\rho) = 1$ (normalization), 3. $\int_M f^* \star f \star \rho \, d\Omega_\hbar = \operatorname{Tr}(f^* \star f \star \rho) \ge 0$ for $f \in C_0^\infty(M)$ (positive-definiteness).

Quantum states form a convex subset of the Hilbert space $L^2(M, d\Omega_{\hbar})$. Pure states are defined as extreme points of the set of states, i.e. as those states which cannot

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

M. Błaszak, Quantum versus Classical Mechanics and Integrability Problems, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-18379-0_7

be written as convex linear combinations of some other states. Thus ρ_{pure} is a pure state if and only if there do not exist two different states ρ_1 and ρ_2 such that $\rho_{\text{pure}} = p\rho_1 + (1-p)\rho_2$ for some $p \in (0, 1)$. A state which is not pure is further called a *mixed state*.

For certain symplectic manifolds M pure states can be alternatively characterized as functions $\rho_{\text{pure}} \in L^2(M, d\Omega_{\hbar})$ which are self-conjugated, normalized, and idempotent (cf. Sect. 3.3.1):

$$\rho_{\text{pure}} \star \rho_{\text{pure}} = \rho_{\text{pure}}. \tag{7.1.1}$$

Mixed states $\rho_{\text{mix}} \in L^2(M, d\Omega_{\hbar})$ can be characterized as convex linear combinations, possibly infinite, of pure states $\rho_{\text{pure}}^{(\lambda)}$

$$\rho_{\rm mix} = \sum_{\lambda} p_{\lambda} \rho_{\rm pure}^{(\lambda)}, \tag{7.1.2}$$

where $p_{\lambda} \ge 0$ and $\sum_{\lambda} p_{\lambda} = 1$.

The interpretation of pure and mixed states is similar as in classical mechanics. When we have the full knowledge of the state of the system, then the system is described by a pure state. If we only know that the system is in some pure state with some probability, then the system must be described by a mixed state. The quantum states ρ are the analogue of the classical distribution functions representing states of the classical Hamiltonian system and considered in Sect. 3.3.1. The difference between classical and quantum distribution functions is that the latter do not have to be non-negative everywhere. Thus, $\rho(x, p)$ cannot be interpreted as a probability density of finding a particle in a point (x, p) of the phase space. This is a consequence of the fact that x and p coordinates do not commute with respect to the \star -multiplication, which yield, from the Heisenberg uncertainty principle, that it is impossible to measure simultaneously the position and momentum of a particle like in classical mechanics. Hence, the point position of a particle in the phase space does not make sense anymore. On the other hand it is possible to introduce the so called *marginal distributions*

$$P(x) = \int (S^{-1}\rho)(x, p)d\mu(p), \quad P(p) = \int (S^{-1}\rho)(x, p)d\mu(x), \quad (7.1.3)$$

which are probabilistic distribution functions and can be interpreted as probability densities that a particle in the phase space has position x or momentum p (see Sect. 8.1.2). In (7.1.3) *S*-operator links a given \star -product with the Moyal one. The result is not surprising as each marginal distribution depends on commuting coordinates only. Note, however, that only in the case of the \star_M -product the marginal distributions are received by simple integration of a distribution function with respect to x or p variable. In general, the distribution function first has to be transformed with the isomorphism *S*.

Finally, for a given observable $A \in C^{\infty}(M)[[\hbar]]$ and state ρ the expectation value of the observable A in the state ρ is defined by

$$\langle A \rangle_{\rho} = \int_{M} (A \star \rho) \ d\Omega_{\hbar} = \operatorname{Tr}(A \star \rho),$$
 (7.1.4)

being the analogue of respective classical notion (3.3.5).

7.1.2 Time Evolution of Quantum Systems

The quantum time evolution of a system is governed by a quantum Hamilton function $H \in C^{\infty}(M)[[\hbar]]$ which is, like in classical mechanics, a distinguished observable, being a deformation of a classical Hamilton function H_C and self-conjugated with respect to involution * of respective *-algebra. Like in the classical theory, there are two equivalent points of view on the time evolution: quantum Schrödinger picture and quantum Heisenberg picture. In the Schrödinger picture states undergo time development while observables do not. An equation of motion for states which is the analogue of classical Liouville equation (3.3.11) takes the form

$$\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t}(t) - \llbracket H, \rho(t) \rrbracket = 0 \iff i\hbar \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t}(t) - \llbracket H, \rho(t) \rrbracket = 0$$
(7.1.5)

The formal solution of (7.1.5) is of the form

$$\rho(t) = U(t) \star \rho(0) \star U(t)^*, \tag{7.1.6}$$

where

$$U(t) = \exp_{\star}\left(-\frac{i}{\hbar}tH\right) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!} \left(-\frac{i}{\hbar}t\right)^{k} \underbrace{H \star \cdots \star H}_{k}$$
(7.1.7)

is a unitary function as H is self-conjugated

$$H = H^* \to U(t)^* = \overline{U(t)}$$

and hence

$$U(t) \star \overline{U(t)} = \overline{U(t)} \star U(t) = 1.$$
(7.1.8)

Here $\phi(t) \equiv \exp_{\star} t B$ is the noncommutative exponential solution of

$$\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial t} = B \star \phi = \phi \star B, \quad \phi(0) = 1.$$

In consequence, the time evolution of states can be expressed in terms of the oneparameter group of unitary functions U(t). Notice that *quantum Liouville equation* (*von Neumann equation*) on the symplectic manifold is represented like its classical analogue by a linear PDE.

States ρ which do not depend explicitly on time: $\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} = 0$, are called stationary states and hence fulfill the relation

$$[H, \rho] = 0. \tag{7.1.9}$$

As will be shown in Sect. 8.1.2, if ρ is a pure state, then (7.1.9) is equivalent to a pair of \star -genvalue problems

$$H \star \rho = E\rho, \quad \rho \star H = E\rho, \quad E \in \mathbb{R}.$$
 (7.1.10)

Notice that *E* in (7.1.10) is equal to the expectation value of Hamiltonian *H* in a pure stationary state ρ , i.e. is equal to energy of a system in that state

$$\langle H \rangle_{\rho} = \int_{M} (H \star \rho) \, d\Omega_{\hbar} = E \int_{M} \rho \, d\Omega_{\hbar} = E.$$

From (7.1.5) follows that time evolution of expectation value of observable $A \in A_Q$ in a state $\rho(t)$, i.a. $\langle A \rangle_{\rho(t)}$, fulfills the following equation of motion

$$\frac{d}{dt} \langle A \rangle_{\rho(t)} - \langle \llbracket A, H \rrbracket \rangle_{\rho(t)} = 0.$$
(7.1.11)

Indeed

$$\begin{split} 0 &= \int_{M} A \star \left(\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} - \llbracket A, H \rrbracket \right) d\Omega_{\hbar} \\ &= \int_{M} A \star \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t}(t) d\Omega_{\hbar} - \int_{M} A \star \frac{1}{i\hbar} [H \star \rho(t) - \rho(t) \star H] d\Omega_{\hbar} \\ &= \frac{d}{dt} \int_{M} A \star \rho(t) d\Omega_{\hbar} - \int_{M} \frac{1}{i\hbar} [A \star H - H \star A] \star \rho(t) d\Omega_{\hbar} \\ &= \frac{d}{dt} \langle A \rangle_{\rho(t)} - \langle \llbracket A, H \rrbracket \rangle_{\rho(t)} . \end{split}$$

In the Heisenberg picture states remain still whereas observables undergo the time evolution. The time evolution of an observable $A \in C^{\infty}(M)[[\hbar]]$ is given by

the action of the unitary function U(t) from (7.1.7) on A:

$$A(t) = \overline{U(t)} \star A(0) \star U(t) = e^{-t \llbracket H, \cdot \rrbracket} A(0), \qquad (7.1.12)$$

where

$$e^{-t\llbracket H, \cdot \rrbracket} := \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!} (-t)^k \underbrace{\llbracket H, \llbracket H, \dots \llbracket H, \cdot \rrbracket}_k$$

and U(t) is given by (7.1.7).

Differentiating (7.1.12) with respect to t results in the evolution equation for A:

$$\frac{dA}{dt}(t) - \llbracket A(t), H \rrbracket = 0 \iff i\hbar \frac{dA}{dt} - [A(t), H] = 0.$$
(7.1.13)

Equation (7.1.13) is the quantum analogue of the classical equation (3.3.13).

In particular, quantum Hamiltonian equations of motion are of the form

$$\left(Q^{i}\right)_{t}(x, p, t) = \llbracket Q^{i}(x, p, t), H(x, p) \rrbracket_{(x, p)}, \quad Q^{i}(x, p, 0) = x^{i},$$
(7.1.14a)

$$(P_i)_t(x, p, t) = \llbracket P_i(x, p, t), H(x, p) \rrbracket_{(x, p)}, \quad P_i(x, p, 0) = p_i$$
(7.1.14b)

and, as in the classical case, are nonlinear PDE's and represent a *quantum Hamil-tonian transport*. What is important, the system of PDE's (7.1.14) is equivalent to the system of ordinary differential equations but in the space of \star -functions. Indeed, any function $A \in A_Q$ can be expanded in a \star -power series (6.1.47). In particular, any monomial $x^n p^m$ can be expressed as an \star -polynomial (6.2.16)

$$x^{n} p^{m} = (x^{n} p^{m}) \star 1 = (x^{n} p^{m})_{S} (x \star, p \star)1.$$
(7.1.15)

So, equations (7.1.14) can be written as the system of ODE's in the space of \star -functions in the form

$$Q_t^i = \llbracket Q^i(x, p, t), H(x, p) \rrbracket_{(x, p)} = U(-t) \star \frac{\partial H}{\partial p_i}(x, p) \star U(t)$$
$$= U(-t) \star \left[\frac{\partial H}{\partial p_i}(x, p) \right]_S (x \star, p \star) U(t) = \left[\frac{\partial H}{\partial P_i}(Q, P) \right]_S (Q \star, P \star) 1,$$

(7.1.16a)

$$P_{it} = \llbracket P_i(x, p, t), H(x, p) \rrbracket_{(x, p)} = \left[-\frac{\partial H}{\partial Q_i}(Q, P) \right]_S (Q \star, P \star) 1.$$
(7.1.16b)

Notice, that according to Observation 12, equations (7.1.16) can be always transformed to the Moyal case in (x, p) coordinates and Weyl ordering, with transformed Hamiltonian $H(\hbar) = S(\hbar)H$.

Example 7.1 Consider the Hamiltonian system on $M = \mathbb{R}^2$ with the classical Hamiltonian function in canonical coordinates (x, p)

$$H(x, p) = \kappa x^2 p^2, \quad \kappa > 0.$$

Classical equations of motion are

$$Q_t = \{Q(x, p, t), H(x, p)\}_{(x, p)} = \{Q, H(Q, P)\}_{(Q, P)} = \frac{\partial H}{\partial P} = 2\kappa Q^2 P, \quad Q(0) = x,$$

$$P_t = \{P(x, p, t), H(x, p)\}_{(x, p)} = \{P, H(Q, P)\}_{(Q, P)} = -\frac{\partial H}{\partial Q} = -2\kappa Q P^2, \quad P(0) = p.$$

If the quantization is given by \star -product which in (x, p) chart takes the Moyal form, then quantum equations of motion, according to (7.1.16), take the form

$$Q_t = \llbracket Q(x, p, t), H(x, p) \rrbracket_{(x, p)} = \left(\frac{\partial H}{\partial P}\right)_W (Q \star, P \star) = \kappa Q \star Q \star P + \kappa P \star Q \star Q,$$
$$P_t = \llbracket P(x, p, t), H(x, p) \rrbracket_{(x, p)} = \left(-\frac{\partial H}{\partial Q}\right)_W (Q \star, P \star) = -\kappa Q \star P \star P - \kappa P \star P \star Q,$$

where Q(0) = x, P(0) = p and $\star \equiv \star_M^{(x,p)}$. The solution of classical and quantum dynamics will be considered in the next section.

Like in the classical case, both presented approaches to the time evolution yield equal predictions concerning the results of measurements, since from the property of trace (6.1.11)

$$\langle A(0) \rangle_{\rho(t)} = \int_{M} A(0) \star \rho(t) \, d\Omega_{\hbar} = \int_{M} A(t) \star \rho(0) \, d\Omega_{\hbar} = \langle A(t) \rangle_{\rho(0)}.$$

Observation 14 Comparing the results of Sects. 3.3.2 and 7.1.2 we observe that the linear aspect of classical and quantum Hamiltonian mechanics is represented by time evolution of states, described on both levels by linear PDE (the so called Schrödinger picture). On the other hand, the nonlinear aspect of both theories is represented by time evolution of observables, described on both levels by nonlinear ODE (the so called Heisenberg picture) defined on an appropriate space of ordinary-functions and star-functions, respectively. Contrary to a classical case, on a quantum level Hamiltonian equations of motion belong only to the Heisenberg picture as pure coherent classical states (3.3.16) are not admissible as quantum states.

7.2 Quantum Trajectories in Phase Space

The time evolution of a classical Hamiltonian system is fully determined by trajectories (a flow) in a phase space (see Sect. 3.3.2). Once we calculate a classical flow Φ_t for the given system a time evolution of states and observables can be received by simply composing them with Φ_t . A classical flow is defined as a map $\Phi_t: M \to M$ on the phase space M, which at every point $\xi_0 \in M$ gives a trajectory (curve) $\gamma(t) = \Phi_t(\xi_0)$ on M passing through the point ξ_0 and being a solution of the Hamilton's equations (3.2.35). Moreover, any trajectory $\Phi_t(\xi_0)$ has the property of being a classical canonical transformation for every t, and the set $\{\Phi_t\}_{t\in\mathbb{R}}$ have a structure of a group with multiplication being a composition of maps.

From the very beginning of quantum physics, a lot of efforts have been taken to formulate some kind of an analogue of phase space trajectories in quantum mechanics [95]. The most common approaches to quantum dynamics are the de Broglie-Bohm approach [50, 51, 154], the average value approach [181, 266], and the Moyal trajectories approach (see [93, 174] and references therein).

In the following section we develop the theory of Moyal trajectories resulting from quantum Hamiltonian equations (7.1.14). In consequence, the time evolution of observables cannot be given as a simple composition of observables with a quantum flow. For this reason in papers [93] and [174] observables were considered to be \star -functions. Then the action of a flow on observables was given as a \star -composition.

In the approach presented in this section we treat observables as ordinary functions on a classical phase space. We also present in an explicit form a quantum action of a flow on observables, which is a deformation of the respective classical action. The resulting time dependence of observables gives an appropriate solution of a quantum time evolution equation for observables (7.1.13). Then, we show that a set of quantum symplectomorphisms (quantum flow) has a structure of a group with multiplication (quantum composition) being a deformation of the ordinary composition regarded as a multiplication in a group of classical symplectomorphisms (classical flow) [34]. Such an approach to quantum trajectories has a benefit in that it is not needed to calculate the form of observables as star-functions, but only a quantum action of a given trajectory needs to be found.

7.2.1 Quantum Flow

Let us consider the Moyal quantization of a classical Hamiltonian system (M, π, H) , where $M = \mathbb{R}^{2N}$, $\pi = \partial_{x^i} \wedge \partial_{p_i}$, and $H \in C^{\infty}(M)$ is an arbitrary real function. Then the solution of quantum Hamiltonian equations

$$\left(Q^{j}\right)_{t} = \llbracket Q^{j}(t), H \rrbracket, \quad \left(P_{j}\right)_{t} = \llbracket P_{j}(t), H \rrbracket,$$
 (7.2.1)

where $Q^i(x, p, 0) = x^i$ and $P_j(x, p, 0) = p_j$, i.e., the Heisenberg representation for observables of position and momentum, generates a quantum flow Φ_t in a phase space according to an equation

$$\Phi_t(x, p; \hbar) = (Q(x, p, t; \hbar), P(x, p, t; \hbar)).$$
(7.2.2)

For every instance of time *t* the map Φ_t is a quantum canonical transformation (quantum symplectomorphism) from coordinates (x, p) to new coordinates $x' = Q(x, p, t; \hbar), p' = P(x, p, t; \hbar)$. It means that Φ_t preserves the quantum Poisson bracket $[\![Q^i(t), P_j(t)]\!] = \delta^i_j$, which can be seen from (7.2.3) and the fact that $[\![Q^i(0), P_j(0)]\!] = [\![x^i, p_j]\!] = \delta^i_j$.

The flow Φ_t , treated as a quantum canonical transformation, can act on observables and states as simple composition of maps. Such a classical action can also be used to transform the algebraic structure of the quantum Poisson algebra so that the action will be an isomorphism of the initial algebra and its transformation. So, a star-product \star_t being the Moyal product transformed by Φ_t^{-1} is defined by the formula

$$(f \star g) \circ \Phi_t^{-1} = (f \circ \Phi_t^{-1}) \star_t (g \circ \Phi_t^{-1}), \quad f, g \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{2N}).$$

As we know from our previous considerations, the \star_t -product takes the form

$$f \star_t g = f \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}i\hbar \overleftarrow{D}_{x^i} \overrightarrow{D}_{p_i} - \frac{1}{2}i\hbar \overleftarrow{D}_{p_i} \overrightarrow{D}_{x^i}\right)g,$$

where vector fields D_{x^i} , D_{p_i} are transformations of coordinate vector fields ∂_{x^i} , ∂_{p_i} :

$$(\partial_{x^i} f) \circ \Phi_t^{-1} = D_{x^i} (f \circ \Phi_t^{-1}), \quad (\partial_{p_i} f) \circ \Phi_t^{-1} = D_{p_i} (f \circ \Phi_t^{-1})$$

The most important for our further construction is the observation that the \star_t -product is gauge equivalent to the Moyal product. In other words, to a quantum flow Φ_t there corresponds a unique isomorphism S_t satisfying

$$S_t(f \star g) = S_t f \star_t S_t g,$$

$$S_t x^i = x^i, \quad S_t p_j = p_j,$$

$$S_t(\bar{f}) = (\overline{S_t f}).$$

Observe, that for the \star_t -algebra the involution is also the complex-conjugation.

A formal solution of the time evolution equation (7.1.13) for an observable $A \in A_Q$ can be expressed by the formula

$$A(t) = e^{-t \llbracket H, \cdot \rrbracket} A(0) = e_{\star}^{\frac{i}{\hbar}tH} \star A(0) \star e_{\star}^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}tH},$$

(confront with (7.1.12), (7.1.7) and (7.1.2)). In particular, the solution of (7.2.1) is of the form

$$Q^{i}(t) = e^{-t [\![H, \cdot]\!]} Q^{i}(0) = e_{\star}^{\frac{i}{\hbar}tH} \star Q^{i}(0) \star e_{\star}^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}tH}, \qquad (7.2.3a)$$

$$P_j(t) = e^{-t \llbracket H, \cdot \rrbracket} P_j(0) = e_\star^{\frac{i}{\hbar}tH} \star P_j(0) \star e_\star^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}tH}, \qquad (7.2.3b)$$

which for the fixed initial condition $Q^i(x, p, 0) = x_0^i$ and $P_j(x, p, 0) = p_{0j}$ represents a particular quantum trajectory.

A time evolution of an observable $A \in A_Q$ should be alternatively expressed by action of the quantum flow Φ_t on A. The composition of Φ_t with observables, i.e. the classical action of Φ_t on observables, does not result in a proper time evolution of observables and thus it is necessary to deform this classical action. It will be proved that a proper action of the quantum flow Φ_t on functions from A_Q (a pullback of Φ_t) is given by the new formula

$$\Phi_t^* A = (S_t A) \circ \Phi_t, \tag{7.2.4}$$

where S_t is an isomorphism associated to the quantum canonical transformation Φ_t^{-1} .

The formula (7.2.4) can be proved first by noting that

$$\Phi_t^* Q^i(0) = (S_t Q^i(0)) \circ \Phi_t = Q^i(0) \circ \Phi_t = Q^i(t) = e^{-t \llbracket H, \cdot \rrbracket} Q^i(0)$$

and similarly

$$\Phi_t^* P_i(0) = e^{-t [\![H, \cdot]\!]} P_i(0),$$

where the fact that $S_t x^i = x^i$ and $S_t p_j = p_j$ was used, being on the other hand a consequence of the quantum canonicity of Φ_t . Secondly, Φ_t^* given by (7.2.4) is an automorphism of \mathcal{A}_O as

$$\Phi_t^*(A \star B) = (S_t(A \star B)) \circ \Phi_t = (S_t A \star_t S_t B) \circ \Phi_t$$
$$= ((S_t A) \circ \Phi_t) \star ((S_t B) \circ \Phi_t) = \Phi_t^* A \star \Phi_t^* B,$$

where \star_t denotes a star-product transformed by Φ_t^{-1} . Thus

$$\Phi_t^* = e^{-t[\![H, \cdot]\!]} \tag{7.2.5}$$

holds true since, as was proved earlier, every function from A_Q can be presented as a \star -power series.

In a complete analogy with classical theory one can define a quantum Hamiltonian vector field by $\zeta_H = [[\cdot, H]]$. Then (7.2.5) states that Φ_t is a flow of

the quantum Hamiltonian vector field ζ_H . Moreover, in an analogy with classical mechanics, $\{\Phi_t\}$ is a one-parameter group of quantum canonical transformations with respect to a new multiplication defined by

$$\Phi_{t_1} \cdot \Phi_{t_2} = (S_{t_2} \Phi_{t_1}) \circ \Phi_{t_2}, \tag{7.2.6}$$

where $S_{t_2} \Phi_{t_1}$ denotes a map $\mathbb{R}^{2N} \to \mathbb{R}^{2N}$ given by the formula

$$S_{t_2}\Phi_{t_1} = (S_{t_2}Q^1(t_1), \dots, S_{t_2}P_N(t_1))$$

where $\Phi_{t_1} = (Q^1(t_1), \dots, Q^N(t_1), P_1(t_1), \dots, P_N(t_1))$. Multiplication defined in such a way satisfies properties similar to their classical counterparts (composition):

$$\Phi_0 = \mathrm{id}, \quad \Phi_{t_1} \cdot \Phi_{t_2} = \Phi_{t_1 + t_2},$$

proving that $\{\Phi_t\}$ is a group. Further on we will call it a quantum composition. The quantum composition rule given by (7.2.6) is properly defined since it respects the quantum pull-back of flows:

$$(\Phi_{t_1} \cdot \Phi_{t_2})^* = \Phi_{t_2}^* \circ \Phi_{t_1}^*. \tag{7.2.7}$$

Indeed, it is enough to prove (7.2.7) for an arbitrary \star -monomial. For simplicity we will present the proof for a two-dimensional case and for a \star -monomial $x \star p$. Using the fact that $S_t x = x$ and $S_t p = p$ for every *t* one calculates that

$$\begin{aligned} (\Phi_{t_2}^* \circ \Phi_{t_1}^*)(x \star p) &= \Phi_{t_2}^* \big((S_{t_1}(x \star p)) \circ \Phi_{t_1} \big) = \Phi_{t_2}^* \big((x \star_{t_1} p) \circ \Phi_{t_1} \big) \\ &= \Phi_{t_2}^* \big(Q(t_1) \star P(t_1) \big) = \big(S_{t_2}(Q(t_1) \star P(t_1)) \big) \circ \Phi_{t_2} \\ &= \big(S_{t_2}Q(t_1) \star_{t_2} S_{t_2}P(t_1) \big) \circ \Phi_{t_2} = (x \star_{t_2,t_1} p) \circ S_{t_2}\Phi_{t_1} \circ \Phi_{t_2}, \end{aligned}$$

where \star_{t_1}, \star_{t_2} , denote Moyal products transformed, respectively, by transformations $\Phi_{t_1}^{-1}, \Phi_{t_2}^{-1}$, and \star_{t_2,t_1} denotes the \star_{t_2} -product transformed by $(S_{t_2}\Phi_{t_1})^{-1}$. From the relation $S_{T_1 \circ T_2} = S_{T_1,T_2}S_{T_1}$ valid for any transformations T_1, T_2 defined on the whole phase space $(S_{T_1 \circ T_2}$ is an isomorphism intertwining star-products \star and $\star_{T_1 \circ T_2}, S_{T_1,T_2}$ intertwines \star_{T_1} with $\star_{T_1 \circ T_2}$, and S_{T_1} intertwines \star with \star_{T_1} , where \star_{T_1} and $\star_{T_1 \circ T_2}$ are the Moyal products transformed, respectively, by transformations T_1 and $T_1 \circ T_2$), one finds that

$$S_{(\Phi_{t_1}\Phi_{t_2})^{-1}}(x \star p) = S_{\Phi_{t_2}^{-1},(S_{t_2}\Phi_{t_1})^{-1}}S_{t_2}(x \star p) = S_{\Phi_{t_2}^{-1},(S_{t_2}\Phi_{t_1})^{-1}}(x \star_{t_2} p) = x \star_{t_2,t_1} p$$

and hence

$$(\Phi_{t_2}^* \circ \Phi_{t_1}^*)(x \star p) = S_{(\Phi_{t_1} \Phi_{t_2})^{-1}}(x \star p) \circ S_{t_2} \Phi_{t_1} \circ \Phi_{t_2} = (\Phi_{t_1} \cdot \Phi_{t_2})^*(x \star p).$$
As a direct consequence of these considerations and the fact that for the Moyal product

$$\llbracket H, \cdot \rrbracket = \{H, \cdot\} - \frac{1}{24} \hbar^2 \left[\left(\partial_{x^i} \partial_{x^j} \partial_{x^k} H \right) \partial_{p_i} \partial_{p_j} \partial_{p_k} - \left(\partial_{p_i} \partial_{p_j} \partial_{p_k} H \right) \partial_{x^i} \partial_{x^j} \partial_{x^k} - 3 \left(\partial_{x^i} \partial_{x^j} \partial_{p_k} H \right) \partial_{p_i} \partial_{p_j} \partial_{x^k} + 3 \left(\partial_{p_i} \partial_{p_j} \partial_{x^k} H \right) \partial_{x^i} \partial_{x^j} \partial_{p_k} \right] + O(\hbar^4)$$

$$(7.2.8)$$

yields the following observation.

Observation 15 *Quantum trajectories of the linear Hamiltonian systems coincide with classical trajectories. It follows from the fact that for the Hamiltonian functions being quadratic polynomials of phase space coordinates:* $[|H, \cdot|] = \{H, \cdot\}$ (7.2.8). *Besides, because solutions* Q(t) *and* P(t) *are linear in* x^i , p_i , so $S_t = 1$. It means *that the quantum group multiplication* (7.2.6) (*quantum composition*) *coincides with the classical composition* (7.2.10) *and in consequence, the quantum time evolution of any observable* A *is the same as the classical time evolution of* A. For such *systems, the only difference between the classical and quantum dynamics relies on different admissible states in which the evolution takes place. On the other hand, even in such simplest cases, classical and quantum systems differ fundamentally on the level of stationary states.*

In the limit $\hbar \rightarrow 0$, (7.2.3) reduces to classical phase space trajectories

$$Q^{j}(t) = e^{-t\{H, \cdot\}}Q^{j}(0), \quad P_{j}(t) = e^{-t\{H, \cdot\}}P_{j}(0),$$
$$Q^{j}(x, p, 0) = x^{j}, \quad P_{j}(x, p, 0) = p_{j},$$

which are formal solutions of classical Hamiltonian equations

$$(Q^{j})_{t} = \{Q^{j}(t), H\}, \quad (P_{j})_{t} = \{P_{j}(t), H\}.$$

In a more explicit form classical trajectories are represented by a flow (classical symplectomorphism)

$$\Phi_t(x, p) = (Q(x, p, t), P(x, p, t)), \tag{7.2.9}$$

which is an $\hbar \to 0$ limit of the quantum flow (7.2.2) (quantum symplectomorphism). An action of the classical flow Φ_t on functions from \mathcal{A}_C (a pull-back of Φ_t) is just a simple composition of functions with Φ_t , being an $\hbar \to 0$ limit of (7.2.4)

$$\Phi_t^* A = A \circ \Phi_t.$$

 $\{\Phi_t\}$ forms a one-parameter group of canonical transformations, preserving a classical Poisson bracket: $\{Q^i(t), P_j(t)\} = \delta^i_j$, with multiplication being an ordinary composition of maps

$$\Phi_{t_1} \cdot \Phi_{t_2} = \Phi_{t_1} \circ \Phi_{t_2}, \tag{7.2.10}$$

which is the $\hbar \rightarrow 0$ limit of quantum composition (7.2.6).

7.2.2 Quantum Dynamics with Classical Trajectories

In the following subsection we analyze fairly accurately a few simple examples of quantum systems, with quantization defined by the Moyal product, for which classical and quantum trajectories coincide. Let us start from a free particle in one dimension. The free particle is a system, whose time evolution is governed by a Hamiltonian

$$H(x, p) = \frac{1}{2}p^2,$$

where the mass of the particle m = 1. This Hamiltonian describes only the kinetic energy of the particle. It does not contain any terms describing the potential energy, i.e. there are no forces acting on the particle (the particle is free).

From relation (7.2.8) it follows that $\Phi_t^*(\hbar) = \Phi_t^*(0)$ as

$$\exp\left(-t\left[\!\left[H,\cdot\right]\!\right]\right) = \exp\left(-t\{H,\cdot\}\right).$$

Thus, a common quantum and classical flow of a free particle is of the form $\Phi_t(x, p; \hbar) = \Phi_t(x, p) = (Q(t), P(t))$, where

$$Q(t) = x + pt, \quad P(t) = p.$$
 (7.2.11)

Besides, because $S_t = 1$ for any linear transformation, so the time evolution of any classical and quantum observable A(x, p) is given by

$$A(t) = A(Q(t), P(t)).$$
(7.2.12)

So, what is a difference between the classical and quantum free dynamics? Let me remind that both, on the classical and the quantum level, "physics" are represented by expectation values of observables $\langle A \rangle_{\rho}$ in a chosen admissible state ρ . For the classical system, Eqs. (7.2.11) and (7.2.12) represent simultaneously the dynamics of expectation values of observables (position and momentum in particular) in the pure coherent classical state

$$\rho_C(x', p') = \delta(x' - x)\delta(p' - p), \qquad (7.2.13)$$

$$\begin{split} \langle Q(t) \rangle_{\rho_C} &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \rho_C(x', p') Q(x', p', t) dx' dp' = Q(x, p, t), \\ \langle P(t) \rangle_{\rho_C} &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \rho_C(x', p') P(x', p', t) dx' dp' = P(x, p, t) \end{split}$$

and

$$(\Delta Q(t))^{2} = \left\langle Q^{2}(t) \right\rangle_{\rho_{C}} - \left\langle Q(t) \right\rangle_{\rho_{C}}^{2} = 0, \quad (\Delta P(t))^{2} = \left\langle P^{2}(t) \right\rangle_{\rho_{C}} - \left\langle P(t) \right\rangle_{\rho_{C}}^{2} = 0.$$
(7.2.14)

On the other hand, the state (7.2.13) is not an admissible quantum state.

Let us consider a one-parameter family of pure quantum states ρ of the form

$$\rho_Q(x', p', \gamma) = 2 \exp\left(-\frac{\gamma}{\hbar}(x'-x)^2\right) \exp\left(-\frac{1}{\gamma\hbar}(p'-p)^2\right), \quad \gamma \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$
(7.2.15)

They all are pure states as one can show by direct calculations that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \rho_Q(x', p', \gamma) d\Omega'_{\hbar} = \frac{1}{2\pi\hbar} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \rho_Q(x', p', \gamma) dx' dp' = 1,$$
(7.2.16)

and

$$\rho_Q(x', p', \gamma) \star \rho_Q(x', p', \gamma) = \rho_Q(x', p', \gamma).$$
(7.2.17)

States (7.2.15) are simultaneously coherent states as they minimize quantum uncertainty relation: $\Delta x \Delta p = \frac{1}{2}\hbar$. It follows directly from the property of the Gauss distribution

$$f(z; \sigma, \mu) = \frac{1}{\sigma\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\left(-\frac{(z-\mu)^2}{2\sigma^2}\right),$$

for which

$$\langle z \rangle_f = \int_{\mathbb{R}} zf dz = \mu, \ \langle z^2 \rangle_f = \int_{\mathbb{R}} z^2 f dz = \mu^2 + \sigma^2,$$

and then

$$(\Delta x)^2 = \left\langle x^2 \right\rangle_{\rho_Q} - \left\langle x \right\rangle_{\rho_Q}^2 = \frac{\hbar}{2\gamma}, \quad (\Delta p)^2 = \left\langle p^2 \right\rangle_{\rho_Q} - \left\langle p \right\rangle_{\rho_Q}^2 = \frac{\gamma \hbar}{2}.$$

So, in the case of the initial quantum coherent state (7.2.15), the time evolution of the expectation value of position and momentum takes the form

$$\langle Q(t) \rangle_{\rho_Q} = \frac{1}{2\pi\hbar} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \rho_Q(x', p') Q(x', p', t) dx' dp' = Q(x, p, t), \quad (7.2.18a)$$

$$\langle P(t) \rangle_{\rho_Q} = \frac{1}{2\pi\hbar} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \rho_Q(x', p') P(x', p', t) dx' dp' = P(x, p, t), \quad (7.2.18b)$$

and coincides with the classical time evolution of the expectation value of position and momentum in a classical pure coherent state $\rho_C = \delta(x' - x)\delta(p' - p)$. Nevertheless, contrary to the classical case, for the quantum system we get

$$\begin{split} \langle Q(t) \rangle_{\rho_Q} &= \frac{1}{2\pi\hbar} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^2} x \star_M \rho_Q dx' dp' = x + pt, \\ \langle P(t) \rangle_{\rho_Q} &= \frac{1}{2\pi\hbar} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^2} p \star_M \rho_Q dx' dp' = p, \\ \Delta Q(t) &= \sqrt{\langle Q^2 \rangle_{\rho_Q} - \langle Q \rangle_{\rho_Q}^2} = \sqrt{(\Delta x)^2 + (\Delta p)^2 t^2}, \\ \Delta P(t) &= \sqrt{\langle P^2 \rangle_{\rho_Q} - \langle P \rangle_{\rho_Q}^2} = \Delta p \end{split}$$

where

$$(\Delta x)^2 = \frac{1}{2}\frac{\hbar}{\gamma}, \quad (\Delta p)^2 = \frac{1}{2}\gamma\hbar$$

and in consequence

$$\Delta Q(t) \Delta P(t) = \frac{1}{2}\hbar \sqrt{1 + \gamma^2 t^2} \ge \frac{1}{2}\hbar.$$

Note that during the time evolution the uncertainty of the momentum $\Delta P(t)$ of the free particle described by the state (7.2.15) does not change in time and is equal to its initial value Δp , whereas the uncertainty of the position $\Delta Q(t)$ initially equal Δx increases in time. Note also that the uncertainties of the position and momentum satisfy the Heisenberg uncertainty principle, i.e. $\Delta Q(t)\Delta P(t) \geq \frac{\hbar}{2}$. Moreover, initially the free particle is in a state which minimizes the Heisenberg uncertainty principle since $\Delta Q(0)\Delta P(0) = \Delta x \Delta p = \frac{\hbar}{2}$. It is also worth noting that the expectation value of the momentum $\langle P(t) \rangle_{\rho_Q}$ is constant and equal p, whereas the expectation value of the position $\langle Q(t) \rangle_{\rho_Q}$ is equal x + pt. Hence, the time evolution of the free particle described by the state (7.2.15) can be interpreted as the movement of the particle along a straight line with the constant momentum equal p, similarly as in the classical case. The difference between the classical and quantum case is that in the quantum case there is some uncertainty of the position and momentum, in contrast to the classical case where the position and momentum are known precisely. Observe also that for any admissible value of γ the coherence is not preserved during time evolution.

It is interesting to calculate to which classical state the state (7.2.15) converges in the limit $\hbar \to 0^+$. The limit has to be calculated in the distributional sense, i.e. one has to calculate the limit $\lim_{\hbar \to 0^+} \langle \rho_Q, \phi \rangle = \lim_{\hbar \to 0^+} Tr(\rho_Q(\hbar)\phi)$ for every test function ϕ . One easily calculates that

$$\lim_{\hbar \to 0^+} \langle \rho_Q, \phi \rangle = \phi(x, p).$$

Hence

$$\lim_{h \to 0^+} \rho_Q = \delta(x' - x)\delta(p' - p),$$

where the scalar product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ is given by (6.1.9). The above equation implies that the state ρ_Q (7.2.15), describing a quantum free particle, converges in the limit $\hbar \to 0^+$ to the classical pure state describing a classical free particle moving along a straight line with the constant momentum equal p.

Our second example is the harmonic oscillator described by Hamiltonian

$$H(x, p) = \frac{1}{2} \left(p^2 + \omega^2 x^2 \right), \quad \omega \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$
 (7.2.19)

Again from relation (7.2.8) it follows that $\Phi_t^*(\hbar) = \Phi_t^*$ and thus a common quantum and classical flow of harmonic oscillator is of the form $\Phi_t(x, p; \hbar) = \Phi_t(x, p) = (Q(t), P(t))$, where

$$Q(t) = x \cos \omega t + \omega^{-1} p \sin \omega t, \quad P(t) = p \cos \omega t - \omega x \sin \omega t. \quad (7.2.20)$$

Moreover, as $S_t = 1$, so the time evolution of any classical and quantum observable A(x, p) is given by (7.2.12). For the classical system, like in the previous example, equations (7.2.20) represent simultaneously the dynamics of expectation values of position and momentum in the pure coherent classical state (7.2.13), for which the minimal classical uncertainty relation (7.2.14) is fulfilled. As the state (7.2.13) is not an admissible quantum state we again consider a one-parameter family of pure and coherent quantum states ρ of the form (7.2.15).

Like in the previous case, the time evolution of the expectation value of position and momentum takes the form (7.2.18) and so coincides with the classical time evolution of expectation value of position and momentum in the classical pure coherent state $\rho_C = \delta(x' - x)\delta(p' - p)$. Nevertheless, contrary to the classical case, for the quantum system we get

$$(\Delta Q(t))^2 = \left\langle Q^2(t) \right\rangle_{\rho_Q} - \left\langle Q(t) \right\rangle_{\rho_Q}^2 = \frac{\hbar}{2\gamma} \cos^2 \omega t + \frac{\gamma \hbar}{2\omega^2} \sin^2 \omega t,$$
$$(\Delta P(t))^2 = \left\langle P^2(t) \right\rangle_{\rho_Q} - \left\langle P(t) \right\rangle_{\rho_Q}^2 = \frac{\gamma \hbar}{2} \cos^2 \omega t + \frac{\omega^2 \hbar}{2\gamma} \sin^2 \omega t$$

and hence

$$\Delta Q(t) \Delta P(t) = \frac{\hbar}{2} \left[\sin^4 \omega t + \cos^4 \omega t + \left(\frac{\omega^2}{\gamma^2} + \frac{\gamma^2}{\omega^2} \right) \sin^2 \omega t \cos^2 \omega t \right]^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

Notice that in this particular case there exists a distinguished coherent state

$$\rho_{\mathcal{Q}}(x', p') = 2 \exp\left(-\frac{\omega}{\hbar}(x'-x)^2\right) \exp\left(-\frac{1}{\omega\hbar}(p'-p)^2\right)$$

when $\gamma = \omega$, which remains coherent for arbitrary value of t. Indeed, as

$$(\Delta Q(t))^2 = (\Delta x)^2 = \frac{\hbar}{2\omega}, \quad (\Delta P(t))^2 = (\Delta p)^2 = \frac{\omega\hbar}{2},$$

then

$$\Delta Q(t) \Delta P(t) = \frac{\hbar}{2}$$

As was proved earlier, in the limit $\hbar \rightarrow 0^+$, pure coherent quantum states (7.2.15) converge to the pure coherent classical state (7.2.13).

Let us try to find stationary pure states of the harmonic oscillator. From Sect. 7.1.2 it is known that the stationary pure states are precisely the solutions of the following pair of \star -genvalue equations

$$H \star \rho = E\rho, \qquad \rho \star H = E\rho,$$

for $E \in \mathbb{R}$. To solve the above equations it is convenient to introduce new coordinates called *holomorphic coordinates* (6.2.2)

$$a(x, p) = \frac{\omega x + ip}{\sqrt{2\hbar\omega}}, \qquad \bar{a}(x, p) = \frac{\omega x - ip}{\sqrt{2\hbar\omega}}.$$

The functions a and \bar{a} are called the *annihilation* and *creation* functions since they decrease and increase the number of excitations of the vibrational mode with frequency ω (annihilate and create the quanta of vibrations). Note, that $a \star = (\bar{a} \star)^{\dagger}$, $\bar{a} \star = (a \star)^{\dagger}$ and

$$[a,\bar{a}] = a \star \bar{a} - \bar{a} \star a = 1.$$

In these new coordinates the function H takes the form

$$H(a,\bar{a}) = \hbar \omega a \bar{a} = \hbar \omega \left(\bar{a} \star a + \frac{1}{2} \right) = \hbar \omega \left(a \star \bar{a} - \frac{1}{2} \right).$$

Let us consider a more general problem of finding a solution to the following pair of \star -genvalue equations

$$H \star \rho_{mn} = E_m \rho_{mn}, \tag{7.2.21a}$$

$$\rho_{mn} \star H = E_n \rho_{mn}, \tag{7.2.21b}$$

where m, n are numbering the \star -genvalues of H. It can be shown that m, n are non-negative integer numbers. The energy levels E_n of the harmonic oscillator are equal

$$E_n = (n + \frac{1}{2})\hbar\omega.$$

Since $H = \hbar \omega (\bar{a} \star a + \frac{1}{2})$, *-genvalues of the function $N := \bar{a} \star a$ are the natural numbers n = 0, 1, 2, ... and *-genfunctions are the *-genfunctions ρ_{mn} of H, i.e.

$$N \star \rho_{mn} = m \rho_{mn}, \quad \rho_{mn} \star N = n \rho_{mn}.$$

Hence, the function $N = \bar{a} \star a$ can be interpreted as an observable of the number of excitations of the vibrational mode with frequency ω .

Moreover, the normalized solutions of Eqs. (7.2.21) can be calculated from the ground state ρ_{00}

$$a \star \rho_{00} = 0$$

according to the equation

$$\rho_{mn} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{m!n!}} \underbrace{\bar{a} \star \dots \star \bar{a}}_{m} \star \rho_{00} \star \underbrace{a \star \dots \star a}_{n}$$

and the ground state ρ_{00} takes the form

$$\rho_{00}(a,\bar{a}) = 2 \exp\left(-2a\bar{a}\right), \qquad \rho_{00}(x,p) = 2 \exp\left(-\frac{p^2 + \omega^2 x^2}{\hbar\omega}\right),$$

with normalization given by (7.2.16). The \star -genfunctions ρ_{mn} can be now calculated giving

$$\rho_{mn}(a,\bar{a}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{m!n!}} \sum_{k=0}^{n} (-1)^{k} k! \binom{m}{k} \binom{n}{k} \frac{1}{2^{2k-n-m}} \bar{a}^{m-k} a^{n-k} \rho_{00}(a,\bar{a}).$$

The above equation can be written alternatively when passing to the polar coordinates (r, θ)

$$\omega x + ip = re^{i\theta}.$$

Then we have

$$a(r,\theta) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\hbar\omega}} r e^{i\theta}, \quad \bar{a}(r,\theta) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\hbar\omega}} r e^{-i\theta}, \quad r^2 = p^2 + \omega^2 x^2,$$

and Eq. (7.2.2) takes the form [10, 111, 140]

$$\rho_{mn}(r,\theta) = 2(-1)^n \sqrt{\frac{n!}{m!}} \frac{1}{2^{n-m}} \left(\frac{r}{\sqrt{2\hbar\omega}}\right)^{m-n} \\ \times L_n^{m-n} \left(\frac{2r^2}{\hbar\omega}\right) e^{-i(m-n)\theta} \exp\left(-\frac{r^2}{\hbar\omega}\right),$$

where

$$L_n^s(x) = \frac{x^{-s}e^x}{n!} \frac{d^n}{dx^n} \left(e^{-x} x^{n+s} \right) = \sum_{k=0}^n (-1)^k \frac{(n+s)!}{(n-k)!(s+k)!k!} x^k$$

are the generalized Laguerre polynomials. The stationary pure states of the harmonic oscillator are of the form

$$\rho_{nn}(r,\theta) = 2(-1)^n L_n\left(\frac{2r^2}{\hbar\omega}\right) \exp\left(-\frac{r^2}{\hbar\omega}\right),\tag{7.2.22}$$

where $L_n(x) = L_n^0(x)$ are the Laguerre polynomials. Equation (7.2.22) can be also written in the following form

$$\rho_n(x, p) \equiv \rho_{nn} = 2(-1)^n L_n\left(\frac{4H}{\hbar\omega}\right) \exp\left(-\frac{2H}{\hbar\omega}\right).$$
(7.2.23)

It is interesting to check to which classical states quantum states ρ_n in the limit $\hbar \to 0^+$ converge. Again it has to be calculated in a distributional sense, hence the limit $\lim_{\hbar \to 0^+} \langle \rho_n, \phi \rangle$ has to be calculated for every test function ϕ . One finds that for fixed *n*

$$\lim_{h \to 0^+} \langle \rho_n, \phi \rangle = \phi(0, 0) = \langle \delta(x) \delta(p), \phi \rangle$$

and hence

$$\lim_{\hbar \to 0^+} \rho_n = \delta(x)\delta(p),$$

i.e. all quantum stationary pure states ρ_n of the harmonic oscillator converge, in the limit $\hbar \to 0^+$, to the single classical state (x = 0, p = 0) describing a particle with the position and momentum equal 0. This result is not surprising as the state (x = 0, p = 0) is the only classical stationary pure state of the harmonic oscillator.

The reader can find other interesting examples of \star -genvalue problems and their solutions in [75] and [76]. Moreover, the reader can find the general solution of \star -genvalue problem for Hamiltonians quadratic in phase space coordinates in [92].

Previous results of this subsection give us an ambiguous answer to the question of time development of the initial coherent state. We investigated it indirectly, calculating time development of uncertainty relation $\Delta Q(t)\Delta P(t)$, with minimal initial value $\Delta Q(0)\Delta P(0) = \frac{\hbar}{2}$. For a free particle we found that the coherence is not preserved during time evolution (7.2.2) while for harmonic oscillator it is preserved for a distinguished initial coherent state (7.2.15) for $\gamma = \omega$. Thus, let us investigate more systematically that problem for arbitrary linear Hamiltonian system in \mathbb{R}^2 .

Let us consider a harmonic oscillator described by a Hamiltonian (7.2.19). It is convenient to introduce normalized variables

$$x \to \frac{1}{\sqrt{\omega}} x, \quad p \to \sqrt{\omega} p$$

In these new variables the Hamiltonian of the harmonic oscillator takes the form

$$H = \frac{1}{2}\omega(p^2 + x^2). \tag{7.2.24}$$

Adding to (7.2.24) the interaction term

$$H_I(q, p) = \alpha x p + \frac{1}{2}\beta p^2 - \frac{1}{2}\beta x^2,$$

where $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$ are some constants, we will consider the following Hamiltonian [100]

$$H(q, p) = \frac{1}{2}(\omega + \beta)p^2 + \frac{1}{2}(\omega - \beta)x^2 + \alpha xp.$$
(7.2.25)

Note that any Hamiltonian quadratic in x and p variables is of the above form for some values of constants ω , α and β . It should be noted that this type of Hamiltonian is very often found in quantum optics where admissible coherent and squeezed states of the light are investigated [132, 133, 144, 243, 257].

The classical and quantum Hamilton equations for time evolution of observables of position Q(t) and momentum P(t) take the common form

$$Q_t = \alpha Q + (\beta + \omega) P,$$

$$P_t = (\beta - \omega) Q - \alpha P.$$
(7.2.26)

The Hamilton flow in a case $\omega^2 > \alpha^2 + \beta^2$ reads

$$Q(t) = \frac{\alpha x + (\omega + \beta)p}{R}\sin(Rt) + x\cos(Rt),$$
$$P(t) = -\frac{(\omega - \beta)x + \alpha p}{R}\sin(Rt) + p\cos(Rt),$$

where $R = \sqrt{|\omega^2 - \alpha^2 - \beta^2|}$. When $\omega^2 < \alpha^2 + \beta^2$ we get

$$Q(t) = \frac{\alpha x + (\omega + \beta)p}{R} \sinh(Rt) + x \cosh(Rt),$$
$$P(t) = -\frac{(\omega - \beta)x + \alpha p}{R} \sinh(Rt) + p \cosh(Rt),$$

and when $\omega^2 = \alpha^2 + \beta^2$

$$Q(t) = x + (\alpha x + (\omega + \beta)p)t,$$

$$P(t) = p - ((\omega - \beta)x + \alpha p)t.$$

First, we will focus on the case $\omega^2 > \alpha^2 + \beta^2$. In an initial coherent state

$$\rho(q, p) = 2 \exp\left(-\frac{\gamma (x'-x)^2}{\hbar}\right) \exp\left(-\frac{(p'-p)^2}{\hbar\gamma}\right)$$

we receive the following formulas for the uncertainties $(\Delta Q)^2$ and $(\Delta P)^2$

$$\begin{split} (\Delta Q)^2 &= \frac{\hbar}{2} \gamma^{-1} \left(\frac{\alpha^2 + \gamma^2 (\omega + \beta)^2}{R^2} \sin^2(Rt) + \cos^2(Rt) + \frac{2\alpha}{R} \sin(Rt) \cos(Rt) \right) \\ &= \frac{\hbar}{2} \gamma^{-1} \left(1 + \frac{2(\alpha^2 + \beta^2) + 2\gamma^2 \omega \beta + (\gamma^2 - 1)(\omega^2 + \beta^2)}{R^2} \sin^2(Rt) + \frac{2\alpha}{R} \sin(Rt) \cos(Rt) \right), \\ (\Delta P)^2 &= \frac{\hbar}{2} \gamma \left(\frac{\alpha^2 + \gamma^{-2} (\omega - \beta)^2}{R^2} \sin^2(Rt) + \cos^2(Rt) - \frac{2\alpha}{R} \sin(Rt) \cos(Rt) \right) \\ &= \frac{\hbar}{2} \gamma \left(1 + \frac{2(\alpha^2 + \beta^2) - 2\gamma^{-2} \omega \beta + (\gamma^{-2} - 1)(\omega^2 + \beta^2)}{R^2} \sin^2(Rt) - \frac{2\alpha}{R} \sin(Rt) \cos(Rt) \right). \end{split}$$

Introducing a parameter $\xi = \alpha + i\beta = re^{i\theta}$ and writing it in polar variables (r, θ) the uncertainties $(\Delta Q)^2$ and $(\Delta P)^2$ take the form

$$(\Delta Q)^{2} = \frac{\hbar}{2} \gamma^{-1} \left(1 + \frac{\sin^{2}(Rt)}{R} \left(\frac{2r^{2} + 2\gamma^{2}\omega r\sin\theta + (\gamma^{2} - 1)(\omega^{2} + r^{2}\sin^{2}\theta)}{R} + 2r\cos\theta\cot(Rt) \right) \right),$$

$$(\Delta P)^{2} = \frac{\hbar}{2} \gamma \left(1 + \frac{\sin^{2}(Rt)}{R} \left(\frac{2r^{2} - 2\gamma^{-2}\omega r\sin\theta + (\gamma^{-2} - 1)(\omega^{2} + r^{2}\sin^{2}\theta)}{R} - 2r\cos\theta\cot(Rt) \right) \right).$$

$$(7.2.27)$$

From (7.2.27) we find that coherence is not preserved during time evolution when parameters ω , α , β are arbitrary.

In the special case $\gamma = 1$ ($\gamma = \omega$ for old x and p)

$$(\Delta Q)^2 = \frac{\hbar}{2} \left(1 + \frac{2r}{R} \sin^2(Rt) \left(\frac{r + \omega \sin\theta}{R} + \cos\theta \cot(Rt) \right) \right),$$

$$(\Delta P)^2 = \frac{\hbar}{2} \left(1 + \frac{2r}{R} \sin^2(Rt) \left(\frac{r - \omega \sin\theta}{R} - \cos\theta \cot(Rt) \right) \right).$$

and

$$(\Delta q)^2 (\Delta p)^2 = \frac{\hbar^2}{4} \left(1 + \frac{4r^2}{R^2} \sin^2(Rt) \left(\frac{\omega}{R} \cos\theta \sin(Rt) - \sin\theta \cos(Rt) \right)^2 \right).$$
(7.2.28)

From (7.2.28) it follows that the minimization of the Heisenberg uncertainty relation occurs only for $Rt = k\pi$ and $Rt = \arctan(\frac{R}{\omega}\tan\theta) + k\pi$, $k \in \mathbb{Z}$. Thus, we will consider a further reduction. First, let us take $\beta = 0$ and $\alpha > 0$. Then $r = \alpha$ and $\theta = 0$. In this case we receive

$$(\Delta Q)^2 = \frac{\hbar}{2} \left(1 + \frac{2\alpha}{R} \sin^2(Rt) \left(\frac{\alpha}{R} + \cot(Rt) \right) \right),$$

$$(\Delta P)^2 = \frac{\hbar}{2} \left(1 + \frac{2\alpha}{R} \sin^2(Rt) \left(\frac{\alpha}{R} - \cot(Rt) \right) \right),$$

and

$$(\Delta Q)^2 (\Delta P)^2 = \frac{\hbar^2}{4} \left(1 + \frac{4\omega^2 \alpha^2}{R^4} \sin^4(Rt) \right).$$
(7.2.29)

From (7.2.29) it follows that the coherence is preserved during time evolution if additionally $\alpha = 0$, but this is exactly the case of the harmonic oscillator (7.2.24).

Now, let us consider the case $\omega^2 < \alpha^2 + \beta^2$ by taking $\omega = 0$. Then R = r and

$$Q(q, p, t) = (q \cos \theta + p \sin \theta) \sinh(rt) + q \cosh(rt),$$

$$P(q, p, t) = (q \sin \theta - p \cos \theta) \sinh(rt) + p \cosh(rt).$$
(7.2.30)

Moreover,

$$(\Delta Q)^2 = \frac{\hbar}{2} \gamma^{-1} \big(\cosh(2rt) + \cos\theta \sinh(2rt) + (\gamma^2 - 1) \sin^2\theta \sinh^2(rt) \big),$$

$$(\Delta P)^2 = \frac{\hbar}{2} \gamma \big(\cosh(2rt) - \cos\theta \sinh(2rt) + (\gamma^{-2} - 1) \sin^2\theta \sinh^2(rt) \big).$$

(7.2.31)

If additionally $\gamma = 1$ we get

$$(\Delta Q)^2 = \frac{\hbar}{2} \left(\cosh(2rt) + \cos\theta \sinh(2rt) \right) = \frac{\hbar}{2} \left(e^{2rt} \cos^2\frac{\theta}{2} + e^{-2rt} \sin^2\frac{\theta}{2} \right),$$

$$(\Delta P)^2 = \frac{\hbar}{2} \left(\cosh(2rt) - \cos\theta \sinh(2rt) \right) = \frac{\hbar}{2} \left(e^{-2rt} \cos^2\frac{\theta}{2} + e^{2rt} \sin^2\frac{\theta}{2} \right),$$

and

$$(\Delta Q)^2 (\Delta P)^2 = \frac{\hbar^2}{4} \left(1 + \sin^2 \theta \sinh^2(2rt) \right).$$
(7.2.32)

Again, as it is evident from (7.2.32), the Heisenberg uncertainty relation is not minimized during the whole time evolution. In order to get a minimal uncertainty for any *t* we have to take $\beta = 0$. Then $\theta = 0$, $r = \alpha$, equations (7.2.30) reduce to

$$Q(q, p, t) = q e^{\alpha t},$$
$$P(q, p, t) = p e^{-\alpha t},$$

variances (7.2.31) are

$$(\Delta Q)^2 = \frac{\hbar}{2} \gamma^{-1} e^{2\alpha t},$$
$$(\Delta P)^2 = \frac{\hbar}{2} \gamma e^{-2\alpha t},$$

and hence we get a conservation of minimal uncertainty

$$(\Delta Q)^2 (\Delta P)^2 = \frac{\hbar^2}{4}.$$

Finally, let us consider a case $\omega^2 = \alpha^2 + \beta^2$. In this case

$$(\Delta Q)^{2} = \frac{\hbar}{2} \left(\gamma^{-1} (1 + \alpha t)^{2} + \gamma (\beta + \omega)^{2} t^{2} \right),$$

$$(\Delta P)^{2} = \frac{\hbar}{2} \left(\gamma^{-1} (\beta - \omega)^{2} t^{2} + \gamma (1 - \alpha t)^{2} \right),$$
(7.2.33)

and

$$(\Delta Q)^{2} (\Delta P)^{2}$$

$$= \frac{\hbar^{2}}{4} \left(1 - 2\alpha^{2}t^{2} + 2\alpha^{4}t^{4} + \gamma^{-2}(1+\alpha t)^{2}(\beta-\omega)^{2}t^{2} + \gamma^{2}(1-\alpha t)^{2}(\beta+\omega)^{2}t^{2} \right).$$
(7.2.34)

It can be seen that during time development the variance of position $(\Delta Q)^2$ and momentum $(\Delta P)^2$ increase quadratically with time, so the minimal uncertainty is not preserved for any *t* except t = 0. In the particular case, when $\beta = \omega = \frac{1}{2}$ and $\alpha = 0$, formulas (7.2.33) and (7.2.34) reduce to these for a free particle, considered at the beginning of this subsection.

Note that in a case $\omega^2 > \alpha^2 + \beta^2$ the following one-parameter family of linear canonical transformations of coordinates

$$q' = \frac{Ra + \alpha A}{\omega + \beta} q + Ap,$$

$$p' = \frac{\alpha a - RA}{\omega + \beta} q + ap,$$

$$A = \pm \sqrt{\frac{\omega + \beta}{R} - a^2}, \quad a \in \mathbb{R}$$

transforms the Hamiltonian (7.2.25) into the following Hamiltonian of the harmonic oscillator

$$H(q', p') = \frac{1}{2}R(p'^2 + q'^2).$$

On the other hand, in a case $\omega^2 < \alpha^2 + \beta^2$ another one-parameter family of linear canonical transformations of coordinates

$$\begin{aligned} q' &= -\frac{R+\alpha}{\omega+\beta}aq - ap, \\ p' &= \frac{R-\alpha}{2Ra}q - \frac{\omega+\beta}{2Ra}p, \end{aligned} \qquad a \in \mathbb{R} \end{aligned}$$

transforms the Hamiltonian (7.2.25) into the following Hamiltonian

$$H(q', p') = Rq'p'.$$

For both Hamiltonians H(q', p') the initial coherence is preserved during time evolution.

Observation 16 From the above considerations it follows that the conservation of coherence property during time development of quantum state is rather rare phenomenon. Even for a three-parameter family of linear quantum Hamiltonian equations (7.2.26) in \mathbb{R}^2 , initial coherence is preserved during time evolution only for two cases: $\beta = \alpha = 0$ and $\beta = \omega = 0$. So why should we expect such a property for nonlinear quantum Hamiltonian equations? On the other hand, when $\omega^2 > \alpha^2 + \beta^2$ we can always reduce the dynamics to the harmonic oscillator ($\beta = \alpha = 0$), and when $\omega^2 < \alpha^2 + \beta^2$ we can reduce the dynamics to the case $\omega = \beta = 0$, provided that we will be working with new variables q', p'. In the frame of original variables q, p it means that for the considered class of systems there always exist canonically conjugated observables q' = q'(q, p), p' = p'(q, p) for which the minimal uncertainty is preserved during time evolution.

At the end of this subsection let us consider a system of two degrees of freedom described by the Hamiltonian cubic in phase space coordinates

$$H(x, p) = \frac{p_1^2}{2m_1} + \frac{p_2^2}{2m_2} + kx^1 p_2^2, \qquad (7.2.35)$$

where m_1, m_2 are masses of particles and k is a coupling constant. Quantum equations of motion (7.1.16) for observables of position and momentum are of the form

$$(Q^{1})_{t} = \frac{1}{m_{1}} P_{1},$$

$$(Q^{2})_{t} = \frac{1}{m_{2}} P_{2} + 2kQ^{1} \star P_{2},$$

$$(P_{1})_{t} = -kP_{2} \star P_{2},$$

$$(P_{2})_{t} = 0.$$
(7.2.36)

Hamiltonian (7.2.35) is specific because x^2 is a cyclic coordinate, so P_2 is a constant of motion equal to its initial value $P_2 = p_2$ and in consequence, equations (7.2.36) reduce to their classical counterparts

$$(Q^{1})_{t} = \frac{1}{m_{1}}P_{1},$$

$$(Q^{2})_{t} = \frac{1}{m_{2}}P_{2} + 2kQ^{1}P_{2},$$

$$(P_{1})_{t} = -k(P_{2})^{2},$$

$$(P_{2})_{t} = 0.$$

with the solution

$$Q^{1}(t) = x^{1} + \frac{1}{m_{1}}p_{1}t - \frac{k}{2m_{1}}p_{2}^{2}t^{2},$$

$$P_{1}(t) = p_{1} - kp_{2}^{2}t,$$

$$Q^{2}(t) = x^{2} + \left(\frac{1}{m_{2}}p_{2} + 2kx^{1}p_{2}\right)t + \frac{k}{m_{1}}p_{1}p_{2}t^{2} - \frac{k^{2}}{3m_{1}}p_{2}^{3}t^{3},$$

$$P_{2}(t) = p_{2},$$

$$(7.2.37)$$

which again represents a common quantum and classical trajectory of the considered two particle system. Hence, the flow (7.2.37) represents a one-parameter family (group) of classical and quantum canonical transformations $T(x^1, x^2, p_1, p_2) = (Q^1, Q^2, P_1, P_2)$ in a four-dimensional phase space \mathbb{R}^4 with the following generating function

$$F(x^{1}, x^{2}, P_{1}, P_{2}) = x^{1}P_{1} + x^{2}P_{2} + ktx^{1}(P_{2})^{2} + \frac{1}{2m_{1}}t(P_{1})^{2} + \frac{1}{2m_{2}}t(P_{2})^{2} + \frac{k}{2m_{1}}t^{2}P_{1}(P_{2})^{2} + \frac{k^{2}}{6m_{1}}t^{3}(P_{2})^{4}.$$

Note, that this transformation is a four-dimensional example of the transformation generated by F_4 from Sect. 6.1.4. In accordance with (7.2.1) the received quantum flow Φ_t transforms the Moyal product to the following product

$$f \star_t g = f \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}i\hbar \overleftarrow{D}_{x^1} \overrightarrow{D}_{p_1} + \frac{1}{2}i\hbar \overleftarrow{D}_{x^2} \overrightarrow{D}_{p_2} - \frac{1}{2}i\hbar \overleftarrow{D}_{p_1} \overrightarrow{D}_{x^1} - \frac{1}{2}i\hbar \overleftarrow{D}_{p_2} \overrightarrow{D}_{x^2}\right) g,$$

where

•

$$D_{x^{1}} = \partial_{x^{1}} + 2ktp_{2}\partial_{x^{2}},$$

$$D_{x^{2}} = \partial_{x^{2}},$$

$$D_{p_{1}} = \partial_{p_{1}} + \frac{1}{m_{1}}t\partial_{x^{1}} + \frac{k}{m_{1}}t^{2}p_{2}\partial_{x^{2}},$$

$$D_{p_{2}} = \partial_{p_{2}} - 2ktp_{2}\partial_{p_{1}} - \frac{k}{m_{1}}t^{2}p_{2}\partial_{x^{1}} + \left(\frac{1}{m_{2}}t + 2ktx^{1} - \frac{k}{m_{1}}t^{2}p_{1} - \frac{k^{2}}{m_{1}}t^{3}p_{2}^{2}\right)\partial_{x^{2}}.$$

Moreover, the isomorphism S_t associated with Φ_t and intertwining the Moyal product at t = 0 with the \star_t -product takes the form

$$S_{t} = \exp\left[\frac{1}{4}k\hbar^{2}\left(\frac{1}{2}\frac{1}{m_{1}}t^{2}\partial_{x^{1}}\partial_{x^{2}}^{2} + t\partial_{p_{1}}\partial_{x^{2}}^{2} + \frac{1}{3}\frac{kp_{2}}{m_{1}}t^{3}\partial_{x^{2}}^{3}\right)\right].$$

It can be also proved that S_t is an isomorphism (unitary operator) of the Hilbert space $L^2(\mathbb{R}^4)$ onto itself.

As in this case $S_{t_2}\Phi_{t_1} = \Phi_{t_1}$, the group multiplication for $\{\Phi_t\}$ is just a composition of maps, as one could expect since Φ_t is simultaneously the classical and quantum trajectory. However, the action of Φ_t on observables and states does not reduce in general to a composition of maps (7.2.1) like in the classical case as now $S_t \neq 1$, which is a direct consequence of the fact that the Hamiltonian is a cubic function of phase space coordinates. As the result, the time evolution of quantum observables is governed by (7.2.4). This shows that for the considered case the time evolution of quantum observables differs in general from the time evolution of classical observables.

One can check by direct calculations that the action of the quantum flow Φ_t on an observable *A*, given by (7.2.4), indeed describes the quantum time evolution of *A*. As the illustration of that fact let us take $A(x, p) = x_1 x_2^2$. Then

$$(S_t A)(x, p) = x_1 x_2^2 + \frac{1}{4}\hbar^2 \frac{k}{m_1} t^2$$

and it can be checked by direct computation that

$$A(t) = (S_t A) \circ \Phi_t = Q^1(t)(Q^2(t))^2 + \frac{1}{4}\hbar^2 \frac{k}{m_1}t^2$$

satisfies the time evolution equation (7.1.13).

7.2.3 Pure Quantum Trajectories

We discuss the concept of quantum trajectories on a simple, but far from being trivial, example of a system described by a Hamiltonian

$$H(x, p) = \kappa x^2 p^2.$$

The Moyal dynamics (7.1.16) takes the form (see Example 7.1)

$$Q_{t} = \kappa Q \star Q \star P + \kappa P \star Q \star Q, \qquad Q(0) = x,$$

$$P_{t} = -\kappa Q \star P \star P - \kappa P \star P \star Q, \qquad P(0) = p. \qquad (7.2.38)$$

We briefly sketch how to find the solution of the considered quantum dynamics [93]. Since $[\![Q, P]\!] = 1$ at any time *t*, we have

$$\frac{d}{dt}(Q \star P) = Q_t \star P + Q \star P_t$$
$$= \kappa P \star Q \star Q \star P - \kappa Q \star P \star P \star Q$$

$$=\kappa P \star Q \star Q \star P - \kappa P \star Q \star Q \star P + i\hbar\kappa P \star Q - i\hbar\kappa P \star Q$$
$$=0$$

and so, as in the classical case, $Q \star P$ is a constant of motion

$$Q(x, p, t) \star^{(x, p)} P(x, p, t) = x \star p = xp + \frac{1}{2}i\hbar.$$
(7.2.39)

Substituting (7.2.39) in the Eq. (7.2.38) we get

$$Q_t = \kappa Q \star (xp) + \kappa (xp) \star Q, \qquad Q(0) = x,$$

$$P_t = -\kappa (xp) \star P - \kappa P \star (xp), \qquad P(0) = p.$$

One can immediately check that the solution of this equations is

$$Q(x, p, t) = \exp_{\star}(\kappa t x p) \star x \star \exp_{\star}(\kappa t x p)$$
$$P(x, p, t) = \exp_{\star}(-\kappa t x p) \star p \star \exp_{\star}(-\kappa t x p).$$
(7.2.40)

By construction this is a unitary transformation.

In order to go further we need the explicit form of \star -exponential from (7.2.40). Following a technique developed in [12], in [92] was derived the \star -exponential for any polynomial of second degree in phase space coordinates

$$H = A_{\alpha\beta}\xi^{\alpha}\xi^{\beta} + B_{\alpha}\xi^{\alpha}.$$

where A is a symmetric, nonsingular, $2n \times 2n$ matrix. In a particular case, for factorization

$$A = S_A^T S_A$$

such that

$$S_A \omega S_A^T = a \omega,$$

where ω is a symplectic matrix (6.1.2) and $a \in \mathbb{C}$, the noncommutative exponential is given by

$$\exp_{\star}(\gamma H) = \left[\cos(i\hbar a\gamma)\right]^{-n} \exp\left\{\frac{H}{i\hbar a}\tan(i\hbar a\gamma) + \frac{1}{4i\hbar a}B^{T}A^{-1}B\left[\tan(i\hbar a\gamma) - i\hbar a\gamma\right]\right\}.$$

In our case (7.2.40) H = xp and

$$B = 0, \quad A = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{1}{2} \\ \frac{1}{2} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad S_A = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ i & -i \end{pmatrix}, \quad a = \frac{1}{2}i$$

hence

$$\exp_{\star}(\pm\kappa txp) = \sec\left(\frac{1}{2}\kappa\hbar t\right)\exp\left[\pm\frac{2}{\hbar}xp\tan\left(\frac{1}{2}\kappa\hbar t\right)\right]$$

and so

$$Q(x, p, t) = \exp_{\star}(\kappa t x p) \star x \star \exp_{\star}(\kappa t x p)$$

= $\left[1 + i \tan\left(\frac{1}{2}\kappa\hbar t\right)\right] \exp_{\star}(\kappa t x p) \star \left[x \exp_{\star}(\kappa t x p)\right]$
$$P(x, p, t) = \exp_{\star}(-\kappa t x p) \star p \star \exp_{\star}(-\kappa t x p)$$

= $\left[1 + i \tan\left(\frac{1}{2}\kappa\hbar t\right)\right] \exp_{\star}(-\kappa t x p) \star \left[p \exp_{\star}(-\kappa t x p)\right].$

Applying the integral representation (6.1.45) of the \star -product, after some calculation we get the final solution of quantum Hamiltonian equations (7.2.38) in the form [93]

$$Q(x, p, t; \hbar) = \sec^2(\kappa \hbar t) x \exp\left(\frac{2}{\hbar} \tan(\kappa \hbar t) x p\right), \qquad (7.2.41a)$$

$$P(x, p, t; \hbar) = \sec^2(\kappa \hbar t) p \exp\left(-\frac{2}{\hbar}\tan(\kappa \hbar t)xp\right), \qquad (7.2.41b)$$

for $t \neq \frac{2k+1}{2} \frac{\pi}{\kappa \hbar}$, $k \in \mathbb{Z}$. This solution (7.2.41) is a deformation of a classical one given by the limit $\hbar \to 0$

$$Q_C(x, p, t) = xe^{2t\kappa xp}, \quad P_C(x, p, t) = pe^{-2t\kappa xp}.$$

The induced quantum flow Φ_t is an example of a flow for which Φ_t , for every $t \neq \frac{k\pi}{\kappa h}$, is not a classical symplectomorphism, since

$$\{Q(t), P(t)\} = \sec^4(\kappa \hbar t) \neq 1.$$

In accordance with (7.2.1) the quantum flow Φ_t transforms the Moyal product to the following product

$$f \star_t g = f \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}i\hbar \overleftarrow{D}_x \overrightarrow{D}_p - \frac{1}{2}i\hbar \overleftarrow{D}_p \overrightarrow{D}_x\right)g,$$

where

$$D_x = \sec^2(\kappa\hbar t) (1 + 2t\chi(\kappa\hbar t)xp) \exp(2t\chi(\kappa\hbar t)xp)\partial_x - 2t\chi(\kappa\hbar t) \sec^2(\kappa\hbar t)p^2 \exp(2t\chi(\kappa\hbar t)xp)\partial_p,$$

$$D_p = 2t\chi(\kappa\hbar t)\sec^2(\kappa\hbar t)x^2\exp\left(-2t\chi(\kappa\hbar t)xp\right)\partial_x +\sec^2(\kappa\hbar t)\left(1-2t\chi(\kappa\hbar t)xp\right)\exp\left(-2t\chi(\kappa\hbar t)xp\right)\partial_p,$$

and $\chi(\kappa \hbar t) = \frac{\tan(\kappa \hbar t)}{\kappa \hbar t \sec^4(\kappa \hbar t)}$. Moreover, the isomorphism S_t associated with Φ_t and intertwining the Moyal product with the \star_t -product, up to the second order in \hbar , takes the form

$$S_{t} = 1 + \hbar^{2} \kappa^{2} \left(\frac{1}{6} (3t^{2}x^{3} + 4t^{3}x^{4}p)\partial_{x}^{3} + \frac{1}{6} (3t^{2}p^{3} - 4t^{3}xp^{4})\partial_{p}^{3} + \frac{1}{2} (-tp - t^{2}xp^{2} + 4t^{3}x^{2}p^{3})\partial_{x}\partial_{p}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} (tx - t^{2}x^{2}p - 4t^{3}x^{3}p^{2})\partial_{x}^{2}\partial_{p} + (2t^{2}x^{2} + 2t^{3}x^{3}p)\partial_{x}^{2} + (2t^{2}p^{2} - 2t^{3}xp^{3})\partial_{p}^{2} + (-2t^{2}xp)\partial_{x}\partial_{p} \right) + O(\hbar^{4}).$$
(7.2.42)

In fact, expanding relations (6.1.77) with respect to \hbar one can show that S_t in the above form satisfies these relations up to $O(\hbar^2)$.

From the fact that Φ_t is a purely quantum trajectory, we deal with the quantum group multiplication (7.2.6) for $\{\Phi_t\}$ as well as the quantum action (7.2.4) of Φ_t on observables and states. Indeed, expanding (7.2.41) with respect to \hbar :

$$Q(x, p, t; \hbar) = Q_C \left(1 + \hbar^2 \kappa^2 \left(t^2 + \frac{2}{3} t^3 x p \right) \right) + O(\hbar^4),$$

$$P(x, p, t; \hbar) = P_C \left(1 + \hbar^2 \kappa^2 \left(t^2 - \frac{2}{3} t^3 x p \right) \right) + O(\hbar^4)$$

and applying isomorphism S_t (7.2.42), the quantum composition law

$$Q(t_1 + t_2) = S_{t_2}Q(t_1) \circ \Phi_{t_2} = S_{t_1}Q(t_2) \circ \Phi_{t_1},$$

$$P(t_1 + t_2) = S_{t_2}P(t_1) \circ \Phi_{t_2} = S_{t_1}P(t_2) \circ \Phi_{t_1}$$

holds up to $O(\hbar^2)$. Note also that the flow Φ_t is not defined for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$ as it is singular for $t = \frac{2k+1}{2} \frac{\pi}{\kappa \hbar}$, contrary to classical flows which are globally defined. This is an interesting result showing that in general the quantum time evolution do not have to be defined for all instances of time *t*.

Observation 17 Singularities of classical trajectories are not admissible as each classical trajectory represents measurable quantities, actually expectation values of position and momentum of a system in a pure coherent classical state (7.2.13) for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$. On the contrary, pure quantum trajectories themselves are not "physical" objects as states (7.2.13) are not admissible so, singularities of pure quantum trajectories are acceptable.

Let us come back to the singular quantum trajectory (7.2.41). Through direct integration we can calculate the expectation values of Q and P from (7.2.41) in the coherent state (7.2.15). The result after introducing

$$a(t) = \frac{\cos(\kappa\hbar t)}{\sqrt{\cos(2\kappa\hbar t)}} x + \frac{\gamma^{-1}\sin(\kappa\hbar t)}{\sqrt{\cos(2\kappa\hbar t)}} p,$$

$$b(t) = -\frac{\gamma\sin(\kappa\hbar t)}{\sqrt{\cos(2\kappa\hbar t)}} x + \frac{\cos(\kappa\hbar t)}{\sqrt{\cos(2\kappa\hbar t)}} p,$$

reads

$$\begin{split} \langle Q \rangle_{\rho} &= \frac{a(t)}{\cos(2\kappa\hbar t)} \exp\left(\frac{\gamma}{\hbar} \left(a^2(t) - x^2\right)\right), \\ \langle P \rangle_{\rho} &= \frac{b(t)}{\cos(2\kappa\hbar t)} \exp\left(\frac{1}{\hbar\gamma} \left(b^2(t) - p^2\right)\right) \end{split}$$

Note, that $\langle Q \rangle_{\rho}$ and $\langle P \rangle_{\rho}$ are well defined only on intervals $(-\frac{1}{4}+n)\frac{\pi}{\kappa\hbar} < t < (\frac{1}{4}+n)\frac{\pi}{\kappa\hbar}$, $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. This once again shows that time evolution of the considered system is not defined for all values of the evolution parameter *t* and even time development of expectation values of position and momentum is only well defined on certain intervals of *t*.

Observation 18 We have found that for the considered quantum trajectories, expectation values of observables of position and momentum in the coherent state (7.2.15) were well defined only on certain intervals of t, which raises problems and questions of interpretation of such a kind of time evolution. If we assume, like in the classical case, that the expectation values of position and momentum have to be smooth functions for any $t \in \mathbb{R}$, then we have two options. Either, for a chosen quantization, there exist quantum states for which our assumption is fulfilled (the state (7.2.15) does not belong to that class) or, if there are no such states, our quantization is not 'physical' and we have to chose another quantization which fulfills the imposed assumption.

The above observation was made from the mathematical point of view. Let's have a look on the problem from the physical side. In other words, let us asses the length of the interval on which time evolution of the system is well defined. Notice that dimension of κ in joule-seconds is $J^{-1}s^{-2}$ so we put $\kappa = |\kappa| J^{-1}s^{-2}$ and moreover $\hbar \simeq 10^{-34} Js$. So, the length of the time interval $\frac{\pi}{4\hbar\kappa}$ will be approximately equal $|\kappa|^{-1} 0.785 \times 10^{34}s$. Notice that the age of Universe is $0.437 \times 10^{18}s$. So, for a large range of κ singularities appearing in time evolution are nonphysical.

After reading this chapter the reader might be disappointed with a small number of examples of stationary problems of known quantum systems, presented in deformation quantization formalism. The exception was made for the case of quantum harmonic oscillator. The reason is that such calculations directly in a Hilbert space over the phase space are very cumbersome and complex. Fortunately, at least for the canonical quantization, we can simplify that problem passing to so called position representation of quantum systems. This is the subject of the next chapter in which we present many known and new examples of separable eigenvalue quantum problems defined in an appropriate Hilbert spaces over Riemannian configuration spaces.

Chapter 8 Position Representation of Quantum Mechanics over Riemannian Configuration Space



The last chapter of the book is devoted to two very important issues of the developed quantum theory. The first one is related with systematic construction of the so called position representation of quantum mechanics over an appropriate class of Riemaniann spaces in any admissible local curvilinear coordinates. In particular, for a flat space and Cartesian coordinates we reconstruct the standard quantization procedure from textbooks of quantum mechanics. The second issue of that chapter is related with quantum integrability (quantum superintegrability) and quantum separability. Actually, we present the reader a class of quantizations of classical Stäckel systems considered in previous chapters, which preserve quantum integrability, quantum superintegrability and quantum stationary separability of related quantum Hamiltonian operators.

8.1 Operator Representation over Riemannian Space

In this section we will present a coordinate free construction of a natural operator representation of quantum mechanics [33, 36, 37, 98], which reproduces the usual Hilbert space approach to quantum mechanics. We will be dealing with quantum systems defined on a phase space M in the form of a cotangent bundle T^*Q to the almost geodesically simply connected Riemannian manifold Q. The manifold Q plays the role of a configuration space of the system. The representation will be constructed in a Hilbert space $L^2(Q, d\omega_g)$ of functions on Q, square integrable with respect to a measure $d\mu(x) = |g|^{1/2}(x) dx$ induced by the metric volume form ω_g on Q, where $|g|(x) = |det[g_{ij}(x)]|$, and with standard inner product

$$(\varphi, \psi) = \int_{Q} \bar{\varphi}(x)\psi(x)d\mu(x). \tag{8.1.1}$$

377

The elements of $L^2(Q, d\omega_g)$ are interpreted as wave functions describing the states of the quantum system in position representation.

8.1.1 Moyal Quantization

First, let us consider the phase space $M = T^*U$, where U is an open subset of \mathbb{R}^n , such that $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus U$ is of measure zero, endowed with a metric tensor g. Then, we will consider a classical system defined on M and its quantization with respect to the Moyal product on M. The construction of the position representation for such a quantum system we begin with an observation that the Hilbert space $L^2(T^*U, d\Omega_{\hbar})$ can be written in the form of a tensor product of the Hilbert space $L^2(U, d\mu)$ and the space dual to it. Thus we start with the explicit construction of this tensor product.

In accordance with the Riesz representation theorem, the Hilbert space $(L^2(U, d\mu))^*$ dual to $L^2(U, d\mu)$ is isomorphic to the Hilbert space $L^2(U, d\mu)$ and can be naturally identified with $L^2(U, d\mu)$ itself. Actually, such linear isomorphism $J: L^2(U, d\mu) \rightarrow (L^2(U, d\mu))^*$ takes the form $J(\psi) = (\bar{\psi}, \cdot)$ (8.1.1). Let us denote by $L^2(TU)$ the Hilbert space of functions from the tangent bundle $TU = U \times \mathbb{R}^n$, square integrable with respect to the Lebesgue measure on $U \times \mathbb{R}^n$. Then, let us define a bilinear map of Hilbert spaces $\tilde{W}: (L^2(U, d\mu))^* \times L^2(U, d\mu) \rightarrow L^2(TU)$, which on vectors $\varphi, \psi \in C_0^{\infty}(U)$ takes the form

$$\tilde{W}(\bar{\varphi},\psi)(x,y) = \overline{\varphi}(x-\frac{1}{2}y)\psi(x+\frac{1}{2}y)\zeta(x,y),$$
(8.1.2)

where

$$\zeta(x, y) = |g|^{1/4} \left(x - \frac{1}{2}y \right) |g|^{1/4} \left(x + \frac{1}{2}y \right).$$

For $\varphi_1, \psi_1, \varphi_2, \psi_2 \in C_0^{\infty}(U)$ it holds

$$\left\langle \tilde{W}(\bar{\varphi_1}, \psi_1), \tilde{W}(\bar{\varphi_2}, \psi_2) \right\rangle = (\bar{\varphi_1}, \bar{\varphi_2})(\psi_1, \psi_2).$$
(8.1.3)

Indeed,

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \tilde{W}(\bar{\varphi_1}, \psi_1), \tilde{W}(\bar{\varphi_2}, \psi_2) \right\rangle &= \int_{U \times \mathbb{R}^n} \overline{\tilde{W}(\bar{\varphi_1}, \psi_1)}(x, y) \tilde{W}(\bar{\varphi_2}, \psi_2)(x, y) \, dx \, dy \\ &= \int_{U \times \mathbb{R}^n} \varphi_1(x - \frac{1}{2}y) \overline{\psi_1}(x + \frac{1}{2}y) \overline{\varphi_2}(x - \frac{1}{2}y) \psi_2(x + \frac{1}{2}y) \\ &\times |g|^{1/2} \left(x - \frac{1}{2}y\right) |g|^{1/2} \left(x + \frac{1}{2}y\right) \, dx \, dy. \end{split}$$
(8.1.4)

Note that since $\varphi_1, \psi_1, \varphi_2, \psi_2$ have a compact support, the integration in (8.1.4) can be extended to the whole space $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n$. Under the following change of variables

$$x' = x - \frac{1}{2}y,$$
$$x'' = x + \frac{1}{2}y.$$

Equation (8.1.4) transforms to

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \tilde{W}(\bar{\varphi_1}, \psi_1), \, \tilde{W}(\bar{\varphi_2}, \psi_2) \right\rangle &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \overline{\varphi_2}(x') \varphi_1(x') \, |g|^{1/2} \, (x') \, dx' \\ &\times \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \overline{\psi_1}(x'') \psi_2(x'') \, |g|^{1/2} \, (x'') \, dx'' \\ &= (\varphi_1^*, \, \varphi_2^*)(\psi_1, \, \psi_2). \end{split}$$

From property (8.1.3) follows that \tilde{W} is continuous on $C_0^{\infty}(U) \times C_0^{\infty}(U)$. Thus, as $C_0^{\infty}(U)$ is dense in $L^2(U, d\mu)$, it can be uniquely extended to a bilinear map defined on the whole space $(L^2(U, d\mu))^* \times L^2(U, d\mu)$ and satisfy (8.1.3). One can prove that finite linear combinations of vectors $\tilde{W}(\bar{\varphi}, \psi)$ for $\varphi, \psi \in L^2(U, d\mu)$ create a dense subset of $L^2(TU)$. In conclusion \tilde{W} is a tensor product of Hilbert spaces $(L^2(U, d\mu))^*$ and $L^2(U, d\mu)$.

Next, let us take the Fourier transform (6.1.23) of $\tilde{W}(\bar{\varphi}, \psi)$ in momentum variable *p* conjugated to position variable *y*. In such a way we receive a bilinear map of Hilbert spaces $W: (L^2(U, d\mu))^* \times L^2(U, d\mu) \to L^2(T^*U, d\Omega_{\hbar})$, which on arbitrary vectors $\varphi, \psi \in C_0^{\infty}(U)$ takes the form

$$W(\bar{\varphi},\psi)(x,p) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \tilde{W}(\bar{\varphi},\psi)(x,y) e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}y^k p_k} dy$$

=
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \overline{\varphi}(x-\frac{1}{2}y)\psi(x+\frac{1}{2}y)\zeta(x,y) e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}y^k p_k} dy.$$
 (8.1.5)

Because the Fourier transform in momentum variable is an isomorphism of the Hilbert space $L^2(T^*U)$ onto the Hilbert space $L^2(TU)$, so W is also a tensor product of Hilbert spaces $(L^2(U, d\mu))^*$ and $L^2(U, d\mu)$. Let us denote this tensor product by \otimes_W

$$\bar{\varphi} \otimes_W \psi \equiv W(\bar{\varphi}, \psi).$$

In a case when $U = \mathbb{R}^n$ with a standard metric tensor g in flat coordinates, (8.1.5) is a well known from literature *Wigner transform* [2, 263].

Now let us prove a couple properties of the tensor product \otimes_W . For $\varphi, \psi \in L^2(U, d\mu)$ there holds

$$\overline{\bar{\varphi}} \otimes_W \psi = \bar{\psi} \otimes_W \varphi, \qquad (8.1.6)$$

$$\int_{T^*U} (\bar{\varphi} \otimes_W \psi) \, d\Omega_\hbar = (\varphi, \psi). \tag{8.1.7}$$

Formula (8.1.6) follows immediately from the definition (8.1.5). To prove (8.1.7) it is enough to consider $\varphi, \psi \in C_0^{\infty}(U)$ as the general case follows from the continuity of the tensor product \otimes_W and the integral, and from the fact that $C_0^{\infty}(U)$ is dense in $L^2(U, d\mu)$. From (8.1.5) we have that

$$\frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n} (\bar{\varphi} \otimes_W \psi)(x, p) \, dx \, dp = \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^n} \int_{U \times \mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \overline{\varphi}(x - \frac{1}{2}y) \psi(x + \frac{1}{2}y) \\ \times e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}y^i p_i} |g|^{1/4} (x - \frac{1}{2}y) |g|^{1/4} (x + \frac{1}{2}y) \, dy \, dx \, dp \\ = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \overline{\varphi}(x - \frac{1}{2}y) \psi(x + \frac{1}{2}y) |g|^{1/4} (x - \frac{1}{2}y) |g|^{1/4} (x + \frac{1}{2}y) \delta(y) \, dy \, dx \\ = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \overline{\varphi}(x) \psi(x) |g|^{1/2} (x) \, dx = (\varphi, \psi).$$

Let $\rho_1 = \bar{\varphi}_1 \otimes_W \psi_1$ and $\rho_2 = \bar{\varphi}_2 \otimes_W \psi_2$ for $\varphi_1, \psi_1, \varphi_2, \psi_2 \in L^2(U, d\mu)$, then

$$\rho_1 \star_M \rho_2 = (\varphi_1, \psi_2)(\bar{\varphi}_2 \otimes_W \psi_1).$$
(8.1.8)

To prove formula (8.1.8) it is sufficient to consider $\varphi_1, \psi_1, \varphi_2, \psi_2 \in C_0^{\infty}(U)$ since the general case again follows from the continuity of tensor product \otimes_W , the Moyal product \star_M and a scalar product, and from the fact that $C_0^{\infty}(U)$ is dense in $L^2(U, d\mu)$. From (6.1.46) we have that

$$\begin{split} (\rho_1 \star_M \rho_2)(x, p) &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \tilde{\rho}_1(x + \frac{1}{2}y, z) \tilde{\rho}_2(x - \frac{1}{2}z, y) e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}(y^k + z^k)p_k} \, dy \, dz \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \overline{\varphi}_1(x + \frac{1}{2}y - \frac{1}{2}z) \psi_1(x + \frac{1}{2}y + \frac{1}{2}z) \, |g|^{1/4} \, (x + \frac{1}{2}y - \frac{1}{2}z) \\ &\times |g|^{1/4} \, (x + \frac{1}{2}y + \frac{1}{2}z) \overline{\varphi}_2(x - \frac{1}{2}y - \frac{1}{2}z) \psi_2(x + \frac{1}{2}y - \frac{1}{2}z) \\ &\times |g|^{1/4} \, (x - \frac{1}{2}y - \frac{1}{2}z) \, |g|^{1/4} \, (x + \frac{1}{2}y - \frac{1}{2}z) e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}(y^k + z^k)p_k} \, dy \, dz. \end{split}$$

and after the change of variables

$$x' = y + z,$$

$$x'' = x + \frac{1}{2}y - \frac{1}{2}z,$$

8.1 Operator Representation over Riemannian Space

we get

$$\begin{aligned} (\rho_1 \star_M \rho_2)(x, p) &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \overline{\varphi}_1(x'') \psi_2(x'') |g|^{1/2} (x'') dx'' \\ &\times \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \overline{\varphi}_2(x - \frac{1}{2}x') \psi_1(x + \frac{1}{2}x') e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}x'^k p_k} \\ &\times |g|^{1/4} (x - \frac{1}{2}x') |g|^{1/4} (x + \frac{1}{2}x') dx' \\ &= (\varphi_1, \psi_2) (\bar{\varphi}_2 \otimes_W \psi_1)(x, p). \end{aligned}$$

Let $\{\varphi_i\}$ be an orthonormal basis in $L^2(U, d\mu)$, then $\{\rho_{ij}\} = \{\bar{\varphi}_i \otimes_W \varphi_j\}$ is an orthonormal basis in $L^2(T^*U, d\Omega_\hbar)$. From relations (8.1.6), (8.1.7), and (8.1.8) we find that the basis functions ρ_{ij} have the following properties:

$$\bar{\rho}_{ij} = \rho_{ji}, \tag{8.1.9a}$$

$$\int_{T^*U} \rho_{ij} \, d\Omega_\hbar = \delta_{ij}, \tag{8.1.9b}$$

$$\rho_{ij} \star_M \rho_{kl} = \delta_{il} \rho_{kj}. \tag{8.1.9c}$$

Using the basis $\{\rho_{ij}\}$ the following characterization of quantum states can be proved. Function $\rho \in L^2(T^*U, d\Omega_h)$ is a quantum state, i.e. it satisfies conditions

1. $\rho = \bar{\rho}$, 2. $\int_{T^*U} \rho \, d\Omega_{\hbar} = 1$, 3. $\int_{T^*U} \bar{f} \star f \star \rho \, d\Omega_{\hbar} \ge 0$ for $f \in C_0^{\infty}(M)$

if and only if ρ is in the form

$$\rho = \sum_{\lambda} p_{\lambda}(\bar{\varphi}_{\lambda} \otimes_{W} \varphi_{\lambda}),$$

where $\varphi_{\lambda} \in L^{2}(U, d\mu)$, $\|\varphi_{\lambda}\| = 1$, $p_{\lambda} \ge 0$, and $\sum_{\lambda} p_{\lambda} = 1$.

Indeed, function ρ can be written in a form

$$\rho = \sum_{i,j} c_{ij} \rho_{ij},$$

where $c_{ij} \in \mathbb{C}$ and $\{\rho_{ij}\} = \{\bar{\varphi}_i \otimes_W \varphi_j\}$ is an induced basis in $L^2(T^*U, d\Omega_h)$ by the basis $\{\varphi_i\}$ from $L^2(U, d\mu)$. Properties **1–3** mean that the coefficient matrix $\check{c} = (c_{ij})$ is self-adjoint ($\check{c} = \check{c}^{\dagger}$), normalized (tr $\check{c} = 1$), and positively define ($c_{ii} \geq 0$). Indeed, self-adjointness and normalization follow from (8.1.9a) and (8.1.9b). In

order to prove the positive definite note that **3** is valid for every $f \in L^2(T^*U, d\Omega_h)$ since $C_0^{\infty}(T^*U)$ is dense in $L^2(T^*U, d\Omega_h)$. So, in particular for basis functions ρ_{kk} , with the help of (8.1.9), we have

$$0 \leq \int_{T^*U} \rho_{kk} \star_M \rho_{kk} \star_M \rho \, d\Omega_{\hbar} = \int_{T^*U} \rho_{kk} \star_M \rho \, d\Omega_{\hbar} = \sum_{i,j} c_{ij} \int_{T^*U} \rho_{kk} \star_M \rho_{ij} \, d\Omega_{\hbar}$$
$$= \sum_{i,j} c_{ij} \int_{T^*U} \delta_{kj} \rho_{ik} \, d\Omega_{\hbar} = \sum_i c_{ik} \int_{T^*U} \rho_{ik} \, d\Omega_{\hbar} = \sum_i c_{ik} \delta_{ik} = c_{kk}$$

for any k.

Since the matrix \check{c} is self-adjoint it can be diagonalized, i.e. there exists a unitary matrix \check{T} such that $c_{ij} = \sum_{k,l} T_{ik}^{\dagger}(p_k \delta_{kl}) T_{lj} = \sum_k \bar{T}_{ki} p_k T_{kj}$ for some $p_k \in \mathbb{R}$. Hence, ρ can be presented in the form

$$\rho = \sum_{i,j,k} \bar{T}_{ki} p_k T_{kj} (\bar{\varphi}_i \otimes_W \varphi_j) = \sum_k p_k \left(\left(\sum_i \bar{T}_{ki} \bar{\varphi}_i \right) \otimes_W \left(\sum_j T_{kj} \varphi_j \right) \right)$$
$$= \sum_k p_k (\bar{\psi}_k \otimes_W \psi_k),$$

where $\psi_k = \sum_i T_{ki}\varphi_i$. The conditions that $c_{ii} \ge 0$ and tr $\check{c} = 1$ give that $0 \le p_k \le 1$ and $\sum_k p_k = 1$.

From the above considerations follows that every pure state has the form

$$\rho_{\text{pure}} = \bar{\varphi} \otimes_W \varphi, \qquad (8.1.10)$$

for some normalized $\varphi \in L^2(U, d\mu)$. Conversely, every function ρ of the form (8.1.10) is a pure state. Besides, from relation (8.1.8) follows that every pure state is idempotent

$$\rho_{\text{pure}} \star_M \rho_{\text{pure}} = \rho_{\text{pure}}.$$

The inverse is also true, i.e. that every function $\rho \in L^2(T^*U, d\Omega_{\hbar})$ which satisfies

1.
$$\rho = \overline{\rho}$$
,
2. $\int_{T^*U} \rho \, d\Omega_\hbar = 1$,
3. $\rho \star_M \rho = \rho$,

is a pure state. Indeed, function ρ can be written in a form

$$\rho = \sum_{i,j} c_{ij} \rho_{ij},$$

where $c_{ij} \in \mathbb{C}$ and $\{\rho_{ij}\} = \{\bar{\varphi}_i \otimes_W \varphi_j\}$ is an induced basis in $L^2(T^*U, d\Omega_\hbar)$. Again, properties **1–3** are equivalent to the statement that the coefficient matrix $\check{c} = (c_{ij})$ is self-adjoint ($\check{c} = \check{c}^{\dagger}$), normalized (tr $\check{c} = 1$), and idempotent ($\check{c}^2 = \check{c}$). So, since the matrix \check{c} is self-adjoint it can be diagonalized, i.e. there exists a unitary matrix \check{T} such that $c_{ij} = \sum_{k,l} T_{ik}^{\dagger} (a_k \delta_{kl}) T_{lj} = \sum_k \bar{T}_{ki} a_k T_{kj}$ for some $a_k \in \mathbb{R}$. In consequence, ρ takes the form

$$\rho = \sum_{i,j,k} \bar{T}_{ki} a_k T_{kj} (\bar{\varphi}_i \otimes_W \varphi_j) = \sum_k a_k \left(\left(\sum_i \bar{T}_{ki} \bar{\varphi}_i \right) \otimes_W \left(\sum_j T_{kj} \varphi_j \right) \right)$$
$$= \sum_k a_k (\bar{\psi}_k \otimes_W \psi_k),$$

where $\psi_k = \sum_i T_{ki}\varphi_i$. The conditions that $\check{c}^2 = \check{c}$ and tr $\check{c} = 1$ give that $a_k^2 = a_k$ and $\sum_k a_k = 1$. Hence $a_k = \delta_{k_0k}$ for some k_0 , from which we get $\rho = \bar{\psi}_{k_0} \otimes_W \psi_{k_0}$. Thus indeed ρ is a pure state.

As was just noted, pure states $\rho \in L^2(T^*U, d\Omega_h)$ are of the form $\rho = \bar{\varphi} \otimes_W \varphi$ for normalized $\varphi \in L^2(U, d\mu)$ and in consequence there is a one to one correspondence between pure states and normalized vectors in $L^2(U, d\mu)$. Moreover, we will show that there is also a one to one correspondence between states $\rho \in L^2(T^*U, d\Omega_h)$ and *density operators* $\hat{\rho}$ on $L^2(U, d\mu)$ [33, 98].

From the Sect. 6.2.1 we know that vectors $f \in L^2(T^*U, d\Omega_{\hbar})$ can be regarded as operators $f \star_M$ on $L^2(T^*U, d\Omega_{\hbar})$ given by the formula

$$(f \star_M)\rho = f \star_M \rho, \quad \rho \in L^2(T^*U, d\Omega_{\hbar}).$$

Besides, from (6.1.3) it follows that operators $f \star_M$ are bounded with the norm $||f \star_M || \leq ||f||$. Now, we will prove that operators $f \star_M$ can be naturally identified with Hilbert-Schmidt operators on $L^2(U, d\mu)$.

For a Hilbert space \mathcal{H} a bounded operator $\hat{A} \in B(\mathcal{H})$ is called a *Hilbert-Schmidt* operator if $\operatorname{tr}(\hat{A}^{\dagger}\hat{A}) < \infty$. The space of all Hilbert-Schmidt operators will be denoted by $B_{HS}(\mathcal{H})$ and it forms a Hilbert space with a scalar product given by

$$(\hat{A}, \hat{B})_{HS} = \operatorname{tr}(\hat{A}^{\dagger}\hat{B}), \quad \hat{A}, \hat{B} \in B_{HS}(\mathcal{H}).$$

$$(8.1.11)$$

From the relation between the Hilbert-Schmidt norm and the usual operator norm

$$\|\hat{A}\| \le \|\hat{A}\|_{HS}, \quad \hat{A} \in B_{HS}(\mathcal{H})$$

it follows that the inclusion $B_{HS}(\mathcal{H}) \subset B(\mathcal{H})$ is continuous.

In what follows we show that for every $\rho \in L^2(T^*U, d\Omega_{\hbar})$

$$\rho \star_M = \hat{1} \otimes_W \hat{\rho}, \qquad (8.1.12)$$

where $\hat{\rho} \in B_{HS}(L^2(U, d\mu))$ is a Hilbert-Schmidt operator defined on the Hilbert space $L^2(U, d\mu)$. Conversely, for every $\hat{\rho} \in B_{HS}(L^2(U, d\mu))$ the operator $\hat{1} \otimes_W \hat{\rho}$ is of the form $\rho \star_M$ for some $\rho \in L^2(T^*U, d\Omega_h)$. Moreover, the following properties are fulfilled:

- (i) for $\rho = \bar{\varphi} \otimes_W \psi$, $\hat{\rho} = (\varphi, \cdot)\psi$, (ii) $\bar{\rho} \star_M = \hat{1} \otimes_W \hat{\rho}^{\dagger}$,
- (iii) $\operatorname{Tr}(\rho) \equiv \int_{T^*U} \rho \, d\Omega_{\hbar} = \operatorname{tr}(\hat{\rho}),$
- (iv) for $\rho_1, \rho_2 \in L^2(T^*U, d\Omega_{\hbar})$ and $\hat{\rho}_1, \hat{\rho}_2 \in B_{HS}(L^2(U, d\mu))$ such that $\rho_1 \star_M =$ $\hat{1} \otimes_W \hat{\rho}_1$ and $\rho_2 \star_M = \hat{1} \otimes_W \hat{\rho}_2$

$$\langle \rho_1, \rho_2 \rangle = (\hat{\rho}_1, \hat{\rho}_2)_{HS},$$

(v) $\int_{T^*U} \bar{f} \star_M f \star_M \rho \, d\Omega_\hbar \ge 0$ for $f \in C_0^\infty(T^*U)$ if and only if $(\varphi, \hat{\rho}\varphi) \ge 0$ for $\varphi \in L^2(U, du).$

First, let us consider property (i). From (8.1.8) for basis functions $\rho_{ij} = \bar{\varphi}_i \otimes_W \varphi_j$ we get

$$\rho \star_M \rho_{ij} = (\bar{\varphi} \otimes_W \psi) \star_M (\bar{\varphi}_i \otimes_W \varphi_j) = (\varphi, \varphi_j)(\bar{\varphi}_i \otimes_W \psi) = \bar{\varphi}_i \otimes_W (\hat{\rho}\varphi_j)$$
$$= (\hat{1} \otimes_W \hat{\rho})\rho_{ij},$$

which proves (i).

Now, note that for a basis $\{\varphi_i\}$ in $L^2(U, d\mu)$ the operators $\hat{\rho}_{ii} = (\varphi_i, \cdot)\varphi_i$ form a basis in the Hilbert space $B_{HS}(L^2(U, d\mu))$ of Hilbert-Schmidt operators. From (i) for basis functions $\rho_{ii} = \bar{\varphi}_i \otimes_W \varphi_i$ we have

$$\rho_{ij} \star_M = \hat{1} \otimes_W \hat{\rho}_{ij}. \tag{8.1.13}$$

Any $\rho \in L^2(T^*U, d\Omega_{\hbar})$ can be written in the form $\rho = \sum_{i,j} c_{ij} \rho_{ij}$ for some $c_{ij} \in \mathbb{C}$, so according to (8.1.13) the corresponding Hilbert-Schmidt operator $\hat{\rho}$ is of the form $\hat{\rho} = \sum_{i,j} c_{ij} \hat{\rho}_{ij}$. This proves the relation (8.1.12).

In order to show properties (ii)-(iv) it is enough to prove them for basis functions ρ_{ij} . Property (ii) results from (8.1.9a) and the fact that $\hat{\rho}_{ij}^{\dagger} = \hat{\rho}_{ji}$. Property (iii) is a consequence of (8.1.9b) and the identity $tr(\hat{\rho}_{ii}) = \delta_{ii}$. Property (iv) follows from the equality

$$\begin{split} \langle \rho_{ij}, \rho_{kl} \rangle &= \int_{T^*U} \bar{\rho}_{ij} \rho_{kl} \, d\Omega_{\hbar} = \int_{T^*U} \rho_{ji} \star_M \rho_{kl} \, d\Omega_{\hbar} = \int_{T^*U} \delta_{jl} \rho_{ki} \, d\Omega_{\hbar} = \delta_{jl} \delta_{ik} \\ &= \operatorname{tr}(\hat{\rho}_{ij}^{\dagger} \hat{\rho}_{kl}) = (\hat{\rho}_{ij}, \hat{\rho}_{kl})_{HS}. \end{split}$$

In order to prove (v) we expand ρ and $\hat{\rho}$ in the corresponding basis: $\rho = \sum_{i,j} c_{ij} \rho_{ij}$ and $\hat{\rho} = \sum_{i,j} c_{ij} \hat{\rho}_{ij}$. The property follows from the fact that the positivedefiniteness of ρ and $\hat{\rho}$ is equivalent with the inequality $c_{kk} \ge 0$ for every k.

From the foregoing considerations it follows that the Hilbert spaces $L^2(T^*U, d\Omega_{\hbar})$ and $B_{HS}(L^2(U, d\mu))$ are naturally isomorphic, where the isomorphism $\rho \mapsto \hat{\rho}$ is given by $\rho \star_M = \hat{1} \otimes_W \hat{\rho}$. The isomorphism $\rho \mapsto \hat{\rho}$ is in fact a representation of the algebra $\mathcal{L} = (L^2(T^*U, d\Omega_{\hbar}), \star_M)$ in the Hilbert space $L^2(U, d\mu)$ as it satisfies

$$\widehat{\rho_1 \star_M \rho_2} = \hat{\rho_1} \hat{\rho_2}, \quad \hat{\bar{\rho}} = \hat{\rho}^{\dagger}, \quad \mathrm{Tr}(\rho) = \mathrm{tr}(\hat{\rho}),$$

where the last property is restricted to the subspace $\mathcal{L}^1 = \mathcal{L} \star_M \mathcal{L}$. Moreover, it follows as well that there is a one to one correspondence between quantum states $\rho \in L^2(T^*U, d\Omega_{\hbar})$ and density operators on $L^2(U, d\mu)$, i.e. trace class operators $\hat{\rho}$ satisfying

- 1. $\hat{\rho}^{\dagger} = \hat{\rho},$ 2. $\operatorname{tr}(\hat{\rho}) = 1,$ 2. $(\hat{\rho} = 1, \hat{\rho}) = 0$ for every $\hat{\rho} = 1$
- 3. $(\varphi, \hat{\rho}\varphi) \ge 0$ for every $\varphi \in L^2(U, d\mu)$.

The density operators represent quantum states in the operator representation of quantum mechanics.

Now let us show that observables $A \in C^{\infty}(T^*U)[[\hbar]]$ can be naturally identified with appropriate operators defined on the Hilbert space $L^2(U, d\mu)$ [33, 98]. What is important, the presented identification will be in agreement with the Weyl correspondence rule. Let $A \in C^{\infty}(T^*U)[[\hbar]]$ and $\rho = \bar{\varphi} \otimes_W \psi$ for $\varphi, \psi \in C_0^{\infty}(U)$. Then

$$A \star_M \rho = \bar{\varphi} \otimes_W A_W(\hat{q}, \hat{p})\psi, \qquad (8.1.14a)$$

$$\rho \star_M A = (\overline{A_W(\hat{q}, \hat{p})^{\dagger} \varphi}) \otimes_W \psi, \qquad (8.1.14b)$$

where $A_W(\hat{q}, \hat{p})$ is a symmetrically ordered function of canonical operators of position and momentum

$$\hat{q}^{j} = x^{j}, \quad \hat{p}_{j} = -i\hbar(\partial_{x^{j}} + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{jk}^{k}),$$
(8.1.15)

where Γ_{jk}^{i} are Christoffel symbols of the Levi-Civita connection on U, acting in the Hilbert space $L^{2}(U, d\mu)$.

Indeed, from (6.1.46) and (8.1.2) we get

$$\begin{aligned} (A \star_M \rho)(x, p) &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \tilde{A}(x + \frac{1}{2}x', x'') \tilde{\rho}(x - \frac{1}{2}x'', x') e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}(x'^k + x''^k)p_k} \, dx' \, dx'' \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \tilde{A}(x + \frac{1}{2}x', x'') \overline{\varphi}(x - \frac{1}{2}x'' - \frac{1}{2}x') \psi(x - \frac{1}{2}x'' + \frac{1}{2}x') \\ &\times |g|^{1/4} \, (x - \frac{1}{2}x'' - \frac{1}{2}x') \, |g|^{1/4} \, (x - \frac{1}{2}x'' + \frac{1}{2}x') e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}(x'^k + x''^k)p_k} \, dx' \, dx''. \end{aligned}$$

After the change of variables

$$\begin{aligned} x' &\to x'' - y, \\ x'' &\to y \end{aligned}$$

we receive

$$\begin{split} &(A \star_M \rho)(x, p) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \tilde{A}(x + \frac{1}{2}x'' - \frac{1}{2}y, y) \overline{\varphi}(x - \frac{1}{2}x'') \psi(x + \frac{1}{2}x'' - y) |g|^{1/4} (x - \frac{1}{2}x'') \\ &\times |g|^{1/4} (x + \frac{1}{2}x'' - y) |g|^{1/4} (x + \frac{1}{2}x'') |g|^{-1/4} (x + \frac{1}{2}x'') e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}x''^k p_k} dy dx'' \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \overline{\varphi}(x - \frac{1}{2}x'') (A(\hat{q}, \hat{p})\psi)(x + \frac{1}{2}x'') |g|^{1/4} (x - \frac{1}{2}x'') |g|^{1/4} (x + \frac{1}{2}x'') e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}x''^k p_k} dx'' \\ &= (\bar{\varphi} \otimes_W A(\hat{q}, \hat{p})\psi)(x, p), \end{split}$$

where

$$(A(\hat{q}, \hat{p})\psi)(x + \frac{1}{2}x'') = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \tilde{A}(x + \frac{1}{2}x'' - \frac{1}{2}y, y)\psi(x + \frac{1}{2}x'' - y)$$
$$\times |g|^{1/4} (x + \frac{1}{2}x'' - y) |g|^{-1/4} (x + \frac{1}{2}x'') dy.$$

Changing $x + \frac{1}{2}x'' \rightarrow x$, taking explicit form of the Fourier transform in momentum variable (6.1.23) and changing $y \rightarrow -y$, we get

$$(A(\hat{q}, \hat{p})\psi)(x) = \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} A(x + \frac{1}{2}y, p) e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}y^k p_k} \psi(x + y) \times |g|^{1/4} (x + y) |g|^{-1/4} (x) dy dp.$$
(8.1.16)

What remains to prove is that formula (8.1.16) represents Weyl ordering (6.2.3) of operators \hat{q} and \hat{p} given by (8.1.15). Actually, for $A(x, p) = K^{i_1...i_n}(x)p_{i_1}\cdots p_{i_n}$,

where $K^{i_1...i_n}$ is a symmetric complex tensor field on U, and any $\psi(x) \in \mathcal{H}$, we get

$$\begin{aligned} A_{W}(\hat{q},\hat{p})\psi(x) &= \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} K^{i_{1}...i_{n}}(x+\frac{1}{2}y)p_{i_{1}}\cdots p_{i_{n}}e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}y^{k}p_{k}}\psi(x+y) \\ &\times |g|^{1/4}(x+y)|g|^{-1/4}(x)\,dy\,dp \\ &= \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} K^{i_{1}...i_{n}}(x+\frac{1}{2}y) \left[(i\hbar)^{n}\partial_{y^{i_{1}}}\cdots\partial_{y^{i_{n}}}e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}y^{k}p_{k}} \right]\psi(x+y) \\ &\times |g|^{1/4}(x+y)|g|^{-1/4}(x)\,dy\,dp \\ &= \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} (-i\hbar)^{n}\partial_{y^{i_{1}}}\cdots\partial_{y^{i_{n}}} \left[K^{i_{1}...i_{n}}(x+\frac{1}{2}y)\psi(x+y)\xi(x,y) \right] \\ &\times e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}y^{k}p_{k}}\,dy\,dp \\ &= (-i\hbar)^{n}\partial_{y^{i_{1}}}\cdots\partial_{y^{i_{n}}} \left[K^{i_{1}...i_{n}}(x+\frac{1}{2}y)\psi(x+y)\xi(x,y) \right] \Big|_{y=0}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(8.1.17)$$

By virtue of the following identity

$$\partial_y \left(g(x + \frac{1}{2}y)h(x + y) \right) = (\partial_{x'} + \partial_{x''}) \left[g(x + \frac{1}{2}x')h(x + \frac{1}{2}x' + \frac{1}{2}x'') \right] \Big|_{x' = x'' = y}$$

valid for any functions g and h, (8.1.17) can be written in a form

$$A_{W}(\hat{q}, \hat{p})\psi(x) = (-i\hbar)^{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{k} \partial_{y^{i_{1}}} \cdots \partial_{y^{i_{k}}} \partial_{x'^{i_{k+1}}} \cdots \partial_{x'^{i_{n}}} \left[K^{i_{1}\dots i_{n}}(x+\frac{1}{2}y) \right]_{y=x'=0} \times \psi(x+\frac{1}{2}y+\frac{1}{2}x') |g|^{1/4} (x+\frac{1}{2}y+\frac{1}{2}x') |g|^{-1/4} (x) \Big|_{y=x'=0}$$

$$(8.1.18)$$

Applying the known relation to the metric tensor

$$\frac{\partial |g|}{\partial x^j} = 2 |g| \Gamma_{jk}^k \tag{8.1.19}$$

we find that

$$-i\hbar\partial_{x^{j}}(\psi|g|^{1/4}) = -i\hbar\left(\frac{\partial\psi}{\partial x^{j}}|g|^{1/4} + \frac{1}{2}\psi\Gamma_{jk}^{k}|g|^{1/4}\right) = (\hat{p}_{j}\psi)|g|^{1/4},$$

where \hat{p}_i is given just by the formula (8.1.15). From this and (8.1.18) we receive

$$A_{W}(\hat{q}, \hat{p})\psi(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{k} (-i\hbar)^{k} \left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^{n-k} \partial_{y^{i_{1}}} \cdots \partial_{y^{i_{k}}} \left[K^{i_{1}\dots i_{n}}(x+\frac{1}{2}y) \right]$$
$$\times (\hat{p}_{i_{k+1}}\cdots \hat{p}_{i_{n}}\psi)(x+\frac{1}{2}y+\frac{1}{2}x')|g|^{1/4} (x+\frac{1}{2}y+\frac{1}{2}x')$$
$$\times |g|^{-1/4} (x) \Big|_{y=v=0}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2^{n}} \sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{k} \hat{p}_{i_{1}}\cdots \hat{p}_{i_{k}} K^{i_{1}\dots i_{n}}(\hat{q}) \hat{p}_{i_{k+1}}\cdots \hat{p}_{i_{n}}\psi(x)$$

that recovers formula (6.2.7) and (8.1.14a) is proved.

In order to prove (8.1.14b) we can use (8.1.6) and (8.1.14a) receiving

$$\rho \star_M A = \overline{\bar{A} \star_M \bar{\rho}} = \overline{\psi} \otimes_W A_W^{\dagger}(\hat{q}, \hat{p})\varphi = (\overline{A_W(\hat{q}, \hat{p})^{\dagger}\varphi}) \otimes_W \psi.$$

Observe, that products $A \star_M \rho$ and $\rho \star_M A$ are properly defined by (6.1.46), even though A has no compact support and is not defined on the whole space $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n$, since ρ has the form $\bar{\varphi} \otimes_W \psi$ for φ and ψ with a compact support.

From (8.1.14) follows that operators $A \star_M$ can be written as the following tensor product

$$A \star_M = \hat{1} \otimes_W A_W(\hat{q}, \hat{p}). \tag{8.1.20}$$

Equation (8.1.20) is an analog of (8.1.12) for functions $A \in C^{\infty}(T^*U)[[\hbar]]$ and it allows to identify functions A with operators $A(\hat{q}, \hat{p})$. That way the Weyl correspondence rule in a natural way appears in the operator representation of quantum mechanics.

The map $A \mapsto \hat{A} = A_W(\hat{q}, \hat{p})$ has the following properties

$$\widehat{A_1 \star_M A_2} = \hat{A}_1 \hat{A}_2, \quad \hat{\bar{A}} = \hat{A}^{\dagger}$$

for functions $A_1, A_2 \in C^{\infty}(T^*U)[[\hbar]]$, thus we are dealing with representation of the algebra $\mathcal{A}_Q = (C^{\infty}(T^*U)[[\hbar]], \star_M)$ in the Hilbert space $L^2(U, d\mu)$.

Let $A \in C^{\infty}(T^*U)[[\hbar]]$ and $\rho \in L^2(T^*U, d\Omega_{\hbar})$, then for $A \star_M \rho \in L^1(T^*U, d\Omega_{\hbar})$ we have

$$\int_{T^*U} A \star_M \rho \, d\Omega_\hbar = \operatorname{tr}(A_W(\hat{q}, \, \hat{p})\hat{\rho}). \tag{8.1.21}$$

In particular, if $\rho = \bar{\varphi} \otimes_W \psi$ for $\varphi, \psi \in C_0^{\infty}(U)$ then

$$\int_{T^*U} A \star_M \rho \, d\Omega_\hbar = (\varphi, A_W(\hat{q}, \hat{p})\psi). \tag{8.1.22}$$

We prove (8.1.21) assuming that $\{\varphi_i\}$ is a basis in $L^2(U, d\mu)$ such that φ_i have a compact support. From (8.1.14) and (8.1.7) then follows that

$$\int_{T^*U} A\rho_{ij} \, d\Omega_{\hbar} = \int_{T^*U} A \star_M \rho_{ij} \, d\Omega_{\hbar} = (\varphi_i, A_W(\hat{q}, \hat{p})\varphi_j)$$

for $\rho_{ij} = \bar{\varphi}_i \otimes_W \varphi_j$. The function ρ can be expanded in the basis ρ_{ij} , $\rho = \sum_{i,j} c_{ij} \rho_{ij}$. Using this expansion we find that

$$\begin{split} \int_{T^*U} A \star_M \rho \, d\Omega_\hbar &= \int_{T^*U} A\rho \, d\Omega_\hbar = \sum_{i,j} c_{ij} \int_{T^*U} A\rho_{ij} \, d\Omega_\hbar = \sum_{i,j} c_{ij} (\varphi_i, A_W(\hat{q}, \hat{p})\varphi_j) \\ &= \sum_{i,j} c_{ij} \operatorname{tr}(A_W(\hat{q}, \hat{p})\hat{\rho}_{ij}) = \operatorname{tr}(A_W(\hat{q}, \hat{p})\hat{\rho}). \end{split}$$

The results of this subsection for a very special case of a flat metric tensor and Cartesian (i.e. flat and orthogonal) coordinates, are well known from the literature and were investigated in many papers, starting from [7, 111, 246]. Here we generalized these results to the case of the arbitrary metric tensor and the arbitrary coordinate system.

Example 8.1 Let us consider the case of a harmonic oscillator and verify relations (8.1.14) for its spectral problem [151]. In the phase space representation, the spectral problem was considered in Sect. 7.2.2. In the position representation, the spectral problem of a harmonic oscillator is presented in any textbook of quantum mechanics. For classical Hamiltonian $H = \frac{1}{2} \left(p^2 + \omega^2 x^2 \right)$ and canonical operators (8.1.15)

$$\hat{q} = x, \quad \hat{p} = -i\hbar\partial_x,$$

the eigenvalue problem

$$\hat{H}\varphi_n(x) = \frac{1}{2} \left(-\hbar^2 \partial_x^2 + \omega^2 x^2 \right) \varphi_n(x) = E_n \varphi_n(x), \quad n \in \mathbb{N}$$

has the following solution

$$E_n = (n + \frac{1}{2})\hbar\omega, \quad \varphi_n(x) = \left(\frac{a}{\pi}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(\frac{1}{2^n n!}\right) e^{-\frac{1}{2}a^2 x^2} H_n(ax),$$

where H_n is the *n*th Hermite polynomial, $a = \left(\frac{\omega}{\hbar}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ and $\varphi_n(x)$ are orthonormal functions from the Hilbert space $L^2(\mathbb{R})$. In order to verify the relations (8.1.14) we have to prove that phase space \star -genfunctions $\rho_n(x, p)$ (7.2.23) and eigenfunctions $\varphi_n(x)$ are related by (8.1.10), (8.1.5)

$$\rho_n(x, p) = \overline{\varphi}_n(x) \otimes_W \varphi_n(x) = W(\varphi_n^*, \varphi_n) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \overline{\varphi}_n(x - \frac{1}{2}y)\varphi_n(x + \frac{1}{2}y)e^{-\frac{i}{\hbar}py} dy.$$

Rescaling $y \to -2y$, we find that

$$W(\varphi_n^*,\varphi_n) = \frac{2a}{\sqrt{\pi}} \frac{1}{2^n n!} e^{-\frac{1}{2}a^2 x^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{\frac{2i}{\hbar}py} e^{-\frac{1}{2}a^2 y^2} H_n(a(x+y)) H_n(a(x-y)) dy.$$

We note that

$$a^{2}y^{2} - 2ipy/\hbar = a^{2}(y - ip/a^{2}\hbar)^{2} + p^{2}/a^{2}\hbar^{2}$$

and define a new variable

$$z = a(y - ip/a^2\hbar).$$

Then

$$W(\varphi_n^*,\varphi_n) = \frac{2}{\sqrt{\pi}} \frac{1}{2^n n!} e^{-\frac{1}{2}a^2x^2} e^{b^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-z^2} H_n(ax+z+b) H_n(ax-z-b) dz,$$

where $b = ip/a\hbar$. As $H_n(-x) = (-1)^n H_n(x)$, we get

$$W(\varphi_n^*,\varphi_n) = \frac{2}{\sqrt{\pi}} \frac{(-1)^n}{2^n n!} e^{-\frac{1}{2}a^2 x^2} e^{b^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-z^2} H_n(z+b+ax) H_n(z+b-ax) dz.$$

The integral can be done [137]

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-z^2} H_n(z+b+ax) H_n(z+b-ax) dz = 2^n \sqrt{\pi} n! L_n(2(a^2x^2-b^2))$$

where L_n is the *n*th Laguerre polynomial. Re-expressing the argument of L_n by x and p we get

$$a^2x^2 - b^2 = \frac{1}{\hbar\omega}(p^2 + \omega^2 x^2) = \frac{2H}{\hbar\omega}$$

and finally

$$W(\varphi_n^*, \varphi_n) = 2(-1)^n \exp\left(-\frac{2H}{\hbar\omega}\right) L_n\left(\frac{4H}{\hbar\omega}\right) = \rho_n(x, p).$$

8.1.2 Other Admissible Quantizations

Let us consider *n*-dimensional almost geodesically simply connected Riemannian manifold forming the configuration space Q and a related phase space $M = T^*Q$. Then, let us consider a classical system defined on M and its quantization by means of a \star -product on M. Let $Q \supset U \rightarrow V \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, $x \mapsto (x^1, \ldots, x^n)$ be an almost global coordinate system on Q. From the assumption that Q is almost geodesically simply connected such a coordinate system always exists. The coordinate system on Q induces on M an almost global classical canonical coordinate system $T^*U \rightarrow$ $T^*V = V \times \mathbb{R}^n$, $(\xi^{\alpha}) \mapsto (x^1, \ldots, x^n, p_1, \ldots, p_n)$. This coordinate system will be at the same time quantum canonical. Observe that although \star -product is not local it still can be written in the coordinates (x, p) since this coordinate system is almost globally defined on M.

The idea behind introducing the operator representation over configuration space Q for the considered quantum system lies in the observation that the quantum system in coordinates (x, p) is equivalent with a system quantized by the Moyal product. If S is an appropriate morphism of this equivalence then S is an unitary operator on the Hilbert space $L^2(T^*V, d\Omega_{\hbar})$. Let us introduce a new tensor product $\otimes_S : (L^2(V, d\mu))^* \times L^2(V, d\mu) \to L^2(T^*V, d\Omega_{\hbar})$ defined by the formula

$$\bar{\varphi} \otimes_{S} \psi = S(\bar{\varphi} \otimes_{W} \psi), \quad \varphi, \psi \in L^{2}(V, d\mu)$$
(8.1.23)

and a function A of S-ordered operators \hat{q}^{j} , \hat{p}_{i}

$$A_{S}(\hat{q}, \hat{p}) = (S^{-1}A)_{W}(\hat{q}, \hat{p}).$$
(8.1.24)

Using properties (6.1.77) and assumption (6.1.84) it can be proved that all previous formulas for the case of a Moyal quantization, presented in the previous subsection, also hold true for a general quantum system in (x, p) coordinates, provided that the tensor product \otimes_W will be replaced by \otimes_S and operators $A_W(\hat{q}, \hat{p})$ by $A_S(\hat{q}, \hat{p})$, respectively. In particular, let $A \in C^{\infty}(T^*V)[[\hbar]]$ and $\rho = \bar{\varphi} \otimes_S \psi$ for $\varphi, \psi \in C_0^{\infty}(V)$. Then [33, 98]

$$A \star^{(x,p)} \rho = \bar{\varphi} \otimes_{S} A_{S}(\hat{q}, \hat{p})\psi, \qquad (8.1.25a)$$

$$\rho \star^{(x,p)} A = (\overline{A_S(\hat{q}, \hat{p})^{\dagger} \varphi}) \otimes_S \psi, \qquad (8.1.25b)$$

where $A_S(\hat{q}, \hat{p})$ is an S-ordered function of canonical operators of position and momentum

$$\hat{q}^{j} = x^{j}, \quad \hat{p}_{j} = -i\hbar(\partial_{x^{j}} + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{jk}^{k}),$$
(8.1.26)

acting in the Hilbert space $L^2(V, d\mu)$.
392 8 Position Representation of Quantum Mechanics over Riemannian Configuration...

From (6.1.77) and (8.1.14) we find that

$$A \star^{(x,p)} \rho = SS^{-1}(A \star^{(x,p)} \rho) = S(S^{-1}A \star^{(x,p)}_M S^{-1}\rho) = S\left(\bar{\varphi} \otimes_W (S^{-1}A)_W(\hat{q},\hat{p})\psi\right)$$
$$= \bar{\varphi} \otimes_S A_S(\hat{q},\hat{p})\psi$$

which proves (8.1.25a). Equation (8.1.25b) can be proved analogically.

From (8.1.25) follows that operators $A \star^{(x,p)}$ can be written as

$$A \star^{(x,p)} = \hat{1} \otimes_S A_S(\hat{q}, \hat{p}).$$
 (8.1.27)

Equation (8.1.27) allows us to identify functions $A \in C^{\infty}(T^*V)[\![\hbar]\!]$ with operators $A_S(\hat{q}, \hat{p})$. Moreover, the map $A \mapsto \hat{A} = A_S(\hat{q}, \hat{p})$ is a representation of the algebra $\mathcal{A}_Q = (C^{\infty}(T^*V)[\![\hbar]\!], \star^{(x,p)})$ in the Hilbert space $L^2(V, d\mu)$. Moreover, the analog of (8.1.12) holds true, which gives us a representation $\rho \mapsto \hat{\rho}$ of the algebra $\mathcal{L} = (L^2(T^*V, d\Omega_{\hbar}), \star^{(x,p)})$ in the Hilbert space $L^2(V, d\mu)$ given by

$$\rho \star^{(x,p)} = \hat{1} \otimes_S \hat{\rho}.$$

Furthermore, the following analog of (8.1.21) and (8.1.22) can be proved. Let $A \in C^{\infty}(T^*V)[[\hbar]]$ and $\rho \in L^2(T^*V, d\Omega_{\hbar})$. If $A \star^{(x,p)} \rho \in L^1(T^*V, d\Omega_{\hbar})$ then

$$\int_{T^*V} A \star^{(x,p)} \rho \, d\Omega_{\hbar} = \operatorname{tr}(A_S(\hat{q}, \, \hat{p})\hat{\rho}).$$
(8.1.28)

In particular, if $\rho = \overline{\varphi} \otimes_S \psi$ for $\varphi, \psi \in C_0^{\infty}(V)$ then

$$\int_{T^*V} A \star^{(x,p)} \rho \, d\Omega_\hbar = (\varphi, A_S(\hat{q}, \hat{p})\psi). \tag{8.1.29}$$

To show it, let $\{\varphi_i\}$ be a basis in $L^2(V, d\mu)$ and $\{\rho_{ij}\} = \{\bar{\varphi}_i \otimes_S \varphi_j\}$ an induced basis in $L^2(T^*V, d\Omega_{\hbar})$. Function ρ can be expanded in the basis $\{\rho_{ij}\}$: $\rho = \sum_{i,j} c_{ij} \rho_{ij}$. From (6.1.77), (8.1.21), (8.1.22) and assumption (6.1.84) we find

$$\begin{split} \int_{T^*V} A \star^{(x,p)} \rho \, d\Omega_h &= \int_{T^*V} SS^{-1} (A \star^{(x,p)} \rho) \, d\Omega_h = \int_{T^*V} S^{-1} A \star^{(x,p)}_M S^{-1} \rho \, d\Omega_h \\ &= \sum_{i,j} c_{ij} \int_{T^*V} S^{-1} A \star^{(x,p)}_M S^{-1} \rho_{ij} \, d\Omega_h = \sum_{i,j} c_{ij} (\varphi_i, A_S(\hat{q}, \hat{p}) \varphi_j) \\ &= \sum_{i,j} c_{ij} \operatorname{tr}(A_S(\hat{q}, \hat{p}) \hat{\rho}_{ij}) = \operatorname{tr}(A_S(\hat{q}, \hat{p}) \hat{\rho}). \end{split}$$

Using the results of this subsection it is possible to prove a pure state stationary equations (7.1.10) from Sect. 7.1.2. Namely for any $A \in A_Q$, a pure state function $\rho = \bar{\varphi} \otimes_S \varphi \in \mathcal{H}$ satisfies the equation

$$[A, \rho] = 0 \tag{8.1.30}$$

if and only if it satisfies the following pair of \star_S -genvalue equations

$$A \star_S \rho = a\rho, \quad \rho \star_S A = a\rho, \tag{8.1.31}$$

for some $a \in \mathbb{C}$.

Indeed, it is obvious that if ρ satisfies (8.1.31) then it also satisfies (8.1.30). Let us assume that ρ satisfies (8.1.30). Hence, it also satisfies

$$A \star_S \rho \star_S \rho = \rho \star_S A \star_S \rho$$

From the idempotent property of pure states the above equation implies

$$A \star_S \rho = \rho \star_S A \star_S \rho. \tag{8.1.32}$$

From (8.1.25) it follows that

$$A \star_{S} \rho = \bar{\varphi} \otimes_{S} A_{S}(\hat{q}, \hat{p})\varphi. \tag{8.1.33}$$

Now, Eqs. (8.1.32) and (8.1.33), with the help of (8.1.8) which valid for any \star_S , give

$$A \star_S \rho = \rho \star_S (A \star_S \rho) = (\varphi, A_S(\hat{q}, \hat{p})\varphi)\rho = a\rho,$$

where $a = (\varphi, A_S(\hat{q}, \hat{p})\varphi)$. The second \star_S -genvalue equation can be derived analogically.

Observation 19 Note that for a general \star_S -quantization the operator representation corresponding to a coordinate system gives us the correspondence rule $A \mapsto A_S(\hat{q}, \hat{p})$ which in general differs from the Weyl correspondence rule. The Weyl correspondence rule is associated only with the Moyal quantization. To create an operator representation of arbitrary \star_S -quantum system in any coordinates on Q in a consistent way, one should use S-ordering (8.1.24) of the same operators of position and momentum (8.1.26).

Let us construct the \otimes_S -tensor product for particular star-algebras. First, notice that (8.1.23) can be written in an integral form

$$\begin{split} (\bar{\varphi} \otimes_{S} \psi)(x, p) = & \int dy \exp(-\frac{i}{\hbar} p_{i} y^{i}) \bar{\varphi}(x - \frac{1}{2} y) \psi(x + \frac{1}{2} y) \zeta(x, y) \\ = & \int dx' dp' dy \exp(-\frac{i}{\hbar} p_{k}' y^{k}) \bar{\varphi}(x' - \frac{1}{2} y) \psi(x' + \frac{1}{2} y) \\ & |g|^{1/4} \left(x - \frac{1}{2} y\right) |g|^{1/4} \left(x + \frac{1}{2} y\right) S(x, p, x', p'), \end{split}$$

where $\varphi, \psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and S(x, p, x', p') is an integral kernel of isomorphism *S*.

Example 8.2 As an interesting example let us consider the $\star_{\sigma,\alpha,\beta}$ -algebra in the simplest case n = 1 and Cartesian coordinates. Let us start from a simpler case $\alpha = \beta = 0$. Then, as we already know,

$$S_{\sigma} = \exp(-i\hbar\sigma\partial_x\partial p)$$

and hence, using (6.2.1) and (6.2.1) we get

$$\begin{split} (\bar{\varphi} \otimes_{\sigma} \psi)(x, p) &= \exp(-i\hbar\sigma\partial_{x}\partial p) \int dy \exp(-\frac{i}{\hbar}py)\bar{\varphi}(x - \frac{1}{2}y)\psi(x + \frac{1}{2}y) \\ &= \int dy \exp(-\frac{i}{\hbar}py) \exp(-i\hbar\sigma\partial_{x}\partial p) \exp(-\sigma y\partial_{x})\bar{\varphi}(x - \frac{1}{2}y)\psi(x + \frac{1}{2}y) \\ &= \int dy \exp(-\frac{i}{\hbar}py)\bar{\varphi}(x - (\frac{1}{2} + \sigma)y)\psi(x + (\frac{1}{2} - \sigma)y). \end{split}$$

For α , $\beta > 0$ we have

$$S_{\alpha,\beta} = \exp(\frac{1}{2}\hbar\alpha\partial_x^2 + \frac{1}{2}\hbar\beta\partial_p^2)$$

$$\Downarrow$$

$$S_{\alpha,\beta}(x, p, x', p') = \frac{1}{2\pi\hbar\sqrt{\alpha\beta}} \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\frac{1}{\hbar\alpha}(x - x')^2\right] \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\frac{1}{\hbar\beta}(p - p')^2\right],$$

and finally

$$\begin{aligned} &(\bar{\varphi} \otimes_{\sigma,\alpha,\beta} \psi)(x,p) \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi\hbar\sqrt{\alpha\beta}} \int dx' dp' dy \exp(-\frac{i}{\hbar}py)\bar{\varphi}(x-(\frac{1}{2}+\sigma)y)\psi(x+(\frac{1}{2}-\sigma)y) \\ &\times \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\frac{1}{\hbar\alpha}(x-x')^2\right] \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\frac{1}{\hbar\beta}(p-p')^2\right]. \end{aligned}$$

The diagonal tensor products $(\bar{\varphi} \otimes_S \varphi)(x, p)$ are pure phase space quantum states related to \star_S -quantization, known in the literature as pure *phase-space distribution* functions (d.f.)[176]. In particular, for the family of $\star_{\sigma,\alpha,\beta}$ -quantizations, we have:

- 1. $\sigma = \alpha = \beta = 0$: symmetrically ordered d.f. (Wigner function) [263]
- 2. $\sigma = \frac{1}{2}, \alpha = \beta = 0$: standard ordered d.f. [199]
- 3. $\sigma = -\frac{1}{2}, \alpha = \beta = 0$: antistandard ordered d.f. (Kirkwood function) [171, 227]
- 4. $\sigma = 0, \alpha = -\frac{1}{2\omega}, \beta = -\frac{\omega}{2}$: normal ordered d.f. (Glauber-Sudarshan *P* function) [132, 133, 243]
- 5. $\sigma = 0, \alpha = \frac{1}{2\omega}, \beta = \frac{\omega}{2}$: antinormal ordered d.f. (*Q* function) [133]
- 6. $\sigma = 0, \alpha = -\frac{1}{2\kappa}, \beta = -\frac{\kappa}{2}, \kappa \neq \omega$: generalized antinormal ordered d.f. (Husimi function) [155]

So, if $\{\rho_{ij} = \bar{\varphi}_i \otimes_S \varphi_j\}$ represent the orthonormal basis in $\mathcal{H} = L^2(\mathbb{R}^{2n})$, phasespace distribution functions belong to the subspace $\mathcal{H}^{\rho} \subset \mathcal{H}$ span by

$$\mathcal{H}^{\rho} = span\{\rho_{ii} \equiv \rho_i = \bar{\varphi}_i \otimes_S \varphi_i\}, \quad \varphi_i \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$$

obviously isomorphic with $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

An arbitrary phase-space distribution function (pure or mixed) $\rho = \sum_{\gamma} p_{\gamma}(\bar{\varphi}^{(\gamma)} \otimes_{S} \varphi^{(\gamma)}) \in \mathcal{H}^{\rho}$ and normalized $\varphi^{(\gamma)} \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$, fulfills relations (7.1.3). In particular, for Euclidean coordinates,

$$\frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^n} \int S^{-1} \rho(x, p) dp = \sum_{\gamma} p_{\gamma} \left| \varphi^{(\gamma)}(x) \right|^2 = P(x),$$
(8.1.34a)

$$\frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^n} \int S^{-1}\rho(x,p)dx = \sum_{\gamma} p_{\gamma} \left| \mathcal{F}\varphi^{(\gamma)}(p) \right|^2 = P(p), \tag{8.1.34b}$$

which are marginal distributions. For example, the first relation for a pure state $\rho = (\bar{\varphi} \otimes_S \varphi)$ follows from

$$\frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^n} \int S^{-1} \rho(x, p) dp = \frac{1}{(2\pi\hbar)^n} \int \int \exp(-\frac{i}{\hbar} p_k y^k) \bar{\varphi}(x - \frac{1}{2} y) \varphi(x + \frac{1}{2} y) dy dp$$
$$= \int \delta(y) \varphi^*(x - \frac{1}{2} y) \varphi(x + \frac{1}{2} y) dy = |\varphi(x)|^2 \,.$$

As the conclusion we observe that the expectation value of an observable $A \in C^{\infty}(T^*U)[[\hbar]]$ in a state $\rho \in L^2(T^*U, d\Omega_{\hbar})$ in the position representation of quantum mechanics is expressed by the formula

$$\langle A \rangle_{\rho} = \operatorname{tr}(A_{S}(\hat{q}, \hat{p})\hat{\rho}).$$
(8.1.35)

Moreover, in the position representation, the following equation corresponds to time evolution equation (7.1.5)

$$i\hbar\frac{\partial\hat{\rho}}{\partial t}(t) - [H_S(\hat{q}, \hat{p}), \hat{\rho}(t)] = 0$$
(8.1.36)

It is known as the *von Naumann equation*. For pure state $\hat{\rho} = (\varphi, \cdot) \varphi$ Eq. (8.1.36) takes the form

$$i\hbar(\frac{\partial\varphi}{\partial t}|\cdot)\varphi + i\hbar(\varphi,\cdot)\frac{\partial\varphi}{\partial t} - (\varphi,\cdot)H_{S}(\hat{q},\hat{p})\varphi + (H_{S}(\hat{q},\hat{p})\varphi,\cdot)\varphi$$
$$= (-i\hbar\frac{\partial\varphi}{\partial t} + H_{S}(\hat{q},\hat{p})\varphi,\cdot)\varphi + (\varphi,\cdot)\left(i\hbar\frac{\partial\varphi}{\partial t} - H_{S}(\hat{q},\hat{p})\varphi\right) = 0$$

$$i\hbar\frac{\partial\varphi}{\partial t} = H_S(\hat{q},\,\hat{p})\varphi. \tag{8.1.37}$$

Equation (8.1.37) is nothing but the well known *Schrödinger equation* of time evolution of quantum states in the position representation of quantum mechanics.

The equation for stationary states takes now the form

$$[H_S(\hat{q},\,\hat{p}),\,\hat{\rho}]=0,$$

which for pure states $\hat{\rho}=(\varphi,\,\cdot\,)\varphi$ is equivalent to the well known eigenvalue equation

$$H_S(\hat{q},\,\hat{p})\varphi = E\varphi$$

called the stationary Schrödinger equation.

The respective representation of one-parameter group of unitary functions (7.1.7) in the Hilbert space $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is a one-parameter group of unitary operators

$$U_{\mathcal{S}}(\hat{q},\,\hat{p},t) = \exp\left(-\frac{i}{\hbar}tH_{\mathcal{S}}(\hat{q},\,\hat{p})\right). \tag{8.1.38}$$

The time evolution of density operator $\hat{\rho}$ can be alternatively expressed by

$$\hat{\rho}(t) = U_S(\hat{q}, \hat{p}, t)\hat{\rho}(0)U_S(\hat{q}, \hat{p}, -t).$$

It is easy to check that such defined $\hat{\rho}(t)$ represents a solution of the von Neumann equation (8.1.36).

With the help of the unitary operator (8.1.38), the time evolution of observable $A_S(\hat{q}, \hat{p})$ can be expressed in analogy to (7.1.12) by

$$A_{S}(\hat{q}, \hat{p}, t) = U_{S}(\hat{q}, \hat{p}, -t)A_{S}(\hat{q}, \hat{p})U_{S}(\hat{q}, \hat{p}, t).$$
(8.1.39)

The expression (8.1.39) is a formal solution of the equation

$$i\hbar \frac{d}{dt}A_{S}(t) = [A_{S}(\hat{q}, \hat{p}), H_{S}(\hat{q}, \hat{p})],$$
 (8.1.40)

which is a well known *Heisenberg equation* of time evolution for quantum observables in position representation.

8.1.3 Coordinate Transformation on Configuration Space

Assume that $Q \supset U \rightarrow V \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, $x \mapsto (x^1, \ldots, x^n)$ and $Q \supset U' \rightarrow V' \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, $x \mapsto (x'^1, \ldots, x'^n)$ are two almost global coordinate systems on Q, and $T^*U \rightarrow T^*V = V \times \mathbb{R}^n$, $\xi \mapsto (x^1, \ldots, x^n, p_1, \ldots, p_n)$ and $T^*U' \rightarrow T^*V' = V' \times \mathbb{R}^n$, $\xi \mapsto (x'^1, \ldots, x'^n, p'_1, \ldots, p'_n)$ are induced canonical coordinate systems on T^*Q . A map $\phi: (x'^1, \ldots, x'^n) \mapsto (x^1, \ldots, x^n)$ is then a transformation of coordinates on the configuration space Q and a map $T: (x'^1, \ldots, x'^n, p'_1, \ldots, p'_n) \mapsto (x^1, \ldots, x^n, p_1, \ldots, p_n)$ is a respective canonical transformation of coordinates on the phase space T^*Q . The transformation T is given by the formula (6.1.62).

In what follows we will investigate how the operator representation of quantum mechanics behaves after such changing of coordinates. First, note that a map $\hat{U}_T: L^2(V, d\mu) \to L^2(V', d\mu')$ given by

$$(\hat{U}_T \psi)(x') = \psi(\phi(x'))$$
 (8.1.41)

is an isomorphism of the Hilbert spaces. Moreover, a map $L^2(T^*V, d\Omega_{\hbar}) \rightarrow L^2(T^*V', d\Omega_{\hbar})$ given by

 $f\mapsto f\circ T$

is also an isomorphism of the Hilbert spaces. Let \otimes_S and $\otimes_{S'}$ be tensor products which correspond to star-products $\star^{(x,p)}$ and $\star^{(x',p')}$ respectively. The following statement can be proved. For $\varphi, \psi \in L^2(V, d\mu)$ there holds

$$(\bar{\varphi} \otimes_{S} \psi) \circ T = (\overline{\hat{U}_{T}\varphi}) \otimes_{S'} \hat{U}_{T}\psi.$$
(8.1.42)

From relation (8.1.42) follows that operator representations of quantum mechanics corresponding to different coordinate systems are unitarily equivalent. In particular, we get that operators corresponding to the same function $A \in C^{\infty}(T^*Q)[[\hbar]]$ written in different coordinate systems, are unitarily equivalent. Actually, for $A \in C^{\infty}(T^*V)[[\hbar]]$ there holds

$$A'_{S'}(\hat{q}', \hat{p}') = \hat{U}_T A_S(\hat{q}, \hat{p}) \hat{U}_T^{-1}, \qquad (8.1.43)$$

where $A' = A \circ T$ and $\hat{q}^j = x^j$, $\hat{p}_j = -i\hbar(\partial_{x^j} + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{jk}^k)$ and $\hat{q}'^j = x'^j$, $\hat{p}'_j = -i\hbar(\partial_{x'^j} + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{jk}')$ are respective operators of position and momentum in coordinates (x, p) and (x', p') respectively.

In order to prove (8.1.43), first let $\rho = \bar{\varphi} \otimes_S \psi$. Then, from (8.1.25) and (8.1.42) we get from one side

$$(A \star^{(x,p)} \rho) \circ T = A \star^{\prime(x',p')} (\rho \circ T) = (\hat{U}_T \varphi)^* \otimes_{S'} A'_{S'}(\hat{q}',\hat{p}') \hat{U}_T \psi$$

and from the other side

$$(A \star^{(x,p)} \rho) \circ T = (\bar{\varphi} \otimes_S A_S(\hat{q}, \hat{p})\psi) \circ T = (\overline{\hat{U}_T \varphi}) \otimes_{S'} \hat{U}_T A_S(\hat{q}, \hat{p})\psi$$
$$= (\overline{\hat{U}_T \varphi}) \otimes_{S'} \hat{U}_T A_S(\hat{q}, \hat{p}) \hat{U}_T^{-1} \hat{U}_T \psi.$$

Comparing the above two formulas we get the result.

In particular, let us derive the position and momentum operators (8.1.15) in curvilinear coordinates directly from the canonical transformation. Let

$$\phi: \mathbb{R}^n \supset V \to V' \subset \mathbb{R}^n, \quad x' = \phi(x)$$

be a transformation from curvilinear coordinates (x^1, \ldots, x^n) to pseudo-Euclidian coordinates (x'^1, \ldots, x'^n) , such that $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus V'$ is of measure zero. Transformation ϕ induces classical and quantum canonical transformation T (6.1.62). Notice that Hilbert spaces over \mathbb{R}^n and V' are naturally isomorphic.

First, we define position and momentum operators corresponding to the curvilinear coordinate system (x, p) by symmetrically ordered Euclidean operators \hat{q}', \hat{p}' in the following form

$$\hat{Q}^{j} = (Q^{j})_{W}(\hat{q}') = Q^{j}(\hat{q}'), \quad \hat{P}_{j} = (P_{j})_{W}(\hat{q}', \hat{p}'), \quad \hat{q}'^{j} = x'^{j}, \quad \hat{p}' = -i\hbar\partial_{x'^{j}}$$

where $T^{-1}(x', p') = (Q^1(x'), \dots, P_n(x', p'))$ and

$$x^{j} = Q^{j} = \left[\phi^{-1}(x')\right]^{j}, \quad p_{j} = P_{j} = p_{i}' \left[\phi'(\phi^{-1}(x'))\right]_{j}^{i}.$$

These operators are defined on a Hilbert space $L^2(V) \cong L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ parametrized by pseudo-Euclidean coordinates x'. Then, we can use operators \hat{Q}^i and \hat{P}_j for the construction of the position representation of a quantum system related to the curvilinear coordinates (x, p).

Let \hat{U}_T : $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(V, d\mu)$, where $d\mu(x) = |\phi'(x)| dx = |\det[g(x)]|^{1/2} dx$, be a unitary operator such that

$$(\hat{U}_T \varphi)(x) = \varphi(\phi(x))$$

 \downarrow $(\hat{U}_T \varphi)(x) = (\varphi \circ \phi)(x), \quad (\hat{U}_T^{-1} \varphi)(x') = \left(\varphi \circ \phi^{-1}\right)(x'),$

then

$$\hat{q}^{i} := \hat{U}_{T} \hat{Q}^{i} \hat{U}_{T}^{-1} = x^{i}$$
(8.1.44)

is a new position operator in a Hilbert space $L^2(V, \mu)$ as

$$\begin{aligned} (\hat{q}^{i}\psi)(x) &= \left(\hat{U}_{T}\hat{Q}^{i}\hat{U}_{T}^{-1}\psi\right)(x) = \left(\hat{Q}^{i}\hat{U}_{T}^{-1}\psi\circ\phi\right)(x) \\ &= \left(\hat{Q}^{i}\hat{U}_{T}^{-1}\psi\right)(x') = \left[\phi^{-1}(x')\right]^{i}\left(\psi\circ\phi^{-1}\right)(x') = x^{i}\psi(x). \end{aligned}$$

New momentum operator \hat{p}_i in $L^2(V, d\mu)$ is of the form

$$\hat{p}_{j} := \hat{U}_{T} \hat{P}_{j} \hat{U}_{T}^{-1} = -i\hbar \left(\partial_{x^{j}} + \frac{1}{2} \Gamma_{jk}^{k}(x) \right), \qquad (8.1.45)$$

where Γ_{jk}^{i} are connection coefficients of the metric tensor g(x). Indeed, $P_{j} = p_{j} = p_{i}^{\prime} \left[\phi^{\prime}(\phi^{-1}(x^{\prime})) \right]_{j}^{i}$, so

$$\begin{split} &(\hat{p}_{j}\psi)(x) \\ &= \left(\hat{U}_{T}\,\hat{P}_{j}\,\hat{U}_{T}^{-1}\psi\right)(x) = \left(\hat{U}_{T}\left(\frac{1}{2}\,\hat{p}_{i}'\frac{\partial\phi^{i}}{\partial x^{j}}(\phi^{-1}(\hat{q}')) + \frac{1}{2}\frac{\partial\phi^{i}}{\partial x^{j}}(\phi^{-1}(\hat{q}'))\hat{p}_{i}'\right)\hat{U}_{T}^{-1}\psi\right)(x) \\ &= -\frac{1}{2}i\hbar\partial_{x'^{i}}\left[\left(\frac{\partial\phi^{i}}{\partial x^{j}}\circ\phi^{-1}\right)(\phi(x))\psi(x)\right] - \frac{1}{2}i\hbar\frac{\partial\phi^{i}}{\partial x^{j}}(x)\partial_{x'^{i}}(\psi\circ\phi^{-1})(\phi(x)) \\ &= -i\hbar\left(\frac{\partial\phi^{i}}{\partial x^{j}}(x)\frac{\partial(\phi^{-1})^{k}}{\partial x'^{i}}(\phi(x))\frac{\partial\psi}{\partial x^{k}}(x) + \frac{1}{2}\frac{\partial^{2}\phi^{i}}{\partial x^{j}\partial x^{k}}(x)\frac{\partial(\phi^{-1})^{k}}{\partial x'^{i}}(\phi(x))\psi(x)\right) \\ &= -i\hbar\left(\delta_{j}^{k}\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{k}} + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{jk}^{k}\right)\psi(x), \end{split}$$

where we used the relation $(\phi'(x))^{-1} = (\phi^{-1})'(\phi(x))$, from which follows that $\left[(\phi'(x))^{-1}\right]_i^k = \frac{\partial(\phi^{-1})^k}{\partial x^{ii}}(\phi(x))$, and the formula (2.6.5) for the transformation of connection coefficients between the pseudo-Euclidean and curvilinear basis.

Momentum operator \hat{p}_j (8.1.45) is self-adjoint in the Hilbert space $L^2(V, d\mu)$. Indeed, integrating by parts and using formula (8.1.19) we find

$$\begin{split} (\varphi, \, \hat{p}_{j}\psi) &= \int \bar{\varphi}(x)\hat{p}_{j}\psi(x)d\mu(x) = \int \bar{\varphi}(x)(-i\hbar)(\partial_{x^{j}} + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{jk}^{k}(x))\psi(x) \,|g(x)|^{1/2} \,dx \\ &= i\hbar \int \psi(x)\partial_{x^{j}}(\bar{\varphi}(x)) \,|g(x)|^{1/2} \,dx - \frac{1}{2}i\hbar \int \Gamma_{jk}^{k}(x)\varphi^{*}(x)\psi(x) \,|g(x)|^{1/2} \,dx \\ &= i\hbar \int \psi(x)\partial_{x^{j}}(\bar{\varphi}(x) \,|g(x)|^{1/2})dx + i\hbar \int \Gamma_{jk}^{k}(x)\bar{\varphi}(x)\psi(x) \,|g(x)|^{1/2} \,dx \\ &- \frac{1}{2}i\hbar \int \Gamma_{jk}^{k}(x)\bar{\varphi}(x)\psi(x) \,|g(x)|^{1/2} \,dx \\ &= \int (-i\hbar(\partial_{x^{j}} + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{jk}^{k}(x))\bar{\varphi}\psi(x) \,|g(x)|^{1/2} \,dx = (\hat{p}_{j}\varphi, \psi), \end{split}$$

which means that $\hat{p}_j = \hat{p}_j^{\dagger}$ in $L^2(V, d\mu)$.

8.1.4 Coordinate Free Formulation

In previous subsections we developed the operator representation of quantum mechanics written down in some coordinate systems on the configuration space. In this subsection we will apply our formalism to derive an operator representation in a coordinate free way [37, 98]. Let $\phi: Q \supset U \rightarrow V \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ and $\Phi: T^*U \rightarrow T^*V = V \times \mathbb{R}^n$ be an almost global coordinate system on the configuration space Q and the phase space T^*Q , respectively. Since the coordinate system ϕ is almost globally defined in consequence it defines an isomorphism $\hat{U}: L^2(Q, d\omega_g) \rightarrow L^2(V, d\mu)$ of the Hilbert spaces by

$$\hat{U}\psi = \psi|_U \circ \phi^{-1}.$$

In fact, the restriction $|_U$ is an isomorphism of $L^2(Q, d\omega_g)$ onto $L^2(U, d\mu)$ since for $\psi \in L^2(Q, d\omega_g), \psi$ and $\psi|_U$ are equal almost everywhere and Hilbert spaces of square integrable functions consist of equivalence classes of functions equal almost everywhere. In consequence, the coordinate system Φ defines an isomorphism of the Hilbert space $L^2(T^*Q, d\Omega_h)$ onto the Hilbert space $L^2(T^*V, d\Omega_h)$. Let us now define a tensor product

$$\otimes : (L^2(Q, d\omega_g))^* \times L^2(Q, d\omega_g) \to L^2(T^*Q, d\Omega_h)$$

as follows

$$\bar{\varphi}\otimes\psi=((\overline{\hat{U}\varphi})\otimes_{S}\hat{U}\psi)\circ\Phi,\quad\varphi,\psi\in L^{2}(Q,d\omega_{g}),$$

where

$$\otimes_{S} \colon (L^{2}(V, d\mu))^{*} \times L^{2}(V, d\mu) \to L^{2}(T^{*}V, d\Omega_{\hbar})$$

is a tensor product defined in the previous subsection, corresponding to the coordinate system Φ . Such a definition of the tensor product \otimes is independent of the choice of a particular coordinate system. Indeed, if $\phi' \colon Q \supset U' \to V' \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ and $\Phi': T^*U' \to T^*V' = V' \times \mathbb{R}^n$ is another almost global coordinate system on Q and T^*Q , respectively and $L^2(Q, d\omega_g) \to L^2(V', d\mu')$ a Hilbert space isomorphism induced by ϕ' then $T = \Phi \circ \Phi'^{-1}$ is a canonical transformation of coordinates and $\hat{U}_T = \hat{U}'\hat{U}^{-1}$ is a related unitary operator (8.1.41). Then from (8.1.42) we have

$$\begin{split} \bar{\varphi} \otimes \psi &= ((\overline{\hat{U}\varphi}) \otimes_{S} \hat{U}\psi) \circ T \circ \Phi' = ((\overline{\hat{U}_{T}\hat{U}\varphi}) \otimes_{S'} \hat{U}_{T}\hat{U}\psi) \circ \Phi \\ &= ((\overline{\hat{U}'} \otimes_{S'} \hat{U}'\psi) \circ \Phi'. \end{split}$$

The tensor product \otimes inherits all properties of the tensor products \otimes_{S} . In particular, for every $\rho \in L^2(T^*O, d\Omega_{\hbar})$

$$\rho \star = \hat{1} \otimes \hat{\rho},$$

where $\hat{\rho} \in B_{HS}(L^2(Q, d\omega_{\varrho}))$ is a Hilbert-Schmidt operator defined on the Hilbert space $L^2(Q, d\omega_g)$. Conversely, for every $\hat{\rho} \in B_{HS}(L^2(Q, d\omega_g))$ the operator $\hat{1} \otimes \hat{\rho}$ is of the form $\rho \star$ for some $\rho \in L^2(T^*Q, d\Omega_{\hbar})$. The following properties are fulfilled:

- (i) for $\rho = \bar{\varphi} \otimes \psi$, $\hat{\rho} = (\varphi, \cdot)\psi$, (ii) $\bar{\rho} \star = \hat{1} \otimes \hat{\rho}^{\dagger}$,
- (iii) $\operatorname{Tr}(\rho) \equiv \int_{T^*O} \rho \, d\Omega_{\hbar} = \operatorname{tr}(\hat{\rho}),$
- (iv) for $\rho_1, \rho_2 \in L^2(T^*Q, d\Omega_h)$ and $\hat{\rho}_1, \hat{\rho}_2 \in B_{HS}(L^2(Q, d\omega_g))$ such that $\rho_1 \star =$ $\hat{1} \otimes \hat{\rho}_1$ and $\rho_2 \star = \hat{1} \otimes \hat{\rho}_2$

$$(\rho_1, \rho_2) = (\hat{\rho}_1, \hat{\rho}_2)_{HS},$$

(v) $\int_{T^*O} \bar{f} \star f \star \rho \, d\Omega_h \ge 0$ for $f \in C_0^\infty(T^*Q)$ if and only if $(\varphi, \hat{\rho}\varphi) \ge 0$ for $\varphi \in L^2(O, d\omega_{\sigma}).$

Let $A \in C^{\infty}(T^*Q)[[\hbar]]$ and $\rho = \bar{\varphi} \otimes \psi$ for $\varphi, \psi \in C_0^{\infty}(Q)$. Then

$$A \star \rho = \bar{\varphi} \otimes \hat{A}\psi,$$

$$\rho \star A = (\overline{\hat{A}^{\dagger}\varphi}) \otimes \psi,$$
 (8.1.46)

where \hat{A} is an operator acting in the Hilbert space $L^2(Q, d\omega_g)$. Besides, if (x^1, \ldots, x^n) is an almost global coordinate system on $Q, (x^1, \ldots, x^n, p_1, \ldots, p_n)$ a respective canonical coordinate system on T^*Q and \hat{U} a corresponding unitary operator given by (8.1.4), then

$$\hat{U}\hat{A}\hat{U}^{-1} = A_S(\hat{q},\,\hat{p}).$$

Let $A \in C^{\infty}(T^*Q)[[\hbar]]$ and $\rho \in L^2(T^*Q, d\Omega_{\hbar})$. If $A \star \rho \in L^1(T^*Q, d\Omega_{\hbar})$ then

$$\int_{T^*Q} A \star \rho \, d\Omega_\hbar = \operatorname{tr}(\hat{A}\hat{\rho}).$$

In particular, if $\rho = \bar{\varphi} \otimes \psi$ for $\varphi, \psi \in C_0^{\infty}(Q)$ then

$$\int_{T^*Q} A \star \rho \, d\Omega_\hbar = (\varphi, \hat{A}\psi).$$

From (8.1.4) follows that the map $\rho \mapsto \hat{\rho}$ is a representation of the algebra $\mathcal{L} = (L^2(T^*Q, d\Omega_{\hbar}), \star)$ in the Hilbert space $L^2(Q, d\omega_g)$. Furthermore, from relation (8.1.46) follows that functions $A \in C^{\infty}(T^*Q)[[\hbar]]$ can be identified with operators \hat{A} through the formula

$$A \star = \hat{1} \otimes \hat{A}.$$

Moreover, the map $A \mapsto \hat{A}$ is a representation of the algebra $\mathcal{A}_Q = (C^{\infty}(T^*Q)[[\hbar]], \star)$ in the Hilbert space $L^2(Q, d\omega_g)$.

We get the following characterization of quantum states. Pure states can be alternatively characterized as these functions $\rho_{\text{pure}} \in L^2(T^*Q, d\Omega_{\hbar})$ which are self-conjugated, normalized, and idempotent

$$\rho_{\text{pure}} = \bar{\rho}_{\text{pure}},$$

$$\int_{T^*Q} \rho_{\text{pure}} \, d\Omega_\hbar = 1,$$

$$\rho_{\text{pure}} \star \rho_{\text{pure}} = \rho_{\text{pure}},$$
(8.1.47)

$\rho_{\rm pure} \star \rho_{\rm pure} = \rho_{\rm pure}.$

Then mixed states $\rho_{\text{mix}} \in L^2(T^*Q, d\Omega_{\hbar})$ are characterized as convex linear combinations, possibly infinite, of some families of pure states $\rho_{\text{pure}}^{(\lambda)}$

$$\rho_{\rm mix} = \sum_{\lambda} p_{\lambda} \rho_{\rm pure}^{(\lambda)},$$

where $p_{\lambda} \ge 0$ and $\sum_{\lambda} p_{\lambda} = 1$.

If $\phi: \overline{Q} \supset U \xrightarrow{} V \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ and $\Phi: T^*U \rightarrow T^*V = V \times \mathbb{R}^n$ are almost global coordinate systems on the configuration space Q and the phase space T^*Q , respectively, and $\hat{U}: L^2(Q, d\omega_g) \rightarrow L^2(V, d\mu)$ an isomorphism of the Hilbert spaces given by (8.1.4), then the maps $x^i = \Phi^i$ and $p_j = \Phi^{j+n}$ (i, j = 1, 2, ..., n) are observables of position and momentum corresponding to the coordinate system Φ . To the maps x^i , p_j are related operators \hat{q}^i , \hat{p}_j defined on the Hilbert space $L^2(Q, d\omega_g)$. The operators $\hat{q}^i = \phi^i$ are of the form of multiplication operators by coordinate functions ϕ^i and they constitute a complete set of commuting observables and thus they can be used to create a position representation corresponding to the coordinate system ϕ . In this representation operators \hat{q}^i take the form of the multiplication operators by a coordinate variable defined on the Hilbert space $L^2(V, d\mu)$. In accordance with (8.1.4) the unitary operator giving this representation is equal \hat{U} .

8.1.5 Quantization of Hydrogen Atom in Curvilinear Coordinates

In order to illustrate how to quantize the classical system directly in curvilinear coordinates, let us consider a quantum system of the hydrogen atom [36]. A configuration space of such a system is the 3-dimensional Euclidean space E^3 and represents the position in space of an electron of the hydrogen atom. A phase space of the system is T^*E^3 and a Hamiltonian H in Cartesian coordinates takes a form

$$H(x, y, z, p_x, p_y, p_z) = \frac{p_x^2 + p_y^2 + p_z^2}{2m} - \frac{1}{4\pi\epsilon_0} \frac{e^2}{\sqrt{x^2 + y^2 + z^2}}.$$
 (8.1.48)

A standard Weyl quantization means that as a star-product on T^*E^3 is taken the canonical \star -product which in the Cartesian coordinates takes the form of the Moyal product. In the position representation, the Hilbert space of states takes the form of the space $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ of functions on \mathbb{R}^3 square integrable with respect to the Lebesgue measure. The canonical operators of position and momentum in Cartesian coordinates take the standard form

$$\hat{q}_x = x,$$
 $\hat{q}_y = y,$ $\hat{q}_z = z,$
 $\hat{p}_x = -i\hbar\partial_x,$ $\hat{p}_y = -i\hbar\partial_y,$ $\hat{p}_z = -i\hbar\partial_z,$

and the Hamiltonian operator, being a symmetrically ordered function H of the operators of position and momentum, takes the form

$$H(\hat{q}_x, \hat{q}_y, \hat{q}_z, \hat{p}_x, \hat{p}_y, \hat{p}_z) = -\frac{\hbar^2}{2m} (\partial_x^2 + \partial_y^2 + \partial_z^2) - \frac{1}{4\pi\epsilon_0} \frac{e^2}{\sqrt{x^2 + y^2 + z^2}},$$
(8.1.49)

where $\partial_x^2 + \partial_y^2 + \partial_z^2 = \Delta$ is the Laplace operator in the Cartesian coordinates. This is the quantization procedure presented in any textbook of quantum mechanics.

Now, let us quantize the considered system directly in the spherical coordinates. The Moyal product in Cartesian coordinates, under the point transformation to spherical coordinates (3.3.6), transforms to a star-product of the form (6.1.64), (6.1.65). This star-product is equivalent to the Moyal product, where the equivalence morphism *S*, by virtue of (6.1.66), takes the form

$$S = \operatorname{id} + \frac{\hbar^2}{4} \left[\frac{1}{r^2} \partial_{p_r}^2 + \left(\frac{1}{2 \tan^2 \theta} - 1 \right) \partial_{p_\theta}^2 - \partial_{p_\phi}^2 + \frac{1}{r \tan \theta} \partial_{p_r} \partial_{p_\theta} + \frac{1}{r^2} p_\theta \partial_{p_r}^2 \partial_{p_\theta} \right]$$
$$- \frac{1}{2} p_r \partial_{p_r} \partial_{p_\theta}^2 + \frac{2}{r \tan \theta} p_\phi \partial_{p_r} \partial_{p_\theta} \partial_{p_\phi} - \left(\frac{1}{2} p_r \sin^2 \theta + \frac{1}{r} p_\theta \sin \theta \cos \theta \right) \partial_{p_r} \partial_{p_\phi}^2 - \frac{1}{3} p_\theta \partial_{p_\theta}^3 \right]$$
$$+ \frac{1}{\tan^2 \theta} p_\phi \partial_{p_\theta}^2 \partial_{p_\phi} - \frac{1}{2} p_\theta \partial_{p_\theta} \partial_{p_\phi}^2 - \frac{1}{3} p_\phi \partial_{p_\phi}^3 + \frac{1}{r^2} p_\phi \partial_r^2 \partial_{p_\phi} - \frac{1}{2} r \partial_r \partial_{p_\theta}^2 - \frac{1}{2} r \sin^2 \theta \partial_r \partial_{p_\phi}^2 \right]$$
$$+ \frac{1}{r} \partial_{\theta} \partial_{p_r} \partial_{p_\theta} - \frac{1}{2} \sin \theta \cos \theta \partial_{\theta} \partial_{p_\phi}^2 + \frac{1}{r} \partial_{\phi} \partial_{p_r} \partial_{p_\phi} + \frac{1}{\tan \theta} \partial_{\phi} \partial_{p_\theta} \partial_{p_\phi} \right] + O(\hbar^4).$$

The classical Hamilton function (8.1.48) in spherical coordinates takes the form

$$H(r,\theta,\phi,p_r,p_{\theta},p_{\phi}) = \frac{1}{2m} \left(p_r^2 + \frac{p_{\theta}^2}{r^2} + \frac{p_{\phi}^2}{r^2\sin^2\theta} \right) - \frac{1}{4\pi\epsilon_0} \frac{e^2}{r}, \qquad (8.1.50)$$

and the action of the morphism S on the transformed Hamilton function (8.1.50) results in the following new function

$$(S^{-1}H)(r,\theta,\phi,p_r,p_{\theta},p_{\phi}) = \frac{1}{2m} \left(p_r^2 + \frac{p_{\theta}^2}{r^2} + \frac{p_{\phi}^2}{r^2 \sin^2 \theta} \right) - \frac{1}{4\pi\epsilon_0} \frac{e^2}{r} - \frac{\hbar^2}{8mr^2} \left(\frac{1}{\sin^2 \theta} + 1 \right).$$
(8.1.51)

Note the extra term in (8.1.51) depends on \hbar^2 . Thus, the quantum system in spherical coordinates can be described by the Hamiltonian (8.1.50) and the star-product in the form (6.1.61), or equivalently by the Hamiltonian (8.1.51) and the Moyal star-product.

In the position representation in spherical coordinates the Hilbert space of states is equal $L^2(V, d\mu)$, where $V = (0, \infty) \times (0, \pi) \times (0, 2\pi)$, $d\mu(r, \theta, \phi) = r^2 \sin \theta \, dr \, d\theta \, d\phi$ and according to (8.1.26) the operators of position and momentum take the form

$$\hat{q}_{r} = r, \qquad \hat{q}_{\theta} = \theta, \qquad \hat{q}_{\phi} = \phi,$$

$$\hat{p}_{r} = -i\hbar \left(\partial_{r} + \frac{1}{r}\right), \quad \hat{p}_{\theta} = -i\hbar \left(\partial_{\theta} + \frac{1}{2}\cot\theta\right), \quad \hat{p}_{\phi} = -i\hbar\partial_{\phi}.$$
(8.1.52)

The Hamilton operator is calculated as an S-ordered Hamilton function (8.1.50) of operators of position and momentum (8.1.52), or equivalently as a symmetrically ordered function (8.1.51) of these operators:

$$H_{S}(\hat{q}_{r}, \hat{q}_{\theta}, \hat{q}_{\phi}, \hat{p}_{r}, \hat{p}_{\theta}, \hat{p}_{\phi}) = (S^{-1}H)_{M}(\hat{q}_{r}, \hat{q}_{\theta}, \hat{q}_{\phi}, \hat{p}_{r}, \hat{p}_{\theta}, \hat{p}_{\phi})$$

$$= -\frac{\hbar^{2}}{2m} \left[\partial_{r}^{2} + \frac{2}{r} \partial_{r} + \frac{1}{r^{2}} \left(\partial_{\theta}^{2} + \frac{1}{\tan\theta} \partial_{\theta} + \frac{1}{\sin^{2}\theta} \partial_{\phi}^{2} \right) \right]$$

$$- \frac{1}{4\pi\epsilon_{0}} \frac{e^{2}}{r}.$$
(8.1.53)

The expression in square brackets is just the well known Laplace operator written in spherical coordinates. A direct computation shows that the operators (8.1.49)and (8.1.53) are unitarily equivalent, where a unitary operator giving this equivalence is equal

$$\hat{U}_T : L^2(\mathbb{R}^3) \to L^2(V, d\mu), \quad (\hat{U}_T \psi)(r, \theta, \phi) = \psi(r \sin \theta \cos \phi, r \sin \theta \sin \phi, r \cos \theta).$$

Note, that the property that the spherical coordinates are almost global is crucial for \hat{U}_T to be a unitary operator. Since the operators (8.1.49) and (8.1.53) are unitarily equivalent they have the same spectra, and thus solving the eigenvalue problem of one of these operators gives the solution to the other one.

8.1.6 Operators Linear, Quadratic and Cubic in Momenta

Suppose now that we want to quantize in any almost global coordinates a Hamiltonian system given on a phase space $M = T^*Q$ that is the cotangent bundle to an appropriate pseudo-Riemannian manifold equipped with a metric tensor g. In what follows we will consider the class of quantizations of a classical system with Hamiltonians polynomial in momenta [36, 37], for which the morphism S giving

the equivalence with the Moyal quantization is in the form (6.1.104)

$$S = \mathrm{id} + \frac{\hbar^2}{4!} \Big(3 \left(\Gamma_{lj}^i \Gamma_{lk}^l + aR_{jk} \right) \partial_{p_j} \partial_{p_k} + 3 \Gamma_{jk}^i \partial_{x^i} \partial_{p_j} \partial_{p_k} + \left(2 \Gamma_{nl}^i \Gamma_{jk}^n - \Gamma_{jk,l}^i \right) p_i \partial_{p_j} \partial_{p_k} \partial_{p_l} \\ - 3b \partial_{p_j} (\partial_{x^j} + \Gamma_{jl}^i p_i \partial_{p_l}) \partial_{p_k} (\partial_{x^k} + \Gamma_{kn}^r p_r \partial_{p_n}) \Big) + O(\hbar^4),$$

for any classical and quantum canonical coordinate system.

First, let us consider a function H on T^*Q linear in momenta, which in a Darboux coordinate system (x, p) takes the form

$$H(x, p) = A^{j}(x)p_{j},$$
 (8.1.54)

where A^i are components of a vector field A defined on Q. The action of the morphism S on H leaves function H unchanged:

$$(S^{-1}H)(x, p) = H(x, p).$$

Thus the following self-adjoint operator will correspond from (6.2.7) to function H

$$H_{S}(\hat{q}, \hat{p}) = \frac{1}{2}A^{j}(\hat{q})\hat{p}_{j} + \frac{1}{2}\hat{p}_{j}A^{j}(\hat{q}).$$

By virtue of (8.1.26)

$$\hat{q}^{j} = x^{j}, \quad \hat{p}_{j} = -i\hbar(\partial_{j} + \frac{1}{2}\Gamma^{k}_{jk}), \quad \partial_{j} \equiv \partial_{x^{j}}$$

the above operator can be written in the form

$$H_{\mathcal{S}}(\hat{q},\,\hat{p}) = -\frac{1}{2}i\hbar\left(2A^{j}\partial_{j} + A^{i}_{,j} + \Gamma^{k}_{jk}A^{j}\right) = -\frac{1}{2}i\hbar\left(2A^{j}\partial_{j} + A^{j}_{;j}\right).$$

Finally, one can transform the above operator to the following invariant form

$$H_S(\hat{q}, \hat{p}) = -\frac{1}{2}i\hbar \left(2A^i \nabla_i + A^i_{;i}\right) = -\frac{1}{2}i\hbar \left(A^i \nabla_i + \nabla_i A^i\right), \qquad (8.1.55)$$

expressed by covariant derivative operators.

Now, let us consider a function H on T^*Q quadratic in momenta, which in a Darboux coordinate system takes the following form

$$H(x, p) = \frac{1}{2}A^{ij}(x)p_ip_j + V(x), \qquad (8.1.56)$$

where A^{ij} are components of a symmetric second order contravariant tensor field A defined on Q and V is a smooth function on Q, representing a potential. Now the

action of the morphism S on H results in the following function

$$(S^{-1}H)(x,p) = H(x,p) - \frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 \bigg(\frac{1}{4}A^{ij}_{,k}\Gamma^k_{ij} + \frac{1}{4}A^{ij}\Gamma^k_{li}\Gamma^l_{kj} - \frac{1}{4}bA^{ij}_{;ij} + \frac{1}{4}aA^{ij}R_{ij} \bigg).$$

The following self-adjoint operator will correspond from the above equation and (6.2.7) to function *H* (*quantum Hamiltonian*)

$$H_{S}(\hat{q},\hat{p}) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{1}{4} A^{ij}(\hat{q}) \hat{p}_{i} \hat{p}_{j} + \frac{1}{2} \hat{p}_{i} A^{ij}(\hat{q}) \hat{p}_{j} + \frac{1}{4} \hat{p}_{i} \hat{p}_{j} A^{ij}(\hat{q}) \right) + V(\hat{q})$$

$$- \frac{1}{2} \hbar^{2} \left(\frac{1}{4} A^{ij}_{,k}(\hat{q}) \Gamma^{k}_{ij}(\hat{q}) + \frac{1}{4} A^{ij}(\hat{q}) \Gamma^{k}_{li}(\hat{q}) \Gamma^{l}_{li}(\hat{q}) - \frac{1}{4} b A^{ij}_{;ij}(\hat{q}) + \frac{1}{4} a A^{ij}(\hat{q}) R_{ij}(\hat{q}) \right)$$

Again by virtue of (8.1.26) the above equation can be transformed to the form

$$H_{S}(\hat{q}, \hat{p}) = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2} \left(A^{ij}\partial_{i}\partial_{j} + A^{ij}\Gamma^{l}_{jl}\partial_{i} + A^{ij}_{,i}\partial_{j} + \frac{1}{2}A^{ij}\Gamma^{l}_{jl,i} + \frac{1}{4}A^{ij}\Gamma^{k}_{ik}\Gamma^{l}_{jl} + \frac{1}{2}A^{ij}_{,i}\Gamma^{l}_{jl} + \frac{1}{4}A^{ij}_{,i}\Gamma^{k}_{ij} + \frac{1}{4}A^{ij}\Gamma^{k}_{ii}\Gamma^{l}_{kj} - \frac{1}{4}bA^{ij}_{,ij} + \frac{1}{4}aA^{ij}R_{ij} \right) + V$$

and then, using the equality $A^{ij}_{,k} = -A^{rj}\Gamma^i_{rk} - A^{ri}\Gamma^j_{rk} + A^{ij}_{,k}$ and relation (2.6.21), it simplifies to

$$H_{S}(\hat{q}, \hat{p}) = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2} \left(A^{ij}\partial_{i}\partial_{j} + A^{ij}\Gamma^{l}_{jl}\partial_{i} + A^{ij}_{,i}\partial_{j} + \frac{1}{4}(1-b)A^{ij}_{;ij} - \frac{1}{4}(1-a)A^{ij}R_{ij} \right) + V.$$
(8.1.57)

Note that (8.1.57) can be written in the following invariant form

$$H_{S}(\hat{q}, \hat{p}) = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2} \left(\nabla_{i} A^{ij} \nabla_{j} + \frac{1}{4} (1-b) A^{ij}_{;ij} - \frac{1}{4} (1-a) A^{ij} R_{ij} \right) + V$$

= $-\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2} \hat{\Delta}_{A} + V_{\text{quant}} + V,$
(8.1.58)

where $\hat{\Delta}_A = \nabla_i A^{ij} \nabla_j$ is the *pseudo-Laplace operator* and

$$V_{\text{quant}}(x; a, b) = -\frac{1}{8}\hbar^2 \left[(1-b)A^{ij}_{;ij} - (1-a)A^{ij}R_{ij} \right]$$

represents a quantum correction to classical potential V(x).

Observe that according to (2.6.10) and (8.1.19), the pseudo-Laplace operator $\hat{\Delta}_A$ can be expressed by

$$\hat{\Delta}_{A} = \nabla_{i} A^{ij} \nabla_{j} = |g|^{-\frac{1}{2}} \partial_{i} |g|^{\frac{1}{2}} A^{ij} \partial_{j}.$$
(8.1.59)

For a special case, when A coincides with the standard metric tensor g on the configuration space, the function H has the form of a natural Hamiltonian (6.1.1), and Eq. (8.1.58) reduces to

$$H_{S}(\hat{q},\,\hat{p}) = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2} \left(G^{ij} \nabla_{i} \nabla_{j} - \frac{1}{4}(1-a)R \right) + V$$
(8.1.60)

where $\nabla_i G^{ij} \nabla_j = G^{ij} \nabla_i \nabla_j = \hat{\Delta}$ is the Laplace-Beltrami operator. Hence, in particular

$$\hat{\Delta} = \nabla_i G^{ij} \nabla_j = |g|^{-\frac{1}{2}} \partial_i |g|^{\frac{1}{2}} G^{ij} \partial_j.$$
(8.1.61)

Thus, we get a two-parameter family of quantizations related to a given metric tensor g. Particular examples of Hamiltonian operators (8.1.58) with fixed values of parameters a and b, derived by different methods can be found in the literature [61, 88, 89, 102, 109, 131, 183, 220].

Observation 20 To the knowledge of the author, for the general non-flat metric tensor g, there is no experimental evidence which quantizations, from the considered family, are realized in nature. On the other hand, for a flat metric tensor g and a natural Hamiltonian (6.1.1), all quantum operators (8.1.60) collapse onto a single operator

$$H(\hat{q},\,\hat{p}) = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 G^{ij}\nabla_i\nabla_j + V = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 |g|^{-\frac{1}{2}} \,\partial_i \,|g|^{\frac{1}{2}} \,G^{ij}\partial_j + V$$

equivalent to a standard Weyl quantization. For a non flat case there exists one distinguished quantization given by a = b = 1, called a minimal quantization, for which quantum correction to the classical potential vanishes: $V_{quant} = 0$ and hence

$$H(\hat{q}, \hat{p}) = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 \nabla_i A^{ij} \nabla_j + V = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 |g|^{-\frac{1}{2}} \partial_i |g|^{\frac{1}{2}} A^{ij} \partial_j + V.$$
(8.1.62)

Finally, let us consider a function *H* on T^*Q , which in a Darboux coordinate system (x, p) is cubic in momenta (we skip the lower terms in momenta):

$$H(x, p) = A^{ijk}(x) p_i p_j p_k,$$
(8.1.63)

where A^{ijk} are components of a symmetric third order contravariant tensor field A defined on Q. In a similar fashion as in the previous case (we skip here a cumbersome calculations) one can derive the form of the corresponding self-adjoint operator:

$$H_{S}(\hat{q}, \hat{p}) = \frac{1}{2}i\hbar^{3} \bigg(\nabla_{i} A^{ijk} \nabla_{j} \nabla_{k} + \nabla_{i} \nabla_{j} A^{ijk} \nabla_{k} + \frac{1}{4}(1-b) \nabla_{k} A^{ijk}_{;ij} + \frac{1}{4}(1-b) A^{ijk}_{;ij} \nabla_{k} - \frac{3}{4}(1-a) \nabla_{i} A^{ijk} R_{jk} - \frac{3}{4}(1-a) A^{ijk} R_{jk} \nabla_{i} \bigg).$$

$$(8.1.64)$$

In particular, for minimal quantization, we get

$$H_{\mathcal{S}}(\hat{q},\,\hat{p}) = \frac{1}{2}i\hbar^3 \left(\nabla_i A^{ijk} \nabla_j \nabla_k + \nabla_i \nabla_j A^{ijk} \nabla_k \right),\,$$

the form considered for the first time in [103], but introduced without any justification from basic principles. Minimal quantization, related to various metric tensors, will be of great importance for the quantum stationary separability theory developed in the next section.

Note that the received operators are defined on the Hilbert space $L^2(V, d\mu)$ and correspond to a given canonical coordinate system (x, p). These operators are written in an invariant form and consequently they can be treated as operators defined on the Hilbert space $L^2(Q, d\omega_g)$. Indeed, using the unitary operator \hat{U} related to the coordinate system (x, p) and given by (8.1.4), in accordance with the formula (8.1.4) we can receive operators defined on the Hilbert space $L^2(Q, d\omega_g)$.

8.2 Quantum Integrability and Stationary Quantum Separability

The notion of classical integrability and classical separability in particular is well recognized and was described in details in the first half of the book. The question about the definition of quantum integrability on the most general level of multi-particle fermionic and bosonic systems is far from being trivial (see [62] and references there). Fortunately, as far as we will concentrate on quantum analogous of classical separable systems, considered in previous chapters, the following restricted definition of quantum integrability will be sufficient for our purpose.

Let us consider a quantum system (M, \star, H) on a 2*n* dimensional phase space *M*. By the analogy to classical systems, we say that the quantum system is quantum integrable if

1. in the Hilbert space $L^2(M)$, there exist *n* operators $H_i \star$ (including $H \star$), formally self-adjoint

$$(H_i\star)^{\dagger} = H_i^{\star}\star = H_i\star, \quad i = 1, \dots, n$$

which are in quantum involution

$$[[H_i, H_j]] = 0, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, n,$$

- 2. which are algebraically independent
- 3. and in the classical limit

$$H_k \star \xrightarrow{\hbar \to 0} H_k, \quad k = 1, \dots, n$$

functions H_k constitute a Liouville integrable system.

Algebraic independence means that there is no polynomial P built of operators $H_i \star$ and such that

$$P_{\mathcal{S}}(H_1\star,\ldots,H_n\star)=(\mathcal{S}^{-1}P)_W(H_1\star,\ldots,H_n\star)=0,$$

where the morphism *S* defines the quantization \star . In a position representation of quantum mechanics it means that there exist *n* self-adjoint differential operators $H_i(\hat{q}, \hat{p})$ in the Hilbert space $L^2(Q, d\mu)$, being quantum counterparts of classical, functionally independent Hamiltonians in involution, which are algebraically independent and which commute

$$[H_i(\hat{q}, \hat{p}), H_j(\hat{q}, \hat{p})] = 0.$$
(8.2.1)

The restriction to pure differential operators allow us to avoid the consequences of von Neumann theorem [254] in the majority of cases. The theorem says that if a pair of self-adjoint operators A and B commutes, then there is a third self-adjoint operator C such that A = f(C) and B = g(C). However, if A and B are differential operators C usually is not a differential one. But even if it happens, like for the two dimensional quantum oscillator [259], it not contradicts presented definition. It simple means, that for some quantum integrable systems one may alternatively finds a less number of commuting operators, carrying the same information about a quantum system. It is of course a pure quantum phenomenon.

By *quantum dynamical separability* we understand the existence of quantum separation coordinates (λ, μ) which allow efficient linearization of quantum Hamiltonian equations of motion. It means the construction in an explicit form (or at

least implicit form) quantum trajectories, i.e. integration by quadratures quantum equations of motion (7.1.14) or equivalently (7.1.16). It is complex mathematical problem beyond the scope of the book. There is no quantum analog of the theory developed in Chaps. 4 and 5 and so completely different mathematical tools have to be applied. What in literature is known as quantum separability should be rather called *quantum stationary separability*. Actually it means the existence of such quantum Darboux coordinates (λ , μ), in which simultaneously separate *n* eigenvalue problems

$$H_i(\hat{q}, \hat{p})\Psi = E_i\Psi, \quad i = 1, \dots, n$$
 (8.2.2)

of commuting differential operators (8.2.1).

The problem of quantum stationary separability has a long history, starting from the early works of Robertson [228] and Eisenhart [104], and has a reach literature (see for example [17, 18, 47–49, 145, 182, 206, 248] and references therein). In the following section we develop quantum separability theory for quantized Stäckel systems with quadratic in momenta first integrals, considered in Chap. 4, and prove that for any classical Stäckel system from the considered class, there exists an infinite family of quantizations leading to a quantum stationary separable system. The presented theory is a significant extension of already classical results of Robertson [228] and Eisenhart [104]. We want to stress, however, that we do not deal here with spectral theory of the obtained quantum systems, as it requires a separate investigations.

8.2.1 Separability for Minimal Quantization with Natural Metric

Let us come back to Stäckel systems considered in Chap. 4 with all constants of motion quadratic in momenta, so fulfilling general separation relations (4.2.9) with condition (4.2.11). First, let us consider a minimal quantization (8.1.62) of classical Stäckel Hamiltonians (4.3.2) in classical separation coordinates

$$H_r = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^n A_r^{ii} \mu_i^2 + V_r = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^n (K_r G)^{ii} \mu_i^2 + V_r, \quad r = 1, \dots, n,$$
(8.2.3)

with a natural choice of metric tensor $G \equiv A_1$, where matrices A_r and K_r are given by formulas (4.3.7) and (4.3.8). Notice, that with such choice of metric, tensors K_r are Killing tensors of G. Then, the respective quantum Hamiltonians \hat{H}_r (8.1.62) are given by

$$\hat{H}_r = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 \sum_{i=1}^n \nabla_i A_r^{ii} \nabla_i + V_r, \quad r = 1, \dots, n$$
(8.2.4)

where ∇_i are operators of Levi-Civita connection associated with the metric $g = G^{-1}$. Hamiltonian operators (8.2.4) are self-adjoint in the Hilbert space $L^2(Q, |\det g|^{1/2} d\lambda)$.

Now let us consider a set of eigenvalue problems (stationary Schrödinger equations) associated with Hamiltonian operators (8.2.4). For the purposes of calculation let us introduce metrically contracted Christoffel symbols of g defined by

$$\Gamma_i := G^{jk} \Gamma_{jki} = G^{jk} g_{ir} \Gamma_{jk}^r = \frac{1}{2} \partial_i \ln \det |G| - g_{ik} \partial_j G^{jk}.$$
(8.2.5)

As the classical separation coordinates λ are orthogonal coordinates, a lot of formulas simplify. For example, nonzero Christoffel symbols in such coordinates are

$$\Gamma_{ij}^{j} = \Gamma_{ji}^{j} = -\frac{1}{2}\partial_{i} \ln G^{jj}, \text{ no summation over } j,$$

$$\Gamma_{jj}^{i} = -\frac{1}{2}G^{ii}\partial_{i}g_{jj}, \quad i \neq j,$$

hence

$$\Gamma_i = \frac{1}{2}\partial_i \sum_{k=1}^n \ln G^{kk} - \partial_i \ln G^{ii} = \frac{1}{2}\partial_i \ln \frac{\prod_{k \neq i} G^{kk}}{G^{ii}}$$
(8.2.6)

and

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} \Gamma_{ki}^{k} = -\frac{1}{2} \partial_{i} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \ln G^{kk} = -\Gamma_{i} - \partial_{i} \ln G^{ii}.$$
(8.2.7)

Denoting $(K_r)_i^i \equiv v_r^i$ we get $A_r^{ii} = v_r^i G^{ii}$ and then

$$\begin{aligned} \nabla_{i}A_{r}^{ii}\nabla_{i}\Psi &= \partial_{i}(A_{r}^{ii}\partial_{i}\Psi) + \Gamma_{ij}^{i}A_{r}^{jj}\partial_{j}\Psi \\ &= A_{r}^{ii}\partial_{i}^{2}\Psi + (\partial_{j}A_{r}^{jj} + \Gamma_{ij}^{i}A_{r}^{jj})\partial_{j}\Psi \\ &= v_{r}^{i}G^{ii}\partial_{i}^{2}\Psi + \left(\partial_{j}(v_{r}^{j}G^{jj}) - v_{r}^{j}G^{jj}(\Gamma_{j} + \partial_{j}\ln G^{jj})\right)\partial_{j}\Psi \\ &= v_{r}^{i}G^{ii}\partial_{i}^{2}\Psi + G^{jj}(\partial_{j}v_{r}^{j} - v_{r}^{j}\Gamma_{j})\partial_{j}\Psi \\ &= v_{r}^{i}G^{ii}\left(\partial_{i}^{2} - \Gamma_{i}\partial_{i}\right)\Psi \\ &= A_{r}^{ii}\left(\partial_{i}^{2} - \Gamma_{i}\partial_{i}\right)\Psi, \end{aligned}$$

$$(8.2.8)$$

where relations (4.3.9) and (8.2.7) were used. Thus, in classical orthogonal separation coordinates λ

$$\hat{H}_{r}\Psi = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2}\sum_{i=1}^{n}A_{r}^{ii}\left(\partial_{i}^{2}-\Gamma_{i}\partial_{i}\right)\Psi + V_{r}\Psi, \quad r = 1, \dots, n.$$
(8.2.9)

Now we demonstrate that the system of n eigenvalue problems (8.2.2) is separable if and only if

$$\partial_j \Gamma_i = 0, \ i \neq j \iff \Gamma_i = \Gamma_i(\lambda^i).$$
 (8.2.10)

Condition (8.2.10) is known as a *Robertson condition* [228]. What is interesting, it is possible to demonstrate that in orthogonal coordinates, the non-diagonal components R_{ij} of Ricci tensor are expressed by metrically contracted Christoffel symbols Γ_i [17]

$$R_{ij} = \frac{3}{2} \partial_i \Gamma_j, \quad i \neq j, \tag{8.2.11}$$

so the condition of stationary quantum separability can be reduced to the diagonality condition of the Ricci tensor in classical separation coordinates [104].

Applying the Stäckel matrix (4.3.6) to the system (8.2.2) and using relations (8.2.9) we get

$$S\begin{pmatrix}\hat{H}_{1}\Psi\\\vdots\\\hat{H}_{n}\Psi\end{pmatrix}=S\begin{pmatrix}E_{1}\Psi\\\vdots\\E_{n}\Psi\end{pmatrix},$$

and then

$$[E_1S_{1i}(\lambda^i) + E_2S_{2i}(\lambda^i) + \dots + E_nS_{ni}(\lambda^i)]\Psi = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 f_i(\lambda^i) \left[\partial_i^2 - \Gamma_i\partial_i\right]\Psi + \sigma_i(\lambda^i)\Psi,$$

i = 1, ..., n. From equations (8.2.1) follows that eigenfunction Ψ separates multiplicatively

$$\Psi(\lambda^1,\ldots,\lambda^n,\alpha,\beta,E)=\prod_{i=1}^n\psi_i(\lambda^i,\alpha_i,\beta_i,E)$$

if and only if the condition (8.2.10) is fulfilled and system (8.2.1) separates onto *n* one-dimensional eigenvalue problems (*quantum separation equations*)

$$[E_1 S_{1i}(\lambda^i) + E_2 S_{2i}(\lambda^i) + \dots + E_n S_{ni}(\lambda^i)]\psi_i(\lambda^i)$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 f_i(\lambda^i) \left[\frac{d^2}{(d\lambda^i)^2} - \Gamma_i(\lambda^i)\frac{d}{d\lambda^i}\right]\psi_i(\lambda^i) + \sigma_i(\lambda^i)\psi_i(\lambda^i), \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$

(8.2.12)

where α_i , β_i are integration constants originating during the process of solving equation *i*-th in (8.2.12). As a consequence, differential operators \hat{H}_i fulfill *quantum separation relations*

$$S_{1i}(\lambda^{i})\hat{H}_{1} + S_{2i}(\lambda^{i})\hat{H}_{2} + \dots + S_{ni}(\lambda^{i})\hat{H}_{n}$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2}f_{i}(\lambda^{i})\left[\frac{d^{2}}{\left(d\lambda^{i}\right)^{2}} - \Gamma_{i}(\lambda^{i})\frac{d}{d\lambda^{i}}\right] + \sigma_{i}(\lambda^{i}), \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$
(8.2.13)

Thus, summarizing our considerations, we conclude that n eigenvalue problems (8.2.2) separate in classical orthogonal separation coordinates under an extra condition (8.2.11).

Let us analyze in details the Stäckel systems considered in Chap. 4. We begin with separation relations (4.2.13)

$$H_i - \zeta_i(\lambda^i) H_{i+1} = \frac{1}{2}\mu_i^2 + V_i(\lambda^i), \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$
(8.2.14)

As diagonal elements of the metric tensor G are products of functions of one variable (4.3.1), so from relation (8.2.6) we get

$$\Gamma_i = \frac{1}{2}(n-i)\frac{d}{d\lambda^i}\ln\zeta_i(\lambda^i)$$

and Robertson condition is fulfilled.

Example 8.3 For n = 3 and spherical coordinates we have the quantum version of systems from Example 4.10. In that case

$$\begin{split} \hat{H}_1 &= -\frac{\hbar^2}{2m} \left[\partial_r^2 + \frac{2}{r} \partial_r + \frac{1}{r^2} \left(\partial_\theta^2 + \frac{1}{\tan\theta} \partial_\theta + \frac{1}{\sin^2\theta} \partial_\phi^2 \right) \right] + \sigma_r(r) + \frac{\sigma_\theta(\theta)}{r^2} + \frac{\sigma_\phi(\phi)}{r^2 \sin^2\theta}, \\ \hat{H}_2 &= -\frac{\hbar^2}{2m} \left(\partial_\theta^2 + \frac{1}{\tan\theta} \partial_\theta + \frac{1}{\sin^2\theta} \partial_\phi^2 \right) + \sigma_\theta(\theta) + \frac{\sigma_\phi(\phi)}{\sin^2\theta}, \\ \hat{H}_3 &= -\frac{\hbar^2}{2m} \partial_\phi^2 + \sigma_\phi(\phi) \end{split}$$

and as

$$\Gamma_r = -\frac{2}{r}, \quad \Gamma_\theta = -\cot\theta, \quad \Gamma_\phi = 0,$$

so, quantum separation relations (8.2.13) are of the form

$$\hat{H}_1 - \frac{1}{r^2}\hat{H}_2 = -\frac{1}{2m}\hbar^2 \left[\frac{d^2}{dr^2} + \frac{2}{r}\frac{d}{dr}\right] + \sigma_r(r),$$
$$\hat{H}_2 - \frac{1}{\sin^2\theta}\hat{H}_3 = -\frac{1}{2m}\hbar^2 \left[\frac{d^2}{d\theta^2} + \cot\theta\frac{d}{d\theta}\right] + \sigma_\theta(\theta),$$
$$\hat{H}_3 = -\frac{1}{2m}\hbar^2\frac{d^2}{d\theta^2} + \sigma_\theta(\theta),$$

while one-dimensional quantum separation equations (8.2.12) take the form

$$(E_1 - \frac{1}{r^2}E_2)\psi(r) = -\frac{1}{2m}\hbar^2 \left[\frac{d^2}{dr^2} + \frac{2}{r}\frac{d}{dr}\right]\psi(r) + \sigma_r(r)\psi(r),$$

$$(E_2 - \frac{1}{\sin^2\theta}E_3)\eta(\theta) = -\frac{1}{2m}\hbar^2 \left[\frac{d^2}{d\theta^2} + \cot\theta\frac{d}{d\theta}\right]\eta(\theta) + \sigma_\theta(\theta)\eta(\theta),$$

$$E_3\chi(\phi) = -\frac{1}{2m}\hbar^2\frac{d^2}{d\theta^2}\chi(\phi) + \sigma_\theta(\theta)\chi(\phi),$$

and $\Psi = \psi(r)\eta(\theta)\chi(\phi)$.

As another class of the Stäckel systems consider these systems, generated by irreducible separation relations (4.2.16)

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} H_k(\lambda^i)^{\gamma_k} = \frac{1}{2} f_i(\lambda^i) \mu_i^2 + \sigma_i(\lambda^i), \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$
(8.2.15)

with the Stäckel matrix S_{γ} given by (4.2.2). From relations (8.2.6) follows that in separation coordinates metrically contracted the Christoffel symbols can be written in the form

$$\Gamma_i = \frac{1}{2} \partial_i \ln F_i, \qquad (8.2.16)$$

where

$$F_{i} = \frac{\prod_{k \neq i} G^{kk}}{G^{ii}} = \frac{\prod_{k \neq i} (S_{\gamma}^{-1})_{1k}}{(S_{\gamma}^{-1})_{1i}} \frac{\prod_{k \neq i} f_{k}(\lambda^{k})}{f_{i}(\lambda^{i})} = \frac{\delta_{i}(\lambda)}{D_{i1}(\lambda)} \frac{\prod_{k \neq i} f_{k}(\lambda^{k})}{f_{i}(\lambda^{i})}.$$
(8.2.17)

The symbol $D_{i1}(\lambda)$ stands for the signed (i, 1)-minor of S_{γ} , which is λ_i -independent, and

$$\delta_i(\lambda) = \frac{\prod_{k \neq i} D_{k1}}{(\det S)^{n-2}}$$

is a rational function of variable λ^i with coefficients being polynomials with respect to the remaining variables λ^k , $k \neq i$.

It can be proved [47] that for general $\gamma = (\gamma_1, \dots, \gamma_n)$ metrically contracted Christoffel symbols (8.2.16), (8.2.17) do not satisfy the Robertson condition (8.2.10) except the distinguished case of the Benenti class defined by $\gamma = (n - 1, \dots, 1, 0)$

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} H_k(\lambda^i)^{n-k} = \frac{1}{2} f_i(\lambda^i) \mu_i^2 + \sigma_i(\lambda^i), \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$
(8.2.18)

where the Stäckel matrix is a Vandermonde one (4.3.2) with the metric tensor in the form (4.3.16). Then

$$F_i = \frac{\prod_{k \neq i} G^{kk}}{G^{ii}} = \frac{(-1)^n B_i}{\prod_{k \neq i} B_k} \frac{\prod_{k \neq i} f_k(\lambda^k)}{f_i(\lambda^i)}, \quad B_i = \prod_{k \neq i} (\lambda^i - \lambda^k)$$

and $(-1)^n B_i \prod_{k \neq i} \frac{f_k(\lambda^k)}{B_k}$ term does not depend on λ^i , hence

$$\Gamma_i = \frac{1}{2}\partial_i \ln f_i^{-1} = -\frac{1}{2}\frac{f_i'(\lambda^i)}{f_i(\lambda^i)}, \quad f_i'(\lambda^i) = \frac{df_i(\lambda^i)}{d\lambda^i}.$$

Thus, eigenvalue problems for quantum Hamiltonians (8.2.4) from the Benenti class, in a minimal quantization with natural metric $G = A_1$, separate onto *n* one-dimensional eigenvalue problems

$$\begin{bmatrix} E_1(\lambda^i)^{n-1} + E_2(\lambda^i)^{n-2} + \dots + E_n] \psi_i(\lambda^i) \\ = -\frac{1}{2} \hbar^2 \left[f_i(\lambda^i) \frac{d^2}{(d\lambda^i)^2} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{df_i(\lambda^i)}{d\lambda^i} \frac{d}{d\lambda^i} \right] \psi_i(\lambda^i) + \sigma_i(\lambda^i) \psi_i(\lambda^i).$$

$$(8.2.19)$$

Besides, Hamiltonian operators in separation coordinates fulfill the respective quantum separation relations

$$(\lambda^{i})^{n-1}\hat{H}_{1} + (\lambda^{i})^{n-2}\hat{H}_{2} + \dots + \hat{H}_{n}$$

= $-\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2}\left[f_{i}(\lambda^{i})\frac{d^{2}}{(d\lambda^{i})^{2}} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{df_{i}(\lambda^{i})}{d\lambda^{i}}\frac{d}{d\lambda^{i}}\right] + \sigma_{i}(\lambda^{i}), \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$
(8.2.20)

Example 8.4 Quantum Hénon-Heiles system. Two constants of motion in the Cartesian and separation coordinates respectively are of the form (see Example 4.11)

$$H_{1} = T_{1} + V_{1} = \frac{1}{2}p_{x}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}p_{y}^{2} + x^{3} + \frac{1}{2}xy^{2},$$

$$H_{2} = T_{2} + V_{2} = \frac{1}{2}yp_{x}p_{y} - \frac{1}{2}xp_{y}^{2} + \frac{1}{4}x^{2}y^{2} + \frac{1}{16}x^{4},$$

$$H_{1} = \frac{1}{2}\frac{\lambda^{1}}{\lambda^{1} - \lambda^{2}}\mu_{1}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{\lambda^{2}}{\lambda^{2} - \lambda^{1}}\mu_{2}^{2} + (\lambda^{1})^{3} + (\lambda^{1})^{2}\lambda^{2} + \lambda^{1}(\lambda^{2})^{2} + (\lambda^{2})^{3},$$

$$H_{2} = \frac{1}{2}\frac{\lambda^{1}\lambda^{2}}{\lambda^{1} - \lambda^{2}}\mu_{1}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{\lambda^{1}\lambda^{2}}{\lambda^{2} - \lambda^{1}}\mu_{2}^{2} - \lambda^{1}\lambda^{2}[(\lambda^{1})^{2} + \lambda^{1}\lambda^{2} + (\lambda^{2})^{2}].$$

The respective operators in both maps are

$$\begin{split} \hat{H}_{1} &= -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2}\left(\frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial x^{2}} + \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial y^{2}}\right) + V_{1}(x, y), \\ \hat{H}_{2} &= -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2}\left(x^{2}\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\frac{\partial}{\partial y} - x\frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial y^{2}} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{\partial}{\partial x}\right) + V_{2}(x, y), \\ \hat{H}_{1} &= -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2}\left[\frac{\lambda^{1}}{\lambda^{1} - \lambda^{2}}\left(\frac{\partial^{2}}{(\partial\lambda^{1})^{2}} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{1}{\lambda^{1}}\frac{\partial}{\partial\lambda^{1}}\right) + \frac{\lambda^{2}}{\lambda^{2} - \lambda^{1}}\left(\frac{\partial^{2}}{(\partial\lambda^{2})^{2}} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{1}{\lambda^{2}}\frac{\partial}{\partial\lambda^{2}}\right)\right] \\ &+ V_{1}(\lambda^{1}, \lambda^{2}), \\ \hat{H}_{2} &= -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2}\left[\frac{\lambda^{1}\lambda^{2}}{\lambda^{1} - \lambda^{2}}\left(\frac{\partial^{2}}{(\partial\lambda^{1})^{2}} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{1}{\lambda^{1}}\frac{\partial}{\partial\lambda^{1}}\right) + \frac{\lambda^{1}\lambda^{2}}{\lambda^{2} - \lambda^{1}}\left(\frac{\partial^{2}}{(\partial\lambda^{2})^{2}} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{1}{\lambda^{2}}\frac{\partial}{\partial\lambda^{2}}\right)\right] \\ &+ V_{2}(\lambda^{1}, \lambda^{2}). \end{split}$$

As for the Hénon-Heiles system separation relations come from the separation curve, so quantum stationary separability reduces to a one-dimensional eigenvalue problem

$$(E_1\lambda + E_2)\psi(\lambda) = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 \left[\lambda \frac{d^2}{d\lambda^2} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{d\lambda}\right]\psi(\lambda) + \lambda^4\psi(\lambda).$$

Taking two copies of the solution $\psi(\lambda)$: $\lambda = \lambda^1, \lambda^2, \Psi(\lambda) = \psi(\lambda^1)\psi(\lambda^2)$ is a common eigenfunction of \hat{H}_1 and \hat{H}_2

$$\hat{H}_1\Psi(\lambda) = E_1\Psi(\lambda), \quad \hat{H}_2\Psi(\lambda) = E_2\Psi(\lambda).$$

Besides, one can verify that

$$[\hat{H}_1, \hat{H}_2] = 0$$

and in separation coordinates

$$\lambda^{1}\hat{H}_{1} + \hat{H}_{2} = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2} \left[\lambda^{1} \frac{d^{2}}{(d\lambda^{1})^{2}} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{d\lambda^{1}} \right] + (\lambda^{1})^{4},$$

$$\lambda^{2}\hat{H}_{1} + \hat{H}_{2} = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2} \left[\lambda^{2} \frac{d^{2}}{(d\lambda^{2})^{2}} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{d\lambda^{2}} \right] + (\lambda^{2})^{4}.$$

For the considered quantization the Benenti class is exceptional for the family (8.2.15). One can show [47] that for the remaining Stäckel matrices S_{γ} (4.2.2), the Robertson condition is not fulfilled as

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda^i} \delta_i(\lambda) \neq 0.$$

It means that systems from these classes after minimal quantization with respect to natural metric $G = A_1$, are not stationary separable.

Now, let us verify why minimal quantization is optimal for quantum separability. In Sect. 8.1.6 was considered the two-parameter family of quantizations of classical Hamiltonian systems quadratic in momenta

$$H(x, p) = \frac{1}{2}K^{ij}p_ip_j + V$$
$$\Downarrow$$

$$\hat{H}(\hat{x}, \hat{p}) = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 \left(\nabla_i K^{ij} \nabla_j + \frac{1}{4}(1-b)K^{ij}_{;ij} - \frac{1}{4}(1-a)K^{ij}R_{ij} \right) + V.$$

It means that in the process of quantization the quantum correction to classical potential is generated in the form

$$V_{\text{quant}}(x,\hbar) = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 \left(\frac{1}{4}(1-b)K^{ij}_{;ij} - \frac{1}{4}(1-a)K^{ij}R_{ij} \right).$$
(8.2.21)

What is interesting, for systems from the Beneti class with flat metrics $V_{\text{quant}}(x, \hbar) = const$. In consequence, all quantizations (8.2.21) for these systems are equivalent. Differences in quantizations appear in the case of non flat metrics

and hence nontrivial quantum potentials are generated. The problem is that these potentials are not separable. It means that using alternative admissible quantizations instead of the minimal one, we restrict the class of quantum separable Hamiltonians to these with flat metrics.

Let us consider dynamical systems from the Benenti class with metrics (4.3.16) generated by $f_i(\lambda^i) = (\lambda^i)^k$, $k \in \mathbb{Z}$. Then, one can show that

$$K_{r ; ij}^{ij} = \frac{1}{4}(n+1-r)V_{r-1}^{(k-1)}$$
(8.2.22)

where $V_r^{(k)}$ are potentials (4.3.22). In the flat cases, when $0 \le k \le n$, $V_{r-1}^{(k-1)} = \delta_{r,n-k}$, $R_{ij} = 0$ and Hamiltonian operators (8.2.21) coincide with these for minimal quantization up to a constant. For non flat cases extra terms R and $K^{ij}R_{ij}$ are complicated functions of position, non expressible by separable potentials and we lose quantum separability. The exceptional non flat case is the one with constant curvature. Then, when k = n + 1, one can show that

$$K_r^{ij}R_{ij} = -\frac{1}{4}(n+1-r)(n-1)V_{r-1}^{(n)}, \quad V_0 \equiv 1.$$

From (8.2.22) we have

$$K_{r ;ij}^{ij} = \frac{1}{4}(n+1-r)V_{r-1}^{(n)}$$

and the choice

$$\frac{1-b}{1-a} = n-1$$

cancels quantum potential (8.2.21).

Similarly to the classical case, also on the quantum level the notion of quantum integrability is wider than the notion of quantum separability. So, the question arises whether there are quantum Stäckel systems which although are not separable but are integrable, i.e. when

$$[\ddot{H}_i, \ddot{H}_j] = 0, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, n.$$
 (8.2.23)

The problem of commutativity (8.2.23) for Hamiltonians (8.2.4) was considered in detail in [18]. Here we skip the involved calculations, presenting only the final result formulated in separation coordinates. In [18] was proved that Hamiltonians (8.2.4) commute if and only if in classical separation coordinates the so-called *pre-Robertson condition*

$$\partial_i R_{ij} - \Gamma_i R_{ij} = 0 \iff \partial_j \left(\partial_i \Gamma_i - \frac{1}{2} \Gamma_i^2 \right) = 0, \quad i \neq j$$
(8.2.24)

is fulfilled.

From (8.2.24) follows immediately that the Robertson condition (8.2.10), (8.2.11) implies the pre-Robertson condition (8.2.21), so quantum separability implies quantum integrability, in full analogy to the classical case. But less obvious is the observation that for the class of Stäckel systems related to separation relations (4.2.16), the pre-Robertson condition is satisfied if and only if the Robertson condition holds [47].

8.2.2 Separability for Minimal Quantization with Adopted Metric

In the previous subsection, using the natural minimal quantization, we proved the quantum integrability and quantum stationary separability for systems from class (8.2.14) and from the Benenti class (8.2.18). Can we find some quantizations for other classes of systems (8.2.15), preserving quantum integrability and quantum separability? We give the positive answer to that question in the following subsection. To do it, let us first adopt more general Riemannian geometry than the natural one. The specifications below will be motivated by the fact that our quantization procedure will be performed in appropriate pseudo-Riemannian spaces. Thus, from now on we will suppose that the manifold M is a cotangent bundle to a pseudo-Riemannian manifold i.e. $M = T^*Q$ with Q equipped with a metric tensor g. We will also make three additional assumptions:

- 1. The manifold (Q, g) and the Poisson structure are adapted to each other in the sense that the first *n* Darboux coordinates λ^i are coordinates on *Q* while the remaining Darboux coordinates μ_i are fiber coordinates.
- 2. Coordinates λ^i are orthogonal coordinates for the metric g i.e. g and $G = g^{-1}$ are diagonal (but not necessarily flat) in λ^i .
- The base manifold Q is almost covered by a single, open and dense in M, chart with coordinates (λ¹,..., λⁿ).

The matrices A_r in (8.2.3) can be interpreted as (2, 0)-tensors on Q that can be written as

$$A_r = B_r G, \quad r = 1, \ldots, n$$

where B_r are some (1, 1)-tensors on Q. Further, in a very special case, considered in the previous subsection, when $G = A_1$ the tensors B_r are Killing tensors K_r for the metric G. In what follows, we assume that in general $G \neq A_1$.

Suppose we have a Stäckel system written in arbitrary Darboux coordinates (x, p):

$$H_r = \frac{1}{2}p^T A_r p + V_r, \quad r = 1, \dots, n.$$
 (8.2.25)

Given a metric g we can now perform the minimal quantization of our Stäckel system (8.2.25) as described in the previous subsection. As a result we obtain nquantum Hamiltonians

$$\hat{H}_r = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 \nabla_i (B_r G)^{ij} \nabla_j + V_r, \quad r = 1, \dots, n$$
(8.2.26)

acting in the Hilbert space $L^2(Q, \omega_g), \omega_g = |\det g|^{1/2} dx$, where $A_r = B_r G$. Let us rewrite the operators (8.2.26) in separation coordinates (λ , μ) for the classical Stäckel system (8.2.25). We will always assume the conditions 1-3 from the beginning of the subsection. This also means that g and thus G should be diagonal in separation coordinates. Thus, since A_r are diagonal in separation coordinates, so are B_r . Calculating covariant derivatives like in (8.2.8) we obtain

$$\hat{H}_{r} = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} G^{ii} \left(B_{r}^{(i)} \partial_{i}^{2} + (\partial_{i} B_{r}^{(i)}) \partial_{i} - B_{r}^{(i)} \Gamma_{i} \partial_{i} \right) + V_{r}$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} A_{r}^{ii} \left[\partial_{i}^{2} + \left(\frac{\partial_{i} B_{r}^{(i)}}{B_{r}^{(i)}} - \Gamma_{i} \right) \partial_{i} \right] + V_{r}$$
(8.2.27)

where $B_r^{(i)} \equiv (B_r)_i^i$ (no summation). Notice that $\partial_i B_r^{(i)} \neq 0$ for $B_r \neq K_r$. From (8.2.27) it follows that the necessary and sufficient condition for quantum separability of operators \hat{H}_r takes the form

$$\Xi_i = \Xi_i(\lambda^i) \text{ or } \partial_j \Xi_i = 0, \quad j \neq i$$
(8.2.28)

where

$$\Xi_i = \frac{\partial_i B_r^{(i)}}{B_r^{(i)}} - \Gamma_i.$$

The condition (8.2.28) is called the generalized Robertson condition [48]. Indeed, due to (4.3.7), the operators (8.2.27) can be written as

$$\hat{H}_r = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 \left(S_{\gamma}^{-1}\right)_r^i f_i(\lambda^i) \left(\partial_i^2 + \Xi_i(\lambda^i)\partial_i\right) + \left(S_{\gamma}^{-1}\right)_r^i \sigma_i(\lambda^i), \quad r = 1, \dots, n$$

and then application of the Stäckel matrix S_{γ} to the system of eigenvalue problems

$$S_{\gamma} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{H}_{1}\Psi \\ \vdots \\ \hat{H}_{n}\Psi \end{pmatrix} = S_{\gamma} \begin{pmatrix} E_{1}\Psi \\ \vdots \\ E_{n}\Psi \end{pmatrix}$$

separates it to n one-dimensional quantum separation equations

$$\begin{bmatrix} E_1(\lambda^i)^{\gamma_1} + E_2(\lambda^i)^{\gamma_2} + \dots + E_n \end{bmatrix} \psi_i(\lambda^i)$$

= $-\frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 f_i(\lambda^i) \begin{bmatrix} \frac{d^2\psi_i(\lambda^i)}{(d\lambda^i)^2} + \Xi_i(\lambda^i) \frac{d\psi_i(\lambda^i)}{d\lambda^i} \end{bmatrix} + \sigma_i(\lambda^i)\psi_i(\lambda^i),$ (8.2.29)

so that again like in (8.2.1) $\Psi(\lambda^1, \ldots, \lambda^n, E) = \prod_{i=1}^n \psi_i(\lambda^i, E)$ is a common, multiplicatively separable solution of the stationary Schrödinger equations for all \hat{H}_r . The related quantum separation relations are of the form

$$(\lambda^{i})^{\gamma_{1}}\hat{H}_{1} + (\lambda^{i})^{\gamma_{2}}\hat{H}_{2} + \dots + \hat{H}_{n} = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2}f_{i}(\lambda^{i})\left[\frac{d^{2}}{(d\lambda^{i})^{2}} + \Xi_{i}(\lambda^{i})\frac{d}{d\lambda^{i}}\right] + \sigma_{i}(\lambda^{i}).$$

Notice that in both above formulas $\gamma_v = 0$ according to our normalization (4.2.16).

In the special case $G = A_1$ (or, in general, G equal to any A_s) $B_r = K_r$ are Killing tensors of g so in λ -coordinates $\partial_i K_r^{(i)} = 0$. In consequence the condition (8.2.28) reduces to the Robertson condition for quantum separability (8.2.10).

In the previous subsection we proved that for the case $G = A_1$ the only class of Stäckel systems (8.2.15) for which the Robertson condition (8.2.10) is satisfied is the Benenti class. For all other choices of γ_i in (8.2.15) this condition fails. It means that in order to achieve quantum separability of an arbitrary Stäckel system of the type (8.2.15) we have to consider a broader class of admissible metric tensors g used in the quantization procedure.

Let us now go back to an arbitrary Stäckel system of the form (8.2.15) defined by the choice of the constants $\gamma_1 > \gamma_2 > \cdots > \gamma_n = 0$ and the choice of functions f_i, σ_i . Then, according to results from Sect. 4.4.3, the tensors A_r for this system can be written as (4.4.32)

$$A_r = \frac{1}{\varphi} M_r G_{B,f}, \quad r = 1, \dots, n$$
 (8.2.30)

where $G_{B,f}$ is the corresponding Benenti metric

$$G_{B,f} = diag\left(\frac{f_1(\lambda^1)}{\Delta_1}, \dots, \frac{f_n(\lambda^n)}{\Delta_n}\right),$$
(8.2.31)

 M_r are some polynomial functions of the Killing tensors K_r and

$$\varphi = \det \begin{pmatrix} \rho_{m_1-1} \cdots \rho_{m_1-k} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \rho_{m_k-1} \cdots \rho_{m_k-k} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (8.2.32)$$

where we adapt the notation $\rho_0 = 1$ and $\rho_i = 0$ for i < 0 or i > n. Let me remind that constants n_i are those for which the corresponding monomials λ^{n+k-n_i} are missing in the left hand side of (8.2.15), i.e. they are "holes" in the sequence $\{\gamma_1 = n + k - 1, \gamma_2, \dots, \gamma_n = 0\}$ numbered from the left. Besides, k is determined from the equation $\gamma_1 = n + k - 1$. Note that if such "holes" are absent (as in the Benenti case) then $\varphi = 1$. For example, if the left hand side of the Stäckel system is $H_1\lambda^4 + H_2\lambda + H_3$, then $n = 3, k = 2, m_1 = 2, m_2 = 3$ and the function φ becomes:

$$\varphi = \det \begin{pmatrix} \rho_1 & \rho_0 \\ \rho_2 & \rho_1 \end{pmatrix} = (\lambda^1)^2 + (\lambda^2)^2 + (\lambda^3)^2 + \lambda^1 \lambda^2 + \lambda^1 \lambda^3 + \lambda^2 \lambda^3.$$

Consider thus a Stäckel system (8.2.15) defined by a fixed choice of $\gamma_1 > \gamma_2 > \cdots > \gamma_n = 0$ and the choice of f_i, σ_i . We will now search for the metric *G* that satisfies the generalized Robertson condition (8.2.28) for this system. Due to the structure (8.2.30) of A_r we look for *G* in the form

$$G = u^{-1}(\lambda)G_{B,\theta} \tag{8.2.33}$$

where $G_{B,\theta}$ is the Benenti metric given by (8.2.31) with *n* arbitrary functions $\theta_i(\lambda^i)$:

$$G_{B,\theta} = diag\left(\frac{\theta_1(\lambda^i)}{\Delta_1}, \dots, \frac{\theta_n(\lambda^n)}{\Delta_n}\right)$$
(8.2.34)

and where u is a function on Q. Albeit this choice is by no means the most general one it will prove to be sufficiently general. The tensors B_r become in this case

$$B_r = \frac{u}{\varphi} M_r G_{B,f} g_{B,\theta}$$

where φ is again given by (8.2.32) and where as usual $g_{B,\theta} = G_{B,\theta}^{-1}$. Plugging this into (8.2.28) we get

$$\frac{\partial_i B_r^{(i)}}{B_r^{(i)}} - \Gamma_i = \frac{\kappa_i'(\lambda^i)}{\kappa_i(\lambda^i)}, \quad = 1, \dots, n \tag{8.2.35}$$

where κ_i are arbitrary functions of one variable (the right hand side is just a convenient for us way of writing an arbitrary function of λ_i). Since for (8.2.33)

$$\Gamma_i = \left(\Gamma_{B,\theta}\right)_i + \left(1 - \frac{1}{2}n\right)\frac{\partial_i u}{u}$$

with $(\Gamma_{B,\theta})_i$ being the metrically contracted Christoffel symbols for the metric $G_{B,\theta}$, the formula (8.2.35) takes the form

$$\frac{n}{2}\frac{\partial_i u}{u} - \frac{\partial_i \varphi}{\varphi} = \frac{\kappa'_i(\lambda^i)}{\kappa_i(\lambda^i)} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{\theta'_i(\lambda^i)}{\theta_i(\lambda^i)} - \frac{f'_i(\lambda^i)}{f_i(\lambda^i)}, \quad = 1, \dots, n$$

which has a solution

$$u = \varphi^{\frac{2}{n}} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \left(\frac{|\theta_i| \kappa_i^2}{f_i^2} \right)^{\frac{1}{n}}$$
(8.2.36)

In order to receive a solution as simple as possible we choose κ_i so that

$$\frac{\left|\theta_{i}\right|\kappa_{i}^{2}}{f_{i}^{2}} = 1$$

(notice that θ_i are still arbitrary) yielding (8.2.36) in the form $u = \varphi^{\frac{2}{n}}$. Thus, applying the procedure of minimal quantization, with

$$g = \varphi^{\frac{2}{n}} g_{B,\theta} \tag{8.2.37}$$

to the Stäckel system (8.2.15) we obtain a quantum system (8.2.26) in separation coordinates

$$\hat{H}_r = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 \sum_{i=1}^n (S^{-1})_r^i \left[f(\lambda^i)\partial_i^2 + \left(\frac{df(\lambda^i)}{d\lambda^i} - \frac{1}{2}\frac{f(\lambda^i)}{\theta(\lambda^i)}\frac{d\theta(\lambda^i)}{d\lambda^i}\right)\partial_i \right] + \sum_{i=1}^n (S^{-1})_r^i \sigma(\lambda^i),$$

with separation equations of the form

$$\begin{split} & \left[E_1(\lambda^i)^{\gamma_1} + E_2(\lambda^i)^{\gamma_2} + \dots + E_n \right] \psi_i(\lambda^i) \\ &= -\frac{1}{2} \hbar^2 f_i(\lambda^i) \left[\frac{d^2 \psi_i(\lambda^i)}{(d\lambda^i)^2} + \left(\frac{f_i'(\lambda^i)}{f_i(\lambda^i)} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{\theta_i'(\lambda^i)}{\theta_i(\lambda^i)} \right) \frac{d\psi_i(\lambda^i)}{d\lambda^i} \right] + \sigma_i(\lambda^i) \psi_i(\lambda^i), \end{split}$$

where i = 1, ..., n. Notice that in particular, we also have an infinite family of separable minimal quantizations of systems from the Beneti class in which case $\varphi = 1$. The most natural choice of the metric (8.2.37) is the one when $\theta_i = f_i$, then

8.2 Quantum Integrability and Stationary Quantum Separability

Hamiltonians (8.2.2) take the form

$$\hat{H}_{r} = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2}\sum_{i=1}^{n} (S^{-1})_{r}^{i} \left[f(\lambda^{i})\partial_{i}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{df(\lambda^{i})}{d\lambda^{i}}\partial_{i} \right] + \sum_{i=1}^{n} (S^{-1})_{r}^{i}\sigma(\lambda^{i}),$$
(8.2.38)

and separation equations (8.2.2) are

$$\begin{bmatrix} E_1(\lambda^i)^{\gamma_1} + E_2(\lambda^i)^{\gamma_2} + \dots + E_n \end{bmatrix} \psi_i(\lambda^i)$$

= $-\frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 f_i(\lambda^i) \begin{bmatrix} \frac{d^2\psi_i(\lambda^i)}{(d\lambda^i)^2} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{f_i'(\lambda^i)}{f_i(\lambda^i)}\frac{d\psi_i(\lambda^i)}{d\lambda^i} \end{bmatrix} + \sigma_i(\lambda^i)\psi_i(\lambda^i).$ (8.2.39)

Observation 21 There exists an infinite family of separable quantizations of a Stäckel system (8.2.15) parametrized by n arbitrary functions θ_i of one variable: any Stäckel system (8.2.15) can be separably quantized in the metric (8.2.37) (note that this metric is conformally flat in the case when $g_{B,\theta}$ is flat). Moreover, since for the Benenti class $\varphi = 1$, any Stäckel system from the Benenti class (8.2.18) can be separably quantized in any other metric of the Benenti class (8.2.34), including in particular the subclass of flat metrics.

Now, the question arises: whether all these separable quantizations are independent from each other? We answer this question in the next subsection.

8.2.3 Minimal Quantization in Different Hilbert Spaces

Our goal now is to relate two minimal quantizations induced by different metric tensors. We will need this in order to be able to write systems of commuting operators in various Hilbert spaces with measures induced by different metrics and in particular to relate different separable minimal quantizations.

Consider thus two different metric tensors g and \bar{g} . As usual, we will denote their contravariant forms by G and \bar{G} , respectively. Each of these metrics induces a minimal quantization (described in Sect. 8.1.6) by morphisms S and \bar{S} , respectively, where (cf. (6.1.104) with a = b = 1)

$$S = 1 + \frac{\hbar^2}{4!} \left[3(\Gamma^i_{lj}\Gamma^l_{ik} + R_{jk})\partial_{p_j}\partial_{p_k} + 3\Gamma^i_{jk}\partial_{x_i}\partial_{p_j}\partial_{p_k} + (2\Gamma^i_{nl}\Gamma^n_{jk} - \Gamma^i_{jk,l})p_i\partial_{p_j}\partial_{p_k}\partial_{p_l} - 3\partial_{p_j}(\partial_{x_j} + \Gamma^i_{jl}p_i\partial_{p_l})\partial_{p_k}(\partial_{x_k} + \Gamma^r_{kn}p_r\partial_{p_n}) + O(\hbar^4) \right],$$

$$(8.2.40)$$

and where \bar{S} is given by an analogous expression with Γ_{jk}^i replaced by the Christoffel symbols $\bar{\Gamma}_{jk}^i$ of the Levi-Civita connection induced by \bar{g} . For a (classical) observable of the form

$$H(x, p) = \frac{1}{2}A^{ij}p_ip_j + V$$

its minimal quantization with respect to g is given by

$$\hat{H} = (S^{-1}H)_W(\hat{x}, \hat{p}) = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 \nabla_i A^{ij} \nabla_j + V$$
(8.2.41)

and acts in $L^2(Q, \omega_g)$, while its quantization with respect to \bar{g} is given by a similar expression involving $\bar{\nabla}_i$. These are in general two different operators, acting in two different Hilbert spaces: $L^2(Q, \omega_g)$ and $L^2(Q, \omega_{\bar{g}})$, respectively. The Hilbert spaces $L^2(Q, \omega_g)$ and $L^2(Q, \omega_{\bar{g}})$ are however isometric, with the isometry $L^2(Q, \omega_g) \rightarrow L^2(Q, \omega_{\bar{g}})$ given by

$$\bar{\Psi} = U\Psi = \frac{|\det g|^{1/4}}{|\det \bar{g}|^{1/4}}\Psi$$
(8.2.42)

where $\Psi \in L^2(Q, \omega_g)$ and $\overline{\Psi} \in L^2(Q, \omega_{\overline{g}})$. The isometry (8.2.42) induces a similarity map between operators in both spaces: it maps an operator \hat{F} acting in $L^2(Q, \omega_g)$ to the operator

$$\hat{\bar{F}} = U\hat{F}U^{-1}$$
 (8.2.43)

acting in $L^2(Q, \omega_{\bar{g}})$.

Suppose that the operator \hat{H} in the Hilbert space $L^2(Q, \omega_g)$ is given by (8.2.41). Then the operator $U\hat{H}U^{-1}$, acting in the Hilbert space $L^2(Q, \omega_{\bar{g}})$, has the form

$$U\hat{H}U^{-1} = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 \bar{\nabla}_i A^{ij} \bar{\nabla}_j + V(x) + \hbar^2 W$$
(8.2.44)

with function W given by

$$W = \frac{1}{8}A^{ij} \left(\Gamma^k_{ik} \Gamma^s_{js} - \bar{\Gamma}^k_{ik} \bar{\Gamma}^s_{js} \right) + \frac{1}{4} \partial_i \left(A^{ij} \left(\Gamma^k_{jk} - \bar{\Gamma}^k_{jk} \right) \right).$$
(8.2.45)

We will call the term W(x) the *quantum correction term* as it describes what happens to the operator (8.2.41) transformed from $L^2(Q, \omega_g)$ to $L^2(Q, \omega_{\bar{g}})$.

One can prove the relation (8.2.44) by direct calculations of $U\hat{H}U^{-1}$. As

$$U\hat{H}U^{-1} = U\left(-\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2}\nabla_{i}A^{ij}\nabla_{j} + V\right)U^{-1} = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2}U\nabla_{i}A^{ij}\nabla_{j}U^{-1} + V$$

and using the fact that

$$\frac{\partial U}{\partial x^i} = \frac{1}{2} U \left(\Gamma_{ik}^k - \bar{\Gamma}_{ik}^k \right),$$

after some calculations we arrive at (8.2.44)–(8.2.45).

Alternatively, the similarity map (8.2.43) can be calculated using the automorphism $\bar{S}S^{-1}$. From our general theory it follows that quantizing the observable H with respect to g yields an operator that is mapped through (8.2.43) on the operator that we obtain by quantizing the observable $H' = \bar{S}S^{-1}H$ with respect to \bar{g} . This yields that the operator (8.2.41) attains in the space in $L^2(Q, \omega_{\bar{g}})$ the form

$$U\hat{H}U^{-1} = (\bar{S}^{-1}H')_{W}(\hat{\bar{x}}, \hat{\bar{p}}) = (\bar{S}^{-1}\bar{S}S^{-1}H)_{W}(\hat{\bar{x}}, \hat{\bar{p}}) = (S^{-1}H)_{W}(\hat{\bar{x}}, \hat{\bar{p}}).$$
(8.2.46)

Let us thus explicitly calculate the operator on the right hand side of (8.2.46). Due to (8.2.40) and using the fact that *H* is second order in momenta (so that the only terms in S^{-1} that act on *H* are or order up to \hbar^2), after some calculations we obtain

$$S^{-1}H = H + \frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 \left(\frac{1}{4}A^{ij}_{,ij} + \frac{1}{2}A^{ij}_{,i}\Gamma^k_{jk} + \frac{1}{2}A^{ij}\Gamma^k_{ik,j} + \frac{1}{4}A^{ij}\Gamma^k_{ik}\Gamma^l_{jl} \right) = \bar{S}^{-1}H + \hbar^2 W$$

with

$$W = \frac{1}{2} \left[\frac{1}{2} A^{ij}_{,i} \left(\Gamma^k_{jk} - \bar{\Gamma}^k_{jk} \right) + \frac{1}{2} A^{ij} \left(\Gamma^k_{ik,j} - \bar{\Gamma}^k_{ik,j} \right) + \frac{1}{4} A^{ij} \left(\Gamma^k_{ik} \Gamma^l_{jl} - \bar{\Gamma}^k_{ik} \bar{\Gamma}^l_{jl} \right) \right]$$

coinciding with W(x) in (8.2.45).

The relation (8.2.45) can be also written in a covariant form as

$$W = \frac{1}{8} \left(A^{ij}_{\ ;i} G^{ks} g_{ks;j} + A^{ij} G^{ks} g_{ks;ij} + A^{ij} G^{ks}_{\ ;i} g_{ks;j} + \frac{1}{4} A^{ij} G^{kr} g_{kr;i} G^{sl} g_{sl;j} \right)$$
(8.2.47)

where the covariant derivatives are taken with respect to the connection $\overline{\nabla}_i$. The reader can find the proof of formula (8.2.47) in [49].

In separation coordinates formulas simplify drastically. We have

$$\hat{H}_{r} = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2}\nabla_{i}A_{r}^{ii}\nabla_{i} + V = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2}A_{r}^{ii}[\partial_{i}^{2} + \Xi_{i}\partial_{i}] + V_{r}$$
(8.2.48)

and then

$$\bar{\Psi} = U\Psi = U\prod_{i=1}^{n} \psi(\lambda_i)$$
(8.2.49)
and

$$\hat{H}_{r} = U\hat{H}_{r}U^{-1} = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2}A_{r}^{ii}\left[\partial_{i}^{2} + \left(\Xi_{i} - 2\frac{\partial_{i}U}{U}\right)\partial_{i}\right] + V_{r} + \hbar^{2}W_{r}$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2}A_{r}^{ii}\left[\partial_{i}^{2} + \overline{\Xi}_{i}\partial_{i}\right] + V_{r} + \hbar^{2}W_{r} \qquad (8.2.50)$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2}\bar{\nabla}_{i}A_{r}^{ii}\bar{\nabla}_{i} + V_{r} + \hbar^{2}W_{r},$$

where

$$W_r = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^n A_r^{ii} \left[2\left(\frac{\partial_i U}{U}\right)^2 - \frac{\partial_i^2 U}{U} + \Xi_i \frac{\partial_i U}{U} \right].$$
(8.2.51)

We will say that operators (8.2.50) are *R*-separable, as their eigenfunctions are of the form (8.2.49), where $U(\lambda)$ is a known function of λ and $\psi(\lambda_i)$ solve quantum separation equations (8.2.2). The reader can find more about R-separability in a historical context in the last subsection.

In order to compare separable quantizations (8.2.2) and (8.2.38) and check whether they are unitary equivalent or not, consider the operators

$$\hat{H}_{r} = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (S^{-1})_{r}^{i} \left(f(\lambda^{i})\partial_{i}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{df(\lambda^{i})}{d\lambda^{i}} \partial_{i} \right) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} (S^{-1})_{r}^{i} \sigma(\lambda^{i}), \quad (8.2.52)$$

$$\hat{H}_r = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 \sum_{i=1}^n (S^{-1})_r^i \left[f(\lambda^i)\partial_i^2 + \left(\frac{df(\lambda^i)}{d\lambda^i} - \frac{1}{2}\frac{f(\lambda^i)}{\bar{f}(\lambda^i)}\frac{d\bar{f}(\lambda^i)}{d\lambda^i}\right)\partial_i \right] + \sum_{i=1}^n (S^{-1})_r^i \bar{\sigma}(\lambda^i),$$
(8.2.53)

(for simplicity we assume that $f_i(\lambda^i) = f(\lambda^i)$ and $\bar{f}_i(\lambda^i) = \bar{f}(\lambda^i)$) and the associated eigenvalue problems

$$\hat{H}_r \Psi = E_r \Psi, \quad \hat{\bar{H}}_r \bar{\Psi} = \bar{E}_r \bar{\Psi}, \quad r = 1, \dots, n,$$

where $\Psi(\lambda^1, \ldots, \lambda^n) = \prod_{k=1}^n \psi(\lambda^k)$, $\bar{\Psi}(\lambda^1, \ldots, \lambda^n) = \prod_{k=1}^n \bar{\psi}(\lambda^k)$, and $\psi(\lambda^k)$ and $\bar{\psi}(\lambda^k)$ are *n* copies of one-dimensional eigenvalue problems

$$\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} E_{i}\lambda^{\gamma_{i}}\right)\psi(\lambda) = -\frac{\hbar^{2}}{2}\left(f(\lambda)\frac{d^{2}\psi(\lambda)}{d\lambda^{2}} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{df(\lambda)}{d\lambda}\frac{d\psi(\lambda)}{d\lambda}\right) + \sigma(\lambda)\psi(\lambda),$$
(8.2.54)

428

$$\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \bar{E}_{i} \lambda^{\gamma_{i}}\right) \bar{\psi}(\lambda) = -\frac{\hbar^{2}}{2} \left[f(\lambda) \frac{d^{2} \bar{\psi}(\lambda)}{d\lambda^{2}} + \left(\frac{df(\lambda)}{d\lambda} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{f(\lambda)}{\bar{f}(\lambda)} \frac{d\bar{f}(\lambda)}{d\lambda}\right) \frac{d\bar{\psi}(\lambda)}{d\lambda} \right] + \bar{\sigma}(\lambda) \bar{\psi}(\lambda).$$
(8.2.55)

It is easily checked that we also have quantum separation relations

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} \lambda^{\gamma_k} \hat{H}_k = -\frac{1}{2} \hbar^2 \left(f(\lambda) \frac{d^2}{d\lambda^2} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{df(\lambda)}{d\lambda} \frac{d}{d\lambda} \right) + \sigma(\lambda),$$

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} \lambda^{\gamma_k} \hat{H}_k = -\frac{1}{2} \hbar^2 \left[f(\lambda) \frac{d^2}{d\lambda^2} + \left(\frac{df(\lambda)}{d\lambda} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{f(\lambda)}{\bar{f}(\lambda)} \frac{d\bar{f}(\lambda)}{d\lambda} \right) \frac{d}{d\lambda} \right] + \bar{\sigma}(\lambda),$$

where, just as in (8.2.54) and (8.2.55), $\lambda = \lambda^{i}$, i = 1, ..., n.

Moreover, we see from (8.2.52) and (8.2.53) that for a suitable choice of $\bar{\sigma}(\lambda)$ the operators \hat{H}_r and \hat{H}_r are related by a transformation (8.2.43)

$$\hat{\bar{H}}_r = U\hat{H}_r U^{-1}.$$
(8.2.56)

Indeed, for

$$U = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \left(\frac{\bar{f}(\lambda^{i})}{f(\lambda^{i})} \right)^{1/4},$$

relation (8.2.56) holds under condition

$$\bar{\sigma}(\lambda^{i}) = \sigma(\lambda^{i}) - \frac{\hbar^{2}}{2} \left(f(\lambda^{i}) \frac{d^{2}v(\lambda^{i})}{d(\lambda^{i})^{2}} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{df(\lambda^{i})}{d\lambda^{i}} \frac{dv(\lambda^{i})}{d\lambda^{i}} \right),$$

where

$$v(\lambda^i) = \left(\frac{f(\lambda^i)}{\bar{f}(\lambda^i)}\right)^{1/4}.$$

In consequence, the Hamiltonians (8.2.52) and (8.2.53) are the avatars of the same operator, acting on different Hilbert spaces. Notice that if we impose the additional constraint $\bar{\sigma}(\lambda) = \sigma(\lambda)$, the Hamiltonians \hat{H}_r and \hat{H}_r become the avatars of the same operator if we choose $\bar{f}(\lambda)$ so that

$$f(\lambda)\frac{d^2v(\lambda)}{d\lambda^2} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{df(\lambda)}{d\lambda}\frac{dv(\lambda)}{d\lambda} = 0.$$

It means that

$$v(\lambda) = \int f(\lambda)^{-\frac{1}{2}} d\lambda \to \bar{f}(\lambda) = a \frac{f(\lambda)}{\left[\int (f(\lambda))^{-1/2} d\lambda\right]^4},$$

where *a* is an arbitrary constant. Of course, the above results are readily generalized to the case when our separation relations are not copies of the same separation curve.

Now, let us come back to the question from the end of previous subsection. For $\bar{f}(\lambda) = \theta(\lambda), g = \varphi^{\frac{2}{n}} g_{B,f}, \bar{g} = \varphi^{\frac{2}{n}} g_{B,\theta}$, observing that Hilbert spaces $L^2(Q, \omega_g)$ and $L^2(Q, \omega_{\bar{g}})$ are isometric, with the isometry given by

$$U = \frac{|\det g|^{1/4}}{|\det \bar{g}|^{1/4}} = \prod_{k=1}^{n} \left(\frac{\theta_k(\lambda^k)}{f_k(\lambda^k)}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}},$$

the avatar of operator (8.2.38) from $L^2(Q, \omega_g)$ is the operator (8.2.2) from $L^2(Q, \omega_{\bar{g}})$ with

$$\theta(\lambda) = a \frac{f(\lambda)}{\left[\int (f(\lambda))^{-1/2} d\lambda\right]^4}.$$

Other separable quantizations (8.2.2) are not equivalent to the (8.2.38) ones.

Observe that there is a distinguished class of separable quantizations related to flat metrics $g_{B,\theta}$. Then, for the Benenti class we are dealing with the class of flat minimal quantizations [48] and for other classes, with conformally flat minimal quantizations. We consider them in the next subsection.

8.2.4 Quantum Integrability of Stäckel Systems in Various Hilbert Spaces

We remind the reader that in [18] the authors derived the necessary and sufficient condition for commutativity of quantum Hamiltonians \hat{H}_r of the form (8.2.4) (and with $A_1 = G$) called the pre-Robertson condition (8.2.24), which took the form

$$\partial_i^2 \Gamma_j - \Gamma_i \partial_i \Gamma_j = 0, \quad i \neq j.$$

In our case metric G is not related with any A_r , so analogous calculations to these from [18] lead to the following necessary and sufficient condition for commutativity of \hat{H}_r , which we call the generalized pre-Robertson condition [48]

$$\partial_i^2 \Xi_j - \Xi_i \partial_i \Xi_j = 0, \quad i \neq j.$$
 (8.2.57)

Let us consider a Stäckel system H_r , r = 1, ..., n of the form (8.2.15) and let us perform the procedure of minimal quantization of this system in the metric G given by (8.2.37). We obtain then the quantum separable system consisting of n operators \hat{H}_r acting on the Hilbert space $L^2(Q, \omega_g)$, $\omega_g = |\det g|^{1/2} d\lambda$. Since the generalized Robertson condition (8.2.28) implies the generalized pre-Robertson condition (8.2.57) we conclude that this system is also quantum integrable: $[\hat{H}_r, \hat{H}_s] = 0$. Using (8.2.44) we are able to write operators \hat{H}_r in another metric \bar{G} i.e. in the Hilbert space $L^2(Q, \omega_{\bar{g}})$ which yields new quantum operators $\hat{H}_r, r = 1, ..., n$ that constitute again quantum integrable and quantum R-separable system. Due to the theory developed in the previous subsection we know, that we can equally well take the classical Hamiltonians H_r amended by quantum correction terms, i.e. the functions $H_r + \hbar^2 W_r$ with W_r given by (8.2.45) (or equivalently by (8.2.47)) and minimally quantize them in the metric \bar{G} as this yields the same quantum integrable system $\hat{H}_r, r = 1, ..., n$.

In Sect. 4.4 we demonstrated that any Stäckel system of the class (8.2.15) can be constructed by an appropriate Stäckel transform of a suitably chosen flat Stäckel system from the Benenti class. Moreover, in Sect. 5.5 we explicitly constructed flat coordinates for any flat Stäckel system. Therefore we are able to write down our original Stäckel system H_r , r = 1, ..., n in flat coordinates of the metric \bar{G} of the form (8.2.34) (\bar{G} is flat as soon the (4.3.2) is satisfied). In this specific case, if we apply the standard Weyl quantization (minimal flat quantization) to the Stäckel system $H_r + \hbar^2 W_r$ we will obtain a quantum integrable system. One can also say, alternatively, that if we want to avoid quantum correction terms, we should quantize the original system H_r , r = 1, ..., n not by the Weyl quantization but in a suitably chosen minimal quantization with respect to conformally flat metric G. In what follows we will also need a specification of this correction term to the following situation: suppose that $G = \frac{1}{u}G_{B,\theta}$ (where u = u(x)) where the metric $G_{B,\theta}$ is flat and suppose that $\bar{G} = G_{B,\theta}$. Then the correction term (8.2.47) attains the form

$$W(x) = \frac{n}{8}\partial_i \left[A^{ij} \frac{(\partial_j u)}{u} \right] + \frac{n^2}{32} A^{ij} \frac{(\partial_i u) (\partial_j u)}{u^2}.$$
(8.2.58)

In papers [148, 149] the authors presented some ad hoc calculations generating quantum correction terms that guarantee integrability of quantum systems obtained through the Weyl quantization of some Hamiltonian systems. The presented theory shows how to construct these quantum correction terms in a systematic way (albeit within the class of Stäckel systems not considered in [148, 149]). We will illustrate this on two examples below. It is important to stress that the presented systems cannot be separably quantized in the frame of the classical Robertson-Eisenhart formalism.

Example 8.5 Consider the Stäckel system (8.2.15) for n = 3 given by the separation curve of the form:

$$H_1\lambda^3 + H_2\lambda + H_3 = \frac{1}{2}\lambda\mu^2 + \lambda^4, \quad i = 1, 2, 3$$
 (8.2.59)

so that $\gamma_1 = 3$, $\gamma_2 = 1$, $\gamma_3 = 0$ with $f(\lambda^i) = \lambda^i$ and $\sigma(\lambda^i) = (\lambda^i)^4$. In this case $\varphi = \rho_1(\lambda) = -(\lambda^1 + \lambda^2 + \lambda^3)$. Consider also the corresponding metric $G_{B,f}$ given by (8.2.34). This metric is flat. In the coordinates *x*, *y*, *z* defined through (cf. 4.3.18))

$$\rho_1 \equiv -(\lambda^1 + \lambda^2 + \lambda^3) = x$$

$$\rho_2 \equiv \lambda^1 \lambda^2 + \lambda^1 \lambda^3 + \lambda^2 \lambda^3 = y + \frac{1}{4}x$$

$$\rho_3 \equiv -\lambda^1 \lambda^2 \lambda^3 = -\frac{1}{4}z$$
(8.2.60)

the metric $G_{B,f}$ reads

$$G_{B,f} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \ 1 \ 0 \\ 1 \ 0 \ 0 \\ 0 \ 0 \ 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

so $\varphi = x$ and (x, y, z) are flat non-orthogonal coordinates for $G_{B,f}$. Solving the relations (8.2.59) with respect to the Hamiltonians H_i and passing to the variables (x, y, z) we receive $H_r = p^T A_r p + V_r$ where $p = (p_x, p_y, p_z)^T$ and where tensors A_r have the form

$$A_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\frac{1}{x} & 0 \\ -\frac{1}{x} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -\frac{1}{x} \end{pmatrix}, \quad A_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \frac{1}{4}x - \frac{y}{x} & 0 \\ \frac{1}{4}x - \frac{y}{x} & -y & -\frac{1}{2}z \\ 0 & -\frac{1}{2}z & \frac{3}{4}x - \frac{y}{x} \end{pmatrix},$$
$$A_{3} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{1}{4}\frac{z}{x} & -\frac{1}{2}z \\ \frac{1}{4}\frac{z}{x} & \frac{1}{4}z & -\frac{1}{4}xz \\ -\frac{1}{2}z - \frac{1}{4}xz & \frac{1}{4}x + y + \frac{1}{4}\frac{z}{x} \end{pmatrix}$$

with the corresponding rational potentials

$$V_1 = -\frac{3}{4}x + \frac{y}{x},$$

$$V_2 = \frac{1}{16}x + \frac{1}{2}xy + \frac{1}{4}z + \frac{y}{x},$$

$$V_3 = -\frac{1}{16}xz - \frac{1}{4}\frac{yz}{x}.$$

From the presented theory it follows that we can perform a separable quantization of this system in the conformally flat metric $G = \frac{1}{u}G_{B,f}$ (which means that we choose $\theta = f$) with $u = \varphi^{\frac{2}{n}} = x^{\frac{2}{3}}$. We obtain three commuting operators

$$\widehat{H}_r = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 \nabla_i A_r^{ij} \nabla_j + V_r \tag{8.2.61}$$

(where ∇_i is the connection defined by *G*),acting in the Hilbert space $L^2(Q, \omega_g) = L^2(Q, |x| dx dy dz)$ ($\omega_g = |\det g|^{1/2} dx dy dz = |u^{3/2}| dx dy dz = |x| dx dy dz$). In the separation coordinates (λ, μ) the separation equations (8.2.39) for \hat{H}_r attain the form of three copies of

$$(E_1\lambda^3 + E_2\lambda + E_3)\psi(\lambda) = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 \left(\lambda \frac{d^2\psi(\lambda)}{d\lambda^2} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{d\psi(\lambda)}{d\lambda}\right) + \lambda^4\psi(\lambda). \quad (8.2.62)$$

Let us now rewrite our operators (8.2.61) in the Hilbert space $L^2(Q, \omega_{\bar{g}}) = L^2(Q, dxdydz)$ ($\omega_{\bar{g}} = |\det \bar{g}|^{1/2} dxdydz = dxdydz$) with the flat metric $\bar{G} = G_{B,f}$. From our theory it follows that a suitable way to do it is to quantize our Hamiltonians H_r directly in the metric \bar{G} after amending them by the quantum correction terms W_i given by (8.2.58)

$$W_1 = 0, W_2 = -\frac{3}{8}\frac{1}{x^2}, W_3 = -\frac{1}{8}\frac{1}{x}$$

One can check by direct calculations that the operators

$$\widehat{\hat{H}}_{r} = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2}\partial_{i}A_{r}^{ij}\partial_{j} + \hbar^{2}W_{r} + V_{r}, \quad r = 1, \dots, n$$
(8.2.63)

do indeed commute, thus constituting a quantum integrable system. The operators (8.2.63) are however not quantum separable, contrary to the operators (8.2.61), but are R-separable. It means that in separation coordinates

$$\widehat{\bar{H}}_r \bar{\Psi}(\lambda) = E_r \bar{\Psi}(\lambda), \quad \bar{\Psi}(\lambda) = U \Psi = (\lambda^1 + \lambda^2 + \lambda^3)^{\frac{1}{2}} \psi(\lambda^1) \psi(\lambda^2) \psi(\lambda^3),$$

and $\psi(\lambda^i)$ solves (8.2.62).

Example 8.6 In our second example we consider the Stäckel system generated by the following separation curve

$$H_1\lambda^3 + H_2\lambda^2 + H_3 = \frac{1}{2}\lambda\mu^2 + \lambda^4,$$

so that this time $\gamma_1 = 3$, $\gamma_2 = 2$ and $\gamma_3 = 0$ but still with $f(\lambda^i) = \lambda^i$ and $\sigma(\lambda^i) = (\lambda^i)^4$. In this case $\varphi = \rho_2(\lambda) = \lambda^1 \lambda^2 + \lambda^1 \lambda^3 + \lambda^2 \lambda^3$. We consider again the same metric $G_{B,f}$ with the same flat coordinates (x, y, z) given by (8.2.60).

This time the tensors A_r have the form

$$A_{1} = \frac{1}{\rho_{2}} \begin{pmatrix} -1 & -\frac{1}{2}x & 0\\ -\frac{1}{2}x & y & \frac{1}{2}z\\ 0 & \frac{1}{2}z & -x \end{pmatrix},$$

$$A_{2} = \frac{1}{\rho_{2}} \begin{pmatrix} -x & -\frac{1}{4}x^{2} + y & 0\\ -\frac{1}{4}x^{2} + y & yx & \frac{1}{2}xz\\ 0 & \frac{1}{2}xz & -\frac{3}{4}x^{2} + y \end{pmatrix},$$

$$A_{3} = \frac{1}{4\rho_{2}} \begin{pmatrix} z^{2} & \frac{1}{2}z^{2}x & -\frac{1}{2}\left(x^{2} + 4y\right)z\\ \frac{1}{2}z^{2}x & \frac{1}{4}z^{2}x^{2} & -\frac{1}{4}z\left(x^{3} + 4yx + 2z^{2}\right)\\ -\frac{1}{2}\left(x^{2} + 4y\right)z - \frac{1}{4}z\left(x^{3} + 4yx + 2z^{2}\right)\frac{1}{4}x^{4} + 2x^{2}y + 4y^{2} + z^{2}x \end{pmatrix}$$

where $\rho_2 = y + \frac{1}{4}x$, while the potentials are

$$V_{1} = -\frac{1}{4\rho_{2}(x)} (x + 4xy + z) = -\frac{x + 4xy + z}{x + 4y},$$

$$V_{2} = -\frac{1}{4\rho_{2}(x)} \left(\frac{1}{4}x + 2xy + xz + 4y\right) = -\frac{\frac{1}{4}x + 2xy + xz + 4y}{x + 4y},$$

$$V_{3} = \frac{z}{16\rho_{2}(x)} = \frac{1}{4}\frac{z}{x + 4y}.$$

Now, let us perform a separable quantization in the conformally flat metric $G = \frac{1}{u}G_{B,f}$ with $u = \varphi^{\frac{2}{n}} = \left(y + \frac{1}{4}x\right)^{\frac{2}{3}}$. We obtain again three commuting operators

$$\widehat{H}_r = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 \nabla_i A_r^{ij} \nabla_j + V_r$$

(where ∇_i operators are related with the connection defined by *G*),acting in the Hilbert space $L^2(Q, |\rho_2| dx dy dz)$, while the separation equations (8.2.39) for \hat{H}_r attain the form of three copies of

$$(E_1\lambda^3 + E_2\lambda^2 + E_3)\psi(\lambda) = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 \left(\lambda \frac{d^2\psi(\lambda)}{d\lambda^2} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{d\psi(\lambda)}{d\lambda}\right) + \lambda^4\psi(\lambda),$$

with the same right hand side as in the previous example. Rewriting our operators (8.2.61) in the Hilbert space $L^2(Q, dxdydz)$ with quantization in the flat metric $\overline{G} = G_{B,f}$ leads to the following correction terms $W_i(x, y, z)$

$$W_1 = \frac{1}{16} \frac{5x - 4y}{\rho_2^3(x)},$$

$$W_2 = \frac{1}{32} \frac{7x - 20xy}{\rho_2^3(x)},$$

$$W_3 = -\frac{1}{128} \frac{x + 8xy + 13xz + 16xy + 4yz}{\rho_2^3(x)}.$$

Again, the operators

$$\widehat{H}_r = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 \partial_i A_r^{ij} \partial_j + \hbar^2 W_r + V_r, \quad r = 1, \dots, n$$
(8.2.64)

commute, as it can be checked for example in Maple. Operators (8.2.64) are R-separable and in separation coordinates

$$\widehat{\bar{H}}_r \bar{\Psi}(\lambda) = E_r \bar{\Psi}(\lambda), \quad \bar{\Psi}(\lambda) = (\lambda^1 \lambda^2 + \lambda^1 \lambda^3 + \lambda^2 \lambda^3)^{\frac{1}{2}} \psi(\lambda^1) \psi(\lambda^2) \psi(\lambda^3),$$

where $\psi(\lambda^i)$ solves (8.6).

8.2.5 Quantization of Superintegrable Stäckel Systems

In analogy to classical mechanics, a quantum maximally superintegrable Hamiltonian is a self-adjoint differential operator \hat{h}_1 acting in an appropriate Hilbert space of functions on the configuration space Q (square integrable with respect to some metric) belonging to a set of n commuting self-adjoint differential operators $\hat{h}_1, \ldots, \hat{h}_n$ acting in the same Hilbert space (so that $[\hat{h}_i, \hat{h}_j] = 0$ for all $i, j = 1, \ldots n$) and such that it also commutes with an additional set of n - 1 differential operators $\hat{h}_{n+1}, \ldots, \hat{h}_{2n-1}$ of the finite order. Besides, it is required that all the operators $\hat{h}_1, \ldots, \hat{h}_{2n-1}$ are algebraically independent. There is an extended literature devoted to the construction and investigation of quantum superintegrable systems [67, 138, 165, 167, 169, 221, 229] (see also references of the review paper [200]).

This subsection is devoted to separable quantizations of superintegrable Stäckel systems that were considered in the classical setting in Sects. 4.3.3 and 4.4.4. First, let us formulate the quantum analog of the classical commutator (4.1.8). Suppose that \hat{h} is given by

$$\hat{h} = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 \nabla_i A^{ij}(x) \nabla_j + V(x) = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 \frac{1}{\sqrt{|g|}} \partial_i \sqrt{|g|} A^{ij}(x) \partial_j + V(x)$$
(8.2.65)

and that $Y = y^i(x)\nabla_i$ is a vector field on the Riemannian manifold (Q, g). Then

$$\left[\hat{h}, Y\right] = \frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 \nabla_i \left(L_Y A\right)^{ij} \nabla_j + \frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 A^{ij} \left(\nabla_j \nabla_k y^k\right) \nabla_i - Y(U)$$

One proves this relation by a direct computation. Thus, a sufficient condition for $[\hat{h}, Y] = c$ is satisfied when Y is a Killing vector for both A and g and if moreover U is constant along Y, that is when

$$L_Y A = 0, \ L_Y g = 0, \ Y(U) = c$$
 (8.2.66)

(note that $L_Y g = 0$ implies $\nabla_k y^k = 0$).

Suppose we have a quantum integrable system on the configuration space Q, that is a set of *n* commuting and algebraically independent operators $\hat{h}_1, \ldots, \hat{h}_n$ of the form (8.2.65) acting in the Hilbert space $L^2(Q, |g|^{1/2} dx)$ where *g* is a metric on Q. Suppose also that a vector field *Y* satisfies (8.2.66) with A_1 and U_1 instead of *A* and *U* (so that $[\hat{h}_1, Y] = c$). Then, analogously to the classical case, the operators

$$\frac{\hat{h}_{n+r} = \left[\hat{h}_{r+1}, Y\right] = \frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 \nabla_i \left(L_Y A_{r+1}\right)^{ij} \nabla_j - Y(U_{r+1}), \quad r = 1, \dots, n-1$$
(8.2.67)

satisfy $[\hat{h}_{n+r}, \hat{h}_1] = 0$ and the system $\hat{h}_1, \ldots, \hat{h}_{2n-1}$ is algebraically independent; that is we obtain a quantum separable and quantum superintegrable system.

We can now apply this formula to construct quantum superintegrable counterparts of classical systems considered in Sects. 4.3.3 and 4.4.4. According to results of previous subsections, for the systems generated by the separation curves (4.3.25) the most natural choice of the metric g is to take $G = A_1$. Then, by construction, $[\hat{h}_i, \hat{h}_j] = 0$ for i, j = 1, ..., n while the remaining operators \hat{h}_{n+r} are constructed by the formula (8.2.67) and are - up to a sign - identical with minimal quantization (in the metric G) of the extra integrals h_{n+r} obtained in (4.3.29).

Example 8.7 Consider again separation curve (4.3.30) from Example 4.15. Performing the minimal quantization of the Hamiltonians (4.3.33) in the metric $G = A_1$ i.e. given by (4.3.32), we obtain, in the flat coordinates (4.3.31)

$$\begin{split} \hat{h}_{1} &= -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2} \left(\partial_{x}\partial_{2} + \frac{1}{2}\partial_{z}^{2} \right) + \alpha_{-1}V_{1}^{(-1)} + \alpha_{3}V_{1}^{(3)} + \alpha_{4}V_{1}^{(4)}, \\ \hat{h}_{2} &= -\frac{1}{4}\hbar^{2} \left(\partial_{x}^{2} - \partial_{y}y\partial_{y} + x\partial_{z}\partial_{z} + \frac{1}{2}\partial_{x}x\partial_{y} + \frac{1}{2}x\partial_{y}\partial_{1} - z\frac{1}{2}\partial_{y}\partial_{z} - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{z}z\partial_{y} \right) \\ &+ \alpha_{-1}V_{2}^{(-1)} + \alpha_{3}V_{2}^{(3)} + \alpha_{4}V_{2}^{(4)}, \\ \hat{h}_{3} &= -\frac{1}{8}\hbar^{2} \left(\frac{1}{2}z^{2}\partial_{y}^{2} + \left(2y + \frac{1}{2}x^{2} \right)\partial_{3}^{2} - z\partial_{x}\partial_{z} - \partial_{z}z\partial_{x} - \frac{1}{2}xz\partial_{y}\partial_{z} - \frac{1}{2}x\partial_{z}z\partial_{y} \right) \\ &+ \alpha_{-1}V_{3}^{(-1)} + \alpha_{3}V_{3}^{(3)} + \alpha_{4}V_{3}^{(4)}, \end{split}$$

The respective one dimensional eigenvalue problem, according to (4.3.30) and (8.2.19), is of the form

$$(\alpha_{-1}\lambda^{-1} + \alpha_{3}\lambda^{3} + \alpha_{4}\lambda^{4} + E_{1}\lambda^{2} + E_{2}\lambda + E_{3})\psi(\lambda) = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2}\left[\lambda\frac{d^{2}\psi(\lambda)}{d\lambda^{2}} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{d\psi(\lambda)}{d\lambda}\right]$$

Now $Y = \partial_y$ satisfies the conditions (8.2.66) and the extra operators \hat{h}_4 , \hat{h}_5 can be obtained either by using the formula (8.2.67) or directly by a minimal quantization of functions h_4 , h_5 in (4.3.35). The result is (up to a sign)

$$\hat{h}_4 = \frac{1}{4}\hbar^2 \partial_y^2 - \alpha_3 + \alpha_4 x, \quad \hat{h}_5 = -\frac{1}{4}\hbar^2 \partial_z^2 + \frac{4\alpha_{-1}}{z^2}$$

If we want to perform the separable quantization of superintegrable systems obtained by the Stäckel transform, as in Sect. 4.4.4, we have two cases: either the system—after the Stäckel transform—belongs again to the same class (4.3.25) or belongs to the other class, given by the separation relations (4.4.38) that are different from (4.3.25) as soon as $k \neq -1$. In the first case the natural choice of the metric in which we perform the minimal quantization is to take $\tilde{G} = \tilde{A}_1$ i.e. \tilde{G} as given by (4.4.4). In the second case we have to use the metric given by (8.2.37) which in our case is given by $G = \varphi^{1-\frac{2}{n}} \tilde{A}_1$ with $\varphi = -V_1^{(k)}$.

Example 8.8 Let us now minimally quantize the Stäckel Hamiltonians \tilde{h}_1 , \tilde{h}_2 , \tilde{h}_3 given in (4.4.40), obtained through the Stäckel transform in Example 4.17, generated by the separation curve (4.4.39) with k = -1, that is by

$$\tilde{h}_1 \lambda^{-1} + \tilde{\alpha} \lambda^2 + \tilde{h}_2 \lambda + \tilde{h}_3 = \frac{1}{2} \lambda \mu^2,$$

The metric associated with \tilde{h}_1

$$\tilde{G} = \tilde{A}_1 = \frac{1}{4}z^2 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0\\ 1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(8.2.68)

is of constant curvature as after applying transformation (4.4.4), in the new separation coordinates the separation curve (4.4.39) turns to

$$\tilde{\alpha}\lambda^{-1} + \tilde{h}_1\lambda^2 + \tilde{h}_3\lambda + \tilde{h}_2 = \frac{1}{2}\lambda^4\mu^2,$$

and belongs again to the class (4.3.25). Thus, we have to perform the minimal quantization of this system with respect to the original metric \tilde{A}_1 of the system which is just (8.2.68). Observing that $\sqrt{|\tilde{g}|} = 8/z^3$, we obtain the following

quantum superintegrable system (we use the second expression in (8.1.62)):

Example 8.9 Let us finally minimally quantize the Stäckel Hamiltonians \tilde{h}_1 , \tilde{h}_2 , \tilde{h}_3 given in (4.4.41), obtained through the Stäckel transform in Example 4.17 and generated by separation curve (4.4.39) with k = 4.

$$\tilde{h}_1\lambda^4 + \tilde{\alpha}\lambda^2 + \tilde{h}_2\lambda + \tilde{h}_3 = \frac{1}{2}\lambda\mu^2,$$

The metric associated with \tilde{h}_1

438

$$\tilde{G} = \tilde{A_1} = \frac{1}{\frac{3}{4}x^2 - y} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

is conformally flat. We have to perform minimal quantization of this system with respect to the metric $G = \varphi^{1-\frac{2}{n}} \tilde{A}_1$ with $\varphi = -V_1^{(4)}$ given by

$$G = \left(-V_1^{(4)}\right)^{1-\frac{2}{3}} \tilde{G} = \left(y - \frac{3}{4}x^2\right)^{-\frac{2}{3}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0\\ 1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

Observing that $\sqrt{|g|} = V_1^{(4)} = y - \frac{3}{4}x^2$, we obtain the following quantum operators (we use again the second expression in (8.1.62)):

$$\hat{\tilde{h}}_{1} = \frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2} \left(y - \frac{3}{4}x^{2} \right)^{-1} \left(2\partial_{x}\partial_{y} + \partial_{z}^{2} \right) + \frac{\tilde{\alpha}}{y - \frac{3}{4}x^{2}}$$
$$\hat{\tilde{h}}_{2} = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2} \left(y - \frac{3}{4}x^{2} \right)^{-1} \sum_{i,j} \partial_{i} B_{2}^{ij} \partial_{j} - \tilde{\alpha} \frac{xy + \frac{1}{4}x^{3} + \frac{1}{4}z^{2}}{y - \frac{3}{4}x^{2}}$$

$$\hat{\tilde{h}}_{3} = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2} \left(y - \frac{3}{4}x^{2} \right)^{-1} \sum_{i,j} \partial_{i} B_{3}^{ij} \partial_{j} + \frac{1}{4}\tilde{\alpha} \frac{xz^{2}}{y - \frac{3}{4}x^{2}}$$
$$\hat{\tilde{h}}_{4} = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2} \left(y - \frac{3}{4}x^{2} \right)^{-1} \left[\partial_{x}x\partial_{y} + x\partial_{y}\partial_{x} - \partial_{y} \left(y - \frac{3}{4}x^{2} \right) \partial_{y} + x\partial_{z}^{2} \right] - \tilde{\alpha} \frac{x}{y - \frac{3}{4}x^{2}}$$
$$\hat{\tilde{h}}_{5} = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2}\partial_{z}^{2}$$

where

$$B_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} y - \frac{3}{4}x^{2} & \frac{3}{2}xy - \frac{1}{8}x^{3} + \frac{1}{4}z^{2} & 0\\ \frac{3}{2}xy - \frac{1}{8}x^{3} + \frac{1}{4}z^{2} & -y\left(y - \frac{3}{4}x^{2}\right) & -\frac{1}{2}z\left(y - \frac{3}{4}x^{2}\right)\\ 0 & -\frac{1}{2}z\left(y - \frac{3}{4}x^{2}\right) & 2xy - \frac{1}{2}x^{3} + \frac{1}{4}z^{2} \end{pmatrix}$$
$$B_{3} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\frac{1}{4}xz^{2} & -\frac{1}{2}z\left(y - \frac{3}{4}x^{2}\right)\\ -\frac{1}{4}xz^{2} & \frac{1}{4}z^{2}\left(y - \frac{3}{4}x^{2}\right) & -\frac{1}{4}xz\left(y - \frac{3}{4}x^{2}\right)\\ -\frac{1}{2}z\left(y - \frac{3}{4}x^{2}\right) - \frac{1}{4}xz\left(y - \frac{3}{4}x^{2}\right) - \frac{1}{2}x^{2}y + y^{2} - \frac{1}{4}xz^{2} - \frac{3}{16}x^{4} \end{pmatrix}$$

with $B = \sqrt{|g|}A$ in (8.1.62). It can be checked that it is again a quantum superintegrable system.

8.2.6 R-Separability of Stäckel Metrics

In the following subsection we analyze the notion of R-separability, introduced in previous subsections, from a more restrictive point of view, known from the literature. We begin that subsection by a short summary of the most important results from the whole section. Consider separation relations of the form (8.2.15)

$$\sum_{r=1}^{n} H_r(\lambda^i)^{\gamma_r} = \frac{1}{2} f_i(\lambda^i) \mu_i^2 + \sigma_i(\lambda^i), \quad i = 1, \dots, n$$

and related Stäckel Hamiltonians

$$H_r = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^n A_r^{ii} \mu_i^2 + V_r = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^n (S_\gamma^{-1})_r^i f_i(\lambda^i) \mu_i^2 + \sum_{i=1}^n (S_\gamma^{-1})_r^i \sigma(\lambda^i), \quad (8.2.69)$$

where the Stäckel matrix is of the form (4.3.1). In particular, for $\gamma = (n - 1, ..., 0)$, we deal with the so called Benenti class and then

$$A_r^{ii} = \frac{K_r^{(i)} f_i(\lambda^i)}{\Delta_i}, \quad V_r = \frac{K_r^{(i)} \sigma(\lambda^i)}{\Delta_i},$$

where

$$\Delta_i = \prod_{k \neq i} (\lambda^i - \lambda^k), \quad K_r^{(i)} = -\frac{\partial \rho_r}{\partial \lambda^i}, \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$

and $\rho_r(\lambda)$ are the Viète polynomials (4.3.18) so $\partial K_r^{(i)}/\partial \lambda^i = 0$. For any other γ -class we have (4.4.32)

$$A_r^{ii} = \frac{1}{\varphi(\lambda)} \frac{M_r^{(i)} f_i(\lambda^i)}{\Delta_i}, \quad V_r = \frac{1}{\varphi(\lambda)} \frac{M_r^{(i)} \sigma(\lambda^i)}{\Delta_i},$$

where $\varphi(\lambda)$ is the function given by (4.4.29) and $M_r^{(i)}$ are appropriate polynomials of $K_i^{(i)}$, j = 1, ..., n (see Sect. 4.4.3), hence again $\partial M_r^{(i)} / \partial \lambda^i = 0$.

Minimal quantization of classical Hamiltonians (8.2.69) leads to the respective quantum Hamiltonians \hat{H}_r (8.1.62) given by

$$\hat{H}_r = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 \sum_i \nabla_i A_r^{ii} \nabla_i + V_r, \quad r = 1, \dots, n$$
 (8.2.70)

where ∇_i are operators of a covariant derivative associated with a metric $g = G^{-1}$ for which λ coordinates are orthogonal coordinates. Hamiltonian operators (8.2.70) are self-adjoint in the Hilbert space $L^2(Q, |\det g|^{1/2} d\lambda)$. For the Benenti class, with a natural choice of the metric tensor

$$G^{ii} = A_1^{ii} = \frac{f_i(\lambda^i)}{\Delta_i},$$

we have proved that n multi-dimensional eigenvalue problems

$$\hat{H}_r \Psi = E_r \Psi, \quad r = 1, \dots, n \tag{8.2.71}$$

for Hamiltonian operators

$$\hat{H}_{r} = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \nabla_{i} A_{r}^{ii} \nabla_{i} + V = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} A_{r}^{ii} \left[\partial_{i}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{f_{i}'}{f_{i}} \partial_{i} \right] + V_{r}$$

separate multiplicatively

$$\Psi(\lambda) = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \psi_i(\lambda^i),$$

onto n one-dimensional eigenvalue problems

$$\begin{split} &[E_1(\lambda^i)^{n-1} + E_2(\lambda^i)^{n-2} + \dots + E_n]\psi_i(\lambda^i) \\ &= -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 \left[f_i(\lambda^i) \frac{d^2}{\left(d\lambda^i\right)^2} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{df_i(\lambda^i)}{d\lambda^i} \frac{d}{d\lambda^i} \right] \psi_i(\lambda^i) + \sigma_i(\lambda^i)\psi_i(\lambda^i), \quad i = 1, \dots, n. \end{split}$$

We also have proved that for any other γ -class, with a choice of the metric tensor in the form

$$\bar{G}^{ii} = \varphi(\lambda)^{-\frac{2}{n}} \frac{f_i(\lambda^i)}{\Delta_i},$$

n multi-dimensional eigenvalue problems (8.2.71) for Hamiltonian operators

$$\hat{\bar{H}}_{r} = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2}\sum_{i=1}^{n}\bar{\nabla}_{i}A_{r}^{ii}\bar{\nabla}_{i} + V = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2}\sum_{i=1}^{n}A_{r}^{ii}\left[\partial_{i}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{f_{i}'}{f_{i}}\partial_{i}\right] + V_{r} \qquad (8.2.72)$$

separate multiplicatively

$$\bar{\Psi}(\lambda) = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \bar{\psi}_i(\lambda^i)$$

onto n one-dimensional eigenvalue problems of the form

$$[E_1(\lambda^i)^{\gamma_1} + E_2(\lambda^i)^{\gamma_2} + \dots + E_n]\bar{\psi}_i(\lambda^i)$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2}h^2 \left[f_i(\lambda^i) \frac{d^2}{(d\lambda^i)^2} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{df_i(\lambda^i)}{d\lambda^i} \frac{d}{d\lambda^i} \right] \bar{\psi}_i(\lambda^i) + \sigma_i(\lambda^i)\bar{\psi}_i(\lambda^i), \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$
(8.2.73)

Now, applying the results of Sect. 8.2.3, let us transform the eigenvalue problem to the Hilbert space with a measure generated by a natural metric of γ -class (4.4.32)

$$G^{ii} = A_1^{ii} = \frac{1}{\varphi(\lambda)} \frac{M_1^{(i)} f_i(\lambda^i)}{\Delta_i}.$$
 (8.2.74)

According to (8.2.42) and (8.2.43) we have

$$\Psi = U^{-1}\bar{\Psi} \equiv R\bar{\Psi} = R\prod_{i=1}^{n}\bar{\psi}_{i}(\lambda^{i}), \qquad (8.2.75)$$

where

$$U = \varphi^{\frac{1}{2}(\frac{n}{2}-1)} \prod_{k=1}^{n} \left(M_{1}^{(k)} \right)^{-\frac{1}{4}}.$$
 (8.2.76)

Thus, like in (8.2.48)–(8.2.51), we get from (8.2.72) and (8.2.76) that

$$\hat{H}_{r} = U^{-1}\hat{H}_{r}U = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2}\sum_{i=1}^{n}A_{r}^{ii}\left[\partial_{i}^{2} + \left(2\frac{\partial_{i}U}{U} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{f_{i}'}{f_{i}}\right)\partial_{i}\right] + V_{r} + \hbar^{2}W_{r}$$
$$= -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2}\sum_{i=1}^{n}\nabla_{i}A_{r}^{ii}\nabla_{i} + V_{r} + \hbar^{2}W_{r},$$

where quantum correction terms are of the form

$$W_r = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^n A_r^{ii} \left(\frac{\partial_i^2 U}{U} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{f_i'}{f_i} \frac{\partial_i U}{U} \right) = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^n (S_{\gamma}^{-1})_r^i \left(f_i \frac{\partial_i^2 U}{U} + \frac{1}{2} f_i' \frac{\partial_i U}{U} \right)$$

and operators ∇_i are related to metric tensor (8.2.74).

If $W_1 = 0$, then we say that the stationary Schrödinger equation

$$-\frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 \Delta \Psi + (V - E_1)\Psi = 0 \tag{8.2.77}$$

is *R*-separable. It means that eigenfunctions are of the form (8.2.75), where $R(\lambda)$ is a known function and each $\bar{\psi}_i(\lambda^i)$ solves one-dimensional second order ODE ((8.2.73) in our case). Particular cases of Eq. (8.2.77) are the *n*-dimensional Laplace equation ($E_1 = 0, V = 0$) and *n*-dimensional Helmholtz equation (V = 0).

The notion of *R*-separability, understood as above, was introduced by Darboux in the second half of nineteenth century and then has been further completed in his monograph [78], where he classified all *R*-separable cases of the 3-dimensional Euclidean Laplace equations. Some classification results in the 4-dimensional Riemannian space can be found in [159] and [245] and other results on that subject together with particular examples in [63, 160, 161, 222, 244].

Here, according to classical definition, we would like to identify the *n*-dimensional Stäckel metrics (8.2.74) which lead to *R*-separation of the Schrödinger equation (8.2.77). First, let us notice that from the form of quantum corrections (8.2.6) and (8.2.76) follows nonexistence of nontrivial case with all $W_r = 0$. Thus, let us concentrate on *R*-separability of Eq. (8.2.77) and find for which Stäckel metrics (8.2.74) $W_1 = 0$. From the form of trivial potentials for a

given Stäckel matric (4.3.1) it follows that if

$$f_i \frac{\partial_i^2 U}{U} + \frac{1}{2} f'_i \frac{\partial_i U}{U} = \sum_{r=2}^n a_r(\lambda) (\lambda^i)^{\gamma_r}, \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$

then $W_1 = 0$.

Let us consider particular γ -classes given by

$$\gamma = (n + k - 1, n - 2, n - 3, \dots, 0), \quad k \in \mathbb{N},$$

and Stäckel Hamiltonians defined by the separation curve of the form

$$H_1\lambda^{n+k-1} + H_2\lambda^{n-2} + \ldots + H_n = \frac{1}{2}f(\lambda)\mu^2 + \sigma(\lambda)$$

It means that in the notation of Sect. 4.4.3 $m_1 = 2, m_2 = 3, \dots, m_k = k + 1$ and from (4.4.27) we find that

$$\bar{H}_{1} = -\frac{1}{V_{1}^{(n+k-1)}}H_{1}$$

$$\Downarrow$$

$$G^{ii} = -\frac{1}{V_{1}^{(n+k-1)}}\frac{f_{i}(\lambda^{i})}{\Delta_{i}}$$

$$\Downarrow$$

$$U = \left(-V_{1}^{(n+k-1)}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{n}{2}-1\right)}$$

where $V_1^{(n+k-1)}$ is an appropriate potential (4.3.22) such that

$$V_1^{(n+k-1)} = V_1^{(n+k-1)}(\rho_1, \dots, \rho_k), \text{ for } n \ge k$$

and ρ_i are the Viète polynomials (4.3.18). On the other hand, the Viète polynomials fulfil the following relations

$$\frac{\partial \rho_s}{\partial \lambda^i} = -\sum_{r=1}^s \rho_{s-r}(\lambda)(\lambda^i)^{r-1}, \quad i = 1, \dots, n$$

so

$$\frac{\partial_i U}{U} = \sum_{r=0}^{k-1} b_r(\lambda) (\lambda^i)^r$$

and

$$\frac{\partial_i^2 U}{U} = \partial_i \left(\frac{\partial_i U}{U}\right) + \left(\frac{\partial_i U}{U}\right)^2 = \sum_{r=0}^{2(k-1)} c_r(\lambda) (\lambda^i)^r.$$

In consequence, if f_i is a polynomial in λ^i of order α , then

$$f_i \frac{\partial_i^2 U}{U} + \frac{1}{2} f_i' \frac{\partial_i U}{U} = \sum_{r=0}^{2(k-1)+\alpha} a_r(\lambda) (\lambda^i)^r, \quad i = 1, \dots, n$$

and $W_1(\lambda) = 0$ for $n \ge 2k + \alpha$ where metric (8.2.6) is a conformal deformation of flat metric (8.2.6) from the Benenti class.

In order to illustrate our considerations, let us take the simplest case when k = 1 with the separation curve

$$H_1\lambda^n + H_2\lambda^{n-2} + \ldots + H_n = \frac{1}{2}f(\lambda)\mu^2 + \sigma(\lambda),$$

where $f(\lambda)$ is a polynomial of order α and σ is a rational function. Then, $V_1^{(n)} = \rho_1$ so the natural Stäckel metric takes the form

$$G^{ii} = A_1^{ii} = -\frac{1}{\rho_1(\lambda)} \frac{f(\lambda^i)}{\Delta_i} = \frac{1}{(\lambda^1 + \ldots + \lambda^n)} \frac{f(\lambda^i)}{\Delta_i}$$

and the stationary Schrödinger equation

$$-\frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 G^{ij}\nabla_i\nabla_j\Psi + (V - E_1)\Psi = 0$$

is *R*-separable for $n \ge 2 + \alpha$, where

$$\Psi = (\lambda^1 + \ldots + \lambda^n)^{\frac{1}{2}\left(1 - \frac{n}{2}\right)} \prod_{i=1}^n \psi(\lambda^i)$$

and $\psi(\lambda^i)$ are *n* copies of one dimensional ODE

$$[E_1\lambda^n + E_2\lambda^{n-2} + \dots + E_n]\psi(\lambda) = -\frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 \left[f(\lambda)\frac{d^2}{(d\lambda)^2} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{df(\lambda)}{d\lambda}\frac{d}{d\lambda} \right]\psi(\lambda) + \sigma(\lambda)\psi(\lambda).$$

In particular, when $\alpha = 0$, the nonzero quantum correction appears only for the last operator

$$W_n = -\frac{1}{8} \left(1 - \frac{n}{2} \right) \left(3 - \frac{n}{2} \right) (\lambda^1 + \ldots + \lambda^n)^{-2}.$$

Such a case for n = 3, $\alpha = 0$ and V = 0 was considered in [160].

References

- Abraham, R., Marsden, J.E.: Fundation of Mechanics, 2nd edn. Benjamin/Cummings, New York (1978)
- Agarwal, G.S., Wolf, E.: Calculus for functions of noncommuting operators and general phase-space method in quantum mechanics I. Phys. Rev. D 2, 2161 (1970)
- Antonowicz, M., Rauch-Wojciechowski, S.: How to construct finite dimensional bi-Hamiltonian systems from soliton equations: Jacobi integrable potentials. J. Math. Phys. 33, 2115 (1992)
- Antonowicz, M., Fordy, A.P., Rauch-Wojciechowski, S.: Integrable stationary flows: Miura maps and bi-Hamiltonian structures. Phys. Lett. A 124, 143 (1987)
- Ay, A., Gürses, M., Zheltukhin, K.: Hamiltonian equations in ℝ³. J. Math. Phys. 44(12), 5688 (2003)
- Babelon, O., Bernard, D., Talon, M.: Introduction to Classical Integrable Systems. Cambridge University, Cambridge (2003)
- 7. Baker, G.: Formulation of quantum mechanics based on the quasi-probability distribution induced on phase space. Phys. Rev. **109**, 2198 (1958)
- Ballesteros, A., Herranz, F.J., Santander, M., Sanz-Gil, T.: Maximal superintegrability on N-dimensional curved spaces. J. Phys. A Math. Gen. 36, L93 (2003)
- Ballesteros, A., Enciso, A., Herranz, F.J., Ragnisco, O.: Superintegrable anharmonic oscillators on N-dimensional curved spaces. J. Nonlinear Math. Phys. 15(3), 43 (2008)
- Bartlett, M.S., Moyal, J.E., The exact transition probabilities of quantum-mechanical oscillators calculated by the phase-space method. Math. Proc. Camb. Philos. Soc. 45, 545 (1949)
- 11. Bayen, F., Flato, M., Fronsdal, C., Lichnerowicz, A., Sternheimer, D.: Quantum mechanics as a deformation of classical mechanics. Lett. Math. Phys. **1**, 521 (1975–1977)
- 12. Bayen, F., Flato, M., Fronsdal, C., Lichnerowicz, A., Sternheimer, D.: Deformation theory and quantization. I. deformations of symplectic structures. Ann. Phys. **111**, 61 (1978)
- 13. Bayen, F., Flato, M., Fronsdal, C., Lichnerowicz, A., Sternheimer, D.: Deformation theory and quantization. II. physical applications. Ann. Phys. **111**, 111 (1978)
- Benenti, S.: Inertia tensors and Stäckel systems in Euclidean space. Rend. Sem. Mat. Univ. di Torino 50, 315 (1992)
- Benenti, S.: Orthogonal separable dynamical systems. In: Differential geometry and its applications, Proceedings on the Conference in Opava, Silesian University, Opava, vol. I, p. 163 (1993). ELibEMS http://www.emis.de/proceedings/
- Benenti, S.: Intrinsic characterization of the variable separation in the Hamilton-Jacobi equation. J. Math. Phys. 38, 6578 (1997)

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

M. Błaszak, Quantum versus Classical Mechanics and Integrability Problems, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-18379-0

- Benenti, S., Chanu, C., Rastelli, G.: Remarks on the connection between the additive separation of the Hamilton-Jacobi equation and the multiplicative separation of the Schrödinger equation. I. The completeness and Robertson conditions. J. Math. Phys. 43, 5183 (2002)
- Benenti, S., Chanu, C., Rastelli, G.: Remarks on the connection between the additive separation of the Hamilton-Jacobi equation and the multiplicative separation of the Schrödinger equation. II. First integrals and symmetry operators. J. Math. Phys. 43, 5223 (2002)
- 19. Berezin, F.A.: Quantization. Math. USSR Izv. 8, 1109 (1975)
- 20. Berezin, F.A.: General concept of quantization. Comm. Math. Phys. 40, 153 (1975)
- 21. Berezin, F.A.: Quantization in compex symmetric spaces. Math. USSR Izv. 9, 341 (1975)
- Bertelson, M., Cahen, M., Gutt, S.: Equivalence of star products. Class. Quant. Grav. 14, A93 (1997)
- Błaszak, M.: On separability of bi-Hamiltonian chain with degenerate Poisson structures. J. Math. Phys. 39, 3213 (1998)
- 24. Błaszak, M.: Multi-Hamiltonian theory of dynamical systems. In: Texts and Monographs in Physics. Springer, Berlin (1998)
- Błaszak, M.: Bi-Hamiltonian separable chains on Riemannian manifolds. Phys. Lett. A 243, 25 (1998)
- 26. Błaszak, M.: Theory of separability of multi-Hamiltonian chains. J. Math. Phys. 40, 5725 (1999)
- Błaszak, M.: Degenerate poisson pencils on curves: new separability theory. J. Nonl. Math.Phys. 7, 213 (2000)
- 28. Błaszak, M.: From bi-Hamiltonian geometry to separation of variables: stationary Harry-Dym and the KdV dressing chain. J. Nonl. Math. Phys. **9**(1), 1 (2002)
- Błaszak, M.: Presymplectic representation of bi-Hamiltonian chains. J. Phys. A Math. Gen. 37(50), 11971 (2004)
- Błaszak, M.: Separable systems with quadratic in momenta first integrals. J. Phys. A Math. Gen. 38, 1667 (2005)
- Błaszak, M.: Bi-Hamiltonian representation of Stäckel systems. Phys. Rev. E 79, 056607 (2009)
- 32. Błaszak, M.: Bi-presymplectic representation of Liouville integrable systems and related separability theory. Stud. Appl. Math. **126**, 319 (2011)
- 33. Błaszak, M., Domański, Z.: Phase space quantum mechanics. Ann. Phys. 327, 167 (2012)
- 34. Błaszak, M., Domański, Z.: Quantum trajectories. Phys. Lett. A 376, 3593 (2012)
- Błaszak, M., Domański, Z.: Canonical transformations in quantum mechanics. Ann. Phys. 331, 70 (2013)
- Błaszak, M., Domański, Z.: Canonical quantization of classical mechanics in curvilinear coordinates. Invariant quantization procedure. Ann. Phys. 339, 89 (2013)
- 37. Błaszak, M., Domański, Z.: Natural star-products on symplectic manifolds and related quantum mechanical operators. Ann. Phys. **344**, 29 (2013)
- Błaszak, M., Marciniak, K.: Dirac reduction of dual Poisson-presymplectic pairs. J. Phys. A Math. Gen. 37(19), 5173–5187 (2004)
- Błaszak, M., Marciniak, K.: On reciprocal equivalence of Stäckel systems. Stud. Appl. Math. 129, 26 (2012)
- Błaszak, M., Marciniak, K.: Classical and quantum superintegrability of Stäackel systems. SIGMA 13(008), 23 (2017)
- Błaszak, M., Rauch-Wojciechowski, S.: Newton representation of nonlinear ordinary differential equations. Physics A 197, 191 (1993)
- 42. Błaszak, M., Rauch-Wojciechowski, S.: Generalized Henon-Heiles system and related integrable Newton equations. J. Math. Phys. **35**, 1693 (1994)
- Błaszak, M., Sergyeyev, A.: Maximal superintegrability of Benenti system. J.Phys. A Math. Gen. 38, L1-L5 (2005)
- 44. Błaszak, M., Sergyeyev, A.: Natural coordinates for a class of Benenti systems. Phys. Lett. A 365, 28 (2007)
- 45. Błaszak, M., Sergyeyev, A.: Generalized Stäckel systems. Phys. Lett. A 375(27), 2617 (2011)

- 46. Błaszak, M., Goürses, M., Zheltukhin, C.: Bi-presymplectic chains of co-rank 1 and related Liouville integrable systems. J. Phys. A Math. Theor. 42, 285204 (2009)
- Błaszak, M., Domański, Z., Sergyeyev, A., Szablikowski, B.: Integrable quantum Stäckel systems. Phys. Lett. A 377, 2564 (2013)
- 48. Błaszak, M., Domański, Z., Silindir, B.: Flat minimal quantization of Stäckel systems and quantum separability. Ann. Phys. **351**, 152 (2014)
- Błaszak, M., Marciniak, K., Domański, Z.: Quantizations preserving separability of Stäckel systems. Ann. Phys. 371, 460 (2016)
- Bohm, D.: A suggested interpretation of the quantum theory in terms of "hidden" variables. I. Phys. Rev. 85, 166 (1952)
- Bohm, D.: A suggested interpretation of the quantum theory in terms of "hidden" variables. II. Phys. Rev. 85, 180 (1952)
- Bolsinov, A., Jovanović, B.: Noncommutative integrability, moment map and geodesic. Ann. Global Anal. Geom. 23, 305 (2003)
- Bordemann, M., Waldmann, S.: Formal GNS construction and states in deformation quantization. Comm. Math. Phys. 195, 549 (1998)
- 54. Bordemann, M., Neumaier, N., Waldmann, S.: Homogeneous fedosov star products on cotangent bundles I: weyl and standard ordering with differential operator representation. Commun. Math. Phys. **198**, 363 (1998)
- Bordemann, M., Neumaier, N., Waldmann, S.: Homogeneous Fedosov star products on cotangent bundles II: GNS representations, the WKB expansion, traces, and applications. J. Geom. Phys. 29, 199 (1999)
- Bordemann, M., Roemer, H., Waldmann, S.: KMS states and star product quantization. Rep. Math. Phys. 44, 45 (1999)
- 57. Bordemann, M., Herbig, H., Waldmann, S.: BRST cohomology and phase space reduction in deformation quantization. Comm. Math. Phys. **210**, 107 (2001)
- Boyer, C.P., Kalnins, E.G., Miller, W.: Stäckel-equivalent integrable Hamiltonian systems. SIAM J. Math. Anal. 17, 778–797 (1986)
- 59. Bracken, A.J., Watson, P.: The quantum state vector in phase space and Gabor's windowed Fourier transform. J. Phys. A **43**, 395304 (2010)
- 60. Brouzet, R., Caboz, R., Rabenivo, J.: Quasi-bi-Hamiltonian systems and separability. J. Phys. A Math. Gen. **29**, 2069 (1996)
- Carter, B.: Killing tensor quantum numbers and conserved currents in curved space. Phys. Rev. D 16, 3395 (1977)
- 62. Caux, J.S., Mossel, J.: Remarks on the notion of quantum integrability. J. Stat. Mech Theory Exp. **2011**, P02023 (2011)
- Chanu, C., Rastelli, G.: Fixt energy R-separation for Schrödinger equation. Int. J. Geom. Methods Mod. Phys. 3, 489 (2006)
- Chanu, C., Degiovanni, L., Rastelli, G.: Superintegrable three-body systems on the line. J. Math. Phys. 49, 112901 (2008)
- 65. Chanu, C., Degiovanni, L., Rastelli, G.: Three and four-body systems in one dimension: integrability, superintegrability and discrete symmetries. Regul. Chaotic Dyn. 16, 496 (2011)
- Chanu, C., Degiovanni, L., Rastell, G.: Superintegrable extensions of superintegrable systems. SIGMA 8, 12 (2012)
- Chanu, C., Degiovanni, L., Rastell, G.: Modified Laplace-Beltrami quantization of natural Hamiltonian systems with quadratic constants of motion. J. Math. Phys. 58, 033509 (2017)
- Coodonovsky, D.V., Choodonovsky, G.V.: Completely integrable class of mechanical systems connected with Korteweg-de Vries and multicomponent Schrödinger equations. Lett. Nuovo Cimento 22, 47 (1978)
- 69. Cohen, L.: Generalized phase-space distribution functions. J. Math. Phys. 7, 781 (1966)
- Crampin, M.: Projectively equivalent Riemannian spaces as quasi-bi-Hamiltonian systems. Acta Appl. Math. 77, 237 (2003)
- 71. Crampin, M., Pirani, F.A.E.: Applicable Differential Geometry. Lecture Note Series 59. Cambridge University, Cambridge (1988)

- Crampin, M., Sarlet, W.: A class of nonconservative Lagrangian systems on Riemannian manifolds. J. Math. Phys. 42, 4313 (2001)
- 73. Crampin, M., Sarlet, W.: Bi-quasi-Hamiltonian systems. J. Math. Phys. 43, 2505 (2001)
- Curtright, T., Zachos, C.: Wigner trajectory characteristics in phase space and field theory. J. Phys. A 32, 771 (1999)
- Curtright, T., Fairlie, D.B., Zachos, C.: Features of time-independent Wigner functions. Phys. Rev. D 58, 25002 (1998)
- 76. Curtright, T., Uematsu, T., Zachos, C.: Generating all Wigner functions. J. Math. Phys. 42, 2396 (2001)
- Damianou, P.A.: Multiple Hamiltonian structures for Toda-type systems. J. Math. Phys. 35, 5511 (1994)
- Darboux, G.: Leçons Sur les Systèmes Orthogonaux et les Coordonnées Curvilignes. Gauthier-Villars, Paris (1910)
- Daskaloyannis, C., Ypsilantis, K.: Unified treatment and classification of superintegrable systems with integrals quadratic in momenta on a two-dimensional manifold. J. Math. Phys. 47, 042904 (2006)
- de Gosson, M.: Symplectically covariant Schrödinger equation in phase space. J. Phys. A 38, 9263 (2005)
- 81. de Gosson, M.: Symplectic geometry and quantum mechanics. In: Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, vol. 166. Birkhäuser, Basel (2006)
- de Gosson, M.: Symplectic Methods in Harmonic Analysis and in Mathematical Physics. Birkhäuser, Basel (2011)
- de Gosson, M., Luef, E: A New Approach to the *-Genvalue equation. Lett. Math. Phys. 85, 173 (2008)
- 84. De Wilde, M., Lecomte, P.B.A.: Existence of star-products and of formal deformations of the Poisson Lie algebra of arbitrary symplectic manifolds. Lett. Math. Phys. 7, 487 (1983)
- Degiovanni, L., Magnano, G., Tri-Hamiltonian vector fields, spectral curves and separation coordinates. Rev. Math. Phys. 14, 115 (2002)
- 86. Deligne, P.: Déformations de l'algèbre des fonctions d'une variété symplectique: comparaison entre Fedosov et De Wilde, Lecomte. Selecta Math. New Ser. 1, 667 (1995)
- Dereli, T., Hakioğlu, T., Teğmen, A.: Quantum canonical transformations in Weyl-Wigner-Groenewold-Moyal formalism. Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 24, 4573 (2009)
- 88. De Witt, B.S.: Point transformations in quantum mechanics. Phys. Rev. 85, 653 (1952)
- De Witt, B.S.: Dynamical theory in curved spaces. I. A review of the classical and quantum action principles. Rev. Modern Phys. 29, 377 (1957)
- Dias, N.C., Prata, J.N.: Generalized Weyl–Wigner map and Vey quantum mechanics. J. Math. Phys. 42, 5565 (2001)
- 91. Dias, N.C., Prata, J.N.: Time dependent transformations in deformation quantization. J. Math. Phys. **45**, 887 (2004)
- 92. Dias, N.C., Prata, J.N.: Formal solution of stargenvalue equations. Ann. Phys. 311, 120 (2004)
- 93. Dias, N.C., Prata, J.N.: Features of Moyal trajectories. J. Math. Phys. 48, 012109 (2007)
- 94. Dirac, P.A.M.: Generalized hamiltonian dynamics. Can. J. Math. 2, 129 (1950)
- 95. Dirac, P.A.M.: The principles of Quantum Mechanics, 4th edn. Oxford University, New York (1958)
- 96. Dito, G., Sternheimer, D.: In: Halbout, G. (eds.), Deformation Quantization, vol. 1. Walter de Gruyter, Berlin (2002)
- Dolan, P., Kladouchou, A., Card, C., On the significance of Killing tensors. Gen. Rel. Grav. 21, 427 (1989)
- Domański, Z.: Admissible invariant canonical quantizations of classical mechanics. PhD Thesis (2014)
- 99. Domański, Z., Błaszak, M.: On local equivalence of star-products on Poisson manifolds. ArXiv:1305.4026
- Domański. Z., Błaszak, M.: Coherence and squeezing along quantum trajectories. Rep. Math. Phys. 80, 373 (2017)

- Dubrovin, B.A., Giordano, M., Marmo, G., Simoni, A.: Poisson brackets on presymplectic manifolds. Int. J. Mod. Phys. 8, 3747 (1993)
- Duval, C., Ovsienko, V.: Conformally equivariant quantum Hamiltonians. Selecta Math. (NS) 7, 291 (2001)
- Duval, C., Valent, G.: Quantum integrability of quadratic Killing tensors. L. Math. Phys. 46, 053516 (2005)
- 104. Eisenhart, L.P.: Separable systems of Stäckel. Ann. Math. 35, 284 (1934)
- 105. Eisenhart, L.P.: Stäckel systems in conformal Euclidean space. Ann. Math. 36, 57 (1935)
- 106. Eisenhart, L.P.: Riemannian Geometry. Princeton University, Princeton (1949)
- 107. Eilbeck, J.C., Enolskii, V.Z., Kuznetsov, V.B., Legkin, D.V.: Linear r-matrix algebra for systems separable in parabolic coordinates. Phys. Lett. A **180**, 208 (1993)
- 108. Eilbeck, J.C., Enolskii, V.Z., Kuznetsov, V.B., Tsiganov, A.V.: Linear r-matrix algebra for classical separable systems. J. Phys. A Gen. Math. 27, 567 (1994)
- 109. Essen, H.: Quantization and independent coordinates. Amer. J. Phys. 46, 983 (1978)
- 110. Evans, N.W.: Superintegrability in classical mechanics. Phys. Rev. A 41(10), 5666 (1989)
- 111. Fairlie, D.B.: The formulation of quantum mechanics in terms of phase space functions. Math. Proc. Camb. Philos. Soc. 60, 581 (1964)
- Falqui, G., Pedroni, M.: On a Poisson reduction for Gel'fand-Zakharevich manifolds. Rep. Math. Phys. 50, 395 (2002)
- Falqui, G., Pedroni, M.: Separation of variables for Bi-Hamiltonian systems. Math. Phys. Anal. Geom. 6, 139 (2003)
- 114. Falqui, G., Magri, F., Tondo, G.: Reduction of bihamiltonian systems and separation of variables: an example from the Boussinesq hierarchy. Theor. Math. Phys. **122**, 176 (2000)
- 115. Falqui, G., Magri, F., Pedroni, M.: Bihamiltonian geometry and separation of variables for Toda lattices. J. Nonlinear Math. Phys. 8(Suppl.), 118 (2001)
- 116. Fecko, M.: Differential Geometry and Lie Groups for Physicists. Cambridge University, Cambridge (2006)
- 117. Fedorov, Yu. N.: Integrable systems, Poisson pencils and hipperelliptic Lax pairs. Regul. Chaotic Dyn. 5, 171 (2000)
- Fedosov, B.V.: A simple geometrical construction of deformation quantization. J. Diff. Geom. 40, 213 (1994)
- 119. Fedosov, B.V.: Deformationquantization and Index Theory. Akademie, Berlin (1996)
- Fiorani, E., Sardanashvily, G.: Noncommutative integrability on noncompact invariant manifolds. J. Phys. A Math. Gen. 39, 14035 (2006)
- 121. Flaschka, H.: The Toda lattice I: Existence of integrals. Phys. Rev. B 9, 1924 (1974)
- 122. Flato, M., Lichnerowicz, A., Sternheimer, D.: Deformations of Poisson brackets, Dirac brackets and applications. J. Math. Phys. **17**, 1754–1762 (1976)
- 123. Gel'fand, I.M., Zakharevich, I.: On the local geometry of a bi-Hamiltonian structure. In: The Gel'fand Mathematical Seminars 1990–1992 (eds.) Corwin, L. et. al., p. 51 Birkhäuser, Boston (1993)
- 124. Gel'fand, I.M., Zakharevich, I.: Webs, Lenard schemes, and the local geometry of bi-Hamiltonian Toda and Lax structures. Selecta Math. (N.S) 6, 131 (2000)
- 125. Gerstenhaber, M.: The cohomology structure of an associative ring. Ann. Math. 78 (1963)
- 126. Gerstenhaber, M.: On the deformation of rings and algebras. Ann. Math. 79, 59 (1964)
- 127. Gerstenhaber, M.: On the deformation of rings and algebras: II. Ann. Math. 84 (1966)
- 128. Gerstenhaber, M.: On the deformation of rings and algebras: III. Ann. Math. 88 (1968)
- 129. Gerstenhaber, M.: On the deformation of rings and algebras IV. Ann. Math. 99 (1974)
- Gerstenhaber, M., Schack, S.D.: Algebraic cohomology and deformation theory. In: Deformation Theory of Algebras and Structures and Applications NATO ASI Series, vol 247 (1988)
- Gervais, J.L., Jevicki, A.: Point canonical transformations in the path integral. Nuclear Phys. B 110, 93 (1976)
- 132. Glauber, R.J.: Coherent and Incoherent States of the Radiation Field. Phys. Rev. 131, 2766 (1963)

- 133. Glauber, R.J. In: Quantum Optics and Electronics (eds), by DeWitt, C., Blandin, A., Cohen-Tannoudji, C., p. 63. Gordon and Breach, New York (1965)
- 134. Gonera, C.: Isochronic potentials and new family of superintegrable systems. J. Phys. A Math. Gen. **37**, 4085 (2004)
- 135. Grabowski, J., Landi, G., Marmo, G., Vilasi, G.: Generalized reduction procedure: symplectic and Poisson formalism. Fortschr. Phys. 42, 393 (1994)
- 136. Gracia-Bondía, J.M., Várilly, J.C.: Algebras of distributions suitable for phase-space quantum mechanics. J. Math. Phys. **29**, 869 (1988)
- 137. Gradstheyn, I.S., Ryzhik, M.: Table of Integrals, Series and Products, p. 838. Academic, New York (1980)
- 138. Gravel, S., Winternitz, P.: Superintegrability with third-order integrals in quantum and classical mechanics. J. Math. Phys. **56**, 5902 (2002)
- 139. Griffiths, P., Harris, J.: Principles of Algebraic Geometry. Springer, Berlin (1978)
- 140. Groenewold, H.J.: On the principles of elementary quantum mechanics. Physica 12, 405 (1946)
- Gümral, X, Nutku, Y.: Poisson structure of dynamical systems with three degrees of freedom. J. Math. Phys. 34, 5691 (1993)
- 142. Gutt, S.: In: Dito, G., Sternheimer, D. (eds.), Conference Moshé Flato 1999: Quantizations, Deformations and Symmetries. Mathematical Physics Studies, vol 21, p. 2017. Kluwer Academic, Dordrecht, Boston, London (2000)
- 143. Gutt, S.: Deformation quantization of Poisson manifolds. Geom. Topol. Mon. 17, 171 (2011)
- 144. Han, D., Kim, Y.S., Noz, M.E.: Linear canonical transformations of coherent and squeezed states in the Wigner phase space. Phys. Rev A **37**, 807 (1988)
- 145. Harnad, J., Winternitz, P.: Classical and quantum integrable systems in $\tilde{\mathfrak{gl}}(2)^{+*}$ and separation of variables. Commun. Math. Phys. **172**, 263 (1995)
- 146. Henon, M., Heiles, C.: The aplicability of the third integral of motion: some numerical experiments. AStronom. J. 69, 73 (1964)
- Hietarinta, J.: Quantum canonical transformations as integral transformations. Phys. Rev. D 25, 2103 (1982)
- 148. Hietarinta, J.: Classical versus quantum integrability. J. Math. Phys. 25, 1833 (1984)
- 149. Hietarinta, J., Grammaticos, B.: On the \hbar^2 correction terms in quantum integrability. J. Phys. A **22**, 1315 (1989)
- 150. Hietarinta, J., Grammaticos, B., Dorizzi, B., Ramani, A.: Coupling-constant metamorphosis and duality between integrable hamiltonian systems. Phys. Rev. Lett. **53**, 1707 (1984)
- 151. Hillery, M., O'Connell, R.F., Scully, M.O., Wigner, E.P.: Distribution functions in physics: fundamentals. Phys. Rep. 106, 121 (1984)
- 152. Hirshfeld, A.C., Henselder, P.: Deformation quantization in the teaching of quantum mechanics. Am. J. Phys. **70**, 537 (2002)
- 153. Hirshfeld, A.C., Henselder, P.: Star products and perturbative quantum field theory. Ann. Phys. (NY) **302**, 59 (2002)
- 154. Holland, P.R.: The Quantum Theory of Motion. Cambridge University, Cambridge (1993)
- 155. Husimi, K.: Some formal properties of the density matrix. Proc. Phys. Math. Soc. Jpn 22, 264 (1940)
- 156. Ibort, A., Magri, F., Marmo, G.: Bihamiltonian structures and Stäckel separability. J. Geom. Phys. 33, 210 (2000)
- 157. Jacobi, C.G.: Vörlesungen über Dynamik, vol. 9, pp. 26–29. Georg Reimer, Berlin (1866)
- 158. Kalnins, E.G.: Separation of variables for Riemannian spaces of constant curvature. In: Longman Scientific & Technical, Harlow. John Wiley, New York (1986)
- 159. Kalnins, E.G., Miller, Jr. W.: R-separation of variables for the four-dimensional flat space Laplace and Hamilton-Jacobi equations. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **244**, 241 (1978)
- 160. Kalnins, E.G., Miller, Jr. W.: Some remarkable R-separable coordinate systems for the Helmholtz equation. Lett. Math. Phys. 4, 469 (1980)
- 161. Kalnins, E.G., Miller, Jr. W.: The theory of orthogonal R-separation for Helmholtz equations. Adv. Math. 51, 91 (1984)

- 162. Kalnins, E.G., Miller, Jr. W.: Separation of Variables on n-Dimensional Rimannian Manifolds. I. The n-Sphere S_n and Euclidean n-Space R_n . J. Math. Phys. **21**, 1721 (1986)
- 163. Kalnins, E.G., Kress, J.M., Pogosyan, G.S., Miller, Jr. W.: Completeness of superintegrability in twodimensional constant-curvature spaces. J. Phys. A Math. Gen. 34, 4705 (2001)
- 164. Kalnins, E.G., Kress, J.M., Miller, Jr. W.: Second order superintegrable systems in conformally flat spaces. IV. the classical 3 d Stäckel transform and 3 d classification theory. J. Math. Phys. 47, 043514 (2006)
- 165. Kalnins, E.G., Kress, J.M., Miller, Jr. W.: Second-order superintegrable systems in conformally flat spaces. V. Two- and three-dimensional quantum systems. J. Math. Phys. 47, 093501 (2006)
- 166. Kalnins, E.G., Kress, J.M., Miller, Jr. W., Pogosyan, G.S.: Nondegenerate superintegrable systems in n-dimensional Euclidean spaces. Phys. Atomic Nuclei **70**, 545 (2007)
- Kalnins, E.G., Kress, J., Miller, Jr. W.: Tools for verifying classical and quantum superintegrability. SIGMA 6, 066 (2010)
- 168. Kalnins, E.G., Kress, J., Miller, Jr. W.: Families of classical subgroup separable superintegrable systems. J. Phys. A Math. Theor. 43, 092001 (2010)
- 169. Kalnins, E.G., Kress, J.M., Miller, Jr. W.: A recurrence relation approach to higher order quantum superintegrability. SIGMA 7, 031 (2011)
- 170. Karasev, M.V., Osborn, T.A.: Cotangent bundle quantization: entangling of metric and magnetic field. J. Phys. A **38**, 8549 (2005)
- 171. Kirkwood, J.G.: Quantum statistics of almost classical assemblies. Phys. Rev. 44, 31 (1933)
- 172. Kontsevich, M.: Deformation quantization of Poisson manifolds. Lett. Math. Phys. 66, 157 (2003). ArXiv:q-alg/9709040v1
- 173. Kosmann-Schwarzbach, Y., Magri, F.: Poisson-Nijenhuis structures. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Phys. Theor. 53, 35 (1990)
- 174. Krivoruchenko, M.I., Faessler, J.: Weyl's symbols of Heisenberg operators of canonical coordinates and momenta as quantum characteristics. J. Math. Phys. **48**, 052107 (2007)
- 175. Kuznetsov, V.B., Nijhoff, F.W., Sklyanin, E.: Separation of variables for the Ruijsenaars system. Commun. Math. Phys. **189**, 855 (1997)
- 176. Lee, H.W.: Theoty and application of the quantum phase-space distribution functions. Phys. Rep. 259, 147 (1995)
- 177. Levi-Civita, T.: Sulla integrazione della equazione di Hamilton-Jacobi per sepa razione di variabili. Math. Ann. **59**, 383 (1904)
- 178. Libermann, P., Marle, C.M.: Symplectic Geometry and Analytical Mechanics. D. Reidel, Dordreht (1987)
- 179. Lichnerowicz, A.: Variété symplectique et dynamique associéeàune sous-variété. C.R.Acad.Sci.Paris Ser. A-B **280**, A523 (1975)
- Lichnerowicz, A.: Les variétés de poisson et leurs algèbres de Lie associées. J. Diff. Geom. 12, 253 (1977)
- 181. Littlejohn, R.G.: The semiclassical evolution of wave packets. Phys. Rep. 138, 193 (1986)
- Liu, Z.J.: Quantum integrable systems constrained on the sphere. Lett. Math. Phys. 20, 151 (1990)
- Liu, Z.J., Quian, M.: Guage invariant quantization on Riemannian manifolds. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 331, 321 (1992)
- Lundmark, H.: Higher-dimensional integrable Newton systems with quadratic integrals of motion. Stud. Appl. Math. 110, 257 (2003)
- 185. Maciejewski, A.J., Przybylska, M., Tsiganov, A.V.: On algebraic construction of certain integrable and super-integrable systems. Phisica D 240, 1426 (2011)
- 186. Magri, F.: A simple model of the integrable Hamiltonian equation. J. Math. Phys. 19, 1156 (1978)
- 187. Magri, F.: Eight lectures on Integrable Systems. In: Integrability of Nonlinear Systems, Kosmann-Schwarzbach, Y. et al. (eds.), Lecture notes in Physics, vol. 495. Springer, Berlin (1997)

- Manakov, S.V.: Remarks on the integrals of the Euler equations of the n-dimensional heavy top. Funct. Anal. Appl. 10, 93 (1976)
- Marciniak, K., Błaszak, M.: Separation of variables in quasi-potential systems of bi-cofactor form. J. Phys. A Math. Gen. 35, 2947 (2002)
- Marciniak, K., Błaszak, M.: Geometric reduction of Hamiltonian systems. Rep. Math. Phys. 55, 325 (2005)
- Marciniak, K, Błaszak, M.: Non-Hamiltonian systems separable by Hamilton–Jacobi method. J. Geom. Phys. 58, 557 (2008)
- Marciniak, K., Błaszak, M.: Flat coordinates of flat Stäckel systems. Appl. Math. Comput. 268, 706 (2015)
- Marciniak, K., Błaszak, M.: Non-homogeneous hydrodynamic systems and Quasi-Stäckel hamiltonians. SIGMA 13, 077 (2017)
- Marciniak, K., Rauch-Wojciechowski, S.: Two families of nonstandard Poisson structures for Newton equations. J. Math. Phys. 39, 6366 (1998)
- 195. Marle, Ch.-M.: Various approaches to conservative and nonconservative nonholonomic systems. Rep. Math. Phys. **42**, 211–229 (1998)
- 196. Marquette, I., Winternitz, P.: Polynomial Poisson algebras for classical superintegrable systems with a third-order integral of motion. J. Math. Phys. **48**, 012902 (2007)
- 197. Marsden, J.E., Ratiu, T.: Reduction of Poisson manifolds. Lett. Math. Phys. 11, 161 (1986)
- Marsden, J.E., Weinstein, A.: Reduction of symplectic manifolds with symmetry. Rep. Math. Phys. 5, 121–130 (1974)
- Mehta, C.L.: Phase-space formulation of the dynamics of canonical variables. J. Math. Phys. 5, 677 (1964)
- 200. Miller, Jr. W., Post, S., Winternitz, P.: Classical and quantum superintegrability with applications. J. Phys. A Math. Theor. 46, 423001 (2013)
- Mischenko, A.S., Fomenko, A.T.: Generalized Liouville method of integration of Hamiltonian systems. Funct. Anal. Appl. 12, 113 (1978)
- 202. Mok, K.-P.: Metric and connections on the cotangent bundle. Kodai Math. Semin. Rep. 28, 226 (1977)
- Morosi, C., Tondo, G.: Quasi-bi-Hamiltonian systems and separability. J. Phys. A Math. Gen. 30, 2799 (1997)
- 204. Moser, J.: Various aspects of integrable Hamiltonian systems. Prog. Math. 8, 23 (1980)
- 205. Moyal, J.E.: Quantum mechanics as a statistical theory. Proc. Camb. Philos. Soc. 45, 99 (1949)
- 206. Mykytiuk, I.V., Prykarpatsky, A.K., Andrushkiw, R.I., Samoilenko, V.H.: Geometric quantization of Neumann-type completely integrable Hamiltonian systems. J. Math. Phys. 35, 1532 (1994)
- 207. Nasiri, S., Sobouti, Y., Taati, F.: Phase space quantum mechanics-direct. J. math. Phys. 47, 092106 (2006)
- Natsume, T.: C *-algebraic deformation quantization and the index theorem. Math. Phys. Stud. 23, 142 (2001)
- Natsume, T., Nest, R., Ingo, P.: Strict quantizations of symplectic manifolds. Lett. Math. Phys. 66,73 (2003)
- 210. Nest, R., Tsygan, B.: Algebraic index theorem for families. Adv. Math. 113, 151 (1995)
- 211. Norris, L.K.: Schouten-Nijenhuis brackets. J. Math. Phys. 38, 2694 (1997)
- 212. Olver, P.: Application of Lie Groups to Differential Equations. Springer, Berlin (1993)
- Omori, H., Maeda, Y., Yoshioka, A.: Weyl manifolds and deformation quantization. Adv. Math. 85, 224 (1991)
- Omori, H., Maeda, Y., Miyazaki, N., Yoshioka, A.: Deformation quantization of Fréchet-Poisson algebras convergence of the Moyal product. Math. Phys. Stud. 22, 233 (2000)
- Omori, H., Maeda, Y., Miyazaki, N., Yoshioka, A.: Orderings and non-formal deformation quantization. Lett. Math. Phys. 82, 153 (2007)
- 216. Panasyuk, A.: Veronese webs for bihamiltonian structures of higher corank. In: Urbański, P., Grabowski, J. (eds.), Poisson Geometry (Warsaw 1998). Banach Center Publications 51, Polish Academy of Sciences, Warsaw (2000)

- 217. Panasyuk, A.: Compatible lie brackets: Towards a classification. J. Lie Theory 24, 561 (2014)
- 218. Pedroni, M.: Bi-Hamiltonian aspects of the separability of the Neumann system. Theor. Math. Phys. **133**, 1722 (2002)
- 219. Plebański, J.F., Przanowski, M., Turrubiates, F.J.: Induced symplectic connection on the phase space. Acta Phys. Polon. B **32**, 3 (2001)
- 220. Podolsky, B.: Quantum-mechanically correct form of Hamiltonian function for conservative systems. Phys. Rev. **32**, 812 (1928)
- 221. Post, S., Winternitz, P.: A nonseparable quantum superintegrable system in 2D real Euclidean space. J. Phys. A Math. Theor. 44, 152001 (2011)
- 222. Prus, R., Sym A.: Non-regular and non-Stäckel R-separation for 3-dimensional Helmholtz equation and cyclidic solitons of wave equation. Phys. Lett. A **336**, 459 (2005)
- 223. Ratiu, P.S.: The C. Neumann problem as a completely integrable system on an adjoint orbit of a Lie algebra. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **264**, 321 (1981)
- 224. Rauch-Wojciechowski, S.: A bi-Hamiltonian formulation for separable potentials and its application to the Kepler problem and the Euler problem of two centers of gravitation. Phys. Lett. A **160**, 149 (1991)
- 225. Rauch-Wojciechowski, S., Marciniak, K., Lundmark, H.: Quasi-Lagrangian systems of Newton equations. J. Math. Phys. 40, 6366 (1999)
- 226. Rieffel, M.: Deformation quantization for actions of \mathbb{R}^n . Mem of the AMS 506, 93 (1993)
- 227. Rihaczek, A.W.: Signal energy distribution in time and frequency. IEEE Trans. Inf. Theory 14, 369 (1968)
- Robertson, H.P.: Bemerkung über separierbare Systeme in der Wellenmechanik. Math. Ann. 98, 749 (1927)
- 229. Rodriguez, M.A., Winternitz, P.: Quantum superintegrability and exact solvability in n dimensions. J. Math Phys. **43**, 1309 (2002)
- Schouten, J.A.: Über Differentialkomitanten zweier kontravarianten Grössen. Proc. Akad. Wet. Amsterdam 43, 449 (1940)
- 231. Sergyeyev, A., Błaszak, M.: Generalized Stäckel transform and reciprocal transformations for finite-dimensional integrable systems. J. Phys. A **41**(10), 105205 (2008)
- 232. Shabat, A.B.: The infinite-dimensional dressing dynamical system. Inverse Prob. 6, 303 (1992)
- 233. Sklyanin, E.: Separation of variables in the Gaudin model. J. Sov. Math. 47, 2473 (1989)
- 234. Sklyanin, E.: Separation of variables in the classical integrable SL(3) magnetic chain. Commun. Math. Phys. **150**, 181 (1992)
- 235. Sklyanin, E: Separation of variables. New trends. Prog. Theor. Phys. Suppl. 118, 35 (1995)
- 236. Smith, T.B.: Wavefunctions on phase space. J. Phys. A 39, 1469 (2006)
- 237. Śniatycki, J.: Dirac brackets in geometric dynamics. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Sect. A (N.S.) 20, 365–372 (1974)
- Soloviev, M.A.: Algebras with convergent star products and their representations in Hilbert spaces. J. Math. Phys. 54, 073517 (2013)
- 239. Sommers, P: On Killing tensors and constants of motion. J. Math. Phys. 14, 787 (1973)
- 240. Stäckel, P.: Uber die Integration der Hamilton-Jacobischen Differential Gleichung mittelst Separation der Variabel. Habilitationsschrift, Halle (1891)
- Stäckel, P.: Uber die Bewegung eines Punktes in einer n-fachen Mannigfaltigkeit. Math. Ann. 42, 537 (1893)
- 242. Stäckel, P.: Uber quadatizche Integrale der Differentialgleichungen der Dynamik. Ann. Math. Pur Appl. **26**, 55 (1897)
- 243. Sudarshan, E.C.G.: Equivalence of semiclassical and quantum mechanical descriptions of statistical light beams. Phys. Rev. Lett. **10**, 277 (1963)
- 244. Sym, A., Szereszewski, A.: On Darboux's approach to R-Separability of variables. SIGMA 7, 95 (2011)
- 245. Szereszewski, A., Sym, A.: On Darboux's approach to R-separability of variables. Classification of conformally flat 4-dimensional binary metrics. J. Phys. A Math. Theor. 48, 385201 (2015)

- 246. Takabayasi, T.: The formulation of quantum mechanics in terms of ensemble in phase space. Prog. Theor. Phys. **11**, 341 (1954)
- 247. Ten Eikelder, H.M.M.: On the local structure of recursion operators. Proc. Kon. Ned. Akad. A **89**, 386 (1986)
- 248. Toth, J.A.: Various quantum mechanical aspects of quadratic forms. J. Funct. Anal. 130, 1 (1995)
- 249. Tsiganov, A.V.: The Drach superintegrable systems. J. Phys. A Math. Gen. 33, 7401 (2000)
- 250. Turiel, F.J.: Classification locale d'un couple de formes symplectiques Poisson-compatibles. C.R. Acad. Sci. Paris Ser. I Math. 308, 575 (1989)
- 251. Vaisman, I.: Lectures on the Geometry of Poisson Manifolds. In: Progress in Mathematics. Birkhäuser, Basel (1994)
- 252. van der Schaft, A.J., Maschke, B.M.: On the Hamiltonian formulation of nonholonomic mechanical systems. Rep.Math.Phys. **34**, 225 (1994)
- 253. Veselov, A., Shabat, A.B.: Dressing chain and spectral theory of Schrödinger operator. Funktsional. Anal. i Prilozhen. **27**, 1 (1993)
- 254. von Neumann, J.: Mathematical Foundations of Quantum Mechanics, p. 173. Princeton University Press, Princeton (1955)
- 255. von Westenholz, C.: Differential forms in mathematical physics. In: Studies in Mathematics and its Applications, vol. 3. North-Holland Publishing Company, North-Holland (1981)
- 256. Waldmann, S.: States and representations in deformation quantization. Rev. Math. Phys. **17**, 15 (2005)
- 257. Walls, D.: Squeezed states of light. Nature 306, 141 (1983)
- 258. Wasserman, R.H.: Tensor and Manifolds with Applications to Physics, 2nd edn. Oxford University Press, Oxford (2004)
- 259. Weingert S.: The problem of quantum integrability. Physica D 56, 117 (1992)
- 260. Weyl, H.: Quantenmechanik und Gruppentheorie. Z. Phys. 46,1 (1927)
- 261. Weyl, H.: The Theory of Groups and Quantum Mechanics. Dover Publications Inc., New York (1931)
- 262. Whittaker, E.T.: A Treatise on the Analytical Dynamics of Particles and Rigid Bodies. Dover, New York (1944)
- 263. Wigner, E.P.: On the quantum correction for thermodynamic equilibrium. Phys. Rev. **40**, 749 (1932)
- 264. Wojciechowski, S.: Review of the recent results on integrability of natural Hamiltonian systems. In: Systèmes dynamiques non linéaires: intégrabilité et comportement qualitatif, pp. 294–327. Sém. Math. Sup., 102. Presses Univ. Montréal, Montreal, QC (1986)
- 265. Woodhouse, N.M.J.: Killing tensors and the separation of the Hamilton-Jacobi equation. Comm. Math. Phys. 44, 9 (1975)
- 266. Wyatt, R.E.: Quantum Dynamics with Trajectories: Introduction to Quantum Hydrodynamics. Springer, Berlin (2005)
- 267. Yano, K., Ishihara, S.: Tangent and cotangent bundles. Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York (1973)
- 268. Yano, K., Patterson, E.M.: Vertical and complete lifts from a manifold to its cotangent bundle. J. Math. Soc. Japan 19, 91 (1967)
- 269. Zachos, C.: Deformation quantization: quantum mechanics lives and works in phase-space. Int. J. Mod. Phys. 17, 297 (2002)
- 270. Zachos, C., Fairlie, D.B., Curtright, T. (eds.): Quantum Mechanics in a Phase Space: An Overview with Selected Papers. In: World Scientific Series in 20th Century Physics, vol. 34. World Scientific Publishing Co., New Jersey (2005)
- 271. Zarraga, J.A., Perelomov, A.M., Perez Bueno, J.C.: The Schouten Nijenhuis bracket, cohomology and generalized Poisson structures. J. Phys. A Math. Gen. **29**, 7993 (1996)
- 272. Zeng, Y., Ma, W.X.: Separation of variables for soliton equations via their binary constrained flows. J. Math. Phys. **40**, 6526 (1999)
- 273. Zeng, Y., Ma, W.X.: The construction of canonical separated variables for binary constrained AKNS flow. Physica A 274, 505 (1999)

Index

Adopted frame, 317 Angle coordinates, 118 Anti-normal ordering, 342 Anti-standard ordering, 340 Arnold-Liouville theorem, 116

Basic potentials, 153 Benenti class, 154, 163, 168, 416 Bi-cofactor system, 214 Bi-Hamiltonian chain, 185, 248 vector field, 185 Bi-Lagrangian distribution, 198 foliation, 201 Bi-presymplectic chain, 230, 248 form, 229

Canonical coordinates, 14, 49, 50, 60, 75 operators, 333, 385 star-product, 294 transformations, 135 Casimir coordinates, 74 functions, 73, 102, 185 multipliers, 202 Classical action, 355 canonical transformation, 304, 311 coherent states, 96 flow, 77

Hamiltonian, 59, 76 equations, 86 Heisenberg picture, 92 observables. 88 Poisson algebra, 88 Schrödinger picture, 92 states. 89 superintegrable, 121 trajectory, 86, 93, 373 uncertainty, 96 Closed form, 21, 197 Connection flat, 323 Levi-Civita, 45, 58, 114, 317, 385, 412 linear, 39, 115 symplectic, 52, 318 torsionless, 44 Contraction, 12 Control matrix, 198, 200 Coordinates action-angle, 121 canonical, 14, 50, 60 Cartesian, 57, 91, 265 Casimir. 74 Darboux, 52, 60, 135, 137, 290 Darboux-Nijenhuis, 199 Euclidean, 57, 263 flat, 260, 263 holomorphic, 360 Jacobi elliptic, 260 normal Riemann, 48 Ostrogradsky, 63 polar, 361 separation, 140, 412 spherical, 45

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019 M. Błaszak, *Quantum versus Classical Mechanics and Integrability Problems*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-18379-0 Viète, 157, 268 Covariant derivative, 39, 56, 115, 421 Covectors, 9 Curvature constant, 259, 274, 419 operator, 46 scalar, 48 tensor, 47, 53, 328, 329 Ricci, 48

Darboux coordinates, 52, 60, 135, 137, 290, 293, 406.411 frame, 50, 319 theorem, 74 Darboux-Nijenhuis coordinates, 199 D-compatible, 197, 226 Density operator, 383 De Rham cohomology, 22, 292 Dirac bracket, 102 deformation, 105 distribution. 100 measure, 89 Distribution, 50 bi-Lagrangian, 198 Dirac. 100 horizontal, 50 integrable, 75 Lagrangian, 197 regular, 97 transversal, 81, 193, 202 vertical. 50 Dressing chain, 222 Dual map, 10, 73 pair, 81, 197, 226, 231, 246 space, 9, 98

Elliptic separable potentials, 211, 265 Euclidean coordinates, 57, 263 metric, 258 space, 18, 57 Euler top, 78, 188, 206, 257 variational operator, 61 Euler-Lagrange equations, 58 Exact form, 21 Exponential map, 48 Exterior algebra, 22, 24 derivative, 20, 23 product, 22

Flow classical, 31, 38, 77, 85, 92 quantum, 351, 372 Foliation, 97, 119 bi-Lagrangian, 201 symplectic, 74, 81, 226 Fourier transform, 288, 289, 379

Generating function, 118, 120, 135, 137, 260, 306, 369 Glauber-Sudarshan function, 395

Hamiltonian classical, 59 dynamical system, 76 equations, 62, 77, 137 flow, 79, 85, 128 natural, 59 operators, 406 projection, 106 transport, 86 vector field, 73 Heisenberg equation, 397 Helmholtz equation, 442 Hénon-Heiles system, 77, 115, 116, 148, 417 Hilbert-Schmidt operator, 383 Hilbert space, 284, 331, 345, 377, 400, 412 Holomorphic coordinates, 341, 360 Husimi function, 395

Implectic bi-vector, 75, 86, 291 Interior product, 20, 37 Involution, 88, 281, 296, 338

Jacobi identity, 37, 74, 99, 292

Killing equations, 46 tensor, 46, 114, 149, 154, 174, 259, 263, 411 vector, 45 Kirkwood function, 395

Lagrangian, 58 distribution, 197 Laguerre polynomials, 362 Index

Laplace-Beltrami operator, 408 Laplace equation, 442 Legendre transformation, 59 Leibniz rule, 15 Lie algebra, 37, 73 bracket, 25, 292 derivative, 33, 36, 79 group, 31 transport, 33, 39 Linear space, 9 Liouville equation, 93, 347 form, 91, 282 integrable, 114, 116, 119, 137 Lorentz system, 255

Marginal distribution, 346, 395 Maximally superintegrable, 121, 160, 178 Metric connection, 44 tensor, 12, 30, 44, 59, 104, 114, 150, 154, 323, 378, 379, 399, 408, 411, 425 Minimal quantization, 408 Moyal product, 293, 299 Multi-vectors, 24, 114

Neumann system, 274 Newton equations, 57, 65, 107, 150 representation, 64 Nijenhuis torsion, 195 Noether theorem, 80 Normal coordinates, 48 ordering, 342, 395

Ostrogradsky variables, 62

Parabolic separable potentials, 266 Point transformations, 136 Poisson algebra, 74, 88 bracket, 74, 76, 281 manifold, 74 pencil, 184, 192 tensor, 73, 291 Polar coordinates, 361 Pre-Robetrson condition, 419 Presymplectic form, 74, 82, 226, 246 manifold, 75 Pseudo-Laplace operator, 407 Pull-back, 26, 33, 93, 353 Push-forward, 26, 29, 33

Ouantum canonical coordinates, 287 transformation, 287, 303 correction, 426 dynamical separability, 410 flow. 352 Hamiltonian, 407, 411 equations, 349 transport, 349 Heisenberg picture, 348 integrability, 410 Liouville equation, 348 observables, 284, 323 Poisson algebra, 284 Poisson bracket, 291 potential. 418 Schrödinger picture, 347 separation equations, 414 separation relations, 414, 429 state, 345, 381 stationary separability, 411, 413, 421 superintegrability, 435 trajectories, 355, 370 uncertainty, 279 Quasi-bi-Hamiltonian, 195, 233 Quasi-potential force, 214

Reciprocal transform, 128, 139 Recursion matrix, 152, 155 Recursion operator, 195 regular, 197 Riemann normal coordinates, 48, 323 space, 18, 55, 377 tensor, 47 Robertson condition, 413 generalized, 421 R-separability, 428, 442

Scalar product, 12, 264, 285, 359, 383 Schouten-Nijenhuis bracket, 25, 73, 76, 114, 193 Schrödinger equation, 396 Separable potentials, 150, 259 Separation coordinates, 140 curve, 141 equations, 139 relations, 140, 142 Spherical coordinates, 45, 91, 146, 404 Stäckel function, 199 matrix, 141, 142, 150 separable, 141 system, 154, 170 transform, 125, 163 vector, 143 Standard ordering, 340 Star-product, 280, 282, 291, 317, 324, 328 Symmetry generator, 79 Symplectic connection, 52, 319, 325 foliation, 74, 81, 192, 226 form, 49, 75 Fourier transform, 289 leaf. 74. 195 manifold, 49, 282, 301 Symplectomorphism, 86, 352, 355

Tensor product, 10, 15, 40, 379, 380, 388, 391, 397, 401 Tensors, 10 Toda lattice, 219 Trajectory classical, 30, 57, 79, 86, 96, 359 quantum, 353, 373

Unitary function, 347 space, 12

Variational derivative, 61 Vectors, 9 Viète coordinates, 157, 259, 268 Von Neumann equation, 348, 396

Weyl ordering, 331, 340 Wigner function, 395 transform, 379